# Contents

Pages

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Union-State Financial Relations: Our Approach	5
3.	Income Tax	11
4.	Union Excise Duties	14
5.	Additional Duties of Excise	18
6.	Grant in Lieu of Tax on Railway Passenger Fares	22
7.	Estate Duty	
8.	Grant on Account of Wealth Tax on Agricultural Property	27
9.	Reassessment of the Forecasts of State Governments for the Period 1974-75 to	o 1978-
	79: Certain General Issues	
10.	Revision of Pay and Dearness Allowance of Employees of State Governments	34
11.	Norms for Maintenance of Capital Assets and Plan Schemes	39
12.	Upgradation of Standards of Administration in Backward States	47
13.	Fiscal Management	52
14.	Financing of Relief Expenditure	63
15.	Grants-in-Aid	67
16.	Assessment of Non-Plan Capital Gap of States	74
17.	Revision of Terms of Repayment of Outstanding Central Loans to the States	84
18.	Summary of Recommendations	107

Our Commission was constituted by the President in his Order dated 28th June, 1972 which is reproduced below :---

- "In pursuance of the provisions of article 280 of the Constitution of India and of the Finance Commission (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1951 (33 of 1951), the President is pleased to constitute a Finance Commission consisting of Shri K. Brahmananda Reddi, former Chief Minister of Andhra Pradesh, as the Chairman and the following four other Members, namely :---
  - (1) Shri Justice Syed Sadat Abul Masud, Judge, Calcutta High Court.
  - (2) Dr. B. S. Minhas, Member, Planning Commission.
  - (3) Dr. I. S. Gulati, Senior Fellow, Centre for Development Studies, Trivandrum.
  - (4) Shri G. Ramachandran, Member-Secretary.
- 2. The Chairman and other Members of the Commission shall hold office from the date on which they respectively assume office upto the 31st day of October, 1973.
- 3. The Chairman and Members of the Commission except Dr B. S. Minhas and Dr. I. S. Gulati shall render whole-time service to the Commission. Dr. B. S. Minhas shall render part-time service as Member of the Commission. Dr. I. S. Gulati shall render parttime service as Member of the Commission until such date as the Central Government may specify in this behalf and thereafter he shall render whole-time service to the Commission.
- 4. The Commission shall make recommendations as to the following matters :
  - (a) the distribution between the Union and States of the net proceeds of taxes which are to be, or may be divided between them under Chapter I of Part XII of the Constitution and the allocation between the States of the respective shares of such proceeds;
  - (b) the principles which should govern the grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States out of the Consolidated Fund of India and the sums to be paid to the States which are in need of assistance by way of

grants-in-aid of their revenues under article 275 of the Constitution for purposes other than those specified in the provisos to clause (1) of that article having regard, among other considerations, to —

- (i) the existing practice in regard to determination and distribution of Central assistance for financing State Plans;
- (ii) the revenue resources of those States for the five-years ending with the financial year 1978-79 on the basis of the levels of taxation likely to be reached at the end of the financial year 1973-74;
- (iii) the requirements on revenue account of those States to meet the expenditure on administration taking also into account such provision for emoluments of Government employees, teachers and local body employees as obtaining on a specified date as the Commission deem it proper in the light of the States' capacity and needs, interest charges in respect of their debt, transfer of funds to local bodies and aided institutions and other committed expenditure;
- (iv) adequate maintenance and upkeep of capital assets and maintenance of Plan schemes completed by the end of 1973-74, the norms, if any, on the basis of which specified amounts are allowed for the maintenance of different categories of capital assets being indicated by the Commission;
- (v) the requirements of States which are backward in standards of general administration for upgrading the administration with a view to bringing it to the levels obtaining in the more advanced States over a period of ten years; and
- (vi) the scope for better fiscal management and economy consistent with efficiency which may be effected by the States in their administrative, maintenance, developmental and other expenditure;
- (c) the changes, if any, to be made in the principles governing the distribution amongst the States of the grant to be made available to the States in lieu of tax under the repealed Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act, 1957;

- (d) the changes, if any, to be made in the principles governing the distribution amongst the States under article 269 of the Constitution of the net proceeds of any financial year of estate-duty in respect of property other than agricultural land;
- (e) the changes, if any, to be made in the principles governing the distribution of the net proceeds in any financial year of the additional excise duties leviable under the Additional Duties of Excise (Goods of Special Importance) Act, 1957, on each of the following commodities, namely :---
  - (i) cotton fabrics,
  - (ii) woollen fabrics,
  - (iii) rayon or artificial silk fabrics,
  - (iv) sugar, and
  - (v) tobacco including manufactured tobacco, in replacement of the States' sales taxes formerly levied by the State Governments;
  - Provided that the share accruing to each State shall not be less than the revenue realised from the levy of sales tax for the financial year 1956-57 in that State; and
- (f) the principles governing the distribution among the States of the grant to be made available to the States on account of wealth tax on agricultural property.
- 5. The Commission may make an assessment of the non-Plan capital gap of the States on a uniform and comparable basis for the five years ending with 1978-79. In the light of such an assessment, the Commission may undertake a general review of the States' debt position with particular reference to the Central loans advanced to them and likely to be outstanding as at the end of 1973-74 and suggest changes in the existing terms of repayment having regard *inter alia* to the overall non-Plan gap of the States, their relative position and the purposes for which the loans have been utilised, and the requirements of the Centre.
- 6. The Commission may review the policy and arrangements in regard to the financing of relief expenditure by the States affected by natural calamities and examine *inter alia* the feasibility of establishing a National Fund to which the Central and State Governments may contribute a percentage of their revenue receipts

- 7. The Commission in making its recommendations on the various matters aforesaid shall have regard to the resources of the Central Government and the demands thereon on account of the expenditure on civil administration, defence and border security, debt servicing and other committed expenditure or liabilities.
- 8. The Commission shall make its report by 31st October, 1973 on each of the matters aforesaid and covering a period of five years commencing from the 1st day of April, 1974, indicating the basis on which it has arrived at its findings and make available the Statewise criteria adopted in making modifications, if any, in the States' forecasts of receipts and expenditure".

2. Dr. B. S. Minhas served the Commission on a part-time basis throughout. Dr. I. S. Gulati served the Commission part-time upto 31st December, 1972 and thereafter as a full-time Member. The Chairman and other Members served on a whole-time basis. The first meeting of the Commission was held in New Delhi on 14th July, 1972. We adopted rules of procedure similar to those followed by the earlier Finance Commissions subject to minor modifications. We also approved of the issue of a Press Note indicating the terms of reference of the Commission and inviting written Memoranda setting out views and specific suggestions from those interested in the matter. A circular letter inviting their views on matters covered by our terms of reference was sent to all Members of Parliament, Members of State Legislatures, Vice-Chancellors of Universities and leading economists.

3. Even prior to the formal constitution of the sixth Finance Commission, an Officer appointed on Special Duty in the Ministry of Finance to attend to the preliminary work connected with the setting up of the Commission, wrote to the State Governments and Accountants General for supply of material on matters likely to be of relevance to our work. In the light of our discussions at the first meeting of the Commission, a further letter was addressed by our Member-Secretary to the State Governments asking them to furnish us with forecasts of receipts and expenditure on revenue and capital accounts for the five years period to be covered by our award (1974-75 to 1978-79). We also requested the State Governments to supply information on certain subsidiary points which have been set out in Appendix III. Likewise, we also wrote to the Union Ministry of Finance to furnish the Commission with forecasts of revenue and expenditure for the five year period indicating separately the divisible pool of income-tax and share in other Central taxes and duties likely to accrue to the States during the period of our award.

4. At our request, the Comptroller and Auditor General was good enough to instruct the State Accountants General to assist us with whatever information that may be needed by us from time to time in connection with our work. We are grateful to the State Accountants General for complying with all our requests for information promptly, despite the fact that this time the range of information on which we sought verification through them was far wider than needed by the earlier Commissions in view of the inclusion of non-Plan capital accounts of State Governments also within the purview of our enquiry. The State Accountants General also readily complied with our request for verification of figures regarding the debt position of the States. But for the co-operation extended by them, it would not have been possible for us to complete our work in time.

5. We could initiate our round of discussions with the State Governments only from January, 1973 in view of the considerable time taken by most of the State Governments in compiling and submitting the forecasts on revenue and capital accounts in the form prescribed by us. We thought that it would be an advantage, if the forecasts were first discussed between the Officers of the Commission and the State Governments. Accordingly the Member-Secretary of the Commission held discussions on various dates with State Finance Secretaries and other officials deputed by the State Governments at which clarification was obtained on a number of points of detail relating to the forecasts. This preliminary exercise considerably facilitated the subsequent discussions which the full Commission held with State Chief Ministers and their colleagues and senior officials at State headquarters.

6. The dates of the Commission's discussions with State Chief Ministers and officials are indicated at Appendix IV. It will be seen that we were able to visit all State headquarters except Imphal. The Manipur State representatives kindly complied with our request to come to Shillong for their discussion with us. At these meetings with the State Chief Ministers, other Ministers and senior officials of the State Governments, there was a full and frank exchange of views on matters pertaining to our terms of reference and the requirements of the States and we are glad to report that these discussions enabled us to gain a clear appreciation of the special problems and the needs of the States. We would like to acknowledge gratefully the help and co-operation we received in unstinted measure from State Governments in all aspects of our work. We would also like to thank them specially for the hospitality extended to us during our visits to the States.

7. During our discussions with State Governments and their officials, State Accountants General were also generally present. In most States we also had a brief session with the Accountants General separately. These discussions enabled us to form a fair judgment on the general state of fiscal management in different States.

8. In many of the State headquarters visited by us, the representatives of the Press also met the Chairman and other Members of the Commission. These meetings proved helpful to us in appreciating in a wider perspective some of the local problems and needs, though obviously we could not indicate to the Press our response to the several points in the Memoranda submitted by the State Governments. We would like to thank the Press for the keen interest shown by them in our work.

9. In response to the Press Note issued by the Commission, we received a number of memoranda from economists, chambers of commerce, some Members of Parliament and State Legislatures and other men of public affairs. A list of the organisations and individuals who sent memoranda is given in Appendix IV. Some of the economists and other individuals and organisations also met us either in New Delhi or in the State headquarters during our visits and gave us the benefit of their views. A list of individuals and organisations who met us is given in Appendix VI. We wish to record our appreciation of the trouble and time taken by them in preparing and submitting memoranda to us and for giving us the benefit of their valuable advice on several issues of great importance in Union-State financial relations.

10. After completing our round of discussions with the States and analysing the material presented to us, we held consultations with officials of the Ministry of Finance led by Shri M. R. Yardi, Finance Secretary and Shri H. N. Ray, Secretary (Expenditure) on the forecasts of receipts and expenditure of the Central Government presented to us by the Ministry of Finance and on other matters pertaining to our terms of reference. This meeting proved helpful in obtaining elucidation on several issues having a bearing on the resource position of the Central Government and other matters relevant to our enquiry.

11. We also thought that it would be useful to have similar discussions with the Deputy Chairman and Members of the Planning Commission. We sent them in advance a short note setting out some of the more important issues on which we felt that the views of the Planning Commission might prove of benefit to us. But, unfortunately, that meeting could not take place.

12. The Chairman and other Members of the Commission wish to place on record the deep sense of appreciation for the utmost devotion of our Member-Secretary, Shri G. Ramachandran, in the discharge of his very onerous duty. But for his untiring efforts, the Commission would have found it difficult to complete its work in time. It has to be remembered in this connection that the terms of reference of our Commission are far wider than those of the earlier Commissions involving, among other things, the assessment of non-Plan capital gaps of the States and revision of the terms of repayment of Central loans outstanding against the States. We wish to acknowledge the very useful and efficient work done by the officers and members of our staff. The main brunt of handling the voluminous correspondence with State Governments and Central Ministries and of providing guidance to the research staff was borne by the two Deputy Secretaries—Sarvashri A. G. Krishnan and R. K. Mukherji and we thank them for their exemplary devotion and dedication to work. Shri S. D. Srivastava who was Joint Secretary of the Commission for about six months in the initial stages of our work played a notable part in the preparation of background papers for the reference of the Commission and in organising the work of the Commission and in organising the work of the Commission on proper lines. Dr. K. N. Reddy, our Joint Director, whose services we specially obtained from the University of Baroda, was of great help to us in analysing the economic issues having a bearing on our terms of reference. Our team of Senior Research Officers consisting of Sarvashri M. L. Sastry, B. L. Bansal, P B. Dhawan, R. D. Gupta and Research Officers, Sarvashri B. R. Kharbanda, S. P. Sharma, K. D. Kaushik and Manohar Lal, did excellent work in the collection and processing of the voluminous data on the basis of which alone we could make a proper assessment of the needs of the States on revenue and capital account. We owe a special debt of gratitude to them for the diligence and care with which they attended to this important area of our work. Our Superintendents—Sarvashri M. N. Bajpai and J. P. Kapoor—and the staff under them provided efficient secretarial assistance. Our personal staff also carried out the duties assigned to them to our entire satisfaction.

#### CHAPTER II

### UNION-STATE FINANCIAL RELATIONS: OUR APPROACH

The purpose of the Finance Commission, as envisaged in the Constitution, is primarily to facilitate a periodical assessment of the fiscal needs of the States and the formulation on an objective basis of proposals for transfer of resources from the Centre to the States through devolution of taxes and grants-in-aid. But an incidental and by no means insignificant advantage of the appointment of a Finance Commission has generally been to rekindle interest in issues pertaining to financial relations between the Centre and the States and to promote an enlightened national debate on the several facets of our federal fiscal set up. We have had the benefit of being able to draw on the ideas, concepts and analytical tools evolved by the earlier Commissions. The implications of the several provisions of the Constitution governing the financial relations between the Union and the States, the new trends in federal finance set in motion by the establishment of the Planning Commission as a major agency for canalisation of resources for the financing of State Plans, and other related issues have received elaborate treatment at the hands of the earlier Finance Commissions and also the Administrative Reforms Commission and its study teams. We do not consider it necessary to traverse the ground covered by them. In indicating our general approach to leading issues of current interest in the sphere of fiscal relations between the Union and the States, we feel that it would be more purposeful if we confine ourselves to delineating certain directions in which, in our judgment new initiatives need to be attempted, without of course disturbing too violently the delicate framework that has been painstakingly evolved in the last 25 years.

2. Among the various federal polities in the world today, the Indian federal fiscal system, whether one views it as federal or quasi-federal, is undoubtedly among the few that have demonstrated remarkable resilience in coping satisfactorily with the new demands made on it from time to time. The provisions of the Constitution concerning financial relations between the Centre and the States seem to have been designed with great care and circumspection so as to forestal precisely the kind of difficulties that even the older federations do not appear to have overcome in securing closer correspondence between resources and functions of the different lawyers of Government. These observations should not be construed as implying that the present matrix of financial relations between the Centre and the States does not admit of improvement or simplifications. All that we would like to stress is that the financial provisions of our Constitation give enough room for reconciling such conflicts of interest as may arise from time to time between the Union and the constituent units. If despite these well

conceived provisions of the Constitution, some signs of dissatisfaction are discernible in the actual conduct of financial affairs between the Centre and the States, the reasons are to be found partly in the stresses and strains which the national economy as a whole has had to face in recent years and also perhaps in the spirit in which the provisions of the Constitution have sometimes been worked.

3. We must bear in mind that the country as a whole and every part thereof has gained significantly from the maintenance of a vast unified market within which there is free movement of goods and men. Having regard to the trends all over the world even for independent political entities to come together 10 forge closer economic links in the form of common markets and economic groupings, our best hopes of accelerated economic development lie in the further strengthening of our national market and in the promotion of fiscal arrangements that are most conducive to the effective functioning of this market. Given this basic fact, there can be no room for argument that the levy and administration of taxes with wide economic base such as income tax, corporation tax, union excise duties and of course also import and export duties will have to remain with the Union Government. In fact the architects of our Constitution drew on the experience of some of the other federations in which the assignment of taxes with wide economic base to units had led to intractable problems of conflicting tax jurisdictions. They wisely averted the possibility of such conflicts by assigning such taxes right from the beginning to the Union Government. At the same time, the framers of our Constitution rightly allocated to the States' subjects such as agriculture, education, medical care, public health, irrigation and law and order that touch intimately the lives of the people. These can be efficiently administered in a vast country only by the State Governments who are closer to the people and are more keenly alive to their problems and needs. The heads of revenue and responsibilities were distributed on the basis of whether the Centre or the State was better equipped to deal with the particular head. It was however realised that the delimitation of resources and functions on this basis would call for appropriate corrective measures to bring about better correspondence between resources and responsibilities of the two tiers in our federal set-up. That is why, the Constitution embodies both mandatory and enabling provisions for facilitating a wide ranging transfer of resources from the Centre to the States. It is not necessary for us to spell out at any great length the several devices that have been imaginatively incorporated in the Constitution for this purpose. These have been dealt with adequately in the reports of

the earlier Commissions. Briefly stated, the Constitution provides for transfer of resources from the Centre to the States in the following forms :—

- (i) Through the levy by the Centre, but assignment in whole of the proceeds of certain taxes. (Article 269 of the Constitution).
- (ii) Through mandatory sharing of the proceeds of income-tax (Article 270 of the Constitution).
- (iii) Through permissive participation in the proceeds of the union excise duties (Article 272 of the Constitution).
- (iv) Through statutory grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States (Article 275 of the Constitution).
- (v) Through grants for any public purpose (Article 282 of the Constitution).

Apart from these provisions pertaining to assistance on revenue account, the Centre of course has also the power to grant loans for any purpose to the State Governments under Article 293 of the Constitution. The Constitution does not merely mark out the chan-nels through which resources can flow from the Centre to the States; it also provides for a machinery for regulating the flow of resources in the form of the Finance Commission. The fact that the Planning Commission has come into prominence in the last two decades as another channel for resource transfers does not in anyway detract from the efficacy of the provisions embodied in the Constitution. The advent of economic planning has only further strengthened the bonds of financial kinship between the Centre and the States and has underlined, even in a more pronounced manner than envisaged in the Constitution, the common stake that the Centre and the States have in the proper utilisation of the resources of the nation as a whole. It may be stated that the Planning Commission has emerged as an effective instrument for raising the scale of transfer of resources from the Centre to the States. The following table highlights the steadily rising trend in the transfer of resources from the Union to the States :-

			(Rs	. crores)
		es transfer	trans-	Tota]
	Finance Commissie		fers ning ission	
195156	447	880	104	1431
1956—61	918	1344	606	2868
196166	1590	2738	1272	560 <b>0</b>
196669	1782	1917	3415	7114
1969—74	5316	4230	5307	14853
Total 1951—74	10053	11109	10704	31866
Total 1951—74	10053	11109	10704	31866

4. These figures can of course be interpreted in two ways. They can be looked upon as an indication of the increasing dependence of the States on the Centre and therefore symptomatic of an unhealthy development in our federal polity. But a generous interpretation would be that despite the centralisation of resources inherent in a growing economy, the Centre has responded to the expending needs of the States and thereby ensured the use of national resources in a decentralised fashion.

5. It may be worthwhile at this stage to pause and examine why, notwithstanding this rise in the flow of resources from the Centre to the States, there have still been complaints about the working of the federal financial arrangements and why, in particular, critical references are being made frequently to centralisation of resources and responsibilities and diminution of the role of the States. May be, some of these complaints have political overtones. But during our visits to the States and the wide ranging discussions we had with the Chief Ministers, other Ministers and senior Civil servants, it was heartening to find that despite grievances about inadequacy of resources, there was a deep and abiding sense of commitment to the concept of national unity. There was also sufficient awareness of the need to view local problems in the broader national perspective. It is also generally realised that problems which individual States face cannot be solved, unless the nation as a whole is made economically strong and unless each State is prepared to bear its due share of the burden that the pursuit of the national objectives of economic growth with social justice calls for. It, therefore, becomes all the more necessary to probe the causes for the lingering discontent on certain aspects of the fiscal arrangements between the Centre and the States and initiate corrective action.

Ĵ.

÷.,

1

6. Before we deal with some of the grievances which are real and call for redress, it may be convenient to refer to and dispose of some of the superficial criticisms of the existing federal fiscal set up. It is often cited as the major drawback of the present fiscal structure that while the Centre has all the elastic sources of revenue, States' revenues are comparatively inelastic. As pointed out earlier, given the compulsions of national economic integration, the present division of heads of revenue between the Centre and the States does not seem to admit of any significant change. The relative elasticity of Central resources cannot by itself constitute any ground for legitimate complaint, as long as there are almost automatic mechanisms for canalising resources to the States for meeting all their genuine needs. It is our belief that such arrangements are feasible within our Constitution and if necessary can be further improved upon. While it is undoubtedly true that the Central tax revenues have grown at a faster rate than those of the States, the variations in the pace of growth of State and Central revenues are not of such an order as to permit any sweeping generalisation. Since 1950-51, the State tax revenues have registered an increase from Rs. 221.55 crores to Rs. 1891.91 crores in 1972-73. In other words, the State tax revenues have risen about nine-fold As against this, the Central revenues

have risen from Rs. 404.51 crores in 1950-51 to Rs. 4537.78 crores in 1972-73 or in other words, they have risen about eleven-fold. It should be mentioned that these are gross figures. If the Central transfers to the States through shareable Central taxes are taken into account, the State tax revenues would have increased eleven-fold as against only a nine-fold rise in Central tax revenues net of transfers to the States.

7. It may be relevant to mention that if State Governments had been less reluctant to tap the rural sector and particularly had secured reasonable returns on investments in irrigation and power projects, the State revenues would have grown at a faster rate.

8. In our view the difficulties which have been experienced from time to time in the field of Centre-State financial relations are not due primarily to the particular pattern of distribution of resources as laid down in the Constitution. The root cause for dissatisfaction among the States is to be found in the fact that the rate of growth of our conomy has not been fast enough to meet the rising expectations of our We have also not exploited fully our potential people. for resource mobilisation. We would therefore urge that attention should be focussed on how best the various instruments in the fiscal armoury of the Central and State Governments can be further 'sharpened' and adequate resources raised for social and economic development.

9. A satisfactory and enduring solution to the problem of Centre-State relations cannot be found except through a vigorous and concerted drive against tax evasion, tax avoidance and waste and extravagance in public expenditure. It is equally important to ensure all round efficiency in the deployment of public funds including in particular, investments in productive enterprises in the public sector. In other words, sound fiscal management holds the key to the evolution of harmonious and fruitful fiscal relations between the Centre and the States.

10. There are large arrears of taxes both at the Centre and the States. Investments in industrial and commercial enterprises of the Centre have failed to generate the surpluses out of which fresh resources for expansion of our economy could have been found. The record of the State Governments in this regard, as analysed in greater detail in the Chapter on Fiscal Management, is also poor.

11. While under the Constitution, the Centre and the States have their own distinct responsibilities and resources, the advent of economic Planning and the establishment of the Planning Commission have initiated certain new trends in the conduct of intergovernmental relations. Economic and Social Planning is an item specifically mentioned in the Concurrent List. It is this entry which, among other things, gives the Centre the necessary sanction for the formulation of a national Plan. A national Plan has necessarily to comprehend the entire range of developmental activities, cutting across the delimitation of powers between the Centre and the States. In this process, the Government of India and the Planning Commission have acquired a voice even in matters recognised to be within the jurisdiction of the States.

12. The State Plans are formulated in conformity with the objectives of the national Plan. This conformity is sought to be secured through an elaborate process of consultations at different levels and, more importantly, through Central assistance for the State Plans. This has brought about such close financial interdependence between the Centre and the States, that it is by no means an exaggeration to say that the Centre can be financially only as strong as the States and vice versa. The task of a Finance Commission, in this changed context, ought to be one of settling the optimal distribution of the resources of the public sector between the Centre and the States.

13. The distribution of national resources as between the Centre and States has to be conceived not in static but in dynamic terms. It should have due regard to the relative priorities of the different sectors from time to time. It is misleading to speak in terms of redistribution of resources between the Centre and the States. It will be more appropriate to view the problem as one of distribution of available resources as between the subjects coming constitutionally within the competence of the Centre and those coming within the purview of the States. In a sense, we have already become accustomed to this approach of looking at the distribution of national resources as between different sectors of development, rather than as between Centre and States, in dealing with Plan outlays.

14. In the sphere of planning, there is a growing realisation that the Central and State Plans reinforce each other and together subserve certain widely shared economic and social objectives. But unfortunately, and presumably because of the present unrealistic distinction between Plan and non-Plan, a similar healthy approach is not being brought to bear upon the allocation of resources between the Centre and the States when it comes to assessing the non-Plan requirements.

15. In taking a view on the quantum of resources to be transferred to the States, we have therefore borne in mind the relative priorities to be assigned in the present context to services coming within the purview of the Centre and the State Governments. In reviewing the forecast of resources of Central Government, as presented to us by the Union Ministry of Finance, we cannot help observing that there are some areas in which, given the right policies and the requisite determination, savings on a significant scale can be effected, thus liberating more resources for meeting the pressing needs of the States. In our scheme of devolution of resources to the States, we have taken the view that the resources belong to the nation and they should be applied at points where they are most needed.

16. The Approach to the Fifth Plan has recognised, among other things, the importance of an appreciable increase in social consumption for eradication of poverty. In concrete terms, this approach calls for larger allocations for education, medical care, public health, and welfare of Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes and other backward classes and the like than in the past. This in turn entails provision of additional resources to the States in general and to the States that have lagged behind in these sectors in particular. We found that even in a State like Punjab, with the highest per capita income in the country, the outlay on certain essential social services was very low in per capita terms. The position in some of the backward States is far worse. The enlarged devolution of resources from the Centre to the States, which our proposals involve should therefore be viewed in the light of the new orientation that is sought to be given to our Plan strategy. When the emphasis is on social justice, there is no escape from a realignment of resources in favour of the States, because services and programmes which are at the core of a more equitable social order come within the purview of the States under the Constitution.

17. It is also necessary to stress that the transfers we have proposed look large in absolute terms partly because, of the 21 States now in existence, quite a few are very small in terms of area and population and have virtually no resource base of their own. The result is that almost all their requirements, which are not inconsiderable, have to be met in entirety through Central devolution. It may be relevant to mention in this connection that of Rs. 9608.85 crores sought to be provided to the States through shareable taxes and grants-in-aid in terms of our award, Jammu and Kashmir, Himachal Pradesh, Tripura, Manipur, Meghalaya and Nagaland amongst them accounting for only 2.26 per cent of population absorb Rs. 919.73 crores or 9.57 percentage of aggregate transfers. We are making these observations not because we consider the needs of these States to be unreasonable, but only in order to stress the point that the main burden of supporting the administrative apparatus of these six States would in effect have to be shouldered by the Centre. In comparing the magnitude of the devolution made by us with that of the last Com-mission, it should be remembered that of these six States constituting a special category, four came into existence only recently and their needs are being dealt with by the Finance Commission for the first time.

18. The question of allocation of resources between the Centre and the States is one which cannot be viewed in isolation from the allied issue of the relative shares of the States in the pool of national resources. It is in this context that the need for using the mechanism of fiscal transfers from the Centre to the States as a means of redressing regional imbalances acquires special significance. Due to various factors, some of which have been operative even from the period prior to Independence, certain States have forged ahead of the rest in terms of social and economic progress. We should however hasten to point out that these disparities between the different States,

adjudged in terms of per capita income, are far less pronounced in our country than in some of the other federations. It may be noted that Punjab has a per capita income of Rs. 953 as compared with Bihar with Rs. 389; the ratio of disparity being less than 2.5:1. But even these disparities, when the absolute levels of per capita income are very low, cannot be ignored. We have, therefore, accorded due priority to the need for correction of disparities among the States in our scheme of devolution. But the part which the Finance Commission can by itself play in bringing about a reduction in disparities in per capita incomes of States cannot be as significant as those of other agencies concerned with allocation of Central resources and formulation of Central policies. Policies such as those relating to allocation of Central assistance for State Plans, location of Central industrial and other projects, lending policies and procedures of financial institutions and norms for industrial licencing have probably more important and pervasive influence in correcting or accentuating regional imbalances.

19. In this connection, we cannot help observing that imbalances also exist among different areas within individual States themselves. In our view, the even development of the different areas within a State can be ensured only through a significant measure of decentralisation of powers and resources in favour of local bodies at district, block and village levels. While notable advance has been made in certain States in building up active local government, most of the States have allowed their local bodies to languish without any reasonable measure of delegation of powers or resources. We would strongly urge that the States should set up suitable Committees to review urgently the existing state of finances and powers of their local bodies. A time-bound programme should be drawn up and implemented, keeping in view the special up and implemented, keeping in view the special needs of the backward areas within the States. In transferring resources from the Centre to the States, the Finance Commissions have been largely guided by the consideration that in our vast country, people's needs can be effectively attended to only by the agencies close to them and in the functioning of which they are fully involved. This ideal which has inspired the Finance Commissions in proposing transfer of resources from the Centre to the States can find its full consummation only if the States also in their turn realise the imperative need to transfer resources and powers to local bodies.

20. While the problem of regional imbalances may be less acute in our federation than others in terms of differences in per capita income, the disparities between the States are sharper when assessed in terms of the relative standards of essential administrative and social services. Thus, for example, while the per capita expenditure on education in Bihar was Rs. 8.86 in 1971-72, it was as high as Rs. 31.03 in Kerala. Likewise, the expenditure on medical care and public health was Rs. 3.11 per capita in Uttar Pradesh in 1971-72 as compared with Rs. 8.33 in Tamil Nadu. In our judgment, far greater priority has to be assigned to the abridgment of disparities in essential administrative and social services particularly rection of these disparities comes clearly within the purview of the Finance Commission. What is even more important, differences in levels of public expenditure on vital social services can be eliminated within a shorter time span than the differences in per capita incomes which are determined by various factors, not so easily emenable to control. While the earlier Commissions had assessed the requirements of States largely on the basis of maintenance of administrative and social services at whatever level obtained in the base year in each of the States, we have sought to raise the provision for some of the administrative and social services upto the national average in the backward States. We hope that in doing so we have broken new ground in Indian federal finance.

21. While we have adopted population as the dominant factor in the distribution of shareable taxes, weightage has been given to a limited extent to the factor of contribution in the case of income-tax and backwardness in the distribution of Union excise duties.

22. The special difficulties of backward States have been given further recognition and in particular we have given them access, for the first time, to resources on a liberal scale to come up to the national average in important administrative and social services. This approach in our view ensures a fair deal to the advanced as well as the backward States.

23. The overall transfer of resources resulting from our recommendations has to be viewed in the proper perspective. A part of the grants-in-aid proposed by us under Article 275 of the Constitution is for purposes of equalisation of administrative standards. A significant portion of this grant relates to raising the level of social services and should be used for the expansion of these services. With all the emphasis at our command, we wish to state here that effective mechanisms must be evolved to see that the funds provided by us for those services are not diverted to other purposes. If this is ensured, the disparities in Plan outlays among the different States can be kept within a narrower range than in the past and every State will be enabled to have a plan of reasonable size.

24. The growing indebtedness of the States to the Centre and the significant diminution in the net flow of resources from the Centre to the States on capital account have caused great concern in recent years. The Central and the State Governments alike have been anxious to seek a satisfactory solution to this problem. The reference of this problem to the Finance Commission enables us to take a total view of the revenue and capital accounts of the States and devise some remedies. We have outlined the principles of debt relief in detail in the relevant chapter. It might suffice to mention here that while our objective has been to give some relief to all the States, in the case of States with relatively heavier burden of debt, we

have recommended debt relief on a discriminatory basis with reference to certain principles. If in the process some States emerge with surpluses on non-Plan capital account, it cannot be helped. In fact, some of the States would have had such surpluses even without any re-scheduling of debt. We gave very careful consideration to the question whether there was need and scope for any significant conversion of outstanding Central loans into grants and for reasons explained in greater detail in the concerned chapter, decided against any such conversion. It is only necessary to mention here that in adopting this course, we have been largely influenced by the consideration that any such conversion would impede the reverse flow of resources from some of the relatively advanced States to the Centre and thus impair the latter's capacity to redirect larger resources to the relatively backward States. While it is true that conversion of outstanding Central loans into grants would make no material difference to the resources position of the nation as a whole, we felt that the Centre should not be deprived of the leverage it now has for adjusting the flow of resources in such a way as to promote balanced development of different regions of the country. The debt outstanding between the Centre and the States could be looked upon as a revolving fund fed by the payments due from the past beneficiaries and drawn on by those now in need.

25. Our survey of trends in evolution of Centre-State financial relations has revealed that on the whole helpful and co-operative solutions have been found for the problems as they have arisen. But if despite this, a feeling still persists that the States have not had a fair deal, it would seem to be due not to any basic deficiencies in the Constitutional set up, but perhaps to the style of functioning of Central Ministries at times. The role of the Central Ministries is primarily one of leadership, guidance and coordination in the fields which are Constitutionally within the sphere of the States. While States should be only glad to draw on the expertise available with the Central Ministries in solving their problems, the fullest measure of latitude should be given to the States in shaping their Plans and programmes to suit their needs, as long as national priorities are not lost sight of. The Central Ministries should increasingly transform themselves into expert, specialised agencies for providing guidance to the States on problems which they cannot tackle with their limited technical and other resources. They should cease to encumber themselves with routine administrative and supervisory functions which only annoy the States and result in avoidable duplication of effort and expenditure. Provisions for Centrally sponsored schemes pertaining to subjects coming within the jurisdiction of the States should be considerably pruned. This has also been repeatedly urged by the National Development Council. These observations apply not merely to Central Ministries, but also to their agencies such as the University Grants Commission.

26. In the course of our discussions, we gathered the impression that many States felt aggrieved about the spirit in which the Centre had interpreted certain provisions of the Constitution. Some of these grievances have been referred to in the succeeding chapters. Reference may be made in this connection to the replacement of tax on Railway passenger fares by a fixed lump sum grant, the changes introduced in the scheme of taxation of Companies in 1959-60, the exclusion of advance income tax collections till recently from the shareable pool of income-tax, and the recent imposition of auxiliary duties of excise on non-shareable basis. We would only like to point out that there could be a significant improvement in the climate of Centre-State fianancial relations, if decisions that affect the revenues of the States are taken after the widest possible measure of consultation. The spirit underlying Article 274 of the Constitution would also seem to call for such consultation. It is perhaps the absence of such consultation and the consequent lack of comprehension of the difficulties of the Centre that is largely responsible for the feeling of dissatisfaction among the States. If the process of consultation between the Centre and the States on fiscal issues is placed on a systematic basis and speedy decisions are taken in the light of these consultations, a good deal of this type of dissatisfaction would disappear. Taxes on income, other than agricultural income, though levied and collected by the Government of India, are compulsorily shareable between the Union and the States under Article 270(1) of the Constitution. The proceeds attributable to Union Territories and taxes payable in respect of Union emoluments, as also any surcharge which may be levied for purposes of the Union are kept out of the divisible pool by virtue of the provisions contained in Articles 270(2). 270(3), 270(4), and Article 271 of the Constitution. These Articles, when read with Article 280(3) of the Constitution, cast the following responsibilities on the Finance Commissions :---

- (i) Determination of the percentage of the net proceeds of income-tax (exclusive of Corporation tax, proceeds attributable to Union Territories and taxes payable in respect of Union emoluments) to be assigned to the States.
- (ii) Fixation of the shares of each of the States in the divisible pool.
- (iii) Assessment of the percentage of the net proceeds which the Union should be allowed to retain with itself as proceeds attributable to Union Territories.

2. The assignment of the net proceeds of income-tax to the States, which was fixed by the First Finance Commission at 55 per cent, was enlarged progressively by the succeeding Commissions and placed at 75 per cent by the Fourth Finance Commission. The Fifth Finance Commission retained the States' share of the net proceeds of income-tax at 75 per cent, despite the request of many State Governments for further enchancement. The Commission refrained from recommending upward revision of States' shares, among other things, on the ground that for the period covered by their award, the proceeds of the income-tax distributable among the States would for the first time be inclusive of advance tax collections and that this change would have the effect of augmenting the divisible pool.

3. Almost all the States have again pleaded before us for a significant increase in the divisible pool of income-tax. Some of the States—Andhra Pradesh, Orissa and Punjab—have argued that the entire net proceeds of income-tax should be divided among the States. Kerala proposed an increase in the share of the States to 95 per cent. Other States have also pressed for augmentation of the divisible pool ranging from 80 per ment to 90 per cent. In justification of a further increase in the States' share of income-tax, the States have put forward two main arguments :----

- (i) The continuance, almost on a permanent basis, of Union surcharge and its recent enchancement have in effect enlarged the Centre's share of the net proceeds of the income-tax at the expense of the States.
- (ii) While in terms of the provisions of Article 271 of the Constitution, the Centre is entitled to levy a surcharge exclusively for purposes of the Union, the levy of such a surcharge should be only a transitory phenomenon. In their view, the continuance of surcharge as a permanent element of the income-tax rate structure was against the spirit, if not the letter, of the provisions of the Constitution.

4. The State Governments have also contended that the exclusion of income-tax paid by Companies from the divisible pool since 1959-60 has deprived them of a source of revenue that is bound to be far more elastic than income-tax. The income-tax paid by Companies just before its exclusion in 1959-60 from the divisible pool stood at Rs. 68.81 crores. But for the changes made in pursuance of the Finance Act റി 1959, it would have risen to Rs. 232.5 crores by 1969-70. Almost all the State Governments have gone a step further and argued that the Commission should recommend that Corporation tax should also be brought within the divisible pool through an amendment of the Constitution. They pointed out that in 1950-51 when the Constitution came into force, the yield from Corporation tax was only Rs. 40 crores as against Rs. 133 crores from income-tax, whereas in 1973-74 Corporation tax is estimated to vield Rs. 608 crores as against Rs. 650 crores from incometax. State Governments have argued that if the framers of the Constitution had anticipated these trends in the relative rates of growth of meome-tax and Corporation tax, it is extremely unlikely that they would have kept the Corporation tax out of the divisible pool.

5. In view of the explicit provisions of the Constitution, we are precluded from recommending the inclusion of the surcharge on income-tax for Union purposes and the Corporation tax in the divisible pool. But having regard to the near unanimity in the views expressed by the State Governments, we would suggest that the question of bringing Corporation tax within the divisible pool be brought up for examination before the National Development Council. There is no reason to apprehend that the inclusion of Corporation tax in the list of shareable taxes would *ipso facto* upset seriously the relative balance between Central

6. As regards the States' share of the net proceeds of income tax, we agree with the earlier Commissions that the Centre which is responsible for the levy and collection of the income tax should continue to have a significant interest in it. But there are also certain other factors which should be taken into account. The Union surcharge was raised from 10 to 15 per cent in 1971-72. The addition of advance tax collections to the divisible pool, including a sum of Rs. 270 crores representing the unadjusted balances of advance tax collections up to 1966-67, had resulted in a very appreciable increase in the resources accruing to the States from their share of the income tax during the period covered by the award of the Fifth Commission. The arrear element due to advance tax collection of earlier years has now disappeared. Having regard to these and other considerations, we feel that there is a good case for a modest increase in the States' share of the divisible pool of income tax. We, therefore, recommend that the States' share of the net proceeds of income tax be raised from 75 to 80 per cent during the period covered by our award.

7. As regards the manner of distribution among the States of the percentage of the net proceeds of income tax assigned to them, the views of the States are understandably divergent. While some of the relatively advanced States such as Gujarat, Maharashtra, Tamil Nadu and West Bengal have pressed for a higher weightage for the factor of contribution ranging from 40 per cent to 50 per cent against 10 per cent at present, the other States have urged that the net proceeds of income tax should be distributed wholly on the basis of population. Some of the States have also suggested weightage for other factors such as area, proportion of Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes population. Uttar Pradesh has urged that while 75 per cent of the proceeds may be distributed on the basis of population, the balance of 25 per cent should be distributed only among those States whose per capita income is below the per capita national average. 

8. All the successive Finance Commissions so far have recognised population and contribution to be the only two relevant factors in the distribution of the proceeds of income tax among the States, though they have differed on the relative weightage to be accorded to these two factors. None of them has taken into account other considerations such as economic backwardness, area and proportion of Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes population. We endorse this approach of the earlier Commissions both because there are advantages in our complex federal system in maintaining a reasonable measure of stability in the principles of distribution of shareable taxes and also because we are seeking to mitigate the economic disabilities of some of the States through weightage for relative economic backwardness in the distribution of Union excise duties and through grants-in-aid for upgradation of standards of administrative and social services.

9. We have given careful consideration to the relative weightage to be accorded to population and contribution. In view of the increasing integration of our national economy and the influence of Central policies on the location and development of industrial and tertiary sectors, it is difficult to assign the factor of contribution any higher weightage than at present in the distribution of income tax. Also such enhanced weightage will further aggravate regional imbalances. At the same time, particularly after the exclusion of income tax paid by the Companies from the divisible pool, it cannot be denied that a small, but not clearly identifiable, percentage of personal incomes should be deemed to have purely local origin. In respect of income tax ascribable to such local incomes at least, the States can lay a claim based on contribution. Bearing all these considerations in mind, we have decided that 10 per cent of the net proceeds of income tax should be distributed on the basis of contribution.

10. Another important point which arises for consideration in this context is how precisely the factor of contribution should be measured. The Fifth Finance Commission considered assessment as a more reliable index than collection of the contribution of the different States. The reasons adduced by them were :---

- (i) Collections did not make due allowance for incomes originating outside the State.
- (ii) Large amounts of deduction of tax at source on dividends, interest payments and in other cases gave undue benefit to States having metropolitan and industrial centres, in so far as such deductions relate to assessees residing in other States. On the other hand, any refunds made to such assessees would reduce still further the figures of collection of the States where they reside.

-

ą.

i.

(iii) The figures of collection might include large over-payments or under-payments which were adjusted only on assessment.

We feel that these considerations still hold good. In determining the States' share of the net proceeds of income tax we have, therefore, taken assessment as the measure of contribution.

11. Accordingly, we consider that during the period covered by our award, namely 1974-75 to 1978-79, 90 per cent of the States' share of the divisible pool of income tax should be distributed among them on the basis of population according to 1971 census and the remaining 10 per cent on the basis of figures of assessment after allowing for reductions on account of appellate orders, revisions, refunds and rectification. All the previous Commissions have prescribed the respective shares of States worked out on the principles enunciated by them in terms of fixed percentages. For the sake of administrative convenience, we propose to continue this practice. In arriving at the percentage share of each State, we have taken the figures of population according to 1971 census and the average of the assessments made during the five years ending with 1972-73, which are the latest years for which firm figures are available, after adjustment for reduction on account of factors such as appellate orders, revisions and refunds during the same period.

12. We further recommend that 1.79 per cent of the net proceeds of income tax may be taken to be the portion of such proceeds attributable to Union Territories. We have worked out this figure by allocating to Union Territories as at present constituted the share which would have accrued to them on the principles of distribution prescribed by us for the States, if the Union Territories had collectively been entitled to share of income tax.

13. We accordingly make the following recommendations in respect of the distribution of the net proceeds of income tax in each of the financial years from 1974-75 to 1978-79 :---

- (1) Out of the net proceeds of taxes on income in each financial year, a sum equal to 1.79 per cent thereof be deemed to represent the proceeds attributable to Union Territories.
- (2) The percentage of the net proceeds of taxes on income, except the portion representing the proceeds attributable to Union Territories, to be assigned to the States, should be eighty.

(3) The distribution among the States *inter se* of the share assigned to the States in respect of each financial year should be on the basis of the following percentages :---

Percentage

	() (deces)				101001111150
1.	Andhra Pradesh			,	7.76
2.	Assam .				2.54
3.	Bihar				9.61
4.	Gujarat .				5,55
5.	Haryana .				1.77
6.	Himachal Prade	sh			0,60
7.	Jammu & Kashr	nir			0,81
*8.	Karnataka .			-	5.33 -
9.	Kerala .				3.92
10.	Madhya Pradesh	ı.			7.30
11.	Maharashtra				11.05
12.	Manipur .				0.18
13.	Meghalaya .				0.18
14.	Nagaland .	-			0.09
15.	Orissa				3.73
16.	Punjab .				2.75
17.	Rajasthan .				4.50
18.	Tamil Nadu				7.94
19.	Tripura .				0.27
20.	Uttar Pradesh				15.23
21.	West Bengal	,		•	8.89
	TOTAL				100.00
					<del></del>

\*Mysore will be renamed as Karnataka with effect from 1-11-1973. As our recommendations are to take effect from 1-4-1974, we have used the name 'Karnataka' in the operative portion of our Report.

States

share of each State, we have taken the figures of population according to 1971 census and the average of the assessments made during the five years ending with 1972-73, which are the latest years for which firm figures are available, after adjustment for reduction on account of factors such as appellate orders, revisions and refunds during the same period.

12. We further recommend that 1.79 per cent of the net proceeds of income tax may be taken to be the portion of such proceeds attributable to Union Territories. We have worked out this figure by allocating to Union Territories as at present constituted the share which would have accrued to them on the principles of distribution prescribed by us for the States, if the Union Territories had collectively been entitled to share of income tax.

13. We accordingly make the following recommendations in respect of the distribution of the net proceeds of income tax in each of the financial years from 1974-75 to 1978-79 :---

- (1) Out of the net proceeds of taxes on income in each financial year, a sum equal to 1.79 per cent thereof be deemed to represent the proceeds attributable to Union Territories.
- (2) The percentage of the net proceeds of taxes on income, except the portion representing the proceeds attributable to Union Territories, to be assigned to the States, should be eighty.

(3) The distribution among the States *inter se* of the share assigned to the States in respect of each financial year should be on the basis of the following percentages :---

**r**> . .

	States						Perce	entage
1.	Andhra Pradesh	I						7.76
2.	Assam .			-				2.54
3.	Bihar .							9.61
4.	Gujarat .							5.55
5.	Haryana .							1.77
6.	Himachal Prade	sh						0.60
7.	Jammu & Kash	mir						0.81
*8.	Karnataka .							5.33 -
9.	Kerala .							3.92
10.	Madhya Pradesi	h						7.30
11.	Maharashtra							11.05
<b>£</b> 12.	Manipur							0.18
13.	Meghalaya .							0.18
14.	Nagaland .							0.09
15.	Orissa				•			3.73
16.	Punjab .		•			•		2.75
17.	Rajasthan .							4.50
18.	Tamil Nadu							7.94
19.	Tripura .		-					0.27
20.	Uttar Pradesh							15.23
21.	West Bengal			•	•		,	8.89
	TOTAL		•	•			•	100.00

\*Mysore will be renamed as Karnataka with effect from 1-11-1973. As our recommendations are to take effect from 1-4-1974, we have used the name 'Karnataka' in the operative portion of our Report.

## CHAPTER IV UNION EXCISE DUTIES

Under paragraph 4(a) of the President's Order, we are required to make recommendations on "the distribution between the Union and the States of the net proceeds of taxes which are to be, or may be, divided between them under Chapter I of Part XII of the Constitution and the allocation between the States of the respective shares of such proceeds". Under Article 272 of the Constitution, Union excise duties may be divided between the Union and the States, if Parliament by law so provides. Though sharing of the excise duties is of a permissive nature, no satisfactory scheme of fiscal transfers from the Union to the States through tax sharing can be devised, unless Union excise duties are also kept within the ambit of devolution.

2. The participation of States in Union excise revenues started on a rather modest scale with the award of the First Finance Commission which recommended sharing in respect of only three of the major commodities then subject to Union excise duties. In pursuance of the recommendations of successive Finance Commissions, the share of the States in Union excise duties has been progressively enlarged. By the time the Fifth Finance Commission was set up, the States were already sharing the proceeds of all Union excise duties excepting only special excise duties. regulatory duties of excise and cesses on commodities. The Fifth Finance Commission saw no justification for the exclusion of special duties of excise from the divisible pool and recommended that they should also be brought within the scheme of sharing from 1972-73 onwards. The regulatory duties, however, still remained outside the shareable pool. It should, however, be noted that the yield from regulatory duties was nil in 1970-71. No credit was also taken No credit was also taken under this head in the budget estimates for 1971-72. But, in the new situation created by large influx of refugees from Bangladesh and hostilities with Pakistan, India invoked the powers Government of available to them under section 12 of the Finance Act of 1971 to levy regulatory duties of excise on certain products such as steel, iron and steel products, copper, zinc, aluminium and unmanufactured tobacco. The yield from these regulatory duties amounted Rs. 22.88 crores in 1971-72 and was placed to at Rs. 80.37 crores in 1972-73 (Revised Estimate).

3. The levy of regulatory duties of excise has been replaced under the Finance Act of 1973 by auxiliary duties on excisable goods. The Finance Act specifically lays down that these auxiliary duties have been levied for purposes of the Union and that the proceeds there rom shall not be distributed among the States. In his budget speech, the Finance Minister observed that "for certain reasons it is not possible to incorporate the provision in rate tariffs, or make

them part of taxation statutes and they would, therefore, have to be revived from year to year for the present". The States have argued that auxiliary duties are, in pith and substance, indistinguishable from basic duties of excise. They also apprehend that continuance of auxiliary duties as a separate entity may encourage the Centre to raise additional revenues increasingly through enhancement of rates and coverage of auxiliary duties of excise rather than of basic duties. On the basis of existing coverage and rates, the estimated revenue from auxiliary duties of excise over the next five years is of the order of Rs. 720 crores. We recognise that under certain special circumstances the Centre may have to resort to levy of excise duties in a form not shareable with the States, particularly as the Constitution does not, unlike in the case of Incometax, envisage a surcharge exclusively for purposes of the Union. Nevertheless, we feel that levy of excise duties on a non-shareable basis should be confined to short periods of two or three years at the most to meet the large demands on national exchequer that may unexpectedly arise. We therefore recommend that revenue from auxiliary duties should be brought within the divisible pool from 1976-77 onwards. This will enable the Centre to meet its pressing needs in the immediate future and at the same time allay the apprehensions of the States that auxiliary duties of excise may be resorted to on a larger scale in order to deprive them of their legitimate share in the growth of revenues from Union excise duties.

 $\zeta^{*}$ 

4. As the buoyancy of Union excise duties in recent years has been sig ificantly higher than that of incometax, it is understandable that all the States-except Assam-should have pressed for augmentation of the divisible pool of Union excise duties. It is significant that this plea has been made by advanced and backward States alike. Some of the States-Andhra Pradesh, Kerala, Punjab, Tamil Nadu, Uttar Pradesh and West Bengal---have suggested enhancement of the States' share of Union excise duties from the present level of 20 per cent to 50 per cent. Others have urged increases ranging from a minimum of 33 1/3 per cent to 40 per cent. In the course of our discussions with some of the socially and economically backward States that were likely to qualify for grants under Article 275 of the Constitution, we specifically posed the question whether they would not prefer the divisible pool to be kept at a lower level so that the Centre may have larger resources for helping them in their developmental programmes. We also drew their attention to the possibility of increase in revenues accruing to them from increased share of Union excise duties being off-set by corresponding reduction in er Article 275. Even such States disgrants 🔅 + larger devolution through share of tinc\*\* with a more pronounced weightage exc

Under paragraph 4(a) of the President's Order, we are required to make recommendations on "the distribution between the Union and the States of the net proceeds of taxes which are to be, or may be, divided between them under Chapter I of Part XII of the Constitution and the allocation between the States of the respective shares of such proceeds". Under Article 272 of the Constitution, Union excise duties may be divided between the Union and the States, if Parliament by law so provides. Though sharing of the excise duties is of a permissive nature, no satisfactory scheme of fiscal transfers from the Union to the States through tax sharing can be devised, unless Union excise duties are also kept within the ambit of devolution.

2. The part cipation of States in Union excise revenues started on a rather modest scale with the award of the First Finance Commission which recommended sharing in respect of only three of the major commodities then subject to Union excise duties. In pursuance of the recommendations of successive Finance Comn issions, the share of the States in Union excise duties has been progressively enlarged. By the time the Fifth Finance Commission was set up, the States were already sharing the proceeds of all Union excise duties excepting only special excise duties, regulatory duties of excise and cesses on commodities. The Fifth Finance Commission saw no justification for the exclusion of special duties of excise from the divisible pool and recommended that they should also be brought wit in the scheme of sharing from 1972-73 onwards. The regulatory duties, however, still remained outside the shareable pool. It should, however, be notec that the yield from regulatory duties was ni! in 1970-71. No credit was also taken under this head in the budget estimates for 1971-72. But, in the new situation created by large influx of refugees from Bangladesh and hostilities with Pakistan, Government of India invoked the powers available to them under section 12 of the Finance Act of 1971 to levy regulatory duties of excise on certain products such as steel, iron and steel products, copper, zine, aluminium and unmanufactured tobacco. The yield from these regulatory duties amounted to Rs. 22.88 crures in 1971-72 and was placed аt Rs. 80.37 croses in 1972-73 (Revised Estimate).

3. The levy of regulatory duties of excise has been replaced under the Finance Act of 1973 by auxiliary duties on exclosable goods. The Finance Act specifically lays down that these auxiliary duties have been levied for purposes of the Union and that the proceeds there rom shall not be distributed among the States. In his budget speech, the Finance Minister observed that "for certain reasons it is not possible to incorporate the provision in rate tariffs, or make

them part of taxation statutes and they would, thereforc, have to be revived from year to year for the present". The States have argued that auxiliary duties are, in pith and substance, indistinguishable from basic duties of excise. They also apprehend that continuance of auxiliary duties as a separate entity may encourage the Centre to raise additional revenues increasingly through enhancement of rates and coverage of auxiliary duties of excise rather than of basic duties. On the basis of existing coverage and rates, the estimated revenue from auxiliary duties of excise over the next five years is of the order of Rs. 720 crores. We recognise that under certain special circumstances the Centre may have to resort to levy of excise duties in a form not sha eable with the States, particularly as the Constitution does not, unlike in the case of Incometax, envisage a surcharge exclusively for purposes of the Union. Nevertheless, we feel that levy of excise duties on a non-shareable basis should be confined to short periods of two or three years at the most to meet the large demands on national exchequer that may unexpectedly arise. We therefore recommend that revenue from auxiliary duties should be brought within the divisible pool from 1976-77 onwards. This will enable the Centre to meet its pressing needs in the immediate future and at the same time allay the apprehensions of the States that auxiliary duties of excise may be resorted to on a larger scale in order to deprive them of their legitimate share in the growth of revenues from Union excise duties.

4. As the buoyancy of Union excise duties in recent years has been significantly higher than that of incometax, it is understandable that all the States-except Assam---should have pressed for augmentation of the divisible pool of Union excise duties. It is significant that this plea has been made by advanced and backward States alike. Some of the States-Andhra Pradesh, Kerala, Punjab, Tamil Nadu, Uttar Pradesh and West Bengal--have suggested enhancement of the States' share of Union excise duties from the present level of 20 per cent to 50 per cent. Others have urged increases ranging from a minimum of 33 1/3 per cent to 40 per cent. In the course of our discussions with some of the socially and economically backward States that were likely to qualify for grants under Article 275 of the Constitution, we specifically posed the question whether they would not prefer the divisible pool to be kept at a lower level so that the Centre may have larger resources for helping them in their developmental programmes. We also drew their attention to the possibility of increase in revenues accruing to them from increased share of Union excise duties being off-set by corresponding reduction in grants under Article 275. Even such States distinctly preferred larger devolution through share of excise duties but with a more pronounced weightage

share of each State, we have taken the figures of population according to 1971 census and the average of the assessments made during the five years ending with 1972-73, which are the latest years for which firm figures are available, after adjustment for reduction on account of factors such as appellate orders, revisions and refunds during the same period.

12. We further recommend that 1.79 per cent of the net proceeds of income tax may be taken to be the portion of such proceeds attributable to Union Territories. We have worked out this figure by allocating to Union Territories as at present constituted the share which would have accrued to them on the principles of distribution prescribed by us for the States, if the Union Territories had collectively been entitled to share of income tax.

13. We accordingly make the following recommendations in respect of the distribution of the net proceeds of income tax in each of the financial years from 1974-75 to 1978-79 :---

- (1) Out of the net proceeds of taxes on income in each financial year, a sum equal to 1.79 per cent thereof be deemed to represent the proceeds attributable to Union Territories.
- (2) The percentage of the net proceeds of taxes on income, except the portion representing the proceeds attributable to Union Territories, to be assigned to the States, should be eighty.

(3) The distribution among the States *inter se* of the share assigned to the States in respect of each financial year should be on the basis of the following percentages :--

Darcantage

	States						Perc	entage
1.	Andhra Pradesh	ı					•	7.76
2.	Assam						•	2.54
3.	Bihar .					•	•	9.61
4.	Gujarat	-						5.55
5.	Haryana						•	1.77
6.	Himachal Prad	esh					•	0.60
7.	Jammu & Kash				•		•	0.81
*8.	Karnataka							5.33 🛩
9.	Kerala							3.92
10.	Madhya Prade	sh						7.30
11.	Maharashtra							11.05
12.	Manipur			•				0.18
13.	Meghalaya	•						0.18
14.	Nagaland	•		•				0.09
14.	Orissa .	•	•	•		•		3.73
15. 16.	Punjab	•	÷	÷				2.75
10.	Rajasthan	•	÷	÷				4.50
18.	Tamil Nadu	•	•	•				7.94
10.	Tripura		•					0.27
20.	Uttar Pradesh	•	•	•				15.23
	West Bengal		•	÷				8.89
21.	WEST DEligat		•	•	•	•	·	
	TOTAL			٠	•	•	•	100.00

\*Mysore will be renamed as Karnataka with effect from 1-11-1973. As our recommendations are to take effect from 1-4-1974, we have used the name 'Karnataka' in the operative portion of our Report.

for backwardness, because their share of Central revenues would then rise in tune with the rise in prices and higher taxation by the Centre, while grants under Article 275 are set at fixed amounts for the five-year period.

5. We have to strike a balance between the plea of the States for a substantial increase in the divisible pool and the needs of the Centre. We have also to ensure equity in the aggregate transfer of resources as between 'surplus' and 'deficit' States. An enlargement of the divisible pool will confer disproportionately larger benefit on surplus States than on the deficit States. On these and other relevant considerations, we feel that the States' share of all basic duties of excise should be retained at 20 per cent during the period covered by our award. Twenty per cent of the net proceeds of auxiliary duties of excise shall also be shareable from 1976-77 onwards. Revenues from cesses on excisable commodities, levied under special enactments and reserved for special purposes, should however continue to remain excluded from the divisible pool.

6. While there was near unanimity among the States in demanding an increase in the share of Union excise duties, there were naturally wide divergences in their approach to the principles of determination of the relative shares of the States in the divisible pool. Each State was inclined to put forward a formula that would favour it most. Andhra Pracesh and Haryana urged distribution wholly on the basis of population, while Maharashtra and Tamil Nadu pleaded for weightage for urban and rural population in the ratio of 30:70. Their argument was that consumption would be a suitable criterion in the distribution of Union excise duties and in the absence of reliable data on consumption, the broad break-up between urban and rural population would provide a satisfactory indicator of the level of consumption. West Bengal also pressed for population as the sole relevant factor but with weightage of 40 per cent for urban population. Assam, Bihar and Nagaland favoured continuance of the existing arrangements, namely, 80 per cent on population and 20 per cent on the basis of per capita income and index – of Gujarat argued in favour of distribackwardness. bution of 80 per cent on the basis of population, the balance of 20 per cent being distributed in proportion to sales tax collections. They justified their preference for sales tax collection on the ground that the levy of Union excise duties limits the scope for mobilisation of resources by the States in the form of sales tax. Kerala put forward an altogether new approach in proposing distribution on the basis of population and budgetary needs with equal weightage for both. Mysore contended that the entire distributable tax proceeds should be treated as one unit and allocated among the States-90 per cent on the basis of population and 10 per cent on the basis of development index or relative per capita income. Uttar Pradesh urged that 75 per cent of the divisible pool should be distributed on the basis of population and the remaining 25 per ceat only among the States whose per capita income is below the national average in the

inverse ratio of the per capita income. They specifically urged that other indices of backwardness should be ignored altogether, as there was no better measure of backwardness than per capita income. Madhya Pradesh, Maghalaya, Orissa, Rajasthan and Tripura urged that apart from backwardness and population, certain other factors such as percentag: of Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes should also be deemed relevant to the distribution of Union excise duties.

7. We have given careful thought to the formulation of principles of distribution of Unior, excise duties among the States, as it will continue to be by far the most important conduit for transfer of resources from Centre to the States. We agree with the earlier Commissions that collection or contribution would not be an appropriate basis for distribution of excise duties. The two criteria that have gained general acceptance with the earlier Commissions are population and relative social and economic backwardness of the States.

8. A measure of weightage for relative economic backwardness has by now come to be accepted as a legitimate criterion in the distribution of States' share of Union excise duties. As briefly indicated in the carlier paragraphs, some of the States, of course, have argued before us vigorously that relative backwardness of States cannot be a relevant consideration in the distribution of Central taxes. In their view, the distribution of excise duties should be related exclusively to non-discriminatory criteria such as population or consumption and any special help that may be considered necessary should be extended to the backward States through the mechanism of grantsin-aid under Article 275 of the Constitution.

9. We are unable to accept this point of view. The objective of rectifying, to the extent possible, regional imbalances should be recognised as a distinct criterion in determining the principles of fiscal transfers in any federation. We are aware that while regional imbalances cannot be redressed completely through our scheme of devolution alone, our recommendations should nevertheless make a modest contribution to the process of elimination of existing disparities.

10. In view of the continuing need to help States that are economically backward, it becomes essential to evolve some indicators for the measurement of relative economic backwardness. The main issue which we had to consider in this connection was whether per capita income could be taken as the sole indicator of the comparative economic position of different States or whether, in lieu of or in addition to per capita income, other indicators, such as those employed by the Fourth and Fifth Finance Commissions, should also be used. The Central Statistical Organisation has been compiling estimates of State Domestic Product and per capita income on comparable basis and such estimates were used by the last Commission for purposes of distribution of a portion of Union excise duties. At our request, Central Statistical Organisation has furnished us with estimates of State Domestic Product for 1967-68, 1968-69 and

1969-70—the three latest years for which such estimates are available. The Central Statistical Organisation has confirmed that the methodology now followed by them in preparing these estimates is the same as that followed by them earlier in preparing the estimates upto 1964-65 that had formed the basis of recommendations of the Fifth Finance Commission. We, how-

dations of the Fifth Finance Commission. We, however, felt that in view of divergences in trends of prices among States, it would be more relevant to have figures of State Domestic Product reworked at abstract all-India prices. Accordingly, the Central Statistical Organisation has computed figures of State Domestic Product for the years 1967-68 to 1969-70 using abstract all-India prices.

11. Some of the States have contended before us that per capita income by itself would not be a wholly dependable index of the relative economic position of the States. They have urged that the Commission should take into account some other indicators relating to certain specific areas of economic or social significance. The more important indicators of backwardness suggested by the States, some of them identical with those relied on by the Fourth and Fifth Commissions, are as under:—

- (i) Percentage of rural population to total population of each State.
- (ii) Percentage of scheduled castes population.
- (iii) Percentage of literacy.
- (iv) Enrolment in primary classes I to V as percentage of population in age group 6-11.
- (v) Number of workers registered in factorics per lakh of population.
- (vi) Number of registered factories in terms of area.
- (vii) Value added per capita by manufacture.
- (viii) Number of hospitals in terms of area or per lakh of population.
- (ix) Per capita gross value of agricultural production.
- (x) Net irrigated area per cultivator.
- (xi) Percentage of villages with public water supply.
- (xii) Landless agricultural labour in each State.
- (xiii) Installed capacity for generation of electricity.
- (xiv) Number of villages electrified.
- (xv) Percentage of villages electrified.
- (xvi) Per capita consumption of energy.
- (xvii) Motor vehicles per lakh of population.
- (xviii) Length of railways and roads in terms of area.
- (xix) Area of each State.
- (xx) Per capita availability of calories or proteins in different States.

- (xxi) Percentage of population below 'poverty line' in each State.
- (xxii) Extent of unemployment in each State.

12. This long list, of course, is not exhaustive. Each State was understandably anxious to put forward such indicators as would reflect its own interests more fully.

13. We have carefully considered whether all or any of the indicators set out above could be used in addition to or in substitution of per capita income as a measure of comparative levels of economic and social advance in different States. Even a cursory look at the list would show that most of the indicators put forward by the States refer either to characteristics that are themselves the causes of low per capita income or to characteristics that are direct or indirect consequences of low per capita income. Thus, for example, gross value of agricultural output or the number of workers employed in factories is itself one of the causes for variations in per capita income of the State. Area under irrigation, likewise, has a bearing on agricultural production and, therefore, also on per capita income. There is a high degree of correlation among the several indicators mentioned by the States. If we take into account all of them or a sub-set of them as indicators, we shall be confounding their impact on the criterion of backwardness.

14. The use of indicators relating to sociol services such as enrolment in schools of children in the age group 6-11, or bed strength in hospital is open to objections of a different nature. Some of the States like Kerala have urged that the adoption of these criteria for the measurement of relative backwardness would place at a disadvantage those States which, despite a poor resource base, have assigned high priority to these services in the past. While some of the advanced States have concentrated their resources on irrigation and power projects, or even repayment of Central loans out of revenue resources, a few of the poorer and middle level States, presumably out of their greater concern for the weaker sections of society, have allocated larger resources for building up social services. We feel that these arguments cannot be wholly ignored. Even granting the need to provide certain States with larger resources to enable them to enlarge social services, it would be much better to do so through a straightforward "mark-up" of the budgetary provisions under the relevant heads, than seek to accomplish the same objective circuitously through weightage for social services in our formula for distribution of Central taxes. There will then be greater certainty also that the additional resources so provided will be utilised for expansion of social services.

15. The assignment of weightage among the different indicators is an intractable issue. Among the numerous indicators put forward before us, we consider per capita income as the best possible yardstick for the measurement of the levels of development. We have taken per capita income as the sole criterion in assessing the relative economic position of the States.

16. A related issue to which we have devoted considerable thought is whether on the basis of per capita income, States should be classified into two categories-advanced and backward-States below the national average being regarded backward and those above the average as advanced. It may be recalled that the Fifth Finance Commission had adopted such an approach in determining the allocation of a portion of Union excise duties. The approach favoured by the last Commission affected most adversely those States whose per capita income happened to be just above the dividing line. This precise division is open to objection particularly in view of the known margins of errors in national income data-This approach also needlessly heightens the conflict of interest among different States. In view of these considerations, we recommend that while the weightage for backwardness should be raised from 20 per cent to 25 per cent, the inter se distribution of this portion of Union excise duties should be in relation to the 'distance' of a State's per capita income from that of the State with the highest per capita income multiplied by the population of the State concerned according to 1971 census.

17. The balance of 75 per cent of the States' share of the divisible pool of Union excise duties should be distributed on the basis of population of the States according to 1971 census.

18. We have worked out the relative shares of the States in terms of percentages according to the principles enunciated above.

19. We therefore recommend that:

(a) during each of the years 1974-75 and 1975-76, a sum equivalent to 20 (twenty) per cent of the net proceeds of Union duties of excise on all articles levied and collected in that year, excluding auxiliary duties of excise and cesses levied under special Acts and earmarked for special purposes, should be paid out of the Consolidated Fund of India to the States;

- (b) during the years 1976-77, 1977-78 and 1978-79, a sum equivalent to 20 (twenly) per cent of the net proceeds of Union duties of excise on all articles levied and collected in the respective year, including auxiliary duties of excise, but excluding cesses levied under special Acts and earmarked for special purposes, should be paid out of the Consolidated Fund of India to the States; and
- (c) the distribution among the States of the sum payable to the States in respect of each financial year should be made on the basis of the following percentages:—

	States				F	ercentage
1.	Andhra Pradesh					8.16
<u>2</u> .	Assam					2.71
3.	Bihar					11.47
4.	Gujarat					4.57
5.	Haryana					1.53
6.	Himachal Pradesh	•				0.63
7.	Jammu & Kashmir					0.90
8.	Karnataka .	-				5.45 🛩
9.	Kerala					3.86
10.	Madhya Pradesh					8.15
11.	Maharashtra .					8,58
12.	Manipur .				-	0.21
13.	Meghalaya .					0.19
14.	Nagaland .					0.11
15.	Orissa					4.06
16.	Punjab				•	1.87
17.	Rajasthan .					5.00
18.	Tamil Nadu					7.43
19.	Tripura .					0.30
20.	Uttar Pradesh	•	•			17.03
21.	West Bengal	•		•		7.79
	TOTAL				•	100.00

## CHAPTER V ADDITIONAL DUTIES OF EXCISE

Under paragraph 4(c) of the Order of the President defining our terms of reference, we are required to recommend the changes, if any, to be made in the principles governing the distribution of the net proceeds in any financial year of additional duties of excise in lieu of sales tax on cotton fabrics, woollen fabrics, rayon or artificial silk fabrics, sugar and tobacco including manufactured tobacco. The scheme of distribution has however to be so devised as to guarantee to every State in each of the financial years from 1974-75 to 1978-79 an amount not less than the revenue realised by it from the levy of the sales tax on these commodities in the financial year 1956-57.

2. The arrangements now in force for the levy of additional excise duties in lieu of sales tax on the commodities mentioned above are the outcome of a decision taken by the National Development Council n December, 1956. The National Development Council decided on replacement of sales tax on these commodities by additional excise duties in the interests of convenience to trade and avoidance of tax evasion. While even now the States remain free to re-impose sales tax subject only to the possible forfeiture of their share of revenues from additional excise duties on these commodities, the declaration of these goods as 'goods of special importance' by Section 14 of the Central Sales Tax Act, 1956, acts as an effective deterrent against the States reverting to the old pattern of levy of sales tax. The effect of this legislative provision is to restrict the levy of sales tax to the limit specified therein (currently 3 per cent). Sales tax on these commodities can also be levied at only one stage and the local sales tax is to be refunded if such goods subsequently become subject to inter-State sales tax. State Governments are thus effectively prevented from reimposing sales tax on these commodities, though their constitutional right to levy sales tax remains unimpaired.

3. The scheme of levy of additional excise duties in lieu of sales tax has now been in force for over 15 years. All available evidence indicates that the continuance of the scheme is welcomed by trade and industry who have in fact frequently pleaded for its extension to other commodities. But till quite recently, most of the State Governments would seem to have had reservations about the utility of the existing system. Dissatisfaction of the State Governments with the inadequate exploitation of the revenue potential of the additional excise duties on these commodities by the Union Government led the Government of India to request the last Finance Commission to investigate and report on the desirability or otherwise of continuing the scheme of levy of additional excise duties in replacement of sales tax. Later in the wake of the recommendations of the Fifth Finance Commission, the whole question was considered by a representative group of Central and State Government officials. In the light of the proposals made by that group, the National Development Council at its meeting held on 28-12-1970 agreed to the continuance of the present arrangements subject to certain conditions. The main condition stipulated by the National Development Council for the continuance of the scheme was that the incidence of the additional excise duties should be stepped up to 10.8 per cent of the value of the clearances within a period of two or three years.

4. These recommendations were accepted by the Government of India and have since been implemented through successive Finance Acts. Accordingly the yield from additional excise duties which amounted to only Rs. 52.68 crores in 1968-69 rose to Rs. 105.97 crores by 1971-72 and is expected to rise further to Rs. 168.78 crores in 1973-74. It is clear from the memoranda submitted to us by the State Governments that they are by and large now satis-fied with the manner in which Government of India have implemented the recommendations of the National Development Council and that they do not seek any material change in the present scheme of levy of additional excise duties. Andhra Pradesh however urged that the existing practice should be given up and the States permitted to levy sales tax without any restriction. Uttar Pradesh also wanted that the constitutional right of the State Government to levy sales tax on these commodities should be restored. West Bengal sought discontinuance of the present system, if the conditions stipulated by the National Development Council were not accepted fully by the Government of India. In any case, the question of continuance or otherwise of additional excise duties does not come within our purview. We are only concerned with the limited issue of formulating a proper scheme of distribution of the revenues from additional excise duties among the States.

5. We sought the views of the State Governments on the principles to be followed in the distribution of additional duties of excise. Gujarat, Haryana, Maharashtra and West Bengal desired that the excess of the proceeds of additional excise duties over the guaranteed amount should be distributed entirely on the basis of the proportion of sales tax revenue realised in each State to the aggregate of sales tax collections in all the States taken together. In other words they seemed to favour the re-instatement of the principles of distribution recommended by the Fourth Finance Commission. Bihar, Himachal Pradesh, Madhya Pradesh, Orissa and Rajasthan invited our attention to the absence of reliable Statewise data

## CHAPTER V ADDITIONAL DUTIES OF EXCISE

Under paragraph 4(c) of the Order of the President defining our terms of reference, we are required to recommend the changes, if any, to be made in the principles governing the distribution of the net proceeds in any financial year of additional duties of excise in lieu of sales tax on cotton fabrics, woollen fabrics, rayon or artificial silk fabrics, sugar and tobacco including manufactured tobacco. The scheme of distribution has however to be so devised as to guarantee to every State in each of the financial years from 1974-75 to 1978-79 an amount not less than the revenue realised by it from the levy of the sales tax on these commodities in the financial year 1956-57.

2. The arrangements now in force for the levy of additional excise duties in lieu of sales tax on the commodities mentioned above are the outcome of a decision taken by the National Development Council **n** December, 1956. The National Development Council decided on replacement of sales tax on these commodities by additional excise duties in the interests of convenience to trade and avoidance of tax evasion. While even now the States remain free to re-impose sales tax subject only to the possible forfeiture of their share of revenues from additional excise duties on these commodities, the declaration of these goods as 'goods of special importance' by Section 14 of the Central Sales Tax Act, 1956, acts as an effective deterrent against the States reverting to the old pattern of levy of sales tax. The effect of this legislative provision is to restrict the levy of sales tax to the limit specified therein (currently 3 per cent). Sales tax on these commodities can also be levied at only one stage and the local sales tax is to be refunded if such goods subsequently become subject to inter-State sales tax. State Governments are thus effectively prevented from reimposing sales tax on these commodities, though their constitutional right to levy sales tax remains unimpaired.

3. The scheme of levy of additional excise duties in lieu of sales tax has now been in force for over 15 years. All available evidence indicates that the continuance of the scheme is welcomed by trade and industry who have in fact frequently pleaded for its extension to other commodities. But till quite recently, most of the State Governments would seem to have had reservations about the utility of the existing system. Dissatisfaction of the State Governments with the inadequate exploitation of the revenue potential of the additional excise duties on these commodities by the Union Government lcd the Government of India to request the last Finance Commission to investigate and report on the desirability or otherwise of continuing the scheme of levy of additional excise duties in replacement of sales tax. Later in

the wake of the recommendations of the Fifth Finance Commission, the whole question was considered by a representative group of Central and State Government officials. In the light of the proposals made by that group, the National Development Council at its meeting held on 28-12-1970 agreed to the continuance of the present arrangements subject to certain conditions. The main condition stipulated by the National Development Council for the continuance of the scheme was that the incidence of the additional excise duties should be stepped up to 10.8 per cent of the value of the clearances within a period of two or three years.

4. These recommendations were accepted by the Government of India and have since been implemented through successive Finance Acts. Accordingly the vield from additional excise duties which amounted to only Rs. 52.68 crores in 1968-69 rose to Rs. 105.97 crores by 1971-72 and is expected to rise further to Rs. 168.78 crores in 1973-74. It is clear from the memoranda submitted to us by the State Governments that they are by and large now satisfied with the manner in which Government of India have implemented the recommendations of the National Development Council and that they do not seek any material change in the present scheme of levy of additional excise duties. Andhra Pradesh however urged that the existing practice should be given up and the States permitted to levy sales tax without any restriction. Uttar Pradesh also wanted that the constitutional right of the State Government to levy sales tax on these commodities should be restored. West Bengal sought discontinuance of the present system, if the conditions stipulated by the National Development Council were not accepted fully by the Government of India. In any case, the question of continuance or otherwise of additional excise duties does not come within our purview. We are only concerned with the limited issue of formulating a proper scheme of distribution of the revenues from additional excise duties among the States.

5. We sought the views of the State Governments on the principles to be followed in the distribution of additional duties of excise. Gujarat, Haryana, Maharashtra and West Bengal desired that the excess of the proceeds of additional excise duties over the guaranteed amount should be distributed entirely on the basis of the proportion of sales tax revenue realised in each State to the aggregate of sales tax collections in all the States taken together. In other words they seemed to favour the re-instatement of the principles of distribution recommended by the Fourth Finance Commission. Bihar, Himachal Pradesh, Madhya Pradesh, Orissa and Rajasthan invited our attention to the absence of reliable Statewise data

16. A related issue to which we have devoted considerable thought is whether on the basis of per capita income, States should be classified into two categories-advanced and backward-States below the national average being regarded backward and those above the average as advanced. It may be recalled that the Fifth Finance Commission had adopted such an approach in determining the allocation of a portion of Union excise duties. The approach favoured by the last Commission affected most adversely those States whose per capita income happened to be just above the dividing line. This precise di-vision is open to objection particularly in view of the known margins of errors in national income data. This approach also needlessly heightens the conflict of interest among different States. In view of these considerations, we recommend that while the weightage for backwardness should be raised from 20 per cent to 25 per cent, the *inter se* distribution of this portion of Union excise duties should be in relation to the 'distance' of a State's per capita income from that of the State with the highest per capita income multiplied by the population of the State concerned according to 1971 census.

17. The balance of 75 per cent of the States' share of the divisible pool of Union excise duties should be distributed on the basis of population of the States according to 1971 census.

18. We have worked out the relative shares of the States in terms of percentages according to the principles enunciated above.

19. We therefore recommend that:

(a) during each of the years 1974-75 and 1975-76, a sum equivalent to 20 (twenty) per cent of the net proceeds of Union duties of excise on all articles levied and collected in that year, excluding auxiliary duties of excise and cesses levied under special Acts and earmarked for special purposes, should be paid out of the Consolidated Fund of India to the States;

- (b) during the years 1976-77, 1977-78 and 1978-79, a sum equivalent to 20 (twenty) per cent of the net proceeds of Union duties of excise on all articles levied and collected in the respective year, including auxiliary duties of excise, but excluding cesses levied under special Acts and earmarked for special purposes, should be paid out of the Consolidated Fund of India to the States; and
- (c) the distribution among the States of the sum payable to the States in respect of each financial year should be made on the basis of the following percentages:—

	States					Р	ercentage
1.	Andhra Pradesh					<b>_</b>	8.16
2.	Assam						2.71
3.	Bihar					•	11,47
4.	Gujarat						4,57
5.	Haryana						1.53
6.	Himachal Pradesh						0.63
7.	Jammu & Kashmir						0.90
8.	Karnataka .						5.45
9.	Kerala					•	3.86
10.	Madhya Pradesh			•			8.15
11.	Maharashtra .		•				8.58
12.	Manipur .						0.21
13.	Meghalaya .						0.19
14.	Nagaland .		•		•		0.11
15.	Orissa					•	4,06
16.	Punjab					•	1.87
17.	Rajasthan .					•	5.00
18.	Tamil Nadu				•		7.43
19.	Tripura .				•	•	0.30
20.	Uttar Pradesh					•	17.03
21.	West Bengal	•			•	•	7.79
	TOTAL						100.00

on consumption of these commodities and urged that the excess over the guaranteed amount should therefore be distributed on the basis of population. Bihar also pleaded for suitable enhancement of the guaranteed amount, while Himachal Pradesh and Kerala did not want any reservation of guaranteed amount. Since distribution solely on the basis of population might entail a sudden disruption of the present scheme of distribution, Orissa urged that at least 75 per cent of the surplus available after providing the guaranteed amount and an appropriate share to the Union Territories, Jammu & Kashmir and Nagaland should be distributed in proportion to the population of a State. Assam pleaded for continuance of the existing principles. Uttar Pradesh wanted the proceeds to be distributed in the same ratio as guaranteed amount of each State to the total guaranteed sum. Andhra Pradesh suggested that the revenue from additional excise duties should correspond to what the State could have got if they had the power to levy sales tax. They also argued that raw tobacco should be deleted from the list of goods of special importance so as to empower the States to levy suitable sales tax without any restriction on the commodity. While urging that its share should not be less than  $1\frac{1}{2}$  per cent of the net proceeds, Jammu & Kashmir urged that the growth in sales tax revenues of the State should be a broad guide in determining the amounts to be allocated out of the proceeds of the additional excise duties. Kerala put forward an altogether different approach. It urged that the proportion of general sales tax collection to consumption expenditure should be adopted as the base for distribution. If, however, the consumption data are not available, figures of State income should be adopted for the purpose of working out a similar ratio. Punjab did not suggest any specific principle of distribution but only wanted the State to be fully compensated for the loss of sales tax revenue on these commodities even if it entailed a further step up of the incidence of the additional excise duties beyond 10.8 per cent of the value of clearances. Three States Manipur, Meghalaya and Tamil Nadu did not put forward any specific suggestions on the principles to be followed Tamil Nadu has pleaded for the for distribution. power to levy sales tax upto 3 per cent without forfeiture of their share in additional excise duties. Their argument was that the right of the States to levy at least a marginal sales tax on these commodities should be recognised. This suggestion as well as the other suggestion of Andhra Pradesh about deletion of raw tobacco from the list of 'declared goods' does not come within our purview.

6. The first issue we have to consider is whether it is possible or necessary to re-determine the yield in 1956-57 from sales tax on the commodities subject to additional excise duties for purposes of guaranteeing to the States concerned the amounts so determined. The Third, Fourth and Fifth Finance Commissions accepted the estimates worked out by the Second Finance Commission and did not consider it feasible in view of the lapse of time to reassess the likely yield in 1956-57 of sales tax on the commodities on which additional excise duties have been imposed. In view of the further lapse of time, we find it impossible to frame any 1. . . . fresh estimates of the likely yield of sales tax 111 1956-57 on these commodities and on that basis redetermine the guaranteed amounts. It is also significant that barring one State, none has asked for any such reassessment. We have, therefore, adopted the estimates worked out by the Second Finance Commission subject to the subsequent adjustments made by the Third Finance Commission in view of the bifurcation of Bombay State into Maharashtra and Gujarat and by the Fifth Finance Commission in view of the formation of the new States of Punjab and Haryana. We have to make a similar apportionment of the sum guaranteed to Assam between Assam and Meghalaya. We find that the President has by an order issued under Section 49 of the North Eastern Areas (Reorganisation) Act 1971, fixed Meghalaya's share at Rs. 5.51 lakhs reducing correspondingly Assam's share to Rs. 79.57 lakhs on the basis of population. Later in this chapter, we are suggesting that the proceeds of additional excise duties should be distributed among the States on the basis of 70 per cent weightage for population 20 per cent for State income and 10 per cent for production. If these principles are applied, the original share of the composite State of Assam in the yield from Sales tax would be apportionable between Meghalaya and Assam in the ratio of 1:14.25. Accordingly, we determine the yield of sales tax on these commodities in 1956-57 in the area at present comprised in Meghalaya to Rs. 5.58 lakhs and that in the area now comprised in Assam to Rs. 79.50 lakhs. These are the amounts that would need to be guaranteed to Assam and Meghalaya.

7. The next important issue that arises for consideration is whether the guaranteed amounts should first be set apart from the net proceeds and the balance then distributed among the States on suitable principles or whether the entire net proceeds should be distributed on whatever principles are considered appropriate subject to the overriding proviso that no State should get in any year less than the guaranteed amount as its share. The earlier Commissions have preferred the first alternative. They presumably felt that unless the guaranteed amounts were first set apart and the balance alone distributed among the States, there was the risk of the share of some of the States falling short of the guaranteed amount. However well founded this apprehension may have been earlier, we are convinced that there is now absolutely no risk of the share of any State not coming up to the guaranteed amount. The expected net proceeds of additional excise duties during the forecast period after excluding the share attributable to Union Territorics on the existing basis has been estimated at Rs. 1037 crores as against the guaranteed amount of Rs. 32.40 crores per annum or Rs. 162 crores over the same five year period. In other words, the guaranteed amount works out to about 16 per cent of the anticipated distributable part of additional excise duties. We, therefore, feel there is no need to set apart the guaranteed amounts and distribute the balance alone among States. The initial reservation of guaranteed amounts confers and unintended advantage on certain States and introduces an avoidable element of distortion in the scheme of distribution of additional excise duties.

8. As regards the basis of distribution of additional excise duties among the States, the view has gained general acceptance among the Finance Commissions that every State should be enabled to get the equivalent of what it would have secured if it had not surrendered its power to levy sales tax on these commodities. In other words, the Finance Commissions have recognised the principle of compensation to be the only valid principle in the distribution of the additional excise duties. Other considerations such as preferential treatment for backward States, however valid in relation to allocation of other Central taxes, are totally irrelevant to any scheme of distribution of additional excise duties. Their levy by the Centre is in pursuance of what is equivalent to a tax rental agreement.

9. A second proposition which would again seem to be incontrovertible is that State-wise figures of consumption of the commodities on which additional excise duties are levied would afford by far the best indication of the potential loss of revenue sustained by their surrender of authority to levy sales tax on them. The earlier Finance Commissions would seem to have differed only on how the relative levels of consumption of these commodities in the several States are to be assessed. The Second Finance Commission, which incidentally was the first to deal with the problem of distribution of additional excise duties among the States, recommended that the distribution of additional excise duties should be on the basis of the then available consumption figures with population as a correctional factor in view of the infirmities in the data on consumption. The Third Finance Commission felt that since additional excise duties were being levied in lieu of sales tax it would be equitable to distribute collections in excess of guaranteed amounts partly on the basis of percentage increases in the collection of sales tax in each State since 1957-58 and partly on the basis of population. The Fourth Finance Commission altogether abandoned population as a relevant factor and rested its scheme of distribution of additional excise duties wholly on the realisation of sales tax revenue in each State. The last Commission recognised certain limitations in taking the revenue from sales tax which is derived from a wide range of commodities comprising luxuries, semi-luxuries, raw materials and intermediate goods as indicative of the contribution made by each State to the aggregate revenue from additional excise duties. As the available statistics on consumption of these commodities did not in their view provide an unassailable basis for distribution of additional excise duties, the Commission held that the best formula for distribution of additional excise duties would be one that gave equal weightage to both sales tax collections and population.

10. We have examined afresh what the most equitable basis would be for allocation of the proceeds of additional excise dutics among the States. Theoretically there cannot be any dispute that figures of consumption of these commodities, if available, would be the best possible indicator of what each State could have mobilised if it had retained its power to levy sales tax on these commodities. We therefore examined

in the first instance the available statistics of Statewise consumption of the commodities to which additional excise duties are applicable. Additional excise duties on cotton textiles are specific duties levied according to the metreage at varying rates on different varieties of fabrics. The available figures on consump-tion of textiles are, however, in terms of the value of cloth consumed and even these are confined only to cotton fabrics, and State-wise estimates of consumption of woollen fabrics, rayon and artificial silk fabrics are not available. In the case of cigarettes, consumption data are available only in terms of number of cigarettes consumed, while the additional excise duties on them are levied at varying ad valorem rates. State-wise figures of consumption of sugar are available and these have been arrived at on the basis of despatches of sugar by factories to the consuming States. From what has been stated, it is clear that consumption figures as available, except possibly in the case of sugar, cannot be regarded as providing an equitable and firm basis for distribution of the proceeds of additional excise duties.

11. Like the earlier Commissions, we are also thus constrained to identify some indirect but reasonably reliable indicators of the level of consumption of these commodities in different States. Of the various possible indirect indicators of levels of consumption we have no hesitation in rejecting sales tax collections as of any relevance at all. As recognised by the Fifth Finance Commission, sales tax is applicable to a wide range of commodities comprising luxuries, semi-luxuries, raw materials, intermediate goods and the like. Sales tax revenue derived from these commodities may be a measure of the tax effort of the State Governments. But it does not provide even an indirect clue to the levels of consumption of textiles, sugar and tobacco on which additional excise duties are being levied in lieu of sales tax. It is true that compensation for the loss of revenue from sales tax on these commodities is the only equitable criterion for distribution of additional excise duties. But we do not consider revenue from sales tax on other commodities in respect of which the State Governments have retained the power to levy sales tax as providing any basis for determination of the likely receipts from textiles, tobacco and sugar on which they have abstained from levying sales tax.

12. We have, therefore, to look for some better indices of consumption of these commodities. There cannot be serious room for argument that consumption is directly related to levels of income. Latest available data on State Domestic Product may, therefore, be taken to provide a broad indication of the likely consumption of these commodities. However, it is also necessary to recognise that the consumption of tobacco and possibly even of sugar depends, apart from levels of income, on the habits of people, their social mores and other intangible factors. As regards textiles, the coarser varieties of cloth should be deemed to be among necessities of life, the consumption of which is more likely to depend on population rather than on State domestic product. Having regard to these considerations, we feel that population and the average of State Domestic Product for the three years 1967-68 to 1969-70 should be taken together as providing reasonable basis for assessment of the levels of consumption, population being given considerably higher weightage.

13. It is arguable that if the States had not surrendered their power to levy sales tax on textiles, sugar and tobacco, they would have also had the authority to levy sales tax on these commodities sold in the course of inter-State transactions. In other words, the States would have to be compensated not merely for the loss of revenue from sales tax on these commodities consumed within the State but also on that portion of the production, if any, of these commodities The sales tax that is 'exported' to other States. leviable on these three commodities 'exported' to other States would, however, normally be subject to a ceiling of three per cent which is the rate applicable under the Central Sales Tax Act to inter-State sales to recognised dealers and Government departments. The present rate of additional excise duties on these commodities works out to about 10.8 per cent of the value of clearances. In view of this, while production of these commodities in different States has to be given a measure of weightage, the weightage should however be comparatively small in view of the ceiling on rates at which inter-State sales tax can be charged. Having regard to all the considerations set about above, we feel that by far the most equitable basis for distribution of additional excise duties would be to allocate the proceeds of additional excise duties on the basis of population, State Domestic Product at State current prices and production in the ratio of 70:20:10. We have worked out the relative percentage share of each State on this basis.

C

ι

14. We have also to determine the net proceeds of additional excise duties attributable to Union Territories. The Fifth Finance Commission had recommended that a sum equal to 2.05 per cent of the net proceeds of the additional excise duties should be retained by the Union as attributable to Union Terri-Likewise the share payable to Jammu & tories. Kashmir and Nagaland have also to be determined as these States were not parties to the original agreement of replacement of sales tax by additional excise duties on these three commodities. We feel that it would be appropriate to determine the share of these two States as also that of Himachal Pradesh, Manipur, Meghalaya and Tripura which became full-fledged States after the Fifth Finance Commission had submitted its report and the proportion attributable to the Union Territories as now constituted on the same basis as applicable to other States, namely 70 per cent weightage for population, 20 per cent for State

Domestic Product and 10 per cent for production. On this basis the portion to be retained by the Union, as being attributable to Union Territories, will be 1.41 per cent of the net proceeds.

15. Accordingly, we recommend that :---

- (i) There is no need to set apart any guaranteed amounts to the States as in our opinion there is no risk of the share of any State in the net proceeds of additional excise duties falling short of the revenue realised from the levy of the sales tax on the commodities subject to additional duties of excise in lieu of sales tax for the financial year 1956-57 in that State;
- (ii) The net proceeds of the additional excise duties during each financial year be distributed on the following basis :--
  - (a) A sum equal to 1.41 per cent of such net proceeds be retained by the Union as attributable to Union Territories;
  - (b) The balance of 98.59 per cent of such net proceeds be distributed among the States in accordance with their respective percentage shares of such balance as under :---

<b>.</b>	States					Percentage of distribution
	Andhra Pradesh	· · ·		··· ·	• • •	8.39
2.	Assam					. 2.47
3.	Bihar					9,36
4.	Gujarat	•				5.91
<del>,</del> .	Harvana	•				. 1.94
5. 6.	Himachal Pradesh		•			0.59
	Jammu & Kashmir				•	0.73
7.			•	•		5.62
8.	Karnataka	•	·	•		3.58
9.	Kerala			,	•	6.98
10.	Madhya Pradesh	•	•	·	•	11.65
11.	Maharasht <b>ra</b>	·	•	•	•	0.17
12.	Manipur	•	•	·	•	0.17
13.	Meghalaya			·	·	0.08
14.	Nagaland			•	•	3.59
15.	Orissa	•			•	
16.	Punjab .				•	2.68
17.	Rajasthan					. 4.17
18.	Tamil Nadu					. 7.27
19.	Tripura				•	. 0.25
20.						. 16.10
21.	West Bengal					. 8.30
	···· •					100.00

#### CHAPTER VI

#### GRANT IN LIEU OF TAX ON RAILWAY PASSENGER FARES

Under paragraph 4(c) of the Order of the President delimiting our terms of reference, we are called upon to make recommendations in regard to the changes, if any, to be made in the principles governing the distribution amongst the States of the grant to be made available in lieu of tax under the repealed Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act, 1957.

2. Tax on railway passenger fares is among the category of taxes which are levied and collected by the Union but are assignable to the States in terms of Article 269(d) of the Constitution. A tax on the railway passenger fares was for the first time levied under the provisions of Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act, 1957. Soon thereafter, the Secod Finance Commission was asked to go into the principles which should govern the distribution of the net proceeds of the tax among the States. In formulating its recommendations in this regard, the Commission was guided by the cardinal principle that each State should be enabled to get as nearly as possible the share of the net proceeds on account of the actual passenger travel on railways within its limits. In its judgment, this objective could be secured by allocating the passenger earnings from non-suburban services for each gauge of each railway zone separately among the States covered by it according to the route length falling within each State.

3. Though the recommendations of the Second Finance Commission were to hold good upto 1961-62, the Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act was repealed in 1961 and the Tax was merged in the basic fares with effect from 1st April, 1961. It may be relevant to mention here that this was done in pursuance of the recommendations of the Railway Convention Committee before whom the Railway Board had argued that the levy of passenger fares tax had limited the scope for raising passenger fares. Though the levy on passenger farcs was thus given up, the Government of India decided to make an ad hoc grant of Rs. 12.5 crores a year to States in lieu of the tax for a period of five years from 1961-62 to 1965-66. This grant was later raised to Rs. 16.25 crores from 1966-67 and has since then continued at the same level. The Third, Fourth and Fifth Commissions, which were asked to deal with the distribution of this ad hoc grant, were of the view that it should be on the principle of compensation so as to place the States broadly on the same footing that prevailed prior to the repeal of the Act. Accordingly, the grant is now being distributed with reference to the share of each State as arrived at by allocating the passenger earnings of each railway zone on the basis of the actual route length in each State.

4. While responding to our request for their views on the principles of distribution of this grant, almost

all the States have also made a vehement plea against the grant being frozen at Rs. 16.25 crores per year and have urged that we should recommend to the Government of India enhancement of the grant pari passu with the increase in earnings from passenger fares.

5. As regards the principles of distribution, many of the State Governments are in favour of continuance of the existing principles without any change. Some of the States which are deficient in rail facilities have urged that while distribution of 80 per cent of the grant might be made on the existing principles, the balance of 20 per cent should be distributed among the States whose railway mileage in terms of area is below the all-India average in proportion to the shortfall from such average multiplied by the area of the State concerned. One of the States has contended that, in determining the share of the States, due allowance should be made for track mileage in each State as against purely route mileage as the former affords better index of intensity of traffic. Some States have also pleaded that the lack of adequate railway facilities in a State and the consequential expenditure on roads to meet the demands of traffic should be allowed for determining the inter se distribution of the grant. Meghalaya, which has no railway line at present, has urged that a minimum sum out of the grant should be set apart for distribution among such States as do not have railway lines. Manipur which has also no railway line at present has suggested population as criterion for distribution of the grant among States which have no railway lines. Jammu and Kashmir would like its share to be fixed at a higher figure and increased in the same proportion as the increase in the length of railways in the State. The Fifth Finance Commission had fixed the grant due to Jammu and Kashmir at Rs. 16,000 at a time when the railway line was only upto Kathua. As the link has now been extended upto Jammu, the State should be given its legitimate share of the earnings of the railways on this account.

6. We have considered the pros and cons of the various suggestions put forward by the State Governments carefully. Since the principles of distribution of *ad hoc* grant in lieu of the repealed tax should be so designed as to place the States on more or less the same footing as when the tax was in force, States in which there are no railways can have no claim on this grant. Manipur and Meghalaya, the only two States which are adversely affected by the application of this principle, qualify for grants under Article 275(1) in terms of our assessment of their requirements for the forecast period. Their exclusion from any share in lieu of passenger fares tax would, therefore, mean no real hardship to them. Likewise, while

#### CHAPTER VI

#### GRANT IN LIEU OF TAX ON RAILWAY PASSENGER FARES

Under paragraph 4(c) of the Order of the President delimiting our terms of reference, we are called upon to make recommendations in regard to the changes, if any, to be made in the principles governing the distribution amongst the States of the grant to be made available in lieu of tax under the repealed Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act, 1957.

2. Tax on railway passenger fares is among the category of taxes which are levied and collected by the Union but are assignable to the States in terms of Article 269(d) of the Constitution. A tax on the railway passenger fares was for the first time levied under the provisions of Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act, 1957. Soon thereafter, the Secod Finance Commission was asked to go into the principles which should govern the distribution of the net proceeds of the tax among the States. In formulating its recommendations in this regard, the Commission was guided by the cardinal principle that each State should be enabled to get as nearly as possible the share of the net proceeds on account of the actual passenger travel In its judgment, this on railways within its limits. objective could be secured by allocating the passenger earnings from non-suburban services for each gauge of each railway zone separately among the States covered by it according to the route length falling within each State.

3. Though the recommendations of the Second Finance Commission were to hold good upto 1961-62, the Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act was repealed in 1961 and the Tax was merged in the basic fares with effect from 1st April, 1961. It may be relevant to mention here that this was done in pursuance of the recommendations of the Railway Convention Committee before whom the Railway Board had argued that the levy of passenger fares tax had limited the scope for raising passenger fares. Though the levy on passenger fares was thus given up, the Government of India decided to make an ad hoc grant of Rs. 12.5 crores a year to States in lieu of the tax for a period of five years from 1961-62 to 1965-66. This grant was later raised to Rs. 16.25 crores from 1966-67 and has since then continued at the same level. The Third, Fourth and Fifth Commissions, which were asked to deal with the distribution of this ad hoc grant, were of the view that it should be on the principle of compensation so as to place the States broadly on the same footing that prevailed prior to the repeal of the Act. Accordingly, the grant is now being distributed with reference to the share of each State as arrived at by allocating the passenger earnings of each railway zone on the basis of the actual route length in each State.

4. While responding to our request for their views on the principles of distribution of this grant, almost all the States have also made a vehement plea against the grant being frozen at Rs. 16.25 crores per year and have urged that we should recommend to the Government of India enhancement of the grant pari passu with the increase in earnings from passenger fares.

5. As regards the principles of distribution, many of the State Governments are in favour of continuance of the existing principles without any change. Some of the States which are deficient in rail facilities have urged that while distribution of 80 per cent of the grant might be made on the existing principles, the balance of 20 per cent should be distributed among the States whose railway mileage in terms of area is below the all-India average in proportion to the shortfall from such average multiplied by the area of the State concerned. One of the States has contended that, in determining the share of the States, due allowance should be made for track mileage in each State as against purely route mileage as the former affords better index of intensity of traffic. Some States have also pleaded that the lack of adequate railway facilities in a State and the consequential expenditure on roads to meet the demands of traffic should be allowed for determining the *inter* se distribution of the grant. Meghalaya, which has no railway line at present, has urged that a minimum sum out of the grant should be set apart for distribution among such States as do not have railway lines. Manipur which has also no railway line at present has suggested population as criterion for distribution of the grant among States which have no railway lines. Jammu and Kashmir would like its share to be fixed at a higher figure and increased in the same proportion as the increase in the length of railways in the State. The Fifth Finance Commission had fixed the grant due to Jammu and Kashmir at Rs. 16,000 at a time when the railway line was only upto Kathua. As the link has now been extended upto Jammu, the State should be given its legitimate share of the earnings of the railways on this account.

6. We have considered the pros and cons of the various suggestions put forward by the State Governments carefully. Since the principles of distribution of *ad hoc* grant in lieu of the repealed tax should be so designed as to place the States on more or less the same footing as when the tax was in force, States in which there are no railways can have no claim on this grant. Manipur and Meghalaya, the only two States which are adversely affected by the application of this principle, qualify for grants under Article 275(1) in terms of our assessment of their requirements for the forecast period. Their exclusion from any share in lieu of passenger fares tax would, therefore, mean no real hardship to them. Likewise, while

1967-68 to 1969-70 should be taken together as providing reasonable basis for assessment of the levels of consumption, population being given considerably higher weightage

13. It is arguable that if the States had not surrendered their power to levy sales tax on textiles, sugar and tobacco, they would have also had the authority to levy sales tax on these commodities sold in the course of inter-State transactions. In other words, the States would have to be compensated not merely for the loss of revenue from sales tax on these commodities consumed within the State but also on that portion of the production, if any, of these commodities that is 'exported' to other States. The sales tax leviable on these three commodities 'exported' to other States would, however, normally be subject to a ceiling of three per cent which is the rate applicable under the Central Sales Tax Act to inter-State sales to recognised dealers and Government departments. The present rate of additional excise duties on these commodities works out to about 10.8 per cent of the value of clearances. In view of this, while production of these commodities in different States has to be given a measure of weightage, the weightage should however be comparatively small in view of the ceiling on rates at which inter-State sales tax can be charged. Having regard to all the considerations set about above, we feel that by far the most equitable basis for distribution of additional excise duties would be to allocate the proceeds of additional excise duties on the basis of population, State Domestic Product at State current prices and production in the ratio of 70:20:10. We have worked out the relative percentage share of each State on this basis.

14. We have also to determine the net proceeds of additional excise duties attributable to Union Territories. The Fifth Finance Commission had recommended that a sum equal to 2.05 per cent of the net proceeds of the additional excise duties should be retained by the Union as attributable to Union Terri-Likewise the share payable to Jammu & tories. Kashmir and Nagaland have also to be determined as these States were not parties to the original agreement of replacement of sales tax by additional excise duties on these three commodities. We feel that it would be appropriate to determine the share of these two States as also that of Himachal Pradesh, Manipur, Meghalaya and Tripura which became full-fledged States after the Fifth Finance Commission had submitted its report and the proportion attributable to the Union Territories as now constituted on the same basis as applicable to other States, namely 70 per cent weightage for population, 20 per cent for State Domestic Product and 10 per cent for production. On this basis the portion to be retained by the Union, as being attributable to Union Territories, will be 1.41 per cent of the net proceeds.

15. Accordingly, we recommend that :----

- (i) There is no need to set apart any guaranteed amounts to the States as in our opinion there is no risk of the share of any State in the net proceeds of additional excise duties falling short of the revenue realised from the levy of the sales tax on the commodities subject to additional duties of excise in lieu of sales tax for the financial year 1956-57 in that State;
- (ii) The net proceeds of the additional excise duties during each financial year be distributed on the following basis :---
  - (a) A sum equal to 1.41 per cent of such net proceeds be retained by the Union as attributable to Union Territories;
  - (b) The balance of 98.59 per cent of such net proceeds be distributed among the States in accordance with their respective percentage shares of such balance as under :---

	States						Percentage of distribution
1.	Andhra Pradesh	<u>ו</u>	• • • •	•		•	8.39
2.	Assam						. 2.47
3.	Bihar						. 9.36
4.	Gujarat						5.91
5.	Haryana						. 1.94
<i>6</i> .	Himachal Prade		•				0.59
	Jammu & Kash				•	-	0.73
7.				•	•	•	5.62
8.	Karnataka	•	•	•	•	•	3.58
9.	Kerala	:	·	•	•	•	6,98
10.	Madhya Prades	h	•	•	•	•	•
11.	Maharashtra		•	•	•	·	. 11.65
12.	Manipur						. 0.17
13.	Meghalaya			•			. 0.17
14.	Nagaland						. 0.08
15.	Orissa						3.59
16.	Punjab						. 2,68
17.	Rajasthan						. 4.17
• • •	Tamil Nadu		-				. 7.27
18.			•	•	•		0.25
19.	Tripura	•	·	٠	٠	·	16 10
20.	Uttar Pradesh		•	·	•	•	. 8.30
21.	West Bengal		٠	•		·	. 0.50
							100.00

the argument of Jammu and Kashmir that the additional carnings from passenger fares arising from extension of the railway line to Jammu should be taken into account in the determination of the grant is unassailable, we are handicapped by the absence of any information on passenger earnings in this extended section, which became operative only from October, 1972. We are not, therefore, in a position to take the extended route length into account. But here again, this decision should cause no serious concern because Jammu and Kashmir, in terms of our award, is entitled to a grant under Article 275(1) of the Consti-What they possibly lose under the grant in tution. lieu of railway passenger fares is made good to them by the grant payable under Article 275(1) of the Constitution. The existing principles of distribution, which are substantially the same as those formulated by the Second Finance Commission, have stood the test of time. In the continuing absence of statistics on passenger earnings in each State on account of actual travel within its limits, the allocation of passenger earnings from non-suburban services from each gauge for each railway zone separately among the States according to route length lying within each State would be the most equitable basis for distribution of the grant.

7. We have accordingly worked out the percentage shares of different States on the basis of statistics of gauge-wise route length of railways in each State and the actual passenger earnings from non-suburban tra-flic for each zonal railway for the four years ending 1971-72. They are as follows :—

	States					P	ercentage share
1.	Andhra Prades					 •	8.01
2.	Assam						2,70
3.	Bihar						10.58
4.	Gujarat						7.47
5.	Haryana						2.57
6.	Himachal Prac	lesh			-		0.17
7.	Jammu and Ka	ashn	nic				0.02
8.	Karnataka		•	•		•	3.47
9.	Kerala					,	1.61
10.	Madhya Prade	sh					9.89
11.	Maharashtra			*			8.87
12.	Manipur		•				
13.	Meghalaya						<b></b>
14.	Nagaland		•	•	•		0.01
15.	Orissa	•	•		•		2.24
16.	Punjab		•	-			5.06
17.	Rajasthan	•					6,59
18.	Tamil Nadu						5,14
19.	Tripura		•	•			0.02
20.	Uttar Pradesh		•	•		•	19.85
21.	West Bengal		•	•	•	·	5,73
						-	100.00

We recommend that the grant to be made available to the States in lieu of tax under the repealed Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act, 1957 be distributed in accordance with these percentages.

8. The recommendations of the Railway Convention Committee on the quantum of the grant allocable among the States are to be in force only till the end of 1973-74. It is not known on what basis the Railway Convention Committee would determine the grant payable to the States in lieu of railway passenger fares for the period covered by our award. We have, therefore, contented ourselves with recommending the percentage share of each State. The grant to be made available to the States in lieu of the repealed tax on railway passenger tares should be distributed in accordance with the percentages indicated above. Meanwhile, for purposes of assessment of revenue gaps of States, we have assumed that the grant in lieu of Railway passenger fares tax would be maintained at Rs. 16.25 crores.

9. Almost all State Governments have drawn our attention forcefully to the inequity involved in the replacement of tax on railway passenger fares by a fixed grant. In providing for an impost on passenger fares as one of the taxes to be levied by the Centre and assigned to the States under Article 269 of the Constitution, the architects of the Constitution had presumably intended to give the States access to a modest share of the growing revenues of the railways. This objective has been thwarted by the substitution of railway passenger fares tax by a fixed lump sum grant. We are impressed with the force of these arguments put forward by the State Governments. It is difficult to rebut their contention that they have been deprived of a potentially elastic source of revenue by a unilateral decision of the Central Government. We are aware that the Railway Convention Committee of 1971 did consider the question of enhancement of the grant in lieu of tax on passenger fares, but had concluded that there was no scope for stepping up the grant in view of the financial position of the Railways. We also recognise that the Railways, as forcefully urged by them before the Railway Convention Committee, have to bear many social burden such as subsidised passenger fares on suburban railways, movement at less than the economical cost of certain articles like foodgrains and bulky raw materials and maintenance of uneconomic railway lines often under pressure from State Governments themselves. But we are not concerned here with the larger aspects of the working and financial results of the Railways. Making due allowance for the difficulties faced by the Railways, that are not dissimilar to those confronting many other public utilities in Central and State sectors, the fact remains that if the tax on passenger fares had continued, the actual collections during 1969-70 and 1970-71 would have amounted to about Rs. 24.46 crores and Rs. 26.17 crores respectively. On the basis of the figures made available to us for 1971-72, 1972-73(RE) and 1973-74(BE), we estimate that the tax would have amounted to approximately Rs. 31 crores, Rs. 33 crores and Rs. 36.5 crores respectively on the presumption that roughly 10.7 per cent of non-suburban passenger fares would represent the tax element. Looked at from the narrow angle of ensuring the profitability of Railways, it is true that the levy of a tax on passenger fares would curtail the scope for enhancement of fares. But from the broader economic standpoint there is absolutely no difference between the revision of railway fares and imposition of a tax on passenger fares. As such a tax has been specifically mentioned in Article 269 of the Constitution, it is not unreasonable to argue that whatever potential there may be for mobilising additional revenues from passenger traffic should in part be tapped through a levy under Article 269 of the Constitution for the benefit of the States.

10. Though the question of reimposition of tax on passenger fares or corresponding enhancement of the grant payable in lieu of the tax may not strictly come within our purview, we have deemed it desirable to invite the attention of the Government of India to the strong views expressed by the State Governments, because we are also convinced that the grievance of the State Governments is real and needs to be redressed early. We also feel that the repeal of the passenger tax and its replacement by a fixed grant was not quite in accordance with the spirit, if not the letter, of the provisions of Article 269 of the Constitution. It will be in the larger interests of healthy development of cooperative federalism in the country if the point of view of the States is given due recognition in taking decisions on issues of this nature. We would, therefore, urge that the Government of India should redetermine the amount of grant payable in lieu of tax on passenger fares in terms of what the States could have got if the railway passenger fares tax had continued in its original form. The additional loss to the Centre or gain to the States may only be of a marginal nature. But it will have a significantly favourable impact on Centre-State financial relations. We appreciate the social burden which the Railways are currently bearing. It cannot, however, be seriously disputed that many other enterprises in public sector are also constrained to bear similar burdens. But this has not deterred the Central Government from imposing or enhancing, for example, excise duties on products of such enterprises. It should also be remembered that States do get a share of such increases in excise duties. The only question that may be of relevance to the reimposition of the tax on passenger fares or in the alternative enhancement of the passenger fares to enable the Railways to make a larger grant available for distribution among the States is whether the demand for railway travel is sufficiently elastic and whether the fares would admit of upward revision. Past experience indicates that railway passenger fares should surely admit of some increase. We also feel that any proposals for reimposition of railway passenger fares tax or enhancement of passenger fares would be justifiable to the extent that such enhancement is linked specifically with the payment of larger grants to the States.

ERRATA

۰**۰**۰

Table of Last entry		For	Reart
Contents		Date	Data
-, .,			Pala
3 Para 6-2nd line		Relating	· .
3 Para 9line 7th		at	relating
5 Para 1—4th line from	botto	Appendix IV	in
5 Para 1-3rd line from	batta	- Alexandra IV	Appendix V
5 Para 2	bottom		insert ', ' after ju
6 Para 48th line		lawyers	delete ', `after a
9 Para 209th line from	bolton	expending	layers
Para 65th line from	bottom	emenable	expanding
16 Para 14-line 1	CONTON	Maghalaya	amenable
18 Para [line]		Sociol	Meghalaya
31 Para 12-last but one li		paragraph 4(c)	Social
34 Para I line 33	ine in the second se	realistic	paragraph 4(e)
34 Para 3- line 25		them	a realistic
35 Sub-para of para 6line	x 4	decision	then
37 Para 14—line 18	- 4	forcast	decisions
38 Para 19(i) line 3		tht	forecast
38 Para 19(iii)—line 2 & 3		additionan	the
38 Para 19(iii) — line 5		addtional	additional
40 Para 5-Jast line		relived	additional
41 Table under para 7—Col	3 Tu:	on	relieved
41 Table under para 9-last 41 Para 11 June 2	oolu our	20.5	of
41 Para 11—line 3	column of III-B-1	1.05	0.25
42 Table under para 11-2nd		The divergence	1.25
and para 11-2nd	faat n	*3.00 (Revised)	The wide divergence
- value under para [1-lst.	Column	*4.00	**3.00 (Revised)
- rara 12-line f	column	Nagland	**4.00
<sup>12</sup> Para 12-–line 15		States	Nagaland (P)
2 Para 13-line 8		889	State
2 Para 13—line 8		building	899
Para 15 2nd line above the	a table	most	buildings
<sup>rara</sup> 18fine 10		in	met
Para 23- Jine 24		terefore	is
Table under para 25—colum Para 6—line 4	n 10 - 11	Equalisa	therefore,
Para 6 –line 4	110Haryana	0.80	Equali-
Footnote		typical	0.08
Table under para 17—Cot. 9 Table under para 17—Cot. 9	Lius- D. C.	breakets	atypical
and the para 1/ -Col 9	Dila	290.1	brackets
<sup>7</sup> and 17 <sup>2</sup> - 2nd line after the ta	-omar bla	166.7	290.16
rara 5last line	ω.	a typical	166.79
Para 7 líne 15		overtemphasised	atypical
Para 11line 10		on	overemphasised
Table below para 21 Col 4	Total	fell	off
<sup>1 aole</sup> below para 22-last colu	no Need a	3,90.09	feel
Interest charges		Nil	3,09,09
Table below para 24 mod 2			Nil*
Para ociow table under po-	10.24	majority o	
a lander nor lander nor	a 440-line /	States'	majority of
Para 25—line 5	a 24line 910	contera	State's
		orf	contra

----

For

Page No.	Reference
	Heading above para 27
58	Para 27—line 25
58	Para 27—last line
58	Para 28—line 3
58 58	04
59	
59	Table below para 30-col. 6-Punjab Table below para 30-col. 3-heading Table below para 34-col. 3-heading
61	Table below para 34-001 5 Para 37-line 16th from bottom
62	Para 37-line form home of Para 38-line 5th from bottom
62	Para 4—1st line
64	Para 79th line
65	Para 9–14th line
65 70	Para 21—5th line
72 77	Para 18-8th line
יי דר	Para 21-3rd line
78	Para 29-9th line
81	92—First line
81	94—First line
81	125—First line ANNEXURE II—TOTAL (Col. 3)
83	t mainst Himachal Pradesh (Collar
. 83	r 10th UBC
84 85	Para 6-3rd line from bortom
82	Para 103rd line
8	Para 16-7th line
8	- Dara 22-8th line
8	9 Against Assam (Table) 9 Para 28-Line 15th from below
. 8	9 Para 28-Line Ton And 90 Para 32-3rd line
	B
- I	in oth line
	7= 7+h line from borrow
1	ast but one time
1	Para 58-9th line from forcom
	Para 59-8th line
	96     Para 14th line       100     Para 8last but one line       100     Para 8last but one line
	100     Para 8-last but one linc       101     Para 8-last but one linc
	- 42660
	Para 51-2nd line
	some s2-ist line
	105 Para 52-last but one mic
	52(i)
	105 Para 550 105 Para 56-Against Haryana
	106 Heading 106 Against Himachal Pradesh Under Col. 8 106 Against Himachal Praties I inc 1
	II Union Exclose Duties
	Para (3) of Article 2/0-1100
	124 Para (6)—line 1
	128 Item (j)
	120 Item 23
	139 F. Note 1
	a - 2 letter NO. (0) last inte
	Item 8 line 1
	146 Henris,

For	
State	States
projects n 1971-72	project
cores	crores consic
considered t	years
years'	Marl
Mark up ()	(+)l
(+)12.28	5 yea
5 year's	to
of	wh
wherever in information	"dis
"distorions"	now
no wmet	"ur
"under-Article"	Go
governments	mo
money	pro
provision	per
prriod	Pa
Pament	Ca
Caital	Co
contingency	52
50,195	59
594	th
these	a
with of the wisp	10
loan	f
far	
it	(
35	
Plans	1
outstading	
liquisidation	
As	
Fifh prejudice	
numberous	
optration	
marged	
25	
well	
Harika	
vtz	
1973	
2.53	
Velley	
647	
V ANNEXURE I	
7,76	
1975-7	
01	
yaer	
taxe	
f	
Expenditre	
0.85 :	
SATEMENT V	
August, 1972	
if any	

projects in 1971-72 crores considered it years, Mark up (+) (+)12.28(a) 5 years' wherever information "distortions" now met "under Article" Government moneys provisions period Payment Capital Contingency 52,195 595 those a will O' the wisp loans fair , It (---)35 Plan outstanding liquidation At Fifth prejudice to numerous operation merged 23 will Harike Viz 1973-74 2.55 valley 764 ANNEXURE IV 7.76 1975-76 of year taxes if Expenditure 0.85. STATEMENT V August 1, 1972 if any,

 Page Nø	, Reference	For	Read
 150	Para (3) under II Loans to States, line 2	defa u	defaults
156	Table under sub-para (c) of Para 14, line 1	731.24	731.34
157	f etter No. 12, line 5	States,	States'
157	Letter No. (13), line 4	determing	determining
158			000000005
	Letter No. (14), para 3, line 10	States,	States'
160 160	Item (a), line 1,	Commission	Commission :
160 168	Item (b), line 1, Table 7.3—item 22 Total—States	Commission	Commission :
170	Table 7.5—Rem 22 Totat—States Table 8 : 1st col.	6737 Jata 'Zana	67373
170	Nagaland : last col.	tate/Zone . 35	State/Zone
171	Rajasthan (iii)—last col.	.32	9.35
182	Gujarat : Item 3 under Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue		2803.96
	Account.	coaminice	committed
182	Haryana : Under A Revenue Receipts—item 2(c)	Loans to other	Loans to others
188	Kerala : Foot Note (1)	Teacher-pupilratio	Teacher-pupil ratio
195	Nagaland : Under A Revenue Reccipts1. Tax Revenues under col. variation.		+0.86
196	Nagaland : Foot Note (1)—2nd line	provision for	provisions for
198	Punjab : Totał Non-Developmental under Reassessed Esti- mate.		262.16
201	Famil Nadu : C(i) under col. variation.	- 79.14	+79.14
203	Uttar Pradesh : B. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Ac- count – I(iii) under col. variation	417.26	-417.26
205	West Bengal : C(i)	State Governments	State Government
205	Foot Note (4)—last fine	for emoluments	for pay
207	Appendix IX—Table No. F(C) –Co!, Nos. 10 and 11	operating surplus elect, duty	Operating surplus + elect, duty
297	-doCol. 10 – Andhra Pradesh	4.47	14.47
210	Appendix1X—Table No. 5(b)—Col. 6—West Bengal—Rice		0.8 to 1.8
222 226	Appendix – X – Table No. 7– Mysore – Total	278,00	278,000
226 226	AppendixXIHeading AppendixXICol. heading No : 4	Table No 1 3	Table No. : 3
220 227	Appendix—XI—Col. neading No : 4 Appendix XI—Table No : 4(iii)—Col. 6—Item No : 1—line	from 1.4.62 to 31.4.74	from 1.4,62 to 31.3.74
<b>-</b> ~ <i>i</i>	1.	traffic > 450 C.V. Day	traffic < 450 C.V./Day
230	Appendix XI-Table No : 6-Col. for in patients-proposed	3.00 5.50**} 3.00 J	3.00 5.50** 3.00
235	Appendix -XII-Table No : 6-Col. 5-Tamil Nadu	13.41	14.41
237		5.6	5,60
244	1st line—col. 33	451	1451
251	col. 23.—Heading—4th line	iug	ing
254	1 tem  7(c) - cols.  3 & 4	40 22	
255		Co-operatin	Cooperation
257		392	382
257	·	146	164
257		163	1635
260		Pubjab	Punjab
286 288	on the term	489	499
288 303		up to	during
303 304		1	••
304 309		92	927
314		2843	23
		Cooperation	Cooperative
	Kome O(h) de	Cooperation	Cooperative
	sst 21 - Here at	(g) outstop size	(b)
	Item 7	outstanging 7	outstanding
	, da	6	6
			7
		12	329

•-----

\_\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_\_

# [ iv ]

лge No.	Reference	For	Read
318	Total-12-col. 9	9725	7925
318	Total 13 col. 4	5641	3541
319	Тор	Rs. akhs	Rs. lakhs
320	Item 12(d) col. '0' Heading	rojects	Projects
323	col. 5. 2nd line	Centra	Centre
-do-	against Mysore col. 3	369	269
327	Table 15 against Bihar	17	179
-do-	col. 4 against Rajasthan col. I	61	631
-do-	Table 16 col. 1 heading	Standing	Outstanding
330	Table 21—heading col. I	3x-3-1974	31-3-1974
331	Against Andhra Pradesh col. 1	30	330
-do-	Table 24 col. Against Punjab	39	36
-do-	-do- Against Rajasthan	• •	5
-do-	-do- Against Tamil Nadu	5	
332	Table 25 under col. '0'	Triura	Tripura
333	Table 28 Item 2(ii) under Assam	Centrally sponsored	Centrally sponsored and other schemes.
336	Heading above col. 3	posed	proposed
337	-do above col. 5 after proposed by		Add us
344	Table 39 Heading col. 4 line 2	payable	repayable
344	Table 39 item 4(c)	Corporation	Corporations
347	Table 41 col. 16 against Andhra Pradesh	1 11	1911
348	Table 42 Item 6 col. 9	335	3354
349	Table 43 item 3 col. 3	10310	10370

#### CHAPTER VIII

### GRANT ON ACCOUNT OF WEALTH TAX ON AGRICULTURAL PROPERTY

Under paragraph 4(f) of the President's Order, we are required to make recommendations regarding "the principles governing the distribution among the States of the grant to be made available to the States on account of wealth tax on agricultural property."

2. Though the Wealth Tax Act had been enacted as early as 1957, agricultural property was exempt from the levy of wealth tax upto and inclusive of the assessment year 1969-70. The Finance Act of 1969 amended the Wealh Tax Act so as to extend the levy of wealth tax to agricultural property (except such property situated in Jammu & Kashmir), subject to certain exemptions, with effect from the assessment year 1970-71. The decision to subject agricultural property to wealth tax was taken by Government with a view to bring about equality of treatment as between persons having investments in non-agricultural property.

3. Wealth tax is not one of those taxes or duties which, under the provisions of the Constitution, are to be shared with the States either on an obligatory or permissive basis. It is also not a tax levied and collected by the Centre and assigned in their entirety to the States, as for example, is the case with estate duty on property other than agricultural land. However, when in 1969, agricultural land held by individuals and Hindu undivided families was made liable to wealth tax, subject to certain limits, the Central Government decided *suo motu* that the net proceeds of wealth tax on agricultural land would be passed on to the States as grants-in-aid.

4. We have obtained the views of the State Governments on the principles to be evolved for the distribution amongst them of the grant-in-aid to be made available to them on account of wealth tax on agricultural property. Briefly they are :—

(i) Distribution on the basis of location of property. While one State had specifically suggested that the grant should be distributed in proportion to the gross value of agricultural wealth located in each State in the same way as estate duty is distributed in proportion to the gross value of immovable property located in each State, another had suggested that each State should get the amount which it would itself have collected if it had the power to levy and collect the tax itself. Another State would prefer the grant being distributed amongst the States according to their respective population. in case data were not available for distribution

of the grant in proportion to the gross value of agricultural land located in each State and brought into assessment in each year;

- (ii) Distribution on the basis of population;
- (iii) Distribution on the basis of collection;
- (iv) Distribution on the same basis as for income tax;
- (v) Distribution partly on the basis of population and partly on the basis of backwardness,
- (vi) Distribution in proportion of the rural population living below the subsistence level to the total of such population of all States taken together;
- (vii) Distribution in such a manner as to make available more funds to agriculturally less developed States in comparison to those which are highly developed.

5. We have considererd the relative merits of these suggestions carefully. Wealth tax on agricultural property is comparable in its incidence to estate duty in so far as the latter relates to immovable property. The location of property in each case is clearly identifiable and provides therefore a reliable basis for distribution of the proceeds of the tax among the States, We therefore feel that the grant on account of wealth tax on agricultural property should be distributed among the States in proportion to the value of agricultural property situated in the State and brought into assessment. Population would not seem to be a suitable basis for distribution of the grant since it has no bearing on the extent or value of agricultural property brought within the tax net. Collection would not also be an appropriate basis as the tax collected may in some cases relate to property located outside the State. Backwardness or need for development of any particular area would also not seem to be relevant in the distribution of the grant. Accordingly, we recommend that the grant-in-aid to be made avaliable to the States on account of wealth tax on agricultural property should be distributed among the States in proportion to the value of agricultural property located in each State and brought to assessment in that year.

6. It is presumed that the grant payable to the States would be equivalent to the net collections of wealth tax on agricultural property less collections attributable to Union Territories. If our presumption is correct, we would recommend that the share attributable to Union Territories should be in proportion to the value of agricultural property situated in the Union Territories and brought to assessment. 7. We had asked the Central Board of Direct Taxes to let us know the nature of statistics that are at present required to be maintained for the purpose of assessment and collection of wealth tax on agricultural property, and whether it would be possible to maintain statistics relating to the agricultural property in each State brought under assessment. We have been advised that these data are not readily available. We have, however no doubt that arrangements could easily be made for compilation of relevant statistics relating to agricultural property located in each State and brought to assessment in that year.

8. The initial anticipations in regard to the yield of the tax would seem to have gone awry completely. In 1970-71, against the estimated yield of Rs. 4 crores, the actual collections amounted to only Rs. 8.72 lakhs. The actual collections in 1971-72 amounted to Rs. 49.43 lakhs and in 1972-73 to Rs. 69.51 lakhs against the anticipated receipts of Rs. 8 crores in each of the years. The Central Board of Direct Taxes has now set its sights lower and in the forecast of receipts for the five years ending 1978-79, the gross receipts from this tax have been placed at Rs. 1 crore per annum. As the cost of collection has been estimated at Rs. 55 lakhs a year, the net amount likely to become available for payment to the States as grant-in-aid during the period of our recommendation would be only of the order of Rs. 45 lakhs a year. In view of the relatively low and uncertain yield from this tax, we consider that the grant likely to be made available to the States from out of the proceeds of this tax should not be taken into account in assessing the resources of the States for the period of our award. We have, therefore, left this amount out of account in computing the non-Plan revenue gaps of the States. Accordingly, the grant on account of wealth tax on agricultural property distributed among the States in accordance with the principles recommended by us may be reckoned as a resource for State Plans.

ė

1

9. We have been given to understand that a sum of about Rs 3.4 crores has already been given to the States, including Himachal Pradesh, Tripura and Manipur in 1970-71. The actual collection in that year amounted to only Rs. 8.72 lakhs on the basis of departmental statistics. In view of this, the grants on account of tax on agricultural property falling due for payment in the forecast period are likely to be offset substantially by recoveries of overpayments already made. This is another factor that has weighed with us in keeping this grant out of our estimates regarding the resources and needs of the States during the period of our award.

#### CHAPTER VIII

### GRANT ON ACCOUNT OF WEALTH TAX ON AGRICULTURAL PROPERTY

Under paragraph 4(f) of the President's Order, we are required to make recommendations regarding "the principles governing the distribution among the States of the grant to be made available to the States on account of wealth tax on agricultural property."

2. Though the Wealth Tax Act had been enacted as early as 1957, agricultural property was exempt from the levy of wealth tax upto and inclusive of the assessment year 1969-70. The Finance Act of 1969 amended the Wealh Tax Act so as to extend the levy of wealth tax to agricultural property (except such property situated in Jammu & Kashmir), subject to certain exemptions, with effect from the assessment year 1970-71. The decision to subject agricultural property to wealth tax was taken by Government with a view to bring about equality of treatment as between persons having investments in non-agricultural property.

3. Wealth tax is not one of those taxes or duties which, under the provisions of the Constitution, are to be shared with the States either on an obligatory or permissive basis. It is also not a tax levied and collected by the Centre and assigned in their entirety to the States, as for example, is the case with estate duty on property other than agricultural land. However, when in 1969, agricultural land held by individuals and Hindu undivided families was made liable to wealth tax, subject to certain limits, the Central Government decided *suo motu* that the net proceeds of wealth tax on agricultural land would be passed on to the States as grants-in-aid.

4. We have obtained the views of the State Governments on the principles to be evolved for the distribution amongst them of the grant-in-aid to be made available to them on account of wealth tax on agricultural property. Briefly they are :—

(i) Distribution on the basis of location of property. While one State had specifically suggested that the grant should be distributed in proportion to the gross value of agricultural wealth located in each State in the same way as estate duty is distributed in proportion to the gross value of immovable property located in each State, another had suggested that each State should get the amount which it would itself have collected if it had the power to levy and collect the tax itself. Another State would prefer the grant being distributed amongst the States according to their respective population. in case data were not available for distribution

of the grant in proportion to the gross value of agricultural land located in each State and brought into assessment in each year;

- (ii) Distribution on the basis of population;
- (iii) Distribution on the basis of collection;
- (iv) Distribution on the same basis as for income tax;
- (v) Distribution partly on the basis of population and partly on the basis of backwardness,
- (vi) Distribution in proportion of the rural population living below the subsistence level to the total of such population of all States taken together;
- (vii) Distribution in such a manner as to make available more funds to agriculturally less developed States in comparison to those which are highly developed.

5. We have considererd the relative merits of these suggestions carefully. Wealth tax on agricultural property is comparable in its incidence to estate duty in so far as the latter relates to immovable property. The location of property in each case is clearly identifiable and provides therefore a reliable basis for distribution of the proceeds of the tax among the States, We therefore feel that the grant on account of wealth tax on agricultural property should be distributed among the States in proportion to the value of agricultural property situated in the State and brought into assessment. Population would not seem to be a suitable basis for distribution of the grant since it has no bearing on the extent or value of agricultural property brought within the tax net. Collection would not also be an appropriate basis as the tax collected may in some cases relate to property located outside the State. Backwardness or need for development of any particular area would also not seem to be relevant in the distribution of the grant. Accordingly, we recommend that the grant-in-aid to be made avaliable to the States on account of wealth tax on agricultural property should be distributed among the States in proportion to the value of agricultural property located in each State and brought to assessment in that year.

6. It is presumed that the grant payable to the States would be equivalent to the net collections of wealth tax on agricultural property less collections attributable to Union Territories. If our presumption is correct, we would recommend that the share attributable to Union Territories should be in proportion to the value of agricultural property situated in the Union Territories and brought to assessment. 7. We had asked the Central Board of Direct Taxes to let us know the nature of statistics that are at present required to be maintained for the purpose of assessment and collection of wealth tax on agricultural property, and whether it would be possible to maintain statistics relating to the agricultural property in each State brought under assessment. We have been advised that these data are not readily available. We have, however no doubt that arrangements could easily be made for compilation of relevant statistics relating to agricultural property located in each State and brought to assessment in that year.

8. The initial anticipations in regard to the yield of the tax would seem to have gone awry completely. In 1970-71, against the estimated yield of Rs. 4 crores, the actual collections amounted to only Rs. 8.72 lakhs. The actual collections in 1971-72 amounted to Rs. 49.43 lakhs and in 1972-73 to Rs. 69.51 lakhs against the anticipated receipts of Rs. 8 crores in each of the years. The Central Board of Direct Taxes has now set its sights lower and in the forecast of receipts for the five years ending 1978-79, the gross receipts from this tax have been placed at Rs. 1 crore per annum. As the cost of collection has been estimated at Rs. 55 lakhs a year, the net amount likely to become available for payment to the States as grant-in-aid during the period of our recommendation would be only of the order of Rs. 45 lakhs a year. In view of the relatively low and uncertain yield from this tax, we consider that the grant likely to be made available to the States from out of the proceeds of this tax should not be taken into account in assessing the resources of the States for the period of our award. We have, therefore, left this amount out of account in computing the non-Plan revenue gaps of the States. Accordingly, the grant on account of wealth tax on agricultural property distributed among the States in accordance with the principles recommended by us may be reckoned as a resource for State Plans.

ė

1

9. We have been given to understand that a sum of about Rs 3.4 crores has already been given to the States, including Himachal Pradesh, Tripura and Manipur in 1970-71. The actual collection in that year amounted to only Rs. 8.72 lakhs on the basis of departmental statistics. In view of this, the grants on account of tax on agricultural property falling due for payment in the forecast period are likely to be offset substantially by recoveries of overpayments already made. This is another factor that has weighed with us in keeping this grant out of our estimates regarding the resources and needs of the States during the period of our award.

#### CHAPTER X

# REVISION OF PAY AND DEARNESS ALLOWANCE OF EMPLOYEES OF STATE GOVERNMENTS

In assessing the requirements of State Governments on account of expenditure on administration, we are required to take into account, under paragraph 4(b)(iii) of our terms of reference, such provision for emoluments of Government employees, teachers and local body employees as obtaining on a specified date as the Commission deem it proper in the light of the States' capacity and needs. It is significant that the Presidential Order delimiting the field of enquiry of the earlier Commissions did not make any  $ex_1$ -licit reference to the problems of emoluments of Government employees or teachers or local body employees. This does not, of course, imply that earlier Com-missions had, for purposes of their award, left out of account the needs of the States in regard to emoluments of their employees. On the contrary, the Commissions considered it both necessary and proper to provide in their schemes of devolution for all the requirements of the States arising from such in-creases in dearness allowance and scales of pay as had been implemented and brought to their notice. Thus, for example, the Fourth Finance Commission which was faced with a spate of proposals from State Governments for revision of the emoluments of their employees considered in detail the requests of the State Governments. The Commission took into account all firm Government orders sanctioning increases in emoluments upto the end of June 1965. The Commission recommended that the revision upto the end of July, 1965 should also be taken into account and suitable adjustments in grants-in-aid under Article 275 made if the States concerned had passed firm orders by them. Accordingly, after the submission of the report by the Fourth Commission, Government of India asked Prof. Karve, a member of the Commission, to examine the requirements of the States excluded by the Commission and listed by them in their report. The grants-in-aid recommended by the Fourth Commission were suitably enhanced with reference to the amounts needed by such States for revision of emoluments of their employees. The procedure followed by the Fifth Commission, in assessing the reasonableness of the demands made by the State Governments, for revision of the emoluments of their employees, has been indicated by them in para 6.13 of their report. Briefly stated, the Commission allowed in full for the likely expenditure on increased dearness allowance in all cases where such increases had already been sanctioned by the State Governments. They also allowed for arrear payments relating to the period prior to 1-4-1969 in all cases where commitments had already been made or payment had already commenced. They did not, however, make any allowance for possible increases in dearness allowance in future. With regard to pay revisions, the Fifth Commission took the line that only such proposals as had been implemented prior to 1-4-1969 should be

recognised by them. In other cases, the Commission felt that the question of making provision for revision of scales of pay would arise only where the level of expenditure in any State fell short of all States average after taking into account also the scope for greater tax effort in relation to the all States average. It is not, however, clear how precisely final adjustments in this regard were made in determining grants-in-aid of the States under Article 275.

2. On the question of provisions for revisions of dearness allowance and scales of pay, the States would seem to have two main grievances. Firstly, the practice, which has come into vogue of Finance Commissions taking into account only such revisions as have already been implemented, places at a serious disadvantage States which, on considerations of financial prudence or on account of constraint of resources or even administrative delay in the appointment of Pay Commissions and processing of their recommendations, could not implement revisions of dearness allowance or pay in time for consideration by the Finance Commissions. Secondly, the wide disparities in emoluments between employees of State Governments and those of Central Government on the one hand and among employees of various State Governments themselves on the other hand create a situation in which most State Governments are under continual pressure for upward revision of emoluments.

3. The scales of pay of Central Government employees were revised in pursuance of the recommendations of the Second Central Pay Commission in 1959 and since then there have been as many as eighteen revisions in the form of dearness allowance or interim relief. Understandably, these revisions have triggered demands for similar increases from employees of State Governments. These successive increases in rates of dearness allowance have caused enormous strain on the resources of the State Governments and may be said to be at the root of the ways and means difficulties of many of them. It is tragic that the bulk of the additional resources raised by them for financing the Plan has been eroded by the payment of higher emoluments to employees. This is not a situation which can be viewed with equanimity by any one interested in economic and social development, though we appreciate that, given the continuous spurt in prices, the State Governments had perhaps no other alternative. Reference has also been made to this problem in the reports of the earlier Commissions. With the appointment of the Third Pay Commission by the Central Government, in April, 1970, States became aware that its report and Government of India's decision thereon would further upset their budgetary calculations. One of the main themes urged by State Governments in their memoranda and

per annum. The same rate has been adopted for projecting the requirements on account of committed liabilities of the Fourth Plan Schemes.

22. There are a few heads of expenditure to which it will be inappropriate to apply a uniform rate of growth. The requirements of the States under "16-Interest" have necessarily to be determined with reference to debts outstanding. Likewise, the major head "76—Other Miscellaneous Compensations and Assignments" includes payments to local bodies of their share of tax collections at present level of expenditure and the future pattern of growth varies from State to State. The major head "71-Miscellaneous" comprises a large number of miscellaneous transactions that cannot be conveniently accommodated within any other group. The composition and quantum of expenditure under this head varies considerably from year to year. In some of the States, this head also accommodates grants to local bodies for functions transferred to them. The forecast of expenditure under these heads has, therefore, been determined in each case separately with reference to past trends and other relevant factors urged by the State Governments.

23. As regards the base level to which these rates of growth are to be applied, we are constrained to adopt the actuals of 1971-72, because the preliminary actuals of 1972-73 furnished by the Accountants-General for most of the States, unlike similar figures on the receipt side, are liable to numerous adjustments that may not be completed in time for our report. However, this decision is not expected to affect adversely the interests of the States because the assumed rates of growth on the expenditure side are generally a little more generous than what most of the State Governments have been able to provide for in the recent past, if increases on account of pay and dearness allowance are excluded. during their discussions with us has therefore been that the repercussions of the Central Pay Commission's recommendations on the scales of pay and allowances of employees of State Governments should necessarily be allowed for by us fully in our award.

4. At our very first meeting, we addressed ourselves to the extremely complex and delicate issue of determining a reference date for purposes of consideration of the requirements of the State Governments in regatd to emoluments of their employees. We realised that the fixing of any prospective date would bring the State Governments under relentless pressure for further revision of emoluments of their employees. It might not also have proved fair to States anxious to conserve their limited resources for implementation of developmental programmes in the remaining period of the Fourth Plan. We therefore strongly felt that the date chosen should be such as would guarantee that whatever decisions were actually taken by the State Governments on revisions of emoluments would be based on their own merits and without reference to the pendency of the award of the Finance Commission. In view of this consideration we proposed to adopt 1st January, 1972 as the reference date. The State Governments were informed accordingly in Member-Secretary's letter of 17th July, 1972 and they were requested, in furnishing their projections of non-development expenditure for the years 1974-75 to 1978-79, to take into account only scales of pay, dearness allowance and other allowances as obtaining on 1st January, 1972 on the basis of orders issued and implemented on or before that date. We would like to state even at this stage that in choosing a date anterior to our appointment as the reference date, we were motivated solely by the consideration that the whole question of additional provisions needed for revision of scales of pay and dearness allowance should be settled to the extent possible on the basis of certain objective norms and not as would seem to have been the case in the past, only with reference to the actual commitments made by the State Governments on or before a particular date falling within the last phase of the labours of the Finance Commission. The most serious criticism of the approach followed by earlier Commissions has been that it gave the States an almost irresistible incentive to rush ahead with implementation of proposals for enhancement of emoluments in the certain knowledge that all such increases would invariably be taken note of by the Commission. At the same time, States which refrained from doing so either for want of resources or on considerations of sound fiscal management or even sheer administrative delay felt that they had been dealt with unfairly. In fixing 1-1-1972 as the date of reference, we hoped to get a clear picture of the relative position of different States in respect of scales of pay as on a date when the State Governments' judgment was least likely to have been clouded by the implications of the impending appointment of a Finance Commission. However, it was not our intention that the needs of the States on account of emoluments of their employees should be frozen as on 1-1-1972. Rather, our intention was that no State should gain or lose only because it had implemented its proposals for revision of pay and allowances on a particular date after we had embarked on our work. It was also our intention to put the State Governments on clear notice that whatever revision of scales of pay and allowances they chose to implement would be at their own risk and that their proposals in this regard would be evaluated on merits and with reference to certain yardsticks.

5. Many Chief Ministers have written to us protesting against the choice of a date as far back as 1-1-1972. During the discussions with the Commission too, all the State Governments pressed hard for a reconsideration of the reference date of 1-1-1972. They have argued that it would neither be realistic nor fair for the Finance Commission to ignore the financial implications of the proposals implemented by the State Governments after 1-1-1972. The choice of 1-1-1972 as the date of reference has not deterred most of the State Governments from going ahead with revisions of pay and dearness allowance. All State Governments, with the exception of Meghalaya, have proposed additional provisions on account of increases in pay and/or dearness allowance including interim relief-Table No. 1 in Appendix X to our report sets out details of provisions proposed by the State Governments for such revisions implemented by them after 1-1-1972. The additional provisions demanded by the State Governments for revision of emoluments amount to about Rs. 2827 crores over the Fifth Plan period. Even this estimate is incomplete because only a few of the State Governments have chosen to indicate liabilities of a contingent nature. A broad picture of the estimates of additional provisions is presented below while Statewise details will be found in Table Nos. 1, 4 and 5 in Appendix X appended to our report :

(Rs. crores)

				Increases already given effect to	Contin- gent liability	Total
Revision of allowance	bay, and	dearr inte		1.563.27	1,144.85	2,708.12
relief Other increase	• s .	•	•	68.11	51.10	119.21
Тотац				1.631.38	1,195.95	2,827.33

6. The arguments of State Governments in seeking a change in the reference date run on the following lines:

terms of reference, the In accordance with the Finance Commission is required to take levels of taxation likely to be reached at the end of 1973-74. The estimates of revenue-receipts for the forcast period are not with reference to accruals of revenue as on 1st January, 1972. As such, there would be an asymmetary in the Commission's estimation of the needs of the States. Most of the State Governments are committed to maintenance of parity with Central Government in rates of dearness allowance and the revision by the Central Government of the rates of dearness allowance of their employees sets in motion a chain reaction which cannot be ignored. In this context, the State Governments also drew our attention to the disparities already existing between emoluments of employees of most of the State Governments and those of Central Government and urged that it was becoming increasingly difficult to sustain such disparities. They were working side by side in many places and their work was identical. The State Governments also referred to the likely repercussions of the report of the Central Pay Commission and the pressures that would be generated for further revision of the emoluments of their employees. The State Governments, therefore, urged strongly that a date such as 31-3-1973 or 31-3-1974 should be adopted as the reference date.

7. We have already indicated briefly the reasons that weighed with us in choosing 1-1-1972 as the date of reference. We reiterate that it was our intention right from the outset to evolve, to the extent possible, certain principles for proper assessment of the requirements of the States on account of pay and dearness allowances. In formulating these principles, we have given the most careful consideration to the points urged by representatives of State Governments and also representatives of employees of some of the State Governments who met us during our visits to State capitals. In our view, any assessment of the requirements of the States for revision of scales of pay and dearness allowance for their employees should subserve certain objectives which we delineate in some detail in succeeding paragraphs.

8. The appointment of a Finance Commission now becomes a signal for State Governments to hurry through the proposals for revision of scales of pay and dearness allowance. We should not be taken to imply that the revisions that have been implemented in recent months have been motivated solely by the desire to take advantage of our impending award. Nevertheless it is clear that the State Governments do become specially vulnerable to the demands of their employees when the Finance Commission is in session. At the same time, the approach hitherto followed by the Finance Commissions does impose a dis-ability on States which, for want of resources, are unable to implement in time revisions of emoluments of their employees even though there may be a pressing need for the same. It would be conducive to sound fiscal management and rational decision making if it becomes clear that a Finance Commission is not bound to take note of all the increases in emoluments that may be given effect to. At the same time, States which have observed a measure of restraint in pay revisions, should have the assurance that their minimum requirements in this regard would not go unnoticed. An approach somewhat on these lines alone will be fair to the State Governments inter se and their employees.

9. The Finance Commission cannot, however, arrogate to itself the responsibilities of a Pay Commission and pronounce on the reasonableness or otherwise of the scales of pay in force in different States. It will take us far from our field of enquiry to go into such questions as to whether disparities between State and Central Government employees or among the States themselves are justified or not. These are larger issues which can best be examined in the context of an overall national policy on wages and incomes. We should also remember in this connection that inter-State comparisons on scales of pay and allowances can be undertaken with any degree of assurance only in respect of certain common and welldefined categories of staff at lower levels, such as Peons, Clerks, Police Constables and Teachers in Primary Schools. The structure of departments, opportunities for promotions, as also qualifications and responsibilities attached to the several posts at higher levels, vary from State to State. It would, therefore, be risky to attempt any kind of approach towards standardisation of pay and allowances at these levels.

At the same time we recognise that very wide 10. disparities in emoluments at the lower levels, where dufies and qualifications are easily comparable, are bound to generate discontent and impair maintenance of reasonable standards of efficiency in administration.// It is relevant to mention here that we have also been specifically asked to make reasonable provision for enabling the States that are now backward in standards of general administration to come up to the levels of the more advanced States within a period of ten years. While we deal with this problem of upgradation of standards of administration in backward States at some length in another chapter, we would only like to observe at this stage that improvement of standards of administration cannot be viewed in isolation from scales of pay. The level of emo-luments has an important bearing both on standards of recruitment and the performance of employees of different ranks.

11. State Governments are united in demanding that the likely repercussions of the Government of India's decisions on the recommendations of the Third Pay Commission should not be left out of our reckoning. They have also laid stress, in the light of their past experience, on the inevitability of further revision of rates of dearness allowance of their employees in the forecast period. They have urged that our schemes of devolution should provide for all such possible increases over the next five years. In our view, it would be difficult, and wrong in principle, to provide for expenditure of a contingent nature. In the event of rise in prices, increases in rates of dearness allowance may become necessary. We have made our estimates of revenues and expenditure at constant prices. Any rise in prices, which may call for an upward revision of rates of dearness allowance of employees, will also bring in additional revenues to the States under heads such as Sales Tax, Motor Vehicles Tax and Stamp Duty, and also in the form of their share of Central taxes. This assumption is, by and large, borne out by past experience. In view of this, we have not considered it necessary to incorporate in our forecast of requirements of State Governments any provisions for enhancement of rates of dearness allowance in future.

ţ

12. Keeping in view various considerations set out above, we felt that the provisions indicated by the State Governments for revision of scales of pay, dearness and other allowances of their employees should be dealt with in the following manner: (2) Though there were wide disparities in scales of pay and dearness allowance among States even as on 1-1-1972, full provision should be made for the actual requirements of the States on the basis of scales of pay and allowances as on 1-1-1972. We need not go into the reasonableness or otherwise of the scales of pay as obtaining on the date of reference.

(3) While complete elimination of the disparities as between different States is not feasible, it has to be conceded that in some of the States scales of pay and allowances as on 1-1-1972 were relatively low. The States, in which emoluments of employees as comprising pay, dearness allowance, interim relief and dearness pay, if eny, were below the all-States average as on 1-1-1972, should, therefore, be enabled to come up to the average. Requirements of additional funds in this regard have been taken into account. It is not possible to make a meticulously accurate computation of the requirements of the States with reference to scales of pay of all the numerous grades in existence and the number of employees in each grade. We, therefore, concluded that the ends of justice would be substantially met if the requirements of the States were worked out with reference to the disparities in respect of select common and numerically large categories of posts such as (1) Peon (2) Lower Division Clerk (3) Upper Division Clerk (4) Police Constable (5) Head Constable (6) Trained Primary School Teacher (7) Revenue Inspector (8) Trained Graduate Teacher (9) Naib/Deputy Tchsildar (10) Tehsildar and (11) Deputy Collector/Sub Divisional Officer. The order of increases needed with? reference to these posts having been determined, the actual provision needed could be settled on a reasonably accurate basis with reference to the total number of employees falling more or less within the pay ranges corresponding to those of the categories mentioned above.

(4) As regards States whose scales of pay were above the all-States average on 1-1-1972, it would be sufficient if further increases actually given bv them were allowed for with reference to rise in cost of living since 1-1-1972. For this purpose, we took into account the rise in cost of living from 1-1-1972 to 1-5-1973. In view of the fact that our projections of revenues of States from 1973-74 onwards have been made on the assumption of constant prices, we have left out of account the rise in prices after 1-5-1973. The All India average Consumers' Price Index for Industrial workers (1960 = 100), which stood at 195 in December 1971 rose to 221 in April 1973, indicating an increase of 13.33 per cent. As regards the degree of neutralisation against rise in the cost of living, we felt that it would be both fair and appropriate to regulate it on the basis of the recommendations of the Third Pay Commission in regard to employees of Central Government as set out in paragraph 17 of Chapter 55 of their Report. In assessing the requirements of the States which were above the national average in terms of scales of pay and emoluments as on 1-1-1972, we, therefore, took into account the increases given effect to by them subsequent to S/19 M of Fin. 73-6.

1-1-1972 only to the extent needed for neutralisation in cost of living in the manner indicated above. We have taken the view that any excess over the provisions, as computed in the manner indicated above, should be met by the State Governments from their own resources and should not qualify for grants-in-aid. In the case of surplus States, we have computed their non-Plan revenue surplus on the same basis.

(5) In the case of States whose scales of pay and dearness allowance were below the national average as on 1-1-1972, the amount needed to bring them up to the national average was computed first. On the amounts so arrived at, a further increase to compensate for the rise in cost of living from 1-1-1972 to 1-5-1973 was worked out in the same manner as indicated in the last paragraph and allowed for.

13. The precise manner in which we have worked out the entitlements of the States on the basis of these principles is explained at length below :

14. For computing the approximate cost of increases in emoluments of employees of State Governments since 1-1-1972, we ascertained from them the number of employees by various pay ranges and the details of revisions in pay and allowances undertaken by them together with their own estimates of costs during the Fifth Plan period. The State Governments were also requested to indicate the number of employees of local bodies and teachers of aided institutions in respect of whom they are liable to meet the expenditure on salary and allowances. It was seen that the State Governments had not followed a uniform procedure in estimating the financial implications of their decisions. While some of the State Governments had adopted a constant figure for each year during the Fifth Plan period, others had in addition allowed for certain annual rates of growth.It should be immembered that the bulk of the further increase in the number of employees would normally be for Plan schemes, expenditure on which will form part of the We, therefore, considered a growth rate Fifth Plan. of 2 per cent per annum to be ample in projecting the cost of the revisions already implemented by the State Governments since 1-1-1972. Necessary adjustments were accordingly made in the estimates furnished by the State Governments. The financial implications of the revisions as estimated by the State Governments and the modifications made by us are indicated in Table No. 2 in Appendix X which also shows the number of employees in each State according to the information furnished by State Governments.

15. As indicated above, in the case of States whose scales of pay and allowances were below the national average as on 1-1-1972, necessary allowance has been made to bring them up to the all-States average and also a further increase to compensate for the rise in the price level between 1-1-1972 and 1-5-1973. The upof the emoluments emof the pradation States to all-States average of these ployees will naturally call for the formulation of a revised pay structure and the 'fitment' of the employees in new scales of pay. It needs no great argument to show that in this process, the maximum benefit as measured

by the difference between the minimum of the old and new scales of pay will accrue only to the new entrants who generally constitute only a small proportion of the total number of employces. Those already in service would benefit to a much smaller extent depending upon the pay actually drawn by them in the old scale and the formula prescribed for fitting them into new scales. Having regard to this fact, it would not be wide off the mark to assume that the aggregate cost of enhancement of scales of pay up to the national average in these States would at best be about half the cost worked out on the basis of the difference between the minima of the old and new scales of the numerically significant categories.

16. Our estimate of the cost thus arrived at for compensating the States for increase in the price level between 1-1-1972 and 1-5-1973 and for raising the emoluments of employees of the States, whose scales were below the all-States average up to the average, together amount to Rs. 1414.15 crores. The same has been taken into account for purposes of reassessment of forecasts. In the case of the States where the emoluments were generally below the all-States average on 1-1-1972, the provision allowed by us naturally exceeds the provisions needed for the commitments already made. In effect, they secure additional resources amounting to Rs. 221.80 crores over the five year period to cope with the demand for the future increase in the emoluments of their employees. In the case of the remaining States, viz., Bihar, Gujarat, Har-yana, Jammu & Kashmir, Mysore, Punjab, Tamil Nadu and Uttar Pradesh, the aggregate cost of the revisions carried out by them after 1-1-1972 exceeded the provision arrived at by us on the basis indicated by Rs. 244.99 crores. In their case, the provision for revision of emoluments has, therefore, been limited to the cost arrived at by us. The total provision allowed by us for each State is indicated in Table No. 3 in Appendix X

17. Some of the State Governments have sought substantial additional allocation in anticipation of revision of pay scales likely to be necessitated by the decisions of the Central Government on the recommendations of the Third Central Pay Commission. These requests have not been taken into account by us.

18. In addition to revision of pay and dearness allowance, some of the State Governments have also either undertaken or have proposed enhancement of house rent and other allowances and certain fringe

benefits such as medical aid, increase in pension and gratuity, travelling alowance leave travel concesions, encashment of leave, etc. Table No. 4 in Appendix X indicates the provisions proposed by the various State Governments in this regard. Increase in pension and gratuity, travelling allowance, special pay, etc., are in the nature of normal growth in departmental expenditure and these have been taken care of by the fairly liberal growth rates that we have allowed in the expenditure estimates. No additional provision for these items was, therefore, considered necessary. One of the States has sought substantial provision for grant of encashment benefits of leave to its employees. This concession should not in our judgment entail any appreciable extra expenditure as there would ordinarily be no need to appoint substitutes in leave vacancies when the employees are allowed encashment of leave. It may be added that the Third Pay Commission which considered a similar claim for encashment of leave by employees of Central Government has rejected the same. We do not, therefore, see any justification for the provision sought by the State Government. The claims in respect of other items have been accepted by us after suitable adjustments for errors arising from overestimation of costs by the State Governments concerned. The provisions so allowed by us are indicated in Table No. 3 in Appendix X.

19. The approach that we have adopted in this chapter has the following advantages :

- (i) States whose scales of pay were distinctly above the all-State average as on 1-1-1972, would get the benefit of additionan provisions needed to compensate their employees for rise in the cost of living since that date up to 1-5-1973.
- (ii) States, which had observed restraint in revisions of pay and allowances and thus conserved their resources for development, would not be penalised for their past prudence.
- (iii) Our approach embodies a line of policy in terms of which demands for additional provision for pay or dearness allowance can be dealt with by the Finance Commissions in future. States will be relived of the compulsion to hustle through pay revisions and present the Finance Commission with fait accompli, if it is brought home to them that their requests for additional allocation of funds for enhancement of pay and allowances would be regulated on a normative basis.

#### CHAPTER XI

#### NORMS FOR MAINTENANCE OF CAPITAL ASSETS AND PLAN SCHEMES

The poor state of maintenance of capital assets, created at considerable cost to the community, has caused widespread concern in recent years. State Governments had urged before the earlier Finance Commissions that the rates of growth assumed by them as well as the Planning Commission in projecting their requirements for non-Plan purposes generally left them with inadequate resources for maintenance of capital assets leading to their progressive deterioration. It is presumably in view of the accumulating evidence of relative neglect of existing assets that, under para 4(b) (iv) of our terms of reference, we are required to take into consideration, in assessing the needs of States for assistance, the requirements for adequate maintenance and upkeep of capital assets created upto the end of 1973-74.

2. While an explicit mention of the needs of maintenance has been made for the first time in the terms of reference of a Finance Commission, it will not, however, be correct to assume that the earlier Commissions had overlooked the importance of maintenance of assets. The mere adoption of a higher rate of growth or upgradation of the norms for maintenance of assets would not ipso facto ensure that provision for maintenance would be made at the desired level and not diverted to other purposes. It is essential to stipulate norms for proper maintenance of capital assuin and for provision of funds related to such norm :. But there is no escape ultimately from striking a balance between maintenance of existing institutions and services in good condition and expansion of scrvices and creation of new assets so as to serve new areas and new sections of our people.

3. Standards of maintenance vary from State to State and we, therefore, considered it desirable to obtain information from the State Governments on the norms they presently follow and what in their judgment might constitute a reasonable minimum. During our visits to State capitals, we held discussions, among others, with experts in charge of departments such as Irrigation, Public Works, Medical and Public Health and sought their help in evolving such norms We have also elicited the views of the concerned Ministries of the Government of India. In the light of our study of the problem, we feel that it is possible to lay down norms for maintenance of the following categories of capital assets :

- (i) Irrigation works-major and minor
- (ii) Flood protection works
- (iii) Buildings
- (iv) Roads

4. We have also considered it desirable to review the present norms, if any, for allocation of funds for medicines, hospital necessaries and diet charges for patients and have proposed suitable increases. As regards other capital assets for which we have not considered it possible to lay down specific norms, such as vehicles and equipment, the comparatively high rates of growth we have assumed in our estimates of requirements of the States should enable the States to maintain them in a fit and serviceable condition.

#### Maintenance of Irrigation Works

5. Proper maintenance of irrigation works is absolutely essential for the growth of our agrarian economy. We have sought to evolve norms for maintenance of such works in consultation with the State Governments and the Ministry of Irrigation and Power. The Governments of Manipur, Nagaland and Tripura have not furnished any information on this point, presumably because these States do not have irrigation systems of any significant magnitude. The Governments of Bihar, Jammu & Kashmir, Haryana, Himachal Pradesh, Kerala, Meghalaya, Mysore, Rajasthan, Tamil Nadu and West Bengal have also informed us that no norms as such have been prescribed by them for maintenance of irrigation works and that the annual budgetary allocations are determined on the basis of actual requirements and the availability of lunds. However, the Governments of Kerala and Tamil Nadu have indicated the average expenditure incurred by them for the maintenance of irrigation works. Norms for maintenance of irrigation works either in terms of acreage benefited or length of canals have been laid down in eight States, namely, Andhra Pradesh, Assam, Gujarat, Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra, Orissa, Punjab and Uttar Pradesh. The norms in force in these States vary widely and are not readily comparable. The Union Ministry of Irrigation and Power, whose advice we sought on the question of norms, have informed us that Rs. 10 to 12 per acre might be taken to represent a reasonable limit for maintenance of irrigation works. Having regard to the present level of expenditure in many of the States, we also feel that the provision of Rs. 10 per acre for maintenance would assure the States adequate resources. We have accordingly worked out they requirements of States for maintenance of irrigation works at the rate of Rs. 10/- per acre irrigated by Government sources of irrigation, whether canals, tanks or Government wells including tubewells. Statewice figures of areas under irrigation areas under irrigation Statewise figures of provision Government sources and the from. per acre maintenance at Rs. 10 or for Rs. 24.71 per hectare, as computed by us, have been indicated in Table 1 in Appendix XI. In most of the States, namely, Bihar, Gujarat, Haryana, Himachal Pradesh, Jammu & Kashmir, Kerala, Maharashtra, Mysore, Orissa, Rajasthan, Tamil Nadu, Uttar Pradesh and West Bengal, the existing level of maintenance, as is evident from the actuals of 1971-72, is higher than the norm adopted by us. It will not be practicable for these States to reduce the present level of expenditure on maintenance. We have, therefore, allowed these States provision for maintenance on the basis of the actuals recorded in 1971-72. Prescription of higher norms for maintenance of irrigation works will, however, have no financial implications so far as major and medium irrigation projects are concerned, because we have suggested else-

cations so far as higher and medium irrigation projects are concerned, because we have suggested elsewhere that the States should raise gross receipts from such works at least to the extent of full recovery of their maintenance charges. In other words, our suggestion implies that the States where the level of expenditure on maintenance is lower than the norms, should strike a balance between gross receipts and maintenance charges at a higher level than the present. This would enable the works to be maintained upto a more satisfactory standard and at the same time ensure that there is no additional burden on the general tax payer. But in the case of minor irrigation works, there will be some financial gain to the States because they are being required to fill the gap between receipts and maintenance charges only to the extent of 50 per cent on the deficiency in 1973-74.

#### Maintenance of flood protection works

6. As regards flood protection works, Assam, Bihar, Orissa and Uttar Pradesh have supplied us information on the norms now followed by them for maintenance of flood embankments. Governments of Assam, Bihar and Uttar Pradesh have suggested that expenditure on flood protection works should be fixed as a percentage of the capital cost, while Orissa has indicated that it should be in terms of the length and the type of embankments. There is also wide disparity between

the States in the standards of maintenance. Expenditure varies from 1.2 per cent of capital cost in Uttar Pradesh to 5 per cent in Bihar and Jammu & Kashmir and to 6 per cent in Assam. The Ministry of Irrigation & Power, whom we consulted, have indicated that annual maintenance on flood control works during the Fifth Plan period may be provided at 5 per cent of the investment at the end of the Fourth Plan. They have observed that this suggestion is based on the recommendations of the Ministers' Committee on Floods and Flood Relief. The Ministers' Committee is reported to have been of the view that although the maintenance expenditure would depend upon factors like the height of the embankment, its importance and vulnerability and the year of construction, as a rough guide, maintenance expenditure could be taken at 4 to 5 per cent of the capital cost. We have also ascertained from State Governments their figures of cumulative investment in flood control works.

7. Keeping in view the present level of maintenance of flood protection works and the constraint of resources, it would be adequate if provision for maintenance of flood protection works is made at 4 per cent of the capital cost for the works as estimated at the end of the Fourth Plan. As in the case of irrigation works, we have allowed the expenditure actually incurred in 1971-72 where this was found to be more than the provision arrived at on the basis of norm. The State-wise figures of investment in flood control works as anticipated at the end of the Fourth Plan and the provision for maintenance at 4 per cent of the capital cost as allowed by us in reassessing the forecast of the State Governments are indicated in Table 2 in Appendix XI. The table below indicates the provision allowed by us for irrigation and flood protection works on the basis of norms or the actual level of expenditure in 1971-72 whichever was higher :

Provision for	maintenance	of	<sup>°</sup> irrigation	and	Flood	Protection	Works
---------------	-------------	----	-------------------------	-----	-------	------------	-------

(Rs. crores) Irrigation Works Flood Protection Works States Actuals 1971-72 Annual Provision Actuals Annual Provion Provision for five 1971-72 Provision for five years years 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1. Andhra Pradesh 7.78 11.21 56.05 0.07 1.06 5.30 2. Assam 0.50 0.51 2.55 4.97@) 4.97 24.85 3. Bihar 8.81 8.81 44.05 0.38(a) 2.75 13.75 4. Gujarat 4.26 4.26 21.30 0.13 0.13 0.65 5. Haryana 3.70 3.70 18.50 0.17 0.74 3.70 6. Himachal Pradesh 0.21 0.21 1.05 NA 0.01 0.05 7. Jammu & Kashmir 0.94 0.94 4,70 NA 0.79 3,95 8. Kerala 2.18 2.1810,90 0.06 0.13 0.65 9. Madhya Pradesh 2.09 2.63 13.15 0.03 . . 0.15 10. Maharashtra 5,90 5.90 29.50 Neg. 0.020.10 11. Manipur 0.01 0.03 0.15 0.06 0.06 0.30 12. Meghalaya . . .. . . . .

1						2	3	-1	2 2	Ġ.	1
-					-	· · · ·					
13. Mysore						6.70	6,7 <b>0</b>	33.50			• •
14. Nagatand						:		••			
15. Orissa						2.73	2.73	13.65	1.74	1.74	8,70
16. Pur lab						3.40	6,13	30.65	0,50	1.12	8.60
17. Rajasthaa						3.89	3.89	19.45	NA	6.39	1.95
18. Tanii Nadu						8.06	8,06	40.30		0.02	0.10
19. Triputa						0.17	20.5	1.25	NA	0.05	0.30
20. Uttar Prades	<b>,</b>					21.75	21.75	108.75	0.19	1.47	7.35
20. Ottai Phates 21. West Bengal						2.29	2.29	11.45	2.32(c)	2.32	11.60
Torz	ы.					85.37	92.18	469,90	10.59	18.41	92.05
Neg - r og		e .								• •	

N/. - Not available.

adixcludes expenditure on restoration of flood damage.

\*Faxes into account transfer of flood control portion of Hirakud Project.

### Norms for maintenance of buildings

8. In regard to the maintenance of buildings too, all the State Governments have represented that the existing provisions are woefully inadequate and that the Commission should, therefore, assess the requirements of the States on the basis of scientific norms. Most of the State Governments have also referred to the serious consequences which neglect of maintenance of permanent assets would entail in the long run. State Governments, however, have assumed widely varying norms for maintenance of buildings in the forecast submitted to us.

9. We felt that in regard to the needs of maintenance of buildings, there cannot be any wide divergence between the requirements of State Governments and those of Central Public Works Department. In fact, in certain States the actual work of maintenance of buildings borne on the registers of the Central Public Works Department is entrusted to the State Public Works Department on an agency basis at approved rates. We, therefore, asked the Ministry of Works and Housing to furnish us with complete information on the norms for maintenance followed by the Central Public Works Organisation in respect of buildings located in different States. Central Public Works Department has laid down the norms for maintenance of buildings with reference to (i) capital outlay on the buildings, and (ii) the age of different buildings. Certain special rates have also been prescribed for secretariat blocks and temporary buildings. Excluding these special categories, the norms laid down by the Central Public Works Department are as in the Table below :

Maintenance norms of Central Public Works Department buildings
Municipal Central Participal Central Participal Central Centra
as percentage of capital cost.

	Buildings Constructed				
	to	From 15-8-1947 to 31-3-1962	After 1-4-1962		
1. <i>Residential buildings</i> (permanent)	 				
1. Ordinary Repairs	3,20	2.20	1,90		
2. Special Repairs	1.20	0.73	0.63		

#### **T** 5 . . . .

2. Special Repairs

<ul> <li>D. Non-residential buildin (permanent)</li> </ul>	it.			
1. Ordinary Repairs		2.80	1.10	0.
2. Special Repairs	•	1.20	0.73	Ο.
III. Electrical Installations		•		
A. Residential				
J. Annual Repairs	•	9.00	60.8	.S.,
2. Special Repairs ;				
(a) with fans		3 50	3.25	3.
(b) without fans	·	2.09	1.75	1.
B. Non-residential				
1. Annual Repairs		2.75	1.75	1.

 $Q \leq$ 

63

60

))

5)

.05

0.50

10. Having regard to the basis now being followed by the Central Public Works Department for determination of maintenance expenditure on buildings, we thought it would be useful to obtain information from the State Governments also on the progressive capital outlay on buildings and their age composition. State Governments were, therefore, requested to furnish capital outlay on buildings classified into three categothes according to the age of the buildings, viz. (1) these constructed upto 31-3-1948 (ii) those consbacted from 1948 to 1962 and (iii )those constructed after 1962. The information regarding capital costs of buildings of different age groups and maintenance norms has been furnished by all State Governments.

1.00

0.75

11. As already indicated, the standards of maintenance considered appropriate by the State Governments vary widely. The divergence in the estimates

41

proposed by the States will be apparent from the following Table :

State norms of maintenance as percentage of capital cost.

Sta	ites			Buildings constructed				
512	ites			Upto 31-3-1948	From 1-4-1948 to 31-3-1962	From 1-4-1962 to 31-3-1974		
Andhra Prades	h.			8.00	4.00	3.00		
Bihar .				3.50	2.50	2.00		
Gujarat .				3.50	2.50	2.50		
Haryana .				4.00	4.00	2.00		
Jammu & Kasł	mir			10.00	6.00	2.50		
Kerala .				3.00	2.00	1.50		
Madhya Prades	sh	-	•	4.00 to 18.00	3.00 to 13.50	1.50 to 6.75		
	R) NR)		-	9.30 6.80	4.50 4.00	3.50 3.00		
Mysore .	•			*1,50 *3,00 (Revised)	1.50 3.00	1,50 3,00		
Nagaland . (T)		÷		5.00 10.00	5.00 10.00	3,00 7.00		
Orissa (P) (T)	•	•		5.00 6.00	4.00 5.00	2,50 3,00		
R <b>a</b> jasthan				3.75	2.50	1.75		
Tamil Nadu				3.00	1.50	1.50		

\*3.00 for buildings constructed up to 1940 \*4.00 for buildings constructed up to 1940

(P) Permanent buildings
 (T) Temporary buildings
 (R) Residential buildings

(NR) Non-residential buildings.

While the norms proposed by Kerala, Mysore and Tamil Nadu are among the lowest, those sought by Maharashtra, Madhya Pradesh and Jammu & Kashmir are prima facie high. It is also seen that while generally no separate norms have been laid down for different categories of buildings such as administrative buildings, hospitals, schools and colleges, some of the State Governments, for example Maharashtra, have provided separate norms for residential and non-residential buildings. The Government of Rajasthan have contended that the ordinary norms for maintenance would be inadequate for medical and educational buildings and that for such buildings a 50 per cent increase over the normal provisions should be conceded. Working on this basis, they have pleaded for an additional allocation of Rs. 35 lakhs in the revised forecasts for maintenance cost of buildings. The norms suggested for educational buildings and hospitals and dispensaries by Madhya Pradesh are also high ranging from 8 to 18 per cent in the case of buildings constructed upto 31-3-1948 as against their normal rate of 4 to 6 per cent for other buildings. Some of the State Governments have also proposed a different set of norms for maintenance of electrical installations. Table No. 3 in Appendix XI shows the capital outlay on buildings in various States and the cost of maintenance of buildings on the basis of Central Public Works Department norms.

12. Some of the States Governments have taken into account also the expenditure needed for the maintenance of buildings to be constructed during the course of the Fifth Plan period. We have disallowed this provision as we are required, under our terms of reference, to provide only for maintenance of capital assets created upto and inclusive of 1973-74. An annual growth rate varying from 5 to 10 per cent has also been taken for the forecast period by some of the State Governments. As the requirements have been assessed on the basis of norms, the question of further annual increase on the base year's provision does not arise. Likewise, the clearance of arreas of maintenance for which Madhya Pradesh has proposed an additional provision of Rs. 889 lakhs does not merit consideration, as maintenance requirements have been worked out with reference to certain norms. Any major programme of reconstruction of buildings, due to prolonged neglect, should necessarily be treated as involving capital outlay and accommodated within the Plan.

13. We have not considered it necessary to prescribe higher standards of maintenance for medical and educational buildings particularly as the higher rate of growth conceded for these two sectors-6 per cent per annum--should take care of all reasonable needs arising in these two sectors including proper upkeep of buildings.

14. The norms proposed by the State Government vary widely. It is not easy to reduce them to a comparable basis. Even otherwise, we do not see any strong grounds for prescribing more liberal standards of maintenance than considered appropriate by the Central Public Works Department. We have accordingly worked out the provisions to be made for maintenance of buildings, keeping in view the maintenance norms followed by the Central Public Works Department.

15. We had collected from the State Accountants General the information regarding progressive capital outlay on buildings to end of 1972-73. These differ from the progressive outlay indicated by the State Governments in most cases. The variations were explained by the State Governments to be due to exclusion by the Accountants General of the outlay on building, expenditure on which is most from the revenue budget and partly exclusion of certain other Government buildings not maintained by the State Public Works Departments. The variations in the case of Bihar, Punjab and Uttar Pradesh were found to be very large. Applying the C.P.W.D. maintenance norms to the capital outlay indicated by the Governments of Bihar and Punjab, the maintenance provision would work out to three times the present level of maintenance expenditure. In the case റെ Uttar Pradesh, it would be about eight times. In the case of Punjab, the variation appeared to be mainly due to adoption of figures of the capital outlay of buildings of composite Punjab as this has not yet been allocated between Punjab and Haryana. The maintenance provision for Punjab as now constituted could not therefore be related to progressive capital outlay on buildings. Accordingly, we took the provision arrived

at for Haryana on the basis of Central Public Works Department norms and determined the provision of Punjab at proportionately higher level in relation to its population. Government of Uttar Pradesh had indicated capital outlay on buildings department-wise and as information in ragard to several departments was not available, they suggested an ad hoc addition of 25 per cent for the remaining departments. In the case of Bihar, the variation seemed to be mainly due to the State Government adopting the present value of buildings. In Assam, Gujarat, Manipur, Meghalaya, Tamil Nadu and West Bengal we found that the present level of expenditure on maintenance of buildings was more than the provision required on the basis of norms. In these, and also in the case of Bihar, we took the latest available actuals as the basis for allowing main-

tenance provisions. For Uttar Pradesh, an annual provision of Rs. 3.50 crores has been allowed as the actuals were found to be inexplicably low. In all other States provision for maintenance has been made on the basis of norms of the Central Public Works Department. The provision allowed by us for the maintenance of buildings for different States in indicated in the Table below:

States		Actuals	Provisi	n for	
States		1972-73	1974-75	1974-79	
1. Andhra Pradesl	 1 .	 0.97	1.55	7.75	
2. Assam		1.05	1.05	5.25	
3. Bihar .		1.45	2.23*	11.13	
<ol><li>Gujarat</li></ol>		2.69	2.69	13.45	
5. Haryana		0.79	1.23	6.15	
6. Himachal Prade	esh	0.56	0.86	4.30	
7. Jammu & Kash	mir	0.55	0.82	4,10	
8. Kerala .		0.54	1.91	9,55	
9. Madhya Prades	h.	2.13	3.31	16.55	
10. Maharashtra		2.41	2.94	14.70	
11. Manipur		NA **	* 0.28	1.40	
12. Meghalaya		0.19	0,19	0.95	
13. Mysore		1.39	2.17	10,85	
14. Nagaland		NA	0.67	3,35	
15. Orissa .		1.70	2.10	10.50	
16. Punjab		1.09	1.66	8.30	
17. Rajasthan		0.80	2.24	11.20	
18. Tamil Nadu		1.96	1.96	9.80	
19. Tripera 💦 🦲		0.45	0.45	2.25	
20. Uttar Pradesh		1.07	3.50	17.50	
21. West Bengal .	•	3.15	3,15	15.75	
Total.		24.94	36.96	184.80	

\*Based on average of actual expenditure for 1971-72 and 1972-73.

\* \*Actual for 1971-72 was Rs. 28 lakhs.

## Norms for Maintenance of Roads

16. In reassessing the forecasts of State Governments, we have deemed it necessary to allow adeguate provision for proper maintenance of roads. We were, however, faced with difficulties in evolving both the norms for maintenance and verifying the information furnished by State Governments particularly regarding roads reported to be maintained by local bodies and village roads. A Technical Group appointed by the Ministry of Transport had recommended in 1969 specific norms for the maintenance of National Highways. They had suggested that the same norms could be applied to the State Highways

also. We sought the assistance of the Roads Wing in the Ministry of Shipping and Transport in prescribing similar norms for maintenance of other categories of State roads also. The Roads Wing informed us that the maintenance costs of State roads would depend upon classification of the roads, namely, State Highways, Major District Roads, Other District Roads or Village Roads and other factors such as width of carriage-way, type of surface, whether black top, cement concrete, water bound macadam, gravel or earth, intensity of traffic, the terrain and rainfall conditions and cost of stone aggregates. The Roads Wing further indicated that detailed studies on norms of maintenance of various categories of State roads have not been carried out so far. They, however, felt that broad guidelines could be laid down for evaluating maintenance needs on the basis of work done by the Technical Group and other information available in the Roads Wing of the Government of India. The norms for maintenance of State Highways, Major District and Other District Roads and other roads separately for each zone, as indicated by the Roads Wing, are set out in Table 4 in Appendix XI. In arriving at these norms, the Roads Wing has taken into account the price escalation since 1969.

17. In the light of the guidelines proposed by the Roads Wing of the Government of India, we asked the State Governments to let us have details of the road lengths separately for State Highways, Major District Roads, Other District Roads and Village Roads classifying them on the basis of traffic intensity, type of surface and width of carriage-way. While the road lengths of various categories of roads have been indicated by all States Governments, several of them could not furnish information classified according to the criteria prescribed by us. Some of the State Governments also drew our attention to the length of the roads maintained by the Local Bodies and urged that this should be taken into account by us. The other State Governments, who had not earlier indicated length of roads maintained by Local Bodies in their States were, therefore, requested to supply the information so that provision for maintenance of roads could be made on a uni-Despite this specific request, complete form basis. information in regard to Local Body roads could not be furnished by some of the State Governments. Table 5(i) and (ii) in Appendix XI indicate respectively the kilometrage of Government roads and roads of local bodies.

18. Available information on present level of expenditure on maintenance of roads confirmed that the expenditure of State Governments on maintenance of Village Roads was not of any significant magnitude. Our study of the material furnished by the State Governments also indicated wide variation in the length of Village Roads which could not be explained in terms of factors such as area of the State and past investments in construction of village roads. We, terefore decided to exclude Village Roads for the purpose of computation of cost of maintenance on the basis of norms. As regards Local Body roads, it was clear that some State Governments had sought to include even unsurfaced roads maintained by Local Bodies in the category of Other Moreover, the present liability of District Roads the State Government in regard to the maintenance of Local Body roads is significantly low compared to the length of roads. It is only reasonable to expect that the Local Bodies should raise part of the resources for maintenance of assets transferred to them. Having regard to these factors, we concluded that it would be proper to allow only 50 per cent of the

provision needed on the basis of norms for mainte-

nance of roads entrusted to local bodies.

19. As already explained, the information furnished by the State Governments in regard to classification of roads was not on a uniform basis. In working out the cost of maintenance of roads, we, therefore, took the average cost as indicated by the Roads Wing for each category of roads, after excluding the Village Roads and limiting the provision needed for Local Body roads to 50 per cent. In the case of Manipur, Nagaland and Tripura, we found that the mainte-nance cost, as worked out on the basis of norms, was very low compared to the level of expenditure in Assam and Meghalaya. High level of expenditure in Assam is evidently due to difficult terrain and other special factors in regard to maintenance of roads. As conditions in Manipur, Nagaland and Tripura are similar to those in Assam, we have raised the maintenance provision on the basis of norms for these States by 100 per cent. We further observed that in certain States, namely, Assam, Bihar, Himachal Pradesh, Jammu & Kashmir, Meghalaya and West Bengal, the present level of expenditure on maintenance of roads was higher than the provision arrived at on the basis of norms. It may be difficult for these States to reduce the present level of expenditure on maintenance of roads. We have, therefore, adopted the actual expenditure in 1971-72 in these States as the basis for future projection. We have also allowed for all the States a growth of 2 per cent per annum during the forecast period to cover the possible additional costs on account of increase in The provision for maintethe intensity of traffic. nance of roads, worked out on the lines discussed above, for each State for the five year period ending 1978-79 is indicated in the Table below:

(Rs. c	rores)
--------	--------

States	Actuals	Provision for			
	1971-72	1974-75	1974-79		
1. Andhra Pradesh .	8.87	13.76	71.61		
2. Assam	7.45	7.90	41.11		
3. Bihar	9.80	10.40	54.12		
4. Gujarat	6.75	9.10	47.36		
5. Haryana	2.18	2,49	12.96		
6. Himachal Pradesh .	2,62	2.86	14.88		
7. Jammu & Kashmir	2.23	2.37	12.33		
8. Kerala	5.84	6.68	34.76		
9. Madhya Pradesh	8.23	14.95	77.80		
10. Maharashtra	5.08	13.08	68.07		
11. Manipur	0.59	1.25	6.52		
12. Meghalaya	1.64	1.73	9,00		
13. Mysore	5.80	12,38	64,43		

14.	Nagaland			NA	1.87	9.72
15.	Orissa .			3.26	4.65	24.20
16.	Punjab .			1.86	2.75	14.31
17.	Rajasthan			3.38	10.03	52.20
18.	Tamil Nadu			7.54	12.83	66.77
19.	Tripura			0.53	0.83	4.32
20.	Uttar Prades	h	-	12.23	19.04	99.08
21	West Bengal			9,15	10.09	52,51
	Total			105.03	161.04	838.06

#### Norms of provisions for medicines and those for hospitals and dispensaries.

20. During our discussions with the representatives of the States, we repeatedly came across complaints about inadequate provision for medicines and diet in hospitals and dispensaries and the consequent hardship caused to poor patients. There can be no doubt that the allotment of funds for medicines and diet on a more generous scale would ensure considerable relief to the weaker sections of the society, who have to depend largely on medical services provided by Governmental agencies. We, therefore, examined with special care the basis on which allocations are now being made by the State Governments for medicines and diet with a view to determine the additional requirements of the State Governments.

Į

ł

¥.

ļ

ŧ

Ì

21. From the information furnished to us it is seen that State Governments of Kerala, Maharashtra, Meghalaya, Nagaland, Punjab, Tamil Nadu and Tri-pura had not so far laid down any norms as such for regulating expenditure on medicines. The budgetary provision in this regard would seem to be determined from year to year on considerations such as past actuals and the overall resources position of the Meghalaya and Tamil Nadu State Governments which do not have any norms at present have, however, indicated certain norms for guidance in the Fifth Plan period, while the Government of Gujarat have not stipulated any norms as such, they have fixed ceilings on expenditure of medicines at Rs. 20,000 per annum for each referral hospital and Rs. 6,000 per annum for each primary health centre. Even among the other States which have already laid down certain norms there appears to be no uniformity. While Andhra Pradesh, Assam, Haryana, Jammu & Kashmir, Himachal Pradesh, Madhya Pradesh, Mysore, Orissa, Uttar Pradesh and West Bengal have prescribed norms in terms of per patient per day, Bihar and Rajasthan have laid down the norms on an actual basis. Table No. 6 in Appendix XI sets out the information on norms now in force and those proposed for the Fifth Plan period in the several States. There are very wide differences between States, both in terms of existing as well as proposed norms. This wide disparity appears to be due in part to the fact that while in some States they may represent only expenditure on medicines and drugs, in others they may be inclusive of expenditure on other hospital necessaries like linen, instruments and also the cost of X-Ray, clinical and other tests. It is

also felt that the norms proposed by the various States for the Fifth Plan period represent a substantial step-up over the existing levels.

22. As regards diet for patients, no norms as such have been prescribed in Himachal Pradesh, Maharashtra, Punjab, Tamil Nadu and Uttar Pradesh. However, the Governments of Tamil Nadu and Himachal Pradesh have prescribed scales of diet admissible and provisions were reported to be made on the basis of requirements. These two State Governments have also indicated the average expenditure per patient per day on diet. Norms for diet in force at present and those proposed for the Fifth Plan period in the several States are indicated in Table No. 7 in Appendix XI.

23. In some States higher scales of expenditure have been allowed for certain cotegories of patients such as those suffering from tuberculosis. Here again it is very clear that there is a wide margin of variation between the norms proposed by different States. The available information on the number of out-patients and in-patients in different States does not appear to afford a reliable basis for determination of the funds needed for medicines and diet. We do not, therefore, find it possible to determine the provisions needed for medicines and diet on the basis of specific norms. The only course open to us in these circumstances is, therefore, to categorise the States into certain broad groups on the basis of present provision for medicines and diet per head of population and to lay down differential rates of increase over the existing level of expenditure. It should be remembered that the present wide variations in allocations for medicines and diet in different States may be due both to constraint on resources and the absence of adequate number of hospitals and dispensaries. Where there are not enough hospitals or dispensaries, the mere enhancement of provision for medicine and diet would serve no purpose Equalisa sation of provision for medicine and diet in per capita terms will, therefore, not be a practical proposition. However, having regard to the present level of expenditure on medicines, the States may be classified broadly into three categories, namely :

- **Category A.**—States in which the provision for medicine and diet is substantially above the national average :—
  - (1) Himachal Pradesh
  - (2) Jammu & Kashmir
  - (3) Kerala
  - (4) Nagaland
  - (5) Tamil Nadu
  - (6) Tripura
- Category B.—States in which the provisions for medicine and diet may be considered to be at moderate level :—
  - (1) Andhra Pradesh
  - (2) Assam
  - (3) Gujarat

- (4) Haryana
- (5) Madhya Pradesh
- (6) Maharashtra
- (7) Mysore
- (8) Punjab
- **Category C.**—States in which provisions for medicines and diet should be considered to be low :—
  - (1) Bihar
  - (2) Manipur
  - (3) Meghalaya
  - (4) Orissa
  - (5) Rajasthan
  - (6) Uttar Pradesh
  - (7) West Bengal

24. Having regard to our general impression that medicines cannot be the expenditure on diet and considered satisfactory in any State, we consider it essential to allow for some increase in all the States but at different rates. Taking the actuals of 1971-72 we have considered it necessary to provide for an increase of 25 per cent in States falling in Category-A, 50 per cent for States falling in Category-B and 100 per cent for States falling in Category-C to arrive at the desired base level expenditure in 1973-74. We have allowed for a further increase of 5 per cent per annum during the forecast period keeping in view the normal increase in number of patients seeking medi-The statement below shows, in one view, cal care. the actuals of expenditure on medicines and diet in 1971-72 in different States, and the estimates as reassessed by us for the forecast period :

# Provision for Medicines and Diet

(Rs. Crores)

States	3		1971-72	1974-75	Total 1974-79
Category-A					
1. Himachal Pra	desh .		0.51	0.67	3.71
2. Jammu & Kas			0.90	1.18	6.51
3. Kerala			3,90	5.12	28.31
4. Nagaland			0.50	0.65	3.58
5. Tamil Nadu			7.56	9.92	54.83
6. Tripura.			0.34	0.44	2.40
Category-B					
1. Andhra Prade	sh .		4.12	6.49	35.85
			1.05	1.65	9.12
		·	1.88	2.96	16.37
4. Harvana	•	•	0.75	1,19	6.58
	ech .	•	2.66	4,19	23.15
5. Madhya Prad		•	3.25	5.11	28.22
6. Maharashtra		•	3.09	4.86	26.86
7. Mysore 8. Punjab		÷	0.99	1.56	8.63
Category-C					
1. Bihar			0.99	2.08	11.47
2. Manipur	• •	•	0.09	0.18	1.05
			0.06	0.13	0.75
4. Orissa	• •	•	0.94	1.97	10.90
	• •	•	1.42	2.98	16.47
5. Rajasthan	• •	•	2.91	6.11	33,78
6. Uttar Pradesh 7. West Bengal		:	3.27	6.87	37,95
Total			41.18	66.31	366.49

#### Medical care and health service in rural areas

25. Primary Health Centres are the focal points for the provision of medical care and health services in rural areas. The country has also adopted the pattern of one primary health centre for every block. Despite this uniformity in the basic set up for provision of medical services in rural areas, there is very wide divergence in the allocations for medicines for primary health centres in different States. Thus, while the allotment for medicines is as low as Rs. 5,000 in Madhya Pradesh and Rs. 5,800 in Orissa, Punjab and West Bengal were able to provide upto Rs. 12,000 per centre. We understand that as part of the Minimum Needs Programme now under consideration in the Planning Commission, it is envisaged to provide funds for medicines at Rs. 12,000 per primary health centre and about Rs. 2,000 for each sub-centre attached to the primary health centre. We consider it appropriate to adopt this norm in working out the requirements of funds for provision of medicines in primary health centres and sub-centres. The table below indicates the number of primary health centres and sub-centres in each State and the corresponding provisions for medicines and diet allowed by us in determining the requirements of the States for the forecast period 1974-75 to 1978-79 :

	Pub	lic Health C	Centres		Sub-Centres	5	Total prov the basis of		Level of expendi-	Total provision
States	No. at the end		Provision on the basis of norms		Provision on the basis of norms			norms.	ture in 1971-72 (Actuals)	allowed in the re- assess-
	of 1973-74	1974-75	Total 1974-79	of 1973-74	1974-75	Total 1974-79	1974-75	Total 1974-79	( ,	ment 1974-79
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1. Andhra Pradesh .	416	0.50	2.50	1,248	0.25	1.25	0.75	3.75	0.29	3.75
2. Assam	109	0.13	0.65	274	0.05	0.25	0.18	0.90	0.08	0.90
3. Bihar	587	0.70	3.50	1,761	0.35	1.75	1.05	5.25	0.04	5.25
4. Gujarat	251	0.30	1,50	786	0.16	0,80	0.46	2.30	0.15	2.30
5. Haryana	89	0.11	0.55	267	0.05	0.25	0.16	0.80	0.80	0.80
6. Himachal Pradesh	76	0.09	0.45	266	0.05	0.25	0.14	0.70	0.09	0·70
7. Jammu & Kashmir	76	0.09	0.45	187	0.04	0.20	0.13	0.65	0.04	0.65
8. Kerala .	162	0.19	0.95	428	0.08	0.40	0.27	1.35	0.31	2.08*
9. Madhya Pradesh .	451	0.54	2.70	2,900	0.58	2.90	1.12	5.60	0.23	5.60
0 Maharashtra	388	0.47	2.35	1,243	0.25	1.25	0.72	3,60	0.25	3,60
1. Manipur	16	0.02	0.10	50	0.01	0.05	0,03	0.15	0.01	0.15
2. Meghalaya	16	0.02	0.10	20	0.01	0.05	0.03	0.15	0.01	0.15
13. Mysore	265	0.32	1.60	795	0.16	0.80	0.48	2.40	0,21	2.40
4. Nagaland	10	0.01	0.05	45	0.01	0.05	0.02	0.10	NA	a
5. Orissa,	314	0.38	1.90	882	0.18	0.90	0.56	2.80	0.16	2,80
6. Punjab	167	0.20	1.00	836	0.17	0.85	0.37	1.85	0.05	1.85
7 Rajasthan	232	0,28	1.40	696	0.14	0.70	0.42	2.10	0.12	2.10
8. Tamil Nadu	379	0.45	2.25	1,137	0.23	1.15	0.68	3.40	0.26	3.40
9. Tripura	26	0.03	0.15	106	0.02	0.10	0.05	0.25	0.08	0.54
0. Uttar Pradesh	905	1.09	5.45	3,008	0,60	3.00	1.69	8.45	0.43	8.45
21. West Bengal .	318	0.38	1.90	662	0.13	0.65	0.51	2.55	1.32	8.84*
TOTAL	5,253	6.30	31.50	17,597	3,52	17.60	9.82	49.10	4.21	56.31

Provision for Medicines in Primary Health Centres and Sub-Centres

\*In Kerala, Tripura and West Bengal the 1971-72 level of expenditure was more than what works out on the basis of norms and has been allowed in the reassessment.

@In the case of Nagaland, the 1971-72 level of expenditure was not available. However, the State Government have informed that they are spending at rates more than the norms adopted by us. Hence additional provision has not been allowed.

### UPGRADATION OF STANDARDS OF ADMINISTRATION IN BACKWARD STATES

The formulation of principles governing grants-inaid of the revenues of the States in need of such assistance is one of the obligatory functions cast on the Finance Commission under the Constitution. In assessing the needs of the States in pursuance of this Constitutional directive, the Finance Commissions have moved away from the cencept of budgetary needs, as emerging from the forecasts of revenue and expenditure admitted by State Governments, to a consideration of fiscal needs in a comprehensive sense. But the determination of grants has been made on the basis of the levels of administrative and social services as already attained in different States. - İn consequence the accent has been on maintenance and consolidation, rather than on improvement and expansion of the variegated services, that a State Government is called upon to provide in an era of rising expectations. In particular, no attempt appears to have been made so far to quantify the requirements in financial terms of the backward States from the standpoint of progressive equalisation of standards of essential administrative and social services within a definite time horizon. It seems reasonable to us provision of funds to the States that that are backward in administrative and social services, falls within the purview of the Finance Com-Para 4(b)(v) of our terms of reference mission. appears to confirm this view.

2. It is hardly possible for the Finance Commission within the time allowed to it, either to examine in depth the soundness and adequacy of the administrative set up in the various States or to formulate specific proposals for its improvement. Among the numerous factors which impinge on the efficiency of the administrative system, there are many that cannot be reduced to financial terms in any meaningful sense. Principles and procedures of recruitment, training and deployment of administrative and technical personnel of different categories, clear definition and enforcement of the responsibilities of functionaries at different levels and above all the general political and social milieu in which the administrative machinery has to operate, determine the efficacy of the administrative system. However, the constraint of resources is admittedly one of the important factors impeding the achievement of certain minimum standards of administrative and social services in some of the States. The removal of this constraint comes within the purview of this Commission. It would nevertheless be recognised that the provision of resources is only the first important step in the process of progressive elimination of disparities in standards of administrative and social services. TÉ the provision of additional resources is to fructify in terms of more efficient and adequate service to the community at large, this will have to be followed up

by energetic and purposeful action on a wide front at both political and administrative levels in the backward States.

3. We have carefully examined the implications of the term "General Administration" occur ing in this part of our terms of reference. On a nerrow interpretation, the term "General Administration" could be deemed to cover only those services, prevision for which is normally made under the budget head "19-General Administration". This would mean that the problem of upgradation of standards in backward States might be considered as limited to allocation of additional funds for expenditure on such agencies as Secretariat and Attached Offices, Board of Revenue, Treasuries and general administrative establishments at district, divisional and tehsil levels. We hold that such an interpretation would be unduly restrictive and out of tune with the enlightened approach to the problem of inter-State disparities that has inspired this part of our terms of reference. In our view, the expression 'General Administration' occurring in our terms of reference should be taken in its broad sense as comprehending all the instrumentalities of Governments concerned with general administration, maintenance of law and order, administration of justice and other vital functions of Governments pertaining to the health and welfare of the citizens.

4. We have taken the view that the Finance Commission is concerned primarily with expenditure on revenue account. But this can be considered by some as restrictive. Article 112(2) of the Constitution relating to Central Budget and Article 202(2) of the Constitution relating to the State Budget do specifically require that expenditure on revenue account should be distinguished from other expenditure. Article 275 of the Constitution also refers only to 'revenues' of the States. It, therefore, seems to us that while we can deal with all the requirements of the States for upgradation of standards of administration including social services, we should concern ourselves only with expenditure on revenue account and not on capital and loan accounts. For purposes of raising of administrative standards, we have therefore left out of account expenditure in States on schemes such as roads and drinking water supply, which is generally booked under capital account.

5. We examined carefully the criteria with reference to which the backwardness of States in standards of administration could be assessed with a measure of accuracy and the assistance provided to them for reduction of the disparities. In an attempt to assess the extent of leeway to be made up by the backward States in physical terms, we addressed a questionnaire to all the State Governments as in Appendix III.

Many of the subsidiary points on which we obtained information also gave some indication of the levels of physical achievements in several spheres of administration and social services. On an analysis of the information obtained, we found that except in certain sectors such as elementary education or medical and public health, where the enrolment ratios or the hospital bed-population ratios might give some indication of the relative progress made by different States, the information available about many heads of administrative and social services did not provide a workable basis for taking a view on physical re-quirements of backward States. To illustrate, we quirements of backward States. thought that the span of control in terms of area and population of different functionaries at district, subdivisional and taluk levels could provide a reasonably satisfactory yardstick for assessment of the standards of general administration in different States. But analysis of the information obtained from the States showed that it would be misleading to apply this vardstick. Thus, for example, the average size of a district in terms of population was found to be high both in Bihar, which is admittedly one of our backward States, and Tamil Nadu which is recognised to be an advanced State. This should suffice to show that the size of a district by itself cannot be taken to be an indicator of the adequacy or otherwise of th. administrative machinery of different States. Similarly in the case of Police, available information on the strength of police force and the facilities available to police personnel was not such as to permit any definite conclusions about the adequacy or efficiency of the police force in different States. Even in sectors such as education or medical and public health where the enrolment ratios or the ratio between population and hospital beds gives some indication of the requirements of the States on a comparable basis, we found it difficult to translate the requirements in financial terms in view of wide differences in scales of pay and variations in patterns of assistance to institutions run by local bodies and other aided agencies. On consideration of these and other relevant factors, we were led to the view that per capita expenditure on administrative and social services in different States, with all its imperfections, would be a convenient yardstick for estimation of the requirements of the backward States in broad terms. Having therefore first projected the requirements of all the States-advanced and backward-on the basis of existing standards of administrative and social services with reference to the rates of growth indicated elsewhere in the report, we worked out the per capita expenditure on certain essential services at the levels likely to be reached in 1978-79 and struck an all-States average of such expenditure. The next step was to identify the States whose expenditure was below the all-States average under different heads and work out the provisions needed to bring them up to the all-States average by 1978-79.

6. In order that this concept of upgradation in terms of per capita expenditure may yield satisfactory results, it was found necessary to exclude certain typical States like Jammu & Kashmir, Himachal Pradesh, Manipur, Meghalaya, Nagaland and Tripura. If the figures of expenditure of these States are taken

into account for purposes of working out the all States average, the results would be vitiated. In working out the average of all States for purposes of provision of additional funds to backward States, we have, therefore, left out these States. The requirements of these exceptional States for raising the standards of administration have, however, been worked out separately on their merits with due regard to their special circumstances.

7. The primary object of upgrading administrative standards in backward States is to enable the State Governments concerned to respond to the needs of the people more effectively. This consideration is not relevant in regard to tax collection charges. Provision for tax collection charges will have to be made in relation to receipts from the various sources of revenue or on the basis of certain reasonable rates of growth on existing levels of expenditure.

8. The question of mitigating disparities in standards of administration as between advanced and backward States is not relevant in respect of items such as Interest Payments(16)\*, Appropriation for Reduc-tion or Avoidance of Debt(17), State Legisla-tures(18), Famine Relief(64), and Pensions and Retirement Benefits(65). Provisions under these heads will have to be worked out with reference to the actual requirements of the States. As regards developmental heads, it may not be relevant to consider Industries (35), Multi-purpose Projects (42), Expenditure on Irrigation Schemes (43 and 44), Road and Forests(70) Transport(57), Electricity(45) from the point of view of elevation of standards, because the expenditure under these revenue heads relates mostly to the maintenance of irrigation schemes, road transport undertakings, and departmental units already in existence. If a State lags behind in these sectors, the deficiency can be made good only through appropriate programmes under-taken as part of the Plan and not through allocation of funds on revenue account under our scheme of devolution. Moreover, it should be remembered that such outlays will be mostly on capital account. We have, however, dealt separately with provision for adequate maintenance of existing assets such as irrigation works and roads and have provided funds Adequate resources on the basis of certain norms. have been provided under our scheme for maintenance of buildings, irrigation and flood protection works, roads, supply of medicines and diet in hospitals and dispensaries for all the States. The backward States which, for paucity of resources or other reasons, have so far been unable to provide adequate funds for maintenance of capital works, would be the principal beneficiaries of the new procedure followed by us for determination of funds for maintenance. The expenditure on Forests(70) has also to be excluded depending as it does on the extent under forests and also perhaps on the revenue derived therefrom. Likewise, we have felt that expenditure on Agriculture,

<sup>\*</sup>Figures in breakets relate to heads of account as in the Account for 1973-74

The formulation of principles governing grants-inaid of the revenues of the States in need of such assistance is one of the obligatory functions cast on the Finance Commission under the Constitution. In assessing the needs of the States in pursuance of this Constitutional directive, the Finance Commissions have moved away from the cencept of budgetary needs, as emerging from the forecasts of revenue and expenditure admitted by State Governments, to consideration of fiscal needs in a comprehensive sense. But the determination of grants has been made on the basis of the levels of administrative and social services as already attained in different States. 1n consequence the accent has been on maintenance and consolidation, rather than on improvement and expansion of the variegated services, that a State Government is called upon to provide in an era of rising expectations. In particular, no attempt appears to have been made so far to quantify the requirements in financial terms of the backward States from the standpoint of progressive equalisation of standards of essential administrative and social services within definite time horizon. It seems reasonable to us a. of funds the States that provision to that serare backward in administrative and social vices, falls within the purview of the Finance Com-Para 4(b)(v) of our terms of reference mission. appears to confirm this view.

2. It is hardly possible for the Finance Commission within the time allowed to it, either to examine in depth the soundness and adequacy of the administrative set up in the various States or to formulate specific proposals for its improvement. Among the numerous factors which impinge on the efficiency of the administrative system, there are many that cannot be reduced to financial terms in any meaningful sense. Principles and procedures of recruitment, training and deployment of administrative and technical personnel of different categories, clear definition and enforcement of the responsibilities of functionaries at different levels and above all the general political and social milicu in which the administrative machinery has to operate, determine the efficacy of the administrative system. However, the constraint of resources is admittedly one of the important factors impeding the achievement of certain minimum standards of administrative and social services in some The removal of this constraint comes of the States. within the purview of this Commission. It would nevertheless be recognised that the provision of resources is only the first important step in the process of progressive elimination of disparities in standards of administrative and social services. If the provision of additional resources is to fructify in terms of more efficient and adequate service to the community at large, this will have to be followed up by energetic and purposeful action on a wide front at both political and administrative levels in the backward States.

3. We have carefully examined the implications of the term "General Administration" occur ing in this part of our terms of reference. On a narrow interpretation, the term "General Administration" could be deemed to cover only those services, prevision for which is normally made under the budger head "19-General Administration". This would mean that the problem of upgradation of standards in backward States might be considered as limited to allocation of additional funds for expenditure on such agencies as Secretariat and Attached Offices, Board of Revenue, Treasuries and general administrative establishments at district, divisional and tehsil levels. We hold that such an interpretation would be unduly restrictive and out of tune with the enlightened approach to the problem of inter-State disparities that has inspired this part of our terms of reference. - In our view, the expression 'General Administration' occurring in our terms of reference should be taken in its broad sense as comprehending all the instrumentalities of Governments concerned with general administration, maintenance of law and order, administration of justice and other vital functions of Governments purtaining to the health and welfare of the c tizens.

4. We have taken the view that the Finance Commission is concerned primarily with expenditure on revenue account. But this can be considered by some as restrictive. Article 112(2) of the Constitution relating to Central Budget and Article 202(2) of the Constitution relating to the State Budget do specifically require that expenditure on revenue account should be distinguished from other expenditure. Article 275 of the Constitution also refers only to 'revenues' of the States. It, therefore, seems to us that while we can deal with all the requirements of the States for upgradation of standards of administration including social services, we should concern ourselves only with expenditure on revenue account and not on capital and loan accounts. For purposes of raising of administrative standards, we have therefore left out of account expenditure in States on schemes such as roads and drinking water supply, which is generally booked under capital account.

5. We examined carefully the criteria with reference to which the backwardness of States in standards of administration could be assessed with a measure of accuracy and the assistance provided to them for reduction of the disparities. In an attempt to assess the extent of leeway to be made up by the backward States in physical terms, we addressed a questionnaire to all the State Governments as in Appendix III. Many of the subsidiary points on which we obtained information also gave some indication of the levels of physical achievements in several spheres of administration and social services. On an analysis of the information obtained, we found that except in certain sectors such as elementary education or medical and public health, where the enrolment ratios or the hospital bed-population ratios might give some indication of the relative progress made by different States, the information available about many heads of administrative and social services did not provide a workable basis for taking a view on physical requirements of backward States. To illustrate, we thought that the span of control in terms of area and population of different functionaries at district, subdivisional and taluk levels could provide a reasonably satisfactory yardstick for assessment of the standards of general administration in different States. But analysis of the information obtained from the States showed that it would be misleading to apply this yardstick. Thus, for example, the average size of a district in terms of population was found to be high both in Bihar, which is admittedly one of our backward States, and Tamil Nadu which is recognised to be an advanced State. This should suffice to show that the size of a district by itself cannot be taken to be an indicator of the adequacy or otherwise of th. administrative machinery of different States. Similarly in the case of Police, available information on the strength of police force and the facilities available to police personnel was not such as to permit any definite conclusions about the adequacy or efficiency of the police force in different States Even in sectors such as education or medical and public health where the enrolment ratios or the ratio between population and hospital beds gives some indication of the requirements of the States on a comparable basis, we found it difficult to translate the requirements in financial terms in view of wide differences in scales of pay and variations in patterns of assistance to institutions run by local bodies and other aided agencies. On consideration of these and other relevant factors, we were led to the view that per capita expenditure on administrative and social services in different States, with all its imperfections, would be a convenient yardstick for estimation of the requirements of the backward States in broad terms. Having therefore first projected the requirements of all the States --advanced and backward—on the basis of existing standards of administrative and social services with reference to the rates of growth indicated elsewhere in the report, we worked out the per capita expenditure on certain essential services at the levels likely to be reached in 1978-79 and struck an all-States average of such expenditure. The next step was to identify the States whose expenditure was below the all-States average under different heads and work out the provisions needed to bring them up to the all-States average by 1978-79.

6. In order that this concept of upgradation in terms of per capita expenditure may yield satisfactory results, it was found necessary to exclude certain typical States like Jammu & Kashmir, Himachal Pradesh, Manipur, Meghalaya, Nagaland and Tripura. If the figures of expenditure of these States are taken into account for purposes of working out the all States average, the results would be vitiated. In working out the average of all States for purposes of provision of additional funds to backward States, we have, therefore, left out these States. The requirements of these exceptional States for raising the standards of administration have, however, been worked out separately on their merits with due regard to their special circumstances.

7. The primary object of upgrading administrative standards in backward States is to enable the State Governments concerned to respond to the needs of the people more effectively. This consideration is not relevant in regard to tax collection charges. Provision for tax collection charges will have to be made in relation to receipts from the various sources of revenue or on the basis of certain reasonable rates of growth on existing levels of expenditure.

8. The question of mitigating disparities in standards of administration as between advanced and backward States is not relevant in respect of items such as Interest Payments(16)\*, Appropriation for Reduction or Avoidance of Debt(17), State Legislatures(18), Famine Relief(64), and Pensions and Retirement Benefits(65). Provisions under these heads will have to be worked out with reference to the actual requirements of the States. As regards developmental heads, it may not be relevant to consider Industries (35), Multi-purpose Projects (42), Expendi-ture on Irrigation Schemes (43 and 44), Road Transport(57), Electricity(45) and Forests(70) from the point of view of elevation of standards, because the expenditure under these revenue heads relates mostly to the maintenance of irrigation schemes, road transport undertakings, and depart-mental units already in existence. If a State lags behind in these sectors, the deficiency can be made good only through appropriate programmes undertaken as part of the Plan and not through allocation of funds on revenue account under our scheme of devolution. Moreover, it should be remembered that such outlays will be mostly on capital account. We have, however, dealt separately with provision for adequate maintenance of existing assets such as irrigation works and roads and have provided funds on the basis of certain norms. Adequate resources have been provided under our scheme for maintenance of buildings, irrigation and flood protection works, roads, supply of medicines and diet in hospitals and dispensaries for all the States. The backward States which, for paucity of resources or other reasons, have so far been unable to provide adequate funds for maintenance of capital works, would be the principal beneficiaries of the new procedure followed by ' us for determination of funds for maintenance. The expenditure on Forests(70) has also to be excluded depending as it does on the extent under forests and also perhaps on the revenue derived therefrom. Likewise, we have felt that expenditure on Agriculture,

\*Figures in breakets relate to heads of account as in the Account for 1973-74

Animal Husbandry, Rural Development and Co-operation (31, 32, 33 and 34) should be kept out of the present exercise aimed at upgradation - of standards in backward States because the expenditure under these heads depends upon factors varying from State to State. Thus, for example, in some of the States, there may not be any scope for development of fisheries. Likewise, in a State where Cooperation has made very little headway, there will be no point in providing additional funds to match the levels of expenditure on staff attained by another State where co-operative movement has registered considerable progress. The expenditure on Agriculture in per capita terms may vary with reference to the potential for agricultural production in different States. provision of funds for improvement of the capacity of the backward States to exploit their full potential in these sectors can be made only within the framework of a Plan. As regards expenditure under "37-Community Development Projects, National Extension Service", the staffing pattern is already uniform. The level of expenditure on "Labour and Employment" (38) is negligible and has no relation to the incidence of This head records expenditure on unemployment. employment exchanges, maintenance of craftsmen training centres, etc. The allocation of additional funds under this head would, therefore, seem to have no significance from the standpoint of upgradation of administrative standards. As regards the head "26-Miscellaneous", Fire Services would seem to be the only service in respect of which it may be necessary to provide additional funds to the States that lag behind. Here again, the strength and standards of fire services needed would vary from State to State depending upon the extent of urbanisation and indus-We have, however, in the course of trialisation. scrutiny of forecasts of the States, identified the States where expenditure on Fire Services is significantly lower and provided a little extra help to the weaker States to come up to the standards of the rest. The expenditure under "39-Miscellaneous Social and Developmental Organisations" relates to variegated developmental services which are not uniform in different The principal services expenditure on which States. is booked under this head are (i) Statistics, (ii) Social Welfare, (iii) Town and Country Planning, (iv) Tourist Organisation, (v) Welfare of Scheduled Castes/Tribes and Backward Classes and (vi) preservation and translation of ancient manuscrpits. It does not seem feasible to make a Statewise comparison of the aggregate expenditure on these services. However, attention needs to be focussed only on welfare of Scheduled Castes/Tribes and Backward Our developmental programmes are being Classes. increasingly reoriented towards promotion of social In this context, the provision of additional justice. funds for Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and Backward Classes acquires special importance. Expenditure on other services under this head is either negligible or does not lend itself to equali-There is no uniformity of classification of sation. expenditure falling under Miscellaneous(71) and Miscellaneous Compensations and Assignments(76). The expenditure under Miscellaneous(71) covers a variety of purposes. The varying levels of expenditure under this head also reflects in a measure certain policies relatable to special difficulties confronted with by the States. Thus, for example, expenditure on food subsidy in Jammu & Kashmir figures under this

head. In some other States, payment of subsidies to electricity boards for rural electrification and other purposes is booked under this head. It will, therefore, be wholly inappropriate to seek uniformity in terms of expenditure among States under this head. We have, therefore, analysed the provisions indicated by the States under the head '71' on their own merits. The head "Miscellancous Compensations and Assignments" accommodates, among other things, grants and assignments of revenue to local bodies. Some of these grants are on a matching basis and, therefore, depend upon the resources raised by the local bodies themselves. Some taxes are levied and collected by the State Government on behalf of the local bodies and the consequential transfer of the proceeds of such taxes figures under this head. There is a wide range of variations in the organisational set up of the local bodies and the extent of delegation of powers to It will, therefore, be a futile and misleading them. exercise to seek to ensure uniformity between States in terms of provisions under this head. It may also be relevant to add here that the bulk of the grants to local bodies is under education, medical and public health and maintenance of roads. The wide disparities in grants-in-aid to local bodies for these purposes will be rectified in large measure under our other proposals.

9. The upshot of the foregoing discussion is that from the point of view of improvement of standards of administration in backward States, attention needs to be focussed only on the following heads of expenditure, both developmental and non-developmental:

- (i) "9-Land Revenue"
- (ii) "19-General Administration"
- (iii) "21-Administration of Justice"
- (iv) "22-Jails"
- (v) "23-Police"
- (vi) "28-Education"
- (vii) "29-Medical"
- (viii) "30-Public Health"
- (ix) "39-Miscellaneous Social and Developmental Organisations; Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and other Backward Classes."

10. General Administration is undoubtedly a sector in respect of which it is essential to analyse the levels of expenditure in different States with a view to ensuring a more liberal treatment to the backward States and enabling them to catch up with the rest. For this purpose, we thought it desirable to take a composite view of expenditure on revenue establishments under "9-Land Revenue" and "19-General Administration" as the two heads taken together provide a better indication of adequacy or otherwise of the general administrative set up of the States. Expenditure on stationery and printing serves the needs of all departments. It will be appropriate to club the expenditure under this comparatively minor head also with that of general administration for assessment of the additional requirements of backward States. In terms of per capita expenditure, eight States will be below the all-States average. These are Assam, Bihar, Gujarat, Kerala, Madhya Pradesh, Mysore, Uttar Pradesh and West Bengal. The standards of general administration in Gujarat are generally considered to be among the best in the country. Its level of expenditure is low perhaps because Gujarat has devolved responsibilities on local bodies at district, block and village levels to a significant extent. There may not, therefore, be any need to mark up the expenditure on general administration in the case of Gujarat; nor will such mark up have any significance as Gujarat does not qualify for a grant under Article 275 in view of its substantial revenue surplus.

11. An efficient police administration is an essential pre-requisite for effective maintenance of law and order and the creation of necessary conditions in which economic development can take place without serious set-backs. It is this consideration that led the Commission to devote considerable time to analysis of the requirements of the States for strengthening and modernisation of police force in the course of the discussions with the States. However, apart from Jammu have to be dealt & Kashmir, whose requirements with separately, only the following States have indicated specific provisions for reorganisation and modernisation of police force: (i) Andhra Pradesh-Rs. 24.7 crores; (ii) Madhya Pradesh-Rs. 69.2 crores (including Rs. 20.50 crores for police housing which should be accommodated on capital account); (iii) Orissa-Rs. 2 crores; and (iv) Uttar Pradesh-Rs 30.2 crores. It will obviously not be fair or proper to provide funds for modernisation of police force only in certain States leaving out the rest. Also the request for modernisation has to be assessed carefully with reference to the special problems facing each State, the general law and order position, proximity to border areas, extent of urbanisation and industrialisation. The availability of equipment on the scale entailed by the various proposals for modernisation formulated by States would also have to be carefully checked. We have, therefore, felt that modernisation should be left to be tackled as at present through a special programme administered by the Ministry of Home Affairs but with substantially larger financial allocation. The scheme is now being financed on the basis of 25 per cent grant and 75 per cent loan. We suggest that the present pattern should be liberalised and the grant component raised to 50 per cent.

12. Judged in terms of per capita expenditure, expenditure on Police in nine States, namely, Andhra Pradesh, Bihar, Haryana, Kerala, Madhya Pradesh, Mysore, Orissa, Tamil Nadu and Uttar Pradesh, is lower than the all-States average. Of these nine States, no special assistance to Tamil Nadu and Haryana may be necessary because the gaps to be covered in their case are small and the strength and effectiveness of the police force should be deemed adequate with reference to coverage of police stations and facilities available to them.

13. The expenditure under administration of justice is not significant in any State. The all-States average of per capita expenditure in 1978-79 reassessed by us would be Rs. 1.01. With reference to this average, eight States, namely, Andhra Pradesh, Assam, Bihar, Haryana, Madhya Pradesh, Orissa, Rajasthan and Uttar Pradesh, would need special assistance. In the case of Haryana, which does not qualify for a grant under Article 275, the mark up will be of only notional significance. The expenditure on jails is not very substantial in any State. Further, comparison among States is vitiated by the fact that in most States jails undertake commercial activities which have the effect of inflating both the receipts and expenditure. Any comparison of the per capita expenditure should, therefore, be made only with reference to the net expenditure after setting off the receipts. On this basis, all-States average for 1978-79 would be 65 Paise. With reference to this, nine States including Maharashtra and Gujarat, whose general level of expenditure is otherwise satisfactory, were below the all-States average, whereas in the case of Bihar, which is recognised as one of the most backward States, the per capita expenditure exceeded the all-States average.

14. Education is by far the most important social service in respect of which the need for bridging the differentials in standards among different States appears to be imperative. It would, however, not be appropriate to assess the requirements of the States with reference to the aggregate levels of expenditure on Education. The general complaint against the States has been that they have tended to spend relatively more on university education to the detriment of primary education. This charge would seem to be partially correct, when we compare State-wise figures of per capita expenditure on education as a whole and State-wise per capita figures on primary education. States like Punjab, Haryana, Rajasthan and West Bengal are above the all-States average in terms of aggregate expenditure on education while they are below the average in terms of expenditure on pri-mary education. The concept of equalisation can be validly applied only to primary education. In this sector, all States except Assam, Kerala, Gujarat, Tamil Nadu, Mysore and Maharashtra are below the average and additional funds need to be provided to raise the level of expenditure on primary education in the remaining States to all-States average. In the case of Punjab and Haryana, which do not qualify for grant under Article 275, the mark up of the provision under primary education would only mean that they would have to earmark a portion of the revenue surplus accruing to them for the purpose.

15. In regard to Medical and Public Health, we have indicated elsewhere the norms evolved by us for supply of medicine and hospital necessaries. The provision of funds to States on the basis of such norms would result in a significant upgradation of the quality of medical and public health services in the backward States. But, apart from medicines, the strength of medical and para medical staff has also an important bearing on the level of medical and public health care attained in a particular State. From this point of view, we have, therefore, looked at expenditure on medical and public health as a whole and have identified Andhra Pradesh, Assam, Bihar, Haryana, Madhya Pradesh, Mysore, Orissa and Uttar Pradesh as the States which are lower than the national average.

16. Our terms of reference envisage that the process of improvement of standards of administration in backward States should be so phased that they can reach the level obtaining in the more advanced States over a period of ten years. We have, therefore, applied our minds to the question whether the additional financial allocations, as estimated by us, for bringing the backward States upto all-States average should be spread over a period of ten years or only the five years falling within the period of our award. It is possible to argue that the process of equalisation can be deemed to be fully accomplished only when the backward States are brought up, in terms of per capita expenditure, to the average of the advanced States. We have, however, worked out the additional requirements of the States for the services indicated earlier only with reference to all-States average of expenditure on such services. In other words, our immediate

objective is a more limited one of providing additional funds to certain States to come up to a minimum which we have taken as the average of all States. We consider that this limited objective can, and should be achieved within five years, i.e. by 1978-79. Having, therefore, projected the provisions needed by all the States for the services indicated on the basis of different rates of growth indicated elsewhere, we have worked out the additional provisions needed by the backward States to come up to all-States average of expenditure as assessed for 1978-79. These requirements have been spread evenly over the five-year period of our award.

17. The additional amounts as assessed by us for improvement of standards of essential administrative and social services are set out below :

(Rs, crores)

Financial provision over the	e Fij	fth Plan p	period for	upgradution of
Standards	of	Administ	ration	

States						General Adminis- tration	Adminis- tration of Justice	Jails	Police	Primary Education	Medical and Public Health*	Welfare of Sche- duled Castes/ Tribes & Back- ward Classes	Total all Services
1						2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1. Uttar Pradesh		•				36.03	5.04	2.65	54.30	123.72	55.62	12.80	290.1
2. Bihar .						36.21	5.58		39.60	35.19	35.19	15.02	166.7
3. West Bengal						3.84		••		49.56	• •	18.83	72.23
4. Orissa						• •	2.04	0.79	11.88	27.60	7.35	7.40	57.06
5. Andhra Pradesh					•		0.27	2.61	20.37	15.54	13.83		52.62
6. Madhya Pradesl						12.27	1.62	1.88	3.99	7.38	18.51	4.69	50.34
7. Rajasthan .							1.77	1.31		11.31		13.04	27.43
8. Mysore						7.02		1.76	16.53	•••	1.14		26.45
9. Haryana							0.42	••	(1.11)	14.79	2.07	4.17	21,45
10. Assam						4.86	1.65			••	3.24	8.27	18.02
11. Punjab										7.02		6.92	13,94
12. Gujarat						(10.02)		2.56		• •		6.63	9,19
13. Kerala					-	1.92		0.77	3.84	••			6.53
14. Maharashtra							••	0.30				3.33	3.63
15. Tamil Nadu			•	•					(6.54)	• •			••
	Т	OTAL				J02.15	18.39	14.63	150.51	292.11	136.95	101.10	815.84

\*It relates to expenditure on items other than medicines and diet.

N.B.—Figures in brackets not included in total for the reasons indicated in paras 10 and 12 of this Chapter.

These amounts together with those provided for separately in regard to a typical States have been taken into account by us in the determination of grants-in-aid of the States under Article 275 of the Constitution.

18. The provision of additional funds may not by itself ensure that they would be utilised for the purposes which we have in view. There have been instances when the States, faced with constraint of resources, have diverted the provisions in the Plan for essential social services to other programmes. Having regard to the magnitude of the special help now being provided to them for improvement of certain essential services, it would be in the national interest to prescribe some arrangements for ensuring greater accountability on the part of the States for the funds provided to them. We outline briefly our suggestion in this regard in the Chapter on grants-in-aid.

# CHAPTER XIII FISCAL MANAGEMENT

Our terms of reference stipulate that in framing our proposals for grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States, we should have regard among other things to fiscal management and economy combined with efficiency in expenditure at the State level. Fiscal management is a multi dimensional concept. In the application of this concept to concrete situations, both qualitative and quantitative aspects deserve attention. Briefly stated, in assessing sound fiscal management one should have regard both to the manner in which the State has endeavoured to raise the resources needed for meeting its commitments and also the manner in which it has deployed the resources so raised so as to get the best possible results for the A review of fiscal manageexpenditure incurred. ment in this broad sense will call for a comprehensive and critical survey of the fiscal policies and administration of State Governments over a period of This is a task which is too difficult to undertime. take within the limited time at our disposal. A review of fiscal policies and administration is already being attempted in some measure on a continual by Audit and Public Accounts Committees basis under our Constitution. Since the advent of planning, the Planning Commission too has an opportunity of surveying from time to time the trends in revenues and expenditure of State Governments and more particularly their efforts at mobilisation of addiresources. Programme Evaluation Organisational tions at the Centre and their counter-parts in various forms at the States are also expected to play a part in focusing attention on areas of inefficiency in execution and shortfalls in achievement of results in relation to the resources deployed. While within the time at our disposal, it has not been possible to consider in depth issues relating to fiscal policies, ex-penditure control and quality of fiscal administration in general, during our visits to the States we invariably held discussions among others with Accountants General that enabled us to form a general judgement on the manner in which the State finances were being managed. We also obtained from Accountants General short summaries of the reports of the Public Accounts Committees for the last few years highlighting major financial irregularities and instances of infructuous expenditure. We would only like to observe that these discussions and the materials furnished to us have left us with the feeling that in many States the treasury and accounts organisations need to be considerably strengthened. In particular, arrangements have to be made without further delay for the more prompt and effective compilation and processing of data on receipts and expenditure. The considerable delays which we ourselves experienced in getting response to our requests for information on important points having a bearing on terms of reference such as for example number of employees, their distribution by pay ranges, norms for maintenance of capital assets and arrears of loans and revenue outstanding clearly point to the need for improvement of fiscal administration in many of the States. It is regrettable that we could not get even the preliminary actuals of revenues and expenditure for 1972-73 from some of the States primarily because the treasuries in the States had in turn failed to submit the monthly statements of accounts according to schedule. Some of the backward States will get additional resources in terms of our award for improvements of their standards of general administration. We would urge that some part of these additional resources should be devoted to the strengthening of financial and accounting organisations in the States without which neither sound planning nor fiscal discipline can be ensured.

2. We also noticed that in many of the States somewhat relaxed attitudes in regard to recovery of loans and tax arrears have been allowed to develop over a period of time. If these attitudes are allowed to persist, fiscal discipline will suffer an irretrievable set back. In reassessing the forecasts of receipts furnished by the State Governments, we have assumed recovery of arrears of revenues and loans to a reasonable extent.

3. A special aspect of fiscal management that arises for consideration is whether the State Governments have exerted themselves to a reasonable extent in raising resources from the sources allocated to them under the Constitution. The Fifth Finance Commission sought to measure the tax performance of the States on the basis of the ratio of per capita revenue to per capita income of the States and the same methodology was also followed by the Planning Commission in determining the tax efforts of the States for distribution of a portion of Central Assistance for State Plans. We devoted some Assistance for State Plans. We devoted some thought to the question of further refinement of the methodology followed by the Fifth Finance Commission and evolving certain criteria for determining the relative tax performance of the States. But we have given up the effort on the practical consideration that the application of a formula based on relative tax effort, however designed, would place at a disadvantage some of the States faced with big gaps on non-Plan revenue accounts. To leave such gaps uncovered on the ground of their poor tax perfor-mance, however defensible on theoretical considerations, would jeopardise maintenance of essential administrative and social services for want of adequate resources. States, both advanced and backward, which have done better than the average at resource mobilisation might feel aggrieved that their efforts have not received recognition. But, if in the determination of the principles of Central assistance for

Our terms of reference stipulate that in framing our proposals for grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States, we should have regard among other things to fiscal management and economy combined with efficiency in expenditure at the State level. Fiscal management is a multi dimensional concept. In the application of this concept to concrete situations, both qualitative and quantitative aspects deserve attention. Briefly stated, in assessing sound fiscal management one should have regard both to the manner in which the State has endeavoured to raise the resources needed for meeting its commitments and also the manner in which it has deployed the resources so raised so as to get the best possible results for the A review of fiscal manageexpenditure incurred. ment in this broad sense will call for a comprehensive and critical survey of the fiscal policies and administration of State Governments over a period of This is a task which is too difficult to undertime. take within the limited time at our disposal. A review of fiscal policies and administration is already being attempted in some measure on a continual by Audit and Public Accounts Committees basis under our Constitution. Since the advent of planning, the Planning Commission too has an opportunity of surveying from time to time the trends in revenues and expenditure of State Governments and more particularly their efforts at mobilisation of additional resources. Programme Evaluation Organisations at the Centre and their counter-parts in various forms at the States are also expected to play a part in focusing attention on areas of inefficiency in execution and shortfalls in achievement of results in relation to the resources deployed. While within the time at our disposal, it has not been possible to consider in depth issues relating to fiscal policies, expenditure control and quality of fiscal administration in general, during our visits to the States we invariably held discussions among others with Accountants General that enabled us to form a general judgement on the manner in which the State finances were being managed. We also obtained from Accountants General short summaries of the reports of the Public Accounts Committees for the last few years highlighting major financial irregularities and instances of infructuous expenditure. We would only like to observe that these discussions and the materials furnished to us have left us with the feeling that in many States the treasury and accounts organisations need to be considerably strengthened. In particular, arrangements have to be made without further delay for the more prompt and effective compilation and processing of data on receipts and expenditure. The considerable delays which we ourselves experienced in getting response to our requests for information on important points having a bearing on terms of reference such as for example number of employees, their distribution by pay ranges, norms for maintenance of capital assets and arrears of loans and revenue outstanding clearly point to the need for improvement of fiscal administration in many of the States. It is regrettable that we could not get even the preliminary actuals of revenues and expenditure for 1972-73 from some of the States primarily because the treasuries in the States had in turn failed to submit the monthly statements of accounts according to schedule. Some of the backward States will get additional resources in terms of our award for improvements of their standards of general administration. We would urge that some part of these additional resources should be devoted to the strengthening of financial and accounting organisations in the States without which neither sound planning nor fiscal discipline can be ensured.

2. We also noticed that in many of the States somewhat relaxed attitudes in regard to recovery of loans and tax arrears have been allowed to develop over a period of time. If these attitudes are allowed to persist, fiscal discipline will suffer an irretrievable set back. In reassessing the forecasts of receipts furnished by the State Governments, we have assumed recovery of arrears of revenues and loans to a reasonable extent.

3. A special aspect of fiscal management that arises for consideration is whether the State Governments have exerted themselves to a reasonable extent in raising resources from the sources allocated to them under the Constitution. The Fifth Finance Commission sought to measure the tax performance of the States on the basis of the ratio of per capita revenue to per capita income of the States and the same methodology was also followed by the Planning Commission in determining the tax efforts of the States for distribution of a portion of Central Assistance for State Plans. We devoted some thought to the question of further refinement of the methodology followed by the Fifth Finance Commission and evolving certain criteria for determining the relative tax performance of the States. But we have given up the effort on the practical consideration that the application of a formula based on relative tax effort, however designed, would place at a disadvantage some of the States faced with big gaps on non-Plan revenue accounts. To leave such gaps uncovered on the ground of their poor tax performance, however defensible on theoretical considerations, would jeopardise maintenance of essential administrative and social services for want of adequate resources. States, both advanced and backward, which have done better than the average at resource mobilisation might feel aggrieved that their efforts have not received recognition. But, if in the determination of the principles of Central assistance for

16. Our terms of reference envisage that the process of improvement of standards of administration in backward States should be so phased that they can reach the level obtaining in the more advanced States over a period of ten years. We have, therefore, applied our minds to the question whether the additional financial allocations, as estimated by us, for bringing the backward States upto all-States average should be spread over a period of ten years or only the five years falling within the period of our award. It is possible to argue that the process of equalisation can be deemed to be fully accomplished only when the backward States are brought up, in terms of per capita expenditure, to the average of the advanced States. We have, however, worked out the additional requirements of the States for the services indicated earlier only with reference to all-States average of expendi-ture on such services. In other words, our immediate objective is a more limited one of providing additional funds to certain States to come up to a minimum which we have taken as the average of all States. We consider that this limited objective can, and should be achieved within five years, i.e. by 1978-79. Having, therefore, projected the provisions needed by all the States for the services indicated on the basis of different rates of growth indicated elsewhere, we have worked out the additional provisions needed by the backward States to come up to all-States average of expenditure as assessed for 1978-79. These requirements have been spread evenly over the five-year period of our award.

17. The additional amounts as assessed by us for improvement of standards of essential administrative and social services are set out below :

(Rs. crores)

Financial provision over the Fifth Plan period for upgradation of Standards of Administration

	States						General Adminis- tration	Adminis- tration of Justice	Jails	Police	Primary Education	Medical and Public Health*	Welfare of Sche- duled Castes/ Tribes & Back- ward Classes	Total all Services
	1			- i. — — .			2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1.	Uttar Pradesh	-	·			·	36.03	5.04	2.65	54.30	123.72	55,62	12.80	290.1
	Bihar .		•				36.21	5.58	••	39.60	35.19	35.19	15.02	166.7
	West Bengal						3.84	••			49.56	••	18.83	72.23
	Orissa .							2.04	0.79	11.88	27.60	7.35	7.40	57, <b>0</b> 6
	Andhra Pradesh						••	0.27	2.61	20.37	15.54	13.83		52.62
	Madhya Pradesh						12.27	1.62	1.88	3.99	7.38	18.51	4.69	50.34
	Rajasthan .							1.77	1.31	••	11.31		13.04	27.43
	Mysore .						7.02		1.76	16.53		1.14	••	26.45
	Haryana .							0.42	••	(1.11)	14.79	2.07	4.17	21,45
	Assam .	Ì					4,86	1.65				3.24	8.27	18.02
	Punjab .										7.02		6.92	13.94
	Gujarat .				÷	÷	(10.02)		2.56				6.63	9,19
	Kerala .						1.92		0.77	3.84				6.53
	Maharashtra	•	•	•				••	0.30				3.33	3.63
	Tamil Nadu	÷		•	÷			••		(6.54)	۰.			
			TOTAL				102.15	18.39	14.63	150.51	292.11	136.95	101.10	815.84

\*It relates to expenditure on items other than medicines and diet.

N.B.—Figures in brackets not included in total for the reasons indicated in paras 10 and 12 of this Chapter.

These amounts together with those provided for separately in regard to a typical States have been taken into account by us in the determination of grants-in-aid of the States under Article 275 of the Constitution.

18. The provision of additional funds may not by itself ensure that they would be utilised for the purposes which we have in view. There have been instances when the States, faced with constraint of resources, have diverted the provisions in the Plan for essential social services to other programmes. Having regard to the magnitude of the special help now being provided to them for improvement of certain essential services, it would be in the national interest to prescribe some arrangements for ensuring greater accountability on the part of the States for the funds provided to them. We outline briefly our suggestion in this regard in the Chapter on grants-in-aid. the Plan, some weightage is given for the relative efforts of the States at mobilisation of revenues, as was done at the time of the formulation of the Fourth Plan, the grievance of such States would be substantially met.

4. With the increasing investments in irrigation and power projects and road transport undertakings, pon-tax revenues in the form of interest receipts and dividends should be expected to become increasingly important in State finances. We have, therefore, made a detailed review of the working results of these major projects in different States and sought to stipulate certain minimum standards of performance.

#### FINANCIAL RESULTS OF STATE ELECTRICITY BOARDS

5. Schemes for generation and distribution of power have absorbed no less than 15 per cent of the outlays on State Plans in recent years. The investment in power projects as at the end of 1973-74 is estimated at well over Rs. 5000 erores. The loans advanced by State Governments to Electricity Boards would also have risen by the end of 1973-74 to about 3225 erores. The need for ensuring high level of efficiency in the selection, execution and management of power projects so as to secure reasonable return on the massive investments made in them cannot, therefore, be overtemphasised.

6. The question of prescribing certain minimum rates of return on investments in power projects has been engaging the attention of the Planning Commission and the State Governments in the last decade. The Venkataraman Committee which made a review of the working results of State Electricity Boards urged that a phased programme should be drawn up for attaining a minimum return of 11 per cent on capital invested after meeting all working expenses and depreciation. In the course of negotiations with the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development for loans for certain transmission projects in the middle sixtics, the issue of prescribing a norm of 11 per cent return on capital invested according to a phased programme again came up for consideration. In this connection, the State Electricity Boards also gave an undertaking that they would achieve a return of 11 per cent by certain stipulated dates. These dead-lines have already been passed. The Fourth Finance Commission felt that the State Governments should realise their interest dues excluding interest on fresh loans to be made in the Fourth Plan period and estimated the States' resources ac-The Fifth Finance Commission also ascordingly. sumed that the State Governments should be able to realise in full interest charges on loans advanced by them to the State Electricity Boards except in the case of Assam and Rajasthan.

7. Despite this all round awareness of the need to achieve certain minimum rates of return on investments made in power projects, the working results of State Electricity Boards, far from registering any improvement, have suffered further set back during the current Plan period. The forecasts furnished by

the State Governments point to no significant improvement in the standards of performance of State Electricity Boards in financial terms in the Fifth Plan Boards in many a Electricity Taking all State Electricity while their revenue receipts from Rs. 387 Boards period. would logether, crores nave increased from in 1969-70 to Rs. 692 crores in 1973-74 reflecting the growth in generation and sale of power and reviand of tariff, their net surplus, after setting on revenue expenditure and obligatory transfers to depreciation fund, would have declined from 4.2 per cent to 3.3 per cent on the capital base. The rate of return will more or less be of the same order during the foreeast period. It may well register further erosion, if the assumptions made by State Government about trends in revenue receipts and expenditure go awry.

8. It is to be conceded that the set back in the financial position of the State Electricity Boards has been partly due to causes beyond their control. Mention may be made in this connection of increases in costs on account of actors such as wage awards and increase in cost of raw materials, fuel and replacements. the applied costs of new projects have also outstripbad, by a very substantial margin, the estimated costs. Inadequate investigations, changes in specifications and, in certain cases, even a measure of deliberate underestimation of original costs have been responsible for this phenomenon. There are also certain other factors related to our national economic policies, which impair the profitability of State Electricity Boards. Mention may be made of the high cost of indigenisation of equipment. Thermal stations are now increasingly constrained to use lower grades of coal, as the higher grades with lower ash content are costlier and are reserved for production of steel. The emphasis, in recent years, on the utilisation of groundwater resources for irrigation and the growing urge for provision of certain basic amenities in rural areas have led to a significant step up in the programmes for rural electrification. While at the beginning of the Fourth Plan, there were about 75,000 villages to which power had been extended, by the end of the Plan about 1.5 lekh: of villages would have the benefit of power supply. In other words, the number of electrified villages would have doubled in the course of five years. The progress in terms of energisation of pump sets has even been more striking. As against a little over one million pump sets connected to power at the commencement of the Fourth Plan, over 2.5 million pump sets would have been energised by the end of the Fourth Plan under the various programmes now under way. While this impressive spread of rural electrification is wholly desirable, the present tariff policies entail losses which would increase with the growing use of electricity for lift irrigation. There is a very wide gap between the cost of power at the point of delivery to agricultural consumers and the actual rate charged to the consumers.

9. Among the other factors contributing to the deterioration in the financial position of State Electricity Boards, one cannot overlook the serious losses of energy in the transmission and distribution of power. In many States, transmission losses range from 20 to 27 per cent as against only 15 per cent or so which can

be considered normal. In the course of our discussions with representatives of State Governments, some of them conceded that a small part of what is euphemistically called 'transmission losses' may be due to outright theft of power. Energetic and purposeful action needs to be taken to arrest the present trend of transmission losses. Our estimates reveal that a saving of even one per cent in transmission losses will mean an aditional revenue of the order of Rs. 8.5 crores per annum at the present level of generation of power.

10. The poor working results of Electricity Boards are reflected in the budgets of State Governments in the form of default, in full or in part, in payment of interest on loans advanced by State Governments. The total arrears of interest due from Electricity Boards stood at Rs. 280 crores at the end of 1971-72 and would have risen to nearly Rs. 400 crores by the end of 1973-74. The Commission is distressed to note that some of the State Electricity Boards arc not in a position to meet even the obligatory transfers to Depreciation Reserve Fund. Some States-Uttar Pradesh, Orissa and Rajasthan-seem to be recovering in full interest payments on loans given to the Boards while their Boards are not in a position to meet such payments. This, in turn, has led the Boards to curtail their transfers to the Depreciation Reserve Fund. The forecasts made available to us by the States show that the operating surplus of some of the State Electricity Boards, after the statutory transfers to Depreciation Fund, will not be adequate to meet even the interest on open market loans and loans from financial institutions. As a Commission charged with the responsibility for looking into the quality of fiscal management at State level, we cannot but view with extreme concern some of the present trends in the functioning of State Electricity Boards. It is not enough to stop with the exhortation that these trends should be reversed and suitable remedial action should be taken. It is also absolutely essential to build into our scheme of devolution suitable deterrents against the continued poor performance of State Electricity Boards. We feel strongly that unless some minimum returns are laid down in respect of investments made in power projects, and are strictly enforced, the present drift will continue with serious consequences for the health of our economy. At the same time, we recognise that the norms proposed should be realistic and be capable of realisation within the period of our award. The return of 11 per cent suggested by the Venkataraman Committee and also agreed to by the States in the course of negotiations for loans from the World Bank would appear to be unattainable for the present. But there is no reason why action should not be taken immediately to raise the levels of tariff and improve operational efficiency so as to secure a minimum return of at least 6 per cent on the loans advanced to State Electricity Boards and outstanding at the end of 1973-74. Strictly speaking, this norm should be made applicable also to additional loan assistance, which the State Governments propose to extend to the Electricity Boards during the Fifth Plan period. But information made available by States on the fresh loans to be advanced during 1974-79 is incomplete. It may not be fair on our part to make any assessment on our own of the quantum of loan assistance likely to be extended to the

State Electricity Boards, as the State Plans and the cutlays for development of power are yet to be determined on a firm basis. In computing the interest receipts of the State Governments on the basis of norms laid down by us, we, therefore, proposed to leave out of account fresh loans from the State Governments to the Electricity Boards during the period 1974-75 to 1978-79. If, however, any State should be in a position to recover interest on such fresh loans, such receipts will be available to them for financing the Plan. As indicated earlier, the default of the State Electricity Boards in payment of interest due from them would result in accummulation of arrears to the extenst of nearly Rs. 400 crores at the end of 1973-In the light of the general financial picture of 74 the Electricity Boards now before us, it will be highly unrealistic to assume recovery of arrears to any extent. Even the recovery of current dues would call for determined action on the part of State Governments and Electricity Boards. Further, we should remember that the Fifth Finance Commission had assumed full recovery of interest in all States except Rajasthan and Assam during the period of their award. To the extent that the States had failed to secure returns upto the norms laid down by Finance Commission, they possibly have already paid the penalty in terms of smaller Plan outlays. To assume recovery of past arrears of interest for our present assessment of the needs of the States might be construed as inflicting on them a double penalty. We have, therefore, left the arrears of interest out of account in our estimation of the resources of the State Governments for the forecast period 1974-79.

11. It has been urged before us by some State Governments that the preponderance of thermal capacity in their grids adversely affects the average cost of generation of power, the operating costs of thermal plants being significantly higher than those of hydel plants. They have, therefore, pleaded for an element of concession for thermal plants in the norms that may be prescribed. The cost of generation of thermal power is undoubtedly higher than that of hydel power. We, therefore, fell that in respect of thermal capacity the rate of return would admit of some reduction. Keeping this in view, we have allocated the loans advanced by the State Governments to the State Electricity Boards and outstanding at the end of 1973-74 between thermal capacity and hydel capacity on pro-rata basis. We have assumed recovery of interest at 5 per cent on the loans allocated to thermal capacity and 6 per cent on hydel.

12. The rates of interest charged by the State Governments on the loans advanced to the State Electricity Boards vary. Some States charge concessional rates on certain types of loans such as those for rural electrification. In the interests of uniform treatment, we have considered it desirable to reassess the interest due to State Governments on an identical basis—5 per cent in respect of loans allocable to thermal capacity and 6 per cent in respect of hydel.

13. Some of the State Governments have also contended before us that the locking up of capital in works under construction is one of the major factors contributing to the default of State Electricity

Boards in payment of interest charges in full. Prima facie this argument has some validity. The need to pay interest on loans taken for projects even during the period of construction does impose a serious burden on Electricity Boards. But, as against this, we should recognise that a price has to be paid for capital. The large investment in works under construction is an index of the considerable potential for development of power in the State and there is no reason why such States should get a concessional Also, capital under construction covers treatment. such elements as inventories and the waiver of interest on inventories may only promote greater inefliciency in management of materials and stores. The present tendency on the part of some of the States to take up a large number of projects and to spread the available resources too thinly over them needs also to be kept in check. Having regard to these considerations, the Members of the Commission, except Dr. Gulati, feel that there will be no justification to draw any distinction between capital invested in completed works and capital invested in works under construction for purposes of recovery of interest.

14 Dr. Gulati feels, however, that there is considerable substance in the plea made before us for drawing a distinction between capital invested in completed works and that locked up in works under construction for purposes of requiring the recovery of interest on a uniform basis for all the States. He is of the view that it is necessary in this regard to take into account the fact that the proportion of capital invested in works in progress to total investment in electricity schemes is far from uniform and in fact ranges widely from 7.98 per cent for Tamil Nadu to 60.79 per cent for Jammu and Kashmir. Not to make the above distinction will, he feels, place the States with relatively higher proportion of capital locked up in works in progress at a disadvantage compared to others in fulfilling the norms we are laying down for the recovery of interest.

15. We have carefully examined the question whether any concessional treatment is called for in respect of capital investment in rural electrification programmes. The recognition of a lower rate of return on loans advanced or deemed to have been adelectrification programmes may vanced for rural benefit unduly States which have already forged ahead in rural electrification. Agricultural tariff in most States are also palpably low and the losses currently being incurred on rural electrification are thus in the nature of concealed subsidies. Even granting for the sake of argument that rural electrification can never be fully remunerative and should, therefore, be given subsidies, it is only fair that the burden of this subsidy should be borne by the general tax payer of the State concerned and not be shifted to the national exchequer. Some of the State Governments have provided in their forecasts for payment of subsidy to Electricity Boards for such purposes as rural electrification, supply of power to energy-intensive industries, supply of power to backward areas at concessional rates, etc. In the interests of uniformity of treatment, we have thought it fit to exclude all such

subsidies in our assessment of the financial needs of the States.

16. It will be recalled that the Fifth Finance Commission has shown some concession in favour of Assam and Rajasthan in view of the special difficulties in their operating systems. We have examined carefully the question whether similar concessional treatment would be warranted in respect of these or other States. We do not find that the working results of State Electricity Boards of Assam, Jammu and Kashmir and Rajasthan provide conclusive evidence of any special disabilities that need to be taken note of. We have given full recognition to the several special problems faced by these States in determining grants-in-aid. We have also extended to them a generous measure of debt relief. We are of the view that such explicit assistance to States facing special difficulties is far more desirable than any indirect help such as recognition of lower rates of return on investments in power projects or other remunerative enterprises would imply. It is essential not to weaken the will of these States to strive for and achieve better results in the power sector.

17. The levy of Electricity Duty/Tax on sale or consumption of electricity introduces some complication in the prescription of norms for recovery of interest on loans advanced by the State Governments to the Electricity Boards. The levy of Electricity Duty, it may be argued, limits the scope for revision of tariffs by Electricity Boards and to that extent also reduces the operating surplus out of which interest is payable. Some of the State Governments-Andhra Pradesh and Himachal Pradesh-do not levy any Tamil duty on consumption/sale\_of\_\_electricity. Nadu, which was till 1970-71 levying duty on all categories of consumers of electricity, withdrew it in respect of certain classes of consumers and merged it with the tariff. Other States levy electricity duty but at varying rates. Parity of treatment among demands that prescription of norms for re-States covery of interest does not place at a disadvantage States which are now raising considerable revenue in the form of taxes on sale/consumption of electri-The revenues realised as Electricity Duty city. should be set off against the interest due according to the norms prescribed by us so that revenue from Electricity Duty and interest from Electricity Board might together make up the interest stipulated as the minimum to be recovered from Electricity Boards.

18. The Electricity Duty is now being levied not merely on units generated within a State but also on units bought from other States. To set off the whole of the proceeds from the Electricity Duty against interest due from Electricity Board may not be quite proper because there is no loan assistance corresponding to units purchased from other States. We have, therefore, allocated, with reference to the information available with us, the receipts from Electricity Duty proportionately between units generated within the States and units bought from outside and set off only the Electricity Duty ascribable to 'own' generation against interest due. As we are determining the interest liability with reference to loans out-standing at the end of 1973-74, we have thought it appropriate to set off against the interest due accruals from Electricity Duty only at the levels reached in 1973-74.

19. Some of the State Governments are also executing power projects departmentally. It is essential to ensure that reasonable returns are secured on such direct investments also. While reassessing the forecasts of receipts and expenditure furnished by the State Governments, we have assumed returns on these direct investments at the same rates as prescribed by us in respect of loans to Electricity Boards. However, the Commission, having regard to the special features of generation and transmission of power in Manipur, Nagaland and Tripura, felt that it would be unrealistic to expect these States to recover interest on their investments in Power Schemes during the forecast period. Nonetheless, we see no reason why they should not cover fully their working expenses.

56

20. Government of Mysore have set up a Power Corporation, which has been charged with the responsibility of execution of certain power projects. We have considered it appropriate to assume recovery of interest at 6 per cent on the loans advanced by the Government of Mysore to the Power Corporation.

21. We are fully aware that the recovery of interest up to the norms indicated by us in earlier paragraphs would call for considerable effort both by way of revision of tariff and improvement of operational efficiency of Electricity Boards. The State-ment below, which shows State-wise the loans ad-vanced to Electricity Boards and expected to be outstanding at the end of 1973-74 and the interest recoverable from State Electricity Boards, according to the norms stipulated by us, highlights the corrective action that needs to be taken by the State Governments either through revision of tariff or improvement of operational efficiency of Electricity Boards or both.

(Rs. crores)

States								Loans ad- vanced by State Go- vernments and estima- ted to be outstanding at the end of 1973-74	according to norms	Receipts from Elec- tricity Duty (as in the fore- cast) during 1974-79, attributable to own generation*	taken credit for in the forecast of	"Mark up" of the esti- mates of receipts of interest considered necessary in the light of our norms
1								2	3	4	5	6
1. Andhra Pradesh .	•						•	214.70	55.90	Nil	34.69	+21.21
2. Assam				•	•			73.76	20.82	1.50	Nil	+19.32
3. Bihar								180.87	46,01	27.00	Nil	+19.01
4. Gujarat								167.57	41.89	35.15	46.53	Nil
5. Haryana		•						166.99	48.83	7,80	7.62	+33.41
6. Himachal Pradesh								33.89	10.17	Nil	4.29	+5.88
7. Jammu & Kashmir								83.81	24.90	0.95	Nil	+23.95
8. Kerala								157.06	47.12	11.25	5.08	+30.79
9. Madhya Pradesh		•						184.46	48.53	22.85	31.30	Nil
10. Maharashtra								268.21	67.13	82.80	40.81	Nil
11. Mysore			•					54.86	16.46	7.05	Nil	+9.41
12. Orissa.								76.36	20.38	18.00	12.39	Nil
13. Punjab		•						304.68	88.75	15.75	Nil	+73.00
14. Rajasthan								182.19	52.49	2.70	7.32	+42.47
15. Tamil Nadu								246.62	71.51	8.90	27,95	+34.66
16. Uttar Pradesh	•							757.48	205.73	23.94	127.36	+54.43
17. West Bengal .			•					72.04	18.62	43.45		••
Total								. 32,25.55	8,85.24	3,90.09	3,45.34	+3,67.54

\*Computed in the manner indicated in para 18.

\*\*Adjusted for subsidies being paid.

22. Likewise, the following table shows the net receipts envisaged for 1974-79 by State Governments under Electricity Schemes run departmentally and the returns that should be obtained according to the norms laid down by us :

States		ted by OU State ing Govern- no ments in do	orked t accord- to rms laid wn by us 74-79
1. Andhra Pradesh	Gross Receipts Working Expenses Interest charges Net Receipts	18.25 ↓ () 7.65 ∫ () 29.70 ( () 19.10	24.59 -) 24.59 Nil
2. Maharash- tra	Gross Receipts Working Expenses Interest charges Net Receipts	46.25 () 0.70 (  45.55	46.25 -) 0.70  45.55
3. Orissa	Gross Receipt Working Expenses Interest charges Net Receipts	3.59 () 2.50 (- () 0.88 (- 0.21	
4. Manipur	Gross receipts Working Expenses Interest charges Net Receipts	$ \begin{array}{c} 8.65 \\ () & 10.93 \\ () & 3.16 \end{array} \right\} $	Nil Nil Nil
5. Nagaland	Gross Receipts Working Expenses Interest charges Net Receipts	1.69 ↓ () 3.19 ∫ Nil () 1.50	Nil Nil. Nil
6. Tripura	Gross Receipts Working Expenses Interest charges Net Receipts	9.67 ↓ (→) 13.23 ∫ (→) 3.37 (→) 6.93	Nil Nil* Nil

\*In the case of these States the Commission has assumed recovery of only Working Expenses in view of their special problems in generation and distribution.

23. By the end of 1973-74, Government of Mysore would have advanced loans to the extent of Rs. 96.82 crores to the Power Corporation. In estimating the revenues of the Government of Mysore for the forecast period, we have assumed recovery of interest by them of Rs. 29.05 crores at 6 per cent of the loans outstanding against the Power Corporation.

24. The mark-up of interest receipts State-wise will be reduced to the figures indicated in the table below, if Dr. Gulati's suggestion referred to earlier is accepted.

States			"Mark-up" of interest receipts considered necessary on the basis of loans-attri- butable to completed works only	Consequ- ential relief to States as compared to norms prescribed by the majority o the Commis- sion
1			2	3
1. Andhara Pradesh			+11.89	9.32
2. Assam			+16.76	2.56
3. Bihar		-	+7.74	11.27
4. Gujarat			Nil	
5. Haryana			+12.61	20.80
6. Himachal Pradesh .			+0.80	5,08
7. Jammu & Kashmir.			+8.82	15.13
8. Kerala			+13.56	17.23
9. Madhya Pradesh			Nil	
10. Maharashtra			Nil	
11. Mysore			+ 9.41	
12. Orissa	-		Nil	
13. Punjab			+30.75	42.25
14. Rajasthan			+29.79	12.68
15. Tamil Nadu .			+28.94	5.72
16. Uttar Pradesh	,		+19.33	35.10
17. West Bengal			Nil	
TOTAL .	•		+190.40	177.14

As regards electricity schemes run departmentally, Dr. Gulati's suggestion will ensure a relief of Rs. 13.40 crores for Andhra Pradesh, *i.e.* the contraentry interest receipts of Rs. 24.59 crores taken credit for in our reassessment will be reduced to Rs. 11.19 crores and there will be a corresonpding increase in the States' overall deficit on revenue account and the grants-in-aid under Article 275. In regard to loans to Mysore Power. Corporation the conera-entry interest receipts amounting to Rs. 29.05 crores taken credit for in our reassessment will be reduced to Rs. 15.89 crores which will reduce the overall surplus on revenue account of the State by Rs. 13.16 crores.

25. In laying down certain minimum norms of performance on the part of State Electricity Boards, we have been guided by the consideration that a time bound programme of action for revision of tariff and orf implementation of other measures to improve the working results of State Electricity Boards may not fructify unless suitable financial deterrents are evolved. It is necessary to ensure that the pressure on State Government to enforce certain minimum standards of performance on the part of Electricity Boards is not in any way weakened through *ad hoc* expedients such as special accommodation. States qualifying for grants under Article 275 will immediately feel the impact of our assumptions of minimum returns on Ioans advanced to State Electricity Boards and on direct

(Rs. crores)

investments in electricity projects. But so far as surplus States are concerned, our assumptions will only have the effect of reducing the surplus on non-Plan account, which they could otherwise have utilised for purposes of the Plan. Whatever additional revenues that the State Governments or the Electricity Boards are able to raise by way of revision of tariff, is now treated as part of their additional tax effort for the Plan. It is true that conceptually revision of tariff of public enterprises has the same effect as additional taxation. But we have reason to fear that this approach has fostered the wrong notion that while the gap in resources arising from the failure of States to secure reasonable returns on power and other projects should be made good by devolution or grants-in-aid from the Centre, whatever action may be taken for getting larger returns from such projects should rank as additional tax effort for the Plan. A complete reorientation of this outlook is called for. We would, therefore, urge that the measures needed to be taken by the State Governments to realise the minimum returns from power projects envisaged by us should not be deemed to be part of their additional tax effort. In other words, in addition to whatever target of taxation that may be laid down for purposes of State Plans, the State should be required to achieve the norms we have suggested for Electricity Boards.

26. We would also like to refer to the tendency brought to our notice on the part of some of the Central Ministries to exert pressure on the State Governments and their Electricity Boards to extend concessional tariff for certain energy-intensive industries. We concede that power-intensive industries may call for specially negotiated favourable rates and that under certain circumstances it may be advantageous to State Governments and their Electricity Boards, to concede special rates to large projects sponsored by the Central Government. But we would like to urge very strongly that the Government of India should not overlook the need to assure certain minimum returns on the investments made by the State Electricity Boards in arriving at a settlement about power tariff for such big projects. Even making al-lowance for some benefits in the form of inter-State sales-tax, additional employment and the like accruing to the States concerned from the location of such big Central projects, it has been stressed that the States concerned, some of them economically backward, are not the only beneficiaries of such industrial projects sponsored by the Centre. Often the Centre and other economically advanced States benefit more from increased production of products such as aluminium for which favourable tariff is sought. It would, therefore, be highly inequitable to expect the States where such projects are located to bear the full burden of supply of cheap power. In all such cases involving supply of concessional power by State Government to Central industrial projects, the larger aspects of securing reasonable return from power projects should not be lost sight of.

# Losses on Major and Minor Irrigation works in the State.

27. Irrigation projects rank next only to schemes for generation and transmission of power in terms of

capital investment. The investment in major and medium irrigation projects, expenditure on which is debited to "98-Capital Outlay on Multi-purpose River Valley Schemes" and "99-Capital Outlay on Irriga-tion, Navigation and Embankment Work (Commer-cial)", is estimated to be of the order of Rs. 3,500 crores at the end of 1973-74. State-wise details of cumulative capital outlay on major and medium irrigation projects at the end of 1971-72 and as esti-mated at the end of 1973-74, are furnished in Table 5(a) in Appendix IX. The bulk of this investment has been made since the comencement of planning in the country. The outlays on irrigation projects would account of approximately 16 per cent of the aggre-gate outlays of the State Plan by the end of 1973-74. The era of planning which has witnessed phenomenal increase in investment in irrigation projects has, however, been unfortunately marked by sharp and progressive deterioration in the working results of irrigation projects. As against a marginal loss of only Rs. 58 lakhs in 1950-51, State Governments sustained a loss of nearly Rs. 150 crores on major and medium irrigation projects n 1971-72. In that eyar except for Andhra Pradesh, Haryana and Punjab, no other State was able to cover even the working expenses from receipts by way of water charges. Ac-cording to the forecasts furnished by the State Gov-ernments to us, Gujarat, Madyha Pradesh and Rajas-than alone would be able to meet their working expenses, while in all other States the receipts would fall short of even working expenses, let alone recovery of interest charges. Taking all States together, the aggregate loss on irrigation projects including interest charges, as projected during the Fifth Plan period, would be well over Rs. 1,000 cores.

28. Decline in net receipt from irrigation works attracted the notice of the Second Finance Commission, which considered t "a disturbing feature of the revenue position of most States." The Commission also ap-prehended that with the completion of some of the projects by the end of the Second Plan period, their impact on the revenue budget of the States would cause anxiety. The Third Finance Commission also viewed with concern the losses on irrigation projects and the reluctance of the States to increase water rates or collect betterment levies. The reports of these two Commissions do not, however, indicate that the losses on account of irrigation projects were left out of account in the assessment of the budgetary gaps of the States. The Fifth Finance Commission took the stand that the losses on account of irrigation projects should be contained within certain stipulated limits. The Commission saw no reason why public sources of irrigation should not be so managed as to avoid at least losses, when very large numbers of agriculturists were incurring higher costs in obtaining water from private sources. While working out the entitlements to grants-in-aid of revenues of the States the Commission therefore assumed that "within the next five years' it will be possible for the State Governments to take steps to improve the returns for covering working expenses and interest charges at  $2\frac{1}{2}$  per cent per annum on the investments in all irrigation projects."

29. An improvement in working results of irrigation projects can be secured, not through any economy in expenditure on maintenance, but only through enhancement of the present level of receipts. The Irri-gation Commission found that water rates in vogue were a mere fraction of the value of the produce of the area receiving irrigation. The results of the study made by them for the two main crops, viz. rice and wheat are reproduced in Table 5(b) in Appendix IX of our report. It will be seen therefrom that the water rates for rice vary between 1.2 per cent to 2.4 per cent of the value of produce in Uttar Pradesh to about 7 per cent in Bihar. As for wheat, the water rates in terms of the value of produce vary from 0.9 per cent in part of Uttar Pradesh to 4.4 per cent in Gujarat. Irrigation projects have entailed large draft on the scarce resources of the community. The beneficiaries of the projects are easily identifiable. Hence it is imperative to fix water rates at reasonable levels so as to eliminate recurring subsidies of a substantial nature from the general budget.

30. The losses on irrigation projects as indicated in the forecasts furnished to us cannot, therefore, be

conceded in full. Some norms have to be laid down for containing the losses on irrigation projects if they cannot altogether be eliminated. While it is reasonable to insist that the massive investments in irrigation projects should yield a minimum return over and above maintenance charges, we recognise that the norms prescribed should be realistic. Our estimates show that if a net return of even  $2\frac{1}{2}$  per cent is to be secured, as envisaged by the last Finance Commission, the States will have to raise additional resources of the order of Rs. 619 crores, if expenses on maintenance of irrigation works are to be incurred at the levels projected by them. Efforts of this magnitude may seem unrealistic. We, therefore, feel that the immediate objective for the States should be to ensure that at least the maintenance charges on major and medium irrigation projects are fully covered. The forecasts of working expenses, as furnished by the State Governments, have been reassessed with reference to certain norms. The position in respect of receipts and working expenses on multi-purpose river projects and irrigation (commercial) will, valley on the assumption that the gap, if any, between receipts and working expenses is to be fully covered by the end of 1978-79, be as under :

Financial working of Irrigation (Commercial) and Multi-purpose River Schemes

(Rs. crores)

States									Receipts	Working Expenses according to norms	Surplus	Mark up (—) in receipts	Final posi- tion after mark-up
1						<u> </u>			2	3	4	5	6
1. Andhra Pradesh									31.55	37.00	()5.45	(+)5.45	Nil
2. Assam	_					•	•			••		••	
3. Bihar									31.44	40.60	(—)9.16	(+)4.84	()4.32
4. Gujarat	•		-						18.38	8.95	(+)9.43		(+)9.43
5. Haryana	•	•	•		÷				32.95	16.65	/(+)16.30		(+)16.30
6. Himachal Pradesh	•	•											••
7. Jammu & Kashmir	•	•	•						1.11	1.50	()0.39	(+)0.15	()0.24
	•	•	•	•	•				0,96	2.05	()1.09	(+)0.31	(—)0.78
8. Kerala	·	·	•	•	•	•	•		17.98	9.85	(+)8.13		(+)8.13
9. Madhya Pradesh	•	•	•	•		•	•	·	17.45	15.20	(+)2.25		(+)2.25
10. Maharashtra .	•	٠	-	•	,		•	•					
11. Manipur 🕠 🕠	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	·					
12. Meghalaya	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	16.50	13.00	(+)3.50		(+)3.50
13. Mysore	•	٠	•	•	•	•	·	•	-		· · ·		
14. Nagaland	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	9.41	7,60	(+)1.81		(+)1.81
15. Orissa	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	26.31	22,55	(+)3.76	(+)8.52	(+)12.28
16. Punjab · ·	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		11.25	(+)2.57		(+)4.80(b)
17. Rajasthan .			•	•	•	•	•	·	13.82	16.10	()3.46		()2.6(
18. Tamil Nadu		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	12.64		,		• •
19. Tripura					•	-	·	·		107 75	(+) 23.25		(+)23.25
20. Uttar Pradesh	•			•	•	•	•	•	131.00	107.75	< · ·		(-)0.35
21. West Bengal		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	4.90	10.30	()5.40	(+)5.05	
	Total			•					366.40	320.35	(+)46.05	27,41	73.46

(a) On account of mark-up of receipts under "Multi-purpose River Schemes" as per Commission's decision to eliminate the loss in—the last year of the Plan.

(b) Estimates adopted on the basis of Revised Forecast of State Government which envisaged a net surplus.

31. From the above table, it may prima facie appear that many of the States are already covering the working expenses arrived at according to norms and that, therefore, they could be expected to ensure a further improvement in the working results of the irrigation projects so as to secure a minimum return on their investments. There can be no doubt that our objective should be to secure a reasonable return on all investments made in irrigation projects, but we have refrained from stipulating any minimum returns for the forecast period for purposes of computation of the budgetary gaps/surpluses of the States for certain reasons. Firstly, if past experience be any guide, it is doubtful if States would be able to hold down the working expenses at the levels stipulated by Secondly, the requisite measure of public support us. for the enhancement of water rates may be more readily forthcoming, if the States are enabled to utilise the additional resources accruing from such enhancements (over and above the level needed to cover working expenses) for purposes of the Plan. We cannot also overlook the fact, borne out by past experience, that revision of water rates is far more difficult to effect in most States than enhancement of power tariff or passenger fares in road transport undertak-ings. The gestation period of major irrigation pro-jects, including the time taken for substantial or full utilisation of irrigation potential is much longer than in the case of power projects whether hydel or ther-With power projects the utilisation of additional mal. capacity created has generally not posed any serious problem in most States, whereas in the case of irrigation projects there is considerable time lag between creation and utilisation of irrigation potential. On these considerations, in reassessing the forecasts of State Governments for the purpose of our award, we have only assumed that there will be no gap between receipts and working expenses by the end of 1978-79. We would, however, urge that the revision of water rates up to the level needed to cover in full the maintenance charges should not be reckoned towards additional tax effort for the Plan. Revision of water rates above this level should, however, be treated as additional resources mobilisation for the Plan by the States.

32. Dr. Minhas is, however, unable to agree with the view of the majority that in projecting the revenue

accounts of the States relating to "98-Capital Outlays or Multi-purpose River Valley Schemes" and "99-Capital Outlays on Irrigation, Navigation and Embankment Works (Commercial)" for the forecast period, the receipts under these heads should be taken

to cover only their working expenses.

33. Working on the basis of norms of expenditure on the maintenance of irrigation works, the irrigation receipts of the States of Gujarat, Haryana, Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra, Mysore, Orissa, Punjab, Rajasthan and Uttar Pradesh would be in excess of the working expenses during the next five years. Both the receipts and expenditure under this head are insignificant and, therefore, of no relevance for the States of Assam, Himachal Pradesh, Manipur, Meghalaya, Nagaland and Tripura. When 15 out of the 21 States of the Union would be in a position to more than cover their working expenses, it does not seem proper to adopt the norm that the irrigation receipts should just cover only the working expenses. While a verv large number of agriculturists are incurring higher costs in obtaining water from private sources, it does seem odd that the Finance Commission should condone fully the loss of interest chargeable to public investments in major and medium irrigation works. The benficiaries of irrigation works are clearly identifiable and they must be made to pay the full economic costs of irrigation water overtime. An effective beginning nevertheless must be made immediately to gather adequate irrigation receipts in support of the regular non-Plan budgets of the States.

34. In the interests of sound fiscal management, Dr. Minhas recommends that while working out the entitlements to grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States, the Commission should assume that within the next five years it will be possible for the State Governments to take steps to improve the returns so as to cover working expenses and interest charges of at least 1 per cent per annum on the investments in all major and medium irrigation projects. As a corollary of this recommendation, the receipts of all the States must therefore be marked up as shown in columns 5 and 6 of the Statement below. The amounts by way of grants under Article 275 recommended in Chapter XV for the States of Andhra Pradesh, Bihar, Jammu and Kashmir, Kerala, Orissa, Rajasthan, Uttar Pradesh and West Bengal should be marked down by

Rs. 24.30, 24.06, 0.88, 3.79, 8.05, 11.05, 0.81 and 15.61 crores, respectively for the period of our award.

States								Receipts assumed in the forecast	Working Expenses according to norms	5 year's interest at 1 per cent per annum		Mark up of receipts required for sur- plus States	Mark up of receipts re- quired for deficit States
1								2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Andhra Prades	 sh			-			——-	31.55	37.00	18.85	() 24.30		24,30
2. Assam													
3. Bihar .		•						31.44	40.60	14.90	() 24.06	••	24.06
4. Gujarat .								18.38	8.95	13.22	() 3.79	3.79	
5. Haryana								32,95	16,65	6.22	(+) 10.08		
6. Himachal Prad	esh								••		••		
7. Jammu & Kasl	hmir							1.11	1.50	0.49	() 0.88		0.88
8. Kerala								0.96	2.05	2.70	() 3.79		3.79
9. Madhya Prade	sh							17.98	9,85	9.27	(-) 1.14	1.14	
0. Maharashtra						·		17.45	15.20	17.11	(-) 14.86	14.86	· •
<ol> <li>Manipur .</li> </ol>							•				<b>、</b>		••
12. Meghalaya	_		÷		•		•	••		• •	• •	••	••
13. Mysore				•	•	•	·	16.50	13.00	14.48	··- () 10.98	 10.98	••
14. Nagaland.			•	•	•	•	•						
15. Orissa	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	9.41	7,60	9.86	() 8.05	••	•••
16. Punjab	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	26.31	22.55	12.83	(-) 8.03 (-) 9.07	9.07	8.05
17. Rajasthan		•	•	•		•	•	13.82	11.25	12.63	() 11.05	-	11.05
8. Tamil Nadu		•	•	•	•	•	•	12.64	16.10		() 9.98	9.98	
19. Tripura	•	•	•	•	•	•	•				· · · · · · ·	7.70	••
20. Uttar Pradesh	•	•	•	·	·	•	·	131.00	107.75	24.06	() 0.91	••	0.01
21. West Bengal		•	•	:		•	:	4.90	107.75		() 0.81 () 15.61	• •	0.81 15.61
1	Fotal							366.40	320.35	174.34	()128.29	49.82	88.55

35. Dr. Gulati, who agrees with the majority recommendation on this subject, would like to add that in the event of any rate of returns being prescribed for investments in irrigation, it is no less important to draw a distinction between investments locked up in works under construction and investments in works which are already completed as has been suggested by him in regard to investment in power projects.

36. Turning to minor irrigation works, expenditure on which is debited on the revenue account to "44-Irrigation (non-commercial)" the picture revealed is no less unsatisfactory. In 1971-72, the States incurred a loss of nearly Rs. 42 crores on minor irrigation and flood control works, maintenance expenditure on which is debited to "44-Irrigation (noncommercial)". Here again, the working expenses may not admit of any reduction. In fact, as proposed by us elsewhere in our report, the provisions for working expenses will have to be marked up appreciably in most of the States according to the norms considered essential by us. The losses will further widen unless remedial action is immediately initiated. In order that the States may be induced to take such action we have, in reassessing the forecasts of the States, assumed that the States should by the end of

1

1978-79 reduce the losses on minor irrigation works upto half of the estimated losses in 1973-74. As regards flood control works, we feel that in view of the absence of any arrangements at present for recovery of charges of maintenance of flood control works from the beneficiaries, we may have to reconcile ourselves for the present to the continuance of losses on such works.

### Financial Results of State Road Transport Undertakings.

37. Road transport, particularly passenger transport is another sector in which State Governments have made large investments in recent years. These undertakings are under different forms of management. Most of them have been set up under the Road Transport Corporation Act, 1950, while a few function as companies under the Indian Companies Act. There are also seven undertakings run departmentally. The investments in all these undertakings taken together would be about Rs. 380 crores at the end of 1973-74, out of which the contribution of State Governments in the form of equity and loans would amount to about Rs. 205 crores. It is gratifying to find that road transport undertakings have by and large proved financially remunerative and make reasonable contribution to State revenues in the form of interest payments and dividends. But there are a few undertakings whose financial position should cause serious concern. The road transport corporations of Assam and Kerala will not have adequate surpluses to provide fully for depreciation and interest charges. Calcutta State Transport Corporation, the North Bengal State Transport Corporation and Durgapur State Transport Corporation will not meet even their working expenses, let alone provision for depreciation and interest. In the light of the experience of most of the road transport undertakings it is clear that given proper management and economic fare structure State Governments should be able to secure reasonable return on their investments in this sector. We are. therefore, convinced that it would be realistic to assume recovery of interest and/or dividends at a minimum of 6 per cent on the investments made by the State Governments while reassessing the forecast of the State Governments. The Calcutta State Transport Corporation does not even meet its working expenses in full at present and this position is expected to continue during the forecast period. Having regard to the special features of operation of transport services in the large metropolitan area of Calcutta, we have considered it appropriate to reassess the forecasts of the State Governments on the basis that the Coror the state Governments on the basis that the Cor-poration should meet its working expenses in full during the forecast period. We have not as-sumed any credit for interest on the investments made by the State Government. We do not, however, see any justification for extending special treatment of North Bengal and Durgapur State Trans-port Corporations. Board transport services are being port Corporations. Road transport services are being run departmentally in Manipur and Nagaland. In view of the special problems of operation of transport services in these two States, we feel that these services may at best be expected to cover their working expenses. In reassessing the forecasts of these two State Governments we have not, therefore, assumed any recovery of interest of their investment in road transport. A statement showing the investment by way of equity or loan in road transport undertakings by the State Governments, the forecasts of interest receipts as furnished by the State Governments and as reassessed by us with reference to the norms indicated above has been appended in Table No. 6 in Appendix IX.

# Recovery of Interest on loans advanced by State Governments.

38. State Governments have advanced loans for a variety of purposes. We have already indicated separately our assumptions in regard to recovery of interest on loans advanced to State Electricity Boards and Road Transport Undertakings. The information obtained by us from State Governments shows that, by and large, there is no concessional element in the rates of interest on loans granted for various purposes. In view of this, one should normally expect the interest receipts on these loans to match, if not provide a surplus over, the average rate of borrowing of the State Governments. But it is distressing to find that recovery of interest in 1971-72 worked out to as low as 0.4 per cent and 0.7 per cent on loans outstanding in two of the States. In many other States too, it worked out to less than 5.29 per cent, the average rate of borrowing of State Governments, though it should also be mentioned that in some of the States interest receipts work out to a much higher figure ranging from 5.6 per cent to 7.62 per cent. It is clear that the shortfall in interest receipts reflects the failure of State Governments to enforce prompt recovery of the loans advanced by them. Here again, we consider that certain minimum standards of performance should be insisted on and the anticipated receipts from interest for the forecast period reassessed on that basis. Even allowing for some element of default in the recovery of interest, it should not be difficult for the State Governments to realise at least 5 per cent interest on loans outstanding. It has been represented to us that, in recent years, loans have been granted in large measure for relief purposes and such loans are exposed to high risk of default. While we expect the State Governments to take appropriate action for recovery of interest even on such loans, we have considered it advisable to leave out loans granted to victims of natural calamities, refugees and repartriates in computing interest receipts wherever in information about amounts outstanding under such loans was made available to us. States which perform better than the norm laid down by us should be allowed to keep such receipts as resources for their Plan.

### CHAPTER XIV

### FINANCING OF RELIEF EXPENDITURE

Provision of relief to victims of natural calamities is one of the basic responsibilities of State Governments in India and requirements in this regard have been taken into account by the Finance Commissions. But this time, we have been asked to make a somewhat more detailed enquiry into the several aspects of financing of relief expenditure. Our terms of reference in this regard are :

"The Commission may review the policy and arrangements in regard to the financing of relief expenditure by the States affected by natural calamities and examine, *inter alia*, the feasibility of establishing a National Fund to which the Central and State Governments may contribute a percentage of their revenue receipts."

2. In a predominantly agrarian economy like ours, the failure of crops over large tracts resulting from deficiency or failure of rainfall necessitates State intervention on a large scale for provision of alternative opportunities for employment, supply of foodgrains and other essentials at fair prices and initiation of protective and preventive works against recurrence of similar calamities in the future. The State has to step in when other natural calamities such as floods, cyclones and earthquakes cause extensive damage to crops and property. Even prior to Independence, it was one of the main tasks of the administrative machinery to tackle emergencies of this nature and consequently, rules and instructions for the guidance of field staff in administering programmes of relief came to be codified. Famine Codes are available in many of the States and some of them have been updated. These codes, despite many deficiencies, assured a reasonable measure of uniformity among the States in their approach to problems of relief. However, the practice, envisaged in these Codes, of keeping ready a list of works to be taken up for execution as relief programmes appears to have fallen into disuse in many States. The result is that in an emergene relief works are in many cases taken up on an ad hoc basis with inadequate attention to their long term utility. Also, one cannot but feel perturbed by the sharp increase in expenditure on relief particularly since 1966-67. As against an annual average of expenditure of Rs. 13.41 crores during the period of "64-Famine the Third Plan, expenditure under Relief" in State budgets rose to an average of Rs. 81.01 crores during the period of the three annual gathered unprecedented Plans. This rising trend momentum during the period of the Fourth Plan. The expenditure which stood at Rs. 151.87 crores in 1969-70 rose to an all time peak of Rs. 318 crores in 1972-73. Central assistance to the States for financing such expenditure has also registered an

equally disturbing increase as will be seen from Table 10 in Appendix VII. In fact Central assistance to some States for drought relief has far exceeded the assistance for the Plan.

3. In the light of the massive expenditure at present undertaken by many of the State Governments, the provisions made by Finance Commissions in their awards for famine relief have lost their significance. In terms of the policy as defined in September 1966, Central teams are to be deputed to make an on the spot assessment of the situation created by a natural calamity and to recommend ceilings of expenditure to be incurred on relief measures, loans for rehabilitation, repairs to public properties damaged in cyclones, floods or earthquakes. Of the various types of expenditure on natural calamities, expenditure on relief measures alone is shareable by the Central Government to the extent of 75 per cent in excess of the margin provided for by the Finance Commission, 50 per cent as loan and 25 per cent as grant. Of the remaining 25 per cent of the relief expenditure, the expenditure on loans to third parties and on repairs is expected to be met by the State Governments themselves. But if the ways and means position of the States is difficult, loans can be obtained from the Centre.

4. We have been given to understand that sometime last year, the concept and the scope of reliefassistance as embodied in the policy enunciated in 1966 was significantly altered. In particular, the practice of imposing ceiling was given up towards the middle of 1972. It is not surprising that since then relief expenditure has reached alarming proportions. It is difficult to explain the striking increase in the magnitude of expenditure on drought relief programmes since 1966-67 purely in terms of the increasing severity of the natural calamities. It is our distinct impression that there has been a good deal of avoidable waste in the expenditure incurred in the name of drought relief and also that with better planning and organisation more enduring benefits could have been secured. It is possible that the constraint of resources for developmental programmes in the Plans has in a few cases led to pressures by the States on the Centre for larger assistance in the form of drought relief. While it could be argued that utilisation of relief funds on works of permanent value that should normally be accommodated within the Plan is in national interest, the distribution of Central assistance for drought relief, outside the framework of Central assistance for Plans, tends to set at naught the formula for distribution of Central assistance evolved according to the criteria approved by the National Development Council. The present system natura] calamities has of assistance for

thus introduced serious distorions in the scheme of allocation of Central funds among the States and if continued any longer will accentuate inter-State jealousies and rivalries. The elaborate exercises, which are undertaken by the Finance Commissions and the Planning Commission, to settle the distribution of Central resources on a fair and rational basis among the States on an over-all assessment of the relative economic and financial position and needs of the States lose their relevance altogether, if Central assistance for purpose of drought relief determined on an ad hoc basis tends to assume large dimensions. We have no hesitation in urging that if the serious distortions and inequities caused in our scheme of federal finance by mounting expenditure on relief are to be corrected, whatever assistance is provided to a State for drought relief or flood control should be adjusted against the ceilings of Central assistance for the Plan. This should not cause great hardship to any State or impair its capacity to meet its genuine requirements of relief expenditure because we visualise very large increases in the outlays in Central and State Plans on programmes of development of drought prone areas. We are also providing for a substantial increase in the present margins under "64-Famine Reliet" within the framework of our award.

5. The existing arrangements are also open to another serious objection. The Central teams entrusted with the task of assessing the requirements of relief are usually constituted at short notice and have to complete their assessment of the situation within a short period. Their visits to affected areas thus tend to be brief. As they are composed of representatives drawn from various Ministries who are pre-occupied with their own other work, the teams can at best make only a very broad judgment on the needs of the States in the light of the data provided by the State Governments themselves. The Central teams have no effective means of checking such data and their findings by and large tend to be of an impressionistic nature. There is also no satisfactory arrangement anywhere in the Central Government to keep close and critical watch on the implementation of the recommendations of the Central teams.

6. Expenditure on drought relief has been unusually high and has been escalating sharply since 1966. What is more disturbing is that a good deal of relief expenditure has been incurred on schemes formulated in desperate hurry which turn out to be therefore largely unproductive without any appreciable effect on the permanent improvement of the areas prone to drought and floods. It is possibly because of serious dissatisfaction with the present arrangements for financing of relief expenditure on the existing scale and pattern that the concept of a National Fund on a contributory basis has been posed to us for examination. We have given careful thought to the pros and cons of setting up of such a Fund and have also ascertained the views of the State Governments. It is not quite clear whether the Fund as envisaged is to be a passive accounting mechanism for the earmarking of resources for relief operations on a contributory basis or whether it is to be an active agency providing direction and guidance in the formulation, appraisal and execution of relief programmes. The Fund, with its scope as enlarged to cover these aspects of relief programmes, would to an extent meet the need for a single focal point at the Centre for coordination of the present somewhat disjointed efforts of various Ministries in coping with the problems caused by natural calamities. The National Fund, with an administrative arm of its own may also be expected to promote more purposeful inter-ministerial cooperation on a systematic basis. It should also be able to acquire over a period of time the necessary expertise for collection of data, monitoring of relief measures and review of programmes of long term significance in areas known to be vulnerable to periodic ravages of droughts or floods. It is quite possible that the concept of a National Fund for relief to which different States contribute would carry with it a great deal of emotional appeal. It would serve to provide a rallying point for the expression of nationwide concern for victims of natural calamities. In other words, contributions to such a National Fund would underscore a sense of participation by all States in a common cause.

7. While the concept of a National Fund may thus seem to have some merits, we cannot ignore the practical difficulties of a serious nature which are bound to arise in the constitution and administration of the Fund. It is necessary to be clear about the scope and functions of a National Fund. If the word 'relief' is interpreted in its narrow sense as confined to provision of gratuitous relief to those affected by natural calamities, there would hardly be any need for setting up such a Fund, because even now the expenditure on gratuitous relief is relatively small. If the relief fund is at all to play an effective role, it should be vested with responsibilities for relief in the larger sense of the term so as to include provision of employment, rehabilitation of affected population through assistance in cash or kind, repairs of public properties and buildings or reconstruction of houses. It is obvious that some of these programmes can be financed only on a Ioan basis. This would mean that the Fund will also have to assume the role of a creditor. Thus, the fund will get involved in the screening of the proposals from the State Governments and in the assessment, both in qualitative and quantitative terms, of utilisation of funds by the State Government. Some of the programmes will lead to the establishment of a creditor-debtor relationship between the Fund and the State Governments and introduce an additional complication in our Federal financial structure. The Fund cannot also refrain from advising the State Governments on the scale and appropriateness of relief in various forms. The provision of relief is such a sensitive issue that it often gets politicised. It is doubtful if a Fund set up outside the Government would be able to deal successfully with issues which have political implications. Further, in the event of widespread natural calamities like flood or drought, the Central Government will naturally come under strong pressure to go all out and provide assistance to the affected States. The availability or otherwise of resources in the National Fund will then cease to be relevant in determining the assistance to be extended to the States. Thus the concept of a National Fund will break down completely when the country is struck by serious calamities. At the same time, the States will come to look upon assistance from the National Fund at least to the extent of their contribution as legitimately due to them. Thus there is a risk of the Fund being depleted even in normal years, while in years of adversity it may prove wholly inadequate. The determination of contribution of individual States to the Fund will pose both conceptual and practical difficulties not dissimilar to those no wmet within the distribution of Central resources among the States. No formula, however skilfully devised, is likely to be acknowledged fair by all the States. It is also clear that whatever be the formula, some of the States will be called upon to contribute appreciably more to the pool than they are ever likely to draw from it. This new concept of a contributory fund will not therefore be relished by such States. In these circumstances, we apprehend that the question of States' contribution to the National Fund might well become vet another irritant in Centre-State relations.

8. One can conceive that annual appropriation to a fund of this nature may minimise dislocations of the budgetary position of the affected State Governments. However, from the point of view of the impact of the relief expenditure on the aggregate demand in the economy during any period, it is the expenditure actually incurred during that period, whether financed within or outside of the resources of the Fund, which is of significance. Therefore, in any given period, what is of importance from the view point of the inflationary impact of such expenditure is that it should be subject to the utmost possible restraint.

9. A majority of the States are also opposed to the setting up of a National Fund. Andhra Pradesh, Assam, Gujarat, Haryana, Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra, Meghalaya, Nagaland, Orissa, Tamil Nadu, Uttar Pradesh and West Bengal are opposed to the establishment of a National Fund. Mysore would favour the creation of a National Fund but only if no contribution is required from the State. Bihar, Himachal Pradesh, Kerala, Rajasthan, Tripura and Manipur support the proposal for a National Fund with an element of contribution from the States. But it should be recognised that some of these States would, in terms of our other recommendations, qualify for a grant under-Article 275 and their contribution to the National Fund would, therefore, in effect come out of the Central resources. Punjab has no particular objection to the establishment of a National Fund and would be prepared to contribute, if established. It is clear that many of the States have reacted adversely to the establishment of a National Fund because it would entail a contribution from the State revenues and also, perhaps, some surrender of authority to an outside agency.

10. In the light of our analysis of the advantages and disadvantages of the establishment of a National Fund, and the views expressed by the State. Governments, we have come to the conclusion that the establishment of a National Fund, fed by Central and State contributions, is neither feasible nor desirable.

11. At the same time we are convinced that the present arrangements for providing assistance to the States for meeting expenditure on relief operations in terms of the policy enunciated in 1966 need to be The existing arrangements completely overhauled. suffer from two serious defects. Firstly, the States have no incentive for economy in expenditure on relief or in maximising results for the expenditure incurred. They try to get as much as possible by way of Central assistance for drought relief, because in the overall scheme of fiscal transfers from Centre to States this is almost the only element for which no clear guidelines have been laid down for State-wise distribution and therefore in respect of which there is considerable room for exercise of discretion. Secondly, the schemes on which relief funds are utilised are not always integrated with the overall Plans for development of the areas prone to droughts or floods.

12. Alternative schemes for tackling effectively the problems of relief of distress and development of drought/flood prone areas should be designed to overcome these two basic defects of the exising system. We suggest that detailed programmes of both medium and long term significance for permanent improvement of the areas liable to drought and flood should be drawn up with the utmost urgency and these programmes fully integrated with the Plan. These schemes prepared in advance and arranged in a suitable order of priority can be taken up for implementation as soon as a natural calamity actually strikes a State or a region thereof. This arrangement would definitely produce better results than the present practice of formulating schemes in desparate hurry after the actual onset of the natural calamity in an attempt to absorb as much Central assistance as can be secured. As the programmes for the development of these areas would have been examined by the Planning Commission and the concerned administrative Ministrics in advance as part of their general scrutiny of State Plans, there will be no need for State Governments to await the clearance of Central Government or its agencies before actually taking up the scheme for execution. While in normal years the schemes included in the Plan for development of drought/flood prone areas will be included according to the annual phasing visualised in the Plan, the pace of execution of such programmes should be suitably accelerated when the area is stricken by natural calamities. The additional funds needed for such acceleration of the programmes should be provided through advance release of Central assistance for the Five Year Plan. Such advance release of Central assistance for the Plan in a year in which a State is stricken by a natural calamity will not only meet its immediate needs but also expedite the process of development of drought affected areas. At the same time, the States would be put on notice from the beginning that any assistance which is thus secured by them would be subject to the overall ceiling of Central assistance for the Plan period as a whole. This should effectively deter them from inflating the expenditure. We, therefore, propose that the provisions needed for the development of drought prone areas should form a distinct part of

State and Central Plans. Likewise programmes of flood control should also form an integral part of the Plan.

13. The need of the hour is a massive time bound programme of action which aims at substantially reducing, if not completely eliminating, the vulnerability of the drought and flood prone areas to these calamities. Provisions are now available in the Central Plan for development of drought prone areas in selected districts. There is reason to fear that the needs of drought prone areas have not received the recognition due in our earlier Plans. However, in the Fourth Plan some provision was made in the Central Sector for the development of selected drought prone districts. The mounting scale of expenditure on provisions of relief lends urgency to the need for finding a permanent solution for the economic advancement of areas in which occurrence of drought or floods is endemic. We strongly urge that instead of incurring large scale expenditure on relief on an ad hoc basis on schemes of dubious value, provision ought to be made on a much larger scale for development of drought and flood prone areas in the Fifth Plan both in State and Central sectors.

14. We are, however, aware that States, which are constitutionally responsible for provision of relief, may often be called upon to deal with situations caused by localised failures of crops or distress caused by floods, cyclones and the like and other calamities. In our view, States should be enabled to tackle on their own any such situation without having to invoke Central assistance. We, therefore, feel that the provision of a reasonable margin in the forecasts of State expenditure should be considered as a legiti-mate charge on the revenue accounts of the States. We have carefully considered the basis on which such margins could be fixed. Of course, by far the most scientific basis for determination of the margins would be to assess the proneness of different areas in the States to occurrence of droughts or cyclones or other natural calamities with reference to meteorological and other data. But for all practical purposes, a reasonably satisfactory formula for assessment of the needs of the State would be the average level of expenditure as recorded in the past. As indicated already, expenditure on drought relief has arisen to dizzy heights in the last few years and it will neither be possible nor desirable to sustain expenditure at these levels without serious detriment to other programmes of development.

15. We have determined the provisions needed by the States for gratuitous and other relief on the basis of average of expenditure under "64-Famine Relief" over the period from 1956-57 to 1971-72 inclusive. We have left out expenditure incurred in 1972-73, both because 1972-73 was clearly an abnormal year and also because the actuals of the year are yet to become available. The provision under "64-Famine Relief" in West Bengal, as pointed out by earlier Commissions, includes some element of expenditure which is not classifiable under this head. Some adjustments have, therefore, been made on this account. The provisions for Nagaland and Manipur have had to be fixed on an *ad hoc* basis.

16. Accordingly, we recommend the following provisions under "64-Famine Relief" for different States:

						(Rs	crores)
States			•				nnual rovisions
1. Andhra Pradesh						•	4.31
2. Assam							1.25
3. Bihar							4.61
4. Gujarat							4.55
5. Haryana							1.24
6. Himachal Prade	sh					•	0.03
7. Jammu & Kash	mir					•	0.35
8. Karnataka		• .					1.91
9. Kerala							0.30
10. Madhya Prades	h.						3.41
11. Maharashtra							4.17
12. Manipur .							0.04
13. Meghalaya							0.04
14. Nagaland		•		•			0.02
15. Orissa	•					•	3.58
16. Punjab							0.33
17. Rajasthan							10.19
17. Rajastilari 18. Tamil Nadu							1.52
							0.07
19. Tripura 20. Uttar Pradesh	•						2.18
	•	-					6.61
21. West Bengal	•						
TOTAL	•	•	•	•	•	•	50.71

We have taken these figures into account in arriving at the grants, if any, needed by the States under Article 275 of the Constitution. Paragraph 4(b) of the President's Order requires us to make recommendations on the principles which should govern the grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States out of the Consolidated Fund of India and also to recommend the sums to be paid to the States which are in need of assistance by way of grants-inaid of the revenues under Article 275 of the Constitution. In proposing the grants-in-aid, we have been also asked to have regard among other things to some of the specific considerations listed in that paragraph.

2. All the carlier Finance Commissions have felt that grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States should be related to the fiscal needs of the States. A close and critical scrutiny of the forecasts of receipts and expenditure of State Governments for the period covered by our award is an essential first step in the determination of such fiscal needs. We have spelt out in detail in Chapter IX the criteria with reference to which we have reassessed the forecasts of the State Governments presented to us.

3. In estimating the receipts of the States from both tax and non-tax revenues, we have adopted realistic but varying rates of growth with reference to the considerations set out in detail in Chapter IX. We have, in an attempt to enforce fiscal discipline, assumed reduction of arrears of taxes outstanding to more reasonable limits. We have also reassessed the receipts by way of interest on loans advanced to Electricity Boards, Road Transport Undertakings and third parties according to certain minimum standards of performance considered appropriate by us. In the case of major and medium irrigation projects, we have stipulated that at least the charges for maintenance should be fully covered by the terminal year of our award. In other words, while we have made every effort to assure the States adequate resources to maintain budgetary equilibrium, we have not adopted the approach of mechanical filling up of the gap between receipts and expenditure on present levels of efficiency in the collection of revenue and management of public enterprises. Our proposals envisage determined and purposeful efforts on the part of the States at reduction of arrears of taxes and improvement of returns from investments in quasi-commercial and commercial projects.

١,

4. Like carlier Finance Commissions, we have also been asked to take into account committed liabilities of the States on account of the Plan in assessing the need for grants-in-aid. On the completion of every Plan, there is a significant increase in committed liabilities devolving on the States. Unless the normal growth of tax revenues of State Governments and returns from commercial projects can generate the additional resources to absorb a sizeable part of such committed expenditure, Central devolution for covering the same will soon rise to a level at which resources available for sustaining further development would be seriously eroded. While some States have done well in strengthening the resource base and are in a position to meet their committed liabilities, many others are now constrained to rely almost wholly on increased grants-in-aid under Article 275 for meeting their committed expenditure. This cannot be considered a healthy trend in federal finance.

5. We have adopted a normative approach also in reassessing the demands of the States for funds for raising emoluments of Government employees, teain aided institutions and employees of chers this regard approach in Our local bodies. has been delineated in detail in Chapter X. We have taken these requirements into account in determining the revenue gaps/surpluses of the States. We are aware that in the process States which have observed a policy of restraint in revision of emoluments become entitled to higher grants than warranted by the existing levels of emoluments of Government employees, teachers in aided institutions and employees of local bodies. The course we have adopted would not only reward the States for their fiscal prudence but also bring about, over a period of time, a greater measure of equality in levels of scales of pay and other allowances among the States.

6. We have sought to redress to the extent possible legitimate grievances of the States about inadequacy of funds for maintenance of existing assets such as buildings, irrigation works and roads at satisfactory levels. We have made reasonably adequate provision for maintenance of these assets on the lines indicated in detail in Chapter XI. It is at the same time necessary to ensure that the allocations made for the maintenance of these assets, particularly irrigation works and roads, are utilised for the purpose for which they are intended and that they are not diverted to other uses. Accordingly, we propose that the provisions allowed by us for maintenance of roads should be assessed together with the outlays to be provided in the Fifth Plan for construction of roads. For purposes of regulating Central assistance for the Annual Plan, only the aggregate expenditure on roads in excess of the provisions allowed by us for maintenance should be reckoned as Plan expenditure qualifying for assistance. Likewise, the provisions we have made for maintenance of irrigation works should be taken in conjunction with the outlay in the Plan for irrigation and the same procedure followed for regulating the release of Central assistance for the Annual Plan. In order to enable the Planning Commission and the Ministry of Finance to apply these checks, we have set

out the Statewise outlays of the provision we have made for maintenance of (i) roads, and (ii) irrigation and flood protection works.

7. As we have explained elsewhere, by far the most significant departure we have made from the approach of the earlier Finance Commissions is in the process we have initiated of enabling the States that are backward in standards of general administration to come up to a certain national minimum. For this purpose, we have identified certain administrative and social services as to be of crucial importance and have proposed that the States whose expenditure in per capita terms is below the all-States average should be enabled to come up to such an average by the last year of our award The provisions we have so embodied in our recommendations for upgradation of standards have been indicated in Chapter XII. Among these services, we consider primary education, medical and public health and welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and other backward classes to be of critical importance for the well being of the people and particularly the weaker sections. We have, therefore, thought it essential to devise suitable special safeguards against diversion of the funds so provided for improvement of these services to other purposes. It may be recalled that the special grants-in-aid provided by the First Finance Commission for promoting primary education in backward States and the grants provided by the Third Finance Commission for improvement of communications in certain States were which they were not utilised for the purposes for intended. In the light of the experience, we cannot over-emphasize the need for effective and purposeful monitoring of the special grants earmarked for adminis-trative upgradation. To this end, we make an im-portant suggestion. The concerned administrative Ministry at the Centre and the Planning Commission should, as part of their scrutiny of the Annual Plans

funds provided by us for primary education, medical and public health and welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and other backward classes have been utilised on these services. We would suggest that only such expenditure on these services, as is in excess of the provisions indicated by us under these heads, should alone be treated as Plan expenditure qualifying for Central assistance. Thus, for example, in the case of Uttar Pradesh the provisions adopted by us for Primary Education under "28-Education" for each of the five years covered by the award are as follows :

	(Rs. crores)
1974-75	66.12
1975-76	77.39
1976-77	88.81
1977-78	100.43
<b>1978-</b> 79	112.24

For purposes of determining the expenditure in the Plan on primary education in Uttar Pradesh only amounts in excess of the figures indicated above should be reckoned as Plan expenditure and Central assistance for the Annual Plan regulated accordingly. We hope that with this safeguard the special funds we are now allocating as part of grants-in-aid for improvement of social services, will not run the risk of being diverted to other heads.

8. We indicate in the Table below the provisions we have assumed for these essential services in our reassessment of the forecasts of the States :

: | \$/19 M of Fin./73—10

States						Prima	ry Educai	tion		Me	dical and	Public	Health		Welf	are of So and othe	cheduled er back wa	Castes/Tr ard classes	ibes
				C	1974-75	1975-76	1976-77	1977-78	1978-79	1974-75	1975-76	1976-77	1977-78	1978-79	1974-75	1975-76	1976-77	1977 <b>-7</b> 8	1978-79
1	 				2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
I. Andhra Pradesh		•		•	41.52	44.75	48.14	51.64	55.29	28,49	30.86	33.33	35.85	38,49	13.80	14.49	15.21	15.98	16.77
2. Assam				,	16.05	16.95	17.89	18.88	19.93	9.45	10.15	10.88	11.63	12.43	0,66	1.20	1.78	2.33	2,88
3. Bihar ,			•		50.36	55,45	60.71	66.12	71.70	27,16	30.80	34.55	38.33	42.23	6.05	7.31	8.59	9,86	11.13
4. Gujarat		•			38.10	40.22	42,46	44.82	47.33	21.84	23.00	24.21	25,48	26.84	4.51	5.16	5.82	6.49	7.17
5. Haryana 🔒 .		•			7.26	8,58	9.94	11.30	12,71	6.81	7.30	7.80	8.34	8.89	0.28	0.56	0.83	1.11	1,39
6. Himachal Pradesh					4.60	4.86	5.15	5.44	5.75	4.85	5.11	5.39	5.68	6.00	0.43	0.45	0.47	0.49	0.52
7. Jammu & Kashmir					3.35	3.97	4.59	5,23	5,86	7,74	8.15	8.57	9.00	9.48	0.37	0.39	0.41	0.43	0.45
8. Kerala .					50.24	53.10	56.08	59.22	62.55	21.03	22.18	23.39	24.67	26.03	4.66	4.89	5,13	5.39	5,66
9. Madhya Pradesh .					41.69	44.32	47.09	49.98	53,00	25.27	27.69	30.18	32.73	35.37	13.58	14.58	15.57	16.61	17.67
10. Maharashtra			•	•	66.47	70.20	74.14	78.32	82,72	40.19	42.39	44.73	47.17	49.77	5.47	5.96	6.44	6.96	7,48
II. Manipur					3.66	3,86	4.07	4.30	4.53	1.61	1.69	1.76	1.87	1.95	0.39	0.41	0.43	0.46	0.48
12. Meghalaya				•	1.44	1.53	1.61	1.71	1.80	1.91	2.01	2,12	2.23	2.35	negl.	negł.	negl.	negl.	negl.
13. Mysore					36.10	38.11	40.25	42.51	44.90	21.48	22.67	23.93	25.25	26.63	3.92	4.12	4.32	4.54	4.76
14. Nagaland		•			2,52	2,65	2.79	2.93	3.10	2.44	2.58	2.72	2.87	3.03	0.60	0.63	0,66	0.69	0.72
15. Orissa					16.96	19.61	22.30	25.04	27.84	13.39	14.56	15.76	16.99	18.27	4.63	5,33	6,05	6.76	7.50
16. Punjab					12.37	13.52	14.67	15.90	17.16	12.36	13.02	13.72	14.46	15.26	0.47	0.92	1.38	1.84	2.31
17. Rajasthan .		•	•		24.10	26.16	28.28	30.50	32.79	27.38	28.87	30.47	32,14	33.90	2.37	3.30	4.26	5.21	6.17
18. Tamil Nadu .					58,64	61.98	65.50	69.24	73.20	38.26	40.29	42.45	44.73	47.10	13.08	13.73	14.41	15.13	15.89
19. Tripura					3.10	3.34	3,59	3.86	4.12	1.66	1.76	1.87	1.97	2.10	0.26	0.27	0.29	0.30	0.31
20. Uttar Pradesh .					66.12	77.39	88.81	100.43	112.24	46.56	52,41	58.35	64.46	70.68	8.68	9.93	11.21	12.47	13.70
21. West Bengal	 •	•	•		35.22	40.32	45.54	50.85	56.29	39.18	41.31	43.58	45.97	48.50	3.38	4.74			8.85
All States					579.8	7 630.87	683.60	738.22	2 794.8	t 399.0	5 428.80	459.76	491.82	525.30	) 87.59	98.37	109.30	6 <b>12</b> 0.54	131.8*

(Rs. Crores)

જી

9. The procedure we have outlined will ensure parity of treatment between surplus States and States qualifying for grants-in-aid. Among the deficit States themselves it will ensure equality of treatment as between, for example, Andhra Pradesh and West Bengal, which get the whole of the amounts needed to raise the levels of essential services to all-States average through grants-in-aid and States such as Uttar Pradesh and Bihar, in whose case part of the amounts so needed are in effect set off against the revenue surplus computed, according to the requirements of the existing level of services. All States, whether in receipt of grants-in-aid or not under Article 275, will be subject to same degree of discipline of having to spend the minimum amounts assumed under essential services. It is necessary to impose such discipline even on surplus States, because a few of them, for instance Punjab, are neglecting some of these essential services. In the case of States qualifying for grantsin-aid under Article 275, we have considered it appropriate to indicate separately grants-in-aid for filling up gaps in resources for maintaining institutions and services at existing levels, or what may be called 'conventional revenue gap grants' and the grants for upgradation of essential administrative and social services.

#### Non-Plan Grants

10. Apart from the statutory grants made under the substantive provision of Article 275(1) of the Constitution, States are also receiving from the Centre non-Plan grants for other purposes, the more important being, (i) relief and rehabilitation of displaced persons (ii) relief and other measures necessitated by hostilities (iii) construction and maintenance of border roads (iv) labour and employment (v) development of border areas (vi) assistance to Jammu & Kashmir for transport of rice and wheat (vii) incentive bonus for higher procurement of foodgrains (viii) modernisation of Police Force (ix) education (x) social welfare, and (xi) Central Road Fund.

11. We gave careful consideration to the question of the treatment to be accorded to these grants and the corresponding or relatable expenditure met from revenue in the forecasts furnished by the State Governments. In respect of Central assistance for schemes which are not uniformly applicable to all States, such as payment of bonus for procurement of foodgrains, development of border areas and construction of roads from Central Road Fund, we have omitted both revenue receipts on account of Government of India's grants to the State Governments and the related expenditure in the State forecasts. Consequently, the non-Plan grants will have to be continued by the Central Government if these schemes are to be continued by the State Governments. As regards schemes of continuing nature which are being implemented generally in most of the States, we have allowed after necessary scrutiny the non-Plan ependiture of the State Governments but the corresponding grant from the Central Government has been omitted in the reassessment of revenue receipts. Grants to States for purposes such as small savings schemes, labour and employment schemes, (craftsmen training

12. In Table 12 in Appendix VII we have indicated the non-Plan grants which we have assumed, in our reassessment of the forecasts of the States, would be continued and for which corresponding expenditure provisions have also been allowed. We have also indicated in Appendix VII the grants which, in our opinion, need not be continued. As we have taken into account in our reassessment of the States' forecast the corresponding expenditure, the same should be met from the States' own resources. We have in particular taken into account the committed liability on account of teachers already appointed in the States under the special Central Scheme and there will therefore be no need to continue Central grants for this purpose separately. In Appendix VII we have indicated the grants for which we have assumed no credit in our reassessment of the forecasts of the States and where the corresponding expenditure has also not been taken into account. In these cases, if the schemes continue, specific grants-in-aid should have to be continued to be given.

13. In our reassessment of the forecasts of expenditure of the State Governments, we have not treated the expenditure on the staff or any other recurring expenditure under the Family Planning Programme as committed liability of the States arising out of the Fourth Plan schemes. In view of this, Central assistance for Family Planning schemes should continue to be given to the States on the present pattern.

14. The issue whether provision for amortisation of public debt-open market loans or loans obtained from the Government of India and financial institutions or both-should be considered a legitimate charge on revenue account has engaged the attention of successive Finance Commissions and divergent views have been expressed by them. Some of the State Governments have urged that even repayment of Government loans to the Government of India should be provided for fully in the revenue account. In the context of the proposals we have formulated for affording adequate debt relief to the States during the Fifth Plan period, we have not considered it necessary to allow for any element of amortisation of debt in the revenue accounts of the State Govern-The provisions sought by the State Governments. ments in this regard have, therefore, been excluded for purposes of reassessment of their budgetary requirements.

15. In Chapter XVII we are dealing with the request of the State Governments for financial assistance within the framework of our award, for the implementation of land reform measures. We have explained therein in some detail our reasons for leaving out of account the requirements of the State Governments for this purpose. For the same reasons, we have also excluded the provisions for implementation of land reforms sought by some of the

16. In Chapter XVII, we examine the question of the treatment of Central Government loans to the State Governments outstanding on 31st March, 1974. For reasons set out in that Chapter, we have kept small savings loans out of our scheme of revision of the terms of repayment. We have given careful consideration to the question of the rate of interest to be charged on the loans which we have recommended for consolidation into a few distinct categories and for which we have suggested different periods of repayment. The incidence of interest charges on outstanding loans now works out to an average rate of a little over 4.75 per cent. Currently, the Centre is charging 4.75 per cent on the bulk of the loans advanced to the State Governments. We therefore consider that it would be appropriate for the State Governments to pay interest on the loans recommended for consolidation by us at 4.75 per cent. We have not consolidated loans for Bhakra Nangal and Hirakund (Stage I). Besides small savings loans, we have also kept out of our scheme of consolidation of debt, loans obtained by State Governments as their share in Centralised market borrowings. For these loans, existing rates of interest should be continued. We have recommended that the States may retain half of the principal and full interest on loans for relief of displaced persons, repatriates from Burma, Sri Lanka etc., goldsmiths and loans given under the National Loan Scholarship We have not assumed any interest pay-Scheme. ments by State Governments in respect of these loans. Nor have we provided for interest on pre-autonomy debt and other categories of loans recommended by us for write-off. The interest liabilities of the State Governments on Central loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74 have been computed on these assumptions and allowed for the five year period 1974-75 to 1978-79.

17. The earlier Finance Commissions had allowed for the provisions likely to be needed by the State Governments for payment of interest on fresh borrowings during the forecast period while taking cre-dit for interest receipts of fresh lendings. The estimates furnished by the State Governments of their interest liabilities on fresh borrowings-from open market, from financial institutions and from the Government of India for Plan and non-Plan purposesand the interest receipts assumed by them on fresh lendings have been set out in Appendix VIII. We requested the Planning Commission to let us have a broad idea of the likely Plan outlays of the different State Governments for the Fifth Plan period and how the same was proposed to be financed. We requested them in particular to furnish us with information on the probable magnitude of borrowings of State Governments and the likely Central assistance in the form of grant and loan during the Fifth Plan period. The Planning Commission has replied that no firm view has yet been taken on the quantum of Central assistance to the States for the Fifth Plan

period and that a view in this regard would emerge only after our Report is submitted to the President and decisions thereon become available. The Planning Commission has thus made it clear that it is not possible for them at this stage to indicate either the figures of Central assistance for the State Plans or its apportionment between grants and loans. As regards market borrowings of State Governments also, the Planning Commission has not yet taken a definite view. We have been informed that decisions in this regard would also be taken only after the submission of our Report. We reproduce in Appendix III of our Report the full text of correspondence exchanged between us and the Planning Commission in this regard. In the circumstances, we have no alternative but to leave the interest liabilities on fresh borrowings of State Governments out of account in computing their requirements for the forecast period. For the same reason, we have excluded out of our reckoning also interest receipts on fresh lendings by State Governments during the forecast period. Whatever net commitment by way of interest charges devolves on the State Governments, as a result of the Government of India's decision on Central assistance for State Plans, borrowings from the open market and negotiated loans of State Governments, will have to be computed separately by the Ministry of Fin-ance. The President should be moved to raise to the extent required the grants recommended by us under Article 275 of the Constitution. In the case of the States which do not qualify for grants-in-aid in terms of our award, the net commitment on account of interest liabilities on fresh borrowings and lendings should be set off against the surpluses as assessed by us and the net deficit, if any, should be given as grant-in-aid under Article 275 of the Constitution by a Presidential Order.

18. We now indicate briefly our views on some of the issues special to certain State Governments which have a bearing on their revenue surpluses or deficits. After the submission of the forecast of receipts and expenditure to us and our discussions with them based on these forecasts, the Government of Tamil Nadu communicated to us on 21st June, 1973 their decision to reintroduce prohibition in the State and requested us to take into account the loss of revenue arising from this decision during the forecast period. The Government of Tamil Nadu had also sought to make up partially the loss of revenue resulting from the decision to reintroduce prohibition through enhancement of taxes on motor spirit, stamps and entertainment. They urged that the additional revenues accruing from these levies should be excluded in estimating their revenue gap, as they were intended specifically for financing the Fifth Plan. We have given careful consideration to these issues raised by the Government of Tamil Nadu. We are required under our terms of reference to estimate the revenues of the State Governments at levels of taxation obtaining at the end of 1973-74. In view of this we felt constrained to allow for the financial implications of the decision of the Government of Tamil Nadu already implemented to close down toddy shops. We did not, however, consider it proper to allow for the further loss of revenue anticipated from the closure of shops for sale of arrack and other

liquors subject to State excise duties, as these decisions have not yet come into force. We could not also accept the request of the State Government to exclude the revenues estimated to accrue from the additional taxation on motor spirit, stamps and entertainment levied by them because these levies have already come into force. Consequently the net downward adjustment we had to effect in the forecasts of revenues of the Government of Tamil Nadu was of the order of only Rs. 18.16 crores for the five year period as against Rs. 165.45 crores indicated by them.

19. The Government of Rajasthan also brought to our notice the pressures building up in their State for introduction of total prohibition and the resultant loss of revenue, if the demands are conceded. In the absence of any specific decision to reintroduce prohibition in the State, we have projected the revenues from excise duties adopting the rates of growth indicated in Chapter IX. As, however, the late Chief Minister of Rajasthan in his letter to Chairman of the Commission had specifically requested us to indicate whether or not we have allowed in our award for the possible loss of revenue from excise duty in the event of introduction of prohibition, we have considered it appropriate refer to this communication and to clarify that we have assumed in our forecast the continuance of revenues from State excise duties on the basis of the present policy in force in the State.

20. A few of the State Governments, notably West Bengal, have in the forecasts submitted to us included large provisions for payments to the Government of India on account of Central Reserve Police deployed in their States for maintenance of law and order. We consider it difficult to concede in principle that the deployment of Central Reserve Police would be needed as a permanent measure in any State. We have also no means of estimating accurately the commitments likely to devolve on the State Governments by the requisitioning of Central Reserve Police in accordance with the needs of the law and order situation in future. From the point of view of parity of treatment among the States also we do not consider it possible to concede the request of only some of the State Governments for possible expenditure arising from enlistment of the services of the Central Reserve Police to support their own regular police forces. While we have left out of consideration the provisions sought by State Governments, such as West Bengal, for payments likely to be made for the services of the Central Reserve Police during the forecast period, we would strongly urge that the Government of India should modify the present policy and waive payment altogether for the services of Central Reserve Police personnel made available to the State Governments for maintenance of law and order. As the Central Government would continue to have a decisive voice in determining whether or not the law and order situation in a State warrants supplementary support in the form of Central Reserve Police, there is no reason to apprehend that State Governments may invoke the assistance of the Central Reserve Police on a larger scale if payment for the same is waived. After all, the Governments of India have an equal stake with State Governments in the maintenance of law and order throughout the country. The present system of insistence on payment for services of the Central Reserve Police does not seem to make sense particularly when most of the States are in effect paying for the same through grants-in-aid under Article 275 of the Constitution from the Government of India. In the case of the States, which were Union Territories till recently, namely, Tripura and Manipur, we have allowed the provision in full for payment of Central Reserve Police. They were, till quite recently, not paying for the services of the Central Reserve Police and would need time to raise and strengthen their own police force.

21. The Government of Jammu and Kashmir have proposed a special provision of Rs. 10.55 crores for strengthening and reorganisation of the police force. After satisfying ourselves, about the demands of the State Governments in this regard in consultation with the Ministry of Home Affairs, we have allowed the provision asked for by them in full. But we propose that the grant in this regard under Article 275 of the Constitution be tied specifically to programmes of expenditure for the strengthening and reorganisation of the police force in the State. Jammu and Kashmir Government have also included in their forecast a sum of Rs 56.77 crores towards food subsidy. It should be remembered that this subsidy is over and above the element of subsidy in the issue price of foodgrains released from the Central stocks. The Commission feels that the commitment on the State budget on this account can and should be gra-dually reduced. Only 50 per cent of the provision sought by the State Government has therefore been allowed.

22. On the basis of the reassessment of revenue receipts and non-plan revenue expenditure of the State Governments, taking into account the principles and general considerations explained earlier and after setting off the resources estimated to accrue to them from devolution of taxes and duties and grants in lieu of tax under the repealed Railway Passengers Fares Tax Act, 1957, the surpluses and deficits of

			States							of the exi dards of e	on the basis isting stan- ssential ad- e and social	Provision allowed for upgradation of the stan- dards of essential administra-	Net Reve- nue deficit after devo- lution of re- venues	Net Reve- nue surplus after devo- lution of revenues
										Without devolution* of revenues	After devolution* of revenues	tive and social services		
		•••••		t						2	3	4	5	6
١.	Andhra Pradesh									723.39	153,31	52.62	205.93	
2.	Assam .									421.60	236.51	18.02	254.53	
3.	Bihar .									677.93	() 60.51	166.79	106.28	
4.	Gujarat .				-					23.99	(—)344.65	9.19		335,46
5.	Haryana .									()124.14	()244.80	21,45		223.35
6.	Himachal Prades	h								204.06	160.96		160,96	
7.	Jammu & Kashn	nir								214.95	156.16	17,33	173.49	
8.	Karnataka									124.45	()259.19	26.45		232.74
9.	Kerala									473.44	202.40	6.53	208,93	
10.	Madhya Pradesh									383.05	()160.52	50.34	• •	110.18
11.	Maha <b>r</b> asht <b>r</b> a									() 40.52	(	3.63		748.42
12.	Manipur .		.`							126.91	113.43	1.10	114.53	
13.	Meghalaya .						,			86.02	73.17	1.50	74.67	
14.	Nagaland .			•			•	•		135.01	128.18	0.66	128.84	• •
15.	Orissa								•	520,26	247.67	57.06	304.73	
16.	Punjab .								•	()186.45	(—)355.42	13.94		341,4
17.	Rajasthan .				-			•	•	536.49	203.10	27,43	230.53	• •
18.	Tamil Nadu									354.04	()184.53	• •		184.53
19.	Tripura .								•	130.19	110.50	2.00	112.50	<i>, .</i>
20.	Uttar Pradesh				•			•		1058.89	() 91.33	<b>290</b> .16	198.83	• •
21.	West Bengal	•			•	•			•	750.70	162.63	72,23	234.86	••
		T	OTAL							6594.26	()504.98	838.43	2509,61	2176.10

the State Governments during the five-year period would be as indicated in the Table below :

NOTE: Negative sign indicates surplus.

\* Devolution for this purpose has been taken to cover the States' share of Income-tax, Union duties of excise, Additional Excise Duties, Estate Duty on property other than agricultural land, grant in lieu of tax on passenger fares and grant on account of wealth tax on agricultural property.

23. In the light of the foregoing, we recommend that the following State Governments be paid the sums specified against each of them as grants-in-aid of their revenues under the substantive part of Clause (1) of Article 275 of the Constitution for each of the five years covered by our recommendations :

(Rs.	Crores)
------	---------

(Rs. Crores)

States							Total amo-	Grants-in-ai	d to be paid	in		
							unt to be paid in the five years	1974-75	1975-76	1976-77	1977–78	1978–7 <b>9</b>
L. Andhra Pradesh							205.93	42.83	43,47	41.89	39.45	38.29
2. Assam							254.53	49.66	51.33	50.60	51.35	51.59
3. Bihar							106.28	18,78	23.92	21.12	21.53	20.93
4. Himachal <b>Pr</b> adesh							160.96	31.72	32.02	32,15	32.42	32.65
5. Jammu & Kashmir	ż						173,49	34.57	34.65	34,73	34.83	34.71
6. Kerala	•						208.93	43.85	43,46	41.19	40.92	39.51
7. Manipur	•	•	•	•			114.53	21.05	21.97	22.85	23,84	24.82
8. Meghalaya		•	•	•		ġ	74,67	13.61	14.23	14.90	15.63	16.30
9. Nagaland	•	•	•	•	•	·	128.84	23.77	24,68	25.72	26.77	27.90
10, Or issa	•	•	•		•		304.73	56,97	60.11	61.00	62.56	64.09
11. Rajasthan .	•	•	•				230.53	49.30	48.57	46.05	44.30	42.31
12. Tripura	•	•	•		•	-	112.50	20,66	21.53	22.44	23.45	24.42
13. Uttar Pradesh .	•	•	•	·	•	•	198.83	21.61	33.91	39.23	49.10	54.98
14. West Bengal		•	•	•			234.86	53.29	49,27	46.57	44.55	41.18
То	TAL						2,509.61	481.67	503.12	500.44	510.70	513,68

### CHAPTER XVI

### ASSESSMENT OF NON-PLAN CAPITAL GAP OF STATES

### 1-Methodology

The assessment of non-Plan capital gaps of States has been referred to the Finance Commission for the first time. It is clear from the terms of reference that determination of the non-Plan capital gaps of States is considered an essential prelude to the formulation of proposals for revision of the terms of outstanding Central loans. As the survey of non-Plan capital gaps has been brought within the ambit of enquiry of the Finance Commission for the first time, we did not have the benefit of the views of the earlier Commissions on the conceptual and other problems involved in this exercise. We, therefore, thought it fit to begin with an analysis of the nature and scope of the different categories of transactions relating to both receipts and disbursements generally figuring in capital account and to indentify, in the light of such analysis, which of them could be con-sidered to be of non-Plan nature. We had also to take a view on treatment of items like contribution of State enterprises and their borrowings which, though not directly reflected in State budgets, are reckoned as resources for the Plan. The question whether cash balances and negotiable securities held by State Governments should also be taken in reduction of their non-Plan capital gap, also came up for consideration.

2. The capital transactions of the States are recorded in the budget against the various heads indicated in Annexure I to this Chapter. In the light of our analysis of the scope of receipts and disbursements accommodated under these various heads of account, we indicate below briefly which of them, in our judgment, should be taken into account in computing the non-Plan capital gap and which of them should be left out.

### \*92. Payment of compensation to landholders, etc. on the abolition of zamindari system.

3. The bulk of the compensation payments to landholders is met out of the zamindari abolition fund created by various State Governments. Provision under this major head on capital account is now rather insignificant except in a few States such as West Bengal. But it is a legitimate non-Plan capital liability, as most of the compensation payable for the abolition of intermediaries has already been disbursed and the residual amounts shown in the forecasts presented to us are needed to complete the reforms. While the provision sought for completion of the processes of abolition of intermediaries such as zamindaries and jagirdaris posed no problems in view of the firm basis of the commitments already entered into, our approach to similar estimates of financial implications of the recent land reform measures had to be defined with care, in view both of the tentative character of the estimates presented to us and the widely varying requirements of the States.

4. Many of the State Governments have invited our attention to the legislation for imposition of ceilings on agricultural holdings, which has either been en-acted or is on the anvil, and have urged that the compensation likely to be needed for payment in cash or in bonds to the landholders for the excess lands to be taken over in pursuance of such legislation should be treated as non-Plan capital liability. Since it is not possible for us to make any firm judgment on the extent of surplus land likely to be available or satisfy ourselves on the extent of compensation likely to be paid for the excess lands thus taken over, we are not in a position to estimate the resources likely to be needed by the States to implement the various proposals already indicated or under consideration for the imposition of ceilings. As we have been asked to assess the non-Plan gap of the States on as uniform and comparable a basis as possible, it will obviously not be correct for us to discriminate between States that have already completed all the legislative measures connected with the ceilings on land holdings and those in which the process is still in a preliminary stage.

5. Past experience indicates that estimates of surplus land may prove wide off the mark and that the pace of take over of surplus land cannot also be predicted in advance. Whatever financial assistance is necessary for payment of compensation for surplus land, should, therefore, be provided only on the basis of close and critical review of the progress of implementation of land reforms. Such tied assistance cannot be visualised within the framework of any scheme of debt relief. We would, therefore, suggest that Government of India should, in consultation with States, assess their net financial requirements for smooth implementation of land reforms and arrange to meet them. In computation of the non-Plan capital gap, we have left out of consideration the requirements for land reforms for the various reasons indicated above.

<sup>\*</sup>References are to Heads of Account as in force in 1973-74.

### CHAPTER XVI

### ASSESSMENT OF NON-PLAN CAPITAL GAP OF STATES

### 1-Methodology

The assessment of non-Plan capital gaps of States has been referred to the Finance Commission for the first time. It is clear from the terms of reference that determination of the non-Plan capital gaps of States is considered an essential prelude to the formulation of proposals for revision of the terms of outstanding Central loans. As the survey of non-Plan capital gaps has been brought within the ambit of enquiry of the Finance Commission for the first time, we did not have the benefit of the views of the earlier Commissions on the conceptual and other problems involved in this exercise. We, therefore, thought it fit to begin with an analysis of the nature and scope of the different categories of transactions relating to both receipts and disbursements generally figuring in capital account and to indentify, in the light of such analysis, which of them could be considered to be of non-Plan nature. We had also to take a view on treatment of items like contribution of State enterprises and their borrowings which, though not directly reflected in State budgets, are reckoned as resources for the Plan. The question whether cash balances and negotiable securities held by State Governments should also be taken in reduction of their non-Plan capital gap, also came up for consideration.

2. The capital transactions of the States are recorded in the budget against the various heads indicated in Annexure I to this Chapter. In the light of our analysis of the scope of receipts and disbursements accommodated under these various heads of account, we indicate below briefly which of them, in our judgment, should be taken into account in computing the non-Plan capital gap and which of them should be left out.

#### \*92. Payment of compensation to landholders, etc. on the abolition of zamindari system.

3. The bulk of the compensation payments to landholders is met out of the zamindari abolition fund created by various State Governments. Provision under this major head on capital account is now rather insignificant except in a few States such as West Bengal. But it is a legitimate non-Plan capital liability, as most of the compensation payable for the abolition of intermediaries has already been disbursed and the residual amounts shown in the forecasts presented to us are needed to complete the reforms. While the provision sought for completion of the processes of abolition of intermediaries such as zamindaries and jagirdaris posed no problems in view of the firm basis of the commitments already entered into, our approach to similar estimates of financial implications of the recent land reform measures had to be defined with care, in view both of the tentative character of the estimates presented to us and the widely varying requirements of the States.

4. Many of the State Governments have invited our attention to the legislation for imposition of ceilings on agricultural holdings, which has either been en-acted or is on the anvil, and have urged that the compensation likely to be needed for payment in cash or in bonds to the landholders for the excess lands to be taken over in pursuance of such legislation should be treated as non-Plan capital liability. Since it is not possible for us to make any firm judgment on the extent of surplus land likely to be available or satisfy ourselves on the extent of compensation likely to be paid for the excess lands thus taken over, we are not in a position to estimate the resources likely to be needed by the States to implement the various proposals already indicated or under consideration for the imposition of ceilings. As we have been asked to assess the non-Plan gap of the States on as uniform and comparable a basis as possible, it will obviously not be correct for us to discriminate between States that have already completed all the legislative measures connected with the ceilings on land holdings and those in which the process is still in a preliminary stage.

5. Past experience indicates that estimates of surplus land may prove wide off the mark and that the pace of take over of surplus land cannot also be predicted in advance. Whatever financial assistance is necessary for payment of compensation for surplus land, should, therefore, be provided only on the basis of close and critical review of the progress of implementation of land reforms. Such tied assistance cannot be visualised within the framework of any scheme of debt relief. We would, therefore, suggest that Government of India should, in consultation with States, assess their net financial requirements for smooth implementation of land reforms and arrange to meet them. In computation of the non-Plan capital gap, we have left out of consideration the requirements for land reforms for the various reasons indicated above.

<sup>\*</sup>References are to Heads of Account as in force in 1973-74.

														(103. 010103)
		States								of the exidend	on the basis isting stan- ssential ad- e and social	Provision allowed for upgradation of the stan- dards of essential - administra-	Net Reve- nue deficit after devo- lution of re- venues	Net Reve- nue surplus after devo- lution of revenues
										Without devolution* of revenues	After devolution* of revenues	tive and social services		
			1							2	3	4	5	6
1. Andhra Pradesh	ι.						,			723.39	153.31	52,62	205.93	
2. Assam .										421.60	236.51	18.02	254.53	
3. Bihar .										677.93	() 60.51	166,79	106.28	
4. Gujarat	•									23,99	()344.65	9.19		335.40
5. Haryana				•		•			•	()124.14	(	21.45		223.3
6. Himachal Prade	sh									204.06	160.96	• •	160,96	
7. Jammu & Kash	mir									214.95	156.16	17.33	173.49	
8 Karnataka	• •									124.45	()259,19	26.45		232.74
9. Kerala	•									473.44	202,40	6.53	208.93	
10. Madhya Prades	h									383.05	()160.52	50.34		110.18
11. Maharashtra	•								•	() 40.52	()752.05	3.63		748.42
12. Manipur .	•	• • •								126,91	113.43	1.10	114.53	
<ol> <li>Meghalaya .</li> </ol>										86.02	73.17	1.50	74.67	
14. Nagaland .										135,01	128.18	0,66	128,84	••
15. Orissa										520,26	247,67	57,06	304.73	• •
16. Punjab .										(—)186.45	()355.42	13,94		341.4
17. Rajasthan	•				•					536.49	203,10	27,43	230,53	
18. Tamil Nadu				•	•					354.04	()184.53			184.5
19. Tripura .	٠				•	•			•	130.19	110.50	2,00	112.50	
20. Uttar Pradesh	•								•	1058.89	() 91.33	290.16	198.83	
21. West Bengal	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	750.70	162.63	72.23	234.86	
	-	TOTAL				•				6594.26	(	838.43	2509.61	2176.10

the State Governments during the five-year period would be as indicated in the Table below :

NOTE : Negative sign indicates surplus.

4

\* Devolution for this purpose has been taken to cover the States' share of Income-tax, Union duties of excise, Additional Excise Duties, Estate Duty on property other than agricultural land, grant in lieu of tax on passenger fares and grant on account of wealth tax on agricultural property.

23. In the light of the foregoing, we recommend that the following State Governments be paid the sums specified against each of them as grants-in-aid of their revenues under the substantive part of

Clause (1) of Article 275 of the Constitution for each of the five years covered by our recommendations :

(Rs. Crores)

										(R	s. Crores)
States					 	Total amo-	Grants-in-ai	d to be paid	in		
						unt to be paid in the five years	1974-75	1975–76	1976–77	1977-78	1978-79
1. Andhra Pradesh						205.93	42.83	43,47	41.89	39.45	38.29
2. Assam .				,		254.53	49,66	51.33	50,60	51.35	51.59
3. Bihar .						106,28	18.78	23.92	21.12	21.53	20,93
4. Himachal Pradesh						160.96	31.72	32.02	32.15	32.42	32.65
5. Jammu & Kashmir						173.49	34.57	34.65	34.73	34,83	34,71
6. Kerala						208,93	43.85	43.46	41.19	40.92	39.51
7. Manipur						114.53	21.05	21.97	22.85	23.84	24.82
8. Meghalaya						74.67	13.61	14.23	14.90	15.63	16.30
9. Nagaland						128.84	23,77	24.68	25.72	26.77	27.90
10. Or issa						304,73	56.97	60.11	61.00	62.56	64.09
11. Rajasthan					÷	230.53	49.30	48.57	46.05	44.30	42.31
12. Tripura						112.50	20.66	21.53	22.44	23.45	24.42
13. Uttar Pradesh .						198.83	21.61	33.91	39.23	49.10	54.98
14. West Bengal	G.	2	·			234.86	53,29	49.27	46.57	44.55	41.18
То	TAL					2,509.61	481.67	503.12	500.44	510.70	513.68

6. We then have a number of heads of account relating to capital outlay for various developmental purposes. These are :

- 94—Capital outlay on improvement of public health.
- 95—Capital outlay on schemes of agricultural improvement and research.
- 96—Capital outlay on industrial and economic development.
- 98-Capital outlay on Multipurpose River Schemes.
- 99—Capital outlay on Irrigation, Navigation, Embankment and Drainage works (commercial).
- 100—Capital outlay on Irrigation, Navigation, Embankment and Drainage works (noncommercial).
- 101-Capital outlay on Electricity Schemes.
- 103-Capital outlay on Public Works.
- 109-Capital outlay on other works.
- 114—Capital outlay on Road and Water Transport Schemes.
- 119-Capital outlay on Forests-

7. The provisions contemplated under these heads are essentially in the nature of outlays which should result in creation of tangible assets and from the economic standpoint should be classified as investment expenditure. We have, therefore, taken the view that for this purpose the expenditure on these heads will be accommodated in the State Plans. No non-Plan capital liability as such will arise under these heads.

### 120-Payment of commuted value of pensions

8. Payment of commuted value of pensions (major head of account—120) was hitherto being classified under capital account. But Government of India have decided recently in consultation with the Comptroller and Auditor General that the payment of commuted value of pensions should be charged straightaway to revenue instead of being debited initially to capital and then written back to revenue account over a period of years. In view of this change in accounting practice, we have considered it appropriate to exclude this item from capital account and provide for the reasonable requirements of the States for payment of commuted value of pensions in the revenue account itself. The amounts involved in any case are not large.

### 124. Capital outlay on schemes of Government Trading

9. The next major head—124—relates to Capital outlay on schemes of Government trading. As at present, provisions under capital outlay on State trading reflect the net impact on ways and means position of State Governments' trading transactions in various commodities. The ways and means position of State Governments will be adversely affected both on account of additions to stock and trading losses. The "Approach to Fifth Plan" makes it clear that all additions to stocks or inventories should form part of the Plan and be treated as Plan outlay. We agree with this approach. Even otherwise, cash credit from banks will be available to the States against inventories such as stocks of foodgrains or fertilisers, whether held as buffer or for operational purposes. The losses or profits arising from schemes of Government trading should appropriately be transferred to revenue account, as such losses do not add to the assets of the State Governments while profits, if any, constitute non-tax revenues. Thus it is clear that the entire provision under capital outlay on State trading schemes, whether it relates to additions to stock or losses or profits on such schemes, should be ignored in assessing the non-Plan capital gap.

### 125. Appropriation to the Contingency Fund

10. Major head-125-on capital account relates to appropriations to Contingency Fund. A Contingency Fund has been set up under Article 267 of the Constitution by all State Governments. This fund which is in the nature of an imprest is intended to enable the executive to meet unforeseen expenditure arising in the course of a year pending its authorisation by the Legislature. By its very nature, there can be no net additional liability on the capital budget of the State Governments on account of transactions under Contingency Fund, since the amounts spent from the Fund are to be recouped in the same or in the next financial year through legislative authorisation. Neither receipts nor disbursements under this head need therefore be taken into account while working out the non-Plan capital gaps of the States.

### **O.I.** Permanent Debt

accommodates mainly loans head 11. This raised by the State Governments open from market. In some of the State budgets, small amounts in respect of compensation bonds are also charged under this head. As regards market borrowings, the practice so far has been to show net receipts on account of loans from public-i.e. fresh loans minus repayment of maturing loans-as a resource for the Plan In the case of States having overall non-Plan deficits, receipts under this head are now set off against non-Plan deficit and as such are not available to them for financing their Plans. We are of the view that net market borrowings which constitute a draft on the savings of the community should be considered as available for creation of new assets and not for the discharge of Central loans or other liabilities on capital account of the State Governments. We have, therefore, excluded market borrowings-both receipts from fresh loans and repayment of maturing loans-in arriving at the non-Plan capital gap of the States. These net market borrowings will accordingly be available to the States for financing Plan programmes.

#### **O.H.** Floating Debt

12. Receipts and disbursements under this head relate to loans of short-term duration, i.e. of less than 12 months. The range of variations between receipts and disbursements should be small. We have, therefore, considered it appropriate to leave out this item in working out non-Plan capital gap.

### O. HI. Loans from the Government of India

13. The various categories of loans received from the Government of India in respect of which repayments have to be made by the State Governments are listed in Annexure I. Ways and Means advances, as the term implies, are intended to enable the State Governments to tide over temporary difficulties caused by the uneven flow of receipts and disbursements within a financial year. Loans obtained from the Government of India for meeting such difficulties have to be discharged within a financial year and do not therefore materially affect the non-Plan capital gaps of States. Short-term loans are advanced by the Central Government for purchase and distribution of fertilisers, pesticides and seeds which are generally repayable within six months. As these liabilities are essentially of short-term nature and are mostly covered by specific assets such as fertilisers or seeds, it will be both convenient and proper to leave out completely the receipts and disbursements pertaining to shortterm loans. Of the remaining loans from the Government of India, loans against share of small savings are made available to the States on the basis of net col-lections within the State. Net receipts from small savings should be considered as available to the States for the financing of the Plan, as otherwise their incentive for mobilising small savings will be considerably impaired It is also proper to urge that small savings constitute a draft on the savings of the community and should, therefore, be matched by the creation of new assets as part of the Plan. However, if fresh receipts accruing to the States as their share of small savings collections during the Fifth Plan period are to be excluded in computing the non-Plan capital gap, it is only proper that the repayment of past loans obtained by the States against their share of small savings collections should also be similarly excluded. We feel that this might incidentally act as a spur to more strenuous efforts by States to mop up small savings, so that fresh collections may always be in excess of the repayment of past small savings loans to the Govern-ment of India. We have, therefore, excluded both receipt of fresh loans from the Government of India against the States' share of small savings and repayments by State Governments of the past loans obtained from the Government of India as their share of small savings from the present exercise of computa-tion of non-Plan capital gaps of the States. The scheme of debt relief proposed later in the Report also does not take into account liabilities arising out of repayment of small savings loans since, as mentioned earlier, such repayment should be taken care of through fresh mobilisation of small savings. However, the repayment of all other loans-loans for State Plan schemes, loans for Centrally sponsored schemes, special accommodation loans, loans for clearance of overdrafts-have to be treated as legitimate non-Plan capital liability for the State Governments. The liability for repayment of these loans is, in fact, largely responsible for the non-Plan capital gap of the States. All fresh loan receipts from the Government of India for State Plan schemes or Centrally sponsored schemes, however, have to be excluded in determining the non-Plan capital gap for these are, by definition, intended for financing the Plan. We have not assumed any fresh loans from the

Government of India in the nature of special accommodation loans or for clearance of overdrafts. Nor have we assumed any non-Plan loans for relief purposes in view of our recommendations in Chapter XIV that the present arrangements for provision of Central assistance for relief expenditure should be given up and that relief schemes should be fully integrated with the Plan.

### **O.IV.** Other Loans

14. These loans are received by State Govvarious autonomous bodies like ernments from National Cooperative Development Corporathe. Life Insurance Corporation and Reserve tion, Bank of India. All these loans are, in most cases, for Plan schemes. It would, accordingly, be necessary to exclude fresh receipts of all Plan loans from these bodies while working out the non-Plan capital gap of the States. We have also excluded repayment of past loans taken from such bodies in computing the non-Plan capital gap. In our view, like small savings loans, only net additional amount raised by the State Governments should be treated as a Plan resource.

15. Most of the State Governments have also made arrangements for cash credit advances from the State Bank of India and commercial banks. These credits, which are generally of short-term duration are covered by stocks of commercial commodities such as food, fertilisers, seeds and pesticides held by State Governments and are repaid when inventories are liquidated or when ownership is passed on to cooperative societies and other organisations. These cash credits do not represent any net burden on the State Governments. They have accordingly been left out in arriving at the non-Plan capital gap of State Governments.

#### Q. Loans and Advances by State Governments

16. Loans and advances are given by State Governments for various purposes to individuals and institutions. In particular, loans are advanced by State Governments on a fairly large scale to Panchayati Raj institutions, Municipal Corporations, State Electricity Boards and Housing Boards. Most of these loans relate to specific Plan programmes and should, therefore, be accommodated in the Plan. Almost all the loans given to other agencies or groups of individuals would also qualify for inclusion in the Plan, as they are linked to certain developmental objectives. We have, accordingly, excluded all such loans in assessing the non-Plan capital gap of the States. Loans are also given by State Governments to Government ser-These loans are mainly for purchase of convants. veyance and for house building purposes. Advances for purchase of conveyances and for other consumption purposes have to be treated as part of the non-Plan liability of the State Governments. As loans to Government servants for construction of houses result in creation of fresh assets and augment facilities for residential accommodation, it is only proper that all such loans should be brought within the purview of the Plan. Recoveries of loans and advances given to individuals and institutions should be set off against the non-Plan capital gap. We have scrutinised the forecasts furnished by the State Governments of recoveries of loans and advances with reference to amounts of loans outstanding under different categories and taken a view on how much of the arrears could be recovered over the period of the Fifth Plan with reasonable efforts on the part of the States. Such recoveries, as reassessed by us have been taken in reduction of the non-Plan capital gap of the States.

### R. Inter-State Debt Settlement

17. The net figures under this head should also be taken into account for determining the non-Plan capital gap of the States.

### S. Unfunded debt-State Provident Fund

18. The essential distinction between receipts and outgoings on Public Account from those forming part of the Consolidated Fund is that in respect of the former group of transactions, the Government only acts as a banker. The disbursements on Public Account do not need the vote of the legislature and are not included in the Appropriation Act which authorises drawal of money from the Consolidation Fund. Unfunded debt is the first item of significance under Public Account. Receipts and disbursements on account of provident fund of employees are accounted for under this head. We are of the view that the anticipated net receipts under State Provident Funds should be set off against the non-Plan capital gap.

### T. Deposits and Advances

19. These deposits and advances belong to various corporations, local bodies bodies and statutory litigants as contractors, individuals such and steadily In view of the etc. courts, rising trend in the growth of public transactions, there in is an overall net accretion to these deposits and funds from year to year. These deposits are in the nature of banking transactions and credits, in fact, represent a liability for the Government. Debits on the contrary represent discharge of corresponding liability. The magnitude of net resources accruing to the State Governments from these deposits will, in part, depend upon the regulations laid down by the State Governments in regard to custody of funds of autonomous bodies and local bodies under its control. In some States, for example, State Electricity Boards, Housing Boards and Municipalities are required to keep the surplus funds with State Governments, while in cer-tain other these institutions are allowed to keep their funds with approved commercial banks. In the case of States where these funds are banked with Government, there will naturally be larger accretions under deposits and advances as compared to others where these deposits are allowed to be kept elsewhere. As we are asked to assess the non-Plan capital gap of the States on a uniform basis, we thought it necessary to examine the practices in vogue in each State and take into account only those deposits in respect of which the practices were uniform in all States. From the information obtained by us from the States, it is seen that the only class of deposit common to all States is civil deposits. The receipts under civil deposits are closely linked to the administrative, regulatory and developmental functions of the Government. They consist of deposits made by litigants in courts, security deposits of contractors with various State Departments and the like. They thus represent regular receipts of the State Governments on capital account and may be expected to conform to some pattern. The accretions under civil deposits should, of Fin./73-11 S/19

therefore, be legitimately set off against the non-Plan capital gap of the State. While working out the non-Plan capital gap we have taken note of only civil deposits and have left out other categories of deposits such as deposits of local bodies, electricity boards, etc., as the practices in regard to them vary widely. Net receipts, if any, would therefore be available for supplementing other resources for the Plan.

### Sinking Funds

20. Sinking Funds are built out of appro-In certain states, from current revenues. priations part of the appropriations from current reve-nues is also invested in securities. We have elsewhere taken the view that provision for appropriation for reduction or avoidance of debt need not be treated as a legitimate charge on revenue account. Consistent with this decision we have decided to leave net accretions to Sinking Funds out of the present exercise.

### Other Funds

21. Some States make large provisions towards various funds on the expenditure side of the revenue budget. The provision so earmarked are then transferred to Public Account. From the Public Account the funds are retransferred to revenue account to the extent necessary for meeting specific purposes either of maintenance or developmental nature. Thus, for example, a State may make a provision of Rs. 10 crores in a year towards the Road Fund and then retransfer, say, Rs. 2 crores to the revenue account for meeting the cost of maintenance of roads, the balance being utilised either for fresh road works or other Plan programmes. Transfers of this nature are particularly large in some of the States with substantial revenue surplus. We have analysed the nature of these funds and have taken the view that provisions in revenue account towards the funds should be allowed only to the extent dictated by the needs of current maintenance as reflected in the concerned heads of expenditure. In other words, if the forecasts of States disclose that States have to draw on the Road Fund only upto Rs. 2 crores for maintenance of roads per year, then the provision for the Road Fund is also to be restricted to the same figure. There will thus be no net accretion to the fund on the capital account which could be set off against the non-Plan gap.

### Suspense and Remittances

22. We have looked into past trends under Suspense and Remittance heads, and feel that the net receipts or disbursements under these items should be left completely out of consideration in working out the non-Plan capital gap figures, because the receipts and disbursements under these heads are expected to balance over a period of time.

## Depreciation Reserves of autonomous enterprises

23. Depreciation reserves and retained profits of State Electricity Boards, State Road Transport Corporations and other autonomous corporations form part of the resources of the Plan. But in the Fourth Plan period, the contribution of public enterprises at pre-Plan tariffs was taken as part of the States' non-Plan budgets and in the case of States having overall non-Plan gaps, it was not available for financing the State Plans. Most of the State Governments have urged that depreciation reserves of autonomous corporations are intended for either replacement of their existing assets or for acquisition of new assets and expansion. It would be unfair to set them off against the non-Plan capital liability or, in other words, for the discharge of loan repayments to the Government of India. We consider that this plea of the State Governments is reasonable and have, therefore, excluded the net accretions to depreciation reserves of autonomous corporations in the appraisal of the non-Plan capital gaps of the States.

### **Cash** balances

24. We have carefully considered whether the opening and closing cash balances of State Governments and the securities held by them should be set off against their non-Plan capital gaps. The eash balances of State Governments are not expected to be large because these balances, in excess of certain limits, will always be kept invested in treasury bills and/or securities. We feel that to set off the value of such securities against the non-Plan capital liability of the States would be to penalise them for past prudence. We have, therefore, ignored the value of securities held by the State Governments in determining the non-Plan capital gap.

25. To conclude, in working out the non-Plan capital gap of the States, we have taken the following receipts and disbursements on capital account:

- (a) Capital Receipts
  - (i) Recoveries of loans and advances.
  - (ii) State provident funds.
- (iii) Civil deposits.
- (iv) Inter-State debt settlement
- (b) Capital Disbursements
  - (i) Repayment of loans to Centre (excluding small savings loans).
  - (ii) Loans to Government servants for purchase of vehicles.
- (iii) Compensation bonds (to the extent they relate to abolition of intermediaries).

26. The difference between the capital receipts and capital disbursements, as set out above, constitutes the non-Plan capital gap.

### Π

### NON-PLAN CAPITAL GAP: ASSESSMENT

### **Recoveries of loans & advances**

27. The forecasts of receipts and disbursements furnished by the State Governments had to be reassessed by us on a uniform and comparable basis. In view of the falling standards of performance of State Governments in effecting recoveries of loans disbursed by them to third parties, we considered it desirable to obtain information on loans likely to be outstanding at the end of 1973-74 categorywise and to determine the amounts that could be recovered by the State Governments given the necessary will and determination. In so estimating recoveries of loans, we had to leave out the loans advanced by the State Governments to State Electricity Boards, because the latter in view of their poor working results, can hardly be expected to repay any loans to the State Governments during the Fifth Plan period. The Electricity Supply Act also accords low priority to the repayment of loans by the State Electricity Boards. We have, therefore, not taken credit for any recoveries in respect of loans by the State Governments to the Electricity Boards. In respect of other loans we have assumed that the State Governments should be able to recover 90 per cent of the amounts falling due for repayment in the period from 1974-75 to 1978-79.

28. While the State Governments have furnished us figures of loans likely to be outstanding as at the end of 1973-74, they could not generally supply similar information on the amounts actually falling due for recovery during each of the five years of the Fifth Plan period. This is presumably because the detailed accounts of many categories of these loans are kept at district and lower levels. We have, therefore, been constrained to make some broad estimates Statewise of the amounts falling due for recovery during the Fifth Plan period. Loans have been advanced by the State Governments for a variety of purposes. The terms of repayment are also diverse. While some loans are repayable within comparatively short periods of five to seven years, the period of repayment of other loans such as those for water supply schemes and the like may be for longer periods. But as against this, it should be remembered that a significant percentage of the outstanding loans at the end of 1973-74 would have been advanced a number of years back and the period of repayment yet left would be relatively short. Keeping this in view, we have assumed that the residuary period of repayment of loans would on the average be 10 years as at the end of 1973-74, and that on this basis 50 per cent of the outstanding amounts would fall due for repayment during the five years of the forecast period. This would mean that allowing for default up to 10 per cent the recovery of loans could be estimated at 45 per cent of the amounts outstanding at the end of 1973-74.

29. Our discussions with the representatives of some of the State Governments revealed that this assumption about the balance of the period of repayment of outstanding loans would not be far wide off the mark. In making this assumption, we derive support also from the observed relationship between Central loans outstanding against the State Governments and the actual schedule of repayment as indicated by the State Governments for the Fifth Plan priod. The repayments of loans due from the State Governments to the Government of India during the Fifth Plan period work out to approximately 50 per cent of the Central loans outstanding in 1973-74. In other words, the outstanding loans have on the average a further period of 10 years to run. We should normally expect the pattern of repayment of loans advanced by the States to third parties to conform to the terms of their own borrowings from the Government of India.

30. We have reassessed the recoveries of loans and advances to be made by State Governments on the lines indicated above. Where the State Government's own estimates were higher than warranted by our norms, we have adopted their higher estimates without any change. Statewise figures of recoveries of loans and advances as reassessed by us in this manner are indicated below:

### Recoveries of loans and advances : 1974-79

						(Rs. 1a	khs)
States						As assumed by the State Govern- ments in their forecasts	As reassess- ed
1			·			2	3
1. Andhra Pra	ıdesh					40,00	50,50
2. Assam .						4,18	12,35
3. Bihar .		•				50,00	50,00
4. Gujarat						39,75	54,11
5. Haryana					•	14,39	14,39
6. Himachal P	rades	h			•	4,33	4,33
7. Jammu & H	Kashr	nir			•	12,31	12,31
8. Kerala .						14,13	26,67
9. Madhya Pra	adesh					26,92	41,22
10. Maharashtra	a					1,71,03	1,71,03
11. Manipur						2,45	2,45
12. Meghalaya		•				30	31
13. Mysore					•	36,25	74,66
14. Nagaland		•	•	-	•	2,12	2,12
15. Orissa .	•	•	•	•		21,89	21,89
16. Punjab	•		•			61,50	61,50
17. Rajasthan	·	•		÷	•	27,00	33,22
18. Tamil Nadu	1				•	59, <b>21</b>	59,21
19. Tripura	٠	•				3,43	3,43
20. Uttar Prade	sh	·		•		90,77	90,77
21. West Benga	l	•	•	•	•	22,50	94,20
TOTAL						7,04,46	8,80,67

It appears to us that in many of the States there is no effective monitoring of the loans advanced to third parties and arrears are allowed to accumulate to serious proportions. A more energetic and purposeful drive for recovery of the loans due to State Governments should be accorded high priority in any programme for mobilisation of resources for the Plan. While there is room for improvement in the present pace of recovery of loans in almost all the States, Andhra Pradesh, Assam, Kerala, Madhya Pradesh, Mysore, Rajasthar and West Bengal would, in particular, have to put forth special efforts if the assumptions made by us in regard to recovery of loans in their cases are to materialise. To the extent their efforts fall short of our minimum expectations, they run the risk of the resource base of their Plans being eroded.

#### State Provident Funds

31. We have reassessed the forecasts of receipts indicated under this head by the State Governments on the basis of a growth rate of 5 per cent per annum on the actual net receipts in 1971-72. In Madhya Pradesh, 50 per cent of the additional dearness allowance allowed by the State Government, in the past, is at present credited to the provident funds of the employees. The State Government have argued that it would not be realistic to assume continuance of the existing arrangements indefinitely and that, therefore, no credit should be assumed during the Fifth Plan period for this extraordinary element in the accrual of subscriptions to the provident fund even though the State Government's initial forecast to the Commission had assumed such credits. The point made by the State Government is valid and we have accordingly made suitable downward adjustments in the figures furnished by the State Government under State Provident Fund. Statewise estimates of accruals to provident fund as reassessed by us will be found in Annexure II.

#### **Civil Deposits**

32. The net accretion under Civil deposits fluctuates considerably from year to year. Accordingly, we have considered it expedient to project the receipts for the forecast period on the basis of average net credits during the four years ending with 1971-72.

#### Inter-State debt settlement

33. We have taken the estimates of inter-State debt settlement as indicated by the State Governments in their forecasts.

#### **Repayment of loans to Centre**

34. Repayment of loans to Central Government, which constitute by far the most important element under capital disbursements, were verified for us by the State Accountants General with reference to the terms of repayment of outstanding loans. In respect of loans to be received by the State Governments in 1973-74, we have been guided by the State Governments' own estimates except to the extent that clearer indications to the contrary were available from the information obtained from the Ministry of Finance. The category-wise details of loans outstanding in each State are indicated in Appendix XIV. As explained earlier, repayment of small savings loans to the Central Government have been excluded since these repayments in terms of our recommendations could be effected out of fresh loans to be received by the State Governments towards their share of small savings collections.

#### Loans to Government Servants

35. As regards loans to Government servants for purchase of vehicles, we have taken the actuals of 1971-72 as the base and allowed for an increase of 5 per cent per annum.

### **Compensation** bonds

36. Provision for compensation bonds has been made in the forecasts of only a few of the State Governments. The estimates as indicated by the State Governments and as finally adopted by us in the light of our discussions with the State Governments are indicated in Annexure II.

37. On the basis of the several assumptions spelt out in some detail in the preceding paragraphs, the non-Plan capital gaps of State Governments are expected to be of the order indicated below :---

### Non-Plan Capital Gaps during the Fifth Plan period

							(R	s. lai	khs)
	States		<b>-</b>						Non- Plan Capital Gap as cassessed
1.	Andhra Pr	adesh				•	•		2,24,31
2.	Assam								1,75,22
3.	Bihar								1,48,63
4.	Gujarat		•						22,35
	Haryana	•							53,81
	Himachal	Prades	h						40,20
7.	Jammu &	Kashr	nir						1,42,30
8.	Kerala .								1,25,61
9.	Madhya P	radesh							74,52
10.	Maharash	ra							()45,87
11.		•						ż	15,31
12.		ι.						÷	7,71
	Mysore			-					1,31,99
	Nagaland							÷	5,74
15.	Orissa .								1,72,00
	Punjab								()18,51
	Rajasthan								2,88,46
18.		lu						÷	90,93
	Tripura								14,25
	Uttar Prac	lesh						ż	1,72,38
	West Beng		•	•	•	•	•	•	1,53,28
	Total	<u>.</u>	•	•	•	•	•		19,94,62

These gaps are exclusive of the liabilities anticipated on account of repayment of fresh loans from the Centre for the period 1974-75 to 1978-79.

### CAPITAL EXPENDITURE OUTSIDE THE REVENUE ACCOUNT

- 92. Pa ment of compensation to landholders, etc. on the abolition of the Zamindari System.
- 94. Ca ital outlay on improvements to public health.
- 95. Capital outlay on schemes of agricultural improvement and research.
- 96. Capital outlay on industrial and economic development.
- 98. Capital outlay on multipurpose river schemes.
- 99. Capital outlay on irrigation, navigation, embankment and drainage works (Commercial).
- 100. Capital outlay on irrigation, navigation, embankment and drainage works (Non-Commercial).
- 101. Capital outlay on electricity schemes.
- 103. Capital outlay on public works.
- 109. Capital outlay on other works.
- 114. Capital outlay on road and water transport schemes.
- 119. Capital outlay on forests.
- 120. Payments of commuted value of pensions.
- 124. Capital outlay on schemes of Government trading.
- 125. Appropriation to the contingency Fund.
  - 0 Public Debt.
  - I. Permanent Debt.
  - 11. Floating Debt.
  - III. Loans from the Central Government.
    - A. Ways and means advances.
    - B. Short-term loans for purchase and distribution of fertilisers.
    - C. Short-term loans for pesticides and seeds.
    - D. Loans against share of small savings.
    - E. Other Loans.

- IV. Other loans.
  - Q. Loans and advances by the State Government.
    - Advances to cultivators

Short-term Loans to co-operative Central Land Mortgage Bank and the Industrial Investment Corporation.

Loans under the State Aid to Industries Act.

Other Loans (Local Bodies, Government servants etc.).

- R. Inter-State Settlements.
  - (a) State loans bearing interest.
  - (b) Other transactions.
- TOTAL I-Consolidated Fund.
- II. Contingency Fund.
- III. Public Account
  S. Unfunded Debt.
  State Provident Funds
  Savings Bank Deposits.
  Others.
  T. Deposits and Advances.\*

I. Deposits Bearing Interest— Deposits of depreciation reserves of Government commercial concerns and other deposits.
Electricity Board deposits.
Housing Board deposits.
Small Industries Corporation.
Agro-Industries Corporation.
Deposits of Khadi and Village Industries Board.
Deposits of Local Funds.
II. Deposits not bearing interest—

 (a) Sinking Funds—
 Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of debt—
 Sinking Funds.
 Sinking Fund investment account.

\*This is only illustrative. The Major Heads of Account in this Section differ from State to State.

- (b) Reserve Funds Famine Relief Fund-
  - A. Famine Relief Fund.

B. Investment Account Zamindari Abolition Fund Depreciation Reserve Fund-Government Non-commercial undertakings Depreciation Reserve Fund-Road Transport. Investment Account. Insurance Fund of commercial concerns. Religious Charitable Hindu and Endowment Fund Investment Account. Sugarcane Cess Fund.

- State Agricultural Credit Relief and Guarantee Fund.
- Fund for the improvement of milk Supply.
- C. Other Deposit Accounts— Deposits of Local Funds— District Funds.
  - Library Funds.

Municipal and other funds.

- Other Miscellaneous Funds.
- State Khadi and Village Industries Board Deposits.
- Departmental and Judicial Deposits—

Civil Deposits.

- Other Accounts-
- Subventions from Central Road Fund.
- Deposit Account of the grant made by the Indian Central Cotton Committee.

- Deposit Account of the grant made by the Indian Council of Agricultural Research.
- Deposit Account of grants made by the Indian Central Oil Seeds Committee.
- Deposit Account of Grants

made by the Indian Central Coconut Committee.

- Deposit Account of Grants made by the Indian Central Arecanut Committee.
- Deposit Account of Revolving Fund under World Food Programme 348.
- Deposit Account of Grant made by the Council of Scientific and Industrial Research.
- Deposit Account of the Grant From the Ford Foundation for Package Programme.

Deposit Account of Grant. made by the National Co-operative Development Corporation and Ware-Housing Board. Other Deposit Accounts

III. Advances not bearing interest-

Departmental Advances.

Permanent Advances Accounts with the Government of Pakistan.

Accounts with the Reserve Bank.

- IV. Suspense—
   Cash Balance Investment Account Cheques and Bills.
   Departmental and Similar Accounts Other Suspense Accounts.
- V. Miscellaneous-Miscellaneous Government Account.

Non-Plan Capital Gap: 1974-79

(Rs. Lakhs)

	Capital Receipts						Non-plan			
States	Recoveries of loans and advances.	Provi- dent	Provi- depo- lent sits		Inter- Total State (2 to 5) Debt settlement (net)		Loans to Govern- ment servants for con- veyance	Compen- sation bonds	Total (7 to 9)	Capital Gap (10—6)
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1. Andhra Pradesh .	5,050	2,250	380		7,680	29,866	200	45	30,111	22,431
2. Assam	1,235	662	430	68	2,395	19,872	45		19,917	17,522
3. Bihar	5,000	2,950	1,280	—	9,230	23,463	295	335	24,093	14,863
4. Gujarat	5,411	3,000	1,000	_	9,411	11,432	114	100	11,646	2,235
5. Haryana	1,439	1,165	470		3,074	8,310	145	_	8,455	5,381
6. Himachal Pradesh .	433	1,350	594		2,378	6,334	57	7	6,398	4,020
7. Jammu & Kashmir	1,231	1,204	200	-	2,635	16,765	100		16,865	14,230
8. Kerala	2,667	3,959	130		6,756	19,132	185		19,317	12,561
9. Madhya Pradesh .	4,122	5,010	800	<b>—</b>	9,932	17,284	100	—	17,384	7,452
10. Maharashtra	17,103	8,738	1,460	_	27,301	22,539	175		22,714	—4,587
11. Manipur	245	55	25	_	325	1,846	10		1,856	1,531
12. Meghalaya .	31	95	70	()68	128	891	8	<u></u>	899	771
13. Mysore	7,466	1,600	757		9,823	22,822	200		23,022	13,199
14. Nagaland	212	136	50		398	967	5	—	972	574
15. Orissa	2,189	1,669	203		4,061	21,031	230	_	21,261	17,200
16. Punjab	6,150	2,541	1,200		9,891	7,890	150		8,040	-1,851
17. Rajasthan .	3,322	2,775	100		6,197	34,605	38	400	35,043	28,846
18. Tamil Nadu .	5,921	3,050	1,070		10,041	18,716	310	108	19,134	9,093
19. Tripura	343	270	3		616	2,006	35		2,041	1,425
20. Uttar Pradesh .	9,077	6,910	812		16,799	31,912	225	1,900	34,037	17,238
21. West Bengal .	9,420	2,806	1,585	-	13,811	25,994	145	3,000	29,139	15,328
Total	88,067	50,195	12,620		1,52,882	3,43,677	2,772	5,895	3,52,344	1,99,462

\*Excluding share in Small Savings.

### CHAPTER XVII

### REVISION OF TERMS OF REPAYMENT OF OUTSTANDING CENTRAL LOANS TO THE STATES

Paragraph 5 of the Presidential Order setting up the Commission defines the task of the Commission in regard to the assessment of the non-Plan capital gap and the review of the debt position of the States in the following words :---

"The Commission may make an assessment of the non-Plan capital gap of the States on a uniform and comparable basis for the five years ending with 1978-79. In the light of such an assessment, the Commission may undertake a general review of the States' debt position with particular reference to the Central loans advanced to them and likely to be outstanding as at the end of 1973-74 and suggest changes in the existing terms of repayment having regard *inter-alia* to the overall non-Plan gap of the States, their relative position and the purposes for which the loans have been utilised and the requirements of the Centre."

2. The total debt burden of the States including public debt and unfunded debt rose from Rs. 449 crores in 1952 to Rs. 9,568 crores in 1972 and is expected to be Rs. 11,670 crores by the end March, 1974. The bulk of the outstanding debt of the State Governments is accounted for by the loans obtained by the States from the Central Government. In 1952, loans taken from the Central Government constituted just over 53 per cent of the total debt of the State Governments; but by the end of 1972 these had risen to over 70 per cent. In absolute terms, the outstanding loans from the Central Government would have gone up from Rs. 196 crores at the end of 1973-74. These figures testify to the phenomenal increase in the States' debt to the Centre. Though the burden of servicing of loans owed by the States to the public and autonomous financial institutions cannot be altogether ignored, we are primarily con-cerned with the analysis and treatment of the problem of repayment of Central loans.

3. While the mounting debt liabilities of the States have attracted considerable attention in various forms in recent years, we would like to observe that there is nothing intrinsically alarming about this growth of public debt. The continuous increase in the indebtedness of the States to the Centre only reflects the assistance provided by the Centre to the States year after year for financing not only their Plan outlays but also for meeting the non-Plan needs such as those arising from relief expenditure on natural calamities. In other words, the magnitude of the debt burden of any State as at the end of the Fourth Plan is also a measure of the assistance that the State concerned has secured from the Centre.

4. On this question of creditor-debtor relationship between Centre and States, the memoranda of State Governments propound a common theme. They urge that a broad distinction should be drawn between productive and unproductive debt and that on the basis of such a classification a significant percentage of the debt should be written off. One State has suggested 50 per cent write-off. Support for such views can also be found in some passages of the report of the Study Team on Centre-State relations of the Administrative Reforms Commission. Taking a com-posite view of Central and State finances, it is true that the clearance of the debt liabilities of the States to the Centre in whole or in part would hardly make any difference to the resources position. But this and similar arguments in favour of write-off overlook one important point. Recoveries of old loans enable the Centre to re-lend the amounts so realised to States on the basis of criteria that can be revised from time to time to promote certain national priorities and to bring about a progressive reduction of regional disparities.

5. To write-off old loans on the ground that they have been utilised for unproductive purposes or for any other reason would be to reduce the pool of resources available with the Centre. Since a significant part of the loans outstanding had been obtained by relatively advanced States at a time when the emphasis on accelerated growth of backward areas was less pronounced, the scaling down of debt, however, carefully designed, would help the advanced States to a greater extent than these States which, on account of inadequate capacity for implementation of developmental programmes or lack of suitable schemes, had not been able to draw on their due share of Central loan assistance in the past. It can no doubt be argued that even if write-off of a portion of the existing debt benefits the advanced States relatively more, it can be offset by re-adjustment of the relative shares in the Central assistance for Plans to the required extent. Thus, while write-off of debt will leave the Centre with less resources for financing a new Plan, this reduced amount can be distributed with a more pronounced slant in favour of the backward States. In the extreme case, where write-off of a portion of debt is found to confer on an advanced State resources adequate for fulfilling a reasonable Plan, fresh Central assistance for the Plan may be denied to it altogether. We do not deny that action on these lines is, in principle, possible. Nevertheless, having

### CHAPTER XVII

### REVISION OF TERMS OF REPAYMENT OF OUTSTANDING CENTRAL LOANS TO THE STATES

Paragraph 5 of the Presidential Order setting up the Commission defines the task of the Commission in regard to the assessment of the non-Plan capital gap and the review of the debt position of the States in the following words :---

"The Commission may make an assessment of the non-Plan capital gap of the States on a uniform and comparable basis for the five years ending with 1978-79. In the light of such an assessment, the Commission of the may undertake a general review States' debt position with particular reference to the Central loans advanced to them and likely to be outstanding as at the end of 1973-74 and suggest changes in the existing terms of repayment having regard inter-alia to the overall non-Plan gap of the States, their relative position and the purposes for which the loans have been utilised and the requirements of the Centre."

2. The total debt burden of the States including public debt and unfunded debt rose from Rs. 449 crores in 1952 to Rs. 9,568 crores in 1972 and is expected to be Rs. 11,670 crores by the end of March, 1974. The bulk of the outstanding debt of the State Governments is accounted for by the loans obtained by the States from the Central Government. In 1952, loans taken from the Central Government constituted just over 53 per cent of the total debt of the State Governments; but by the end of 1972 these had risen to over 70 per cent. In absolute terms, the outstanding loans from the Central Government would have gone up from Rs. 196 crores at the end of March, 1951 to Rs. 8,536 crores by the end of 1973-74. These figures testify to the phenomenal increase in the States' debt to the Centre. Though the burden of servicing of loans owed by the States to the public and autonomous financial institutions cannot be altogether ignored, we are primarily concerned with the analysis and treatment of the problem of repayment of Central loans.

3. While the mounting debt liabilities of the States have attracted considerable attention in various forms in recent years, we would like to observe that there is nothing intrinsically alarming about this growth of public debt. The continuous increase in the indebtedness of the States to the Centre only reflects the assistance provided by the Centre to the States year after year for financing not only their Plan outlays but also for meeting the non-Plan needs such as those arising from relief expenditure on natural calamities. In other words, the magnitude of the debt burden of any State as at the end of the Fourth Plan is also a measure of the assistance that the State concerned has secured from the Centre.

4. On this question of creditor-debtor relationship between Centre and States, the memoranda of State Governments propound a common theme. They urge that a broad distinction should be drawn between productive and unproductive debt and that on the basis of such a classification a significant percentage of the debt should be written off. One State has suggested 50 per cent write-off. Support for such views can also be found in some passages of the report of the Study Team on Centre-State relations of the Administrative Reforms Commission. Taking a com-posite view of Central and State finances, it is true that the clearance of the debt liabilities of the States to the Centre in whole or in part would hardly make any difference to the resources position. But this and similar arguments in favour of write-off overlook one important point. Recoveries of old loans enable the Centre to re-lend the amounts so realised to States on the basis of criteria that can be revised from time to time to promote certain national priorities and to bring about a progressive reduction of regional disparities.

5. To write-off old loans on the ground that they have been utilised for unproductive purposes or for any other reason would be to reduce the pool െ resources available with the Centre. Since a significant part of the loans outstanding had been obtained by relatively advanced States at a time when the emphasis on accelerated growth of backward areas was less pronounced, the scaling down of debt, how-ever, carefully designed, would help the advanced States to a greater extent than these States which, on account of inadequate capacity for implementation of developmental programmes or lack of suitable schemes, had not been able to draw on their due share of Central loan assistance in the past. It can no doubt be argued that even if write-off of a portion of the existing debt benefits the advanced States relatively more, it can be offset by re-adjustment of the relative shares in the Central assistance for Plans to the required extent. Thus, while write-off of debt will leave the Centre with less resources for financing a new Plan, this reduced amount can be distributed with a more pronounced slant in favour of the backward States. In the extreme case, where write-off of a portion of debt is found to confer on an advanced State resources adequate for fulfilling a reasonable Plan, fresh Central assistance for the Plan may be denied to it altogether. We do not deny that action on these lines is, in principle, possible. Nevertheless, having

### ANNEXURE II

### Non-Plan Capital Gap: 1974-79

(Rs. Lakhs)

States			Capital 1	Receipts			Non alas				
	States	Recoveries State of loans Provi- and dent advances. Funds		Civil Inter- depo-State sits Debt settlem (net)		Total (2 to 5)	Repay- ment of loans to Centre	Loans to Govern- ment servants for con- veyance	Compen- sation bonds	Total (7 to 9)	Non-pla Capital Gap (10—6)
	1	2	3.	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1.	Andhra Pradesh .	5,050	2,250	380		7,680	29,866	200	45	30,111	22,431
2.	Assam . ,	1,235	662	430	68	2,395	19,872	45	_	1 <b>9,917</b>	17,522
3.	Bihar	5,000	2,950	1,280		9,230	23,463	295	335	24,093	14,863
4.	Gujarat	5,411	3,000	1,000	—	9,411	11,432	114	100	11,646	2,235
5.	Haryana	1,439	1,165	470		3,074	8,310	145	—	8,455	5,381
6.	Himachal Pradesh .	433	1 <b>,350</b>	594	_	2,378	6,334	57	7	6,398	4,020
7.	Jammu & Kashmir	1,231	1,204	200		2,635	16,765	100	_	16,865	14,230
8.	Kerala	2,667	3,959	130		6,756	19,132	185		19,317	12,561
9.	Madhya Pradesh	4,122	5,010	800	—	9,932	17,284	100	—	17,384	7,452
10.	Maharashtra .	17,103	8,738	1,460	-	27,301	22,539	175	. —	22,714	4,587
11.	Manipur	245	55	25		325	1,846	10		1,856	1,53;
12.	Meghalaya .	31	95	70	(—)68	128	891	8		899	771
13.	Mysore	7,466	1, <b>600</b>	757	-	9,823	22,822	200		23,022	13,19
14.	Nagaland .	212	136	50	_	398	967	5		972	574
15.	Orissa	2,189	1,669	203	—	4,061	21,031	230	—	21,261	17,200
16.	Punjab	6,150	2,541	1,200	_	9,891	7,890	150		8,040	-1,85
17.	Rajasthan .	3,322	2,775	100	. —	6,197	34,605	38	400	35,043	28,84
18.	Tamil Nadu	5,921	3,050	1,070	_	<b>10,04</b> 1	18,716	310	108	19,134	9,09
19.	Tripura	343	270	3	_	616	2,006	35		2,041	1,425
20.	Uttar Pradesh	<b>9,0</b> 77	6,910	812	—	16,799	31,912	225	1,900	34,037	17,238
21.	West Bengal .	9,420	2,806	1,585	_	13,811	25,994	145	3,000	29,139	15,328
	Total	88,067	50,195	12,620		1,52,882	3,43,677	2,772	5,895	3,52,344	1,99,462

\*Excluding share in Small Savings.

÷

÷

.

100

1

>

đ

83

regard to the fact that the principles of Central assistance for State Plans in a federal democracy such as ours can be formulated only on the basis of a national consensus, the room for re-adjustment of principles of Central assistance will be comparatively small. While weightage for social and economic backwardness may increasingly receive greater recognition in the principles of distribution of Central assistance, one cannot expect it to be of such an order as to offset fully the effects of the serious shrinkage in Central resources bound to be caused by the liquidation of any significant part of outstanding Central loans. It may be relevant in this connection to mention that apprehensions of this nature have been expressed to us. The Government of Assam, in their Memorandum, has pointed out that they recognised that :

> "writing-off of all outstanding debts will not be correct solution of the problem as this will mean a corresponding reduction in the resources available to the Centre for financing the national Plan and all the States and the financially weaker States in particular will be victims of this policy....."

The suggestions put forward by most of the State Governments for a large scale write-off of debt cannot therefore be upheld.

6. The conversion of the whole or part of the outstanding debt into grant on the basis of a distinction between productive and unproductive debt does not appear to be a practicable proposition for another important reason. In the course of their discussions with us, the State Governments were generally inclined to concede that loans for such purposes as irrigation and power projects, industrial enterprises and road transport could be considered productive. But on a closer look at the working results of the so called 'productive' schemes, the proposed classification between productive and unproductive debt would seem to have almost a touch of irony about it. There are transport schemes which do not cover even working expenses let alone depreciation and interest. There are electricity projects that are unable to provide even for depreciation. There are irrigation projects, receipts from which are inadequate to meet even the costs of maintenance. There are also many industrial enterprises which incur losses. There is practically no State in which the returns from productive schemes are large enough to provide for both payment of interest and amortisation. We would, therefore, be purcuing with of the wisp if we seek to formulate any scheme of debt relief on the basis of a distinction between productive and unproductive debt.

7. We also found that it would be a futile exercise to regulate debt relief with reference to the relative position of assets and liabilities of the State Government. The one formidable snag in this approach is that some of the assets and liabilities shown in Finance Accounts of the States cannot be taken at their face value. Thus, for example, loans to cultivators, sick mills, refugees, repatriates, figure as assets in the books of the States; but no reliable estimate can be S/19 M of Fin./73—12. made of the extent to which these loans would be eventually recoverable. As against this the present Government value of some assets, as for example, buildings and forests will be much higher than is apparent from the Finance Accounts of the States. It may also be worthwhile to mention here that no comprehensive inventory has been made of assets such as lands and buildings held by the State Governments. To this extent the Finance Accounts - d0 not reveal a complete picture of the "wealth" of the State Governments. We are, therefore, led to the view that a practical scheme of debt relief cannot be framed with reference to the relationship between the assets and liabilities of the State Governments.

8. A scheme, commanding the widest measure of agreement and meeting some of the pressing needs of the States, can be framed only on the basis of scrutiny of the numerous categories of loans, the purposes for which they have been utilised, the relative position of the States and the schedule of repayment actually arising in our forecast period. Such an approach is also enjoined on us by the terms of reference.

9. Any scheme of debt relief in the present context of Centre-State financial relations should subserve both short-term and long-term objectives. The longterm objective should be to determine afresh the period of repayment of different categories of loans with due regard to the nature of the scheme and the relative debt burden of the States. But the more immediate and pressing short-term objective that cannot be over-looked is to enable States to have a reasonable Fifth Plan. This can be facilitated only by reducing their non-Plan capital gaps to manageable limits. We are fully conscious of the fact that our proposals for debt relief are concerned primarily with mitigating the burden of repayment in the Fifth Plan period and that they do not make an enduring contribution to the long-term issues of a more satisfactory creditor-debtor relationship between Centre and States. In justification of this approach, we would urge that most of the States, particularly the financially weaker and backward States, should be vitally interested in securing as much relief as possible in the next five years so that they could take on a Fifth Plan of reasonable dimensions. This would strengthen their economies and enable them to service their large Central debt in future.

10. The consolidation of the numerous outstanding Central loans and simplification of their terms of repayment have also engaged our attention. The loans given by the Centre to the States and expected to be outstanding in 1973-74 number over 12,000. The terms of these loans such as rate of interest, period of repayment, period of grace and the like also reveal a bewildering variety. The introduction of an element of order and coherence in the present chaotic situation would descrive to be given the highest priority irrespective of whether or not the States need debt relief. It was quite a task to obtain within the time available to us details of all current loans, examine each one of them and then classify them under certain broad and meaningful categories. This work could be completed in time only because of the unstinted co-operation we received from the Finance Departments of the State Governments, State Accountants General and the Union Ministries. Perhaps, the scheme of consolidation of Central Ioan we have outlined may admit of even further simplification. But what we have proposed is an essential first instalment of reform that will make an immediate and perceptible contribution to the simplification of the enormous accounting work entailed by the recovery of interest and instalments of principal on thousands of loans.

11. As a first step in the formulation of a scheme of debt relief, we requested the State Governments to furnish item-wise details of all loans expected to be outstanding at the end of 1973-74 and in respect of which one or more instalments were due for repayment in the Fifth Plan period. This information was obtained in three parts :---

- (a) Loans obtained upto 1971-72 and likely to be outstanding at the end of 1973-74 together with the corresponding schedule of repayment over the Fifth Plan.
- (b) Loans obtained during 1972-73 and likely to be outstanding at the end of 1973-74 together with corresponding schedule of repayment over the Fifth Plan, and
- (c) Loans likely to be received in 1973-74 in respect of which repayment would arise in the Fifth Plan period.

Data on loans drawn by the States from the Centre upto the end of 1971-72 and the schedule of repayment of such loans over the Fifth Plan period were verified for us by the State Accountants General. Similar information furnished by the State Govern-ments on loans obtained by them in 1972-73 has also been verified through the State Accountants General. But it should be recognised that data on loans of 1972-73 may well undergo some marginal changes when the accounts for the year are finalised. As regards loans likely to be obtained by the States in 1973-74, we have relied mainly on the data supplied by the State Governments based on their anticipation of receipts of loans for the year. But we have also had these figures cross-checked with reference to the information furnished by the Ministry of Finance on block loans, special accommodation and loans for natural calamities obtained upto the end of August, 1973 and have made corrections to the extent necessary in the data furnished by the State Governments. Statewise estimates of loans for 1973-74, as furnished by the State Governments together with modifications made by us, are indicated in Table 3 in Appendix XIV. To the extent that the actuals of 1973-74 turn out to be different, our estimates of the relief likely to be secured by the States under the scheme outlined in this Chapter will also undergo some changes.

12. While information has been obtained on all loans outstanding, it would have been virtually impossible to spell out revised terms for each of these loans individually with reference to whatever considerations may be considered relevant. It is needless also to emphasis that in such an item-wise approach, there is a very real risk of losing sight of the larger considerations. We have, therefore, classified the loans outstanding into certain broad but well-defined categories and have proposed for each category a suitable revised pattern of repayment so as to afford in the process some relief to the States.

13. It will be useful at this stage to invite attention to some of the implications of our terms of reference in so far as they pertain to the revision of the terms of repayment of Central loans. Our terms of reference stipulate that in suggesting revision of the terms of repayment of outstanding loans we should have regard for the purposes for which the loans have been utilised. This seems to imply that all the States would be entitled to a measure of relief with reference to the nature of the scheme for which the loans have been obtained. Even apart from this, we are convinced that it would be grossly unfair and would amount to penalising prudent financial manage-ment, if relief to certain States were denied only on the ground that they are relatively better off or have non-Plan surpluses. While under our scheme of rescheduling, States which are surplus get significantly smaller relief than the others, none-the-less they do emerge with their surpluses on non-Plan capital account somewhat enlarged. This cannot be helped. At the same time, our terms of reference require that we should have regard among other things to the relative position of the States and their position on non-Plan account. It is, therefore, clear that relief cannot be on a uniform basis and that a degree of discrimination is inevitable. We delineate in some detail later in this Chapter the precise manner in which such discriminating relief is to be assured to the States in need of it. All that we would like to point out at this stage is that the final scheme of debt relief emerging from our proposals is an amalgam of uniform relief in respect of certain categories of loans and discriminatory relief based on certain valid principles in regard to others.

14. For purposes of analysis and determination of the treatment to be accorded to the thousands of loans outstanding, we have found it convenient to draw a distinction between non-Plan and Plan loans. We should hasten to add that this distinction is made only for purposes of facilitating analysis and should not be considered as hard and fast one. In fact some of the non-Plan loans such as small savings loans and Central loans in lieu of open market loans have been used for financing the Plan. It is also possible to argue that in essence even special accommodation loans and loans for clearance of overdrafts have been used for Plan programmes because in their absence the States would have been compelled to curtail their Plan outlays appreciably. All the same the distinction between Plan and non-Plan loans still serves a useful purpose. While Plan loans have generally been subject to agreed ceilings determined on the basis of certain principles uniformly applicable to all States, non-Plan loans have been generally advanced as and when the needs arose as in the case of drought relief or on the basis of performance of the States concerned as in the case of small savings loans.

### NON-PLAN LOANS

15. Confining our attention for the present to non-Plan loans we have found it convenient to classify these loans into the following categories :

- (i) Small savings loans
- (ii) Loans in lieu of open market borrowings
- (iii) Loans for strengthening of Police and provision of amenities :
  - (a) Scheme for modernisation of Police, and
  - (b) Police housing.
- (iv) Loans for relief and rehabilitation of
  - (a) Goldsmiths,
  - (b) Displaced persons from Pakistan,
  - (c) Repatriates from Burma and Sri Lanka etc., and
  - (d) Loans for other relief and rehabilitation schemes.
- (v) Pre-autonomy debt
- (vi) Miscellaneous non-Plan loans
- (vii) Loans for clearance of overdrafts
- (viii) Loans for meeting gaps in resources
- (ix) Loans for relief of distress caused by natural calamities, and
- (x) Special accommodation loans.

#### Small Savings Loans :

16. Most of the State Governments have urged that loans given to them towards their share of the net collections under small savings scheme in the respective States should be treated as loans in perpetuity. They have argued that as their entitlement to these loans is now worked out with reference to the net collections under small savings scheme, it is only far that the Union Government should not insist on re-A critical analysis of the payment of the loans. evolution of the sharing arrangements on small savings schemes leaves us with the impression that these loans have been given to the States largely as an inducement to join the Centre in a co-operative effort to mobilise small savings. Net collections within the States would thus seem to be only a convenient yard-stick for determining the quantum of loans given to each State. There is, therefore, no strong justification for treating these loans as loans in perpetuity. We would also like to stress that treatment of small savings loans as loans in perpetuity would confer disproportionally larger benefits on some of the advanced States and defeat the crucial objective of any properly designed scheme of debt relief which should have regard both to the purposes for which the loans have been utilised and the need for relief as adjudged by its relative economic condition and the overall position on non-Plan account and the like. Repayment of small savings loans by the States during the Fifth Plan period are estimated at about Rs. 462 crores. If these loans are treated as loans

in perpetuity, it would considerably affect the resources at the disposal of the Central Government and impair its capacity to help backward States. We should also remember that small savings collections in recent years have shown a sharp spurt mainly because the provident funds, particularly subscrip-tion under Employees' Provident Fund Act, have been permitted to be invested in Post Office Time Deposits. Nearly 60 per cent of the net collections of small savings are atributable to the investments made by the provident funds. In the mobilisation of funds from this source at any rate, the State Governments cannot claim to play any active part. We have indicated in Chapter XVI the reasons for excluding repayment of small savings loans from the estimates of non-Plan capital gaps. We have, therefore, decided to leave small savings loans outside the scope of debt relief.

17. Certain State Governments have represented to the Government of India that in view of the manner in which the terms of reference of the Commission relating to the review of debt position of States had been worded, the Commission may consider changes in terms of repayments of Central loans only as a means of giving relief to such of those States which have a non-Plan capital gap, or an overall non-Plan gap, with a view to bridging such gap. These States have, therefore, suggested to the Ministry of Finance that small savings loans given by the Central Government to the States may be considered independently and changes in their repayments to the Centre suggested on their merits by the Commission. The Ministry of Finance, vide its letter dated September 13, 1973 (Appendix III) informed the Commission that the Government of India, having considered the representation of the States agreed that "the small savings loans stand on a different footing and may be considered on merits independent of non-Plan capital gap or overall non-Plan gap of States".

18. We have given careful consideration to the communication from the Ministry of Finance. As indicated above, we had, on our own decided that small savings loans stood on a different footing. We have not only excluded small savings loans for the purposes of determining the non-Plan capital gap of the States but also from our scheme of debt relief. We have also specifically indicated above our reasons why we do not consider that the demand of the State Governments for treatment of small savings as loans in perpetuity is jusified.

#### Loans in lieu of open market borrowings:

19. The Government of India decided, with the concurrence of State Governments, on a policy of Centralised market borrowings on behalf of all States in 1963-64 in pursuance of which a sum of Rs. 100 crores was raised in that year and distributed among the States. The repayment of these loans, which is a Central liability, falls due in 1975-76. State Governments, in turn, have to repay to the Government of India the amounts advanced to them as their share of market borrowings in that year. We have considered how this category of loan should be dealt

with. We suggest that the target of gross market borrowings by States in 1975-76 may be so set that out of the proceeds of the fresh loan the State Governments may be enabled to repay to the Centre the outstanding amounts. On the assumption that this recommendation would be accepted, we have excluded this category of loan from our scheme of debt relief.

20. The Central Government took over the repayment liability in respect of Hyderabad Development Loans amounting to Rs. 11.26 crores which are due for repayment in 1974-75. We suggest that, in respect of these loans too, the same approach may be followed as for the loans advanced to the States out of the Centralised market borrowings. Accordingly the repayments on these Hyderabad Development Loans have been excluded from our scheme of debt relief.

Loans for strengthening of Police and provision of amenities:

21. The amounts outstanding under the scheme of modernisation of police force are estimated at Rs. 12.82 crores at the end of 1973-74. The schemes financed by these loans are clearly unproductive and do not generate any additional revenues out of which the loans can be repaid. This aspect of these loans is also recognised by the Government of India by the offer of an element of grant in its scheme of assistance. While we have as a matter of principle refused to propose any large scale conversion of loan into grant, we feel that a measure of relief to all the States in respect of this category of loans is clearly called for. Keeping this in view, we propose that all loans granted to the States for modernisation of their Police forces might be consolidated and made repayable over 25 years. We also propose the same terms for loans given to Madhya Pradesh and Uttar Pradesh for anti-dacoity operations.

22. Government of India have also been granting to the States loans for a long time for provision of housing facilities to Police personnel. In the course of our discussions with the State Chief Ministers, Inspectors General of Police and other senior officials connected with maintenance of law and order, considerable stress was laid on the need for a substantial step up in outlays on Police housing it is hardly necessary to emphasise that provision of proper housing facilities has an important bearing on the morale and efficiency of the Police force. Capital outlay on police housing is, however, by and large unremunerative, as the accommodation is let out mostly on rent-We, therefore, suggest that the loans alfree basis. ready given to the State Governments for police housing and outstanding at the end of 1973-74 should be consolidated and made repayable over a period of 25 years.

### Loans for relief and rehabilitation :

23. We have classified these loans under four broad categories:

- (a) Loans to goldsmiths;
- (b) Loans to displaced persons from Pakistan;
- (c) Loans to repatriates from Burma, Sri Lanka etc; and
- (d) Other relief and rehabilitation loans.

According to the revised terms enforced since August 1970, repayments of loans obtained for rehabilitation of goldsmiths are to be in proportion to the recoveries made by the State Governments from individual recipients subject, however, to the condition that any losses on account of non-recovery of loans will be shared by the Centre and the State Govcrnments in the ratio of 50:50. The terms and conditions governing various loans for relief and rehabilitation of displaced persons have undergone changes from time to time. The present terms of repayment of loans differentiate amongst (a) loans persons from 'West' Pakistan; given to displaced (b) loans given to such displaced persons from erst-while East Pakistan who migrated upto 31st December, 1963; and (c) those who came to India on or after 1-1-1964. Loans to persons affected by Indo-Pak hostilities of 1965 and also loans given to repatriates from Burma and Sri Lanka carry specific terms which are different from those given for other categories. In the case of these categories of loans there is a procedure for sharing of losses ranging from 10 per cent in respect of displaced persons from 'West' Pakistan to 100 per cent in the case of migrants from erstwhile East Pakistan after 1-1-1964. We feel that there is no logical basis for these distinctions and these should be done away with both in the interests of simplification and inter se justice among the States.

24. In the data furnished by most States no provision has been made for repayment of these loans, presumably on the basis that they would be called upon to pay to the Centre only such amounts as they themselves recover, the question of determination of losses being put off till the closing of the accounts of each loan. Some States, however, have made provisions for repayment to the Centre of these loans; but it is by no means certain that these loans would actually be recovered by the State Governments concerned. These loans have been given to large number of persons and the amounts involved are small in each case. It is also generally recognised that there is large risk of default on most of these loans. The procedure for the eventual sharing of the losses in respect of these loans would, in practice, prove unworkable since some State Governments might well keep the loan accounts indefinitely open so that the question of apportionment of losses may not arise at all. It has to be conceded that in all these cases the States have been rather involuntary borrowers. The States have had no control over the events or policies which led to the flow of refugees or repatri-We, therefore, propose that in respect of all ates. these loans, the States need repay to the Centre only such sums as they recover from the beneficiaries. The ceiling on shareable losses should also be removed. The Gold Control Order was also the result of a Central decision taken in national interest and the States were in effect only the conduits through which the financial assistance was canalised to displaced goldsmiths in order to mitigate their hard-For these loans also we propose the same In regard to loans under National Loan ship. terms. Scholarship Schemes also the same treatment may be accorded.

### Pre-autonomy Debt :

26. Pre-autonomy debt, as the term itself indicates, dates from 1937 when under the Government of India Act, 1935 the provincial cash balances were separated from the Central cash balance. All the loans from the Central Government to the provinces then outstanding were consolidated into one loan and made repayable in ninety half-yearly instalments, that is in 45 years. The outstanding balances against the provinces had later to be allocated to the successor States in the ratio of their respective population, as and when the provinces underwent reorganisation of their territorial limits. From the information furnished to us it is seen that as at the end of 1973-74 about Rs. 10.32 crores would be outstanding against various States, of which Rs. 5.91 crores would fall due for repayment over the Fifth Plan period. This debt, now thirty-six years old, represents the consolidation of a number of loans given over a long period prior to 1937. The provinces on whom the debt burden devolved have also undergone extensive territorial reorganisation. It is also likely that most of the investments on which the loans had been utilised would by now have depreciated and the book value would almost be nil. We, therefore, suggest that the loans outstanding against some of the States as their share of pre-autonomy debt be written-off the accounts.

### Miscellaneous non-Plan loans :

27. There are a number of non-Plan loans of a miscellaneous nature which are individually and collectively insignificant. We have found it convenient to set out our detailed proposals for consolidation and revision of terms of repayments of these loans in Annexures I and II to this Chapter. Our proposals on these miscellaneous loans will confer relief on the different States as under:—

	(	(						
	А	Amount						
	Luda					·		
1. Andhra Prac	iesu	·	·	•	•	•	•	35
<ol><li>Assam</li></ol>	•	•		•	•	•	•	•
3. Bihar					•	,	•	51
4. Gujarat						÷		34
<sup>2</sup>								3
6 Himachal Pr	ades	h						
7. Jammu and	Kasl	mir						34
8. Kerala				,	,			4
9. Madhya Pra	dech							11
								20
10. Maharashtra	a	•	·	·	-	·	•	
<ol> <li>Manipur</li> </ol>	·	•	·	•	•	•	•	1

(Rs. lakhs)

	···- ····		 				
		State	\$			Α	mount
		·					
<ol><li>Meghalaya</li></ol>					•		l.
<ol><li>Mysore</li></ol>	•			•	•	•	184
14. Nagaland			•	÷	•	•	
15. Orissa							2
16. Punjab							17
17. Rajasthan							23
18. Tamil Nadu	ι.					•	22
39. Tripura							
20. Uttar Prade	sh						288
21. West Bengal	1.		•			•	23
Τοτλι							732

Our recommendations in regard to loans for (a) clearance of overdrafts; (b) meeting gaps in resources; (c) natural calamities; and (d) special accommodation are given later in the Chapter.

### PLAN LOANS

28. The loans advanced to the States as part of the Plans account for the bulk of the outstanding debt. These loans have been sanctioned for a variety of developmental purposes and in conformity with the principles of Central assistance as formulated from time to time. The patterns and procedures of Central assistance to State Plans have also undergone material changes from time to time. In this process of evolution of arrangements for channelling loan assistance to the States for financing the Plan, 1969-70 constitutes a water-shed. Prior to the commencement of the Fourth Plan, while there was an agreed ceiling on aggregate Central assistance for State Plans, loans and grant assistance within the ceiling was allocated, as far as possible, to specific schemes or heads of development. It is not necessary here to trace all the different steps in process of liberalisation of patterns and procedures of determination and release of Central assistance for State Plans. It may suffice for our present purposes to point out that till 1969-70, despite the gradual relaxation of Central control over Plan outlays through specific patterns of assis-tance, there was some attempt to link central assis-tance, loan or grant, to specific schemes or heads of development. After the Central assistance had been allocated to specific schemes or heads of development, whatever remained of the agreed ceiling of Central assistance was extended as a miscellaneous development loan. We have found it both convenient and proper to consider these Plans loans advanced for specific schemes or purposes as constituting a distinct category by themselves and for which a separate set of arrangements for consolidation and revision of Though since 1969-70 terms could be proposed. Central assistance for State Plans has been in the form of block loans and grants, assistance for Centrally sponsored and Central schemes still continues to be related to specific schemes or programmes. We have, therefore, considered it appropriate to classify the loans advanced under the Centrally sponsored and Central schemes to States under the corresponding heads of development, just as we have done in the case of loans given to States for State Plan Schemes prior to 1969-70.

29. On a detailed analysis of the particulars furnished by the State Governments, we have classified the Plan loans given for specific schemes or programmes under the following broad heads:

- (1) Agricultural production and allied schemes.
- (2) Medium and large industries.
- (3) Small Scale industries including handlooms, handicrafts, coir etc.
- (4) Housing.
- (5) Water supply, drainage and slum clearance.
- (6) Education (excluding National Loan Scholarships Schemes).
- (7) Medical and Public Health.
- (8) Community Development, National Extension Service, and Co-operation.
- (9) Transport and Communications.
- (10) Employment Schemes:
  - (a) Rural Works Programme.
  - (b) Rural manpower programme.
  - (c) Schemes for educated unemployed
  - (d) Other schemes.
- (11) Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and Backward Classes.
- (12) Rural electrification.
- (13) Inter-State transmission lines.
- (14) Flood control.
- (15) Investigation of Irrigation and Power projects; and
- (16) Multi-purpose river valley schemes, major and medium irrigation and power development.

Besides these specific purpose loans, Miscellaneous Development Loans and Block Loans have also been given for financing State Plans.

30. At an early stage of this exercise, we had further sub-divided these groups into narrower and more specific categories of loans. We also examined the terms of repayment in respect of each such category separately. But ultimately we refrained from suggesting consolidation of loans by such sub-groups of loans, as the resultant scheme of debt relief would have been far less tidy without any compensating advantages.

31. The amounts outstanding as on 31-3-1974 against the loans under each of the categories mentioned above are indicated in Table 4 of Appendix XIV. It may be mentioned that after we had classified the amounts outstanding under the different heads, we had them verified from the State Governments and have reconciled discrepancies, if any, to the maximum extent possible. We have super-imposed changes, if any, in respect of loans in 1972-73 and 1973-74 for which additional data were supplied by the State Accountants General and the Ministry of Finance. The figures as set out could, therefore, be taken as representing an agreed classification of the amounts left to be repaid of the numerous loans for specific purposes advanced from time to time as part of the State Plans upto 1969-70 and as part of all Centrally sponsored schemes upto 1973-74.

32. The terms fixed for these specific purpose loans in the past have had varying periods of repayment; they have also been outstading for varying periods of time depending upon when they were drawn, and have enjoyed different periods of grace in some cases. The life that these have yet to run also naturally varies. It would, therefore, be difficult to apply whatever period of repayment that may now be prescribed from the dates on which the loans were originally drawn. Such extensive reopening of the terms of repayment of every individual loan will be administratively difficult and cause great confusion. We have given considerable thought as to how a scheme of consolidation of these numerous loans could be drawn up and the periods of repayment so determined as to assure the States the desired relief in their repayment obligations particularly in the Fifth Plan period. To start with, we tabulated available internation to the amounts of loans yet outstanding pertaining to in the amounts of development mentioned in To start with, we tabulated available information on paragraph 29 and also the actual amounts falling due for repayment in respect of each such category of loans. The information thus tabulated helped us to determine the average period of repayment still left of all the loans taken together under a broad category. With reference to this average period of repayment and the purposes for which the loans had been taken, whether for quick yielding or long gestation projects or provision of social services, we have prescribed a suitable revised period of repayment. In this process, all the States would benefit, though the extent of benefit will depend upon when its loans were drawn and the average period of currency of the loans still outstanding. But it is our belief when all the specific purpose loans are taken together, these variations would by no means be significant. The variations also get ironed out in our other proposals involving discriminatory relief. We, therefore, suggest that all the loans given for specific purposes as part of the State Plans prior to 1969-70 and for Centrally sponsored/ Central schemes upto and inclusive of 1973-74 be consolidated at the end of 1973-74 and made repayable as shown against each category :

Head of Development to which specific purpose loans Revised relate. period of repayment suggested 1. Agricultural production and allied schemes . 15 years 2. Medium and large industries. . 15 " . . 3. Small Scales Industries including handlooms, handicrafts, coir, etc. . . . . 25 4. Housing . 25 5. Water Supply, Drainage and Slum Clearance 25 6. Education (excluding National Loan Scholarship Schemes). 25 ,, . . . · • 7. Medical and Public Health . . . . 25 •• 8. Community Development, National Extension Service & Co-operation 15 " • • • 9. Transport and Communications . 25 ,,

Head of	Development	to which s relate,	specific purpose loans	Revised period
				of re-
				payment
				suggestee

10. Employment Schemes :

(a) Rural Works Programme		25 years
(b) Rural Manpower Programme		25 ,,
(c) Schemes for educated unemployed	-	25
(d) Other schemes		25 ,,
<ol> <li>Weifare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and Backward Classes.</li> </ol>		25 "
12. Rural Electrification		25 .,
13. Inter-State Transmission lines		25 ,,
14. Flood Control		25 "
15. Investigation of Irrigation and Power Project	s.	25 "

# Multi-purpose River Valley Schemes, major and medium irrigation and power development :

33. Prior to 1969-70, i.e. before the schemes of block loans came into existence, Government - Oľ India was giving specific loans earmarked for certain major irrigation and power projects including multipurpose river valley projects. Details of such loans obtained by the State Governments prior to 1969-70 and expected to be outstanding at the end of 1973-74 will be found in Table 30 in Appendix XIV. On a scrutiny of the terms prescribed for these loans, it is seen that while the terms vary widely, the periods of repayment by and large are fairly long and make due allowance for time lag in the execution of the projects and the accrual of benefits therefrom. If despite these comparatively easy terms of repayment, some of the States have run into financial difficulties, the reasons for this perhaps lie elsewhere. It is possibly the considerable escalation in the cost of some of these projects and the delay in execution on account of constraint of resources that are responsible for the difficulties faced by the States Even so, as repayments of these loans do contribute to the strain on ways and means position of some of the States, we consider that a further measure of relief would not be inappropriate. At the same time the relief has to be necessarily selective depending upon the stage of execution of the project, the amounts outstanding, the terms already in force for the repayment of the loans. the aggregate debt burden of the State concerned in relation to its general economic position and other relevant factors. We have, therefore, made a projectwise analysis for settling the lines on which loans for multi-purpose river valley projects and certain specified major and medium irrigation projects can be consolidated and terms of repayment fixed. The results of our analysis are set out in detail in Annexure III to this Chapter.

34. On the basis of the proposals outlined in Annexure III, States are estimated to secure relief as

under in the repayment of loans in the Fifth Plan period :

						(Rs	crores)
	·						mount of relief
<u>.</u> .							7.92
1. Andhra Prades	h.		•	•	·	•	
2. Bihar			•		•	•	14.31
3. Gujarat .			•	·	•	•	-2.04
4. Haryana 🔒						•	7.64
5. Kerala						•	1.43
6. Madhya Prade	sh					•	10, 22
7. Maharashtra							0.13
8. Mysore							0.49
-							4,84
9. Orissa	•	•	·	•	•		6.67
10. Punjab .	·	•	•	·		•	26.74
11. Rajasthan		•	·	•	•	•	
12. Uttar Pradesh		•		•	•	•	9.64
13. West Bengal .	•				•	•	5.12
Total.	•	•	•		•	•	93.11

## Loans for clearance of overdrafts :

35. We may now consider how the medium term loans given by the Government of India for clearance of overdrafts to State Government are to be dealt with. It is not necessary at this stage to refer in any great detail to the circumstances in which certain States had run into large overdrafts with the Reserve Baak of India. The State Governments concerned have argued before us that these overdrafts had become inevitable on account of certain special factors such as revision of scales of pay and allowances of the employees not taken into account by the Fifth Finance Commission, heavy incidence of repayment of loans to the Government of India, escalation in costs of Whatever be the merits of projects and the like. these arguments, there can be no doubt that these overdrafts amount to a compulsory loan on the Government of India by the State Governments. It is also true, as pointed out by the last Finance Commission, that no country with a unified currency system can afford to have more than one independent authority taking measures which result in increase of money supply. Unauthorised overdrafts run counter to this fundamental principle of sound monetary management.

36. It was the widespread concern about the dangerous consequences to the national economy of the continuing resort to overdrafts by certain State Governments that led the Government of India to formulate some arrangements for orderly liquidation of overdrafts as they stood at the end of 1971-72. The essence of these arrangements was that subject to the State Government's agreeing to repayment of

certain stipulated percentages of the outstanding overdrafts in 1972-73 and 1973-74, the Central Government took over the responsibility for clearing the balance of the overdrafts through special medium term loans to the State Governments. The loans thus advanced to the State Governments are repayable in six years beginning from 1973-74. In other words, the outstanding balance of the loans given for clearance of overdrafts at the end of 1973-74 is to be repaid within the Fifth Plan period. We understand that after these arrangements came into force, the State Governments have generally refrained from running into unauthorised overdrafts and no occasion had arisen in which the Reserve Bank of India has had to suspend payments on behalf of the State Governments. Even in the few cases in which the State Governments had again run into serious ways and means difficulties, they have been enabled to tide over them through special loans for covering gaps in resources after mutual consultation between the State Governments and the Central Government.

37. While we are anxious to ensure that no State is allowed to resort to overdrafts with impunity, we feel that unless the period of repayment of the loans already given to them for clearance of overdrafts is fixed realistically, there is a real risk of the States concerned being faced with serious problem of repayment in the Fifth Plan period or in the alternative in facing serious erosion of the resources for the Plan. Government of India's hands in enforcing fiscal discipline would be strengthened if the terms of repayment of loans given for liquidation of over-drafts are fixed with due regard to the anticipated financial position of the State Governments. Among the recipients of these special loans for clearance of overdrafts, some are faced with such large non-Plan capital gaps as cannot be reduced to manageable limits, unless some relief is provided also under overdraft loans. There are also a few other States which, though they had run into overdrafts, had otherwise maintained fairly high standards of fiscal management if some of the other indices such as tax effort, control over non-developmental expenditure and Plan performance are taken into account. Having regard to all these considerations, we propose that all loans given for clearance of overdrafts and outstanding at the end of 1973-74 as listed in Table 32 of Appendix XIV should be made repayable in 15 years.

#### Loans for meeting gaps in resources :

38. The Centre has also given loans to certain States in 1972-73 for meeting gaps in resources. These loans are indistinguishable from similar loans given for liquisidation of overdrafts. The only difference is that these loans for covering gaps in resources had been given in an attempt to avoid the overdrafts that might otherwise have arisen. The terms laid down by the Ministry of Finance for the repayment of these loans are also the same as those for clearance of overdrafts. More liberal terms were allowed only in the case of Andhra Pradesh on the ground that the State could not make up for the shortfall in its resources for the Plan in view of the disturbed conditions in 1972-73. We, however, feel that uniform treatment should be accorded to all loans given for meeting gaps in resources, whatever be the circumstances in which special gaps had arisen. Accordingly we recommend that the loans given for meeting gaps in resources of certain States, details of which as furnished to us by the Ministry of Finance are set out in Table 34 of Appendix XIV be lumped together for each State and made repayable within a period of 15 years.

39. Governments of Uttar Pradesh and Assam were given non-Plan loans of the order of Rs. 6 crores and Rs. 0.11 crore, respectively in 1972-73 as a special case since these States raised additional resources in that year over and above the targets fixed for them for the year. These loans carry the same terms as Block Loans. We recommend that the amount outstanding at the end of 1973-74, *viz.*, Rs. 5.6 crores in the case of Uttar Pradesh and Rs. 0.10 crore in the case of Assam be added to their outstanding Block Loan and accorded the terms indicated for the Block Loan later in the Chapter.

40. Among the newly formed States, Himachal Pradesh, Manipur and Tripura would have large amounts outstanding at the end of 1973-74 on loans obtained by them while they were Union Territories. A significant part of Meghalaya's debt burden relates to loans which have devolved on it as its share in the loans obtained by the composite Assam State. Jammu and Kashmir and Nagaland have certain loans which were given to them earlier to enable them to balance their non-Plan budgets. Details of these loans expected to be outstanding at the end of 1973-74 have been set out in Table 35 in Appendix XIV. We consider that all these loans should be merged into one loan for each State and made repayable within a period of 20 years. Keeping in view, however, the magnitude of the non-Plan gaps of Manipur, Meghalaya, Nagaland and Tripura and the comparatively small relief accruing to these States from other categories of loans we recommend moratorium\* for a period of 3 years each for Manipur, Meghalaya and Tripura and 2 years for Nagaland.

ł

Ì,

#### PROPOSALS FOR DISCRIMINATORY DEBT RELIEF

41. As indicated earlier in this Chapter, the debt relief scheme drawn up entirely on principles uniformally applicable to all States would fail to meet the needs of the situation. If, therefore, the scheme of relief is to be equitable and all States are to be enabled to embark on the Fifth Plan without too wide a non-Plan capital gap there is no escape from a discriminatory approach in the revision of the terms of the outstanding loans. As the same time discrimination should be confined to certain select identifiable groups of loans which account for a significant portion of the amounts falling due for repayment in the Fifth Plan period. From this stand point, we have selected, besides loans for irrigation and power projects discussed earlier, the loans for natural calamities, special accommodation loans, Miscellaneous Development Loans and Block Loans given since 1969-70 as preeminently suitable for discriminatory treatment.

<sup>\*</sup>Wherever we have recommended moratorium in this Chapter for any loan, it should be taken to apply only to repayment of principal of a loan and not to interest.

42. We also gave some thought to the principles on the basis of which the relative capacity of the States to service outstanding debt can be assessed. One way of assessing such relative capacity would be to determine the relationship between State tax reve-nues and outstanding debt. This approach is, however, open to the objection that it might place the States that have been vigorous in mobilisation of tax and non-tax revenues at a disadvantage vis-a-vis the States that have been tardy in raising resources. For purposes of comparision of the relative capacity of the States, it would, therefore, be more equitable to relate the burden of debt as reflected in the amount falling due for repayment in the Fifth Plan period to State Domestic Product (the average for 1967-68 to 1969-70-the three latest years for which the figures are available). The following table shows the relative ranking of the States on the basis of their relative debt burden worked out according to the principle mentioned above:

						Pe	ercentage
1.	Punjab						6.5
	Gujarat						6.8
	Maharushtr						6.9
4.	Uttar Prade	esh				•	7.9
5.	Tamil Nodi	ι.					8.7
6.	West Benga	1.					9.3
7.	Madhya Pra	idesh	1				9.6
8.	Bihar				-	•	10.7
9.	Haryana						11.0
10.	Andhra Pras	desh					13.4
11.	Mysore					•	14.9
12.	Meghalaya						15.2
13.	Kerala						17.1
14.	Orissa						20.7
15.	Assam						24.8
16.	Tripura						26.1
17.	Rajasthan						31.4
18.	Himachal P.	rade:	di 👘				33.2
19.	Mahipur						40.7
	Nagaland				•		48.4
21.	Jammu and	Kasi	mir			•	90.8

43. On the basis of the relative burden of debt as emerging from the above table we have found it convenient to group the States into the following three categories:

- Group A.—States whose ratio of amounts falling due for repayment to the Centre in the Fifth Plan period to State Domestic Product is less than 10 per cent.
- Group B.—States whose ratio of amounts falling due for repayment to the Centre in the Fifth Plan period to State Domestic Product is between 10 and 20 per cent.
- Group C.—States whose ratio of amounts falling due for repayment to the Centre in the Fifth Plan period to State Domestic Product is above 20 per cent.

S/19 M of Fin./73-13.

44. In framing our proposals for consolidation and re-phasing of repayment of the categories of loans listed in paragraph 41, we have borne in mind the grouping of States as indicated in the above Table.

Loans for relief of distress caused by natural calamities :

45. The loan assistance from the Government of India to the State Governments for natural calamities has registered a tremendous increase in recent years. Though most of the State Governments have urged that these loans should be converted into grants, we do not recommend any such conversion. Apart from depleting the resources of the Central Government for providing relief for natural calamities which may arise in future, we also apprehend that conversion into grants may amount to condonation, without scrutiny of the undoubted waste that has occurred in relief expenditure in recent years. Also, a good portion of the relief expenditure has ostensibly been on creation of assets such as roads and minor irrigation works. When similar schemes taken up as part of the Plan have been financed on the basis of loans, we do not consider it appropriate to recommend write-off of loans given under the scheme for assistance for natural calamitics.

46. The ends of justice will be met if these loans for natural calamities which are now repayable in 10 years are suitably rephased so as to provide a measure of relief to the States, the relief being regulated with reference to the relative position of the We, therefore, suggest that all loans given States. by the Government of India for natural calamities and at the end of 1973-74 should be outstanding. consolidated into one loan in respect of each in 15 years from State and made repayable 1974-75 the case of States in Group in A, in 20 years in the case of States in Group B and in 25 years in the case of States in Group C.

#### Special Accommodation Loans :

47. Government of India have advanced, what have come to be known as, special accommodation loans to a number of States during the Fourth Plan period. At the time of the finalisation of the Fourth Plan, it was found that in the case of certain States the size of their Plan would not be equal even to Central assistance for the Plan and additional resource mobilisation. The State Governments had then unless additional resource represented that mobilisation undertaken by them reservwas ed for augmenting the size of the Plan, the requisite measure of public support for additional tax effort might not be forthcoming. After careful consideration of the representations of the States, the Planning Commission persuaded the Union Ministry of Finance to extend special accommodation loans to such States to cover Non-Plan gaps in their resources subject to condition that gaps in resources of individual States would be contained within the agreed figures and the States concerned would make an effort to increase their Plan outlay through mobilisation of additional resources.

48. Annexure IV furnishes figures of special accommodation loans actually released to the States during 1969-70 to 1972-73. The Annexure also shows uncovered non-Plan gaps in 1973-74 as assessed by the Planning Commission and the Ministry of Finance. While the Centre's budget estimates for 1973-74 do not provide, in full, the amounts needed to cover these gaps, adequate non-Plan assistance would have to be provided to the States in 1973-74 to take care of these gaps so that these liabilities do not flow into the Fifth Plan period. Consequently, we have assumed that special accommodation loans in 1973-74 will be equal to the assessed uncovered gap in respect of each State. (This should not, however, be construed as a recommendation by the Commission for grant of special accommodation loans equal to non-Plan capital gaps in 1973-74. Of course the relief which the States would get under the scheme drawn up by us will depend on the actual releases).

49. Special accommodation loans are recoverable in 10 annual instalments beginning from 1974-75. Though these special accommodation loans have also been given in effect on consideration of the ways and means difficulties experienced by the States concerned, they can be distinguished from the overdrafts loans on the ground that these were given after mu-tual consultation and after close and critical scrutiny of the resources and needs of the States. If the existing terms of repayment of these special accommodation loans are strictly adhered to, most of the States concerned will again face acute ways and means problems and the kind of situation which necessitated special accommodation loans may well recur in the Fifth Plan period. We consider it essential to give a little longer time to the States concerned to strengthen their resource base so that they may be able to repay the special accommodation loans without having to curtail their Plan outlays too drastically. We, therefore, recommend that all special accommodation loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74 may be consolidated into one loan in respect of each State and made repayable in 25 years in the case of all States except Madhya Pradesh and Tamil Nadu. For these two States we recommend a period of repayment of 15 years as the amounts involved are not large. Having regard to the magnitude of the non-Plan Capital gaps of Andhra Pradesh, Orissa and Rajasthan and the special problems faced by Assam, Jammu & Kashmir, Manipur and Meghalaya we propose a moratorium for 5 years for the repayment of these loans.

#### Miscellaneous Development Loans :

50. The Miscellaneous Development Loans in force till 1968-69 have been used in many States mostly for irrigation and power projects with long periods of gestation. They have also been used to some extent for financing Plan outlays on social services. We consider it equitable to prescribe a suitably longer period of repayment of such loans. At the same time a discriminatory approach among the States has been adopted. We suggest that all outstanding amounts in respect of Miscellaneous Development Loans at the end of 1973-74 may be aggregated into one loan in respect of each State and made repayable in 15 years in the case of Group A States, 20 years in the case of Group B States and

## Block Loans :

category of loan.

51. Of the several categories of loans from the Centre to the States outstanding, Block Loans are by far the most important from the point of view of the burden of repayment liability arising in the Fifth Plan period. This is understandable because Block Loans came into existence only in 1969-70 and are repayable in 15 years starting from the anniversary of the loan. Only about 10 per cent of the loan amounts released during the Fourth Plan period would have been repaid within the Plan period itself.

52. In view of their magnitude, Block Loan call for a selective rescheduling with reference to the relative position of the States. Since 1969-70, with the disappearance of specific purpose loans, all kinds of Plan schemes whether quick yielding or in-volving long gestation periods have been financed through Block Loans. From this stand-point there is a strong case for spreading the repayment of the Block Loans over a much longer period than at present in the case of all States, particularly in the case of States whose debt burden and, therefore, also non-Plan capital gap is comparatively heavy. For this purpose we have placed Gujarat, Maharashtra and Punjab which have non-Plan capital surpluses in a separate class. We suggest that in their case, it would suffice if the outstanding amount of Block Loans is consolidated as at the end of 1973-74 into one loan and made repayable within 15 years. This will give them some relief because the average period of repayment of outstanding Block Loans at the end of 1973-74 is now less than 15 years. In the case of other States, longer period of repayment is necessary in order to keep their non-Plan capital gaps within manageable limits. We suggest that in the case of the remaining States the Block Loans may be aggregated into one loan in respect of each State and made repayable in 20 years in the case of Group A States, 25 years in the case of Group B States and 30 years in the case of Group C States. Even after softening of terms of repayment of Block Loans, we find that Andhra Pradesh and Rajasthan would have fairly big gaps on non-Plan account. We, therefore, suggest a moratorium of two years in the repayment of the consolidated Block Loans in the case of these two States. In the case of Assam and Manipur, having regard to their special problems and also the two States. magnitude of the non-Plan capital gaps, a moratorium of 5 years would be justified.

53. During the Fourth Plan period, some States have been given loans for certain specific projects, over and above the ceiling of Central assistance for Plan Schemes, with a view to accelerate the pace execution of these projects. of Details of given these loans are in Table 38 in Appendix XIV. As the terms of repayment of these loans are the same as prescribed for Block Loans, we suggest that the amounts outstanding in respect of these loans be aggregated with the Block Loans and accorded the same terms of repayment as suggested by us for Block Loans.

54. In addition to Block Loans for the Fourth Plan schemes, Andhra Pradesh has been given certain special loans for development of Telengana and West Bengal has been helped with special loans for development of Calcutta Metropolitan District. In regard to special loans for Telengana development, we recommend the same terms as for Block Loans, namely repayment of the consolidated loan in 25 years with moratorium of two years. As regards loans for development of Calcutta Metropolitan District, while suggesting repayment over a period of 20 years analogous to Block Loans, we propose a moratorium of 5 years to give adequate time for the developmental programmes financed out of these loans to make their impact on the regeneration of Calcutta and the economy of West Bengal.

#### AGGREGATE DEBT RELIEF

55. The combined impact of the several proposals for revision of the terms of Central loans indicated in the Chapter would be to reduce the repayment obligations of the States during the Fifth Plan period to the extent of Rs. 1970 crores. To this extent, the non-Plan capital gaps of the States get reduced. The States would be enabled to finance a larger proportion of their Plans out of their own resources. Also the complaint now frequently voiced by many of the State Governments that there is very little net flow of Central loan assistance to the States for the implementation of the Plan would have been partially redressed. Though we have not suggested any significant conversion of loans into grants for the reasons already explained, the rephasing of repayments of some of the quantitatively important categories of loans such as Block Loans, special accommodation loans and Miscellaneous Development Loans would give the States relief to varying extent in the subsequent Plan periods also. Above all to the extent the States, particularly the weaker States, get some respite, they should have a bigger Fifh Plan. Their resources potential would be considerably strengthened and they should be able to meet their repayment obligations in the Sixth and subsequent Plan periods with far less difficulty. Our estimates of State-wise relief expected to accrue from the proposals for revision of the terms of Central loans are as follows:

loans are as	TOTON.					(Rs. crores)					
	St	ate				Lstimated relief in repayment of loans to Govern- ment of India during Fifth Plan period on the basis of our proposals. *					
 1						2					
1. Andhra Pra	adesh					191.20					
2. Assam				•		162.49					
3. Bihar						133.35					
4. Gujarat					•	36.25					
5. Haryana						33.14					
6. Himachal I	Dendest	, ·				34.57					
						133.43					
7. Jammu and	i Kasn	11111	•	•	•	109.77					
8. Kerala	•	·	•	•	•	102.11					

				• •		2	
9. Madhya Pr	adesl	),				87.16	
10. Maharashtr	સ					66.58	
11. Manipur						15.23	
12. Meghalaya						7,64	
13. Mysore						127.04	
14. Nagaland						5.84	
15. Orissa					•	157.32	
16. Punjab						15.18	
17. Rajasthan						258,14	
18. Temil Nadu						87.05	
19. Tripura			-			14.35	
20. Uttar Prades	ล่า					150.77	
21. West Benga	Ι.					143.12	
TOTAL						1969.62	

- \*1. The total relief has been worked out on the basis of grouping of loans suggested by us and agreed to by the State Governments. The consolidation of loans would have to be done on the basis of actual balances (as against figures rounded in lakhs of rupees by us) against each loan outstanding at the end of 1973-74 and consequently the final debt relief may be marginally different from that indicated in the Table.
- 2. In working out the State-wise estimates of debt relief, we have gone by the figures of debt furnished to us by the State Governments and certified by State Accountants General. We understand that the allocation of debt liability between successor States following States' reorganisation/bifurcation is, in several cases, provisional and has been determined on the basis of population pending final settlement. The scheme of debt relief recommended by us is without prejudice settlement of inter-State claims.

these estimates may undergo some change, but not of a material nature, when the final figures of Central loans advanced to the States in 1972-73 and 1973-74 turn out to be different from those adopted for purposes of this exercise on the basis of the information furnished by the Ministry of Finance and the State Governments.

56. The loans recommended by us for consolidation may be so consolidated with effect from 31st March, 1974. They may be repaid in equal annual instalments falling due for repayment each year on the 31st of March. With a view to avoid ways and means difficulties for the States, the amounts annually payable by way of principal may be recovered in four equal instalments on the 1st July, 1st October, 1st January and 31st March each year. Since it would take some time to obtain data regarding actuals for 1973-74 and for issue of necessary sanctions, repayments falling due in the early part of 1974-75, on the basis of the existing terms, may be deferred and recoveries falling due in 1974-75 on the basis of the consolidated loans as recommended by us, be made in two instalments on September 30, 1974 and March 31, 1975 together with interest on total amount outstanding as on April 1, 1974, in the case of first instalment and on the balance outstanding in the case of the second instalment. With a view to simplify accounting, the instalments of principal falling due may be rounded to rupees one hundred and of interest to rupees ten in each case.

57. We would urge that our proposals for debt relief should be viewed in their totality and accepted as a 'package' both by the Government of India and the State Governments. It is possible to argue for softer or harder terms of repayment in respect of particular categories of loans. But any such variation will upset the delicate balance that we have sought to maintain between several valid but at times conflicting considerations such as the need to give every State some minimum relief, containment of non-Plan gaps within limits, and a measure of discrimination between States in relation to their relative debt It is our belief that the end result complex exercise will be to enable burden. complex of this States to start the Fifth Plan on a hopeful all We should also add that the residual non-Plan note. capital gaps should not cause any State great concern, because fresh capital receipts such as net market borrowings, net small saving collections, depreciation reserves of commercial enterprises which were hitherto being set off against non-Plan capital gaps have been excluded by us. Also non-Plan capital gaps can be minimised, if not altogether eliminated, by greater dynamism in recovery of loans and higher scale of subscriptions to Provident Fund. We have no doubt that the substantial relief accruing to the States under our proposals will inspire more vigorous and imaginative action on these lines.

58. We are not oblivious of the dent that our recommendations would make on Central resources for the Plan. But in assessing the scale of relief we have proposed for the next five years, it should be remembered that it looks large only because it represents the first systematic and major attempt to come to grips with the debt problem of the States which has been allowed to become far too complex over a long period. The more pressing difficulties that arose from time to time in the discharge of the repayment obligations by States were met largely through improvised solutions which often piled up problems for the future. In order to 'protect' the agreed size of the State Plans, the Centre had to give over Rs. 1500 crores during the Fourth Plan period over and above the approved Central assistance for the Plan. This assistance was extended to the States in such forms as special accommodation loans, loans for clearance of overdrafts, loans for meeting gaps in resources and loans for natural calamities. All this assistance was, except in name, debt rescheduling. Our proposals represent, in effect, a summation, in one single operation, of the numberous small decisions that should have been taken on several classes of loans over a period of time. If we may say so, 'the bill of cost' we have presented looks heavy only because a large part of it is in the nature of arrear claims for debt relief which could have been met in the earlier Plan periods. We have no doubt that the Union Government would view the over-all figure of debt relief emerging from our proposals in this perspective.

59. It will also be wrong to think that the relief suggested by us would undermine the resource base of the Plan. Our proposals would, in fact, enable the States to finance a larger proportion of their Plans from their own resources and, thus, foster a greater sense of self-reliance and financial responsibility on the part of the States. The States should also realise that the debt relief optration cannot be an annual or quinquen nial affair and that they should make the best use of respite provided to them to strengthen their finances, improve the working results of the commercial enterprises, including in particular irrigation and power projects, and exercise the utmost economy in nondevelopment expenditure. If simultaneously the Centre could also fix the terms of repayment of fresh loans with due regard to the pattern we have recommended for existing loans, the problem of repayment of Central debt will cease to be the irritant it has been in our federal polity.

60. Before we conclude, we would only like to refer briefly to the special grievances voiced by some States about certain specific categories of loans. We have taken note of these special grievances to the extent possible in framing our debt relief scheme. It is abviously not possible to tailor the terms of repayment of every class of loan to meet the particular point of view of each of the States concerned. It may be worth while, however, to refer to some of the specific loans in respect of which the State Governments have vehemently pleaded for relief.

61. The Government of Jammu and Kashmir pleaded for special treatment of loans for relief and rehabilitation of the displaced persons in the Chhamb area. In terms of the proposals made by us, the Government of Jammu and Kashmir will be liable to repay only such amounts as they are able to recover from the displaced persons and that too only to the extent of half the amounts recovered. They should, therefore, have no grievance on this account. The Government of Kerala were unhappy about the present terms of loans for anti-sea erosion works. Having regard to the fact that these are comparable to loans advanced for flood control, we would suggest that the outstanding amount at the end of 1973-74 be made repayable over 25 years. The plea of Madhya Pradesh about writing-off of loans received from the Centre for anti-dacoity operations will, in a large measure, be met by our suggestion to treat it like other loans for modernisation of police force.

62. Orissa has sought to make out a special case for review of the terms of Central loans for Hirakud multi-purpose project. Central loans amounting to Rs. 82.42 crores secured by the Government of Orissa during 1948-62 for the execution of the Hirakud multi-purpose project (Stage I) would be outstanding at the end of 1973-74 and the repayment of loans will only commence in 1988-89. We have suggested a period of repayment of 25 years for flood control loans beginning from 1974-75. For irrigation and power projects, too, our suggestions envisage consolidation of existing loans into a 25-year loan with varying periods of moratorium for the Fifth Plan period. We do not propose any change in terms of the loans for Hirakud (Stage I) as these terms are already quite generous. Outstanding loans in respect of Hirakud (Stage II) are estimated at Rs. 3.98 crores at the end of 1973-74 of which Rs. 3.57 crores would fall due for repayment during the period 1974—79. For these loans we recommend a period of repayment in 30 years with a moratorium for 5 years.

63. We, however, feel that the grievance of Government of Orissa about the loan for construction and development of Paradeep Port is genuine. Paradeep, as a major port, is now under the control of a Port Trust, which under the Constitution comes within the purview of the Central Government. The assets created by the State Government with the loan have been taken over by the Government of India but the State Government is required to repay the loan to Centre with interest. The annual burden of repayment of loan with interest is about Rs. 2 crores. Whatever be the circumstances in which the Government of India were constrained to take over the Paradeep Port under its control, we do not see any justification for the State Government being burdened with repayment of a loan covering expenditure incurred specifically for the development of a major port which constitutionally comes within the responsibility of the Government of India. We, therefore, recommend that the outstanding amount of about Rs. 4.14 crores under this loan should be taken over by the Central Government. The amounts already recovered from the Government of Orissa need not, however, be refunded to them. Nor is there any case for adjustment of the interest already paid by the State Government against the loan outstanding, because such interest payments have been taken into account by the earlier Commissions in determining the grants made.

64. The Government of West Bengal has drawn our attention to the pre-partition loan outstanding against the State. It has been represented to us that a sum of Rs. 195 lakhs being the share of the prepartition outstanding loan was allotted to West Bengal. No payment either of principal or of interest of this loan has so far been made by the State Government. The loan is, however, still outstanding against the State Government in the books of the Account-

General, West Bengal. The State Govant has, therefore, suggested that this erament should be written-off. We do not consider it equitable that West Bengal should be burdened with this pre-partition debt. It is also relevant to mention that no amount has actually been recovered during the last 25 years. The continuance of this loan on me books therefore serves no purpose. We, according ly, recommend that West Bengal should be absolved o, the responsibility for repayment of this loan. Likewise West Bengal is required to repay a ways and means advance of Rs. 2.5 crores on pre-partition account. This ways and means advance is equal to 50 per cent of the debt balance of the Government of undivided Bengal with the Reserve Bank of India at the time of the Partition. Under the Indian Independence (Rights, Property and Liabilities) Order, 1947 the whole amount became the liability of the Government of West Bengal. But the Government of India and the Government of Pakistan repaid it under an agreement on a 50 : 50 basis and the Governtrant of India thereupon decided that this amount of Reg 2.5 erores should be treated as a ways and means advance to West Bengal. West Bengal has also paid incress amounting to Rs. 1.25 crores on this loan dustant the last 25 years. The liability for this debt was accepted by the Government of India under an agreement with Pakistan and the State Government has, therefore, urged that this liability should not be passed on to the Government of West Bengal. They have also argued that interest of Rs. 1.25 crores already paid should also be refunded to them. Here anaim it seems to us that it is not fair to burden the Government of West Bengal with repayment of this loan which is a legacy of partition. We, therefore, suggest that the recovery of outstanding loans of 107 2.5 prores should be waived. The request about interest already paid cannot, however, be accepted, silene such payments have already been taken into account by the earlier Finance Commissions while recommending devolution to the States.

65. If we have not referred specifically to the special pleas made by States in respect of other select loans, it is only because they are either not sustainable or they have been, to the extent considered necessary, accommodated within the over-all scheme of debt relief proposed by us.

## MISCELLANEOUS NON-DEVELOPMENT LAONS

## ANDHRA PRADESH

1. A loan amounting to about Rs. 1 lakh is expected to be outstanding at the end of 1973-74 in respect of fire services and water mains in Vijayawada. The whole of the amount is repayable during the Fifth Plan period. The amount is so small that no revision in terms of repayment is called for. But for simplification of accounting procedure, we recommend that this amount may be merged with Miscellaneous Development Loan outstanding against Andhra Pradesh. This will incidentally give marginal relief to the State Government.

#### ASSAM

2. Certain Miscellaneous loans, details of which are not available, are estimated to be outstanding to the tune of Rs. 30 lakhs. Of this Rs. 11 lakhs would fall due for repayment during the Fifth Plan period. In the interest of simplification we suggest that these loans may be merged with the Miscellaneous Development Loan and made repayable in 25 years.

3. Assam was also given a non-Plan loan of Rs. 11 lakhs in 1972-73 as a special case in recognition of additional resource mobilisation undertaken by the State Government over and above the target fixed for the State Government for that year. Of this Rs. 10 lakhs would be outstanding at the end of 1973-74. We recommend that this amount may be merged with Block Loans and made repayable in 30 years with a moratorium of five years.

#### MADHYA PRADESH

4. Loans for anti-dacoity operations amounting to Rs. 47 lakhs would be outstanding at the end of 1973-74. Of which Rs. 20 lakhs would fall due for repayment during the Fifth Plan period. We recommend that these loans may be made repayable in 25 years as in the case of other loans for Police.

#### MAHARASHTRA

5. A loan amounting to Rs. 86 lakhs in respect of "Refund of sugar cane cess" would be outstanding at the end of 1973-74. Of this Rs. 43 lakhs would fall due for repayment during the Fifth Plan period. It would be convenient to add this amount to Miscellaneous Development Loan and thus make it repayable in 15 years.

6. A loan amounting to Rs. 23 lakhs in respect of "Pensioners of Pakistan" would be outstanding at the

end of 1973-74. The State Government has not paid any amount so far and the amount is payable only after an agreement is reached with Pakistan. As in the case of West Bengal's pre-partition debt, we recommend that Maharashtra too may be absolved of the responsibility for repayment of this amount.

#### MYSORE

7. A loan of Rs. 5 lakhs of which details are not available is expected to be outstanding at the end of 1973-74 of which Rs. 2 lakhs are repayable in the Fifth Plan period. We recommend that this may be merged with Miscellaneous Development Loan.

## UTTAR PRADESH

8. The loan for anti-dacoity operations amounting to Rs. 7 lakhs outstanding at the end of 1973-74 may be made repayable like similar loans in the case of Madhya Pradesh in 25 years.

9. The State Government received a loan of Rs. 6 crores in 1972-73 as a special case for having exceeded its target of additional taxation as compared to the agreed estimates with the Planning Commission. This amount may be merged with Block Loans and made repayable in a period of 20 years.

10. Miscellaneous loans, in respect of which details are not available, amounting to Rs. 147 lakhs would be outstanding at the end of 1973-74. Of this Rs. 90 lakhs would fall due for repayment during 1974--79. These loans may be merged with Miscellaneous Development Loan and made repayable in 15 instalments.

11. Thirteen States have indicated loans in respect of housing for All-India Service Officers. Total amount outstanding is Rs. 130 lakhs and amount falling due is estimated at Rs. 87 lakhs. These loans may be made repayable in 15 instalments for all States. This would give relief of the order of Rs. 43 lakhs over the period 1974-79.

12. We have dealt with various miscellaneous loans for which details have been made available separately as indicated above. If, however, these loans fall within distinct categories like Block Loans, loans for natural calamities, agriculture and allied schemes etc., terms for such categories of loans should be made applicable to the respective States. The difference in any case in the aggregate debt relief would be only marginal.

13. Based on the above proposals, estimates of debt relief to various States under Miscellaneous non-Development Loans would work out as follows :---

	(Rs. lakhs
States	
1. Andhra Pradesh	10
2. Assam	9
3. Bihar	2
4. Gujarat	3
5. Haryana	2
6. Himachal Pradesh	
7. Jammu & Kashmir	1
8. Kerala	3
9. Madhya Pradesh	11
10. Maharashtra	20
11. Manipur	
12. Meghalaya	
13. Mysore	2
14. Nagaland	
15. Orissa	1
16. Punjab	
17. Rajasthan	7
18. Tamil Nadu	8
19. Tripura	
20. Uttar Pradesh	103
21. West Bengal	
	 Total

Total . . . 182

## MISCELLAENOUS LOANS OF A DEVELOPMENT NATURE

#### ASSAM

1. Total amount outstanding at the end of 1973-74 is estimated at Rs. 662 lakhs, of which Rs. 81 lakhs would fall due for repayment over the Fifth Plan period. Details of these loans are not available. It is suggested that these may be marged with the Miscellaneous Development Loan and made repayable in 25 years.

#### GUJARAT

2. Rs. 2 lakhs would fall due for repayment in respect of a loan of Rs. 7 lakhs outstanding at the end of 1973-74. This loan was obtained by the State Government for payment of survey charges to the Ministry of Defence. For simplification of accounting procedure we recommend that this may be merged with Miscellaneous Development Loan and made repayable in 15 years.

#### KERALA, MANIPUR, MEGHALAYA AND ORISSA

3. Nominal amounts are outstanding against these States in respect of loans obtained for various development purposes. Details of these loans are not available. These loans may be merged with Miscellaneous Development Loan and the terms applicable to each State be applied to such loans also.

#### MYSORE

4. Total amount of Rs. 295 lakhs would be outstanding at the end of 1973-74, in respect of Hatti Gold Mines. Out of this, an amount of Rs. 176 lakhs would fall due for repayment over the Fifth Plan period. As this mine has been taken over by the Government of India, this liability may be assumed by the Central Government.

# PUNJAB, HARYANA AND UTTAR PRADESH

5. These States have indicated loans for the development of border areas. The amounts outstanding may be merged with Block Loan of the respective States.

6. Thirteen State Governments have indicated loans for Centrally Sponsored and other schemes in 1973-74 for which details are not yet available. Repayments indicated amount to Rs. 10.09 crores. We recommend that all these loans may be governed by the terms recommended by us for the particular categories of loans. For the purpose of debt relief we have assumed repayments for all these loans in 20 instalments. Changes in the quantum of relief actually available to the States would be marginal.

7. Our proposals are based on figures rounded off to Rs. one lakh. There may be some loans which may not have come within our estimation since the amounts outstanding may be less than rupees one lakh in each case. We recommend such loans, if any, may be merged with Miscellaneous Development Loan in respect of each State and the terms proposed by us for Miscellaneous Development Loan applied to the consolidated loans.

8. Based on the above proposals, estimates of debt relief to various States under this class of loans would work out as shown below:

\_\_\_\_\_

(Ks.	lakiis)

	Stat	es						
1. Andhra Prac	lesh	•	•	•	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••			39
2. Assam								44
3. Bihar				•				49
4. Gujarat		•				•		31
5. Haryana								1
6. Himachal P	rades	sh						_
7. Jammu & K	ashn	nir						33
8. Kerala		•	•		•			1
9. Madhya Pra	ıdesh		•		•			
0. Maharashtr	a							
<ol> <li>Manipur</li> </ol>					•			1
12. Meghalaya							•	1
3. Mysore					•			182
4. Nagaland						•		-
15. Orissa								1
16. Punjab					•	•		17
17. Rajasthan					•		•	16
18. Tamil Nadu	ι.		•	•	•	•		14
19. Tripura			•				•	
20. Uttar Prade	sh					•		185
21. West Benga	1.				•	•	•	25
TOTA	L.							550

## LOANS FOR MULTI-PURPOSE RIVER VALLEY PROJECTS, MEDIUM AND MAJOR IRRIGATION SCHEMES AND POWER PROJECTS

These loans relate to the period prior to 1969-70. Since then, all Plan schemes including multi-purpose schemes and major irrigation and power projects are being financed through Block Loans. There is no escape from providing discriminatory relief to the States in regard to loans outstanding under these heads. It is obviously not possible for the Commission to undertake a detailed examination of the present stage of execution, the time likely to be taken for completion and the flow of benefits, nor it is possible for us to undertake an investigation of the causes for escalation in costs of these projects. We have tried to form a judgment on the progress of the projects with reference to expenditure incurred so far in relation to the revised estimates of the projects. Broadly speaking, the existing terms of repayment of loans for multi-purpose river valley projects, medium and major irrigation schemes and power projects seem to be reasonable. The terms provide for varying periods of moratorium and sufficiently long periods of repayment. Because of the long periods of moratorium provided for some loans, the amounts actually falling due for repayment in the Fifth Plan period are, in some cases, negligible though the total amount outstanding is fairly large. Any proposals we may frame for consolidating the loans for multi-purpose projects etc. and staggering their repayment would result in an appreciable increase in the instalments falling due for repayment in the Fifth Plan period. We have sought to avoid this as far as possible. But the States should have really no cause for complaint even if there are minor anomalies because our proposals taken as a whole would provide them substantial relief. Our suggestions on how individual loans under this category can be dealt with are given below :--

## ANDHRA PRADESH

## Nagarjuna Sagar Project:

2. The terms of repayment seem to be fairly liberal-repayble in 20 annual instalments from the 21st year of the drawal of the loan. Some of the loans for Nagarjuna Sagar Project had a moratorium of 10 years and were made repayable in 20 years thereafter. The project, started in 1956, is nearing completion. For purposes of administrative convenience, all the existing loans under this head may be consolidated and made repayable in 30 years including a period of moratorium of five years which will cover the Fifth Plan period. This would mean that the State would get relief in repayment during the Fifth Plan period amounting to Rs. 7.76 crores -but will have to make some larger repayments during the subsequent Plan periods. But as a package, the course suggested should commend itself to the State Government.

## Tungabhadra Project:

3. The amount outstanding under this scheme is Rs. 1.82 crores. Though the existing terms of repayment for the project are fairly liberal, viz. moratorium for 10 years and repayment thereafter in 20 annual instalments, as the amount outstanding is only small, *i.e.* Rs. 1.82 crores, it would be convenient to add this amount to liabilities under Block Loan and extend it the same treatment as Block Loan.

## Balimela Power Project:

4. As in the case of Tungabhadra Project the amount outstanding may be merged with Block Loan and made repayable over 25 years with a moratorium for two years.

## BIHAR

## (i) Damodar Valley Corporation:

5. Loans drawn up to 1962-63, from the inception of the project in 1948-49, have on the average run a life of 12 years already. Likewise, loans drawn after 1962-63 have already run on an average 5 to 6 years. Keeping this in view, it might suffice if all loans under this category and outstanding at the end of 1973-74 are consolidated and made repayable in 30 years with a moratorium for the Fifth Plan period. This would give Bihar relief of Rs. 3.22 crores.

## (ii) Kosi Project:

6. The amount outstanding under this head is Rs. 46.57 crores. The work on Western Kosi Canal is yet to start. Having regard to this and the relative debt burden of Bihar, all loans under this head may be consolidated and made repayable in 30 years with a period of grace for the Fifth Plan period. This will provide the State relief to the extent of Rs. 1.5 crores during the Fifth Plan period.

## (iii) Gandak Project:

7. The loan outstanding under this head is Rs. 36.38 crores. This project, though started in 1960, is expected to be completed only in the Fifth Plan period. Having regard to the fact that the project is yet to be completed and the present terms provide for repayment in 20 annual instalments from 11th anniversary or in other words, repayment is spread over 20 years, we suggest that all loans under this head may be bulked together and made repayable in 30 years, with moratorium for the Fifth Plan period. This would give the State relief to the extent of Rs. 1.71 crores for the forecast period. (iv) *Tenughat Project*:

8. Though the project is intended to supply water to Bokaro, we cannot accept the argument of the State Government that the liability should be taken over entirely by the Central Government. It is generally recognised to be part of the State Government's responsibility to provide the necessary infrastructure facilities needed for Central and other industrial projects. If we concede the request of Bihar, we well be faced with similar requests from other States also. The amount outstanding under this head at the end of 1973-74 is Rs. 28.34 crores. The present terms envisage repayment of these loans in 15 to 17 annual instalments from the 8th anniversary; or, in other words, the loans are repayable in 25 years. The project seems to have been taken up in 1964 and the loans would have had an average life of 5 years by the end of 1973-74. It would suffice if all loans outstanding under this head are consolidated and made repayable in a period of 30 years with a period of grace of 5 years. The State will then not have to repay any amount during the Fifth Plan period and would thus secure a relief of Rs. 7.67 crores.

#### (v) Sone High Canal:

9. It is seen that the work on this project was taken up in 1968-69 or so, *i.e.*, just before the commencement of the Fourth Plan. when the system of Block Loan came into existence. It would, therefore, be appropriate to merge the amount outstanding under this head, *viz.* Rs. 70 lakhs with the Block Loan for Fourth Plan schemes and make it repayable in 25 years as proposed elsewhere. No doubt this may increase marginally the loan repayment liability during the Fifth Plan period. But, as Bihar would in terms of other proposals, be getting adequate debt relief, the addition of about Rs. 14 lakhs (one fifth of Rs. 70 lakhs outstanding) to the repayment liability should not pose any serious difficulty.

#### (vi) Patratu Power Station:

10. The amount outstanding at the end of 1973-74 is Rs. 38 lakhs only. As in the case of loan for Sone High Canal, the amount outstanding may be a merged with Block Loan and made repayable in 25 years.

#### (vii) Other Schemes:

11. An amount of Rs. 20 lakhs in respect of other Irrigation and Power Schemes would be outstanding at the end of 1973-74 of which Rs. 10 lakhs would fall due for repayment.. The amounts outstanding under these schemes may be merged with Miscellaneous Development Loan and made repayable in 20 years.

#### **GUJARAT**

## (i) Nagarjuna Sagar Project.

12. The amount outstanding under this head is only Rs. 8 lakhs. This amount may be merged with Block Loan and made repayable in 15 instalments.

## (ii) Koyna Project:

13. All loans under this head may be consolidated and made repayable in 20 years. The same terms are proposed for Maharashtra. Total relief to the State over the Fifth Plan period would be marginal.

#### (iii) Ukai Power Project:

14. The loan outstanding under this head is Rs. 25.74 crores and the project is expected to be completed only during the Fifth Plan period. The existing terms of loans envisage repayment in 17 annual instalments with a moratorium for 8 years. The amount falling due for repayment in the Fifth Plan period is small, viz. Rs. 3.01 crores only. We recommend consolidation of the loans at the end of 1973-74 into one loan repayable in 25 years from 1974-75. This would no doubt increase the repayment liability of the State during the Fifth Plan period but considering the amount of relief to the State under other heads, this should not cause any undue concern.

#### (iv) Other Schemes:

15. An amount of Rs. 22 lakhs in respect of 'other' schemes would be outstanding at the end of 1973-74. Of this Rs. 10 lakhs are expected to fall due for repayment over the Fifth Plan period. We recommend that these amounts may be merged with Miscellaneous Development Loan and made repayable in 15 instalments.

#### HARYANA

#### (i) Beas Project:

16. This project started in 1961-62 is expected to be completed only during the Fifth Plan period. The existing terms of the loan drawn upto 1969-70 provide for repayment in 25 years with a moratorium of 8 years. The loans would have had a currency on the average of 6 years by the end of 1973-74. Having regard to this, it may suffice if all the loans under this head are consolidated and made repayable in 30 years with a moratorium of 5 years. This would give Haryana a relief of the order of Rs. 6.05 crores, Punjab to the extent of Rs. 6.55 crores and Rajasthan Rs. 7.95 crores in the Fifth Plan period. distinctly understood that our It should be recommendations are confined to loans given prior to 1969-70-the project has been financed since 1969-70 through Block Loan for which we have recommended suitable terms of repayment elsewhere-nor will our recommendations apply to the further loans likely to be needed by the project during the Fifth Plan.

## (ii) Bhakra Nangal Project:

17. These loans are repayable in one lump sum after 15 years of the drawal of the loan. In view of the fact that the project has already been completed, it may not be necessary to provide for any softening of the terms. The repayment liability during the Fifth Plan period is fairly large, viz., Rs. 18.61 crores. But since Punjab and Haryana have fully amortised these loans in the past, the repayment of these loans should not pose any problem.

## (iii) Gurgaon Canal Project:

18. The amount out standing under this head is Rs. 57 lakhs only of which only Rs. 2 lakhs are repayable during the Fifth Plan period. The amount outstanding may be merged with Block Loan and made repayable in 25 years.

#### (iv) Delhi Thermal Station:

19. The amount outstanding under this head is Rs. 1.62 crores only of which Rs. 49 lakhs are repayable over the Fifth Plan period. The amount outstanding may be merged with Block Loan and made repayable in 25 years.

# (v) Bhakra Right Bank Power Project:

20. The existing terms stipulate repayment in 20 years with a moratorium for 5 years. The project has been completed. The loan may be merged with Block Loan and made repayable in 25 years.

#### KERALA

## (i) Vaigai Project :

21. The amount outstanding under this head is Rs. 11 lakhs only which may be merged with Block Loan and made repayable in 25 years.

#### (ii) Iddikki Hydel Project :

22. This project, estimated to cost Rs. 68 crores, was started in 1963 and is expected to be completed in the Fourth Plan period. A significant part of the cost of this project has been financed in the Fourth Plan period through Block Loan. It will, therefore, be appropriate if the amount outstanding at the end of 1973-74 on these loans, viz. Rs. 12.88 crores, is added to the Block Loan of the State and made repayable in 25 years along with other Block Loans.

#### (iii) Other Schemes :

23. Outstanding loans in respect of other specific irrigation and power schemes amounting to Rs. 60 lakhs may be merged with Miscellaneous Development Loan and made repayable in 20 years.

#### MADHYA PRADESH

## (i) Chambal Project :

24. This project has been financed by loans, the terms of repayment of which vary widely depending upon the period when they were drawn. The amount outstanding at the end of 1973-74 is fairly large, viz., Rs. 55.87 crores, and the amount falling due for repayment in the Fifth Plan period is Rs. 9.47 crores. At the same time, this project, which was started in 1954, has now been completed and all the five units have been commissioned. Having regard to this, it might suffice if all the loans for this project are consolidated and made repayable in 30 years with a period of grace of 5 years. This would mean that no repayment will fall due in the Fifth Plan period and the State would get relief of Rs. 9.47 crores.

# (ii) Satpura Thermal Station :

25. This project was completed in 1969-70. Of the total cost of the project of Rs. 39 crores, only Rs. 3.83 crores would be outstanding at the end of 1973-74. We recommend that the amount outstanding under this head may be added to the Block Loans. In terms of the formula recommended by us all Block Loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74 would be repayable in 20 years in the case of Madhya Pradesh.

# (iii) Bagh Project :

26. The amount outstanding under this head is Rs. 52 lakhs, the amount falling due for repayment in the Fifth Plan period is only Rs. 1 lakh. We recommend that it may be merged with Block Loan for Plan schemes.

# (iv) Kharkhera Project :

27. As in the case of loans for Satpura and Bagh projects, the amount outstanding under this head may be merged with Block Loan and made repayable in 20 years.

#### (v) Other Schemes :

28. State Government has indicated a loan of Rs. 92 lakhs in respect of 'arrear payments on power schemes in the State Plan'. Amount falling due for repayment is Rs. 25 lakhs. We recommend that the outstanding amount may be merged with Miscellaneous Development Loan and made repayable in 15 instalments.

#### MAHARASHTRA

## (i) Nagarjuna Sagar Project :

29. The amount outstanding under this head is only Rs. 16 lakhs and the amount falling due for repayment in the Fifth Plan period is negligible. The amounts outstanding may be merged with Block Loan.

#### (ii) Koyna Project :

30. The amount outstanding under this head at the end of 1973-74 is Rs. 28.53 crores while the amount falling due for repayment in the Fifth Plan period is Rs. 7.60 crores. The terms, as now in force, envisage repayment in 20 years while the period of moratorium varies. Stage I and Stage II of the project have already been completed. Having regard to the overall position on capital account, it would suffice if all the loans under this head are consolidated and made repayable over a period of 20 years.

(iii) Bagh Project :

31. The amount outstanding under this head is only Rs. 1.2 crores of which Rs. 1 lakh is repayable in the Fifth Plan period. The amount outstanding may be merged with Block Loan for State Plan.

## (iv) Tarapore Power Project :

32. The amount outstanding is Rs. 40 lakhs only out of which Rs. 25 lakhs would fall due for repayment over the Fifth Plan. The amount outstanding may be merged, with Block Loan.

## (v) Other power schemes :

33. Outstanding amount of Rs. 1.82 crores may be merged with Miscellaneous Development Loan.

#### MYSORE

# (i) Koyna and Nagarjuna Sagar Projects.

34. Having regard to the comparatively small amounts outstanding under this head, these may be merged with Block Loan.

# (ii) Ghatprabha Irrigation Projects :

35. The amount outstanding is Rs. 8.20 crores and the amount falling due is Rs. 0.51 crore over the period 1974–79. The loans outstanding may be consolidated and made repayable in 30 years with a period of grace of 5 years. The State will then get relief to the extent of Rs. 51 lakhs during the Fifth Plan period.

## ORISSA

## (i) Hirakud Project :

36. We propose no change in the terms of repayment of loans for Stage I of the Project. For Stage II, it will be appropriate to prescribe the same terms as suggested for Damodar Valley Corporation; in other words, all loans may be consolidated and made repayable in 30 years with a period of grace of 5 years. This would give them relief to the extent of Rs. 3.57 crores during the Fifth Plan period.

## (ii) Delta Irrigation and Salandi Irrigation :

37. The amount outstanding under this head may be added to the Block Loan for State Plan schemes.

#### (iii) Balimela Power Project :

38. Though this project was taken up in 1961-62 and financed upto 1969 through specific loans, it has been financed since then through Block Loan for Plan schemes. It will, therefore, be appropriate to merge the amount outstanding under this head with Block Loan for State Plan schemes. As recommended separately, Block Loans in the case of Orissa may be made repayable in 30 years.

(iv) Other Power Schemes :

39. The amount outstanding may be merged with Miscellaneous Development Loan and made repayable in 25 years.

#### PUNJAB

## (i) Bhakra Nangal Project :

40. As indicated under Haryana, no revision in terms of repayment is necessary as the project has been completed.

#### (ii) Beas Project :

41. The outstanding loans drawn upto 31-3-1969 may be consolidated and made repayable over 30 years with a period of grace of 5 years, e.g. the same terms and conditions as in the case of Haryana. Relief to Punjab on this basis would be Rs. 6.55 crores.

#### (iii) Harika Project :

42. The amount outstanding under this head is very small, being only Rs. 31 lakhs. This may be merged with Block Loan.

#### (iv) Bhakra Right Bank Power Project :

43. This project has been completed. In view of the fact that Punjab would even otherwise have a non-Plan capital surplus, there does not appear to be strong justification for further softening of the terms. However, in the interest of administrative convenience, all the loans outstanding under this head may be consolidated and made repayable in 15 years like Block Loan.

#### RAJASTHAN

#### (i) Beas Project :

44. The formula suggested for Haryana and Punjab, viz. period of repayment of 30 years with

a grace for the Fifth Plan period, may be applied to Rajasthan too in regard to loans drawn upto 31-3-1969. This would give them relief to the extent of Rs. 7.95 crores during the Fifth Plan period.

#### (ii) Bhakra Nangal Project :

45. Though the relative economic position of Rajasthan and its non-Plan capital gap would justify differential treatment, we may leave the terms as they are as the project has already been completed. Rajasthan will be getting substantial relief under other heads, more particularly under special accommodation loans and overdraft loans and as such there is no strong case for relief in respect of this project.

#### (iii) Chambal Project :

46. The formula suggested in the case of Madhya Pradesh, viz. repayment in 30 years with a moratorium for the Fifth Plan may be applied here also. This would give Rajasthan relief to the extent of Rs. 8.86 crores during the Fifth Plan Period.

#### (iv) Rajasthan Canal :

47. The project, which was started in 1958, is yet to be completed. The amount outstanding under this head is Rs. 55.04 crores and the amount falling due for repayment in the Fifth Plan period is Rs. 8.49 crores. Having regard to this and the relative economic position of Rajasthan, we recommend that all loans outstanding under this head may be consolidated and made repayable in 30 years with a period of grace of 5 years.

#### (v) Gurgaon Canal:

48. The amount outstanding under this head and the amount falling due for repayment in the Fifth Plan period are small. The outstanding amount may be merged with Block Loan.

#### (vi) Satpura Thermal Project :

49. The outstanding amount may be added to the Block Loan for Plan schemes as proposed for Madhya Pradesh for the same project.

#### UTTAR PRADESH

#### (i) Rihand Dam Project :

50. The amount outstanding under this head is Rs. 25.25 crores while the amount falling due for repayment during the Fifth Plan period is Rs. 6.55 crores. The project, which was started in 1952-53, has also been brought to beneficial use. Under the existing terms the loans are generally repayable in 30 years with a moratorium of 10 years. It is recommended that the outstanding loans are aggregated and made repayable in 30 years with a period of grace for the Fifth Plan Period.

#### (ii) Gandak Project :

51. We propose the same terms as for Bihar for this project, vtz., repayment in 30 years with a period of grace for 5 years.

#### (iii) Ramganga Project :

52. The amount outstanding at the end of 1973 is Rs. 21.21 crores while the amount falling due for repayment in the Fifth Plan period is Rs. 2.55 crores. The loan is repayable in 25 years with a moratorium of 8 years. We may provide for the consolidation of these loans and their repayment in 30 years with a period of grace of 5 years. This will give the State relief to the extent of Rs. 2.53 crores in the Fifth Plan period.

#### WEST BENGAL

## (i) Damodar Velley Corporation :

53. The formula suggested in the case of Bihar might apply. The outstanding amount may be made repayable in 30 years with a period of grace for 5 years.

(ii) Kangsabati Project :

54. Though the cost of this project is estimated at Rs. 46 crores and it will be completed only by the end of 1973-74, the loan outstanding is only Rs. 7.72 crores. It is suggested that the outstanding loans are consolidated and made repayablein 30 years with a period of grace of 5 years during the Fifth Plan period. This will give the State relief to the tune of Rs. 1.06 crores during the Fifth Plan period.

## (iii) Other power schemes :

55. The outstanding amounts may be merged with Miscellaneous Development Loan and made repayable in 15 years.

56. Based on the recommendations made in the preceding paragraphs, debt relief in respect of various Irrigation and Power projects, including Multi-purpose River Valley Projects would be as shown below:---

#### (Rs. lakhs) States 792 I. Andhra Pradesh . \_\_\_\_ 2. Assam 1.431 3. Bihar -----204 4. Gujarat 647 5. Harvana . 6. Himachal Pradesh \_\_\_\_ 7. Jammu & Kashmir \_ 143 8. Kerala . 1.022 9. Madhya Prødesh 13 10. Maharashtra 11. Manipur \_ 12. Meghalaya 49 13. Mysore \_ 14. Nagaland . 484 15. Orissa . . 667 16. Puniab 2.674. 17. Rajasthan 18. Tamil Nadu . . . . 19. Tripura 964 20. Uttar Pradesh 512 21. West Bengal . 9,311 Тотал . .

#### V ANNEXURE 1

Special accommodation Loans\* released to States during 1969-70 to 1972-73 and the estimated Non-plan Gaps in 1973-74.

													(Rs.	crores)
	State						Estima- ted gap in resour- ces during the period 1969-74 £	69-70 Acttss.	70-71 Acctts.	71-72 Acctts.	72-73 Acctts.	Total 69-73 Acctts.	73-74 B.E.	Estimated non- Plan gaps in 73-74**
	(1)						(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
1.	Andhra Pradesh			•			11.50	21.71	24.82			46.53	•	<u> </u>
2.	Assam			·			115.00	48.54	25.41	16.49	16. <b>50</b>	106.94†	8. <b>0</b> 6	18.69
3.	Himachal Pradesh						—	—	—		6.15	6.15	7,76	9.98
4.	Jammu & Kashmir	r			-		97.66	56.92	6.43	42.86	7.29	113.50	8.35	29.77
5.	Kerala			•			67,78	17.88	17.30	8.61	13.00	56,79	7.49	22.55
б.	Madhya Pradesh			•	•	•	34.75	1.50			_	1.50	_	
7.	Manipur .			•				_	_			P		2,99
8.	Meghalaya .			·				_	0.20	<u> </u>	4.60	4.80‡	2,64	2.64
9.	Mysore			•	•		105.22	15.60	18.05	12.07	11.50	57.22	9.46	16.50
10.	Orissa			•			155.00	28.78	26.38	20.21	38.80	114.17	35.52	35,52
11.	Rajasthan .			•			135.32	60.41	22,65	24.06	20.26	127.38	14.49	27.37
12.	Tamil Nadu .		•	•			_	7.00	—			7.00	<u> </u>	
13.	West Bengal .			•			73.00	6.16	25.41	_	16.09	47.66	25.29	38.29
	Total .		•	•			795.23	264.50	166.65	124.30	134.19	689.64	119.06	204.30

\*The figures of special accommodation loans are as certified by State Accountants General.

£As worked out at the time of the finalisation of the Fourth Plan.

\*\*As worked out during discussions in the Planning Commission on Annual Plan for 1973-74.

†Of this Rs. 2 crores is allocable to Meghalaya.

‡Excluding Rs. 2 crores in respect of loan obtained by the composite Assam.

#### CHAPTER XVIII

## SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS

Our recommendations to the President in regard to devolution of taxes and grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States are set out below.—

#### I. Income-tax :

In respect of distribution of the net proceeds of income-tax in each of the financial years from 1974-75 to 1978-79:

- (1) Out of the net proceeds of taxes on income in each financial year, a sum equal to 1.79 per cent thereof be deemed to represent the proceeds attributable to Union Territories;
- (2) the percentage of the net proceeds of taxes on income, except the portion representing the proceeds attributable to Union Territories, to be assigned to the States, should be eighty;
- (3) the distribution among the States *inter se* of the share assigned to the States in respect of each financial year should be on the basis of the following percentages :

State							Percentage
1. Andhra Prade			•				7.76
2. Assam .							. 2.54
3. Bihar .	•						. 9.61
<ol><li>Gujarat</li></ol>							. 5.55
5. Haryana							. 1.77
6. Himachal Pra	adesh						. 0,60
7. Jammu & Ka	shmir						. 0.81
8. Karnataka							. 5.33
9. Kerala .						•	. 3.92
10. Madhya Prac	lesh						. 7.30
11. Maharashtra							. 11.05
12. Manipur					-		. 0.18
<ol><li>Meghalaya</li></ol>							. 0.18
14. Nagaland							. 0.09
15. Orissa		•		•			. 3.73
16. Punjab	•	•	•		•		. 2.75
17. Rajasthan	•		•	•			. 4.50
18. Tamil Nadu							. 7.94
19. Tripura.							. 0.27
20. Uttar Prades	h					•	. 15.23
21. West Bengal	•	•		•	•	•	. 8.89
Total		· .		•	•	•	. 160.00

#### II. Union Excise Duties :

(a) During each of the years 1974-75 and 1975-7 a sum equivalent to 20 (twenty) per cent of the net proceeds of Union duties of excise on all articles levied and collected in that year, excluding auxiliary duties of excise and cesses levied under special Acts and carmarked for special purposes, should be paid out of the Consolidated Fund of India to the States;

- (b) during the years 1976-77, 1977-78 and 1978-79 a sum equivalent to 20 (twenty) per cent of the net proceeds of Union duties of excise on all articles levied and collected in the respective year, including auxiliary duties of excise, but excluding cesses levied under special Acts and earmarked for special purposes, should be paid out of the Consolidated Fund of India to the States; and
- (c) the distribution among the States of the sum payable to the States in respect of each financial year should be made on the basis of the following percentages:--

State						F	ercentage
1. Andhra Prado			•				8.16
2. Assam .							2.71
3. Bihar							11.47
4. Gujarat							4.57
5. Haryana							1.53
6. Himachal Pra	idesh						0.63
7. Jammu & Ka	shmi	r					0.90
8. Karnataka							5.45
9. Kerala						-	3.86
0. Madhya Prad	lesh						8.15
1. Maharashtra							8.58
2. Manipur							0.21
3. Meghalaya							0.19
4. Nagaland							0.11
5. Orissa			•				4.06
6. Punjab							1.87
17. Rajasthan							5.00
8. Tamil Nadu							7.43
19. Tripura							0.30
20. Uttar Prades	h					-	17.03
21. West Bengal							7.79
Total					•		100.00
					-		·····

#### **III.** Additional Duties of Excise:

(1) There is no need to set apart any guaranteed amounts to the States as in our opinion there is no risk of the share of any State in the net proceeds of additional excise duties falling short of the revenue realised from the levy of the sales tax on the commodities subject to additional duties of excise in lieu of sales tax for the financial year 1956-57 in that State;

(2) the net proceeds of the additional excise duties during each financial year be distributed on the following basis :---

- (a) A sum equal to 1.41 per cent of such net proceeds be retained by the Union as attributable to Union Territories;
- (b) the balance of 98.59 per cent of such net proceeds be distributed among the States in accordance with their respective percentage shares of such balance as under:---

	State								Percen- tage of distri- bution
1.	Andhra Prad	esh							8.39
2.	Assam ,								2.47
3.	Bihar .								9.36
4.	Gujarat							ż	5.91
5.	Haryana							÷	1.94
6.	Himachal Pra	idesh	ι.					Ē	0.59
7.	Jammu & Ka	shmi	r						0.73
8.	Karnataka		-	•	-	•		•	5.62
9.		•	•		•	•	•	•	3.58
10.		lesh	•	•	•		·	•	6.98
11.	Maharashtra		•	•	•	•	·	•	11.65
12.	Manipur		·	•	•	·	•	•	0.17
13.	Meghalaya	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	0.17
14.	Nagaland	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	0.08
15.		·	•	•	·	•	•	•	3.59
	Punjab	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	2.68
17.	Rajasthan	•	•	·	•	•	-	•	4.17
18.		•	·	•	•	·	•	·	
		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	7.27
19.		•	·	•	•	•	•	•	0.25
	Uttar Pradesl		·	•	·	•	·	·	16.10
21.	West Bengal	·	·	•	-	•	•	•	8.30
_	Total	•	•		•	•	•		100.00

IV. Grant in lieu of tax on Railway Passenger Fares :

The grant to be made available to the States in lieu of tax under the repealed Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act, 1957 be distributed among the States as under:—

State							]	Percent- age share
1. Andhra Pra	desh							8.01
2. Assam							-	2.70
3. Bihar .								10.58
<ol><li>Gujarat</li></ol>								7.47
5. Haryana								2.57
<ol><li>Himachal P</li></ol>	rades	h						0.17
7. Jammu & K	Lashn	nir						0.02
8. Karnataka						••		3.47
9. Kerala .			•					1.61
10. Madhya Pra	adesh							9.89
11. Maharashtr	a							8.87
12. Manipur								
13. Meghalaya								
14. Nagaland								0.01
15. Orissa						÷		2.24
16. Punjab								5.06
17. Rajasthan								6.59
18. Tamil Nadu	1.							5.14
19. Tripura.								0.02
20. Uttar Prade	sh	•						19.85
21. West Benga						•	•	5.73
Total	•		•	•	•	•	•	100.00

## V. Estate Duty :

(1) Out of the net proceeds of the estate duty in cach financial year, a sum equal to 2.5 per cent thereof be retained by the Union as being the proceeds attributable to Union Territories; and

(2) the balance of net proceeds be distributed among the States in accordance with the following principles;

- (a) Such balance be first apportioned between immovable property and other property in the ratio of the gross value of all such properties brought into assessment in that year;
- (b) the sum thus apportioned to immovable property be distributed among the States in proportion to the gross value of the immovable property located in each State and brought into assessment in that year; and
- (c) the sum apportioned to property other than immovable property be distributed among the States in proportion to the population of each state, namely:

ý

State State

シュから 雪

	State						ļ	Percentage
1.	Andhra Prad	esh						8.04
2.	Assam							2.70
3.	Bihar							1 <b>0.41</b>
4.	Gujarat			•				4.93
5.	Haryana							1,86
6.	Himachal Pra	ides	b					0.64
7.	Jammu and H	€ash	mir					0.85
8.	Karnataka							5.41
9.	Kerala			•		•		3.94
10.	Madhya Prad	lesh						7.70
11.	Maharashtra							9.31
12.	Manipur							0.20
13.	Meghalaya							0.19
14.	Nagaland							0.10
15.	Orissa							4.05
16.	Punjab			-				2.50
17.	Rajasthan							4.76
18.	Tamil Nadu							7.61
19.	Tripura							0.29
20.	Uttar Pradesl	1			-			16.32
21.	West Bengal		•	·	•	•	•	8.19
	Total							100.00

# VI. Grant on account of wealth tax on agricultural property :

The grant to be made available to the States be distributed among the States in proportion to the value of agricultural property located in each State and brought into assessment in each year.

#### VII. Grants-in-aids :

The following States be paid the sums specified against each of them as grants-in-aid of their revenues in the respective years indicated in the table below, under the substantive part of Clause (1) of Article 275 of the Constitution:—

					Total		Gran	ts in-aid to be	pald in	
State					amount to be paid in the five years	1974-75	1975-76	1976-77	1977-78	1978-79
I. Andhra Prad	esh				205.93	42.83	<b>43.4</b> 7	41.89	39,45	38,2
2. Assam					254.53	<b>49.6</b> 6	51.33	50.60	51.35	51.5
3. Bihar		•			106.28	18.78	23.92	21.12	21.53	20.9
4. Himachal Pra	desh				160.96	31.72	32.02	32.15	32.42	32.6
5. Jammu & Ka	shmir				173.49	34.57	34.65	34.73	34.83	34.1
6. Kerala		•			208.93	43.85	43.46	41.19	40.92	39.
7. Manipur					114.53	21.05	<b>21.9</b> 7	22,85	23.84	24.8
8. Meghalaya					74.67	13.61	14.23	14,90	15.63	16.3
9. Nagaland					128.84	23.77	24.68	25.72	26.77	27.9
10. Orissa					304.73	56.97	60.11	61.00	62.56	64.0
1. Rajasthan					230.53	49.30	48.57	46.05	44.30	42.3
12. Tripura					112.50	20.66	21.53	22.44	23.45	24.4
13. Uttar Pradest	<b>1</b> .				198.83	21.61	33.91	39.23	49.10	54.9
14. West Bengal		•	•		234.86	53.29	49.27	46.57	44.55	41.1
Tota	ι.				2509.61	481.67	503.12	500.44	510.70	513.6

State

## OUR RECOMMENDATIONS ON OTHER TERMS OF REFERENCE

## I. Financing of Relief Expenditure

In the light of our analysis of the advantages and disadvantages of the establishment of a National Fund, and the views expressed by the State Governments we have concluded that the establishment of a National Fund, fed by Central and State contributions, is neither feasible nor desirable. At the same time the present arrangements for providing assistance to the States for meeting expenditure on relief operations need to be completely overhauled. Detailed programmes of both medium and long term significance for permanent improvement of the areas liable to drought and flood should be drawn up with the utmost argency and these programmes fully integrated with the Plan. We strongly urge that instead of incurring expenditure on relief ou al hoc basis on schemes of dubious value, provision should be made on a much larger scale for development of drought and floodprone areas in the Fifth Plan both in the State and Central sectors. Any assistance which is provided to the States for purposes of relief in this manner would be subject to the overall ceiling of Central assistance for the Plan period as a whole. At the same time we feel that the provision of a reasonable margin in the forecasts of State expenditure should be considered as a legitimate charge on the revenue accounts of the States. We recommend the following annual provisions under "64-Famine Relief" for different States. S/19 M of Fin./73-15.

I. Andhra Prad				•		4.31
2. Assam						1.25
3. Bihar	-					4.61
4. Gujarat						4.55
5. Haryana						1.24
6. Himachal P	radesi	h				0.03
7. Jammu & Ka	shmir	•				0.35
<ol> <li>Karnataka</li> </ol>						1.91
9. Kerala						0.30
10. Madhya Prad	lesh					3.41
11. Maharashtra						4,17
12. Manipur						0.04
13. Meghalaya						0.04
14. Nagaland						0.02
15. Orissa					,	3.58
16. Punjab						0.33
17. Rajasthan						10.19
18. Tamil Nadu						1.52
19. Tripura						0.07
20. Uttar Pradesh	1.					2.18
21. West Bengal						6.61
			 	 	• •	

(Rs. crores)

We have taken these figures into account in arriving at the grants, if any, needed by the States under Article 275 of the Constitution.

#### II. Changes in the terms of repayment of Central Loans

We have made an assessment of the non-Plan capital gap of the States on uniform and comparable basis for the five years ending with 1978-79. The methodology adopted by us and the State-wise non-Plan capital gaps as assessed by us are indicated in Chapter XVI. In the light of this assessment, we have made a general review of the States' debt position with particular reference to the Central loans advanced to them and likely to be outstanding as at the end of 1973-74 and have recommended changes in the existing terms of repayment having regard to all relevant factors including the overall non-Plan gaps of the States, their relative position, the purposes for which the loans have been utilised and the requirements of the Centre. Our proposals for consolidation of outstanding Central loans and revision of their terms of repayment are estimated to ensure relief in the amount falling due for repayment by the States to the Centre over the period

1974-79 as under :--

(Rs. crores)

	State						Estimated relief in repayment of loans to Government of India during Fifth Plan period on the basis of our pro- posals
1.	Andhra Pra	desh					191.20
	Assam		•	·	•	•	162.49
	Bihar .	•		•	•	·	133.35
	Gujarat	:	•		•	•	36.25
	Haryana	•	•	•	•	•	33.14
	Himachal P	rades	h	-	•	•	34,57
	Jammu & K			•	•	•	133.43
	Karnataka	*45101		•	•	•	127.04
- •	Kerala	•	·	•	•	•	109.77
	Madhya Pra	Idesh	·	•	•	•	87.16
	Maharashtr			•	•	•	66.58
	Manipur		•	•	•	•	15.23
	Meghalaya	•	•	•	•	•	7.64
14	Nagaland	•	•	•		•	5.84
	Orissa	•	•	-	•	•	157,32
	Punjab	•	•	•	•	•	15.18
	Rajasthan	•	•	·	•	•	258.14
10	Tamil Nadi	•	·	•	•	•	87.05
			·	•	·	•	14.35
19.	Tripura		•	•	•	•	-150.77
	Uttar Prade		·	•	•	•	143.12
41,	West Benga	u.		٠	•	•	143.12
	То	tal		•	·		1969.62

## K. Brahmananda Reddi Chairman

- B. S. Minhas Memher
- S. A. Masud *Member* 
  - I. S. Gulati Member

G. Ramachandran Member-Secretary

New Delhi October 28, 1973.

#### APPENDIX 1

Provisions of the Constitution having a bearing on the work of the Finance Commission

Article 268--

(1) Such stamp duties and such duties of excise on medicinal and toilet preparations as are mentioned in the Union List shall be levied by the Government of India but shall be collected---

- (a) in the case where such duties are leviable within any Union territory, by the Government of India, and
- (b) in other cases, by the States within which such duties are respectively leviable.

(2) The proceeds in any financial year of any such duty leviable within any State shall not form part of the Consolidated Fund of India, but shall be assigned to that State.

#### Article 269-

(1) The following duties and taxes shall be levied and collected by the Government of India but shall be assigned to the States in the manner provided in clause (2), namely :—

- (a) duties in respect of succession to property other than agricultural land;
- (b) estate duty in respect of property other than agricultural land;
- (c) terminal taxes on goods or passengers carried by raitway, sea or air;
- (d) taxes on railway fares and freights;
- (e) taxes other than stamp duties on transactions in stockexchanges and futures markets;
- (i) taxes on the sale or purchase of newspapers and on advertisements published therein;
- (g) taxes on the sale or purchase of goods other than newspapers, where such sale or purchase takes place in the course of inter-State trade or commerce.

(2) The net proceeds in any financial year of any such duty or tax, except in so far as those proceeds represent proceeds attributable to Union territories, shall not form part of the Consolidated Fund of India, but shall be assigned to the States within which that duty or tax is leviable in that year, and shall be distributed among those States in accordance with such principles of distribution as may be formulated by Parliament by law.

(3) Parliament may by law formulate principles for determining when a sale or purchase of goods takes place in the course of inter-State trade or commerce.

#### Article 270----

(1) Taxes on income other than agricultural income shall be levied and collected by the Government of india and distributed between the Union and the States in the manner provided in clause (2).

(2) Such percentage, as may be prescribed, of the net proceeds in any financial year of any such tax, except in so far as those proceeds represent proceeds attributable to Union territories or to taxes payable in respect of Union emoluments, shall not form part of the Consolidated Fund of India, but shall be assigned to the States within which that tax is leviable in that year, and shall be distributed among those States in such manner and from such time as may be prescribed.

(3) For the purposes of clause (2), in each financial yaer such percentage as may be prescribed of so much of the net proceeds of taxes on income as does not represent the net proceeds of taxes payable in respect of Union emoluments shall be deemed to represent orocceds attributable to Union territories!

- (4) In this article -
- (a) "taxes on income" does not include a corporation tax:
- (b) "prescribed" means---
  - (i) until a Finance Commission has been constituted, prescribed by the President by Order, and
  - (ii) after a Finance Commission has been constituted, prescribed by the President by Order after considering the recommendations of the Finance Commission;
- (c) "Union emoluments" includes all emoluments and pensions payable out of the Consolidated Fund of India in respect of which income-tax is chargeable.

#### Article 271-

Notwithstanding anything in articles 269 and 270, Parliament may at any time increase any of the duties or taxes referred to in these articles by a surcharge for purposes of the Union and the whole proceeds of any such surcharge shall form part of the Consolidated Fund of India.

#### Article 272-

Union duties of excise other than such duties of excise on medicinal and toilet preparations as are mentioned in the Union List shall be levied and collected by the Government of India, but, if Pachanent by law so provide, there shall be paid out of the Contolidated Fund of India to the States to which the law imposing the duty extends sums equivalent to the whole or any part of the net effected states in accordance with such principles of distribution as may be formulated by such law.

#### Article 27-1---

(1) He Hill or amendment which inposes or varies any tax or duty in which States are interested, or which varies the meaning of the expression "agricultural income" as defined for the purposes of the enactments relating to Indian income-tax, or which affects the principles on which under any of the foregoing provisions of this Chapter moneys are or may be distributable to States, or which imposes any such surcharge for the purposes of the Union as is mentioned in the foregoing provisions of this Chapter, shall be introduced or moved in either House of Parliament except on the recommendations of the President.

(2) In this article, the expression "tax or duty in which States are interested" means—

- (a) a tax or duty the whole or part of the net proceeds whereof are assigned to any State; or
- (b) a tax or duty by reference to the net proceeds whereof sums are for the time being payable out of the Consolidated Fund of India to any State.

Article 275---

(1) Such sums as Patliament may by law provide shall be charged on the Consolidated Fund of India in each year as grantsin-aid of the revenues of such States as Parliament may determine to be in need of assistance, and different sums may be fixed for different States : Provided that there shall be paid out of the Consolidated Fund of India as grants-in-aid of the revenues of a State such capital and recurring sums as may be necessary to enable that State to meet the costs of such schemes of development as may be undertaken by the State with the approval of the Government of India for the purpose of promoting the welfare of the Scheduled Tribes in that State or raising the level of administration of the Scheduled Areas therein to that of the administration of the rest of the ateas of that State :

Provided further that there shall be paid out of the Consolidated Fund of India as grants-in-aid of the revenues of the State of Assam sums, capital and recurring equivalent to—

- (a) the average excess of expenditure over the revenues during the two years immediately preceding the commencement of this Constitution in respect of the administration of the tribal areas specified in Part A of the table appended to paragraph 20 of the Sixth Schedule; and
- (b) the cost of such schemes of development as may be undertaken by that State with the approval of the Government of India for the purpose of raising the level of administration of the said areas to that of the administration of the rest of the areas of that State.

(2) Until provision is made by Patliament under clause (1), the powers conferred on Parliament under that clause shall be exercisable by the President by order and any order made by the President under this clause shall have effect subject to any provision so made by Parliament :

Provided that after a Finance Commission has been constituted no order shall be made under this clause by the President except after considering the recommendations of the Finance Commission.

#### Article 279-

(i) In the foregoing provisions of this Chapter, "net proceeds" means in relation to any tax or duty the proceeds thereof reduced by the cost of collection, and for the purposes of those provisions the net proceeds of any tax or duty, or of any part of any tax or duty, in or attributable to any area shall be ascertained and certified by the Comptroller and Auditor-General of India, whose certificate shall be final.

(2) Subject as aforesaid, and to any other express provision of this Chapter, a law made by Parliament or an order of the President may, in any case where under this Part the proceeds of any duty or tax are, or may be, assigned to any State, provide for the manner in which the proceeds are to be calculated, for the time from or at which and the manner in which any payments are to be made, for the making of adjustments between one financial year and another, and for any other incidental or ancillary matters.

#### Article 280---

(1) The President shall, within two years from the commencement of this Constitution and thereafter at the expiration of every fifth year or at such earlier time as the President considers necessary, by order constitute a Finance Commission which shall consist of a Chairman and four other members to be appointed by the President.

(2) Parliament may by law determine the qualifications which shall be requisite for appointment as members of the Commission and the manner in which they shall be selected.

(3) It shall be the duty of the Commission to make recommendations to the President as to—

- (a) the distribution between the Union and the States of the net proceeds of taxes which are to be, or may be, divided between them under this chapter and the allocation between the States of the respective shares of such proceeds;
- (b) the principles which should govern the grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States out of the Consolidated Fund of India;
- (c) any other matter referred to the Commission by the President in the interests of sound finance.

(4) The Commission shall determine their procedure and shall have such powers in the performance of their functions as Parliament may by law confer on them.

#### Article 281-

The President shall cause every recommendation made by the Finance Commission under the provisions of this Constitution together with an explanatory memorandum as to the action taken thereon to be laid before each House of Parliament.

#### Article 282---

The Union or a State may make any grants for any public purpose, notwithstanding that the purpose is not one with respect to which Parliament or the Legislature of the State, as the case may be, may make laws.

## APPENDIX II

The Finance Commission (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1951, as Amended by the Finance Commission (Miscellaneous Provisions) Amendment Act No. XIII of 1955.

#### An Act

to determine the qualifications requisite for appointment as members of the Finance Commission and the manner in which they shall be selected, and to prescribe their powers.

BE it enacted by Parliament as follows :---

1. Short title.—This Act may be called the Finance Commission (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1951

(Act XXXIII of 1951).

2. Definition.—In this Act, "the Commission" means the Finance Commission constituted by the President pursuant to clause (1) of article 280 of the Constitution.

3. Qualifications for appointment as, and the manner of selection of members of the Commission.—The Chairman of the Commission shall be selected from among persons who have had experience in public affairs, and the four other members shall be selected from among persons who

- (a) are, or have been, or are qualified to be appointed as Judges of a High Court; or
- (b) have special knowledge of the Finances and accounts of the Government;
- (c) have had wide experience in financial matters and in administration ; or
- (d) have special knowledge of economics.

4. Personal interest to disqualify members.—Before appointing a person to be a member of the Commission, the President shall satisfy himself that that person will have no such financial or other interest as is likely to affect prejudicially his functions as a member of the Commission; and the President shall also satisfy himself from time to time with respect to every member of the Commission that he has no such interest and any person who is, or whom the President proposes to appoint to be a member of the Commission shall, whenever required by the President so to do, furnish to him such information as the President considers necessary for the performance by him of his duties under this section.

5. Disqualifications for being a member of the Commission.—A person shall be disqualified for being appointed as, or for being a member of the Commission—

- (a) if he is of unsound mind ;
- (b) if he is an undischarged insolvent;

- (c) if he has been convicted of an offence involving moral turpitude; and
- (d) if he has such financial or other interest as is likely to affect prejudicially his functions as a member of the Commission.

6. Terms of office of members and eligibility for re-appointment.—Every member of the Commission shall hold office for such period as may be provided for in the order of the President appointing him, but shall be eligible for re-appointment.

Provided that he may, by letter addressed to the President, resign his office.

7. Conditions of service and salaries and allowances of members.—The members of the Commission shall render whole time or part time service to the Commission as the President may in each case specify and there shall be paid to the members of the Commission such fees or salaries and such allowances as the Central Government may, by rules made in this behalf, determine.

8. Procedure and powers of the Commission.—(1) The Commission shall determine their procedure and in the performance of their functions shall have all the powers of a civil court under the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908 (Act V of 1908) while trying a suit in respect of the following matters, namely:—

- (a) summoning and enforcing the attendance of witnesses ;
- (b) requiring the production of any document; and
- (c) requisitioning any public record from any court or office.

(2) The Commission shall have power to require any person to furnish information on such points or matters as in the opinion of the Commission may be useful for, or relevant to, any matter under the consideration of the Commission and any person so required shall, notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (2) of section 54 of the Indian Income-tax Act, 1922, or in any other law for the time being in force be deemed to be legally bound to furnish such information within the meaning of section 176 of the Indian Penal Code.

The Commission shall be deemed to be a civil court for the purposes of sections 480 and 482 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1898 (Act V of 1898).

*Explanation.*—For the purposes of enforcing the attendance of witnesses, the local limits of the Commission's jurisdiction shall be the limits of the territory of India.

## Correspondence with Union and State Governments

 Letter No. FC. 1(1)-B/72 dated the 17th July, 1972 from Shri G. Ramachandran, Member-Secretary, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States.

In Shri Dutt's D.O. letter of even No. dated 28th March, 1972, the State Governments were requested to initiate necessary action for the preparation of :---

- State Government's forecast of revenue and expenditure for the five years 1974-75 to 1978-79 in the prescribed proforma; and
- (2) Memoranda on the various issues which are generally referred to the Finance Commission such as for example, principles for distribution of—
  - (i) taxes on income other than Corporation tax;
  - (ii) Basic and additional excise duties;
  - (iii) Estate duty on property other than agricultural land;
  - (iv) Grant in lieu of the repealed tax on railway passenger fares; and
  - (v) Grants in aid of revenues of the States out of consolidated fund of India.

2. I now send herewith copy of the Notification dated 28th June, 1972 containing the Presidential Order setting up the Sixth Finance Commission. It will be seen that in addition to matters usually referred to the Finance Commissions, to which a reference has been made in Shri Dutt's letter, the following new items have also been referred to the Commission—

- (i) Principles governing the distribution among States of the grant to be made available to the States on account of wealth-tax on agricultural property.
- (ii) Assessment of the non-Plan capital gap of the States on a uniform and comparable basis for the five years ending with 1978-79 and a review in the light of such an assessment of the State's debt position with particular reference to Central loans advanced to them and likely to be outstanding as at the end of 1973-74 and suggest changes in the existing terms of re-payment having regard *inter alia* to the overall non-plan gap of the States, their relative position and the purposes for which the loans have been utilised and the requirements of the Centre.
- (iii) Review of the policy and arrangements in regard to the financing of relief expenditure by the States affected by natural calamities and examination *inter alia* of the feasibility of establishing a national fund to which the Central and State Governments may contribute a percentage of their revenue receipts.

3. It may also be kindly seen that para 4(b) of the Presidential Order appended to this letter spells out some of the considerations to which the Commission shall have regard in determining sums to be paid to the States which are in need of assistance by way of grants-in-aid of revenues under article 275 of the Constitution. The Commission is required to assess the requirements on revenue account of States in need of grantsin-aid under article 275 to meet the expenditure on administration taking also into account such provision for emoluments of Government employees, teachers and local body employees as obtaining on a specified date as the Commission deem it proper. The Commission has proposed to adopt 1st January, 1972 as the date of reference. Accordingly, the projections of non-developmental expenditure for the years 1974-75 to 1978-79 should take into account only scales of pay, dearness allowance and other allowances as obtaining on 1st January, 1972, *i.e.*, on the basis of orders issued and implemented on or before 1st January, 1972. Paragraph 5 of the Explanatory Note regarding statement II appended to Shri Dutt's letter dated 28th March, 1972 will stand modified to this extent. In the view we have taken of the date of reference it is not also necessary for you to furnish details of further revisions of scales of pay that may be under contemplation in any separate statement.

In paragraph 3 the 'Explanatory Note regarding statement I' attached to Shi Dutt's letter the States were required to furnish the forecast of revenue receipts on the basis of levels of taxation likely to be reached by the end of 1972-73. The Commission's terms of reference stipulate that the revenue resources of the States should be assessed on the basis of levels of taxation likely to be reached at the end of financial year 1973-74. I am, therefore, to request that the State's forecast of revenue receipts be related to the levels of taxation likely to be reached at the end of 1973-74.

4. For the assessment of non-Plan capital gaps of the States, the Commission will require from all the States a forecast, year by year, of the estimated receipts and disbursements on capital account. This may be prepared in the form appended to this letter with suitable notes explaining the basis of the projections in the forecasts in respect of each item of receipt and disbursement. We shall also be grateful if the State Government could, while furnishing this forecast, indicate their views on the appropriateness of classification as between Plan and non-Plan of the different items figuring under capital receipts and disbursements.

5. In addition, the Commission shall be grateful to have memoranda containing the views of the State Governments on-

- (i) the debt position of the States, purposes for which loans have been utilised, the existing terms of repayments of various categories of Central loans and the changes, if any, required therein.
- (ii) Principles which should govern in their view the distribution of grants on account of wealth-tax on agricultural property.
- (iii) The existing arrangements and policy for meeting the expenditure on natural calamities and on the proposals for setting up a national fund fed by contributions by Centre and States.

6. A list of subsidiary points relating to financial and economic matters on which detailed notes are required by the Commission is enclosed.

7. Thirty copies of the forecast, memoranda and information on subsidiary points sought in this letter as well as in Shri Dutt's letter dated 28-3-1972 may kindly be sent so as to reach me by the 30th August, 1972.

8. The receipt of this letter may kindly be acknowledged. Please feel free to write to me if you should need clarification on any of the points on which information has been sought. The Finance Commission (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1951, as Amended by the Finance Commission (Miscellaneous Provisions) Amendment Act No. XIII of 1955.

#### An Act

to determine the qualifications requisite for appointment as members of the Finance Commission and the manner in which they shall be selected, and to prescribe their powers.

BE it enacted by Parliament as follows :----

1. Short title.—This Act may be called the Finance Commission (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1951

(Act XXXIII of 1951).

2. Definition.—In this Act, "the Commission" means the Finance Commission constituted by the President pursuant to clause (1) of article 280 of the Constitution.

3. Qualifications for appointment as, and the manner of selection of members of the Commission.—The Chairman of the Commission shall be selected from among persons who have had experience in public affairs, and the four other members shall be selected from among persons who

- (a) are, or have been, or are qualified to be appointed as Judges of a High Court; or
- (b) have special knowledge of the Finances and accounts of the Government;
- (c) have had wide experience in financial matters and in administration; or
- (d) have special knowledge of economics.

4. Personal interest to disqualify members.—Before appointing a person to be a member of the Commission, the President shall satisfy himself that that person will have no such financial or other interest as is likely to affect prejudicially his functions as a member of the Commission; and the President shall also satisfy himself from time to time with respect to every member of the Commission that he has no such interest and any person who is, or whom the President proposes to appoint to be a member of the Commission shall, whenever required by the President so to do, furnish to him such information as the President considers necessary for the performance by him of his duties under this section.

5. Disqualifications for being a member of the Commission.—A person shall be disqualified for being appointed as, or for being a member of the Commission—

(a) if he is of unsound mind;

1

(b) if he is an undischarged insolvent;

- (c) if he has been convicted of an offence involving moral turpitude; and
- (d) if he has such financial or other interest as is likely to affect prejudicially his functions as a member of the Commission.

6. Terms of office of members and eligibility for re-appointment.—Every member of the Commission shall hold office for such period as may be provided for in the order of the President appointing him, but shall be eligible for re-appointment.

Provided that he may, by letter addressed to the President, resign his office.

7. Conditions of service and salaries and allowances of members.—The members of the Commission shall render whole time or part time service to the Commission as the President may in each case specify and there shall be paid to the members of the Commission such fees or salaries and such allowances as the Central Government may, by rules made in this behalf, determine.

8. Procedure and powers of the Commission.—(1) The Commission shall determine their procedure and in the performance of their functions shall have all the powers of a civil court under the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908 (Act V of 1908) while trying a suit in respect of the following matters, namely:—

- (a) summoning and enforcing the attendance of witnesses;
- (b) requiring the production of any document; and
- (c) requisitioning any public record from any court or office.

(2) The Commission shall have power to require any person to furnish information on such points or matters as in the opinion of the Commission may be useful for, or relevant to, any matter under the consideration of the Commission and any person so required shall, notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (2) of section 54 of the Indian Income-tax Act, 1922, or in any other law for the time being in force be deemed to be legally bound to furnish such information within the meaning of section 176 of the Indian Penal Code.

The Commission shall be deemed to be a civil court for the purposes of sections 480 and 482 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1898 (Act V of 1898).

Explanation.—For the purposes of enforcing the attendance of witnesses, the local limits of the Commission's jurisdiction shall be the limits of the territory of India.

## MINISTRY OF FINANCE

#### (Department of Economic Affairs)

#### NOTIFICATION

## New Delhi, the 28th June, 1972

S.R.O. The following Order made by the President is published for general information.

#### ORDER

In pursuance of the provisions of article 280 of the Constitution of India and of the Finance Commission (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1951 (33 of 1951), the President is pleased to constitute a Finance Commission consisting of Shri K. Brahmananda Reddi, former Chief Minister of Andhra Pradesh, as the Chairman and the following four other Members, namely: –

- Shri Justice Syed Sadat Abul Masud Judge, Calcutta High Court.
- 2. Dr. B. S. Minhas, Member, Planning Commission.
- Dr. I. S. Gulati, Senior Fellow, Centre for Development Studies, Trivandrum.
- 4. Shri G. Ramachandran Member Secretary

2. The Chairman and other Members of the Commission shall hold office from the date on which they respectively assume office up to the 31st day of October, 1973.

3. The Chairman and Members of the Commission except Dr. B. S. Minhas and Dr. I. S. Gulati shall render whole-time service to the Commission. Dr. B. S. Minhas shall render part-time service as Member of the Commission. Dr. I. S. Gulati shall render part-time service as Member of the Commission until such date as the Central Government may specify in this behalf and thereafter he shall render whole-time service to the Commission.

4. The Commission shall make recommendations as to the following matters:

- (a) the distribution between the Union and the States of the net proceeds of taxes which are to be, or may be, divided between them under Chapter I of Part XII of the Constitution and the allocation between the States of the respective shares of such proceeds;
- (b) the principles which should govern the grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States out of the Consolidated Fund of India and the sums to be paid to the States which are in need of assistance by way of grants-inaid of their revenues under article 275 of the Constitution for purposes other than those specified in the provisos to clause (1) of that article having regard, among other considerations, to:---
  - (i) the existing practice in regard to determination and distribution of Central assistance for financing State Plans;
  - (ii) the revenue resources of those States for the fiveyears ending with the financial year 1978-79 on the basis of the levels of taxation likely to be reached at the end of the financial year 1973-74;
  - (iii) the requirements on revenue account of those States to meet the expenditure on administration taking also into account such provision for emoluments of Government employees, teachers and local body employees as obtaining on a specified date as the Commission deem it proper in the light of the States' capacity and needs, interest charges in respect of their debt, transfer of funds to local bodies and aided institutions and other committed expenditure;
  - (iv) adequate maintenance and upkeep of capital assets and maintenance of Plan schemes completed by the end of 1973-74, the norms, if any, on the basis of which specified amounts are allowed for the maintenance of different categories of capital assets being indicated by the Commission;
  - (v) the requirements of States which are backward in standards of general administration for upgrading the administration with a view to bringing it to the

levels obtaining in the more advanced States over a period of ten years; and

- (vi) the scope for better fiscal management and economy consistent with efficiency which may be effected by the States in their administrative, maintenance, developmental and other expenditure;
- (c) the changes, if any, to be made in the principles governing the distribution amongst the States of the grant to be made available to the States in lieu of tax under the repealed Railway Passenger Fares Tax Act, 1957;
- (d) the changes, if any, to be made in the principles governing the distribution amongst the States under article 269 of the Constitution of the net proceeds in any financial year of estate duty in respect of property other than agricultural land;
- (c) the changes, if any, to be made in the principles governing the distribution of the net proceeds in any financial year of the additional excise duties leviable under the Additional Duties of Excise (Goods of Special Importance) Act, 1957, on each of the following commodities, namely:--
  - (i) cotton fabrics,
  - (ii) woollen fabrics,
  - (iii) rayon or artificial silk fabrics,
  - (iv) sugar, and
  - (v) tobacco including manufactured tobacco,

in replacement of the States' sales taxes formerly levied by the State Governments;

Provided that the share accruing to each State shall not be less than the revenue realised from the levy of sales tax for the financial year 1956-57 in that State; and

(f) the principles governing the distribution among the States of the grant to be made available to the States on account of wealth tax on agricultural property.

5. The Commission may make an assessment of the non-Plan capital gap of the States on a uniform and comparable basis for the five years ending with 1978-79. In the light of such an assessment, the Commission may undertake a general review of the States' debt position with particular reference to the Central loans advanced to them and likely to be outstanding as at the end of 1973-74 and suggest changes in the existing terms of repayment having regard *inter alia* to the overall non-Plan gap of the States, their relative position and the purposes for which the loans have been utilised, and the requirements of the Centre.

6. The Commission may review the policy and arrangements in regard to the financing of relief expenditure by the States affected by natural calamities and examine *inter alia* the satibility of establishing a National Fund to which the Central and State Governments may contribute a percentage of their revenue receipts.

7. The Commission in making its recommendations on the various matters aforesaid shall have regard to the resources of the Central Government and the demands thereon on account of the expenditure on civil administration, defence and border security, debt servicing and other committed expenditure or liabilities.

8. The Commission shall make its report by 31st October 1973 on each of the matters aforesaid and covering a period of five years commencing from the 1st day of April, 1974, indicating the basis on which it has arrived at its findings and make available the State-wise criteria adopted in making modifications, if any, in the States' forecasts of receipts and expenditure.

> V. V. GIRI President [F. 13(1)-B/72]

I. G. PATEL Secretary (Economic Affairs)

## 120

# STATEMENT OF CAPITAL RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

# State.....

# Statement I--Capital Receipts

Head of Account	Actuals	Actuals 1969-70	Actuals	Pre-	B.E.	Latest	Estima-		]	Forecast f	or		Total
	1908-09	1909-70	1970-71	Actuals 1971-72	1972-73	Estima- tes 1972-73	1973-74	1974-75		, <b>~_</b>		1978-79	1974-75 to 1978-79
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)
1. Market loans													
(a) Gross Loan													
(b) Repayments													
(c) Net borrow- ings													
2. Loans from Cent ral Govt.	-												
(a) Loans for State* Plan Schemes													
(b) Loans for centrally* sponsored schemes													
(c) Loans for* Central Plan Schemes													
(d) Loans from Small Saving Collections													
(e) Loans for Natural cala- mities													
(f) Special loans* for meeting gap in reso- urces													
(g) Loans for clearance* of overdraft													
(h) Other non- Plan loans													
(i) Ways and Means advan- ces													
TOTAL—Loans from Cen- tral Govt.													
. Loans from others (RBI, LIC etc. purpose- wise separately)													
. Cash credit** Accommodation from SBI and Others													
Recoveries of loans and ad- vances													
(a) From Muni- cipal Corpo- ration and Local Bodies													

						121							
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14
(b) From culti- vators		••• • • •					·····						
(c) From Statu tory Corpo- rations, Boa- rds etc.													
(d) From Govt. servants													
(e) Other reco- veries with details													
Total—Recoveries of loans and advances													
6. State Provident Fund													
<ol> <li>Sinking funds**         (gross)         (Disbursements)         (Net)</li> </ol>	•												
8. Depreciation*** and other (gross) reserve (Disbursements) funds (Net)													
9. Other*** (gross) Reserve (Disbu- rsements) Funds (Net)													
<ol> <li>Deposits with details by each item</li> </ol>													
11. Advances with details of each item													
12. Remittances													
3. Others (with broad details)													
TOTAL OF I													

\*Figures in respect of these heads to be indicated for the years upto 1973-74 only.

\*\*The purpose for which cash credit accommodation has been obtained, such as procurement of foodgrains, trading in fertilisers etc. may be briefly indicated.

\*\*\*Each Fund should be mentioned separately.

STATEMENT II—CAPITAL DISDURSEMENTS	STATEM	ENT II-CAPITA	AL DISBURSEMENT	S
------------------------------------	--------	---------------	-----------------	---

Total 1974-75 Actuals Actuals Actuals 1968-69 1969-70 1970-71 Forecast for Pre-B.E. L.E Esti-Head of Account 72-73 72-73 Actuals mates 1973-74 1974-75 1975-76 1976-77 1977-78 1978-79 to 1978-79 1971-72 12 13 14 9 10 11 7 8 2 3 4 5 6 1 \_\_\_ ..... II—Disbur sements 1. Non Plan Capital Outlay (other than State trading) (a) Industries (b) Public work (i) On Admn. Buld. (ii) Staff Quarters (iii) Others (with broad details) (c) Agriculture (d) Irrigation (e) Road and Water Tran-sport Scheme (f) Forests (g) Other outlay (with broad details) Total---1 2. State Trading (net) 3. Repayment of loans to Centre (a) State Plan loans (b) Centrally sponsored Schemes (c) Central Plan Schemes (d) Small savings (e) Natural calamitics (f) Spl. loans for meeting gap in resources (g) Clearance of overdraft (h) Other non-Plan loans (i) Ways and Means advances

Total-3

(In lakhs of Rs.)

							 			- <b>h-</b>		
	2	3	4	5	6	7	 9	10	11	12	13	14
4. Repayment to others (RBI, LIC etc. separate- ly)												
5. Cash credit accommoda- tion from State Bank etc.												
6. Non-Plan loans and advances												
<ul> <li>(i) Loans to Local Bodies</li> </ul>												
(ii) Loans to Statutory Corporations, Boards and Govt. Com- panies (broad detail to be indicated)												
(iii) Loans to Cultivators												
(iv) Loans to Govt. ser- vants.												
(a) For purchase of vehicles												
(b) For construc- tion of houses.												
(c) Others (pur- pose-wise)												
(v) Other Non- Plan loans and advances (with broad details)												
Total—6												
<ol> <li>Outlay on State-Plan Schemes.</li> </ol>												
<ol> <li>Outlay on centrally spon- sored schemes</li> </ol>												
9. Outlay on Central Plan Schemes												
0. Other items (with details)												
Total— Disbursements												

∢

1

## LIST OF SUBSIDIARY POINTS

#### I. Taxation :

(1) Basis and rates of land revenue assessment including surcharge, special rates etc. in 1965-66; changes made during the period of the three annual plans and Fourth plan; the rates of land revenue assessment (i) for each district, and (ii) minimum and maximum rates for dry, wet or garden lands; proposals, if any, under consideration for changes in the scheme of land revenue.

(2) Basis and rates of agricultural income tax, if any, on plantations (tea, coffee, rubber and cardamom etc.) and nonplantation crops, with a brief indication with reference to relevant statutory provisions and the procedures for assessment of agricultural income tax, whether on the basis of returns of income or certain flat rates per acre/standard acre.

(3) Basis and rates of charges for irrigation from Government sources as in 1968-69, changes made therein and proposals, if any, under consideration for further changes.

(4-A) Basis and rates of tax, if any, on non-agricultural land in urban areas in the form of urban land tax or ground rent or premium for conversion of agricultural land to nonagricultural uses.

(4-B) Basis and rates of local taxation on land and buildings, with a brief account of procedures for valuation of property, assessment and appeal and revision against assessment.

(5) Prevailing rates of (i) stamp duties, and (ii) registration fees, with a brief description of arrangements for checking under-valuation of properties for evasion of stamp duty.

(6) Basis and rates of taxation on motor vehicles and taxe on passengers and goods.

(7) Prevailing rates and salient features of sales tax system in force in the State—single point or multipoint or both—, together with a brief account of the reviews, if any, made of the working of sales tax system and suggestions made for its improvement from time to time.

(8) Basis and rates of levy of entertainment tax, cinema show tax and betting tax.

(9) Basis and rates of duties on consumption/sale of electricity.

(10) Details of excise revenue for the years 1968-69 and factual information in regard to State Government's policies on excise revenue.

(11) Basis and rates of other taxes, all taxes yielding a revenue of Rs. 50 lakhs or more per annum being listed separately.

(12) Particulars of cesses levied by the State, purposewise and the total proceeds of each cess, the amounts, if any thereof transferred to local bodies or spent directly by the State Government during each year from 1968-69 onwards.

(13) Statement giving the details of measures of additional taxation implemented by the State Government from 1968-69 and those proposed for 1973-74 with their yields during each year.

#### II. Working Results of State Enterprises and other Autonomous Bodies :

(14) Financial results of State Electricity Board in the proforma enclosed.

(15) Financial results of State Road Transport Corporation (or State Road Transport Department where the transport services are run departmentally) in the proforma attached. (16) Financial results of other State commercial and industrial undertakings for which commercial accounts are maintained during each of the years beginning 1968-69 and upto 1973-74. (As in the proforma enclosed).

(17) Financial results of major irrigation projects for the period from 1968-69 to 1973-74, with a brief indication of capital outlay, running costs and revenue derived each year, utilisation of irrigation potential and other direct and indirect benefits of the project.

#### III. Local Finance :

(18) Revenue of local bodies and expenditure incurred by them in each of the years from 1968-69 to 1971-72 with estimates for years 1972-73 to 1973-74 and the 5 years from 1974-75 to 1978-79; the grants received from State Government being indicated separately together with a brief account of powers of taxation available to the local bodies—urban and rural—and the extent of utilisation of such powers by them. ы

#### IV. Efficiency in Collection of Taxes and Loans due to Government :

(19) The position of arrears in collection of (i) land revenue, (ii) agricultural income tax, (iii) sales tax, (iv) electricity duties during each yeat from 1968-69 to 1972-73 with a detailed statement showing in respect of each of these sources of revenue (i) the arrears outstanding at the beginning of each year, (ii) the demand for the year, (iii) the amount collected during the year, (iv) the amounts remitted or written off during the year, and (v) the balance carried forward to the subsequent year. (As in the proforma enclosed).

(20) Position of Takavi and land improvement loans with a detailed statement showing (i) the arrears of demand outstanding at the beginning of each year, (ii) the demand for the year, (iii) the amounts collected during the year, (iv) the amounts remitted or written off during the year and (v) the overdue arrears at the end of the year.

(21) Similar information may be furnished also in respect of direct loans by the State to industries under enactments such as State Aid to Industries Act.

#### V. Public Expenditure :

(22) Revision of pay and dearness and other allowances of (i) State employees, (ii) employees of local authorities and (iii) teachers of aided institutions; (iv) employees of other quasi-Government bodies in each of the years from 1968-69 to 1971-72 (as in the proforma enclosed).

(23) Important measures of administrative reorganisation, if any, carried out during the years from 1968-69 onwards; the basic objectives of such schemes of reorganisation and their impact on the finances of the State Government.

(24) A broad appraisal of economy measures implemented by the state Government during 1968-69 to 1971-72 and their results and further measures, if any, under consideration.

(25) Strength of establishment under police with separate figures for armed police, border police where such police is maintained separately, homeguards, Prantiya Raksha Dal etc., general administration, justice, jails as on 1st of April 1966, 1967, 1968, 1969, 1970, 1971 and 1972.

(26) Number of primary schools, pupils and teachers therein as on 1st April 1966, 1967, 1968, 1969, 1970, 1971 & 1972, showing the additional strength of pupils in these schools together with the age group.

(27) Number of hospitals and dispensaries; total number of beds, nurses, doctors, and mid-wives—rural and urban separately as on 1st April, 1966, 1967, 1968, 1969, 1970, 1971 and 1972. (28) Mileage of national highways and 'A', 'B' and 'C' class roads as on 1st of April 1966, 1969, 1970, 1971 and 1972 with separate figures for mileage of national highways, State highways, major district roads, village roads etc.

(29) A brief appraisal of norms (if any) which the State Government have prescribed or follow in the regulation of expenditure on maintenance of -

(i) Administrative buildings;

(ii) Hospitals and dispensaries :

(iii) Schools and college buildings ;

(iv) Other categories buildings ;

- (v) Roads of different classes and traffic intensity, such as national highways, State Highways, major district roads, village roads etc.;
- (vi) Sources of irrigation—major, medium and minor—with their net-work of canals, indicating the liability, if any, of the beneficiaries of irrigation for maintenance of field channels under the regulations in force ; and
- (vii) Other capital assets of Government-categorywise.

(30) A brief appraisal of the norms (if any) which the State Government have prescribed or follow in regulating provisions for (a) medicines and other hospital necessities; (b) diet in respect of (i) teaching and other major hospitals, (ii) District headquarters hospitals. (iii) Hospitals at Tehsil level, (iv) Primary Health Centres and (v) rural dispensaries etc.

(31) Statement showing expenditure in connection with famine and natural calamities in each of the areas from 1968-69 to 1972-73 and the amount of assistance received from the Centre towards expenditure as grants and loans, by way of supply of foodgrains at concessional prices or otherwise.

(31A) Matching or *ad hoc* grants received or expected to be received from the Central Government and other statutory or non-statutory bodies, e.g., the National Co-operative Development and Warehousing Board, the Indian Council of Agricutural Research, the Indian Central Cotton Committee, the Indian

4

¥.

Central Jute Committee, the Handloom Board, ctc., during the years 1968-69 to 1973-74, showing separately (i) the gross expenditure on account of Plan and non-Plan schemes financed by such grants, (ii) the pattern and duration of the grants.

#### VI. Transfers to Funds

(32) A detailed statement showing the amounts included in the forecast by way of transfers to and from any reserve fund with explanations as to the nature and purpose of those funds.

(33) Receipts, payments and balances in the State Road Fund, the femine and natural calamities fund and other reserve funds for each of the years from 1968-69 to 1972-73.

#### VII. Ways and Means

(34) A statement showing total receipts and expenditure on revenue account, receipts and disbursements on capital account and surplus or deficit on revenue account and capital account during the years from 1968-69 to 1972-73 and the anticipeted estimates for 1973-74. This statement should also show how the overall deficit, if any, during each year was financed, i.e. whether by liquidation of securities, withdrawal from cash balance, increase in floating debt or by resort to overdrafts from the Reserve Bank. (As in the proforma enclosed).

#### VIII. Miscellaneous

(35) Progress of agrarian reforms in the State ; their effect on revenue and expenditure, production of foodgrains and commercial crops during the years 1968-69 and onwards.

(36) Arrangements for preparation and collection of statistics relating to State income and consumption data regarding commodities subject to Union Excise duties.

(37) Kilowats of energy generated in each of the years beginning from 1968 by (i) State undertakings (excluding purchases from D.V.C.) and (ii) private undertakings with incications of the progress of rural electrification programme since 1966 together with the programme for the Fifth Five Year Plan period.

		1968-60	1969-70	1970-71	1971.72	1077.72	1072 74		EGGL DI				crores)
		Actuals	Actuals	Actuals	Actuals	Esti- mate	Esti- mate	1974-75	1975-76	an perio 1976-77		1978-79	Total 1974-75 to
		1	2	3	4	4 5	6	7	8	9	10	11	1978-79 12
	Block capital-(at the beginning of the year) invested in completed works.		<u></u>										
	invested in works in progress												
	Total (i+ii) Capital base												
2. In	stalled Capacity (MW)												
	Steam												
(b)	Hydro												
(c)	Diesel												
(d)	Total												
(	ak demand (aggregate) MW)												
	Generation system												
	Purchases Total												
4. Po (n	nillion kwhrs)												
(a)	Generated (i) Steam (ii) Hydro (iii) Diesel (iv) Total												
<b>(</b> b)	Purchased												
(c)	Total												
	ower sold (million whrs)												
• •	Within the State												
- ,	Outside the State												
(c)	Total												
	ssessed Revenue on												
(a)	<ul> <li>sale of power</li> <li>(i) Within the State (average tariff per unit sold in paise) to be indicated for each year,</li> <li>(ii) Outside the State (average tariff per unit-paise)</li> </ul>												
(b)	arrears due from (i) Within the State.												

## FINANCIAL RESULTS OF STATE ELECTRICITY BOARD/STATE ELECTRICITY DEPTT.

(Details regarding receipts and expenditure on revenue and capital accounts)

£,

.

13

TOTAL of 6

(ii) Outside the State(c) miscellaneous receipts

(Rs.	crores)

<ul> <li>7. Revenue expenditure</li> <li>(a) Working expenses <ul> <li>(i) Fuel charges</li> <li>(ii) Cost of power purchased</li> <li>(iii) Other charges, including misc. repairs.</li> <li>(iv) establishment and</li> </ul> </li> </ul>												(Rs. crores)		
<ul> <li>7. Revenue expenditure</li> <li>(a) Working expenses</li> <li>(i) Fuel charges</li> <li>(ii) Cost of power purchased</li> <li>(iii) Other charges, including misc. repairs.</li> <li>(iv) establishment and</li> </ul>	1968-69 Actuals	1969-70	1970-71	1971-72	1972-73	1973-74		Fi	fth Plan	period		Total 1974-75		
<ul> <li>(a) Working expenses <ul> <li>(i) Fuel charges</li> <li>(ii) Cost of power purchased</li> </ul> </li> <li>(iii) Other charges, including misc. repairs.</li> <li>(iv) establishment and</li> </ul>		Actuals	Actuals	Actuals	Esti- mate	Esti- mate	1974-75	1975-76	1976-77	1977-78	977-78 1978-79			
<ul> <li>(a) Working expenses <ul> <li>(i) Fuel charges</li> <li>(ii) Cost of power purchased</li> </ul> </li> <li>(iii) Other charges, including misc. repairs.</li> <li>(iv) establishment and</li> </ul>	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12		
<ul> <li>(a) Working expenses <ul> <li>(i) Fuel charges</li> <li>(ii) Cost of power purchased</li> </ul> </li> <li>(iii) Other charges, including misc. repairs.</li> <li>(iv) establishment and</li> </ul>	•				<u> </u>									
<ul> <li>(ii) Cost of power purchased</li> <li>(iii) Other charges, including misc. repairs.</li> <li>(iv) establishment and</li> </ul>														
<ul> <li>(ii) Cost of power purchased</li> <li>(iii) Other charges, including misc. repairs.</li> <li>(iv) establishment and</li> </ul>														
including misc. repairs. (iv) establishment and														
(iv) establishment and														
administrative charges.														
Total (i) to (iv)														
8. Gross operating surplus (6-7)														
9. Transfer to Reserve Fund														
(a) Depreciation Reserve fund.														
(b) Interest on the balance in the depreciation fund.														
(c) General reserve.														
(d) Loans Redemption Fund.														
TOTAL OF 9.														
10. Gross surplus (+) or de- ficit (-) (8-9).														
11. Interest charges														
(a) On loans from Govt.														
(1) Outstanding on March 31, 1974.														
(2) Loans to be obtained during the Fifth Plan period.														
(b) Interest on bonds (other than Rural de- bentures).														
<ol> <li>Bonds outstand- ing on March 31, 1974.</li> </ol>														
(2) Bonds to be issu- ed during the Fifth Plan period.														
(c) Interest on Rural de- bentures.														
(d) Others.														
(1) Loans outstand- ing on March 31, 1974.														
2. Loans to be obtained during the 5th Plan period.														

TOTAL OF 11

																(R	ls. Cr	ores)	
19	968-69	1969-70	1970-7	71	1971-72	1972-7.	3	1973-74			Fifth Plan Period.						To1 1974		
A	Actuals	Actuals	Actua	ais	Actuals	Esti- mate		Est ma		1974-75	19	7 <b>5-7</b> 6	1976-77		19 <b>77</b> -78	1978-	79 to	78-79	
	<u></u>	1	2	3		4	5		6	7		8		9	10		11	12	
2. Net profit or loss (10-11)												· · · · · ·		• • • • •	······		•		
-																			
13. Corporation tax.																			
<ol> <li>Transfer to State reve- nues.</li> </ol>																			
<ol> <li>Collection of duty on behalf of the State Go- vernment.</li> </ol>																			
16. Capital receipts.												,							
<ul><li>(a) Opening Balance.</li><li>(b) Loans from the State Govt.</li></ul>																			
<ul> <li>(i) Gross loans.</li> <li>(ii) Repayment, if any.</li> <li>(c) Borrowings from the market (other than Rural debentures)</li> </ul>																			
<ul><li>(i) Gross loans.</li><li>(ii) Repayment, if any.</li><li>(iii) Net loans.</li></ul>																			
<ul><li>(d) Rural debentures.</li><li>(e) Borrowing from LIC.</li></ul>																			
(i) Gross loans. (ii) Repayments, if any.																			
(iii) Net loans.																			
(f) Other borrowings*																			
<ul><li>(i) Gross loans.</li><li>(ii) Repayments, if any.</li></ul>																			
(iii) Net loans. (g) Withdrawal from																			
funds. (i) Depreciation																			
funds. (ii) General reserves.																			
(iii) Loan Redemp- tion fund.																			
<ul><li>(iv) Others.</li><li>(h) Debt, deposits and rem tances (net)</li></ul>	nit-															,			
<ul><li>(i) Provident funds (net)</li><li>(j) Subscription from Govt</li></ul>	., f																		
any. (k) Other receipts																			
<ul> <li>(l) Inventories carried for from previous years.</li> <li>TOTAL OF 16 (a) to (k)</li> </ul>	ward																		
7. Capital expenditure																			
<ul><li>(a) Plan Schemes</li><li>(b) Other capital expenditur</li></ul>	e**																		
18. Closing balance																			

\*The sources such as R.E.C., A.R.C. A.F.C., Agricultural consumers may please be specified.

\*\*Details of other capital expenditure may please be furnished.

Please Note : Separate statements to be prepared and submitted by State.

Electricity Board and the State Electricity Department or any other Department of the State Government which owns and operates power projects.

p

# FINANCIAL RESULTS OF ROAD TRANSPORT CORPORATION/UNDERTAKING

	FINAN	NCIAL R	ESULTS	OF RC	AD TR	RA	NSPO	RT COR	PORAT	10N/I	UND	DERTAK		crores)
					1972-73 Esti- mate		1073.2	· · ·	FIGU	 Dlon.m.			Total	
		Actuals					Esti-			Plan p				1974-
							mate	<b>1974-</b> 75	1975-7	6 1970	6-77	1977-78	1978-69	75 to 1978-79
		·	2	3	4	5		6	7	8	9	10	11	12
	ad Transport Corporation/Under- aking :				·									
	Block capital at the end of the year													
2.	No. of vehicles at the end of the year (a) Buses (b) Others (to be specified)							•	•					
3.	<ul> <li>Gverage vehicles at the end of year</li> <li>(a) Buses— <ul> <li>(i) Number</li> <li>(ii) Average life assumed</li> </ul> </li> <li>(b) Other vehicles— <ul> <li>(i) Number</li> <li>(ii) Average life assumed</li> </ul> </li> </ul>													
4.	<ul><li>No. of vehicles replaced during the year</li><li>(a) Buses</li><li>(b) Others (to be specified)</li></ul>													
5,	Total vehicles purchased during the year (a) Buses (b) Others (to be specified)													
6.	<ul> <li>(b) Others (b) be specified)</li> <li>Utilisation</li> <li>(a) % of total buses in the fleet of road during the year</li> <li>(b) Average kilometrcage operate per bus during the year.</li> </ul>													
7,	Revenue per passenger kilo- metre													
8.	Revenue per bus kilometre													
9,	Cost per passenger kilometre (including interest & deprecia- tion)													
10.	Cost per bus kilometre (includ- ing interest & depreciation).													
١١.	Gross receipts													
12.	Working Expenses													
13.	Interest payments (a) to State Government (b) to others													
14.	Transfer to depreciation fund													
	Transfer to other funds (to be specified)													
16.	Other charges, if any, on current revenues (to be specified).													
17.	Net profit [11-(12 to 16)]													
18.	Corporation Tax													
	the second s									÷				

. . . . . .

(Rs. cro	ores)
----------	-------

ť:

			1970-71					Fiftl	h Plan p	eriod		Total 1974
	Actuals	Actuals	Actuals	Actuals	Estimate			1975-76	1976-77	1977-78	1978-79	
		1	2	3 4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
19. Contribution to State reve	nues											
0. Retained profits (17-18-19)												
21. Opening Balance												
2. Closing Balance												
23. Expenditre met out of fund	ls											
(a) depreciation funds												
(b) other funds												
24. Contribution for the Plan												
<ul> <li>(a) Net accretion to depr fund (transfers minus replacement expenditur</li> </ul>	current											
(b) Net accretion to other f	unds											
(c) Retained profits												
(d) Total contribution for (a+b+c)	r Pian											

# PROFORMA TO ITEM 16 OF THE SUBSIDIARY POINTS.

State -----

Details of contribution of other autonomous state enterprises (other than Electricity Board and Road Transport Corporation)

Details of contribu		ner union			,						(Rs. in (	crores)
	1968-	1969-	1970-	1971-	1972-	1973-		Fift	h Plan	Period		Total
	60	70	71 Actuals	72 Actuals	73 Esti- mate	74 Esti- mate	1974- 75	1975- 76	1976- 77	1977- 78	1978- 79	1974- 75 to 1978- 79
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
A. Other Autonomous State Enterprises.												
1. Block capital at the beginning of the year												
2. Gross receipts												
3. Working expenses .												
4. Interest payments .												
(a) To State Go- vernment.	-											
(b) To others .												
5. Transfer to depre- ciation fund .												
6. Other charges, if any, on current revenues												
7. Net profits (2-3 to 6) .												
8. Corporation tax .												
9. Contribution to State revenues.												
10. Retained profits in- clusive of transfers to reserve funds (7-8-9) .												
11. Opening balance .												
12. Closing balance												
13. Contribution for the Plan	•											
(a) Net accretion to depreciation fund (trans fers minus cun rent replace ment expen diture).	n 5- r- e-											
(b) Retained pro fits (inclusiv of transfers reserve funds)	ve to											

----

----

# PROFORMA TO ITEM 19 OF THE SUBSIDIARY POINTS.

State \_\_\_\_\_

\_

φ.

2

1

μ.

.-

Arrears	of	Taxes/Non-Tax	Revenues	
---------	----	---------------	----------	--

						<u> </u>	(Rs. crores)			
				1968-69 Actuals	1969-70 Actuals	1970-71 Actuals	1971-72 Actuals (Prelm)	1972-7: Estimate		
				1	2	3	4	5		
A. Tax Revenues	-				················					
1. Land Revenue.										
(a) Arrears outstanding at the beginning of the year										
(b) the demand for the year										
(c) the amount collected during the year										
(d) the amount remitted or written off during the year										
(e) balance carried forward to the subsequent year .										
2. Agricultural Income-tax.										
(a) Arrears outstanding at the beginning of the year .										
(b) the demand for the year .	•	٠	•							
(c) the amount collected during the year	•	•	•							
(d) the amount remitted or written off during the year	•	٠	•							
(e) balance carried forward to the subsequent year	•	•								
3. Sales Tax.	•	•	·							
(a) Arrears outstanding at the beginning of the year .										
(b) the demand for the year	•	٠	•							
(a) the empiret collected during the man	•	•	·							
	·	•	•							
(d) the amount remitted or written off during the year	·	•	·							
(e) balance carried forward to the subsequent year	•	٠	•							
4. Electricity Duties.										
(a) Arrears outstanding at the beginning of the year .	•									
(b) the demand for the year			•							
(c) the amount collected during the year .										
(d) the amount remitted or written off during the year			•							
(e) balance carried forward to the subsequent year .										
5. Other taxes and duties (Please specify important items)										
Total—A										
. Non-Tax Revenues										
1. Interest										
(a) From State Electricity Board										
(b) Other (with broad details)	•	•	•							
<ul> <li>2. Other non-tax revenue (Please specify important items)</li> </ul>	•	•								
(rease specify important tiens)										

-----

# PROFORMA TO ITEM 22 OF THE SUBSIDIARY POINTS

State

Expenditure on account of increase in Dearness Allowances and Revision of Pay Scales since 1968-69\*

(Rs. crores)

						1968-69 Actuals	1969-70 Actuals	1970-71 Actuals	1971-72 Actuals	1972-73 Estimate	1973-74 Estimate	Total 1968-69 to 1973-74
					 	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Increases in 1968-69	•	•	•	•								
2. Increases in 1969-70				•								
3. Increases in 1970-71				•								
4. Increases in 1971-72												

,

٠

\*Please furnish a brief note describing the changes in dearness allowances and pay scales and indicating the dates from which the changes became effective. The estimates should include grants to educational institutions, local bodies, etc. towards meeting the cost of increases in dearness allowances, pay revisions, etc. for their employees. The estimated net accretion to provident funds in different years on account of crediting a part of the additional dearness allowances etc. to the employees' provident fund accounts may also be indicated. The effect of the increase in the case of the quasi-Government bodies may be indicated separately.

# PROFORMA TO ITEM 34 OF THE SUBSIDIARY POINTS

# **Overall Budgetary position**

# FORECAST FOR

State -----

(Rs. crores)

٠,

	968-69 Actuals	1969-70 Actuals	1970-71 Actuals	1971-72 Pre	1972-73 B.E.	1972-73 latest	1973-74		Fifth	Plan	period		- Total
				Actuals		Esti- mates		1974-75	1975-76	1976-77	1977-78	1978-79	- 10tal 1974-7: to 1978-79
	(1)	. (2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)
Revenue Receipts	5												
(a) Receipts from Centre													
(i) Share of Cen- tral Taxes								x	x	x	x	x	x
(ii) Grants from Centre													
(a) Statutory.								х	х	х	x	х	x
(b) Plan .								х	Х	Х	Х	Х	X
(c) Non-Plan								х	Х	Х	х	Х	Х
(b) States' own revenue													
(i) Tax													
(ii) Non-Tax .													
(c) Transfers from funds	l												
Total I.													
I. Revenue Expen- diture													
(a) Expenditure corresponding to non-plan grants from Centre													
(b) States' own direct expendi- ture :								x	x	x	х	X	X
(i) Non-Deve- lopmental													
(a) Debt Service													
(i) Interest pay- ments	-												
( <i>ii</i> ) Appropria- tion for re- duction or avoidance of debt													
(b) Others (ii) Development													
expenditure (i) Plan			•										
(a) Central and Centrally spon sored Schemes	-												_
(b) State Plan	*								X			X X	
( <i>ii</i> ) Non- Plan								Х	Х	х	х	ху	(
(a) Maintenance expenditure on completed Plan Schemes	e												
(b) Others (c) Transfer to	funde			•									
	unas												
Total II													

.

												(Rs	. crores)
	1968-69	1969-70	1970-71	1971-72	1972-73		1973-74		F	ifth Plan	period		Total
	Actuals	Actuals	Actuals	Actuals	B.E.3.	Esti- mate		1974-75	1975-76	1976-77	1977-78	1978-79	1974-75 to 1978-79
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	 (11)	(12)	(13)
III. Surplus (+) or Deficit () on revenueAccount (I													
IV. Capital Re- ceipts													
<ul><li>(i) Receipts from Centre</li></ul>													
(a) Loans for Plan Schemes	n							x	х	х	х	x	x
(b) Loans for Central and Centrally spon- sored Schemes								x	x	Х	х	х	х
(c) Non-Plan loans								x	x	X	x	A X	x
<ul><li>(ii) States' own</li><li>capital receipts</li></ul>									* =		2	Δ	~
Total IV .													
V. Capital Disburse ments													
(i) Expenditure corresponding to non-Plan loans from Centre								x	х	x	х	X	×.
( <i>ii</i> ) States' own direct Capital disbursements													
Total V .													
VI. Surplus ( +) Deficit () on Capital Account													
VII. Overall Surplus or Deflcit ()	(+)												
(III + VI) Financed by : (a) Drawings on Cash balances								x	x	x	x	X :	x
(b) Sate of Trea- sury bills									-				, t
(c) Sale of other unearmarked securities													x
(d) Increase in ways and means advances from R.B.I													x
(e) Increase in over-draft							,					x x x x	x ,
(f) Special ac- commodation from Centre, if													L.
any <sup>+</sup> Total (af)							>	X :	X	X Z	X :	х >	C

X Figures not to be projected for the Fifth Plan period.

(Rs. crores)

	1	3	6
--	---	---	---

STATE-----

\_\_\_\_

Transactions on account of Short-term Loans from the Centre for Fertilizers etc.

(Rs. crores)

1.2

	1968-	1969-	1970-	1971-	1972-	1973-		Fifth Pl	an Perio	đ		Total 1974-
	69 Actuals	70 Actuals	71 Actuals	72 Actuals	73 Esti- m <b>ate</b>	74 Esti- mate	1974- 75	1975- 76	1976- 77	1977- 78	1978- 79	75 to 1978- 79
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)
1. Short-term loans from Centre for fertilizers, etc.												
2. Disbursement of loans to cultivators, etc. on account of item 1 above												
3. Recoveries from culti- vators etc. on account of 2 above			د <b>م</b>		-							
4. Repayment of short-term leans to Centre												

\_\_\_\_\_

-----

\_\_\_\_

×.,

## (2) Letter No. F.C. 1(1)-B/72 dated the 25th September, 1972 from Member Secretary, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States.

Would you kindly refer to items (22) and (23) in Section V (Public Expenditure) of the list of subsidiary points attached to my D.O. letter No. FC 1 (1)-B/72, dated the 17th July, 1972? It is expected that the preparation of notes on these items which relate to Pay, D.A. and other allowances of State Government employees, teachets, employees of local bodies and other quasi-Government bodies, and to measures of administrative reorganisation carried out since 1968-69 would, if not already completed, be in an advanced stage.

(i) Minimum and maximum of pay scale;

- (ii) Dearness allowance;
- (iii) Other allowances (specially house rent allowance, city compensatory allowance and conveyance allowance);
- (iv) Total number of employees in the different pay ranges.

3. It is requested that thirty copies of the note on this subject may be sent to me as early as possible and in any case by the 15th October, 1972.

#### ANNEXURE

Revenue Administration

- 1. Lekhpal/Patwari/village accountant
- 2. Revenue Inspector
- 3. Naib-Tehsildar/Deputy Tehsildar
- 4. Tehsildar
- 5. Sub-deputy Collector
- 6. Deputy Collector
- 7. Additional Collector/Joint Collector/District Revenue Officer.

### Police Administration

- 1. Constable
- Head Constable
- 3. Assistant Inspector/Sub-Inspector
- Inspector
- 5. Deputy Superintendent of Police

#### Civil Judiciary

- J. Munsifs
- 2. Civil Judges/Sub-Judges
- 3. Civil & Sessions Judges
- District Judges

### Education

- 1. Teachers in Primary Schools (trained/untrained)
- 2. Teachers in Middle Level Schools (trained/untrained)
- 3. Assistant Master in Govt. High Schools (trained/untrained)/B.T. Assistants
- 4. Headmaster of Govt, High Schools/Aided Institutions

#### Engineering Services

- 1. Diploma holders (overseers/supervisors/Junior engineers)
- 2. Degree-holder / (Assistant Engineers)
- 3. Executive Engineers
- 4. Superintending Engineers

# Secretariat and other Office Establishments

- 1. Orderly/Peon/Jamadars
- 2. Junior/Routine Grade clerks
- 3. L.D.Cs.
- 4. U.D.Cs.
- 5. Stenographers/P.As.
- 6. Assistant Superintendents
- 7. Superintendents/Section Officers

### Medical & Health Staff

- 1. Nutsing Orderlies
- 2. Nurses
- Compounders
- 4. Pharmacist/Laboratory Technicians/Radiographers etc.
- 5. Social Worker/Health Visitor
- 6. Civil Assistant Surgeon
- 7. Civil Surgeon

#### Agriculture

- 1. Fieldman
- 2. Agricultural Demonstrator/Extension Officer (Graduates in Agriculture)
- 3. District Agricultural Officer

#### Animal Husbandry

- 1. Live Stock Inspector/Assistant
- 2. Veterinary Assistant Surgeons (Graduates in Veterinary Science)
- 3. District Veterinary Officers/Live Stock Officers

Forest Department

- 1. Forest Guards
- 2. Forester
- 3. Assistant Ranger
- 4. Ranger
- 5. District Forest Officer
- (3) Letter No. 1(1)-B/72, dated Ist September, 1972 from Member-Secretary, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States.

With my D.O. letter of even no. dated July 17, 1972 I had forwarded to you a list of subsidiary points relating to financial and economic matters on which detailed notes were required by the Commission. I shall be grateful if you kindly furnish information on the following points as well:—

(i) Basis and existing rates of electricity tariffs/duty for power supply to various categories of users and for

different purposes in the proforma 'A' enclosed. Please indicate when last revision in rates took place in respect of each category.

- (ii) Basis and existing rates of bus fares by distance travelled/ stages for single or return journeys separately for (a) State Road Transport Corporation buses; (b) Departmentally run buscs; and (c) private buses on various routes. Separate information may be given for (a) passengers; and (b) goods. Please indicate when last revision in rates took place in respect of each category.
- (iii) A statement showing assets and liabilities of the State Government at the end of each year of the Fourth Five Year Plan, in proforma 'B' enclosed.
- (iv) A statement showing position regarding receipts and disbursements under important Deposit Heads in the Public Account of the State Government as in proforma 'C'.
- (v) Estimated investment in Rural Electrification Works out of the total Block Capital (at the beginning of each year) of the State Electricity Board for each year beginning from 1968-69 to 1978-79.

b

### PROFORMA 'A'

#### State-----

	Category of Consumers	KWH/month	Rate	Duty Tax	Total	Enforced with effect from
	1	2	3	4	5	6
1.				······		
	(a) Lights and fans	(30)				
	(b) Heat and Small power	(100)				
	(c) Combined load	(130)				
2.	Commercial					
	(a) Lights and fans	(200)				
•	(b) Heat and Small power	(400)				
	(c) Combined load	(600)				
3.	Agricultural purposes (10 HP, 15% L.F.)	(817)				
4.	Small Scale Industries (10 KW, 20% L.F.)	(1460)				
5.	Medium Industries (50 KW, 30% L.F.)	(10,950)				
6.	Large Industry I (250 KW, 40% L.F.)	(73,000)				
7.	Large Industry II (1000 KW, 50% L.F.)	(365,000)				
3.	Heavy Industry (5000 KW, 60% L.F.)	(2,190,000)				
9.	Public Lighting					
).	Supplies to consumers outside the State.					
	(a) Inter Board Supplies					
	(b) Supplies to other Governments					
	(c) Others					

Average rates of Electricity Supply and Electricity Duty for different categories of Consumers

1. Power factor may be assumed at 0.85'.

2

- 2. Wherever in the case of H.T. Industrial rates fuel sur-charge is levied, the fuel sur-charge, as per latest available information, may be indicated separately.
- 3. All the H.T. Industrial rates may be worked out considering a supply voltage of 11 KV.
- 4. Prompt payment rebate, wherever given, may be taken into account.

# PROFORMA 'B'

State----

	1969	1970	1971	1972	1973	1974
A. Liabilities						
1. Due to Government of India.						
2. Open market loans.						
3. Land compensation bonds.						
4. Floating Loans.						
5. Other loans.						
6. State Provident Funds.						
7. Other Deposits.						
Total—A						
B. Assets						
1. Loans advanced (due to Government)						
2. Loans to Electricity Boards.						
3. Other assets.						
4. Cash balances.						
5. Investments:						
(a) In securities						
(i) Earmarked.						
(ii) Unearmarked.						
(b) Other investments.						
Total—B						

Note:-Details may be given wherever available by Major items only.

# PROFORMA 'C'

### Deposits and Advances

			As on	31st M	arch of ea	ich year				
1969	1970	1971	1972	1973	1974	1975	1976	1977	1978	1979

......

. . . .

- 1. Deposits of Depreciation Reserves of Government Commercial concerns.
  - (a) Kept with State Government.
  - (b) Kept with banking and tinancial institutions includ-ing liquid, cash and investments in shares etc.
- 2. Electricity Board Deposits.
  - (a)

(b)

- 3. Housing Board Deposits.
  - (a)
  - (b)
- 4. Deposits of Small Industries Corporation.
  - (a)
  - (b)
- 5. Deposits of Agro-Industries Corporation.
  - (a)
  - (b)
- 6. Deposits of Khadi and Village Industries Board.
  - (a)
  - (b)
- 7. Deposits of Local Funds.
  - (a)
  - (b)
- 8. Other deposits. (please specify details by major categories)
  - (a)
  - (b)

(4) Letter No. F.C.18 (1)-A/72, dated 13th October, 1972 from Member-Secretary, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States.

Please refer to my D.O. letter of even number dated the 1st September, 1972 in which the State Government had been requested to furnish certain information relating to the working of the State Electricity Board, State Road Transport Corporation etc.

2. I shall be grateful if information on the following additional points relating to the State Electricity Board is also made available to us at an early date:—

- (i) Total progressive investment in power projects, as at the end of each year from 1968-69 to 1971-72 and estimated at the end of 1972-73 and 1973-74 separately for the various systems of power generation e.g. steam, hydro, diesel etc;
- (ii) Average cost of power per unit (kwh) produced under each of the above mentioned systems separately and also all the systems taken together during the year 1968-69 to 1971-72;
- (iii) Average revenue in paisa per unit (kwh) realised from power sold
  - (a) within the State and
  - (b) outside the State
  - for each of the years from 1968-69 to 1971-72;
- (iv) Receipt from electricity duty for the years 1968-69 to 1971-72 together with its break-up as follows:—
  - (a) on power sold by the State Electricity Board.
  - (b) on power sold by departmental electricity undertakings including electricity portion of multipurpose river valley project etc;
  - (c) on sale of power purchased from other State/Systems and
  - (d) on sale of power by private generators etc. For this purpose, aggregate revenue from electricity duties may be split up in proportion to the number of units sold under each category.

3. It will be useful if similar estimates could also be furnished for each of the years 1972-73 to 1978-79. Such estimates would, it is expected, not be difficult to prepare if the formulation of the Fifth Plan of the power sector is in an advanced stage. If, however, the preparation of the Fifth Plan is likely to take some time, estimates, for these years can be sent subse-

quently, without holding up the compilation and submission of the information asked for in the preceding paragraph:—

- 4. Brief notes may also kindly be furnished on the following:---
  - (a) Present position regarding the estimated level of losses in power transmission/distribution etc., and steps taken by the State Government/State Electricity Board to minimise such losses;
  - (b) Norms, if any, used by the State Electricity Board in projecting its receipts and expenditures for purposes of the budget and for formulation of the forecast to be furnished to the Planning Commission in connection with Annual Plans. A note on this point has already been sought in Shri A. G. Krishnan's D.O. letter No. F.C. 21(2)-A/72 dated the 8th September, 1972.
  - 5. It is requested that the above information, together with the material asked for in my earlier letter of the 1st September, 1972 may be furnished to us urgently and in any case by the 15th November, 1972.
  - (5) Letter No. F.C. 20 (4)-A/72 dated 1st August, 1972 from Shri G. Ramachandran, Member-Secretary, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States.

In terms of para 5 of the Presidential Order setting up the Sixth Finance Commission, the Commission is expected to undertake "a general review of the States' debt position with particular reference to the Central loans advanced to them and likely to be outstanding as at the end of 1973-74 and suggest changes in the existing terms of repayment having regard, *inter alia* to the overall non-Plan gap of the States, their relative position and the purpose for which the loans have been utilised and the requirements of the Centre".

2. In order to be able to deal with this question the Finance Commission would need to have a detailed picture of the debt position of the State—purposes for which loans from different sources have been obtained, the terms of the loans, amounts still outstanding and the schedule of repayment upto 1978-79. I shall be grateful if you can, in consultation with the Accountant General concerned, furnish information as required in the proforma attached for each of the categories of loans indicated in the Annexure.

3. Thirty copies of the statements containing information as in the proforma may kindly be sent so as to reach me by the 15th September, 1972. If you need clarification on any point pertaining to compilation of these statements, please do not hesitate to write to me.

# **DEBT POSITION OF STATES**

State-----

Amounts outstanding as on 31-3-1972 and schedule of repayments upto 1978-79-

Statement No.-----

(Rs. lakhs) Sl. No. Item Pur- Rate of Other Originally raised Outstand-Scheduled to be repaid during Balance if ing as on ----pose interest terms ---- any as on of repay- Year Amount 31-3-72 72-73 73-74 74-75 75-76 76-77 77-78 78-79 31-3-79 ment 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 2 3 4 5 \_\_\_\_\_ 

Notes:--1. Loans repayable in 12 months and under may be excluded from these statements, and shown in a separate statement purposewise.

2. Col. 3 should refer to actual/effective rate of interest, taking into account the rebate, if any, for prompt repayments.

3. Col. 7: overdue instalments should not be included under this column, but may be shown separately.

STATEMENT III—Loans for Centrally sponsored Schemes.

Details may be furnished by individual schemes. These details should not be included either under Statement I or Statement II.

# B. Loans from Financial Institutions to States.

(Statements under this category should not include loans given to autonomous bodies like State Electricity Boards, State Road Transport Corporation etc., with or without state Government guarantee).

### STATEMENT IV-Loans from Reserve Bank of India.

Details may be furnished by individual loans sepatately for Plan and non-Plan purposes. This statement should not include ways and means advances and overdrafts.

S ATEMENT V-LIC Loans:-

Details may be given by individual loans separately for Plan and non-Plan purposes.

STATEMENT VI-Loans from State Bank of India.

STATEMENT VII-Loans from Nationalised Banks.

STATEMENT VIII-Loans from other Financial Institutions.

STATEMENT IX—Loans from other autonomous bodies e.g. ICAR. etc.

Details may be given by individual loans, for Statements VI to XI.

ANNEXURE

A. Loans from the Centre

STATEMENT I-Non-Plan Loans.

Details may be given by individual loans. This s atement will include all non-Plan loans from the Centre such as loans given for clearance of over-drafts, special accommodations, small savings collections, relief of distress caused by natural calamities, non-Plan development and other non-development purposes. This will *exclude* loans for Centrally sponsored schemes but will *include* loans for specified development projects outside the Plan.

# STATEMENT II-Loans for State Plan Schemes.

Details may be furnished as under:

- (a) Upto 1957-58 by individual loans
- (b) 1958-59 to 1968-69.

State Governments are aware that the procedures for allocation and release of Central assistance (loans as well as grant) for State Plans were progressively liberalised during this period. Information in regard to purpose-wise utilisation of Central assistance will therefore be available, in varying degrees of detail, for this period. The purpose-wise distribution of Central assistance may, therefore, be indicated by Schemes/groups/heads as the case may be with reference to the instructions governing assessment and release of Central loan assistance for the Plan for the year in question. It may also be recalled that during this period there was a special category of loan, called "Miscellaneous development loan" for purposes of the plan. The purpose-wise allocation of miscellanceous development loan may be made with reference to approvals in this regard accorded by Planning Commission/Union Ministry of Finance for each year.

(c) 1969-70 onwards-block loans:

Loans for centrally sponsored schemes should not be included under statement II.

#### (6) Letter No. F.C. 20 (4) -A/72 dated 23rd Aptil, 1973 from Shri G. Ramachandran, Memeber-Secretary, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States.

The Commission had requested you, in its letter of even number of August 1, 1972, to furnish data in regard to the debt position of your State—purposes for which loans from different sources have been obtained, the terms of loans, amount still outstanding and the schedule of repayments up to 1978-79. The information called for related to amounts outstanding as on 31st March, 1972 and schedule of repayment in respect of these loans upto 1978-79. The information in regard to this has already been furnished by your State Government.

2. Now that the year 1972-73 has come to a close the Commission would like to have, at an earlier date, the figures relating to loans obtained by your State Government (excluding short term loans repayable in 1972-73 and 1973-74) during the year 1972-73 and the schedule of repayment of such loans over the period of Fifth Plan. This information may kindly be supplied in the same proforma as indicated in your letter of August, 1972.

3. The terms of reference of the Commission require that a view in regard to Central Loans advanced to States and likely to be outstanding as at the end of 1973-74 be taken into account. I shall be grateful if you could also indicate in a separate statement the likely amounts to be received by your State Government in 1973-74 as loans by various categories and the repayment obligations in respect of these loans over the Fifth Plan period. Brief notes indicating the assumptions on which these estimates have been worked out may also kindly be indicated.

4. Thirty copies of the statements containing information on the above points may kindly be sent to us by May 10, 1973 at the latest. I have no doubt as the problem of debt relief is of vital interest to the State Government the required information would be complied with the utmost sense of urgency and by due date to enable the Commission to formulate its views in the matter,

### (7) Letter No. F.C. 20 (26)-A/72 dated 10-8-73 from Shri G. Ramachandran, Member-Secretary, Finance Commission to Finance Secretaries of all States.

As you are already aware, the Commission is required, under its terms of reference, to undertake a general review of the States' debt position with particular reference to the Central loans advanced to them and likely to be outstanding as at the end of 1973-74 and suggest changes in the existing terms of repayment having regard, *inter alia*, to the overall non-Plan gap of the States, their relative position and the purposes for which the loans have been utilised, and the requirements of the Centre. To enable the Commission to consider this term of reference, we had called for details of loans advanced by the Central Government to the State Government that are likely to be outstanding by the end of 1973-74, indicating, *inter alia*, the outstanding balance at the beginning of the Fifth Plan period and the repay ments due to the Central Government during the Fifth Plan period. Arrangements have been made to get the estimates of repayments in respect of loans taken to the end of 1972-73 and likely to be outstanding by the end of 1973-74 being checked by the State Accountant General.

2. The material furnished by the State Government in this regard indicates that a very large number of loans are outstanding. Further, loans for same and similar purposes were drawn by the State Governments in different years. The Commission felt that it would be useful to classify the individual loans into broad categories so that the problem of debt, particularly with reference to the purpose for which the loans have been utilised, could be considered in proper perspective. We have accordingly classified the loans into certain broad categories with reference to the details furnished by the State Government in regard to the individual loans. The enclosed Statement indicates the outstanding balance at the end of 1973-74 and repayments due to the Central Government during the Fifth Plan period in respect of each category. It is feit that the work of the Commission would be considerably facilitated if the outstanding balance and the estimate of repayment for each category is checked

67

in consultation with the Stale Government to eliminate any possibility of error of computation. I will accordingly request you to kindly get the enclosed Statement checked and return the same with your comments, if any, so as to reach us *latest by 25th August*. 1973. If the statement is not received back by that date, it will be presumed that you have no comments to offer and the outstanding balance and the estimates of repayment as shown in the statement are correct on the basis of the records of the State Government. In case your comments necessitate substantial modifications to the Statement, it will be useful to reconcile the differences by personal discussion. Should this be found necessary, the discussion is proposed to

3. Receipt of this letter may kindly be acknowledged by telegram.

Debt position of-----

į,

.

Categories of loans	Amount 1 31-3-1974	ikely to be in respect Cen	outstandin of loans stre	ng as on from the	Amount to be repaid during the Fifth Plan period in respect of loans from the Centre					
	Obtained upto 71-72	Obtained during 72-73	Likely to be obtained during 73-74	Total (Cols. 2+3+4)	Obtained upto 71-72	Obtained during 72-73	Likely to be obtained during 73-74	Total (Cols. 6+7+8)		
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9		
1. Non-Developmental loans										
1. Pre-autonomy debt										
2. States' Share in market borrowings .										
3. Share in small savings										
4. Relief and rehabilitation.										
(a) Goldsmith										
(b) Displaced persons from Pakistan .										
(c) Repatriates from Burma, Ceylon etc.							•			
(d) Other relief and rehabilitation schemes.										
Total—4										
5. Natural Calamities										
(a) Flood relief						<b></b>				
(b) Famine and drought relief										
(c) Others (Pl. give details) .										
Total—5										
<ol> <li>Loans, if any, for clearance of over- drafts (Medium term loans sanctioned in 1972-73)</li> </ol>										
7. Special accommodation										
8. Special loans, if any for meeting gap in resources										
(a) Loans to erstwhile Union Territor- ies										
(b) Loans sanctioned in 1972-73.										
(c) Other loans, if any (Please give details)										
Fotal—8										
9. Other non-developmental loans :										
(a) Modernisation of police force.										
(b) Police housing										
(c) Housing for All-India Service Officers										
(d) Miscellaneous non-developmental loans (Please give details)										
otal—9 otal—1-9										

- ----

Total-1-9 .....

#### Debt Position of-

\_\_\_\_\_

-----

.\_\_\_\_

#### (Rs. lakhs)

....

. . . . .

-----

Categories of loans	Amount 31-3-197	likely to t 74 in respec Cent	et of loans	Amount to be repaid during the Fifth Plan period in respect of loans from the Centre					
	Obtained upto 71-72	Obtained during 72-73	Likely to be obtained during 73-74	Total (Cols. $2+3+4$ )	Obtained upto 71-72	Obtained during 72-73	Likely to be obtained during 73-74	Total (Cols. 6+7+8)	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	

#### H. Developmental

\_ . . .

- 1. Agricultural production and alied schemes
  - (a) Agricultural production .

. .....

- (b) Grow more food schemes .
- (c) Land development, land reforms .
- (d) Forest and Soil Conservation
- (e) Horticulture . . .
- (f) Fisheries . . .
- (g) Animal husbandry and Dairying .
- (h) Minor irrigation, Tube wells
- (i) Permanent improvement in scarcity affected areas

#### Total-1

#### 2. Irrigation & Power

(a)	Multipurp mes	oose	River	Val	ley Sc	he-
	inc.5	•	•	•	•	•
(b)	Irrigation	(Me	edium	&	Major	)
	Project		•			•
	<b>n</b>	• .				
(c)	Power pro	ject	•	•	•	٠
<i>(</i> <b>)</b> )	<b>E</b> 1 1					
(a)	Flood con	troi	•	•	•	·
(e)	Investigat			riga	tion a	ınd
	power pro	ojects	i.	•	•	•
	<b>D</b>		<i>.</i> .			
-(E)-	Rural elect	11 HICE	nion	•	•	-

(g) Inter-State transmission lines

.

.

#### Total---2

- 3. Industrial Development
  - (a) Medium and Large industry

(0)		-	
(b) Small scale industry			
(c) Rural industries		•	
(d) Handierafts .	•	•	
(e) Handloom .	•		
(f) Industriai estates.			

- (g) Adoption of metric system of weight & measures.
- (h) Others (Pl. give details)

1	40	
- 1	4X	

#### (Rs. lakhs) Debt position of-Amount likely to be outstanding as on Amount to be repaid during the Fifth Plan Categories of loans 31-3-1974 in respect of loans from the period in respect of loans from the Centre. Centre. Obtained Obtained Likely Total Obtained Obtained Likely Total to be (Cols. obtained 2+3+4) during 72-73 upto 71-72 upto 71-72 during to be (Cols. 6+7+8) 72-73 obtained during during 73-74 73-74 -----9 2 3 5 6 7 8 4 1 4. Housing Schemes (a) Subsidised industrial Housing (b) Low Income Group Housing (c) Village housing schemes (d) Land acquisition & development . (e) Other housing schemes (Please give details) . . drainage and slum 5. Water-supply, clearance 6. Education (a) Education schemes (b) Construction of hostels (c) National loan scholarship 7. Medical and public health schemes 8. C. D. N. E. S. and Cooperation (a) Community Development, NES (b) Cooperation schemes Contribution to share capital of (c) Cooperative Societies . (d) Purchase of debentures of Land Mortgage Banks . (e) Agriculture Credit Stabilisation Fund . • • (f) Construction of godowns (g) Rural Works programmes . (h) Rural Man-Power Programmes 9. Transport (a) Inter-State roads of economic importance (b) In-land water transport (c) Development of Minor Ports . (d) Construction of bridges.

(e) Other (Please give details)

### Total-9

Total-8

Total-4

Total--6

		14							
						(Rs	. lakhs)		
Categories of loans	Amount li 31-3-1974 Centre.	kely to be in respect	outstandin of loans	Amount to be repaid during the Fifth Plar period in respect of loans from the Centre					
	Obtained upto 7]-72	Obtained during 72-73	Likely to be obtained during 73-74	Fotal (Cols. 2+3+4)	Obtained upto 71-72	Obtained during 72-73	Likely to be obtained during 73-74	Tota! (Cols. 6+7+8)	
l	2	3	4	5	6	7	8		
10. Labour, employment and Social Welfare			,						
(a) Educated unemployed									
(b) Welfare of backward classes .									
(c) Others (Please give details) .									
Total—10									
11. Miscellaneous Development loans									
12. Block loans for State Fourth Plan Sche mes									
(a) Part of Fourth Plan assistance .									
(h) Specific loans outside Fourth Plan assistance									
13. Other Development schemes									
(a) Development of border areas .									
(b) Other development schemes (Pleas give details)	iC.								
Total-13									
Total									

III. Total loans from the Centre .

•

#### Explanatory Notes

- Please include loans from the Central Government only. Loans from Central institutions like RBI, LIC, NCDC, IDC, Warehousing Corporation etc. should not be included.
- 2. Loans for Natural Calamities are those taken from the Government of India specifically for this purpose.
- 3. Plan loans taken prior to 1969-70 should be classified under the relevant items indicating the purpose under "II-Developmental".
- "Block Loans" under "II-Developmental" represent loans advanced for financing State Plan Schemes with effect from 1969-70 according to the revised arrangement for Central assistance.
- 5. Loans for Multipurpose, Irrigation, Power Projects, etc., taken during the Fourth Plan period should be shown against "Block Loans" and not under the specific purpose loans, irrespective of the fact whether these are continuing projects at the beginning of the Fourth Plan or not. Thus, loans for Nagarjuna Sagar Project, Beas Project, etc., which were continuing projects at the commencement of the Fourth Plan, should be classified under "Irrigation & Power" upto 1968-69 and as "Block Loans" from 1969-70. In case over and above the loan assistance for State Plan schemes any loan has been received during the Fourth Plan for a specific Irrigation or Power "Block Loans" and the position suitably explained in a Foot Note.
- 6. Special accommodation relates to the assistance given specifically for meeting non-plan gaps in resources during the Fourth Plan in relation to targets fixed earlier. Other loans received for meeting gaps in resources should be shown under appropriate heads.
- 7. Loans for centrally sponsored schemes and Central Plan schemes including those given since 1969-70 should be classified with reference to the purpose under different heads indicated under "II-Developmental".
- 8. Short term loans and Ways & Means advances, if any, should be excluded.
- (8) Letter No. FC 1(1)-B/72 dated 25-7-72 from Shri G. Ramachandran, Member-Secretary, Finance Commission to Dr. I.G. Patel, Secretary, Department of Economic Affairs, New Delhi.

The Sixth Finance Commission requires as usual data on the resources of the Central Government and allied matters like devolution of Central taxes and other grants and loans made to States.

Some of the points on which information is required are set out in the enclosed note. I shall be grateful if you could arrange to have the necessary information supplied to us by the end of September, 1972.

#### FORECAST OF REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE

#### I. Revenue and Expenditure :

(1) A forecast in the attached form of the revenue receipts of the Central Government by major heads of account for the five years 1974-75 to 1978-79 together with corresponding data for each of the years 1968-69 to 1973-74.

(2) A forecast in the attached form of the expenditure met from revenue of the Central Government by major heads of account for the five years 1974-75 to 1978-79 together with corresponding data for each of the years 1968-69 to 1973-74. In working out the forecast of expenditures for the years 1974-75 to 1978-79, due provision will no doubt be made for maintenance expenditure on account of the Plan schemes taken up for implementation during the Fourth Five Year Plan period and likely to be completed by the 31st March, 1974. The norms, if any, followed by Central Government in determining provision for maintenance expenditure may also be kindly indicated.

(3) A statement showing for each of the years from 1968-69 to 1973-74 estimates of grants to the States from current revenues. Brief notes explaining the basis on which each grant was calculated and the purpose of the grant may also be furnished. The break-up of these grants between plan and non-Plan items may also be indicated. It will be appreciated if State-wise details of such figures can be furnished. The break-up of these grants between plan and non-Plan items may also be indicated. It will be appreciated if State-wise details of such figures can be furnished. (For the purpose of this Statement, the payment of the States' share of Income Tax and Union Excise and the allocation to the States of Estate Duty and Additional Duties of Excise in lieu of Sales Tax should not be treated as grants.) Grants paid to States on account of Wealth Tax on agricultural property should also be indicated together with a note explaining the basis on which the distribution has been made.

(4) A statement showing capital grants (but not loans) to the States over the years 1968-69 to 1973-74. The nature of these grants and their distribution between Plan and non-Plan items may also be indicated. Here again, State-wise distribution of these figures may please be furnished.

#### II. Loans to States :

(1) Total loans given by the Central Government to each State from time to time and the purposes for which they were given with a break-up between Plan and non-Plan.

(2) Terms and conditions of such loans individually and Statewise.

(3) Details of loans which had been repaid by the States in time and the defaulting States and the amounts of such defa u with a brief indication of remedial action (if any) taken by Government.

(4) Details of further loans given to States individually to help them repay the loans due to the Centre (Break-up by States in each case).

(5) The amounts of loans written off, if any, and the amounts of overdue loans, if any, with a break-up by States. The information on the above points may be supplied from 1968-69 onwards.

(6) A Statement showing repayments of loans due from each State in each of the years from 1974-75 to 1978-79 under the following three broad categories :—

- (i) Repayments in respect of loans for plan schemes paid to the States upto the 31st March, 1974.
- (ii) Repayments on account of loans given to States on account of small savings collections up to the 31st March, 1974 and
- (iii) Repayments in respect of other loans given to the States upto the 31st March, 1974.

Estimates of loans to be given during 1972-73 and 1973-74 in respect of plan schernes, small savings collections and others, have to be made and repayments on account of these estimated amounts will be shown separately in the Statement in each of the years from 1974-75 to 1978-79.

### III. Expenditure on Natural Calamities Relief :

A Statement showing the year-wise and State-wise expenditure on natural calamities, as reported to the Union Ministry of Finance by various State Governments and the grant and loan assistance given to the States on this account for each of the years from 1966-67 onwards. IV. Additional Information :

4

4

(1) Details of the receipts of the Central Government by way of loans and other capital receipts.

(2) Details of disbursements of the Central Government by way of loans and capital outlay, both plan and non-plan.

(3) Details of expenditure on civil administration including revision of dearness and other allowances from time to time.

(4) The outlay on Defence and Border Security.

(5) The amounts required for the servicing of debt by Central Government, indicating amounts payable as interest principal in each year and the provisions for amortisation if any, of debt as well as amounts recoverable as interest and repayment of principal in respect of loans by the Central Government. (6) Details of such other committed expenditure as may have to be provided for in the course of the five year period, 1974-75 to 1978-79.

Information on the above points may be supplied from 1968-69 to 1973-74 and a forecast for the period 1974-75 to 1978-79.

(7) Details of the debt position of the Central Government for the period upto 31-3-1974, indicating separately loans raised in India, loans from PL 480 funds and loans borrowed from other countries.

(8) The investments of the Central Government in commercial schemes/departments and other productive enterprises together with details of such investments and the amount of return each year on capital invested; and in the event of losses, the steps taken by the Central Government to avert or minimise such losses.

Head of Account		Actuals 1969-	Actuals 1970-	Pre- Actuals	B.E.	Latest	Esti-		· ······	Forecast	for		
	69			71-72	ls 72-73	estimates 72-73	73 73-74	74-75	75-76	<u></u>	77-78 78-79	78-79	Total 74-75 to 78-79.
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)
I. Education (etc., etc.)											·		
(a) 1968-69 Plan schemes		_			_			_				_	
(b) Fourth Plan schemes								_					_
(i) Central Plan Schemes						·							
( <i>ii</i> ) Centrally sponsored schemes								_					
(c) Non-plan ex- penditure									_	~_		_	_
( <i>i</i> ) Committed expenditure in respect of 1966- 69 annual plans													
( <i>ii</i> ) Committed expenditure in respect of Fourth Plan schemes													
( <i>iii</i> ) Other non- plan expendi- ture													
Total													

# Statement of Expenditure met from Revenues-Central Government

Statement of Revenue Receipts—Central Government

Head of Account	Actuals 1968-	Actuals 1969-	Actuals 1970-	Pre- Actuals	B.E. 1972-	Latest	Esti-	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Forecas	t for		. crores) Total
	69	70	71	1971- 72	73	1972- 73	mates 1973- 74	74-75	75-76	76-77	77-78	78-79	74-75 to 78-79
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)
1. Corporation tax Normal at 1967- 68 rates	:										· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		·
Addl. taxation 1968-69													
Addl. taxation 1969-70	_												
Addl. taxation 1970-71 .													
Addl. taxation 1971-72	_												
Addl. taxation 1972-73			_										
2. Taxes on Income other than Corporation tax,													

Note : As above and similarly for other taxes and duties.

-

#### Notes---Revenue and Expenditure

1. As mentioned in the U.O. note, figures are to be shown by major heads of account. However, under Major heads like "Miscellaneous", details of special items of significant magnitude may be given.

2. In working out the forecast for the years from 1974-75 to 1978-79, the following points may please be kept in mind :

(a) In the Section dealing with revenue, no deductions should be made on account of the States' share of income tax or estate duty; but a separate statement should be furnished giving an estimate for each year of the divisible pool of income tax and the total of the distributable amount of estate duty. The contribution receivable from the railways in lieu of tax on railway passenger fares should be shown separately from other contribution from railways.

(b) Brief explanations should be given of any large variations in the revenue estimates from year to year.

(c) Details of the estimates relating to the Union excise dutics may be given by each article, separately for basic, regulatory and additional excise duties.

(d) Grants payable to the States in lieu of tax on railway passenger fares should be shown separately from other grants.

(c) The share of the divisible excises payable to the States, if included in the expenditure estimates, should be shown separately. Separate figures should be given also for additional excise duties.

(f) As on the revenue side, variations in the estimates of expenditure from year to year should be briefly explained.

(g) In the expenditure estimates, details of the provision included in each year for grants to States should be given.

(h) Both the revenue and the expenditure estimates should be based on the levels of taxation reached upto 31-3-1974 and the present scales of expenditure; they should, however, take into account the normal growth of revenue and expenditures. Provision should also be made for any foreseeable measures of important non-developmental expenditures, showing the amounts separately and adding suitable explanations to indicate the character of such measures, and whether obligatory or otherwise.

(i) In the statement relating to revenue expenditure for the years 1968-69 to 1973-74 under such heads of accounts as include plan expenditures, the break-up of total expenditure between plan and non-plan may please be indicated. For the years 1974-75 to 1978-79, no provision should be included in the estimates for such developmental expenditures as will be in the Fifth Plan. For these years the estimates to be included in the Statement should refer to :--

- (a) Maintenance expenditure on account of plan schemes, undertaken in each of the years 1969-70 to 1973-74 and likely to be completed by 31st March, 1974 both revenue and capital;
- (b) such new developmental expenditure as would not be included in the Fifth Plan, for any reason; and
- (c) all such normal continuing expenditure as was not included in the plan and would not be included in the Fifth Plan either.
- (9) Letter No. F.C. 20(14)-A/72, dated 27th October, 1972 from Member-Secretary, Finance Commission to Secretories of Ministries of the Government of India.

While considering the principles which should govern the sharing of Central taxes and duties and allocation of grants-inaid to States, the Sixth Finance Commission is, under its terms of reference, required to take into account, among other things, the resources of the Central Government and the demands thereon on account of the expenditure on civil administration, defence and border security, debt servicing and other liabilities. The Commission has given some thought to this aspect of its work and has decided to hold discussions with the representatives of the Central Ministries so as to have a proper appreciation of their requirements in the Firth Plan period. However, before these discussions are arranged, the Commission would like to have factual data about the growth of establishment in the various Ministries (including attached or subordinate agencies) as well as their views on some of the specific issues relevant to our work. The points on which factual information and your views are required are set out in the questionnaire attached herewith. I shall be grateful if the Ministry's reply to the questionnaire can be sent to me at an early date and preferably by the 31st December, 1972.

2. After the Commission has considered your reply to the questionnaire, I shall write to you again about the Commission's programme of discussions with your Ministry.

#### QUESTIONNAIRE

1. Please furnish a short descriptive note on the main functions performed or looked after by the Ministry referring specially to the division of such functions as between subjects falling in the State List (List II of Seventh Schedule) of the Constitution and those falling within the Union or Concurrent Lists.

2. Please furnish data (in the form attached) regarding the growth in the size of the establishment of the Ministry (including attached and subordinate agencies) and expenditure relating thereto, in respect of gazetted and non-gazetted staff in the successive Plan periods commencing from the First Plan.

3. To what extent is the growth of the establishment attributable to expansion of the Ministry's work relating to subjects in the State List of the Constitution ?

4. Please indicate the norms, if any, used for the employment of additional staff.

5. Has the Ministry undertaken any review recently of its organisation and functions, specially in the light of the recommendations of the ARC (Recommendation No. 10 of the Report on the "Machinery of the Government of India and its Procedures of work" and Recommendation No. 22 of the Report on 'Centre-State Relationships')? If so, the major features of the review and the action taken thereon may be indicated.

6. Article 258 of the Constitution provides for entrustment, conditionally or unconditionally, to State Governments of functions in relation to matters to which the executive power of the Union extends. Efforts made by the Ministry in this regard and the scope for a greater use of this provision by the Ministry may be indicated.

7. Please indicate the main highlights of the programmes proposed to be undertaken by the Ministry during the Fifth Plan period. Does the Ministry contemplate any significant increase in the strength of its establishment in connection with this programme? The proposals, if any, formulated in this connection may be indicated in outline form.

#### Establishment of Central Ministries

	 							For the year ending						
								31-3-1951 No. */ expendi- ture**	31-3-1956 No./ expendi- ture	31-3-1961 No./ cxpendi- ture	31-3-1966 No./ expendi- ture	31-3-1969 No./ cxpendi- ture	31-3-1972 No./ expendi- ture	
1. Secretariat	•	•	•		•	•	•							
(i) Gazetted .														
(ii) Non-gazetted														
Total						·	•							
2. Attached Offices	-													
(i) Gazetted .														
(ii) Non-gazetted .														
Total	•	•		•										
3. Subordinate Offices														
(i) Gazetted .														
(ii) Non-gazetted .														
Total														
Total: Gazetted														
Non-Gazetted														

Expenditure includes (i) pay and allowance; and (ii) contingencies

(10) Letter No. FC 20(6)-A/72 dated the 2nd August, 1972 from Shri A. G. Krishnan, Deputy Secretary, Finance Commission to Shri B. Maithreyan, Joint Secretary Department of Economic Affairs.

In connection with the work of the Finance Commission, we require information on the following two points:---

- (i) The basis on which the rates of interest on loans to State Governments are now fixed; and
- (ii) whether the question of modifying the system of equaled payments has been considered.

May I in this connection also invite your attention to para 151 of the report of the Second Finance Commission which is extracted below for your ready reference:---

I am desired to enquire whether an attempt has been made to assess the 'true cost of borrowing of Government of India' and relate thereto the rate of interest to be charged on loans to State Governments. Apart from indicating the current 'true cost of borrowing of Government of India', I wonder whether it would also be possible for you to furnish the corresponding figure for as many of the preceding years as possible. This would be of help to the Commission in dealing with the representations likely to be made by State Governments.

I shall be grateful if information on these points in as much details as possible is sent to us at your earliest convenience.

With regards.

(11) Note from the Ministry of Finance (Department of Economic Affairs) regarding average rate of borrowing.

#### MINISTRY OF FINANCE

(Department of Economic Affairs)

The Finance Commission in their D.O. letter No. FC 20(6)-A/72 dated 2nd August, 1972 have asked for information on the following three points:—

 (i) the basis on which the rates of interest on loans to State Governments are now fixed; ÷

- (ii) whether the question of modifying the system of equated payments has been considered; and
- (iii) whether an attempt has been made to assess the true cost of borrowing of Government of India and relate thereto the rate of interest to be charged on loans to State Governments.
- 2. These are dealt with below.
- (i) the basis on which the rates of interest on loans to State Governments are now fixed:

Prior to 1-4-1969 rates of interest applicable to loans advanced by Central Government to States were generally determined with reference to the prevailing redemption yields of Government of India securities with unexpired maturity corresponding to the period of loan to be sanctioned and making a slight addition to cover debt management, incidental and other charges (about 1/8%). The rates were fixed on an annual basis and related to the periods for which the loans were sanctioned. 3. The determination of lending rates with reference to the provailing redemption yields of Government of India securities in effect co-related to Government's lending rates with its own berrowing cost. This arrangement also enabled the lending rates to be determined for various periods of loans to be sanctioned. Linking the lending rates with interest rates carried by loans raised during a particular year only was neither practicable nor appropriate as only one or two public loans of specific maturities are raised in a year whereas loans are advanced for varying periods. The redemption yields of Government of India loans constitute a more fair basis as yields would represent cost of borrowing for particular periods at any point of consideration.

4. Interest rates on loans advanced to States since 1965 and until 31st March 1969 are indicated below :---

Period of Loan	Interest rate per annum						
Upto 1 year		•	•	4%			
Exceeding 1 year, but not exceeding 4 ;			•	412% 5%			
Exceeding 4 years, but not exceeding 9 Exceeding 9 years, but not exceeding 15	š ycars	5		51%			
Exceeding 15 years, but not exceeding	30 yea	215 	•	51%;			

Since June 1968 a rebate of 1/4% for prompt repayments and interest payments has been allowed to State Governmets.

5. Loans given to State Governments for the specific purpose of re-leading to their industrial and commercial enterprises (excluding State Electricity Boards), however, carry interest rates applicable to loans Central public sector undertakings. The volume of these loans is not much. These rates carrent from 1955 are:—

Period of Loan	Effective Interest rate per annum
Upto 4 years	6% (52% since June 1968)
Exceeding 4 years but not exceeding 9 years	$6\frac{1}{2}\%$ (61% since June 1968)
Exceeding 9 years but not exceeding 15 years	t 7% (6‡% since June 1968)

6. The position was reviewed in the light of observations of the Fifth Finance Commission while indicating the principles adopted by it in assessing States' needs for grants-in-aid from the Centre in Paragraph 6.35 of its Report, its assumptions in regard to interest on ad hoe loans to cover gaps in States resotirces, suggestions for deferring interest recovery for suitable periods in the case of loans given for schemes like irrigation including waiver of interest recovery during the period of construction for a suitable period thereafter. Even though the interest rates on loans to States were already being determined with reference to Centre's own borrowing cost, it was decided to scale down the rates so determined in deference to the observations of the Fifth Finance Commission. Accordingly, since 1-4-1969 the maximum rate of interest on loans to State Governments was reduced to 5% with a rebate of 1/4% towards prompt payments and interest payments or in other words, 43/4% per annum cflective. Where the interest rate worked out on the basis of the carlier formula was less as in the case of short term loans like ways and means advances, the lesser rate was retained. On this basis, interest rates on loans to State Governments effective since 1-4-1969 are as follows:-

Per od of Loan		Effectiv	e inf	erest ra	ate p	er annum
Upto one year						4 1/4 %
Exceeding one year						4 3/4%
-						

7. In the case of loans for re-lending to industrial and commercial enterprises, the lending rates mentioned in para 5 above were raised viz. 1/2% from 1-6-1971.

### (ii) Whether the question of modifying the system of equated payments has been considered:

8. Prior to 1968 all loans sanctioned to State Governments were recovered in annual equated instalments of principal and interest. This had the advantage of spreading out evenly the repayment and interest burden during the period of the loans, the amount of annual instalment comprising principal and interest being uniform throughout the currency of a loan except of course during the period of moratorium. These arrangements however, created difficulties in calculating the annuities as and when the terms of the loans were varied or any temporary deferment of recoveries was allowed as also in the preparation of forecasts of interest liability for purposes of Plan discussions etc. Accordingly since June 1968 loans sanctioned stipulate recoveries in annual equal instalments of principal together with interest due on the outstanding principal from time to time.

#### (iii) Whether an attempt has been made to assess the true cost of borrowing of Government of India and relate thereto the rate of interest to be charged on loans to State Governments:

9. As indicated under item (i), interest rates charged on Central loans to States were, until 31st March, 1969, virtually the same at which Central Government itself raised or would have raised loans for corresponding periods from the market and from 1st April, 1969 these have even been lower than Central Government's own borrowing rates.

10. The lending rates have so far been related to borrowing cost of Government in respect of market loans. That is to say, other debt and interest bearing obligations viz. floating debt (treasury bills), foreign loans and various items coming under unfunded debt (provident funds, small savings securities etc.) were not specifically taken into account in determining the lending rates. This is because:—

- (i) Foreign loans are by and large for specific purposes and accrue to the Country as a whole and the Central Government on its part has also to provide substantial aid to friendly neighbouring countries. The quantum of latter assistance has significantly increased since the emergence of Bangla Desh. A substantial part of the assistance provided by India is in the form of outright grants and the loans assistance is also mostly interest free. On a net basis much of the concessions attached to foreign aid received by India are being absorbed by aid provided by India to the neighbouring countries. Lastly, the quai. um of foreign aid is coming down and consistent with the object of self-reliance, dependence on foreign aid is expected to be greatly reduced in the course of the Fifth Plan. By the end of the Fifth Plan the country is expected to achieve the stage of net zero concessional rate. In view of all this, interest burden on foreign loans received should not be relevant for the purpose of determining lending rates to States.
- (ii) Floating debt is short dated though it is true that bulk of the treasury bills issued in favour of the Reserve Bank are being renewed on maturity but treasury bills issued in favour of the Reserve Bank constitute deficit financing and it cannot be treated as a borrowing in the strict sense of the term nor is this debt earmarked for any specific purpose.
- (iii) The accrctions under unfunded debt carry interest almost at the same rate at which market loans, are raised. In fact, with the introduction of Post Office Time Deposits the borrowing cost of Small Savings has very much increased. The other main item under

unfunded debt is provident fund. The interest rates on provident fund deposits are going up; last year interest rates prescribed were 5.7% on first Rs. 10,000/of the deposits and 5% on excess accumulations.

11. Even if both rupee loans and unfunded debt items are reckoned for the purpose of determining the lending rate to States the effective rate would be above 6% per annum. This is because:

- (a) Rupee loans have been raised at rate varying between 5 to 5 3/4% during this period; Government's borrowing rate based on annual interest burden of rupee loans raised during each year was 5% during 1969-70, 5.5% during 1970-71 and 1971-72. For 1972-73 the borrowing rate (yet to be determined) may also be 5.5%.
- (b) Small savings deposits carry varying rates of interest ranging from 4 1/4% and 4 1/2% for POSB Accounts, 4 3/4% to 5% for CTD Accounts and 6 to 7 1/4% for Post Office Time Deposits. During 1971-72 collections amounted to Rs. 223 crores (provisional). Of this Rs. 148 crores pertained to Post Office Time Deposits, Rs. 51 crores under Post Office Savings Bank, Rs. 19 crores under CTD Accounts and the balance of Rs. 10 crores under other schemes. Under POTD the bulk of the deposits pertain to Employees Provident Fund and are for a period of 5 years. Besides

the expenditure on Small Savings organisation, remuneration paid to P&T and Small Savings publicity cost have also to be taken into account. Taking all these the average cost of Small Savings collections works out to nearly 6 1/2%. Indeed loans to States out of Small Savings collections are heavily subsidised by Central Government.

(c) The borrowing rates in (a) and (b) above relate to gross amounts raised. Since debi discharged carries lower rates of interest the average cost of net borrowings would be higher as the following illustration based on last year's figures would show:---

(Rup	ees i	in Crores)
I. (i) Gross rupee loans raised (details annexed)		731.24
(ii) Annual Interest (Details annexed) .		39,09
II. Debt discharged Annual Interest (Details annexed) .	:	432.10 18.44
III. Net loans raised		299 24 20.65

Average cost of borrowing 6.9%

So will be the position in the case of unfunded debt items.

Loans raised during 1971-72	Amou 112 (Rs. in crores)	Interest (Rs. in
I. 41% Loan, 1973	132.87	6.31
51% Loan, 1986	157.41	8.26
52 % Loan, 2001	225.85	12,99
5% National Defence Loan, 1981	59.93	3.00
51% National Defence Loan, 1986 .	23.66	1.24
51% National Defence Loan, 2001 .	27,15	1,56
4½% Loan, 1977	40.00	1.80
5% Loan, 1982	35.00	1.75
5% National Defence Loan, 1981	5.00	0,25
51% National Defence Loan, 1986	5.00	0.26
52% National Defence Loan, 2001	15.00	0.86
42% Jayanti Shipping Company Compensation Bonds	4.47	0.20
	731.34	38.48
Discount on Joans raised during 1971-72		
Total	<b>3</b> 9.	09 (A)
II. Debt discharged during 1971-72		

	3		, 1771	-/4			
4½% loan	1971		•		332	. 10	14.94
Ad-hocs.		•			100	.00	3.50
Total					432	. 10	18.44(B)
Net loans	during	1971-	72				299.24
Net interes	st burd	en = (A	<b>A−B</b> )				20.65
A							

Average cost of borrowing : 6.9 .

According to the terms of reference, the Finance Commission may make an assessment of the non-Plan capital gap of the States on a uniform and comparable basis for the five years ending

1978-79 and in the light of such an assessment, the Commission may undertake a general review of the States, debt position with particular reference to the Central loans advanced to them and likely to be outstanding at the end of 1973-74 and suggest changes in the existing terms of repayment having regard inter alia to the overall non-plan gap of the States, their relative position and the purposes for which the loans have been utilised and the requirements of the Centre. Some State Governments have represented that in view of the manner in which the terms of reference by the Commission has been worded, the Commission may consider changes in the terms of repayment of Central loans by certain State Governments only if such changes are found necessary as a means of giving relief to such States from the point of view of bridging their non-plan capital gap and overall non-Plan gap. These States have, therefore, suggested that the small savings loans given by the Central Government to the States may be considered independently and changes in their repayments to the Centre suggested on their merits.

The Government of India have considered the representations of the States and agree that the small savings loans stand on a different footing and may be considered on merits independent of non-plan capital gap or overall non-Plan gap of States.

With regards.

(13) Letter No. F.C. 20(25)-A/72 dated 3-8-73 from Shri G. Ramachandran, Member-Secretary Finance Commission to Shri R.K. Trivedi, Additional Secretary, Planning Commission.

As you are aware, the Finance Commission is required. under its terms of reference, to have regard to the revenue resources of the States for the five years ending with the financial year 1978-79 while determing the princi-ples which should govern the grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States out of the Consolidated Fund of India and is also required to take into account, among other things. the interest charges in respect of the debt and other committed expenditure of the State Governments. The Finance Commission has also been asked to review the debt position of the State Governments after making an assessment of the non-Plan capital gap of the States on a uniform and comparable basis for the five years ending with 1978-79. It is necessary for this purpose for the Commission to have a broad idea of the likely Plan outlay of the State Governments for the Fifth Plan period and how the same is proposed to be financed. The resources of the States during the Fifth Plan period will also depend to some extent upon the fresh outlays on the Plan. Thus, for example, investments in the power sector will affect the earnings of the State Electricity Boards while investments in irrigation and industrial sectors will also have some bearing on the revenue receipts. Interest burden during the Fifth Plan period will also depend upon its borrowings both from the open market and from financial institutions. I would, therefore, request you to kindly indicate the likely outlays on the State Plans and its sectoral break-up. The borrowing programme of the States and the likely Central assistance, in the form of grant and loan during the Fifth Plan period, may also kindly be indicated. Although the Fifth Plan has not yet been finalised, broad indications in this regard would probably be available at this stage, I would therefore request that necessary material may kindly be furnished for the information of the Commission latest by 16th August, 1973.

<sup>(12)</sup> Copy of D.O. No. 13(7)-B/73 dated the 13th September, 1973 from Shri B. Maithreyan, Joint Secretary, Ministry of Finance, Department of Economic Affairs addressed to Shri G. Ramachandran, Member-Secretary, Finance Commission, New Delhi.

14) Letter No. 68/72-Economic, dated 16-8-73 from Shri R.K. Trivedi, Additional Secretary, Planning Commission to Shri G. Ramachandran, Member-Secretary, Finance Commission.

Kindly refer to your d.o. letter No. FC.20(25)-A/72 dated August 3, 1973 in which you have sought information relating to (a) the Fifth Plan outlays on the State Plans and their sectoral distribution ; (b) the likely Central assistance to the States for their Fifth Five Year Plans and its grant and loan components and (c) the borrowing programme of the States during the Fifth Plan period.

2. On the basis of the exercises made in the Planning Commission in regard to the estimates of financial resources of the Censsion in regard to the estimates of mancial resources of the Cen-tre and the States, tentative outlays of the order of Rs. 15,600 crores in the aggregate have been indicated to the individual States for their Fifth Plans. The Statewise distribution is shown in the enclosed statement. These will be firmed up after the final report of the Working Group on Financial Resources is received and the recommendations of the Sixth Finance Com-mining an also the Communicative descines the second is received and the recommendations of the Sixth Finance Com-mission as also the Government's decisions thereon become available. The sectoral distribution of the Fifth Plan outlays is currently being discussed with the State officials and a clear picture will emerge only after these discussions are completed sometime next month.

3. Regarding the quantum of Central assistance to States for the Fifth Plan period, no firm view has yet been taken in the Planning Commission. This will emerge after the recommendations of the Sixth Finance Commission as well as the decisions of the Government thereon are available. For the present we have based our calculations on some rough estimates and on the Gadgil formula and modifications if any, in this formula will require approval by the National Development Council. It is, therefore, not possible for us at this stage to indicate the figures of Central assistance for the States, Fifth Five Year Plans or the breakdown between grants and loans.

4. The State Governments have been asking for allocation of market borrowing during the Fifth Plan period on the basis of market borrowing during the Fifth Plan period on the Dasis of well defined and objective criteria as in the case of Central assistance for State Plans. The Planning Commission has not yet taken a definite view in the matter. The Commission is likely to consider the questions such as, quantum of Central assistance for the States' Fifth plan, the principles of allocation of this assistance among States, its loan and grant compo-nent and the allocation of market borrowing to the States, their enterprises and semi government bodies almost immediately after the decision of the Government on the recommendations of after the decision of the Government on the recommendations of the Sixth Finance Commission becomes available and will take final decisions in consultation with the National Development Council, wherever necessary, before the finalisation the Fifth Five Year Plan. of

Kind regards

# APPENDIX IV

Dates of Discussions with State Governments and Ministry of Finance

(.4) Discussions quarters.	with	State	Governments	<i>a1</i>	State	Head-	
Tamil Madu			10th and 11th	i lar	matv	1973	

Tamil Nadu			10th and 11th January, 1973
Karnataka			17th and 18th January, 1973
Maharashtra	•		31st January and 1st February, 1973
Gujarat .			2nd February, 1973
Rajasthan .	•		9th February, 1973
Haryana .			15th February, 1973
Bihar .	٠		24th February, 1973
Punjab	•		11th and 12th March, 1973
Uttar Pradesh	•		17th and 18th March, 1973
Orissa	•		2nd April, 1973
West Bengal .	·	•	10th and 11th April, 1973
Tripura.			12th April, 1973
Madhya Pradesh	•		19th April, 1973

Andhra Pradesh	. 29th and 30th April, 1973
Kerala	. 2nd May, 1973
Jammu & Kashmi <b>r</b>	. 22nd June, 1973
Himachal Pradesh .	. 29th June, 1973
Meghalaya	. 30th July, 1973
Manipur	. 31st July, 1973
Assam	. 31st July, 1973
Nagaland	20th August, 1973 at New Delhi and 24th Septem- ber 1973 at Kohima.

(B) Discussions with Ministry of Finance

Finance Secretary Secretary (Expenditure) Chairman, Central Board 19th September, 1973. of Excise & Customs and other officials of the Ministry.

### APPENDIX V

Names of organisations and individuals who sent memoranda to the Commission

- (a) Organisations which sent memoranda to the Commission
  - Federation of Andhra Pradesh Chamber of Commerce and Industry, 3-5-822/6, Hyderguda, Hyderabad.
  - 2. Federation of Gujarat Mills and Industries Federation Building, R.C. Dutt Road, Baroda.
  - 3. Gokhale Institute of Public Affairs, G.I.P.A., Basvangudi, Bangalore-4.
  - 4. Indian Merchants' Chamber, 76, Veer Nariman Road Churchgate, Bombay.
  - 5. Indian Roads and Transport Development Association 27, Bastian Road, Bombay-1.
  - Inter-University Board of India & Ceylon, Rouse Avenue, New Delhi-1.
  - 7. Kerala State Muslim League, Trivandrum Kerala
  - Madurai-Ramnad Chamber of Commerce, 90-92, East, Avaninoola Street, Madurai-1.
  - 9. Maharashtra Charamkar Parishad, Bombay.
  - 10. Mysore Government Secretariat Association, 162, Vidhan Soudha, Bangalore-1.
  - 11. Punjab, Haryana and Delhi Chamber of Commerce and Industry, 9-A, Connaught Place, New Delhi.
  - 12. Rajasthan Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Johari Bazar, Jaipur-3, Rajasthan.
  - 13. Sri Venkateswara University, Tirupati, Andhra Pradesh.
  - 14. Tamil Nadu NGO Union 31, Neeliveerasway Chetty Street, Madras-5.
  - 15. Vyaparak Association Mandal, Hanuman Garh Town, Rajasthan.
  - (b) Individuals who sent memoranda to the Commission
    - 1. Shri Angrish A.C. Department of Economics, University of Jodhpur, Ratanada 'C' Road Jodhpur, Rajasthan.
    - 2. Shri Ashutosh Lahiry, 11, Sukea Street, Calcutta-9.
    - 3. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai, Member Parliament (Rajya Sabha), Sir P.M. Road, Fort, Bombay-1 BR.
    - 4. Shri Chaudhuri P.N. MLA, Meghalaya, Shillong.
    - 5. Shri Fletcher A.L. Vice Chancellor, Haryana Agricultural University, Hissar, Haryana.
    - 6. Dr. Ganguli B.N., Council for Social Development, 53, Lodi Estate, New Delhi.
    - 7. Prof. Gautam Mathur, Head of Economics Department, Osmania University, Hyderabad.

- 8. Dr. Ghuge V.B., Head of Economics Department, Shivaji University, Kolhapur, Maharashtra.
- 9. Shri Gopalakrishnaiah V., Sattenapalli, Andhra Pradesh.
- Shri Harideya Narayan Singh, Principal, Tilak Dhari College, Jaunpur.
- 11. Dr. Ishwar Chandra, Kulapati, University of Saugar, Saugar, MadhyaPradesh.
- 12. Prof. Krishnan V.S., Vice Chancellor, University of Bhopal, Arera Colony, Bhopal.
- Shri Kshitish Ch. Das, Minister, Forest, Labour, Animal Husbandry & Veterinary Services, Tripura, Agartala.
- 14. Shri Kumar B., Lecturer, R.S.P. College, Jharia, Bihar.
- 15. Shri Manoranjan Sinha Ray, Lecturer in Economics, Viswa Bharti, West Bengal.
- Prof. Mathur M.V., Director. Asian Institute of Educational Planning and Administration, Indraprastha Estate, New Delhi-1.
- 17. Shri Murasoli Maran, Member Parliament, Editor "Murasoli" and "The Rising Sun", Madras-6.
- 18. Shri Murli Dhar Joshi, Professor of Economics, Lucknow University, Mahanagar, Lucknow-6.
- 19. Shri Murti V.S., Head of the Department of Public Administration, Nagpur University, Nagpur.
- Shri Naripendra Chakravarti, Member, Tripura Legistive Assembly, Agartala.
- Shri Rajamallu K., Chairman, Andhra Pradesh Regional Committee, Hyderabad.
- Dr. Rajamannar P.V. Chairman, Fourth Finance Commission, 9, Victoria Crescent Road, Madras-8.
- 23. Dr. Rajendra Jain, Professor of Economics, 'G' Block, Old Secretariat, Bhopal-5.
- 24. Shri Raman A., Madras University, Madras.
- 25. Dr. Rao V.K.R.V., M.P. Former Union Minister of Education, and Director, Institute for Social and Economic Change, Bangalore.
- Shri Santhanam K., Chairman, Second Finance Commission, 58, East Abhiramapuram Street, Mylapore, Madras-4.
- 27, Dr. Sharma J. N., 17, Vikas Path, Alwar, Rajasthan.
- Shri Singh M.P., Registrar, Awadesh Pratap Singh University, Rewa, Madhya Pradesh.
- Shri Sudarsanam Maddi, Member Parliament, 7, Windsor Place, New Delhi.
- Dr. Thimmaiah G., Fellow, Institute for Social and Economic Change, Jayanagar, Bangalore-41.
- 31. Shri Vasudev, Vice Chairman, Vidhan Sabha, Uttar Pradesh, Lucknow.

# APPENDIX IV

# Dates of Discussions with State Governments and Ministry of Finance

(.4) Discussions quarters.	with	State	Governments at State Head-
Tamil Nadu			10th and 11th January, 1973
Karnataka .			17th and 18th January, 1973
Maharashtra			31st January and 1st February, 1973
Gujarat			2nd February, 1973
Rajasthan .			9th February, 1973
Haryana			15th February, 1973
Bihar			24th February, 1973
Punjab	,		11th and 12th March, 1973
Uttar Pradesh			17th and 18th March, 1973
Orissa .			2nd April, 1973
West Bengal			10th and 11th April, 1973
Tripura .	•		12th April, 1973
Madhya Prades	h.		19th April, 1973

Andhra Pradesh			29th and 30th April, 1973
Kerala .		•	2nd May, 1973
Jammu & Kashmi	ŗ	•	22nd June, 1973
Himachal Prades	۱.		29th June, 1973
Meghalaya .			30th July, 1973
Manipur .			31st July, 1973
Assam			31st July, 1973
Nagaland .			20th August, 1973 at New Delhi an.! 24th Septem- ber 1973 at Kohima.

(B) Discussions with Ministry of Finance

Finance Secretary Secretary (Expenditure) Chairman, Central Board 19th September, 1973. of Excise & Customs and other officials of the Ministry. Names of organisations and individuals who sent memoranda to the Commission

- (a) Organisations which sent memoranda to the Commission
  - 1. Federation of Andhra Pradesh Chamber of Commerce and Industry, 3-5-822/6, Hyderguda, Hyderabad.
  - 2. Federation of Gujarat Mills and Industries Federation Building, R.C. Dutt Road, Baroda.
  - Gokhale Institute of Public Affairs. G.I.P.A., Basvangudi, Bangalore-4.
  - 4. Indian Merchants' Chamber, 76, Veer Nariman Road Churchgate, Bombay.
  - Indian Roads and Transport Development Association 27, Bastian Road, Bombay-1.
  - Inter-University Board of India & Ceylon, Rouse Avenue, New Delhi-1.
  - 7. Kerala State Muslim League, Trivandrum Kerala-
  - Madurai-Ramnad Chamber of Commerce, 90-92, East, Avaninoola Street, Madurai-1.
  - 9. Maharashtra Charamkar Parishad, Bombay.
  - Mysore Government Secretariat Association, 162, Vidhan Soudha, Bangalore-1.
  - Punjab, Haryana and Delhi Chamber of Commerce and Industry, 9-A, Connaught Place, New Delhi.
  - 12. Rajasthan Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Johari Bazar, Jaipur-3, Rajasthan.
  - 13. Sri Venkateswara University, Tirupati, Andhra Pradesh.
  - 14. Tamil Nadu NGO Union 31. Neeliveerasway Chetty Street, Madras-5.
  - 15. Vyaparak Association Mandal, Hanuman Garh Town, Rajasthan.
  - (b) Individuals who sent memoranda to the Commission
    - Shri Angrish A.C. Department of Economics, University of Jodhpur, Ratanada 'C' Road Jodhpur, Rajasthan.
    - 2. Shri Ashutosh Lahiry, 11, Sukea Street, Calcutta-9.
    - Shri Babubhai M. Chinai, Member Parliament (Rajya Sabha), Sir P.M. Road, Fort, Bombay-1 BR.
    - 4. Shri Chaudhuri P.N. MLA, Meghalaya, Shillong.
    - 5. Shri Fletcher A.L. Vice Chancellor, Haryana Agricultural University, Hissar, Haryana.
    - 6. Dr. Ganguli B.N., Council for Social Development, 53, Lodi Estate, New Delhi.
    - Prof. Gautam Mathur, Head of Economics Department, Osmania University, Hyderabad.

- Dr. Ghuge V.B., Head of Economics Department, Shivaji University, Kolhappr, Maharashtra.
- 9. Shri Gopalakrishnaiah V., Sattenapalli. Andhra Pradesh.
- Shri Harideya Narayan Singh, Principal, Tilak Dhari College, Jaunpur.
- Dr. Ishwar Chandra, Kulapati, University of Saugar, Saugar, MadhyaPradesh.
- Prof. Krishnan V.S., Vice Chancellor, University of Bhopal, Arera Colony, Bhopal.
- Shri Kshitish Ch. Das, Minister, Forest, Labour, Animal Husbandry & Veterinary Services, Tripura, Agartala.
- 14. Shri Kumar B., Lecturer, R.S.P. College, Jharia, Bihar.
- Shri Manoranjan Sinha Ray, Lecturer in Economics, Viswa Bharti, West Bengal.
- Prof. Mathur M.V., Director. Asian Institute of Educational Planning and Administration, Indraprastha Estate, New Delhi-1.
- Shri Murasoli Maran, Member Parliament, Editor "Murasoli" and "The Rising Sun", Madras-6.
- Shri Murli Dhar Joshi, Professor of Economics, Lucknow University, Mahanagar, Lucknow-6.
- 19. Shri Murti V.S., Head of the Department of Public Administration, Nagpur University, Nagpur.
- Shri Naripendra Chakravarti, Member, Tripura Legistive Assembly, Agartala.
- 21. Shri Rajamallu K., Chairman, Andhra Pradesh Regional Committee, Hyderabad.
- 22. Dr. Rajamannar P.V. Chairman, Fourth Finance Commission, 9, Victoria Crescent Road, Madras-8.
- 23. Dr. Rajendra Jain, Professor of Economics, 'G' Block, Old Secretariat, Bhopal-5.
- 24. Shri Raman A., Madras University, Madras.
- Dr. Rao V.K.R.V., M.P. Former Union Minister of Education, and Director, Institute for Social and Economic Change, Bangalore.
- Shri Santhanam K., Chairman, Second Finance Commission, 58, East Abhiramapuram Street, Mylapore, Madras-4.
- 27. Dr. Sharma J. N., 17, Vikas Path, Alwar, Rajasthan.
- Shri Singh M.P., Registrar, Awadesh Pratap Singh University, Rewa, Madhya Pradesh.
- 29. Shri Sudarsanam Maddi, Member Parliament, 7, Windsor Place, New Delhi.
- Dr. Thimmaiah G., Fellow, Institute for Social and Economic Change, Jayanagar, Bangalore-41.
- 31. Shri Vasudev, Vice Chairman, Vidhan Sabha, Uttar Pradesh, Lucknow.

# Individuals and Organisations whose representatives met the Commission

(A) Individuals who met the Commission:

- 1. Dr. Ashok Mitra, former Chief Economic Adviser, Government of India, 2/8, Sarat Bose Road, 1st Floor, Calcutta-20.
- 2. Shri Bala, P.K., Convenor, Orissa Forum for Socialist Development, Bhubaneswar.
- 3. Shri Banka Behari Das, former Finance Minister of Orissa with Shri Braj Mohan Mahanty, Shri B. Acharya, former Ministers of Government of Orissa and others.
- Dr. Bhabatosh Datta, Member, Fourth Finance Commission, 139-B, Rash Behari Avenue, Calcutta-29.
- 5. Shri Chhubil Das Mehta, MLA, Gujarat, Ahemdabad.
- 6. Dr. Dindekar, V.M., Director, Gokhale Institute of Politics and Economics, Poona-4.
- 7. Shei Gopalakrishnaiah, V., Sattenpalli, Andhra Pradesh.
- 8. Shri Kali Mukherjee, M.P., Trade Unionist, Calcutta.
- Shri Kanungo, T., Member, Central Screening Committee, Congress Forum for Socialist Action, MLA Colony, Bhubaneswar.
- Dr. Lakdawala, D.T., Director, Department of Economics, University of Bombay, CST Road, Kalina, Bombay-29.
- Shri Morarji R. Desai, M.P., Former Deputy Prime Minister, 5, Dupleix Road, New Delhi-11.
- 12. Dr. Panicker, P.G.K., University of Kerala, Trivandrum.
- D1. Patnaik, S.C., Senior Research Fellow, Department of Economics, Khallikote College, Berhampur, Orissa.
- 14. Dr. Patnaik, S.C., Department of Economics, Rawenshaw College, Cuttack-3, Orissa.
- 15. Dr. Raj, K. N., National Professor, Centre for 'Development' Studies, Trivandrum.
- 16. Shri Rajamallu, K., Chairman, Andhra Pradesh Regional Committee, Hyderabad.
- 17. Dr. Rajamannar, P.V., Chairman, Fourth Finance Commission, 9, Victoria Road, Madras-8.
- 18. Shri Rama Chandra Reddy, MLA, Former Minister, Andhra Pradesh, Hyderabad.
- Dr. Rao, V.K.R.V., M.P., Former Union Minister of Education & Director, Institute for Social and Economic Change, Bangalore.
- Shri Santhanam, K., Chairman, Second Finance Commission, 58, East Abhiramapuram, Mylapore, Madras-4.
- Dr. Thimmaiah, G., Fellow of the Institute for Social & Economic Change, Bangalore.
- 22. Shri Vandanam, R., (representing leather industry in Andhra Pradesh) Hyderabad.
- (B) Organisations whose representatives met the Commission:
  - 1. Bengal Chamber of Commerce, Calcutta

- 2. Bengal National Chamber of Commerce, Calcutta.
- 3. Bharat Chamber of Commerce, Calcutta.
- Communist Party of India, Kerala State Council, Trivandrum:
  - (i) Shri P. Balachandra Monon
  - (ii) Shri P.K. Basudevan Nair
  - (iii) Shri Valian Bhargawan
- 5. Communist Party of India (Marxist), Kerala State Committee, Trivandrum:
  (i) Shri E.M.S. Nam boodripad, M.L.A.
  (ii) Shri V.S. Achuthanandan, M.L.A.
  - (iii) Dr. K. Mathew Kurien, M.P.
- Congress (Organisation) Committee, Kerala Pradesh, Trivandrum Shri Amaravila Krishnan Nair
- 7. Dimapur Chamber of Commerce, Dimapur, Nagaland.
- Federation of Andhra Pradesh Chamber of Commerce and Industry, 3-5-822/6, Hyderguda, Hyderabad.
- 9. Indian Chamber of Commerce, Calcutta.
- 10. Kerala Congress, State Committee, Trivandrum;
  (i) Shri K.M. George, M.L.A.
  (ii) Shri K.M. Mani, M.L.A.
  (iii) Shri P.J. Joseph
- Kerala Pradesh Congress Committee, Trivandrum:
   (i) Shri A.K. Anthony, M.L.A.
  - (ii) Shri A.C. Jose
  - (iii) Shri A.A. Rahim, M.L.A.
  - (iv) Dr. Henry Austin, M.P.
- 12. Kerala Secretariat Association, Trivandrum.
- 13. Kerala State Muslim League, Trivandrum: Shri U.A. Beeran, M.L.A.
- 14. Merchants Chamber of Commerce, Calcutta.
- 15. Oriental Chamber of Commerce, Calcutta.
- Orissa Forum for Social Development, Sagackika, Jahangir Wangla, Cuttack-9, Orissa.
- 17. Paraja Socialist Party, Kerala State, Trivandrum:
  (i) Shri G.P. Mangalathu Madhom, Ex-M.P.
  (ii) Shri G.Sridharan Nair
  (iii) Shri P.K.N. Nambiar, M.L.A.
- 18. Punjab, Haryana and Delhi Chamber of Commerce and Industry, 9-A, Connaught Place, New Delhi.
- 19. Revolutionary Socialist Party, Kerala Committee, Trivandrum:
  - (i) Shri P.C. John
  - (ii) Shri N. Srikanthan Nair, M.P.
  - (iii) Shri T.A. Paraman, M.L.A.
- 20. Socialist Party, Kerala, Trivandrum:
  - (i) Shri K.A. Sivarama Bharathi, M.L.A.
  - (ii) Shri P. Vishambharam, Ex-M.P.
- 21. Travancore Chamber of Commerce, Alleppey.
- 22. Travancore Devaswom Board, Trivandrum.

### APPENDIX VII

### TABLE NO. 5

State-wise assessment of income tax (excluding tax on Union Salaries) for the years 1968-69 to 1972-73

(Net of reductions on account of appellate order, revision, rectification, etc.)

(Net of reduction)	s on	accour	nora	ppena	te ora	er, revision, re	cuncation, cu	)			(Rs. crores)
States						1968-69	1969-70	1970-71	1971-72	1972-73	1968-69 to 1972-73
1. Andhra Pradesh	·				•	13,16	14.73	11.50	16.84	19.92	76.15
2. Assam						2.68	3.05	3.32	4.02	2.87	15.94
3. Bihar						5.48	5,86	6.51	10.65	6.33	34.83
4. Gujarat			÷			25.10	26.11	29.92	48.96	34.15	164.24
5. Harvana						2,26	2.89	2.84	3.33	3.08	14.40
6. Himachal Pradesh						0.46	0.61	0.78	0.49	0.71	3.05
7. Jammu and Kashmir						1.27	1,30	1.34	1,92	1,76	7.59
8. Kerala						9.00	10.01	10.44	13.17	12.30	54.92
9. Madhya Pradesh				_		9.20	10,00	13.58	12.44	10.24	55.46
10. Maharashtra	•	•	·	_		69.34	75.96	72.66	111.08	64.92	<u>,</u> 893, 96
11. Manipur			·			0.02	0.01	0.08	0.08	0.06	0.25
12. Meghalaya	•			ż		0.22	0.22	0.31	0.50	0.29	1.54
13. Mysore	•		·			9.71	13.85	13.81	14,79	15.57	67.73
14. Nagaland.	•	•	,	•	•			0.06	0.19	0.07	0.32
15. Orissa	•	•	•	•		3.13	2.43	2.53	3.14	2.73	13.96
16. Punjab		•	•	•	÷	10.52	15.69	13.04	18.10	16.92	74.27
17. Rajasthan	•		•	•	,	5.67	5,56	5.33	8,15	7,95	32,66
18. Tamil Nadu	•	•		•	•	29.14	32.90	28.99	37.93	31.39	160.35
19. Tripura	•	•	•	•	•	0.12	0.11	0.18	0.20	0.13	0.74
20. Uttar Pradesh		•	,		•	10.46	13.52	16.23	21.76	17.82	79.79
		•	•	•	•	42.44	44.23	42.53	58.84	36,78	224.82
21. West Bengal	•	· ·	•	;		249.38	279.04	275.98	386,58	285.99	1476.97

Source : Central Board of Direct Taxes,

# APPENDIX VII

### TABLE NO. 6

# Revenue from Additional Excise Duties from 1969-70 to 1972-73

												(Rs.	cro <b>re</b> s)
		·							Revenue fro	m	Total	Refunds	Net
								Sugar	Tobacco including cigarettes	Textiles	_		
		·· · –				·		2.	3	4	5	6	7
		_						17.79	22.14	20.68	60.61 (~	-) 0.12	60.49
		÷						26.84	24.49	23.45	74.78 (-	–) Nil	74.78
								33.12	43.32	29.77	106.21 (-	-) 0.24	105.97
.)			•	•	•			37.00	64.00	36.95	<b>13</b> 7,95 (-	-) 0.45	137.50
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		2 	Sugar         Tobacco including cigarettes           2         3           17.79         22.14           26.84         24.49           33.12         43.32	2     3     4       .     .     .     17.79     22.14     20.68       .     .     .     .     26.84     24.49     23.45       .     .     .     .     .     33.12     43.32     29.77	Sugar       Tobacco including cigarettes       Textiles         2       3       4       5         17.79       22.14       20.68       60.61         2       3.45       74.78         33.12       43.32       29.77       106.21         177.95       22.14       20.55       107.78	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$

Source : Explanatory Memoranda on the Budget of the Central Government.

### APPENDIX VII

### TABLE NO. 5

State-wise assessment of income tax (excluding tax on Union Salaries) for the years 1968-69 to 1972-73

(Net of reductions on account of appellate order, revision, rectification, etc.)

						(143. 01010.57
States	1968-69	1969-70	1970-71	1971-72	1972-73	1968-69 to 1972-73
1. Andhra Pradesh	13.16	14.73	11.50	16.84	19.92	76.15
2. Assam	2.68	3.05	3.32	4.02	2.87	15.94
3. Bihar	5.48	5,86	6.51	10.65	6.33	34.83
4. Gujarat	25,10	26.11	29,92	48,96	34.15	164.24
5. Haryana	2.26	2.89	2.84	3,33	3.08	14.40
6. Himachal Pradesh	0.46	0.61	0.78	0.49	0.71	3,05
7. Jammu and Kashmir	1.27	1.30	1.34	1.92	1.76	7.59
8. Kerala	9.00	10.01	10.44	13.17	12.30	54.92
9. Madhya Pradesh	9.20	10.00	13,58	12.44	10.24	55.46
10. Maharashtra	69.34	75.96	72.66	111.08	64.92	<sub>0</sub> 393.96
11. Manipur	0.02	0.01	0.08	0.08	0.06	0.25
12. Meghalaya	0.22	0.22	0.31	0.50	0.29	1.54
13. Mysore	9.71	13.85	13.81	14.79	15.57	67.73
14. Nagaland		• •	0.06	0.19	0.07	0.32
15. Orissa	3.13	2.43	2.53	3.14	2.73	13.96
16. Punjab	10.52	15.69	13.04	18.10	16.92	74.27
17. Rajasthan	5,67	5.56	5.33	8.15	7.95	32.66
18. Tamil Nadu	29.14	32.90	28.99	37.93	31.39	160.35
19. Tripura	0.12	0.11	0.18	0.20	0.13	0.74
20. Uttar Pradesh	10.46	13.52	16.23	21.76	17.82	79.79
	42.44	44.23	42,53	58.84	36.78	224,82
Z1. West Bengal	249.38	279.04	275.98	386.58	285.99	1476.97

Source : Central Board of Direct Taxes,

## APPENDIX VII

### TABLE NO. 6

# Revenue from Additional Excise Duties from 1969-70 to 1972-73

(Rs. crores)

(Rs. crores)

Year										Revenue from	m	Total	Refunds	Net
									Sugar	Tobacco including cigarettes 3	Textiles 4	-		
1												5	6	7
1969-70				•					17.79	22.14	20.68	60.61 ()	0.12	60.49
1970-71	•	•		•					26.84	24.49	23.45	74.78 (—)	Nil	74.78
1971-72	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	•	33.12	43.32	29.77	106.21 ()	0.24	105.97
1971-72 1972-73 (R.	Е.)				:	•			37.00	64.00	36.95	137.95 (—)	0.45	137.50

Source : Explanatory Memoranda on the Budget of the Central Government.

### TABLE 7.1

### Statewise production of Cotton Textiles (Mill Sector)

							(In Million	Metres)
States				 	1968-69 (1)	1969-70 (2)	197 <b>0</b> -71 (3)	1971-72 (4)
1. Andhra Pradesh	•	••••••			31.9	32.1	34.4	39.8
2. Assam					• •		• •	
3. Bihar					0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
4. Gujarat					1280.5	1261.1	1243.9	1265.6
5. Haryana					44.4	41.2	48.2	43.2
6. Himachal Pradesh		-				••		
7. Jammu & Kashmir							• •	
8. Kerala					19.4	18.3	18.2	13.2
9. Madhya Pradesh					396.4	381.3	375.5	350.3
10. Maharashtra		-			1452.0	1457.7	1404.5	1422.4
11. Manipur								
12. Meghalaya								
13. Mysore					86,8	91.1	78.8	74.5
14. Nagaland.								
15. Orissa			•	-	34.1	30.9	28.2	28,6
16. Punjab					36,4	31.2	36.0	38.1
17. Rajasthan					65.3	65.5	63.2	56.2
18. Tamil Nadu					161.4	159.0	160.5	137.8
19. Tripura								
20. Uttar Pradesh .					280.6	261.0	249.2	258.2
21. West Bengal					203,6	176.0	130.3	122.2
22. Total-States .					4092.9	4006.5	3871.0	3850.2
23. Union Territories					205.1	184.5	184.0	188.8
24. Grand Total					4298.0	4191.0	4055.0	4039.0

Source : Office of the Textile Commissioner, Bombay, Ministry of Commerce.

### TABLE 7.3

### Statewise production of Cigarettes

(Million Nos.)

States	-				 	1968-69 (1)	1969-70 (2)	1970-71 (3)	1971-72 (4)
1. Andhra Pradesh	•			•	•	12269	12047	12593	14817
2. Assam									
3. Bihar .						5318	5582	5175	5602
4. Gujarat			•			• •	• •		
5. Haryana , 💦									
6. Himachal Pradesh			•				••	• •	
7. Jammu & Kashmir							••		
8. Kerala						• •			
9. Madhya Pradesh							• •		
10. Maharashtra			•			16873	15689	15847	16789
11. Manipur .									
12. Meghalaya						••			
13. Mysore			•			8302	8912	8963	10292
I4. Nagaland									
15. Orissa			•		•				
16. Punjab .	•								
17. Rajasthan		,							- 1
18. Tamil Nadu						, .			
19. Tripura		•	•						
20. Uttar Pradesh .						9586	9857	10578	11006
21. West Bengal .						9327	9031	9284	8867
22. Total-States .				•		61675	61118	62440	6737
23. Union Territories									
24. Grand Total .			•			61675	61118	62440	67373

Source : Statistics and Intelligence Branch (Central Excise)

### TABLE 7.4

# Statewise production of sugar

# (Ist October to 30th September)

(Thousand Tonnes)

States							1968-69 (1)	1969-70 (2)	1970-71 (3)	1971-72 (4)
I. Andhra Pradesh							339	335	267	302
	·	•	•	•	•		5	10	7	5
2. Assam	•	•	•	•	•		259	333	293	150
3. Bihar	•	·	•	•	•	•	77	99	84	98
4. Gujarat	·	•	•	•	•	•	60	97	83	72
5. Haryana	•	•	•	•	•	•			• •	
6. Himachal Pradesh	·	•	•	•	•	•		• •		
7. Jammu & Kashmir		·	•	•	•	•	16	21	16	16
8. Kerala	•	•	•	•	·		15	37	38	21
9. Madhya Pradesh	•	•	•	٠	•	•	979	1044	1055	1002
10. Maharashtra	·	•	•	٠	•	•				
11. Manipur -	·	·	-	•	•	•	• •	, .		
<ol> <li>Meghalaya .</li> </ol>	·	•	•	•	•		206	238	205	247
13. Mysore .		•	•	·	·	•				
<ol><li>Nagaland .</li></ol>	•	•	•	·	•		15	17	7	7
15. Orissa		•	•	·	·			69	48	31
16. Punjab	•		•	•	•	•	38	20	13	8
17. Rajasthan		•		•	·	•	12		299	299
18. Tamil Nadu		•	-		•	•	335	289		
19. Tripura .				•	•	•	• •	1/24	1299	831
20. Uttar Pradesh							1175	1624		1
21. West Bengal							7	14	8	3090
22. Total-States							3538	4247	3722	23
23. Union Territories							21	15	18	
24. Grand Total		•	•			•	3559	4262	3740	3113

Source : Directorate of Sugar and Vanaspati, Department of Food, Ministry of Agriculture.

# Table 8:-Railway Route Length in India by States and Zones

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				· ··· · ·	op 21 2 107	1			on 31 <b>-3-19</b> 72	1	Cilometres)
tate/Zone					on 31-3-197		Tetul	As c Broad			Tatal
				Broad Guage	Metre Guage	Narrow Guage	Total	Guage	Metre Gu <b>a</b> ge	Narrow Guage	Total
(0)				(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
1. Andhra Pradesh											
(i) Southern .				672.65	531.40		1204.05	672.65	531.40	•	1204.05
(ii) South Central .				1822.39	1179.83		3002.22	1822.39	1178.73		3001.12
(iii) South Eastern				497.97		36.94	534.91	497.97		36.94	53 <b>4.9</b> 1
(iv) Total			•	2993.01	1711.23	36.94	4741.18	2993.01	1710.13	36.94	4740.08
2. Assam											
(i) Northeast Frontier		·		105.22	2088.43		2193.65	105.22	2038.43	_	2193.65
3. Bihar											
(i) Eastern				2132.49			2132.49	2132.49			2132,49
(ii) North Eastern	-			52.47	1703.17		1755.64	52.47	1703.19	—	1755.66
(iii) Northeast Frontier				102.95	264.35		367.30	102.95	265,81	· -	368.76
(iv) South Eastern .		•		833.61		69.19	902.80	837.31	—	69.15	906.46
(v) Total				3121.52	1967.52	69.19	5158.23	3125.22	1969.00	69.15	5163.37
4. Gujarat			•								
(i) Northern				<u> </u>	53.63		53.63		53.63		53.63
(ii) Western				1129.32	3320.19	1134.82	5584.33	1129.32	3320.19	1134.82	5584.33
(iii) Total		•	•	1129.32	3373.82	1134.82	5637.96	1129.32	3373.82	1134.82	5637.96
5. Haryana											
(i) Central .				72.21			72.21	72.21			72.21
(ii) Northern	•	*		714.70	527.87	3.38	1245.95	714.70	527.87	3.38	1245.95
(iii) Western			į		98.97		98.97		98.97	_	98.97
(iv) Total				786.91	626.84	3.38	1417.13	786.91	626.84	3.38	1417.13
<ul><li>6. Himachal Pradesh</li><li>(i) Northern</li></ul>				11.55	_	244.28	255.83	11.55		244.28	255.83
7. Jammu & Kashmir											
(i) Northern			•	6,20	_		6.20	6.20			6.20
8. Kerala											
(i) Southern		•	•	553.39	336.54		889,93	553.39	336.54	_	889.93
9. Madhya Pradesh											
(i) Central .				1789.09	70.13	406.60	2265.82	2044.53	70.13	406.60	2521.26
(ii) Northern				20.23			20.23	20.23			20.23
(iii) Eastern								19.79		_	19.79
(iv) South Eastern				1328.97		664.35	1993.32	1328.97		664.35	1993.32
(v) Western				705.56	427.62	66.92	1200.10	705.56	427.62	66.92	1200.10
(vi) Total			-	3843.85	497.75	1137.87	5479.47	4119.08	497.75	1137.87	5754.70
	•	•									

<u> </u>					<b>As</b> on 31	-3-1971			As on 31	-3-1972	
State/Zone				Broad Guage	Metre Guage	Narrow Guage	Total	Broad Guage	Metre Guage	Narrow Guage	Total
(0)				(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
10. Maharashtra											
(i) Central .				1735.19	311.74	<b>29</b> 8.37	2345.30	1735.81	311.74	298.37	2345.92
(ii) South Central	÷		·	479.96	994.39	369.61	1843.96	802.48	681.17	369.61	1853.26
(iii) South Eastern				244.28		432.08	676.36	244.28		432.08	676.36
(iv) Western				350.80	_	<u> </u>	350.80	350.80			350.80
(v) Total				2810.23	1306.13	1100.06	5216.42	3133.37	992.91	1100.06	5226.34
11. Mysore											
·				220 10	1177 00	152.07	1500 15	220 10	1173 00	153.06	1566.15
(i) Southern			•	239.10	1173.99	153.06	1566.15 1240.89	239.10 307.11	1173.99 933.00	155.00	1240.11
(ii) South Central .		•	·	307.11	933.78		1.240.03				
(iii) Total .				546.21	2107.77	153.06	2807.04	546.21	2106.99	153.06	2806.26
12. Nagaland											
(i) Northeast Frontier			•	<u> </u>	9.35		9.35		9.35	—	. 35
13. Orissa											
(i) South Eastern .			•	1732.77		143.03	1875.80	1732.95		143.03	1875.98
<ol> <li>Punjab</li> <li>(i) Northern</li> </ol>				1912.26	194.79	11.90	2118.95	1912.26	1 <b>94</b> .79	11.90	2118.95
15. Rajasthan											
(i) Central				35.26		86.78	122.04	35.26		86.78	122.04
(ii) Northern				31.24	2629.54		2660.78	31.24	2629.54	_	2660.78
(iii) Western				608.04	2195.92		2803.96	608.04	2195.92	<u></u>	2803.9
(iv) Total			•	674.54	4825.46	86.78	5586.78	674.54	4825.46	86.78	5586.78
16. Tamil Nadu											
				0.00.00	2000 41		2757 74	070 22	2000 05		2750 20
(i) Southern	•	•	•	869.33	2888.41		3757.74	869.33	2889.05	-	3758.38
17. Tripura											
(i) Northeast Frontier					12.35	_	12.35	_	12.35		12.35
18. Uttar Pradesh											
(i) Central .				956.55		2.01	958.56	956.55		2.01	958.56
(ii) Eastern				227.01	_	_	227.01	264.78			264.78
(iii) Northern				4138.65	0.13		4138.78	4078.69	0.13		4078.82
(iv) North Eastern .					3221.31		3221.31	_	3221.31		3221.31
(v) Western .				71.32	37.11		108.43	71.32	37.11		108.43
(vi) Total			•	5393.,53	3258.55	2.01	8654.09	5371.34	3258.55	2.01	8631.90
10 West Denvel				-							
<ol><li>West Bengal</li></ol>				1653.00		131.38	1784.38	1668.67		131.38	1800.05
(i) Fastern	•	•	•			87.48	1049.83	428.04	525.31	87.48	1040.83
(i) Eastern (ii) Northeast Frontier				437 04	- <u> </u>						
(ii) Northeast Frontier		•	•	437.04 720.46	525.31						
			- •	437.04 720.46 2810.50		133.43	853.89 3688.10	721.29		133.47	854.76

### TABLE 9

# Railway Earnings from Passengers carried on Non-suburban Routes during 1968-69 to 1971-72

				196	8-69			19	69-70			1970				1971-	(Rs. lat	
State/Zone			Broad Gauge	Metre Gauge	Narrow Guage	Total	Broad Guage	Metre Guage	Narrow Guage	Total	Broad Guage		Narrow Guage	Total	Broad Guage	Metre	Varrow Guage	Total
(0)			(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)
<ul> <li>Andhra Pradesh</li> <li>(i) Southern</li> <li>(ii) South Eastern</li> <li>(iii) South Central</li> <li>Total :</li> </ul>	•	•	354.40 145.08 1007.64 1507.12	310.07	2.23	496.11 147.31 1317.71	160.38 1016.69	293.75	2.41	162.79 1310.44	405.68 164.53 1120.95	308.20	2.54	561.10 167.07	453.80 185.55	160.49	3.04	614.2 188.5 1407.1
• •	•	•		431,78	2,23	1961.13	1529.20	445.72	2.41	1977.33	1691.16	463.62	2.54	2157.32	1727.67	479.30	3.04	2210.0
<ol> <li>Assam         <ol> <li>Northeast Frontier</li> <li>Bihar</li> </ol> </li> </ol>	•	•	11.48	629.65	<b>F</b>	641.13	13.23	669.82		683.05	14.19	656.76		670.95	11.90	793.95	<u>_</u>	805.85
<ul> <li>(i) Eastern</li> <li>(ii) North Eastern</li> <li>(iii) Northeast Frontier</li> <li>(iv) South Eastern</li> </ul>	• • •	•	1516,80 10,31 11,23 243,99	671.52 79.70		1516.80 681.83 90.93 248.17	12.06 12.94		-	796.94	21612.76 12.48 13.89 275.43	816.20 83.13		1612.76 828.68 97.02 280.18	13.10 11.64			1590.03 868.88 112.69 317.68
(v) Total .	•	•	1782.33	751.22	4.18	2537.73	1856.37	869.66	4.51	2730.54	1914.56	899.33	•			956.83		2889.3
<ul> <li>4. Gujarat</li> <li>(i) Northern</li> <li>(ii) Western</li> <li>(iii) Total</li> </ul>	•	•	767.14		98.94		879.36		100.62		937.09	11.47 937.68 949.15	88.10	11.47 1962.87	 974.24	12.61 1026.29 1038.90	102.99 ;	12.6
5. Haryana (i) Central (ii) Northern (iii) Western .	• •		50.07 431.43	101.24 25.96	_	50.07 533.15	49.97		<del>_</del> _	<b>49.97</b> 552.90	54.07 487.77	_	0.50	54.07	56.24	124.13	<u> </u>	56.2
(iv) Total		-	481.50	127.20	0.48	609.18	497,41	132 35	0.50	630.26	541.84	140.95	0.50			154,72		740.9

----

\_ ...\_.

(Kilometres)

		··	As on 31-	3-1971			As on 31-	3-1972	
State/Zone		Broad Guage	Metre Guage	Narrow Guage			Metre Guage	Narrow Guage	Total
(0)		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
10. Maharashtra		1777 10	211 74	298.37	2345.30	1735.81	311.74	298.37	2345.92
(i) Central .	• •	1735.19	311.74 994.39	369.61	1843.96	802.48	681.17	369.61	1853.26
(ii) South Central	• •	479.96	994.39	432.08	676.36	244,28		432.08	676.36
(iii) South Eastern	• •	244.28	_	4,02.00	350.80	350.80			350.80
(iv) Western	• •	350.80					992.91	1100.06	5226.34
(v) Total		2810.23	1306.13	1100.06	5216.42	3133.37	992.91		
11. Mysore								152.06	1566 15
(i) Southern		. 239.10	1173.99	153.06	1566.15	239.10	1173.99	153.06	1566.15
(ii) South Central		. 307.11	933.78	—	1240.89	307.11	933.00		1240.11
(iii) Total		. 546.21	2107.77	153.06	2807.04	546.21	2106.99	153.06	2806.26
12. Nagaland									
(i) Northeast Frontier	•		9.35	_	9.35	_	9.35		. 3
13. Orissa									
(i) South Eastern		. 1732.77		143.03	1875.80	1732.95		143.03	1875.98
14. Punjab (i) Northern		. 1912.26	194.79	11.90	2118.95	1912.20	6 1 <b>9</b> 4.79	11.90	2118.95
15. Rajasthan						25.26		86.78	1 <b>22.04</b>
(i) Central	•	. 35.26			122.04	35.26 31.24			2660.78
(ii) Northern	•	. 31.24			2660.78 2803.96				
(iii) Western	•	. 608.04	2195.92		2803.90	000.04		<del></del>	<u></u>
(iv) Total	•	. 674.54	4825.46	86.78	5586.78	674.54	4825.46	86.78	5586.78
16. Tamil Nadu									
(i) Southern		. 869.33	2888.41	. —	3757.74	869.33	2889.05		3758.38
17. Tripura							10.25		- 12.35
(i) Northeast Frontier .	•	. –	- 12.3	5 —	12.35	_	12.35		- 12, 5,
18. Uttar Pradesh		A.F.C. 5	-	- 2.01	958.56	5 956.55	5 –	- 2.01	958.56
(i) Central	•	. 956.5							
(ii) Eastern	•	. 227.01			1400 00			3	
(iii) Northern	•	. 4138.6			0001.01				
(iv) North Eastern	•	. 71.3			- « 108. <b>4</b> 3				108.43
								2.0	l 8631.90
(v) Western	•								L 00J1.7
	•	. 5393.5	3 3258.5	5 2.0	1 8654.09	9 5371.34	52,36,35		
(v) Western	•		3 3258.5	5 2.0	1 8654.09				
<ul> <li>(v) Western</li> <li>(vi) Total</li> <li>19. West Bengal</li> </ul>				- 131.3		8 1668.6	7 –	- 131.3	
<ul> <li>(v) Western</li> <li>(vi) Total</li> <li>19. West Bengal <ul> <li>(i) Eastern</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	•	. 5393.5	0 –	- 131.3	8 _1784.3	8 1668.6 3 428.0	7 – 4 525.3	- 131.38 1 87.48	8 1040.8
<ul> <li>(v) Western</li> <li>(vi) Total</li> <li>19. West Bengal</li> </ul>	•	. 5393.5	0 – 4 525.3	- 131.3	8 <u>1784.3</u> 8 1049.83	8 1668.6 3 428.0	7 – 4 525.3	- 131.3	8 1040.8

Source:-Railway Board, Ministry of Railways.

¢.

	Himachal Pradesh (i) Northern Jammu & Kashmir (i) Northern		-		6.97 3.75		35.00	41.97	7.23	_	36.00	43.23	7.88	-	35.87		8.56	_	35.59	44.15
1 8.	Kerala (i) Southern				291.57	89.75			289.69	96.25						4.23	4.59			
<b>9</b> .	Madhya Pradesh									<b>7</b> 0.25	_	385.94	333.70	98.43	· **** #	432.19	373.34	101 . 64	_	474.98
	(i) Central	•	•		240.47	4.25	18.56	1263.28	1237.84	4.47	18.20	1260.51	1339.42	5.08	20.25	1364 75	1592.26	5.27	19.94	1617.47
	(ii) South Eastern	•	·	•	386.52		41.37	427.89	425.13	·	43.34	468.47					495.20	12. و	54.59	
	(iii) Northern .	•	•	•			_	-		_	_	_	13.81			13.81	14.99			14.99
	(iv) Western	•	•	٠	527.44	112.16	5.83	645.43	550.08	118.34	5.93	674,35	585.46	120.77	5 20	711.43	608.67	132.18	6 07	746.92
	(v) Eastern .	•	•	٠							_			_			14.75	132.10		14.75
	(vi) Totai.	•	•	•	2154.43	116.41	65.76	2336.60	2213.05	122.81	67.47	2403.33	2377.79	125.85	71.10	2574.74	2725.87	137.45	80.60	2943.92
10	Maharashtra																			
10.	(i) Central			-				1												
	(ii) South Central	•	٠		188.91	19.05			1185.46	19.86	13.36	1218.68	1282.73	22.57	14.86	1320.16	1351.83	23.44	14.64	1389.91
	(iii) South Eastern		•	•	266.30	259.97	63.87		268.59	246.28		571.64		259.76			479.24	184.23	54.77	
	(iv) Western	•	•	÷	69.38		24,95	94,33	78.67		28.19	106.86				110.40	91.02	104.25		126.53
	(iv) western .	·	•	•	258.94			258.94	270.06			270.06	287.35	-			302.63			302.63
	(v) Total .	•	•	. [	783.53	279.02	102.54	2165.09	1802.78	266.14	98.32	2167.24	1946.01	282.33				207.67	104.92	2537.31
11.	Mysore							•												
	(i) Southern ,				125,98	313.08	3.32	442.38	125.17	335 74	4.00	464 01	144.30	142.24						
	(ii) South Central				170.10	240,65			171.57				144.20 188.91				161.31			520.30
	attive and a second second			-							-	399.33	188.91	243.93	_	432.84	183.40	252.34		435.74
	(iii) Total	•	•	•	296.08	553.73	3.32	853.13	296.74	563.72	4.00	864.46	333.11	587.29	4.38	924.78	344.71	606.91	4.42	956.04
12.	Nagaland													·						
	(i) Northeast Fronti	er	•	•	—	2.82	_	2.82		3.00		3.00	<u> </u>	2.94		2,94		3.56	<b>_</b> ···-	- 3.56
13.	Orissa																			
	(i) South Eastern			•	505.56		8.65	514.21	557.10	_	0.72	566 17	572.52							
14	. Punjab								557.10		7.55	200.45	512.52		9,83	582.35	645.73	_	11,73	5 657.48
14	(i) Northern .				1155.09	37,36	1.71	1194.16	1197.18	38,73	1.75	1237 66	1305.08	41,66	1 75	1240-40	1414 73	15 00	1 73	3 1464,31
15.	Rajasthan										11.10		1505.00	41.00	1.70	1348.49	1416.78	45.80	1.73	3 1404.3[
	-				<b>.</b>															
	(i) Central	·	•	٠	24,45		3.98	28.43	24.41		3.89	28.30	26,41		4.32	30.73	27.46		4.26	6 31.72
	(ii) Northern .	•			3.28	504.34		507.62	20.35	522.88	_	543,23	21 32	562.43				(10, 22		- 641.48
	(iii) Western .				454.66	575 <b>.94</b>		1030.60		607.70				620.16		583.75		618.33		,
	(iv) Total			-	482.39				518.94			1001.00	204.34	020.16		1124.70	524.54	678.77	_	- 1203.31

. .

-

(Rs.	lak	hs)
------	-----	-----

			196	58-69			1969	-70			197	0-71			1971-	72	
State/Zone		Broad Guage	Metre Guage	Narrow Guage	Total	Broad Guage	Metre Guage	Narrow Guage	Total	Broad Guage	Metre Guage	Narrow Guage	Total	Broad Guage	Metre Guage	Narrow Guage	Total
(0)		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)
16. Tamil Nadu (i) Southern	•	. 455.9	1 770.28	-	1226.19	452.99	826.04	<u> </u>	1279.03	521.89	844.75	<u> </u>	1366.64	586.48	872.56		1459.04
<ul><li>17. Tripura</li><li>(i) Northeast Frontier</li></ul>	•	. —	3.72	_	3.72	_	3.96	_	3.96	_	3.88	_	3.88		4.69	) <u> </u>	4.69
<ul> <li>18. Uttar Pradesh <ul> <li>(i) Central</li> <li>(ii) Eastern</li> <li>(iii) Northern</li> <li>(iv) North Eastern</li> <li>(v) Western</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	•	. 665.43 . 161.46 . 2473.78  . 53.33	0.03 1278.89	_	665.52 161.46 2473.81 1278.89 62.89	166.35 2566.66	0.03 1497.24 10.09		166.35 2566.69 1497.24		0.03 1543.73 10.48		171.68	744.95 197.43 3021.86  61.53	0.03 1618.56 11.47		745.03 197.43 3021.89 1618.56 73.00
(vi) Total	•	. 3354.00	1288.48	0.09	4642.57	3452.24	1507.36	0.09	4959.69	3773.46	1554.24	0.10	5327.80	4025.77	1630.06	0.10	5655.93
<ul> <li>19. West Bengal</li> <li>(i) Eastern</li> <li>(ii) Northeast Frontier</li> <li>(iii) South Eastern</li> </ul>	• •	. 892.16 . 47.66 . 204.42	158.38	2.96	212 50	54.93 225.30	168.48	15.50 0.98 8.71	224.39 234.01	58.94 236.39		2.49 9.17	226.63 245.56	268.76		2.18 10.97	1257.26 250.28 279.73 1787.27
(iv) Total	•	. 1144.24	158.38	27.17	1329.79	1199.33	168.48	25.19	1393.00	1243.93	165.20	25.53	1434.66	1561.37	199.70	<u> </u>	
20. Grand Total'	•	.16183.0	9 7221.19	354.05	23758.33	16766.72	2 7774.11	354.08	24894.91	18070.77	7998.87	349.39	26419.03	3 1 <b>97</b> 19.42	2 8530.84	381.77	2863 <b>2.0</b> 2

Source:--Railway Board, Ministry of Railways.

### TABLE No. 10.

### Central assistance to States towards natural calamities relief expenditure--1965-66-1972-73.

s. lakhs	(R											
1972-7	1971-72	1970-71	1969-70	1968-69	1967-68	1966-67	1965-66				<del>.</del>	
9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2					·
3700	1503	1260	1780	1555		250	100	•			Andhra Pradesh	1.
430	75	575	240	400		390					Assam .	2.
1335	2000	235	180	250	4174	1850					Bihar .	3.
1400	60	784	2120	1150	214	303					Gujarat .	4.
	-	_									Haryana	5.
222	9		_								Himachal Pradesh	6.
50	237				_		35				Jammu & Kashmir	7.
125	279	220	160	200	_						Kerala	8.
	_	67	50	501	1100	1648	300				Madhya Pradesh	9.
8343	2250	250	-	500	409	800					Maharashtra .	10.
40				_							Manipur .	11.
							_				Meghalaya .	12.
1650	300	200	162	988		300	100				Mysore	13.
8		<u> </u>			·		_				Nagaland .	14.
1156	1300	—	300	950	350	1060	60				Orissa	15.
		—	—	as an a shife	—	<b>M</b>					Punjab	16.
0011	—	2651	5350	1926	527	1150	220				Rajasthan .	17.
476	_		1300	125	250	250					Tamil Nadu	18.
50											Tripura	19.
565	500	450	190		226		NA				Uttar Pradesh .	20.
1017	1750	1941	576	2004	300	200	_			•	West Bengal .	21.
21667	10263	8633	12408	10549	7550	8201	815				Total .	

Source: Ministry of Finance.

4

٠

4

4

÷

١١٧ APPENDIX TABLE 11

ļ ;

Rates of growth for State Taxes and Forest revenues

(b) Growth rates for 1974—79 as given/implied in State Forecast. (a) Past growth rates (actuals) between 1967-68 to 1971-72 as given/implied in State Forecasts.

(c) Growth rates for 1974–79 as adopted by the Commission.

							Sales lax	ах	State	CILINUIA	State Excise Dury	5		T AN UN VIII AN		-	-		, i		l	$\left\{ \right\}$	
State						[ B	(a) (b)	(c)	(a)	]@ 		(a)		(q)	ເອ { ອ	(a) (l	(q)	( ©	(a)	( <b>9</b>	; ; ;	(a)	(q)
									Y	6	<u> </u>			v.						+	4	15	3
l. Andhra Pradesh	•	•	•	•	•	•	21	_	י ר	, (										9	9	4	4
2. Assam	•	•	•	•	٠		∞ ∞		4	Ĵ		 0								. 4	۲ ۲		Ċ
2 Dihar							-	7 6	5	4	- <b></b>	4 								ο.			: 4
	•	•	•	•			10 10		~	4	-	+ 								6			0
4. Gujarat	•	•	•	•	•	-				· or		2 								7	7 2	-	0
5. Haryana . 🦷 .	•	•	•	•	•	•	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1			, a		יין 					10		s	9	6 1	0	ŝ
<ol><li>Himachal Pradesh</li></ol>	•	•	•	•	•	•		21				4 `` 							10	7	7 1	0	4
7. Jammu & Kashmir	•	•	•	•	•	•	4		ч с 				ъ r	, <b>r</b>	, r	۰ ۲		7	4	ŝ	4	6	<b>C</b> 1
8. Kerala	•	•	•	•	•	•	م	~ 1		0 1		 								9	6 1		5
<ol><li>Madhya Pradesh</li></ol>	•	•	•		•					5 (		t t								Ŷ	5 1		2
10. Maharashtra .	•	•	•		•	•				5	_	י ה								1 <b>V</b>			14
11. Manipur .	•	•	•	•	•	•		4 9				0		- -		,	<b>،</b> د			۰ <del>.</del>	4 80		en
2. Mechalava	•	•	•		•	•	1				- •	2 10											
- Musore							12					3 1									_	-	
13. Mysule	•	•	•	•	•				1	~		8				1					_		2
<ol> <li>Nagaland.</li> </ol>	•	•	•	•	•	•		, 4 , 4				,							'		4 1		Ś
15. Orissa	•	•	•	•	•									1						8	8	7	4
16. Punjab 🤉 🦂	•	•	•	•	٠	•	2			<del>,</del> 1	_							- -		Ś	Ś		×
17. Rajasthan		•	•	•	•				•	n e			7							4	4	~	
<ol> <li>Tamil Nadu</li> </ol>	•	•	•	•	•	•	12	6			_	<b>n</b> 1		t •			אר			- r	4	2*	. 6
19. Tripura	•	•	•	•	•	•	1		1	, n				- 0					1 =	L (*	. 4		~
20. Uttar Pradesh .	•	•	•	٠	•							- -	2 '			2 2		, ï		. <b>r</b>	۰Þ	15	
21. West Bengal	•	•	•	•	•		9	5 7	7 9	9		-		4 						   			

\*\*1970-71 to 1971-72. (a) 1970-71 to 1971-72. (a) 1970-71 to 1971-72. E Same growth rates assumed by the Commission for taxes on vehicles and taxes on passengers & goods. F Same growth rates assumed by the Commission for stamps and registration.

#### TABLE 11

# Rates of growth for State Taxes and Forest revenues

(a) Past growth rates (actuals) between 1967-68 to 1971-72 as given/implied in State Forecasts.

(b) Growth rates for 1974-79 as given/implied in State Forecast.

(c) Growth rates for 1974-79 as adopted by the Commission.

			···					Sal	es Tax		State E	xcise I	Duty ,	Tax or	vehicl	es£	Enteri	ainmer	nt tax	S	tampsi		For	est	· —·
State							<u></u>	(a)	 (b)	(c)	(a)	(b)	6		(b)	(c)	(a)	(b)	(c)	(a)	(b)	(c)	(a)	(b)	(c)
							<u>-</u>	·				3	J 3		5	5	11	8	8	9	4	4	15	3	7
<ol> <li>Andhra Pradesh</li> </ol>		•		•	•	•	·	10	5	1	ر ۱	2	2	5	6	6	17	23	12	1	6	6	4	4	4
2. Assam			•		•	•	•	8	8	6	4	2	1 3	10	0	8	26	10	12	2	6	6	10	2	7
3. Bihar		•				•	•	1	7	6	3	4	4		0 0	8	12	8	9	10	9	9	7	5	5
4. Gujarat					•	•		14	10	10	8	4	4	12	8		25	9	12	14	7	7	27	10	7
5. Haryana .								22	10	10	12	8	8	21	10	10	-	-	6		6	6	10	3	7
6. Himachal Pradesh	_							33	10	10	10	8	8	21	6	6	6*	10		10	7	7	10	4	7
								14	7	7	2	6	6	3	5	5	29	5	12	10	2	1	9	2	7
	•	•				-		9	7	7	2	3	3	7	7	7	9	6	/	4		4	ú	2	7
8. Kerala	•	•	•	•	•			9	7	7	9	4	4	9	4	5	12	6	9	11	6	6			7
9. Madhya Pradesh	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	13	9	10	16	9	9	10	8	8	16	7	12	7	5	5	17	14	7
10. Maharashtra		·	•	·	•	•	•	12	4	9	6*	5	5	_	5	5	7*	5	6	11*	5	5	10*	14	-
11. Manipur	·	·	·	·	٠	•	•	12	-	6	33**	۔ ۲	5	100**	3	5	$200\hat{a}$	3	6	$100$ $\hat{a}$	1	4	8 <b>0</b> ĝ	3	/
12. Meghalaya	•	•	·	•	•	٠	•		4	9	36	-	3	10	6	6	26	6	12	8	1	4	9	1	6
13. Mysore .	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	12	6	7	3		8	19	10	10		8	6	_	9	9	54	10	7
14. Nagaland .		•	•	•	•	•	•	8	19	o ć	-	- -	2	9	.0 7	5	1	5	6	7	-3	4	13	5	7
15. Orissa				•	•	•	·	5	6	6	8	- -	ر ۸	<i>,</i>	11	10	16	12	12	12	8	8	7	4	4
16. Punjab					•	•	•	18	9	10	17	4	4		1 I 10		16	10	12	10	5	5	2	8	4
17. Rajasthan					•	•	•	11	10	7	6	5	5	12	8	8	8	5	7	7	4	4	8	I	5
18. Tamil Nadu							•	12	9	9	15	3	3	6	4	5	0	2	· ·	ʻ¬	,	4	12*	2	7
19. Tripura	-							-				3	3 -	11	1	5	8*	6	6		2		6	3	5
20. Uttar Pradesh	•	•		_	_			9	5	7	5	3	3	10	8	8	12	8	9		2	4	15	2	7
	•	•	•	•	-			6	5	7	9	6	6	3	4	5	26	5	12	2	<i></i>	4			
21. West Bengal	•	•	·	•	•	•																			

\*1968-69 to 1971-72.

\_

\*\*1970-71 to 1971-72.

@1970-71 to 1971-72.

£ Same growth rates assumed by the Commission for taxes on vehicles and taxes on passengers & goods.

†Same growth rates assumed by the Commission for stamps and registration.

### Non-Plan grants from the Centre to the States

#### *Table* 12 (*a*)

Non-Plan grants from the Centre together with the related expenditure allowed by the Commission.

1. Assistance to Jammu & Kashmir for transport of rice and wheat.

#### Table 12 (b)

Non-Plan grants from the Centre not taken into account but related expenditure allowed in the reassessment.

- 1. Publicity and staff for work relating to Small Savings.
- 2. Relief for displaced goldsmiths.
- 3. Composite Training Centres.
- 4. National Sample Survey.
- 5. Craftsman Training Scheme.
- 6. Employment Exchanges.
- 7. Social Welfare Infirmaries Homes etc.
- 8. National Employment Organisation.
- 9. Grant of scholarships under Educational Schemes.
- 10. Industrial Training Centres.
- 11. National Cadet Corps.
- 12. Institute of Panchayati Raj and Community Development.
- 13. Grants for Community Development Project, National Extension Service and Local Development Works.
- 14. Financial assistance to persons distinguished in letters, arts, etc.
- 15. Board of Gazetteers.
- 16. Training of Youth Workers.
- 17. Welfare of District Sailors' & Soldiers' Board.
- 18. Deportation of Foreigners.
- Welfare of backward classes (other than Grants under Proviso to Article 275).
- 20. Training Scheme of Planning & Information Departments.
  - Note:— Committed liabilities on account of teachers already appointed in the States under Special Central Scheme have also been taken into account. There will, therefore, be no need to continue Central grants for this purpose separately.

Non-Plan grants from the Centre for which the Commission has not assumed any credit and has also not allowed any expenditure.

- 1. Home Guards.
- 2. Assistance to children of goldsmiths.
- 3. Modernisation of police force.
- 4. Relief and rehabilitation of displaced persons from Pakistan.
- 5. Relief and rehabilitation of displaced persons from countries other than Pakistan.
- 6. Construction and maintenance of border roads, and roads of strategic importance.
- 7. Construction of Inter-State roads of economic importance.
- 8. Incentive bonus for procurement of foodgrains.
- 9. Central Road Fund.
- 10. Miscellaneous Social Crash Programme.
- 11. Nutrition Programme.
- 12. Grant for training-cum-development project.
- 13. National Service Schemes.
- 14. Civil Defence.
- 15. Subsidy for controlling prices of essential commodities.
- 16. Pre-vocational Training Centres.
- 17. Rural Engineering Survey.
- 18. Soil Conservation schemes in River Valley Projects.
- 19. Resettlement of Tibetan refugees.
- 20. Crash programme for rural employment.
- 21. Development of Border Areas.

#### *Table* 12 (*c*)

Revenue receipts and non-Plan expenditure including committed expenditure on the Fourth Plan schemes have been reassessed according to the general criteria indicated in the Report. Provision for amortisation, interest payment on fresh borrowings as also interest receipts on fresh lendings have been excluded for the reasons indicated in Chapter XV. Returns from irrigation and power projects, transport undertakings and other commercial enterprises have been projected according to the minimum norms stipulated by the Commission. Provisions for pay revision, maintenance of capital assets and upgradation of the standards of administration have been allowed on the lines indicated in the Report. Provisions made in the forecast for land reforms have also been omitted except the expenditure on staff already employed.

#### **Government of Andhra Pradesh**

(Rs. crores)

		·							State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
A. Revenue Receipts											
I. Tax Revenues									791.93	805.64	(+)13.71
2. Non Tax Revenues									168.59	309,49	(+)131.90
(i) Interest Receipts									196.59	213.91	(+)17.32
(a) State Electricity Board .				•					34.69	55.90	(+)21.21
(b) Other Commercial Deptts.									144.55	139.44	(-)5.11
(c) Loans to others (on existing	ig loans	s outs	tandi	ng at	the a	end of	1973	3-74)	17.35	18.57	(+)1.22
(ii) Interest on fresh loans		•				•			5.86	-	()5.86
(iii) Other Receipts					,				()33.86	86.58÷	(+)120.44
3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre.									3.55	—	(→) <b>3</b> .55
4. Transfer from Funds		•		•	•				3.75		()3.75
Total Revenue Receipts								,	967.82	[106.13	(+)138.31
B. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account	í										
1. Non Developmenta! Expenditure .									1074.13	656.34	()417 <b>.79</b>
(i) Interest payments on existing lo	ans ou	istand	ling at	the e	end o	f 1973	5-74		183.27	200.76	(+)17.49
(a) Central Government .					•				129.67	149.27	(+)19.60
(b) Others (including interest or							tc.)		53.60	51.49	(-)2.11
(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans	•			•		•	-		70.11		()70.11
<ul><li>(iii) Appropriation for reduction or ings)</li></ul>	avoida	nce of	f Deb	t (inc	ludin	g fres	h bor	row-	237.66		(
(iv) Other Non-Developmental expe	nditure	•		•	•	•	•		583.09	455.58	(
2. Developmental Expenditure											
(i) Education	•								449.78	426.82	()22.96
(ii) Medical & Public Health .									115.76	109.77	()5.99
(iii) Public Works (including mainte	enance	of roa	ıds an	d bui	ilding	s)					
(a) Provision for maintenance of	buildir	igs.							12.05	7.75	(-)4.30
(b) Provision for maintenance of	f roads								98.35	71.61	()26.74
(c) Other Expenditure	•								()4.40	15.87	(+)20.27
Total		-	•			•			106.00	95.23	(—)10.77
(iv) Other Developmental Expenditus	re	•		•	•	•			271.16	267.89	()3.27
Total-Developmental	•	•		•	•	•			942.70	899.71	()42.99
3, Committed Expenditure on Fourth Pla	in Schei	nes							170.57	159.19	(-)11.38
	•				•	•			3.75	• •	()3.75
5. Fresh Expenditure	•	•	•	•	•				105.90		()105.90
Total Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenu	e Accou	int							2297.05	1715.24	(—)581.81
Non-Pian Revenue Gap (A—B) .		•		•	•	•			-1329.23	609.11	+720.12

### Non-Plan grants from the Centre to the States

#### Table 12 (a)

Non-Plan grants from the Centre together with the related expenditure allowed by the Commission.

1. Assistance to Jammu & Kashmir for transport of rice and wheat.

#### Table 12 (b)

Non-Plan grants from the Centre not taken into account but related expenditure allowed in the reassessment.

- 1. Publicity and staff for work relating to Small Savings.
- 2. Relief for displaced goldsmiths.
- 3. Composite Training Centres.
- 4. National Sample Survey.
- 5. Craftsman Training Scheme.
- 6. Employment Exchanges.
- 7. Social Welfare-Infirmaries Homes etc.
- 8. National Employment Organisation.
- 9. Grant of scholarships under Educational Schemes.
- 10. Industrial Training Centres.
- 11. National Cadet Corps.
- 12. Institute of Panchayati Raj and Community Development.
- 13. Grants for Community Development Project, National Extension Service and Local Development Works.
- 14. Financial assistance to persons distinguished in letters, arts, etc.
- 15. Board of Gazetteers.
- 16. Training of Youth Workers.
- 17. Welfare of District Sailors' & Soldiers' Board.
- 18. Deportation of Foreigners.
- 19. Welfare of backward classes (other than Grants under Proviso to Article 275).
- 20. Training Scheme of Planning & Information Departments.
  - Note:— Committed liabilities on account of teachers already appointed in the States under Special Central Scheme have also been taken into account. There will, therefore, be no need to continue Central grants for this purpose separately.

Table 12 (c)

Non-Plan grants from the Centre for which the Commission has not assumed any credit and has also not allowed any expenditure.

- 1. Home Guards.
- 2. Assistance to children of goldsmiths.
- 3. Modernisation of police force.
- 4. Relief and rehabilitation of displaced persons from Pakistan.
- 5. Relief and rehabilitation of displaced persons from countries other than Pakistan.
- 6. Construction and maintenance of border roads, and roads of strategic importance.
- 7. Construction of Inter-State roads of economic importance.
- 8. Incentive bonus for procurement of foodgrains.
- 9. Central Road Fund.
- 10. Miscellaneous Social Crash Programme.
- 11. Nutrition Programme.
- 12. Grant for training-cum-development project.
- 13. National Service Schemes.
- 14, Civil Defence.
- 15. Subsidy for controlling prices of essential commodities.
- 16. Pre-vocational Training Centres.
- 17. Rural Engineering Survey.
- 18. Soil Conservation schemes in River Valley Projects.
- 19. Resettlement of Tibetan refugees.
- 20. Crash programme for rural employment.
- 21. Development of Border Areas.

### Government of Andhra Pradesh

		-	
	State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
<b>I.</b> Provision allowed for—			
(i) Revision of pay and emoluments of State Government employees, teachers and		114.28	(+)114.28
local body employees.			
(ii) Upgradation of standards of Administration.			
(a) General Administration	• •	0.27	(+)0.27
(b) Administration of Justice			$(\pm)0.27$ $(\pm)20.37$
(c) Police		20.37	
(d) Jails		2.61	(+)2.61
(e) Primary Education		15.54	(+)15.54
(f) Medical & Public Health		13.83	(+)13.83
(g) Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and other backward classes	. ,		••
	••	52.62	(+)52.62
Total Total Non-Plan Revenue Gap (A—B—C)	-1329.23	-776.01	(+)553.22

*Note* †State Government's demand of Rs. 72. 52 crores for renovation of Godavari Barrage, Drainage Works and Nizam Sagar Project not conceded on the ground that they should form part of the Plan. Irrigation receipts amounting to Rs. 5.78 crores included in the forecast for meeting this expenditure have also not been taken into account.

#### Government of Assam

(Rs. crores)

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·										State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
						-	• •					
A. Revenue Receipts												(1)12.42
1. Tax Revenues		-		•		•	•	•	•	210.98	224.41	(+)13.43
2. Non Tax Revenues										0.91	26.92	(+)26.01
(i) Interest Receipts .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	0.91	19.32	(+)19.32
(a) State Electricity Board			•		•	•	•	·	•	••	1.98	(+)1.98
(b) Other Commercial Dep	artme	ents		•	·	•	•			0.01	5.62	(+)4.7
(c) Loans to others (on exi	sting	loans	outsta	anding	g at th	e end	of 19	73-74)	•••	0.91	5.04	()0.70
(ii) Interest on fresh loans					•			,	•	0.70		•
(iii) Other Receipts										()4.96	19.38	(+)24.34
	•	•	-							1.00		( )1 . 00
3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre.	•	•	•	•	•	•	•			13.25		()13.25
4. Transfer from Funds	•	٠	•	•	•	•		•	•			
Total Revenue Receipts (A)										221.88	270.71	(+)48.8

# B. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account

	22/ 27	260 00	()58.29
·	326.37	208.08	()50.27
	71 46	87.90	(+)16.44
٠		0.000	()0,16
	18.15	17.97	
	36.72		()36.72
0W-	25.45		(
•		162 21	(-)12.40
•	174.01	102.21	( )
(	ow-		71.46 87.90 18.13 17.97 36.72

1	8	0

Government of Assam

			Ge	vernr	nent	of Ass	am				(	Rs. crores)
										State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
Developmental Expenditure				•						····· - ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
(i) Education										150.00		
(ii) Medical & Public Health		·	•	•	•	:	•	•	•	150,90	154.17	(+)3.27
(iii) Public Works (including mainten	ance	of ro	ads ar	nd hu	Ildina	76)	•	•	•	35.56	36.41	(+)0.85
(a) Provision for maintenance of	'build	lings.								9.63		
(b) Provision for maintenance of	<sup>r</sup> road	s .		ż		·	•	·	•	40,72	5.25	()4.38
(c) Other Expenditure .				ż	÷		•	•	•	19.52	41.11	(+)0.39
Total								•	•		13.22	(→)6.30
(iv) Other Developmental Expenditur		•	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	69.87	59.58	()10.2 <sup>9</sup>
Total Developmental	с.	•	•	·	٠	•	•	•	•	55.12	55.88	(+)0.76
•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	311.45	306.04	()5.41
3. Committed Expenditure on Fourth	I Plan	Sche	emes	•						108.86	89.31	()19.55
4. Transfer to Funds	•	•	•	•					•	13.25		(-)13.25
5. Fresh Expenditure	•	•	•		•					· • •		(-)15.25
Total Non-Plan expenditure on Rev	enue /	Accou	int (B	).						759.93	((2, 12)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Non-Plan Revenue Gap (A-B)							•	•	•		663.43	()96.50
Non-Han Kerende Gap (AD)	•	•	·	·	•	•	•	•	•	()538.05	()392.72	(+)145.33
C. Provision allowed for-											····	· · · · ·
<ul> <li>(i) Revision of pay and emoluments local body employees.</li> </ul>			Gover	nmen	t emp	oloyee	s, tea	chers	and	••	28.88	(+)28.88
(ii) Upgradation of standards of Adm	inistra	ation										
(a) General Administration											4.86	(+)4.86
(b) Administration of Justice	•	•	•								1.65	(+)4.86 (+)1.65
(c) Jails	•										1.05	(+)1.05
(d) Police	•				•					••	••	
(e) Primary Education .	•							•			••	••
(f) Medical & Public Health	•				•						3.24	(1)2.24
(g) Welfare of Scheduled Castes, S	Sched	uled '	Tribes	and	other	back	ward	classe	s.	••	8.27	(+)3.24 (+)8.27
Total											18.02	
Total Non-Plan Revenue Gap								-	-			(+)18.02
				-	·	•	•	•	•	()538.05	(	(+)98.43

### Government of Bihar

ł

}

		• •• •										·		(Rs. crores
												State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
Re	venue Receipts													
1.	Tax Revenues Non-Tax Revenues	•				•			-	•		656,22	657. <b>7</b> 6	+1.54
4.	(i) Interest Receipts .													
			•	·	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	60.14	93.17	+33.0
	···· · ····· ······ ··················			•	•	•	•	٠	•	•			19.01	+19.0
	(b) Other Commercial				•	•	•	٠	•			46.13	46.13	
	(c) Loans to others (o	n exis	sting	loans	outst	andin	g at t	he end	l of I	973-74	)			•
	(i) Others .	•	·	•	•	•			•			4.01	16,73	+12.7
	(ii) D.V.C	·	•		•	•						10.00	11.30+	+1.3
	(ii) Interest on fresh loans		•									1.86	. 1	-1.8
	(iii) Other Receipts .		•									55.54	88.82	+33.2
3.	Non-Plan Grants from Cent	tre										5.00		
4.	Transfer from Funds .												••	5.00
	Total Revenue Receipts										_	<u></u>		· ·
	Total Rotonae Recorpts	•	•	•	·	•	•	·	•	•	•	778.76	839.75	+60.99

Government	of	Bihar
------------	----	-------

	State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
B. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account			
1. Non-Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Interest payments on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74			
<ul><li>(a) Central Government</li><li>(b) Others (including interest on Provident Fund, other deposits, etc.)</li></ul>	139.29 48.89	150.42 46.37	+11.13 -2.52
<ul><li>(b) Others (including interest on Provident Point, other deposits, etc.)</li><li>(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans</li></ul>	31,81		31.81
(ii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt (including fresh	100 71		
borrowings)	109.71 412.48	358.25	
(iv) Other Non-Developmental expenditure		555.04	
Total Non-Developmental	742.18		
2. Developmental Expenditure		221 50	93.12
(i) Education	414.71	321.59 104.43	+4.66
(ii) Medical & Public Health	99.77	104,43	T 4.00
(iii) Public Works (including maintenance of roads and buildings)	20.47	11.15	()18.32
(a) Provision for maintenance of buildings	29.47 42.78	54.12	(+)11.34
<ul><li>(b) Provision for maintenance of roads</li><li>(c) Other Expenditure</li></ul>	23.79	19.89	()3.90
	96.04	85.16	
Total	198.88	181.44	-17.44
(iv) Other Developmental Expenditure	809.40	692.62	-116.78
Total—Developmental	231.22	191.55	
3. Committed Expenditure on Fourth Plan Schemes	••		
4. Transfer to Funds	38.35	9.69	-28.65
5. Fresh Expenditure	1821.15	1448.90	-372.25
Total Non-Plan expenditure on Revenue Account			-+433.24
Non-Plan Revenue Gap (AB)			
C. Provision allowed for-			
<ul> <li>(i) Revision of pay and emoluments of State Government employees, teachers and local body employees</li> </ul>	44.35	68.78	+24.43
(ii) Upgradation of Standards of Administration		36.21	+ 36.21
(a) General Administration		5,58	+ 5.58
(b) Administration of Justice	• •	39,60	+ 39.60
(c) Police .			
(d) Jails	••	35.19	+35.19
(c) Primary Education	••	35,19	+35.19
(f) Medical & Public Health	••		
(g) Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and other backward classes	• •	15.02	+15.02
Total .	. ·	166.79	+ 166 . 79
Total Non-Plan Revenue Gap			+242.02

@This relates to reorganisation of districts.

<sup>†</sup> The Commission has assumed returns on Damodar Valley Corporation capital at full rates, *i.e.*, Rs. 2.26 crores a year on the basis of existing terms.

			(Rs. crores)
	State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
A. Revenue Receipts			
1. Tax Revenues	. 953.87	986,87	+33.00
2. Non-Tax Revenues			
(i) Interest Receipts			
(a) State Electricity Board	. 54,52	46.53	7.99
(b) Other Commercial Departments	. 107.34	107.34	
(c) Loans to others (on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74)		28.11	+0.90
(ii) Interest on fresh loans	. 7.30	••	7.30
(iii) Other Receipts	. 59.48	83.67	+24.19
3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre	. 1.50	••	
4. Transfer from Funds			
Total Revenue Receipts	. 1211.22	1252.52	+41.30
<ol> <li>Non-Developmental Expenditure         <ol> <li>(i) Interest payments on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74</li> </ol> </li> </ol>			
(a) Central Government	. 63.30	63,73	+0.4
(b) Others (including interest on Provident Fund, other deposits, etc.)	. 48.08	48.10	+0,02
(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans	. 58.95	••	
<ul><li>(iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt (including fresh borrowings).</li></ul>	h . 76,84		—76.8
(iv) Other Non-Developmental expenditure	. 348,19	332.25	—15.9
2. Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Education	. 317.40	297.91	
(ii) Medical & Public Health	. 81.77	88.58	+6.8
(iii) Public Works (including maintenance of roads and buildings).			
(a) Provision for maintenance of buildings	. 20.37	13.45	6.9
(b) Provision for maintenance of roads	. 40.00	47.36	+7.3
(c) Other Expenditure	. 31.80 —39.07*	42.05	+49.3
Total :	. 53.10	102.86	+49.7
(iv) Other Developmental Expenditure.	. 110.62	116.70	+6.0
TOTAL : DEVELOPMENTAL	. 562.89	606.05	+43.1
3. Committee Expenditure on Fourth Plan Schemes	. 160.08	156.51	
4. Transfer to Funds	. 84.58(1)		84.5
5. Fresh Expenditure	. 226.43(2)	) —	-226.4
TOTAL NON-PLAN EXPENDITURE ON REVENUE ACCOUNT.	. 1629.34	1206.64	422.7

Non-plan revenue gap (A-B)

.

.

+45.88

+464.00

J.

-418.12

### Government of Gujarat

182

Government of Gujarat

	<b></b>					_									State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
C. Prov	visio	n allowed	for														
(i)   	Revi oca	ision of p l body em	ay and ployees	emolu	iments	of :	State .	Gove	rnmer •	nt emj	ployee	s, tea •	chers	and •	_	69.87	+69.87
( <i>ii</i> )	Upg	radation	of stand	ards	of Adr	ninis	tratio	n									·
(	(a)	General A	Adminis	tratic	n	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	·		7.56	+2.50
	(b)	Jails						•		•	•	•	•	•		2.56	τ2.30
	• •	Primary ]	Educati	on							•	•		•			
	` '				•										_		
(	(d)	Medical &	e Public	: Hea		•	•	• 1	•	- doth	ar hac	kwaro	l class	es .		6.63	+6.63
(	(e)	Welfare c	of Sched	uled (	Castes,	, Sch	eaule		æs an	u om	ci bac	K Wai v		-		9,19	+9.19
			Тота	Ĺ.				•	•	•	•	•	·	•			
			Τοτά	l No:	N-PLAN	RE	VENUE	GAP							418.12	-33.18	+384.9

\*Represents the extent of expenditure under "50-Public Works" proposed to be met from the State Road Fund.

(1) The provision for transfers of Rs. 10 crores to the Education Cess Fund and Rs. 74.58 crores to the State Road Fund have been excluded from the re-assessment since these funds would be utilised to meet expenditure on Plan Schemes and on maintenance and repairs of roads for which funds have been separately provided by the Commission on the basis of the norms.

(2) Additional expenditure of Rs. 49.22 crores for implementation of the recommendations of the Panchayati Raj High Level Committee and Rs. 3.41 crores to implement the recommendations of the Grants—in-aid Code Committee have been disallowed, since these contingent liabilities would be taken care of by the liberal growth rates on education and other related heads allowed by the Commission.

#### Government of Haryana

#### (Rs. crores)

	State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
A. Revenue Receipts 1. Tax Revenues	. 400.11	425.51	+25.40
2. Non Tax Revenues	. 82.34	114.40	+32.06
(i) Interest Receipts	7.62	41.03	+33,41
(a) State Electricity Board	. 68.64	68.64	
(b) Other Commercial Departments	-		-1.35
(c) Loans to other (on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74)	. 6.08	4.73	
(ii) Interest on fresh loans	. 2.23		2.23
	. 8.34	47.07	+38.73
(iii) Other Receipts	3.50		3,50
3. Non-Plan Grants for Centre	. 5.00		
4. Transfer from Funds	•		
Total Revenue Receipts (A)	. 496.52	586,98	+90.46

. . . . .

Government	of	Harvana
------------	----	---------

184

(Rs. crores)

												(Rs. crores)
·									-	State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variatio
. Non-Plan Expenditure		ount								•		
1. Non-Development										347.51	173.33	174.1
(i) Interest paym	nents on existin	g loans ou	tstand	ing at	t the e	nd of	1973	-74	•	011101	173.55	
(a) Central ( (b) Others (i) (ii) Interest paym	Government including interest ments on fresh la	st on Prov	ident I	Fund,	other	depo	osits, o	etc.)		43.74 18.68 24.63	45.68 18.06	+1.9 0.6 24.6
( <i>iii</i> ) Appropriatio ( <i>iv</i> ) Other Non-D	Developmental e	or avoida	nce or	Debt		uding	, fresh	i borr	owings)	143.39	100 -	
2. Developmental Ex	kpenditure	-ponditur	•••	•	•	•	•	•	•	117.07	109.59	-7.4
(i) Education . (ii) Medical & Pu	ublic Health	•	•	•	•	•				98.70 29.37	107.01 27.94	+8.3
(iii) Public Works	s (including ma	intenance	of road	ds and	i buil	dings	, .	•	•	29.31	27.94	-1.4
(a) Provisior	n for maintenan	ce of buil	dings		•	•				8,50	6.15	2.3
(c) Other Ex	n for maintenan	ice of road	ls	•	•	•	•	•	•	44.95	12.96	31.9
	spenditure .	• •	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	12.24	24.30	+12.0
	OTAL : .	• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	65,69	43.41	22.2
(iv) Other Develo	opmental Expen	diture .	•	•	•	•				43.51	43,20	0.3
	otal — Develo			•	•					237.27	221.56	
3. Committed Expen	diture on Fourt	h Plan Sci	nemes							44,70	45.02	+0.3
4. Transfer to Funds	• •		•							3.00	10:02	-3.0
5. Fresh Expenditure												-5.0
To	OTAL NON-PLAN	EXPENDIT	JRE ON	REVE	NUE A	CCON	NT (R	•		632.48	439.91	
	ON-PLAN REVEN							, .	•			
		on on (i	* <b>D</b> )	•	•	•	•	•	•	135.96	+147.07	+283.0
. Provision allowed for-												
(i) Revision of pay an local body employ	nd emoluments	of State	Gover	iment	: emp	loyee	s, tea	chers	and	40,04	22.02	
(ii) Upgradation of st		ninistratio	n '	•	•	•	•	•	•	40.04	22.93	17.1
(a) General Adm			••									
(b) Administratio		•••	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	_		_
(c) Jails		• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	_	0.42	+0.4
(d) Police		• •	•	•	•	·	•	•	•		<u></u>	-
(e) Primary Educ	cation	•••	•	•	•	•	•	•	•			<del></del>
(f) Medical & Pu		• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		14.79	+14.7
(g) Welfare of Sc		· Schedule	d Teih	•	امنه	• • • • • • •	• 1		•		2.07	+2.0
		, somedure	u 1110	co ant	1 Othe	a bac	Kwaro	1 Class	es -		4.17	+4.1
	otal (ii) .	• •	•	•	•	·	•	•	•		21.45	+21.4
T0	OTAL NON-PLAN	REVENUE O	JAP	•	•	•	•	•	•		+102.69	+278.6
			Gov	ernme	nt of	Him	achal	Prad	esh			
		·										(Rs. crores
					_ <u>_</u>					State Foreast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
Revenue Receipts 1. Tax-Revenues .	<b>.</b> .	• •								60.80	67.10	+6.30

(i) Interest Receipts

3. Non-Plan Grants

4. Transfer from Funds .

(*ii*) Interest on fresh loans . (*iii*) Other Receipts .

.

.

.

TOTAL REVENUE RECEIPTS

(a) State Electricity Board
(b) Other Commercial Departments
(c) Loans to others (on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74)

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

+5.88 +0.40

---0.77 +9.98

-3.40

+18.39 - -

\_\_\_

4.29 1.10 1.76

0.77

52.03

----

3.40

124.15

 $10.17 \\ 1.10 \\ 2.16$ 

62.01

142.54

\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_

Government	of	Himachal	<b>Pra</b> desh
------------	----	----------	-----------------

(Rs. crores)

	State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
3. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account			
1. Non-Developmental Expenditure			
<ul> <li>(i) Interest payments (on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74)</li> <li>(a) Central Government</li> <li>(b) Others (including interest on Provident Fund, other deposits, etc.)</li> <li>(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans</li> <li>(iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt. (including fresh borrowings)</li> <li>(iv) Other Non-Developmental expenditure.</li> </ul>	28.63 4.17 12.35 3.13 66.71	30.89 4.17 <u></u> 66.39	+2.24 12.3 3.11 0.3
TOFAL :	114.99	101.45	-13.5
2. Developmental Expenditure			
<ul> <li>(i) Education</li> <li>(ii) Medical &amp; Public Health</li> <li>(iii) Public Works (including maintenance of roads and buildings)</li> </ul>	81.02 20.32	83.64 22.60	+2.6 +2.2
<ul> <li>(a) Provision for maintenance of buildings.</li> <li>(b) Provision for maintenance of roads.</li> <li>(c) Other Expenditure</li> </ul>	4,00 14,30 8,25	4.30 14.88 11.73	+0.3 +0.5 +3.4
TOTAL :	26.55	30.91	+4.3
(iv) Other Developmental Expenditure	63.99	62,11	
TOTAL-DEVELOPMENTAL	191.88	199.26	+7.3
	38.86	34.15	
3. Committed Expenditure on Fourth Plan Schemes.	3.54		3.5
4. Transfer to Funds	—		-
TOTAL NON-PLAN EXPENDITURE ON REVENUE ACCOUNT	349.27	334.86	
Non-plan Revenue gap (AB)	-225.12	-192.32	+32.8
-			
<ul> <li>C. Provision allowed for—         <ul> <li>(i) Revision of pay and emoluments of State Government employees, teachers and</li> <li>(ii) Revision of pay and emoluments of State Government employees, teachers and</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		11.74	+11.7
focal body employees			
(ii) Upgradation of standards of Administration			
(a) General Administration			
(b) Police	_		
(c) Primary Education		<b>_</b>	
<ul> <li>(d) Medical &amp; Public Health</li> <li>(e) Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and other backward classes</li> </ul>		_	
Total		- <b>-</b>	
-	225 12		
TOTAL NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP			+21.0

### Government of Jammu and Kashmir

(Rs. crores.)

	State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variatio
. Revenue Receipts			
1. Tax Revenues	94,30	101.37	+7.07
2. Non Tax Revenues	65.11	110.41	+45.30
(i) Interest Receipts	11.00	37.43	+26.43
(a) State Electricity Board	_	23.95	+23.95
(b) Other Commercial Departments	8.74	8.74	
(c) Loans to others (on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74)	2.26	4.74	+2.4
(ii) Interest on fresh loans		—	_
(iii) Other Receipts	54.11	72.98(1)	+18.8
3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre		12.50(2)	+12.50
4. Transfer from Funds		—	
TOTAL REVENUE RECEIPTS	159.41	224.28	+64.8

Government of Jammu and Kashmir		(I	Rs. crores)
	State forecast	Reassessed estimate	Variatio
. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account—			······
1. Non Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Interest payments on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74	76.14	74.42	1.7
(a) Central Government	66.87	72.41	+5.5
(b) Others (including interest on Provident Fund, other deposits etc.)	9.27	2.01	7.2
( <i>ii</i> ) Interest payments on fresh loans	5.25		5.2
<ul> <li>(iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt (including fresh borrowings)</li> <li>(iv) Other Non-Developmental expenditure</li> </ul>	) 5.72 145.54	115 75	5.7
		115.75	29,7
TOTAL-NON-DEVELOPMENTAL	232.65	<b>190</b> .17	42.4
2. Developmental Expenditure-			
(i) Education	61.11	59.50	1.6
(ii) Medical & Public Health	20.27	22.84	+2.5
(iii) Public Works (including maintenance of roads and buildings)			
(a) Provision for maintenance of buildings	· )	4.10	
<ul> <li>(b) Provision for maintenance of roads</li> <li>(c) Other Expenditure</li> </ul>	32.83	12.33 15.85	0.3
Total	32.83	32.28	0.1
(iv) Other Developmental Expenditure	55.19	48.92	-6.2
Total—Developmental	169.40	163.54	
3. Committed Expenditure on Fourth Plan Schemes	55.33	50.35	-4.9
4. Transfer to Funds	<u> </u>		
5. Fresh Expenditure	—		-
TOTAL—NON-PLAN EXPENDITURE ON REVENUE ACCOUNT	457.38	404.06	-53.
Non-Plan Revenue Gap (AB)			+118.
Provision allowed for			
(i) Revision of pay and emoluments of State Government employees, teachers and	<u> 20 55</u>		
local body employees	38.75	35.17	3.5
(ii) Upgradation of standards of Administration			
(a) General Administration	—		-
(b) Administration of Justice     (c) Police			-
(c) Police	10.55	10.55	_
(e) Primary Education		6.78	+6.7
(f) Medical & Public Health			Ŧ0./
(g) Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and other backward classes	_		-
Total	10.55	17.33	+6.'
TotalNon-Plan Revenue Gap $(A-B-C)$	-347.27	-232.28	
TOTAL POINT LAN REVENUE GAP (A-B-C)		-232.28	+114.9

(1) Receipts from forests have been reassessed on the basis of 1972-73 preliminary actuals. Besides, credit has also been taken for Rs. 7 crores by way of realisation of outstanding arrears of royalties from forests. (2) Transport subsidy from the Centre is expected to continue and hence credit has been taken.

### Government of Jammu and Kashmir

. .

.....

### Government of Kerala

-409.97

....

+388.68

		(F	s. crores)
	State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
A. Revenue Receipts			
1. Tax Revenues	517.26	526.74	+9.48
2. Non-Tax Revenues			
(i) Interest Receipts			
(a) State Electricity Board	23.05	35.87	+12.8
(b) Other Commercial Departments	10.71	2.92	7 <b>.7</b>
(c) Loans to others (on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74).	10.40	10.67	+0.2
(ii) Interest on fresh loans .	3,20		3.2
(iii) Other Receipts	116,10	145.10	+29.0
3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre	7,50		—7.5
4. Transfer from Funds	5.00		5.0
TOTAL-REVENUE RECEIPTS (A)	693.22	721.30	+28.0
<ol> <li>Non-Developmental Expenditure         <ol> <li>(i) Interest payments on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74</li> <li>(a) Central Government</li> <li>(b) Others (including interest on Provident Fund, other deposits etc.)</li> <li>(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans</li> <li>(iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt</li> </ol> </li> </ol>	68.62 40.88 44.90	76.42 36.65	+7.8 4.2 44.9
<ul> <li>(iii) Appropriation for reduction of avoidance of Decar (including fresh borrowings)</li> <li>(iv) Other Non-Developmental expenditure</li></ul>	24.80 291.10	 222.41	-24. -68.
2. Developmental Expenditure (i) Education	<b>510.</b> 16	426.05(1)	<u> </u>
(ii) Medicl & Public Health	145.75	102.01	43.
(iii) Public Works (including maintenance of roads and buildings)			
(iii) Provision for maintenance of buildings	5.01	9.55	+4.
(b) Provision for maintainance of roads	35.93	34,76	1.
(c) Other Expenditure	35.91	13.35	
	76.85	57,66	19.
	183.44	118.06(2)	65.
(iv) Other Developmental Expenditure	916.20	703.78 /	212.
TOTAL-DEVELOPMENTAL			
3. Committed Expenditure on Fourth Plan Schemes	100.37	92.01	8
4. Transfer to Funds	5.00		5.
4. Fransier to Funds . Total Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account (B).	1491.87	1131.27	360
TOTAL TOOT LAW DATE APPROVE OF THE TOTAL OF			

Government of Kerala		(1	Rs. crores)
	State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
C. Provision allowed for			
<ul> <li>(i) Revision of pay and emoluments of State Government employees, teachers local body employees</li> <li>(ii) Upgradation of standards of Administration</li> </ul>	and 95.37	63.47	31.90
(a) General Administration	. –	1.92	+1.92
(b) Administration of Justice		_	_
(c) Jails	. –	0,77	+0.77
(d) Police	. –	3.84	+3.84
(e) Primary Education	. —		
(f) Medical and Public Health .	. –		_
(g) Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes, and other backward cl	asses	<u>~</u>	
• TOTAL		6.53	+6.53
TOTAL-NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP	894.02	<u> </u>	+414_05

188

(1) Provision of Rs. 61.55 crores on account of abolition of shift system and improvement of teacher-pupilitatio has not been conceded as these should be accommodated in the Plan.

(2) Land Reforms :---Only a sum of Rs. 10.09 crores allowed in the reassessment of forecast in respect of staff already in position in connection with the implementation of Land Reforms.

### Government of Madhya Pradesh

				۰ _							State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variatio
A. Re	venue Receipts												
1.	Tax Revenues					•		•			676.67	736.53	+59.8
2.	Non Tax Revenues		`										
	(i) Interest Receipts	•								•	103.13	108.12	+4.9
	(a) State Electricity Board	•	•					•			31.30	31.30	-
	(b) Other Commercial Dep	artment	s								59.00	59.00	-
	(c) Loans to others (on exi	sting loa	ins o	outsta	unding	g at tl	he enc	1 of 1	<b>973-</b> 74	).	12.83	17.82	+4.9
	(11) Interest on fresh loans .										16.84		-16.8
	(iii) Other Receipts										193.42	295.08(1)	+101.6
3.	Non-Plan Grants from Centre			•	•	•	•		•	•	10,31	<u> </u>	
4	Transfer from Funds										—		
4.	Italision from Funds	•											
	Total–Revenu n-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Ac		TS			·					1000.37	1139.73	+139.3
B. No	TOTAL-REVENU n-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Act Non-Developmental Expenditur (i) Interest payments on existin (a) Central Government (b) Others (including interest (ii) Interest payments on fresh I (iii) Appropriation for reduction ings)	count e g loans st on Pr oans i or avoi	outst ovide danc	ent F	<sup>7</sup> und,	other	depo	sits ef	c.)		80.78 25.87 120.79 32.19	87.10 23.87	+6.3 2.0 120.7 32.1
<b>B</b> . No	TOTAL-REVENU n-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Act Non-Developmental Expenditur (i) Interest payments on existin (a) Central Government (b) Others (including interest (ii) Interest payments on fresh I (iii) Appropriation for reduction	count e g loans st on Pr oans i or avoi	outst ovide danc	ent F	<sup>7</sup> und,	other	depo	sits ef	c.)		80.78 25.87 120.79	87.10	+6.3 2.0 120.7

### Government of Madhaya Pradesh

#### (Rs. crores)

	State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation —
2. Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Education	386.30	340.72	45.58
(ii) Medical & Public Health	92.59	96.84	+4.25
(iii) Public Works (including maintenance of roads and buildings)			
(a) Provision for maintenance of buildings	32.15	16.55	
(b) Provision for maintenance of roads	80.02	77.80	2.22
(c) Other Expenditure	22.57	14.27	
Total	134.74	108.62	26.12
(iv) Other Developmental Expenditure	231.37	199.17(2),(3	)32.20
TOTALDEVELOPMENTAL	845.00	745.35	99.65
3. Committed Expenditure on Fourth Plan Schemes	177.92	167.79	-10.13
4. Transfer to Funds			-
5. Fresh Expenditure	158.42	+	158.42
TOTAL—NON-PLAN EXPENDITURE ON REVENUE ACCOUNT	1808.72	1351.66	457.06
NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP (A-B)		211.93	+ 596.42
<ul> <li>C. Provision allowed for</li> <li>(i) Revision of pay and emoluments of State Government employees, teachers and local body employees</li> </ul>	136.75	171.12	+34.37
(ii) Upgradation of Standards of Administration		15.07	+ 12.27
(a) General Administration		12.27	+1.62
(b) Administration of justice		1.62	+1.88
(c) Jails		1.88	+1.00
(d) Police $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$		3.99	+7.38
(e) Primary Education	-	7.38	+18.51
(f) Medical & Public Health		18.51	+ 10, JI
(g) Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes, and other backward classes	_	4.69	+4.69
Total		50.34	+ 50.34
TOTAL—NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP	945.10	()433.39	+511.71

\*Out of the fresh expenditure proposed, only Rs. 1.81 crores relating to revision of rates of hostel stipends to Scheduled Caste/ Tribe students (orders issued on 12-4-1973) have been admitted and shown under normal developmental expenditure.

 Improvement in non-tax revenues is mainly due to increase in the estimates of receipts from forest dues (Rs. 78.92 crores). Net profit of Rs. 8.53 crores on State trading operations assumed by the State Government in the capital account has been transferred to revenue account and realisation of 50 per cent of the arrears in respect of forest dues (Rs. 5.92 crores) assumed.

(2) The provision of Rs. 16.31 crores sought by the State Government for subsidy to panchayati raj institutions has not been allowed as this represents a contingent liability.

(3) Provision of Rs. 20 crores included by the State Government in the forecast as expenditure on capital outlay on public works has been disallowed as this should form part of the State Plan.

190	1	20
-----	---	----

### Government of Maharashtra

ł

÷

ş

			(Rs. crores)
	State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
. Revenue Receipts			
1. Tax Revenues	. 2090.20	2220.75(1	+130.5
2. Non-Tax Revenues		2220,12(-	·) [150.5
(i) Interest Receipts			
(a) State Electricity Board	. 60.33	40.81	-19.5
(b) Other Commercial Departments	. 114.63	114,63	-
(c) Loans to others (on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74	4) . 41.82	55.62	+13.8
(ii) Interest on fresh lendings	. 18.53	·	
(iii) Other Receipts	. 237.79	280,98	+43.1
3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre	. 31.76		31.76
4. Transfer from Funds	. –	· · · ·	:
TOTAL—REVENUE RECEIPTS	. 2595.06	2712.79	+117.73
Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account			
1. Non-Developmental Expenditure			
<ul> <li>(i) Interest payments on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74</li> <li>(a) Central Government</li> </ul>	·* .		
	. 127.45	140.59	+13.14
(b) Others (including interest on Provident Fund, other deposits etc.)	. 104.12	105.69	+1.5
(ii) Interest payments on fresh borrowings	. 91.19		<b>—91</b> .19
(iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt (including fresh borr ings)			
(iv) Other Non-Developmental expenditure	391.54		
	783.68	770.71	12.9
TOTAL-NON-DEVELOPMENTAL	. 1497.98	1016.99	
2. Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Education			
(ii) Medical & Public Health	561.88	584.38	+22.5
	. 210.39	196.43	-13.9
(iii) Public Works (including maintenance of roads and buildings)			
(a) Provision for maintenance of buildings	. 22.58	14.70	7.88
(b) Provision for maintenance of roads	48.02	68.07	+20.0
(c) Other Expenditure	. 9.43	44.79	+35.3
Total	. 80.03	127.56	+47.5
(iv) Other Developmental Expenditure	. 327.08	296.56	
TOTAL-DEVELOPMENTAL	. 1179.38	1204.93	+25.55
9. Committed Expenditure on Fourth Plan Schemes .	. 248.95	207.70	41.25
4. Transfer to Funds	. 247.54	117.81	-129.73
5. Fresh Expenditure	. 233.50	(2)	
TOTAL—NON-PLAN EXPENDITURE ON REVENUE ACCOUNT	. 3407.35	2547.43	
Non-Plan Revenue Gap (A—B)	. —812.29	+165.36	
		C103.30	+977.65

### Government of Maharashtra

																	(R	(Rs. crores)			
																 State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation			
C. Provision a	llowea	for																			
	evisio Id loca					umen	ts of	State	Gove	ernm				s, tea		_	124.84	+124.84			
( <i>ii</i> ) U <sub>l</sub>	pgrad	ation	of st	tanda	rds c	of Ada	ninis	tration	1												
(a)	) Ge	ieral	Adır	ninistr	atio	n.										<u> </u>		_			
<i>(b)</i>	) Pol	ice .	•				•								•						
(c)	) Jail	s.		•	•				•	•		•					0.30	+0.30			
<i>(d)</i>	Pric	nary	Educ	ation																	
<i>(e)</i>	Me	fical	& Pı	ablic I	Heal	th			,				•		•			_			
Ú		lfare ses .		chedu	led (	Castes	, Scl	hedule	d Tr ·	ibes	and	othe	er	backv	vard		3.33	+3.33			
		To	DTAL														3.63	+3.63			
		Тс	DTAL	-Noi	N-PL	an Ri	eveni	je Ga	P.				•				+36.89	+849.18			

(1) The increase in tax revenues is mainly in respect of receipts from State excise duties (Rs. 60 crores) following introduction in 1973-74 of the "country liquor" scheme.

(2) The provision of Rs. 210 crores as compensation to local bodies due to abolition of octroi duty has been disallowed as this decision has not been implemented.

#### Government of Manipur

(Rs. crores)

										State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
A. Re	evenue Receipts				=							
1.	Tax Revenues	•				•				5.66	5.66	
2.	Non-Tax Revenues											
	(i) Interest Receipts											
	(a) State Electricity Board .					•	•.		•		<u>.</u>	—
	(b) Other Commercial Depart	ments									_	_
	(c) Loans to others (on existing	g loans	outsta	anding	g at th	e end	of 19	73-74)	).	4.64	0.75(1)	3.89
	(ii) Interest on fresh loans	-				•					_	
	(iii) Other Receipts						•			3.69	3.05	+6.74
3.	Non-Plan Grants from Centre .	· •				•				-	_	
4.	Transfer from Funds	•	-				•	•	•	-		· _
	TotalRevenue R	ECEIPTS	•		•					6.61	9.46	+2.85

-

### 192

#### Government of Manipur

(Rs. crores)

	State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account			
1. Non-Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Interest payments on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74			
(a) Central Government	7.80	9.60	+1.8
(b) Others (including interest on Provident Fund, other deposits etc.)	0.71	0.45	-0.2
(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans	. 5.10		5.1
(iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt (including fresh borrow-			
ings)	55,52	53.09	-2.4
	00.02	55.05	
2. Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Education	28,48	29.30	+0.8
(ii) Medical & Public Health	5.10	5.62	+0.
(iii) Public Works (including maintenance of roads and buildings)			
(a) Provision for maintenance of buildings	7.27	1.40	+3.3
(b) Provision for maintenance of roads	1.21	2.58	÷3.,
	7.27	10.50	+3.
(iv) Other Developmental Expenditure	5.94	5.99	+0.0
	46.79	51.41	+4,
Total-Developmental	40.77	51.41	T.4.
3. Committed Expenditure on Fourth Plan Schemes	22.26	16.90	5.2
4. Transfer to Funds	2.78(*)	_	2.
5. Fresh Expenditure			
TOTAL—NON-PLAN EXPENDITURE ON REVENUE ACCOUNT	140.96	131.45	9.:
Non-Plan Revenue Gap (A—B)		-121.99	+12.
Provision allowed for—			
(i) Revision of pay and emoluments of State Government employees, teachers and	1.70	4.92	+3.2
local body employees	1.70	4.54	τυ
(ii) Upgradation of Standards of Administration		0.76	
(a) General Administration		0.75	+0.1
(b) Administration of Justice			-
(d) Police		0.35	+0.
(e) Primary Education		—	
(f) Medical & Public Health	-		-
(g) Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and other backward classes .		<u> </u>	
<b>T</b>		1.10	+1.
TOTAL			······································

(1) Present level of receipts is only Rs. 11 lakhs a year. Consequently on a realistic basis only Rs. 75 lakhs have been assumed for the five years 1974-75 to 1978-79.

(\*) Provision for new buildings, modernisation of police etc., not allowed. Additional expenditure under 'Education' also disallowed in view of the higher growth rate allowed under item B 2(i). Provision for the remaining items has been allowed under upgradation of standards of Administration to the extent the Commission considered it necessary.

C

 $\sim$ 

# Government of Meghalaya

			Govera	шені	OI T	ATCRIM	uaya			(Rs	. crores)
									State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
A. Revenue Receipts-					<b>.</b>						. 4 . 91
1. Tax Revenues								•	4.50	5.51	+1.01
2. Non Tax Revenues											
(i) Interest Receipts											
(a) State Electricity Board .										—	
<ul> <li>(b) Other Commercial Departr</li> <li>(c) Loans to others (on existing</li> </ul>	nente							•	0.29	0.14	0.15
(c) Loans to others (on existing (ii) Interest on fresh loans	, ioans i		, sat th				<i>.</i>	•	0.02	2 51	-0.02 +0.60
(iii) Other Receipts		• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	2.91	3.51	-9.44
3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre	•	· ·	•	•	•	٠	•	•	9.44	<b>-</b>	9.44
4. Transfer from Funds	•	· ·	·	•	•	•	·	•			
TOTAL-REVEN	ue Rece	mpts (A)		•	•	•		· _	17.16	9.16	8.00
3. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Ac	count										
1 Non Developmental Expenditure	e				•	•	•	•	42.91	27.23	
(i) Interest payments on existing lo	ans out	standing a	t the e	nd of :	1973-	-74					
(a) Central Government .					•	•	•	•	4.13	4.01	-0.12
(b) Others (including interest o		dent Fund	, other	depos	sits e	tc.)	•	•	0.87	1.27	+0.40
(ii) Interest payments on fresh loan	s.	• •					· .	•	1.72		—1.72 —1.98
(iii) Appropriation for reduction or	avoidan	ice of debt	(inclue	ding fr	esh l	borrov	wings)	•	1.98	 31 05(1)	
(iv) Other Non-Developmental expe	nditure	• •		•	•	·	•	•	34.21	21.95(1)	
2. Developmental Expenditure										11.20	
(i) Education	•		•	·	·	•	·	•	11.67	11.30	-0.3
(ii) Medical & Public Health .	•		•	•	·	٠	•	•	7.34	6.15	1.19
(iii) Public Works (including mainte	nance o	f roads and	d build	ings)				~	0.63	0.957	
(a) Provision for maintenance	of build	ings .	•	·	•	•	•	·	0.05	9.00 >	-1.3
<ul> <li>(b) Provision for maintenance</li> <li>(c) Other Expenditure</li> </ul>		· ·	÷	:	÷	÷	:	÷f	16.22	5.53	
Total	•	•							16.85	15.48	1.3
	•	• •	-	-	·				8.35	8.09	0.26
(iv) Other Developmental Expenditu		- ·	•	•	•	•	•	·	44.21	41.02	-3.19
TOTAL-DEVELO			·	•	•	•	•	•			
3. Committed Expenditure on Fou	rth Plar	1 Schemes		•	•	•	•	•	31.37	24.30	7.0
4. Transfer to Funds	•	• •	•		٠	•	•	•		_	
5. Fresh Expenditure	•		·	•	•	•	•	•			
Total-Non-P	lan Exi	PENDITURE	on Re	VENU	e Aco	COUNT	r (B)		118.49	92.55	-25.94
Non-Plan Rev	TENUE G	ар (А-В	)							-83.39	+17.9
C. Provision allowed for-										<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	
(i) Revision of pay and emolument	ts of Sta	te Gover	nment	emplo	oyees	, teacl	hers a	nd		2 /2/2	
local body employees	•	· ·	•	•	•	•	•	•	—	2.63(2)	+2.6
(ii) Upgradation of standards of Ac	iministr	ation							2.70	1.30	1.4
<ul><li>(a) General Administration</li><li>(b) Administration of Justice</li></ul>	•	• •	•	:	:	:	:	•	0.50	0.20	-0.3
(c) Jails	•				•			•	0.10	—	0.1
(d) Police	•	• •	•	·	•	·	•	•	_		-
(e) Primary Education (f) Medical & Public Health	•	· ·	:	•	:		÷		—		_
(g) Welfare of Scheduled Cast	es, Sche	duled Trib	es and	other	bacl	kward	classe	<del>&gt;</del> s			
Total .									3.30	1.50(3)	-1.8
	· · · · · · ·	· · ·		-	-				-104.63		+17.1
Total-Non-I	LAN R	EVENUE GA	\P	•	•		•	·	-104.03		<del></del>

(1) Food subsidy and specific additional provision for grant-in-aid to district councils have been disallowed.

(\*) The State Government have not effected any increase in the pay and dearness allowance after 1-1-1972 and have not included in their forecast any provision for further revision of pay and dearness allowance. Rs. 2.63 crores have been provided by the Commission on the basis of the norms laid down by it.

(3) Provision for new buildings has been disallowed. Such expenditure should be accommodated in the Plan.

1	Ó.	Å.
1	7'	•

Government of Mysore

									<u>.                                    </u>	(Rs. crores)
								State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
A. Revenue Receipts-	-						_			···
<ol> <li>Tax Revenues</li> </ol>								775.39	862.94	+87.5
2. Non-Tax Revenues					•	•	•	115.52	002.34	T 07.5
(i) Interest Receip	ots									
(a) State Elec								<u> </u>	9.41	+9.41
	mmercial Departments .						÷	125.71	125.71	+ 7.41
(c) Loans to a	others (on existing loans of	utstandin	g at tl	ne end c	of 1973-	74)		32.70	66.11	+33.41
(ii) Interest on free	sh lendings		•					4.57		(—)4.57
(iii) Other Receipts							-	113.01	181.14	+68.13
3. Non-Plan Grants fro	om Centre	•						2.50	101.14	(
4. Transfer from Fund	s						-		_	(-)2.50
	TOTAL—REVENUE RECEIP	75				•	•	1062 00		
B. Non-Plan Expenditu			•	• •	•	·	•	1053.88	1245.31	+191.43
1. Non-Developmental										
	nts on existing loans outsta	andin- at	61. a. a.				-			
(a) Central Go		inding at	the er	10 01 19	73-74					
	cluding interest on Provide	• mt 12. mail		· ·	•	·	·	85.92	96.02	+10.10
(ii) Interest payment	ats on fresh borrowings	ni Funa,	other	deposit	s etc.)	·	. •	51.60	51.60	
(iii) Appropriation f	for reduction or avoidance		()	• •	· · ·	:	•	60.93	—	()60.93
(iii) Other Non-Dev	elopmental expenditure	OI DEDI	(inciu	ding ire	sh borr	owing	s).	106.69		()106.69
	TOTALNON-DEVELOPMEN	• 1707 • 3	٠	• •	•	•	·	529.04	308.53(1),(2)	()220.51
		IAL	•	• •	•	•	•	834.18	456.15	(
2. Developmental Expe	naiture									_
(i) Education	· · · · ·	•	•	• •	•	•		416.84	344,24	()72.60
(ii) Medical & Publ			•	• •	•	•	• ·	112.36	95.60	(-)16.76
	ncluding maintenance of r		build	ings)						
	or maintenance of building	gs .	•	• •	•	•	•	15.35	10.85	-4.50
•	or maintenance of roads	•	•	• •	•	•	•	35.85	64.43	+28.58
(c) Other Expe	nditure	•	•	· .	•	•	•	47.36	35.50	
	Total							98.56	110.78	+12.22
(iv) Other Developm	ental Expenditure							287.61	201.52	
	TOTAL-DEVELOPMENTAL						• -	915.37		(
	ure on Fourth Plan Schem		•	• •	•	•	•		752.14	()163.23
4. Transfer to Funds	ute on routen rian schem	HCS .	•	•••	•	•	•	80.29	82.04	+1.75
5. Fresh Expenditure	• • • • •	•	•	• •	•	•	•	_	—	
•		•	•	• •	•	•	· ·	50.00		()50.00
	TOTAL-NON-PLAN EXPEN	DITURE O	IN REV	/enue A	CCOUNT	Γ.	•	1879.84	1290.33	(-)589.51
	Non-Plan Revenue Gap	(A—B)	).				•	()825.96	()45 02	(+)780.94
C. Provision allowed for	'						•			(1)/60.94
	ind emoluments of State g		 							
local body emplo	byees.	, , , ,	nt etti	ployees,	, leacr	iers a	חם.		70 42	
(ii) Upgradation of st	tandards of Administration	1	•	•	•	•	•	••	79.43	+79.43
(a) General Adn				_					3.00	
(b) Police				• •	•	•	•	••	7.02	+7.02
(c) Jails .		•		• •	•	•	•	••	16.53	+16.53
(d) Primary Edu	ication	·	•	• •	•	•	•	••	1.76	+1.76
(e) Medical & P		• •	•	• •	•	• •	÷.,	10 Jan 199		••
	cheduled Castes, Schedule	ed Triber	and	other 4	achume	d alaa		• •	1.14	+1.14
y the state of y			anu	other D	acrwal(		SCS .	<u> </u>	••	<u>/</u>
	TOTAL :							•••••••••	26.45	+26.45
	Total—Non-Plan R									

Provision proposed by the State Government for compensation to local bodies on abolition of octroi duty equalisation and incentive grants to local bodies have been disallowed, as these proposals do not appear to have been implemented.
 Provision of Rs. 5 crores for food subsidy disallowed.

### Government of Nagaland

٠

ł

٨

◄

4

.

۲

٠

٠

(Rs. crores)

	State Fore- cast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
A. Revenue Receipts			
1. Tax Revenues	7.34	8.20	+1.86
2. Non Tax Revenues			
(i) Interest Receipts			
(a) State Electricity Board			
(b) Other Commercial Departments	• -		
(c) Loans to others (on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74) .	1.60	1.60	
(ii) Interest on fresh loans	• •		
(iii) Other Receipts	4.73	5,79	+1.06
3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre 4. Transfer from Funds			
TOTAL REVENUE RECEIPTS	13.67	15.59	+1.92
B. Non Plan-Expenditure on Revenue Account	<u>.</u>		
1. Non-Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Interest payments on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74			
<ul><li>(a) Central Government</li><li>(b) Others (including interest on Provident Fund, other deposits etc.)</li></ul>	. 5.74 . 1.06	5.51 1.02	0.1 0.0
(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans	••	• •	
(iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt (including fresh borrowings)	0.98	• •	0.9
(iv) Other Non-Developmental expenditure	63.61	61.71	—1.9
2. Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Education	19.33	18.76	0.5
(ii) Medical & Public Health	9.86	11.15	+1.29
(iii) Public Works (including maintenance of roads and buildings)	5.31	3.35]	-1.9
<ul><li>(a) Provision for maintenance of buildings</li><li>(b) Provision for maintenance of roads</li></ul>	9,99	} 9.72 <sup>°</sup>	+8.5
(c) Other Expenditure		i 8.78]	
TOTAL	15.30	21.85	+6.5
	11.49	10.15	—1.3
(iv) Other Developmental Expenditure			
TOTAL-DEVELOPMENTAL	55.98	61.91	+5.9
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	13.80	13.31	-0.4
3. Committed Expenditure on Fourth Plan Schemes			
<ol> <li>Committed Expenditure on Fourth Plan Schemes</li> <li>Transfer to Funds</li> </ol>		0 50/1)	17.7
· · ·	18.26	0.50(1)	
4. Transfer to Funds .		143.96	

Government of	Nagaland
---------------	----------

(Rs. crores)

-

Ť

1

Ĩ

١,

		·	
	State Fore- cast	Reassessed V Estimate	ariation
. Provision allowed for—			
(i) Revision of pay and emoluments of State Government employees, teachers and local body employees.	5.00	6,64	+1.6
(ii) Upgradation of standards of Administration			
(a) General Administration		0.46(ª)	+0.4
(b) Administration of Justice		0.05	+0.0
(c) Jails	• •	••	
(d) Police	••	0.15	+0.1
(e) Primary Education	••	••	
(f) Medical & Public Health		••	
(g) Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and other backward classes .	• •	••	•
TOTAL	••	0.66	+0.6
TOTAL NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP	-150.76	-135.67	+15.0

(1) Provision for raising of two additional battalions of armed police and upgradation of police Training School not allowed. Provision for improvement of air-ports, development subsidy to village councils and new buildings have also not been allowed; they should be included in the Plan. Provision allowed for Rs. 50 lakhs on account of expenditure on rehabilitation of surrendered hostiles.

(2) Provision has been allowed for Fire Services (Rs. 30 lakhs), Land Records (Rs. 10 lakhs) and Board of Secondary Education (Rs. 6 lakhs).

#### Upgradation of standards of administration : The Following provisions have been allowed

																			(Rs. crores)
Fire Services			•							•							•		0.30
Police .			•		•					٠		••				٠			0.15
Land records	ł			•	•	•	•	•	•		•								0.10
Board of Sec	onda	агу Е	ducat	ion	•		•	•		•	· •	•	•			•			0.06
Separation of	Exe	ecutiv	ve and	t Judi	iciary	•	•			•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	0.05
		То	TAL	•	•			•				•			•	•	•		0.66

#### Government of Orlasa

	(R:		
	State Fore- cast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
A. Revenue Receipts			
1. Tax Revenues	223.71	243.48	+19.77
2. Non Tax Revenues			
(i) Interest Receipts	68.01	54.19	-13.82
(a) State Electricity Board	20,55	12,39	8.16
(b) Other Commercial Departments	37.19	37,19	••
(c) Loans to others (on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74) .	10,27	4.61	5.66
(ii) Interest on fresh loans	14.59	•	14.59
(iii) Other Receipts	45.73	74.55	+28.82
3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre.	3.24	••	-3.24
4. Transfet from Funds	••	••	••
TOTAL REVENUE RECEIPTS	355.28	372.22	+16.94

Government of Orissa			(Rs. crores)
	State Fore- cast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
B. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account			
1. Non-Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Interest payments on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74			
(a) Central Government	100.64	113.34	+12.70
(b) Others (including interest on Provident Fund, other deposits etc.)	32,05	34.03	+1.98
(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans	69.85		69.85
(iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt (including fresh borrow-			
(iii) Appropriation for reduction of avoidance of Deot (including near correct ings)	39.08	• •	39.08
(iv) Other Non-Developmental expenditure	226.33	201.65	24.68
TotalNon-developmental	467.95	349.02	—118.93
2. Developmental Expenditure	150.09	161.05	+10.96
(i) Education (ii) Medical & Public Health	54.96	57.24	+2.28
(iii) Public Works (including maintenance of roads and buildings)			
(a) Provision for maintenance of buildings	12.34	10.50	-1.84
(b) Provision for maintenance of roads	28.95	24.20	4.75
(c) Other Expenditure	20.37	20.00	
TOTAL	61.66	54.70	
(iv) Other Developmental Expenditure	125.57	114,44	-11.13
TOTAL-DEVELOPMENTAL	392.28	387.43	4.8:
a contractor de la contractor Dian Sabamac	82.04	82.37	+0.33
3. Committed Expenditure on Fourth Plan Schemes			·
4. Transfer to Funds	125.72		-125.72
5. Fresh Expenditure	125.72	. <i>.</i>	
TOTAL NON-PLAN EXPENDITURE ON REVENUE ACCOUNT	1067.99	818.82	
Non-Plan Revenue Gap (A—B)	712.71		+266.11
C. Provision allowed for-			
(i) Povision of pay and empluments of State Government employees, teachers and	20.25	72 ((	35.41
<ul><li>(i) Upgradation of Standards of Administration</li></ul>	38.25	73.66	55.4
(a) General Administration.	••		
(b) Administration of Justice	••	2.04	+2.0
(c) Jails		0.79 11.88	+0.7 +11.8
(d) Police		27.60	+27.6
(c) Primary Education	••	7.35	+7.3
(f) Medical & Public Health (g) Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and other backward		7.40	+7.4
Classes Total		57.06	+57.0
TOTAL NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP	750.96		+173.6

S/19 M of Fin./73-26.

# 198

### Government of Punjab

			(Rs. crores
	State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
A. Revenue Receipts			
1. Tax Revenues	672,37	752.07	+79.7
2. Non Tax Revenues			
(i) Interest Receipts			
(a) State Electricity Board		73.00	+73.0
(b) Other Commercial Departments	43.41	43,41	-
(c) Loans to others (on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74)	19.35	19.35	-
(ii) Interest on fresh lendings	10.27	_	-10.2
(iii) Other Receipts	39.43	60.84	+21.4
3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre	26.25	+	26.2
4. Transfer from Funds	—	—	-
TOTAL REVENUE RECEIPTS	811.08	948.67	+137.5
3. Non-Plan Exenditure on Revenue Account			
1. Non-Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Interest payments on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74			
(a) Central Government	52.01	48.72	3.2
(b) Others (including interest on Provident Fund, other deposits etc.)	25.86	25.42	-0.4
(ii) Interest payments on fresh borrowings	41.43	_	-41.4
(iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt (including fresh borrow-			
ings)	24.31	—	-24.3
(iv) Other Non-Developmental expenditure	185.01	188.02	+ 3.0
TOTAL—NON-DEVELOPMENTAL Developmental Expenditure	328.62	362.16	
(i) Education	184.64	193.84	+9.2
(ii) Medical & Public Health	48,98	51,78	+2.8
(iii) Public Works (including maintenance of roads and buildings)			
(a) Provision for maintenance of buildings	7.05	8.30	+1.2
(b) Provision for maintenance of roads	25.70	14.31	
(c) Other Expenditure	5.01	24.54	+19.5
TOTAL	37.76	47.15	+9.3
(iv) Other Developmental Expenditure	96.22	74.05	
TOTAL-DEVELOPMENTAL			-
	367.60	366.82	0.7
3. Committed Expenditure on Fourth Plan Schemes	117.74	98.23	—19.5
4. Transfer to Funds		_	
	55.32	3.46(1)	51.8
TOTAL NON-PLAN EXPENDITURE ON REVENUE ACCOUNT	869.28	730.67	-138.6
Non-Plan Revenue Gap (A—B)	-58.20	+218.00	+276.2
Provision allowed for—			
(i) Revision of pay and emoluments of State Governments employees, teachers and local body employees		31.55	
(ii) Upgradation of standards of Administration		31.33	+31.5
(a) General Administration			
(b) Police	, —	—	
(c) Primary Education			
(d) Medical & Public Health		7.02	÷7.0
(d) Medicar & Public Health (e) Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and other backward		—	
(e) wehate of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and other backward classes		6.92	+6.9
TOTAL			_
		13.94	+13.9
TOTAL NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP		+172.51	+230.7

į

i

(1)Fresh expenditure has been omitted except for Rs. 3.36 crores for expenditure on a new district already created by the State Government and Rs. 10 lakhs for House Rent Allowance sanctioned for staff at Ropar.

# Government of Rajasthan

			(Rs. crores)
	State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
A. Revenue Receipts			
1. Tax Revenues	503.58	498.58	5.00
2. Non Tax Revenues	129.77	231.68	+101.91
(i) Interest Receipts	85.01	132.81	+47.80
(a) State Electricity Board	7.32	49.79	+42.47
(b) Other Commercial Departments	68.39	68.39	—
(c) Loans to others (on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74)	9.30	14.63	+5.33
(ii) Interest on fresh Loans			
(iii) Other Receipts	44.76	98.87(1),	/(2) +54.11
4. Transfer from Funds	1.45	_	-1.45
	27.55		27.55
TOTAL REVENUE RECEIPTS	662.35	730.26	+67.91
B. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account 1. Non-Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Interest payments on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74	199.20	213.29	+14.09
(a) Central Government	144.72	161.26	+16.54
(b) Others (including interest on Provident Fund, other deposits etc).	54.48	52.03	-2.45
(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans	45.00		-45.00
(iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt (including fresh borrow- ings)	57.80	_	
(iv) Other Non-Developmental expenditure	268.98	292,00	+23.02
TOTAL NON-DEVELOPMENTAL	570.98	505.29	65.69
2. Developmental Expenditure			
(i) Education	750 00	2/7 5/	. 4. 50
	258.98	267,56	+8.58
(ii) Medical & Public Health	70.37	80.65	+10.28
(iii) Public Works (including maintenance of roads and buildings)			
(a) Provision for maintenance of buildings	14.03	11.20	-2.83
(b) Provision for maintenance of roads	67.60	52.20	15.40
(c) Other Expenditure .		12.42	+15.20
Total	78.85	75.82	-3.03
(iv) Other Developmental Expenditure	175.15	166.93	8,22
TOTAL—DEVELOPMENTAL	583.35	590.96	+ 7.61
3. Committed Expenditure on Fourth Plan Schemes	123.28	117 20	<u> </u>
4. Transfer to Funds		117.89	-5.39
	27,55		-27.55
5. Fresh Expenditure	4.56		4.56
TOTAL NON-PLAN EXPENDITURE ON REVENUE ACCOUNT.	1309 72	1214,14	95.58

Government	əf	Rajasthan
------------	----	-----------

Government of Kajasthan		(R	s. crores)
	State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
C. Provision allowed for—			
<ul> <li>(i) Revision of pay and emoluments of State Government employees, teachers and local body employees</li> </ul>	0.25	52.61	+52.36
(ii) Upgradation of standards of Administration			
(a) General Administration		—	
(b) Administration of Justice		1.77	+ 1.77
(c) Police		—	_
	_	1.31	+1.31
(d) Jails		11.31	+11.31
(e) Primary Education			_
(f) Medical & Public Health			
(g) Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and other backward classes,		13.04	+13.04
Total .		27.43	+27.43
TOTAL NON-PLAN REVENUE GAP (A—B—C)	647.62		+83.70

(1) Profit on Rock Phosphate Project (Rs. 28.88 crores) treated as non-tax revenue.

(f) Receipts from sale of land of Rs. 12.30 crores also treated as non-tax revenue receipt.

Government Of Tamilnadu

(Rs. crores)

4

L

	State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
A. Revenue Receipts 1. Tax Revenues	1306.74	1397.68	+90.94
<ul><li>2. Non Tax Revenues</li><li>(i) Interest Receipts</li></ul>			
(a) State Electricity Board	79.25	62.61	16.64
(b) Other Commercial Departments	. 54.81	54.81	—
(c) Loans to others (on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74) .	41.20	39.55	1.74
(ii) Interest on fresh loans	. 19.45	_	
( <i>iii</i> ) Other Receipts	. 90.98	125.67(1)	+34.69
3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre	. 11.96		11.96
4. Transfer from Funds .	. 22.26	18.51	-3.75
TOTAL REVENUE RECEIPTS	. 1626.74	1698.83	+72.0

				Go	vernm	ent o	f Tan	nilnadu	I 					. crores)
·· ··_ ··_ ··_ ··												State Forecast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
. "														
B. Non-Plan Expenditure on R	evenue Acc	ount												
1. Non-Developmental Exper														
(i) Interest payments on ex	isting loan	s outs	tandin	g at f	he end	d of l	973-7	4				70.90	82.22	+2.42
(a) Central Governme	nt			•		•	•	•	·	•		79.80	02.20	1 - 7
(b) Others (including i	nterest on I	Provid	lent Fi	und, o	other a	Jepos	its etc	.)		•	•	84.51	84.51	
(ii) Interest payments on fr	esh loans										•	77.75		-77.75
( <i>iii</i> ) Appropriation for red	iction of a	voidar			(inclu	ding	fresh	borrov	vings)		•	81.86		-81.86
( <i>iv</i> ) Other Non-Developme	ntal Expen	diture										630.15	572.68	57.47
TOTALI												954.07	739.41	214.66
IOIAL -1			·								-			
2. Developmental Expenditu	re											633.37	560.25	73.12
(i) Education		•	•	•	·	•	·	·	•	•	•	177.96	177,69	0.27
(ii) Medical & Public Heal		·		•	•	• •	•	•	•	•	•	177.50		
(iii) Public Works (includin				and	buildi	ings)						13.72	9.80	-3.92
(a) Provision for main				٠	•	•	-	•	·	•		124.00	66.77	57.23
(b) Provision for mai				·	•	•	•	•	÷			66.36	6.31	60.05
(c) Other expenditure				•		•	•	•			-	204.08	82.88	
TOTAL : .	-	•	•	•	•	•	•	·		•		271.01	247.57	23.44
(iv) Other Developmental	Expenditu	re.	•	•	-	•	•	·		•	•	1286.42	1068.39	
Total-Developmental	· ·			·		•	-		·	•	•	187.22	150.02	37.20
3. Committed Expenditure of	on Fourth l	Plan S	cheme	s.		٠	·	•	•	·	•	26.41	15.91	-10.50
4. Transfer to Funds			٠			٠	•	•	•	•	•	62.53	-	-62.5
5. Fresh Expenditure			•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•			
Non-Plan Expenditure	ON REVEN	UE A	CCOUN	Т					•			2516.65	1973.73	542.9
NON-PLAN REVENUE	GAR (A	B)												+ 615 . 01

<ul> <li>(ii) Upgradation of standards of Administration.</li> <li>(a) General Administration</li> <li>(b) Police</li> <li>(c) Primary Education</li> <li>(d) Medical &amp; Public Health</li> <li>(e) Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and other backward classes</li> </ul>		TOTAL NO	Dr ani	PEVEN		AP											•	889_91		+535.87
<ul> <li>(a) General Administration</li> <li>(b) Police</li> <li>(c) Primary Education</li> <li>(d) Nil</li> </ul>		TOTAL												,						
(a) General Administration		(d) (e)	Weltare	of Sch	pile i	ad Ca	n . Istes,	Sche	Juled	Triba	s and	other	back	ward	classes		ز .		·····	
(a) General Administration		( <i>c</i> )	Primary	Educa	tion	, Tau 141	•	٠	•	•	·	•	•		•		.			
	1	(b)	Police					•	·	·	•	•	•	•	•	•	; }	-	Nil	
(ii) Upgradation of standards of Administration.		(a)	General	Admi	nistra	tion					•	•		•	•	·	•			
		(ii) Upg	gradation	of sta	ındar	ds of	Adr	ninistr	ation.	,							٦			
			sion of p ployees.	ay and	1 em	siume	aus c	л этаг	COM	, et Ittu		npioj.	,						79.14	79.14

Against the receipt of only Rs. 1.15 crores from investments amounting to Rs. 70 crores estimated at the end of 1973-74 in commercial and industrial undertakings the Commission has assumed net receipts of Rs. 7 crores on the basis of a minimum return of 2 per cent as in the case of other States.

Government	of	Tripura	
------------	----	---------	--

<u> </u>		<b>-</b>			<b></b>							••••••,• ••••••,•• <i>••</i> ,•,• <u>•</u> ,•, <u>•••••</u> ••••	(R	s. crores)
			_									State Forecas	Reassessed t Estimate	Variatio
A. Revenue Receipts 1. Tax Revenues														
2. Non Tax Revenues	. ,	•••	•	•	•	•	•	·	•		•	3.75	4.11	+0.36
(i) Interest Receipts	•													
(a) State Electr														
(b) Other Com	nercial Depar	tments						-		•	•	3,37		3.3
(c) Loans to ot	hers (on existi	ng loans	s outsta	unding	at t	he enc	1 of 19	73-74	9.	•		0.18	1.72	+1.5
(ii) Interest on fresh	lendings	• •			•							0.80		-0.8
(iii) Other Receipts	· .	• •	•	•	•		•					-2.13	5.38	+7.5
<ol> <li>Non-Plan Grants fr</li> <li>Transfer from Fund</li> </ol>		· ·	•	•	·	•	•	•	•		•	_	_	
Total Revenue R	eceints			-		•	•	•	•	•	•			
	-	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	5.97	11.21	+5.2
<ul> <li>B. Non-Plan Expenditure</li> <li>1. Non-Developmental</li> <li>(i) Interest payments</li> </ul>	Expenditure	;	standi	ng at 1	he er	nd of	1973-1	74						
(a) Central Gov	ernment	. • .						_				6.98	10.43	+3.4
(b) Others (inclu	iding interest	on Prov	ident F									0.99	0.99	_
( <i>ii</i> ) Interest payments	on fresh borr	owings	•		•	•	· ·					9.91	—	9.9
( <i>iii</i> ) Appropriation for ( <i>iv</i> ) Other Non-Devel	onmental expe	avoidar anditure	ice of I	Debt (	inciu	ding f	resh t	orroy	vings)		·	0.65	_	-0.6
Total-Non-Dev	-		•	•	•	·	•	·	•	•	•	40.88	35.21	<u> </u>
		٠	•	·	•	·	•	·	•		•	59.41	46.63	-12.7
2. Developmental Exp	enditure													
<ul><li>(i) Education</li><li>(ii) Medical &amp; Public</li></ul>	 Health	• •	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	37.38	35.77	1.6
( <i>iii</i> ) Public Works (inc			f roads	• s and l	، ایتناط	(2001)	•	•	•	•	·	8.09	7.93	0.16
(a) Provision for	maintenance	of build	lings	, <b>4</b> 110			•	•	•	·		2.25	2,25	
(b) Provision for (c) Other Expen	maintenance	of road	s.	•	•				•				4.32	
		•••	•	•	·	•	·	·	•	•	·	23.56	7.39 5	
Total		•••	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	25.81	13.96	-11.85
( <i>iv</i> ) Other Developmen	<b>`</b>		•	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	•	18.93	16.07	-2.86
	-Development		•	٠	٠	•	•	•				90.21	73.73	16.48
3. Committed Expendit	ure on Fourth	i Plan S	chemes	3.			•					17.19	15.78	1.41
1. Transfer to Funds	• • •	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	0.02	_	0.02
5. Fresh Expenditure	• • •	•		•		•	•	•	•	•	•	30.72		
TOTAL NON-PLAN EX	PENDITURE O	N REVE	NUE A	CCOUN	T	•	•	•				197.55	136.14	-61.41
Non-Plan Revenue	GAP(A-B).			•			•					-191.58		+66.65
Provision allowed for-	-											······································		
(i) Revision of pay an body employees	d emoluments	s of Stat	e Gov	ernme	ent e	emplo	yees,	teach		nd loo	al		5.26	+5.26
(ii) Upgradation of sta	andards of Ac	iministra											0.20	-1-0.20
(a) General Adm	inistration .		•				•						1.00	+1. (
(b) Police .			•	•		•							_	
(c) Primary Educ. (d) Medical & Pu		•	•	•	•						•	—	1.00	+1.00
(e) Welfare of Sci		s. Sched	uled T	'ribee /	• and c	• ther 1	harka	• and -1	-	•	•		_	—
		, Seneu	aicu 1	1005 0	inu t	ALICE	UAUKW	arti Çi	asses	·	•	<u> </u>		
TOTAL	• • •	•	•	•	•				•				2.00	+2.00
TOTAL-NON-PLAN R											-			

ć

÷

### Government of Uttar Pradesh

												State Forccast	Reassessee Estimate	d Variatio
A. Revenue Receipts														
1. Tax Revonues		•	•									1021.14	1147.72(1	) +126.5
2. Non-Tax Revenues													,	,
(i) Interest Receipts														
(a) State Electricity Board												106-23	181.79	+ 75.5
(b) Other Commercial Dep												119.00	119.00	3 7
(c) Loans to others (on exi											•	53.32	40,74	-12.5
(ii) Interest on Iresh loans												45.24		-45.2
(iii) Other Receipts												162.73	209.20	+46.4
3. Non-Plan Grants from Centre			-									5,47		5.4
4. Transfer from Funds			•									31.00		31.00
TOTAL REVENUE RECEIPTS												1544.13	1698.45	+ 154.32
3. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenu	e Ace	ount										<u> </u>		
1. Non-Developmental Expenditur														
(i) Interest payments on existing		s outs	tandii	ng at	the en	d of	1973	-74						
(a) Central Government												157,99	176.87	1-18.88
(b) Others (including intere												94.76	93.35	-1.4
(ii) Interest payments on fresh 1	oans											128.42		
(iii) Appropriation for reduction	or ave											417.26	_	417.26
(ir) Other Non-Developmental ex	pendi	iture										642.45	564.67(2)	77.78
2. Developmental Expenditure	;													
(i) Education												630.70	558.35	72.35
(ii) Medical & Public Health												134.40	148.47	+11.07
(iii) Public Works (including mai	intena	nce of	froad	s and	build	ings)								
(a) Provision for maintenan			-						•	•		3.35	17.50	+14.15
(b) Provision for maintenan					•				•	-		60.93	99.08	+38.15
(e) Other Expenditure .	•		•	•					•			30.41	65.90	+35.49
Τοται										•		94,69	182.48	+87.79
(iv) Other Developmental Expen	diture											307,22	300,78(3)	6.44
TOTAL DEVELOPMENTAL	,											1157.01	1190.08	+23.07
6. Committed Expenditure on Fou					•	•	•	•		•	•	410.84		
4. Transfer to Funds .	111 <b>F</b> 1	an su			·	·				•			383.10	27.74
	·	·								•	•	67.25		67.25
-		•				•	•	•	•	•	•	1732.65	59.88(4)	-1672.77
TOTAL NON-PLAN EXPENDITURE (	on Re	VENUI	i Acc	OUNT			•		•			4818.63	2467.95	-2350.68
Non-Plan Revenue Gap (AB)	).	•	•	•	•	·	•	•		•	•		- 769.50	+2505.00
, Provision allowed for-														
(i) Revision of pay and emolume employees												581.71	289,39	202.02
( <i>ii</i> ) Upgradation of standards of				·	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	201.74	209.39	
(a) General Administration													36.03	126.02
(b) Administration of Justice			ż						•	•	•	<u></u>	5.04	+36.03 +5.04
(c) Jails										•			2.65	+2.65
(d) Police													54.30	+54.30
													123,72	+123.72
(f) Medical & Public Health													55.62	+55.62
(g) Welfare of Scheduled Ca												_	12.80	+12.80
TOTAL											-	·	290.16	+290.16
										-	-			+ 290,10
TOTAL NON-PLAN REVENU	je Gai	Р											-1349 05 -4	-2507.16

(Rs. crores)

### Government of Uttar Prodesh

(Rs, crores)

(1) The Commission has not accepted the plea of the State Government about gradual diminution of land revenue by 10 per cent per annum.

(2) Additional provisions for Provincial Armed Constabulary have been allowed under item B(5). Provision for pay revision of police personnel is included under item C(i) while an additional provision of Rs. 54.3 crores has been made under item C(i)relating to upgradation of administrative standards.

(3) No provision has been allowed for capital outlay on public works. This should be accommodated in the Plan.

(4) Provisions for the following items in respect of which orders have been issued have been allowed.

1. Staff for rationi	ng				29.00
2. Reorganisation tabulary		Provi			10.82
3. Excise Departn	nent				0.85
4. Justice & Jails					2.10

	TOTAL								59.88
11.	Social Wel	fare	Depa	rtmer	ıt	•	·	•	3.41
10.	Reorganisa	tion	of N	ledica	l Der	partm	ent	٠	1,05
9.	Non-practi	sing	pay 1	to doc	tors	•	·	•	4.84
8.	Directorate	e of I	loca	Bodi	cs.		•	•	0.40
7.	Liberalisat	ion c	of far	nily p	ensio	n.	•	•	0.65
6.	Fire Servic	es	•	-	•		•		0.62
5.	Police				٠	•	•	•	6.14

Provisions for Minimum Needs Programme (Rs. 892.17 crores); additional grants to Local Bodies (Rs. 232.99 crores); subsidy to Electricity Board (Rs. 74.81 crores); Provincialisation of Secondary Education (Rs. 45 crores); transfer of Land Development Tax to Local Bodies (Rs. 28.64 crores); and creation of new posts of Lekhpals and Supervisor Kanungos (Rs. 20.52 crores); disallowed as these are inadmissible in terms of the general approach followed by the Commission in adjudging similar claims or have to be fitted into the Plan. Some of these needs should also be met out of the administrative upgradation grants. Cost of provincialisation of Secondary Education would be covered to the extent that we have taken into account all the teachers in computing the provision to be made for revision of scales of pay.

#### Government of West Bengal

												(F	ts. crores)
											State Fore- cast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
A. Revenue Receipts							_ <b>.</b>						
1. Tax Revenues					•		•	•	•		1029.42	1129.65(7)	+100.23
2. Non-Tax Revenues													
(i) Interest Receipts													
(a) State Electricity Board .		•		•		•	•			•			
(b) Other Commercial Departm	ents							•			23,90	23.90	
(c) Loans to others (on existing	loans	outsta	anding	g at th	e end	of 19	73-74)			•	27.68	42.38	+14.70
(ii) Interest on fresh loans											9.10		9.10
(iii) Other Receipts											74.95	116.52(6)	+41.57
63. Non-Plan Grants from Centre		•					•				13,74	_	13.74
$\gamma$ 4. Transfer from Funds										•		—	
TOTAL REVENUE RECEIPTS								•			1178.79	1312.45	+133.60

Government of West Bengal

Government of West Bengal			(Rs. crores)
	State Fore- cast	Reassessed Estimate	Variation
<ul> <li>B. Non-Plan Expenditure on Revenue Account</li> <li>1. Non Developmental Expenditure</li> </ul>			
(i) Interest payments on existing loans outstanding at the end of 1973-74			
(a) Central Government	145.70	158.00	+12.30
(b) Others (including interest on Provident Fund, other deposits etc.)	56.82	48.77	8.05
(ii) Interest payments on fresh loans	185.49		185.49
(iii) Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt (including fresh borrowings)	60.11		60.11
(iv) Other Non-Developmental expenditure	652.18	603.36	48.82
Total 1	1100.30	810.13	-290.17
2. Developmental Expenditure			•
(i) Education	499.46	466.39	-33.07
(ii) Medical & Public Health	173.14	184.13	+10.99
(iii) Public Works (including maintenance of roads and buildings)			
(a) Provision for maintenance of buildings	25.39	15.75	-9.64
(b) Provision for maintenance of roads	45.63	52.51	+6.88
(c) Other Expenditure	25.07	12.04	-13.03
Total	96.09	80.30	-15.79
(iv) Other Developmental Expenditure	306.62	255.71	50.91
Total-Developmental	1075.31	986.53	
3. Committed Expenditure on Fourth Plan Schemes	184.55	144.78	
4. Transfer to Funds	4,55	0.55	4.00
5. Fresh Expenditure	106.48	18.62(1) to	
Total Non-Plan expenditure on Revenue Account	2471.19	1960.61	
Non-Plan Revenue Gap (A-B)	-1292.40*	-648.16	+644.24
2. Provision allowed for—			
(i) Revision of pay and emoluments of State Governments employees, teachers and	· 5		
local body employees	3 <b>B</b>	102.54	+102.54
(ii) Upgradation of standards of Administration			
(a) General Administration		3.84	+3.84
(b) Police $W(r) > W(r)$		• .	
(c) Primary Education		49.56	+49.56
(d) Medical and Public Health	Do. To		
(e) Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and other backward classes .	1/22	18.83	+18.83
Total		72.23	+72.23
Total Non-Plan Revenue Gap		-822.93	+469.47

\*Includes provision of Rs. 0.80 crore on account of Commuted Value of pensions transferred from Capital Account.

(1) The State Government's claim for provision on employment of Class III and Class IV employees in the first phase numbering 17000 has been allowed only to the extent of one half, in the absence of definite information on the number of posts actually filled up already. Shri Justice Masud, however, felt that this should have been allowed in full and grant-in-aid for West Bengal should have been enhanced to that extent.

C.

(\*) The provision sought by the State Government for the employment of 13,000 employees during the forecast period has not been conceded as this represents a contingent liability.

(3) Provision for reorganisation of secondary education disallowed as it should appropriately form part of the Plan.

(4) The sum of Rs. 35.50 crores proposed by the State Government for payment of additional dearness allowance and introduction of salary deficit scheme for non-Government high S/19 M of Fin./73-27. and higher secondary schools disallowed, in view of inclusion of the provision for emoluments of all teachers according to norms.

(De arorac)

(5) Provision of Rs. 4.25 crores for introduction of additional shifts for the fire services in the State allowed. Other proposels for fresh expenditure should be either fitted into the Plan or accommodated within the increased provisions allowed by us under the concerned heads.

(6) Rs. 10 crores representing arrears of DVC loss for the period upto 1973-74 disallowed. But provision of Rs. 30.85 crores allowed for payments arising in forecast period.

(7) Receipt at Rs. 4 crores per annum has been assumed from 1975-76 for additional taxation from land revenue measures undertaken in 1972-73.

### TABLE No. 1(a) Financial Results of State Electricity Boards for the year 1971-72\*

(Rs. crores)

State	Block capital	Revenue Receipts	Revenue expend-	Gross operat-	Transfer to Rese-		Operat- ing	from	elec. d	g surplus + luty
	at the beginn- ing of the year	•	iture	ing surplus	rves	surplus (5—6)	surplus as % of block capital	electricity duty	Total	as%of block capital
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
1. Andhra Pradesh .	273.19	45.49	25,96	19.53	7.94	11.59	4.2		11.59	4.2
2. Assam	80.43	5.71	3.29	2.42	2,09	0.33	0.4	0.20	0.53	0.7
3. Bihar	204.03	30.75	21,69	9.06	5.93	3.13	1.5	1.43	4.56	2.2
4. Gujarat	194.90	38,73	24.78	13.95	5.50	8.45	4.3	7.42	15.87	8.1
5. Haryana	150.89	19.90	11.33	8.57	3.64	4.93	3.3	1.92	6.85	4.5
6. Himachal Pradesh	17.06	2.27	2.16	0.11	0.74	()0.63		•••	()0.63	••
7, Jammu & Kashmir			••	••	• •	••	••	••	••	••
8. Kerala	179.99	19.30	9.92	9.38	3.57	5.81	3.2	1.90	7.71	4.3
9. Madhya Pradesh	213.40	35.25	15,91	19.34	6. <b>02</b>	13.32	6.2	2.07	15.39	
10. Maharashtra	332.87	62.33	34.26	28.07	8,80	19.27	5,8	3.50	22.77	6.8
11. Mysore	159.84	35.52	21.60	13.92	5.97	7.95	5.0	5.21	13.16	
12. Orissa	114.00	13.34	8.00	5.34	2.85	2.49	2.2	2.03	4.52	
13. Punjab	224,16	20,85	10.99	9.86	4.17	5,69	2.5	3.11	8.80	
14. Rajasthan .	184,66	23.82	13.31	10.51	4.43	6.08	3.3	1.09	7.17	
15. Tamil Nadu	440.27	69,40	42.15	27.25	11,52	15.73	3.6	7.03	22.76	
16. Uttar Pradesh	574.06	67.44	38.13	29.31	12.15	17.16	3.0	4.44	21.60	
17. West Bengal	120,71	23.27	15.56	7.71	4.33	3.38	2.8	1.39	4.77	4.0

Source : State Governments. \*Actuals.

# APPENDIX IX

# TABLE NO. 1(b)

Financial Results of State Electricity Boards for the year 1972-73\*

(Rs. crores)

State	Block capital	Revenue Receipts	Revenue expendi-	Gross operat- ing	Transfer to Rese-	Operat- ing	Operat-	Receipts from	Operating : elec. duty.	
	at the beginn- ing of the year		ture		rves	surplus (56)	surplus as % of block capital	electri- city duty	Total	as% of block capital
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1. Andhra Pradesh .	308.96	47.40	26.34	21.06	9.06	12.00	3.9		12.00	3.9
2. Assam	87.75	6.31	3.40	2.91	2.44	0.47	0.5	0.22	0.69	0.8
3. Bihar	230.74	34.67	22.58	12.09	7.40	4,69	2.0	2.20	6.89	3.0
4. Gujarat	230.22	44.12	28.84	15.28	6.22	9.06	3.9	8.16	17.22	7.5
5. Haryana	177.55	24.31	15.40	8. <b>91</b>	3.93	4.98	2.8	2.04	7.02	4.0
6. Himachal Pradesh	32.52		3.00	0.07	0.80	(—)0.73	••		()0.73	
7. Jammu & Kashmir						••		••	••	••
8. Kerala	203.72	21.71	12.10	9.61	3.80	5.81	2.9	2.17		3.9
9. Madhya Pradesh	242.40	39.70	18.04	21.66	6.74	14.92	6.2	2.83		
10. Maharashtra	385.95	70.84	42.68	28.16	9.06	19.10	4.9	4.30		
11. Mysore .	177.50	31.50	20.53	10.97	4.10	6.87	3.9	5.21		
12. Orissa	129.00	16.75	8.93	7.82	3.34	4.48	3.5	2.65		
13. Punjab	262.96	21.21	12.52	8.69	4.54	4.15	1.6	3.23		
14. Rajasthan	222.77	26.08	14.15	11.93	5.42	6.51	2.9	1.14		•
15. Tamil Nadu	481.31	65.10	45.25	19.85	12.59	7.26	5 1.5	2,3		
16. Uttar Pradesh	648.59	81.45	i 43.01	38.44	13.58	24.86	5 3.8	4.2		
17. West Bengal	137.86	5 24.72	17,85	6.87	3.00	) 3.87	2.8	1.2	5 5.12	2 3.7

Source : State Governments. \*Latest Estimates.

206

### TABLE NO. 1(a)

Financial Results of State Electricity Boards for the year 1971-72\*

(Rs. crores)

State	Block capital	Revenue Receipts	Revenue expend-	Gross operat-	Transfer to Rese-	Operat- ing	Operat- ing	from	elec. (	g surplus + Juty
	at the beginn- ing of the year	·	iture	ing surplus	rves	surplus (5—6)	surplus as % of block capital	electricity duty	Total	as‰of block capital
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1. Andhra Pradesh .	273.19	45.49	25.96	19.53	7.94	11.59	4.2		11.59	4.2
2. Assam	80.43	5.71	3.29	2.42	2.09	0.33	0.4	0.20	0.53	0.7
3. Bihar	204.03	30.75	21,69	9.06	5.93	3.13	1.5	1.43	4.56	2.2
4. Gujarat	194.90	38.73	24,78	13,95	5.50	8.45	4.3	7.42	15.87	8.1
5. Haryana	150.89	19.90	11.33	8.57	3.64	4.93	3.3	1.92	6,85	4.5
6. Himachal Pradesh	17.06	2.27	2.16	0.11	0.74	()0.63			()0.63	
7. Jammu & Kashmir				••		••				••
8. Kerala	179,99	19.30	9,92	9.38	3.57	5.81	3.2	1.90	7.71	4.3
9. Madhya Pradesh	213.40	35,25	15.91	19.34	6.02	13.32	6.2	2.07	15.39	7.2
10. Maharashtra	332.87	62.33	34.26	28.07	8.80	19.27	5.8	3.50	22.77	6.8
11. Mysore	159.84	35,52	21.60	13.92	5.97	7.95	5.0	5.21	13.16	8.2
12, Orissa	114.00	13.34	8,00	5.34	2.85	2.49	2.2	2.03	4.52	4.0
13. Punjab	224,16	20,85	10,99	9.86	4.17	5.69	2.5	3.11	8.80	3.9
14. Rajasthan	184,66	23.82	13.31	10.51	4.43	6.08	3.3	1.09	7.17	3.9
15. Tamil Nadu	440.27	69.40	42.15	27.25	11.52	15.73	3.6	7.03	22.76	5.2
16. Uttar Pradesh	574.06	67.44	38.13	29.31	12.15	17.16	3.0	4.44	21.60	3.8
17. West Bengal	120.71	23.27	15.56	7.71	4.33	3.38	2.8	1.39	4.77	4.0

Source : State Governments. \*Actuals.

# APPENDIX IX

TABLE No. 1(b)

Financial Results of State Electricity Boards for the year 1972-73\*

(Rs. crores)

State	Block capital	Revenue Receipts	Revenue expendi-	Gross operat-	Transfer to Rese-	Operat- ing	Operat- ing	Receipts from electri-	Operating elec. duty	
	at the beginn- ing of the year		ture	ing surplus	rves	surplus (5—6)	surplus as % of block capital	city duty	Total	as% of block capital
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1. Andhra Pradesh .	308.96	47.40	26.34	21.06	9.06	12.00	3.9	••	12.00	3.9
2. Assam	87.75	6.31	3.40	2.91	2.44	0.47	0.5	0.22	0.69	0.8
3. Bihar	230.74	34.67	22.58	12.09	7.40	4.69	2.0	2.20	6.89	3.0
4. Gujarat	230.22	44.12	28.84	15.28	6.22	9,06	3.9	8.16	17.22	7.5
5. Haryana	177,55	24.31	15.40	8.91	3.93	4.98	2.8	2.04	7.02	4.0
6. Himachal Pradesh	32.52	3.07	3.00	0.07	0.80	()0.73	• •		()0.73	
7. Jammu & Kashmir			••						• •	
8. Kerala	203.72	21.71	12.10	9.61	3.80	5.81	2.9	2.17	7.98	3.9
9. Madhya Pradesh	242.40	39.70	18.04	21.66	6.74	14.92	6.2	2.83	17.75	7.3
10. Maharashtra	385.95	70.84	42.68	28,16	9.06	19,10	4.9	4.30	23.40	6.1
11. Mysore	177.50	31.50	20.53	10.97	4.10	6.87	3.9	5.21	12.08	6.8
12. Orissa	129.00	16.75	8.93	7.82	3,34	4.48	3.5	2.65	7.13	5.5
13. Punjab	262.96	21.21	12.52	8.69	4.54	4.15	1.6	3.23	7.38	2.8
14. Rajasthan	222.77	26.08	14.15	11.93	5.42	6.51	2.9	1.14	7.65	3.4
15. Tamil Nadu .	481.31	65.10	45.25	19.85	12.59	7.26	1.5	2.31	9.57	2.0
16. Uttar Pradesh .	648.59	81.45	43.01	38.44	13.58	24.86	3.8	4.25	29.11	4.5
17. West Bengal .	137.86	24.72	17,85	6.87	3.00	3.87	2.8	1.25	5,12	3.7

Source : State Governments. \*Latest Estimates.

### TABLE NO. 1(c)

Financial Results of State Electricity Boards for the year 1973-74\*

State	Block Capital	Revenue Receipts	Revenue Expendi-	Gross Operat-	Transfer to	Operat- ing	Operat- ing	Receipts from	elect. c	ng surplus duty
	at the beginn- ing of the year		ture	ing surplus	Reserves	surplus (5—6)	surplsus as % of block capital	Electrici- ty duty	Total	As % of block capital
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1. Andhra Pradesh	347.06	56.59	31.80	24.79	10.32	14.47	4.2		4.47	4.2
2, Assam	96.36	7.45	3.84	3.61	3.09	0.52	0.5	0.24	0.76	0.7
3. Bihar	263.24	37,37	23.39	13.98	8.84	5.14	2.0	2.40	7.54	2.9
4. Gujarat	270.13	52.28	34.06	18.22	7.15	11.07	4.1	9.00	20.07	7.4
5. Haryana	215.19	29.64	21.50	8.14	3.65	4.49	2.1	2.39	6.88	3.2
6. Himachal Pradesh	38.91	3,60	3.15	0.45	0.85	()0.40			()0.40	••
7. Jammu & Kashmir	68.15	2.94	5.41	(—)2.47	0.97	()3.44		0.19	()3.25	••
8. Kerala	235.31	24.88	13.45	11.43	4.35	7.08	3.0	2.49	9.57	4.1
9. Madhya Pradesh	274.68	42.41	18.56	23.85	7.66	16.19	5.9	3.03	19.22	7.0
10. Maharashtra	432.09	90.56	51.83	38.73	10.41	28.32	6.6	7.13	35.45	8.2
11. Mysore	199.06	35.25	23.04	12.21	4.72	7.49	3.8	5.45	12.94	6.5
12. Orissa	151.00	21.29	11.71	9.58	3.93	5.65	3.7	2.90	8.55	5.7
13. Punjab	314.02	22.92	14.87	8.05	5.43	2.62	0.8	3.56	6.18	2.0
14. Rajasthan	255.27	34.73	21.85	12.88	5.92	6.96	2.7	1.20	8.16	3.2
15. Tamil Nadu	520.08	91.51	58,42	33.09	14.67	18.42	3.5	2.48	20.90	4.0
	784.42	96,70	54.88	41.82	17.23	24.59	3.1	4.47	29.06	3.7
	184.56	27.39	19.68	7.71	3.80	3.91	2.1	1.30	5.21	2.8

Source : State Governments.

\*Estimates.

### APPENDIX IX

### TABLE NO. 2

Energy	losses	of	State	Electr icity	Boards
--------	--------	----	-------	--------------	--------

(Per cent)

State				<u>-</u>					1969-70 Actuals	1970-71 Actuals	1971-72 Actuals	1972-73 Latest Estimates	1973-74 Estimates
1									2	3	4	5	6
	<del>-</del>								24.1	24.9	26.5	26.0	26.0
1. Andhra Pradesh .	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	•	18.9	19.0	19.0	20.0	20.0
2. Assam · · ·	٠	•	•	•	-	·	•	•	27.9	29.8	25.2	26.1	23.3
3. Bihar	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	21.7	21.2	22,8	21.8	19. <b>9</b>
4 Gujarat	•	·	•	•	-	•	•	•	25.6	27.3	27.3	24.0	24.0
5. H. yana	•	•	·	•	·	•	•	•	14.6	21.5	11.1	12.5	16.0
6. Himachal Pradesh	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	•		24.0	25.0	25.0	25.0
7. Jammu & Kashmir	•	•	•	-	•	•	•	•	24.0	12.9	17.2	15.0	13.8
8. Kerala		•	•	•	•	•		•	14.4	12.9	20.8	20.8	20.7
9. Madhya Pradesh .				•	•	•	•	•	19.9		16.2	16.0	16.0
10. Maharashtra					•		•	•	15.0	15.2		15.0	15.0
11. Mysore					•	•	•		16.1	13.9	14.8	12.0	9.1
12. Orissa.					•	•			10.5	9,3	12.2	27.1	27.0
13. Punjab									24.4	22.2	21.0		20.0
									19.7	18.2	23.9	20.0	
14. Rajasthan	•								20.0	18.2	19.9	17.9	18.1
15. Tamil Nadu	•	•							26.3	27.8	25.5	28.0	27.3
16. Uttar Pradesh	•	•		•	_				13.6	13.6	13.6	13.9	13.8
17. West Bengal .	-	•	•	•	•	•						·····	

Source: Summary records of discussions held in the Planning Commission on Annual Plan 1973-74.

### 208

# APPENDIX IX

TABLE NO. 3

Allocation of Loans by State Government to State Electricity Boards as between Hydel and Thermal Capacity

													(Pe	ercentages)
State									<b></b>	÷		Hydel capacity	Thermal capacity	Total
I												2	3	4
1, Andhra Pradesh							 •		 ,			20.76	79.24	100.00
2. Assam												64.44	35.56	100-00
3. Bihar												8.77	91.23	100.00
4. Gujarat			-										100.00	100.00
5. Haryana												84.78	15.22	100.00
6. Himachal Pradesh												100.00		100.00
7. Jammu & Kashmir		•	-									94.13	5.87	100.00
8. Kerala	•	•	•	•								100.00		100.00
9. Madhya Pradesh	•	•	•			÷	÷					26.20	73.80	100.00
10. Maharashtra		•	•									0.52	99.48	100.00
11. Mysore		·										100.00		100.00
12. Orissa	•	•	•	•	•	•	-					33,94	<b>66</b> ,06	100.00
13. Punjab	•	·	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	82.58	17.42	100.00
14. Rajasthan	•	•	•			•	•	•				76.18	23.82	100.00
15. Tamil Nadu		•	•	•	·	·	•	•	•	•	•	79.94	20.06	100.00
16. Uttar Pradesh	•	•	•	•	•	•	·			•	•	43.30	56.80	100.00
	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	17.24	82.76	100.00
17. West Bengal .	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	17.44	02.10	

Source: Based on information furnished by State Governments.

### APPENDIX IX

### TABLE NO. 4

# Arrears of interest outstanding from State Electricity Boards on loans from State Governments

					-				-								(Rs. crores)
State																	At the end of 1973-74
1																	2
1. Andhra Pradesh							···			 -						•	14.44
2. Assam	•	-	•		÷	÷									•		34.17
3. Bihar		•	•	•	•	•	•	•		÷						•	81.08*
	•		•	•	•	•	·	•	•	•							18.09
4. Gujarat	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	-		•			24.59
5. Haryana	٠	•	,	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•		4.19
6. Himachal Pradesh	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	•		•	•	·	•	•	•	•	6.46*
7. Jammu & Kashmir		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	25.26
8. Kerala	•	·		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	12.06
9. Madhya Pradesh	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	,	•	٠	•	•	•	•	9.00
10. Maharashtra	•	-	•	,	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	٠	·	32.66*
11. Mysore	•		·	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	·	
12. Orissa	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	·	·	•	•	4.15
13. Punjab			•	•			•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	-	49.30
14. Rajasthan											•	•		•	•	•	42.00
15. Tamil Nadu .															•		Nil
16. Uttar Pradesh															•		Nil
17. West Bengal			•	•	•			•			•	•		•	•		35.02*
Total											•				•		392.47

Source : Information furnished by State Governments.

\* Summary records of discussions on 1973-74 Annual Plans---Planning Commission.

#### TABLE NO. 5(a)

# State-wise figures of Capital Outlay on Major and Medium Irrigation Projects

(Rs. crores)

State							Progressive Capital Outlay upto 1971-72	Capital	Outlay	Total upto end of 1973-74	
State								Capital Outlay upto 1971-72	1972-73	1973-74	01 1975-74
(1)	<b></b>		<b></b>					(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
							<u></u>	336.38	20.17	20.50	377.05
1. Andhra Pradesh	•	·	·	•	•	-	•				
2. Assam	•	•	·	·	·	•	•		32,46	38.72	297.89
3. Bihar	•	•		•	•		•	226.71	35.13	25.32	264.46
4. Gujarat		•	•	•	•	•	·	204.01	29.71	11.73	124.52
5. Haryana	•	•	•	•		•	•	83.08			•••
6. Himachal Pradesh		•	·	•	٠	,			1 70	4.29	9.85
7. Jammu & Kashmir			•	•	•		•	2.28	3.28	0.44	54.00
8. Kerala			•	•	•	•	•	53.18	0.38	33.67	185.55
9. Madhya Pradesh						•		129.31	22.57		342,34
10. Maharashtra						•	•	256.73	40.01	45.60	
11. Manipur							•		••		••
12. Meghalaya					•		•	• •	• •		
13. Mysore							•	229.56	29.68	30.30	289.54
14. Nagaland								• •	••	••	
15. Orissa								158.97	16.52	21.66	197.15
16. Punjab								238.97	9.82	7,81	256.60
17. Rajasthan								220.02	29.15	23.08	272.25
17. Rajasthan	•							114.40	8.06	7,88	130.34
	•	•		_					• •		••
19. Tripura	•	•	•	•				383.63	53,74	43.79	481.16
20. Uttar Pradesh .	•	•	•	•	•	•		181.48	9.28	13,45	204.21
21. West Bengal	•	•	·	•	•	•	-		339,96	328,24	3486.91

Sources: (1) Upto 1971-72: State Accountants General except Uttar Pradesh and Jammu & Kashmir. For Uttar Pradesh, the information has been supplied by the State Government. For Jammu & Kashmir figures have been taken from the material furnished in reply to Subsidiary points.

(2) 1972-73 and 1973-74: Budget documents of the State Governments.

### 210

# APPENDIX IX

# TABLE No 5(b)

# State-wise information on Water Rates and Gross Value per hectare of Rice and Wheat

	Crops									Water rate per hectare (Rs.)	Yield per hectare (Kg.)	at par level (Rs. per quintal)	Value of	Percentage of column 2 to column 5
	1									2	3	4	5	6
	Andhra Prae													·
	Rice .	•								37.5	1428	<b>9</b> 8.44	1406	2.6
2.	Bihar													
	Rice .	·	·			•	•			37.5 22.5	926 940	59.63 87.02	553 818	7.0 2.7
	Wheat	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	22.3	940	67.02	010	2.1
3.	Gujarat										1250	101 10	1177	
	Rice . Wheat	•			•	•	•	•	•	45 to 62.5 45 to 62.5	1358 1529	101.39 92.69	1377 1417	3.2 to 4.5 3.1 to 4.4
	w neat	·	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	4010 02.0	1547	2.02	1417	5,1 (6 4.4
4.	Haryana									24.4	1 4 2 2	52.04	777	3.1
	Rice . Wheat		•			•	•	•	•	24.4 14.5	1433 1822	53.96 69.27	773 1262	3.1 1.1
	W HOAT	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•			••			
5.	Kerala									12 54- 35	1117	107.56	1556	0.8 to 1.6
	Rice .		•	•	•	•	•	•	·	12.5 to 25	1 + 4 7	107.30	1000	0.9101.0
6.	Madhya Pra	lesh											1000	• •
	Rice .									25	1167	93,39 81,59	1090 791	2.3 1.2 to 3.1
	Wheat	·	·	•	•	•	·	•	•	10 to 25	970	81.39	791	1,2 10 5.1
7.	Maharashtra Wheat									22.5	626	123.47	773	2.9
	W HOAL	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	•					
8.	Mysore									40	1474	74.09	1092	3,6
	Rice.	•	·	•	·	•	•	•	•	40	14/4	, U, U)	1072	5,6
9.	Orissa									2.5 to 20	1171	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.
	Rice .	·	•	•	•	·	•	4	•	2.5 10 20	1171	N.A.	13.71.	N.A.
10.	Punjab											<b>13</b> 0/	71 /	
	Rice .	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	·	24.4	1326 1953	53,96 69,27	716 1353	3.4 1.1
	Wheat	•	·	·	·	•	•	•	·	14.6	1955	09.27	1305	1.1
11.	Rajasthan											~~ ~	10.00	
	Wheat	•	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	13.1 to 25	1140	92.54	1055	1.2 to 2.3
12.	Tamil <b>Na</b> du													
	Rice .			•	•	•	•	·	•	40 to 50	1517	73.79	1120	3.5 to 4.4
13	Uttar Pradesl	1												
	Rice .							•	•	10 to 35	1483	52.69	781	1.2 to 4.4
	Wheat			•	•	•	•	•	•	10 to 30	1323	78.72	1041	0.9 to 2.8
14.	West Bengal Rice								. 1	3.4 to 31.25	1324	128.32	1699	0.8 to 1.08

Source: Report of the Irrigation Commission 1972 (Volume I).

N.A. - Not available.

### TABLE NO. 6

### Working Results of Road Transport Undertakings

State				Total invest- ment by State Govt. as on		stment as at the or in State Go for 1974-79		Return on total invest- ment at 6% for 1974-79	(Rs. crores) Amounts assumed in the reassessment
			31-3-74 as loan/capital Interest Dividend Total outlay/equity				101 1974-79	as interest and/or divi- dend for 1974-79	
1. Andhra Pradesh				9.91	3,55		3,55	2.97	3,55
2. Assam				6,60			• •	1.98	1.98
3. Bihar				9.13	2.47		2.47	2.74	2.74
4. Gujarat .				14.72		5.89	5.89	4.42	5.89
5. Harvana				11.98	10.26		10.26	3,59	10.26
6. Himachal Pradesh				3.59	1.10		1.10	80.1	1.10
7. Jammu & Kashmir				5,59		0.89	0.89	1.68	1.68
8. Kerala				10.93		5.16	5.16	3,28	5.16
9. Madhya Pradesh				9.32		4.82	4.82	2,80	4,82
10. Maharashtra				14.38	• •	3.50	3.50	4.31	4.31
11. Mysore	•		÷	12,73	4.00		4.00	3.82	4.00
12. Orissa	•	•	·	7,48	1.62	2,08	3.70	2,24	3.70
13. Punjab	•	•	•	17.74	6.04	3,22	9,26	5.32	9.26
14. Rajasthan	-	•	•	3.03		0.28	0.28	0.91	0.91
15. Tamil Nadu	•	•	•	16.37	7 72	0.40	7.72	4,91	7.72
16. Tripura	•	•	•	0.27		0.02	0.02	0.08	0.08
17. Uttar Pradesh	·	•	•	31.00	10.50	0.02	10,50	9.30	10.50
18. West Bengal		•	•	28.79	0.80	••	0.80	1.31*	1.31*

\*For North Bengal and Durgapur STCs only. Calcutta STC is expected to cover at least the working expenses.

### APPENDIX IX

TABLE NO. 7

Investments in other enterprises and dividends anticipated

			Investi	ments	in o	other	enterj	orises	and	dividei	nas a	nticipi	itea			(Rs. crores)
States															Investments at the end of 1973-74	Dividends as reassessed, 1974-79
1. Andhra Pradesh	•	•			•		•					•		•	69.00	6.90
2. Assam															20.86	2.10
3. Bihar															28.07	2.80
4. Gujarat .															56.79	11.16
5. Haryana .			•												34.00	3.40
6. Himachal Pradesh															6.00	0.60
7. Jammu & Kashmir								•							22.63	2.25
8. Kerala								-						-	56.00	5.60
9. Madhya Pradesh															58.40	5.80
10. Maharashtra															74.50	7.45
11. Manipur .																
12. Meghalaya																
13. Mysore															108.78	10.85
14. Nagaland .															3,20	0.50
15. Orissa .															47.38	4.75
16 Punjab															43,46	4,35
17. Rajasthan .		-													23.40	2.30
18. Tamil Nadu														•	70.00	7.00
19. Tripura .															NA	0.02
20. Uttar Pradesh															84.76	13.37
21. West Bengal	•				•	٠		•		•				•	25.00	2.50
Total															832.23	93.70

Note: Figures of investments at the end of 1973-74 are based on the data available in the Finance Accounts and State Budgets.

Reassessment has been made on the basis of a minimum return of 2% per annum or the forecast furnished by the State Governments, whichever is higher.

### TABLE NO. 1

Financial Implications of the Orders issued by State Governments after 1-1-1972 regarding revision of Pay Scales, Dearness Allowance, etc.

(Rs. crores)

implications	Financial									· · · · ·	•••• ···
1974-79	Annual	Date of effect	Date of orders	Nature of Expenditure					es	Stat	
6	5	4	3	2							
32.0	5.36	1-10-71	(i) 10-3-72/ 18-4-72/ 20-12-72	Grant of additional D.A.			•	sh	Prade	ndhra	1.
31.63	5.52	1-8-72	(ii) <u>31-3-73/</u> <u>18-4-73</u>								
63.64	10.88			Total:							
17.19	2.82	1-9-71	22-2-72	Grant of Interim Relief					•	ssam	2.
13.80	2.30	1-1-72	17-2-72	Grant of additional D.A.	(a)					ihar	3.
41.61	7.00	1-1-71	30-11-72	Recommendations of Pay Revision Committee.	(b)						
34.21	5.73	1-3-73	23-6-73	Grant of cost of living allowance	(c)						
58.28	10.00	1-1-71	9-2-73	Parity in Primary School Teachers' scales.	(d)						
27,00	2,50	1972-73	4-5-68	Improvement of pay scales of Secondary School Teachers.	(e)						
15.20	3.77	1-4-70 1973-74 1972-73	14-7-72 18-12-72 8-1-73	Revision of pay and allowances of teaching and non-teac ing staff in Colleges/Universities	<b>(</b> f)						
190.10	31.30			Total:							
23.41	3,50	1-1-72	(i) 7-2-72	Grant of additional D.A.	(-)						
15.62	2.50	1-10-72	(ii) 10-11-72	Grant of additional D.A.	(a)	٠	٠	•	•	lujarat	4.
16.1 <b>9</b>	2.60	1-5-73	(ii) 10-11-73								
51.61	8.25	1-5-73	NA	Grant of Interim Relief	<b>(</b> b)						
106.83	16.85			Total:							
27,46	4.97	1-4-72	(i) 27-6-72	Grant of Interim Relief							
7.58	1.37	1-12-72	(ii) 18-12-72	Gram of Internit Refer		٠	•	•	•	aryana	5.
35.04	6.34			Total:							
3.70	0.73	17-3-72	(i) 16-5-72	Grant of Interim Relief							
3.70	0.72	1-8-72	(ii) 31-10-72	Grant of Internit Relies		•	·	lesh	Prac	imachai	6.
7.40	1.45			Total:							
5,29	0.91	1-4-72	19-6-72	a constational D A							
10.20	1.80	1-11-72	Oct. '72	Grant of additional D.A. Grant of Interim Relief		•	•	nmir	Kast	mmu &	7.
23.49	4.16	1-7-72	7-4-73	Implementation of Pay Co- mmission's recommendations	(c)						
2,50	0.43	_	-	State's liability towards the employees of local bodies/ aided institutions.	(d)						
44 . 60		<del>_</del> _		anyy monymono							
41.39	7.30			Total:							

						TABLE NO. I (	contd.)				
				_				3	4	5	6
	1					2			1-1-72	3.02	18.40
8.	Kerala .		•	•	(a)	Grant of Interim Relief	· · ·	24-1-72 20-11-72	1-8-72	3,50	20.37
					(h)	Grant of additional D.A.	-	15-2-72 7-7-73	1-5-73	3.55	20,60
					(0)	Total:				10.07	59.37
								10.0.73	1-1-72	6.00	30.00
9.	Madhya Pradesh					Grant of Interim Relief		19-2-72	1-1-72	3,50	17.50
					(b)	Grant of D.A.		19-10-72	1-8-72	4.00	20,00
							(ii)	8-5-73	1-5-73	5.75	28.75
							(iii)	3-8-73	1-1-72	5.59	27.95
					(c) (d)	Revision of Pay Scales Increased D.A. to College Teachers on U.G.C. scales	ļ	10-12-72		0.51)	
					(a)	of pay Aid to non-Government educa-				}	10.05
	·				(0)	tional institutions, local bodies, etc.				1.50	
						Total:				26.85	134.25
								17 4 73	1-10-71	5.82	32.78
10.	Maharashtra				(a)	Grant of additional D.A.		17-4-72	1-8-72	13.40	75.46
10.					(b) (c)	Grant of additional D.A. State Government's liability		17-4-73	1-0-72	1.18	6.45
					(0)	for municipal employees.				20.40	114.69
						Total:				······································	2.24
	Martin				(a)	Grant of Interim Relief		5 <b>-</b> 7-73	1-1-73	0.37	0.26
11.	Manipur .	•	•	•	(b)	Provision of Aided Institutions		—		0.05	
						Total:			_	0.42	2.50
					NL	revisions in emoluments have					
12.	Meghalaya	•	•	·	tal	on place after 1-1-72		17 1 72	1-1-72	4,60	26.50
13.	Mysore .					Grant of additional D.A.	(i) (i)	17-1-72 1-8-72	1-7-72	2.40	14.00
	2						(ii)		1-11-72	3.00	17,50
							(iii)	9-11-72	1-4-73	5.34	29.00
							(iv)	22-6-73		15.34	87.00
						Total:					1.15
14.	Nagaland .					Grant of additional D.A.		17-8-72	1-4-72	0.23	
					(2)	Grant of Interim Relief	(i)	11-3-72	1-3-72	1.75 3.00	9.81 15.00
15.	Orissa .	•	·	•	(a	Glant of Internet Courts	<u>(ii)</u>	9-11-72 5-3-73	1-11-72 1-2-73	2.50	12.50
							(iii) (iv)	27-6-73	1-6-73	2.15	10.75
					(b	) Equalisation of pay scales					
					(0	of teachers of Government &	i	21 2 72	1-4-72	0.41	2.25
						Institutions.		21-2-73	1-4-72		50.31
						Total:			_	9.81	
						a tofadditional relief	6) 1	8/25-4-72	1-10-71	2.41	14.51 33.27
16.	Punjab .	•	•		(a	) Grant of additional relief	- 6iń 1	8/25-4-72 12-10-72	17-3-72 1-8-72	6.40 2.25	13.59
					(b	) State Government's liability	(11)	12-10-72		2.21	13.44
					ς-	for aided institutions.				13.27	74.81
						Total:				2.60	13.00
17	Rajasthan					Grant of ad hoc relief	[ (i)	12-3-72 2-3-72	1-10-71 1-2-72	1.80	9,00
17.	Rajastilati	·	•				(ii) (iii)		1-8-72	2.53	12.65 12.65
							(iv)	20-8-73	1-5-73	2.53	12.05
											47.30

					2	3	4	5	6
18	Tamil Nadu		•	. (a	) Grant of additional D.A.	7-4-72	1-4-72	6,00	33.17
				(b	) Grant of additional D.A.	9-3-73	1-4-73	6.00	33.17
				(c)	Revision of scales of pay	Separate orders have been issued for different departments	1-9-72	5.00	29.00
					Total:			17.00	95.34
19,	Tripura ,				Grant of Interim Relief	13-11-72	1-8-72	0.31	1.57
20.	Uttar Pradesh			. (a)	Grant of Interim Relief	(i) 18-1-72 (ii) 5-4-72 (iii) 29-9-72	L-10-71 J-3-72 1-8-72	9.94 15.26 8.28	
				(b)	Implementation of Pay Co-			0.20	351.64
				(c)	mmission's recommendations. Revision in rates of D.A.	6-3-73 6-3-73	1-8-72 1-8-72	21.20	
				(d)	Grant of additional D.A.	24-8-73	1-5-73	9.40	56.75
					Total:			65.69	408.39
21.	West Bengal	•		•	Grant of additional D.A.	11-2-72	1-10-71	5.00	25.00
					Total All States	:		270.79	1563.27

### TABLE NO. 1 (contd.)

# APPENDIX X

# TABLE NO. 2

Forecasts of State Governments

----

	States								Committed	Liability (Rs.	crores)	Number	of Employees	(000 Nos.)
									Annual	Fifth Plan as per State Govern- ment	Fifth Plan (adjusted)	State Go- vernment	Teachers and em- ployees of local bodies	Total (Col. 5+6)
~	1		-						2	3	4	5	6	7
	. Andhra Prades	h		•		•	•		10.88	63,64	57.75	383	182	
	, Assam ,		•	•					2.82	17,19	14.97	92	70	162
	. Bihar .								31.30	190.10	166.14	308	149	457
	Gujarat .								16.85	106.83	89.44	157	118	275
	Haryana .	•		•					6.34	35.04	33.65	126	NA	126
6.	Himachal Prade	esh		•					1.45	7.40	7.70	64	1	65
	Jammu & Kash	mir							7.30	41.39	38.75	130	NA	130
	Kerala .		•						10.07	59.37	53,45	230	125	355
	Madhya Prades	h			•			•	26.85	134.25	142.52	466	82	548
	Maharashtra	•	•	-		•	•		20.40	114.69	108.28	344	341	685
	Manipur .								0.42	2.50	2.23	23	4	27
	Meghalaya							•				15	NA	15
	Mysore							•	15.34	87.00	81,42	278	72	350
	Nagaland.		-	•				•	0.23	1.15	1.22	32	NA	32
	Orissa								9.81	50.31	52.07	185	96	281
16.	Punjab		•						13.27	74,81	70.43	173	3	176
	Rajasthan .		•						9.46	47.30	50.21	212	NA	212
	Tamil Nadu		•					-	17.00	95.34	90.24	283	275	558
19.	Tripura			•	•				0.31	1.57	1,65	26	NA	26
	Uttar Pradesh .				•	•			65.69	408.39	348.68	573	480	1053
21.	West Bengal .		•	•	•			•	5.00	25.00	26.54	283	359	642
	TOTAL .				,				270.79	1563,27	1437.34	4383	2357	6740

# TABLE NO:4

# Revision of allowances other than Pay/D.A. and Other Fringe benefits

(Rs. crores)

······································		Estimates of State	Governments	Provision al- lowed by the	
States	Nature of allowance	Annual	1974—79	lowed by the Commission 1974—79	
1	2	3	4	5	
1. Andhra Pradesh .	. House Rent Allowance	0.37	2,00	2.00	
2. Himachal Pradesh .	. (i) Distillery & Brewery Allowance to Excise Department staff posted at Panipet.	Ì			
	(ii) Grant of Compensatory Allowance and H.R.A. to the staff of Transport Depart-	} neg.	0.01		
	ment posted at Hoshiarpur.	J <u>k</u> 0.04	0,19		
	(iii) Enhancement of H.R.A. for employees stationed at Simla and its suburbs	0.04	0.17		
	TOTAL	0.04	0.20	0,20	
3. Jammu & Kashmir .	. Medical and other benefits recommended by Pay Commission	0.88	5.06	2.50	
4. Madhya Pradesh .	. Benefits recommended by State Pay Committee und Grants to Local Bodies				
	(i) City Compensatory Allowance	1.0 <b>1 )</b>			
	(ii) House Rent Allowance	1.08	10.55	7.0	
	(iii) Hill Allowance	0.02			
	(iv) Project Allowance	0.58	2.90		
	(v) Encashment of Leave	4.83	24.15	· .	
	(vi) Leave Travel Concession	3,50	17.50	8.7	
	(vii) Travelling Allowance	1.00	5.00	•	
	(viii) Death benefits	0.05	0,25	•	
	(ix) Retirement benefits	0.10	0.50		
	Total	12.17	60,85	15.7	
5. Maharashtra	. Grant of two advance increaments to loya Government servants.	1 2.41	19.50	) .	
6. Orissa · ·	. House Rent Allowance	6.32	31.60	9 4.2	
	GRAND TOTAL	22.19	119.21	1 24.7	

# 216

.

# TABLE No:5

# Details of estimates of expenditure on revision of pay and allowances as indicated by State Governments for which orders have not been issued

(Rs. crores)

States	Nature of Expenditure	Annual	Fifth Plan period	Remarks
1	2	3	4	5
1. Andhra Pradesh	Likely repercussion of Third Central Pay Commission Report	33.58	168.00	
2. Assam	. Revision of scales of pay on the basis of the report of the Pay Commission	3.82	22.15	State Govt, are stated to have accept- ed the report but orders have not yet been received
3. Gujarat .	. Contingent provision for Second Pay Commis- sion's recommendations.	15.56	90.38	
4. Haryana .	Token provision for Fifth Plan	1.00	5.00	
5. Kerala	. Provision for pay revision in Fifth Plan	15.00	75.00	
6. Mysore .	. Provision for D.A. parity with Central rates	3,30	17,50	
7. Nagaland	. Revision of pay scales	1.00	5.00	
8. Orissa	. Revision of pay scales of the employees of Government, local bodies and non-Government educational institutions.	8.53	42.65	
9. Rajasthan .	• Implementation of the recommendations of the Anomalies Committee.	0.05	0.25	
10. Tamil Nadu	. Provision for grant of D.A./revision of pay	11.93	65,95	
	scales of local body employees. Repercussion of Third Central Pay Commission	16.13	88.85	
	Total	28.06	154.80	
11. Tripura	. Provision for Pay Commission's recommenda- tions.	1.03	7.17	,
12. Uttar Pradesh	<ul> <li>Provision for revision of D.A. with effect from 1-8-73</li> </ul>	9.40	56.75	
	Provision for implementation of the recom- mendations of the Anomalies Committes.	37.92	240.20	
	Total	47.32	296.95	
13. West Bengal .	. Repercussions of Third Central Pay Commis- sion	50.00	260.00	
	Grand Total	208.25	1144.85	

### TABLE No:6

(In rupees)

\$

						Peons		C	Constable	s	Lower I	Division (	Clerks	Revenue	Insp	ectors
	State				Basic Pay	D.A./ I.R.	Total emolu- ments	Basic pay	D.A./ I.R.	Total emolu- ments	Basic pay	D.A./ l.R.	Total cmolu- ments	Basic pay	D.A./ I.R.	Total emolu- ments
1					2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
1.	Andhra	Prado	sh		62	77	139	70	77	147	90	104	194	90	104	194
2.	Assam	•	•	•	80	60	140	90	60	150	150	70	220	Does not	exist.	
3.	Bihar				70	79	149	95	79	174	135	106	241	160	120	280
4.	Gujarat				- 90	62	152	100	62	162	130	63	193	130	63	193
5.	Haryana		•		70	71	141	125	98	223	110	98	208	N./	4	
6.	Himachal	Prad	lesh		70	89	159	125	123	248	110	123	233	140	123	263
7.	Jammu &	Kasł	ımir		65	65	130	80	81	161	75	65	140	150	136	286
8.	Kerala		•		70	82	152	80	82	162	100	96	196	130	111	241
9.	Madhya F	Prade	sh		55	81	136	65	81	146	90	81	171	100	81	181
10.	Maharash	tra			75	81	156	90	86	176	115	113	228	115	113	228
11.	Manipur		•		80	60	140	90	60	150	150	70	ר 220			
12.	Meghalay	a			80	60	140	90	60	150	150	70	220∫	Does n	ot exist.	
13.	Mysore				65	85	150	80	71	151	90	85	175	90	85	175
14.	Nagaland				90	40	130	100	40	140	165	50	215	155	50	205
15.	Orissa	•			47	83	130	70	83	153	90	99	189	90	99	189
16.	Punjab				70	71	141	125	98	223	110	<b>9</b> 8	208	140	<b>9</b> 8	238
17.	Rajasthar	۱.			60	81	141	70	81	151	110	113	223	130	113	243
18.	Tamil Na	du			130	15	145	150	15	165	210	15	225	210	15	225
19.	Tripura -	•		•	65	71	136	80	71	151	150	122	272	175	122	297
20.	Uttar Prac	icsh			55	66	121	75	66	141	100	66	166	120	86	206
21.	West Beng	gal			135		135	160		160	230	• •	230	300		300

Note : Since information was not available for Manipur and Meghalaya scales of pay in force in Assam have been taken for these States.

Evoluments of certain selected categories of staff in different States at the minimum of their respective scales of pay as on 1-1-72

# TABLE No : 6 (contd.)

(In rupees)

Ctutu	Prin	nary Scho	ol Teach (Trained)		Head Cor	nstables		Upper Di	vision C	lerks	Naibs Tehsildar/Dy. Tehsildars			
State		Basic Pay	D.A./ I.R.	Total Emolu- ments	Basic Pay	D.A. I.R.	Total Emlou- ments	Basic pay	D.A. I.R.	Total Emolu- ments	Basic pay	D.A./ I.R.	Tota Emolu ments	
1		2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	
1. Andhra Pradesh	-	96	104	200	90	104	194	140	104	244	250	152	402	
2. Assam		125	70	195	125	70	195	300	80	380	Does not	t exist		
3. Bihar		115	106	221	110	106	216	200	120	320	Does not	t exist		
4. Gujarat		135	63	198	125	63	188	200	74	274	200	74	274	
5. Haryana		125	98	223	150	122	272	140	98	238	250	146	396	
6. Himachal Pradesh		125	123	248	150	147	297	160	147	307	225	176	401	
7. Jammu & Kashmir		80	81	161	110	112	222	100	85	185	150	136	286	
8. Kerala		95	96	191	100	<b>9</b> 6	196	140	111	251	220	163	383	
9. Madhya Pradesh		90	81	171	75	81	156	115	113	228	170	137	307	
10. Maharashtra		115	113	228	115	113	228	150	137	287	220	161	381	
11. Manipur		125	70	195	125	70	195	300	80	3807				
<sup>1</sup> 2. Meghalaya		125	70	195	125	70	195	300	80	380	Does no	ot exist		
13. Mysore		100	85	185	90	85	175	160	122	282	225	146	371	
14. Nagaland .		140	40	180	140	40	180	330	60	390	Does no	t exist		
15. Orissa		55	83	138	90	99	189	145	117	262	Does no	t exist		
16. Punjab		125	98	223	150	122	272	110	98	208	225	146	371	
17. Rajasthan .		110	113	223	90	81	171	150	137	287	180	137	317	
18. Tamil Nadu .		210	15	225	210	15	225	300	30	330	350	30	380	
19. Tripura		125	98	223	<b>1</b> 10	98	208	225	146	371	Doe s no	ot exist		
20. Uttar Pradesh .		80	66	146	98	66	164	120	86	206	160	. 103	263	
21. West Bengal		175		175	210		210	330	••	330	Does no	t exist		

### TABLE NO. 6 (concld.)

(In rupees)

	•							High Sch	nool Tea Trained)	chers )		Fehsildar	'S	Dep	outy Coll	etcors
State								Basic pay	D.A./ I.R.	Total emolu- ments	Basic pay	D.A./ I.R.	Total emolu- ments	Basic pay	D.A./ I.R.	Total emolu- ments
1								2.	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. Andhra Prade	sh				•	•		150	128	278	300	152	452	500	169	669
2. Assam .								200	80	280	300	80	380	Does no	ot <b>ex</b> ist	
3. Bihar								220	148	368	290	148	438	325	168	493
4. Gujarat								225	85	310	350	85	435	500	76	576
5. Haryana								220	146	366	350	146	496		—N.A	
6. Himachal Prac	lesh	_						220	176	396	350	176	526	400	190	590
7. Jammu & Kas								150	136	286	300	161	461	500	178	678
8. Kerala								140	111	251	310	163	473	400	177	577
9. Madhya Prade	esh							NA	NA	NA	250	161	411	300	161	461
10. Maharashtra								165	137	302	300	161	461	410	175	585
11. Manipur	·				-			200	80	280	300	80	ן 380			
	•	•	•	•				200	80	280	300	80	380	Does no	of exist	
12. Meghalaya	٠	•	•	•	•	·	-	175	122	297	300	146	446	400	160	560
13. Mysore	•	•	•	•	•	•	·	230	50	280	Does no	t exist		385	60	445
14. Nagaland	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	185	141	326	Does no	t exist		300	168	468
15. Orissa	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	220	146	366	350	146	496	350	146	496
16. Punjab	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	225	161	386	275	161	436	Does no	ot exist	
17. Rajasthan	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	300	30	330	425	30	455	575	30	605
18. Tamil Nadu	-	•	•	•	•	•	•	175	122	297	125	98	223	325	146	471
19. Tripura	-	•	·	•	•	•	•	150	103	253	225	121	346	350	121	471
20. Uttar Pradesh	٠	•	•	·	•	•	•	375		375	180		180	475		475
21. West Bengal	·	•	•	•	•	•	•	<u></u>	••			·····				

### TABLE NO. 7

4.

Number of State Government employees, Teachers and employees of local bodies.

(Numbers)

# 1. Andhra Pradesh

### A. State Government employees

Below Rs. 8	85,-				209,000
Rs. 85/- at	nd above	but	below	Rs. 210/-	135,000
Rs. 210/-		,,	,,	., Rs. 575/-	34,000
Rs. 575/-		,,	,•	Rs. 1250/-	5,000
Above Rs.					125
	Total			-	383,125
				-	

B. Teachers and			of	182.000
local bodies	•	•	·	162,000
				······································

#### 565,125 Total(A + B).

#### 2. Assam

A. State Government employees	
Below Rs. 100/-	38,198
Rs. 100/- and above but below Rs. 200/-	39,239
Rs. 200/- and above but below Rs. 500/-	12,674
Rs. 500/- and above but below Rs. 1000/-	1,443
Rs. 1000/- and above .	314
TOTAL	91,868
<b>B</b> . Teachers and employees of local bodies	70,000
TOTAL $(A + B)$ .	161,868

### 3. Bihar

A. State Government employees*	
Below Rs. 110/	176,00
Rs. 110/- and above but below Rs. 210/-	91 <b>,00</b> 0
Rs, 210/- ,, ,, ,, Rs. 400/-	30,000
Rs. 400/, ., ., Rs. 1000/-	10,000
Rs. 1000/- ,, ,, ,, Rs. 1501/-	1,000
Rs. 1501/- and above $,, \ldots$	
Total .	308,000
B. Teachers and employees of local bodies	149,359
TOTAL $(A + B)$	457,359

	(Numbers)
4. Gujarat	
A. State Government emloyees*	1.0.000
Below Rs. 101/	18,000
Rs. 101/- and above but below Rs. 201/-	90,000
Rs. 201/, ., Rs. 501/-	44,000
Rs. 501/- ,, ,, ,, Rs. 751/-	3,000
Rs. 751/- ,, ,, ,, Rs. 1501/-	2,000
Rs. 1501/- and above ,,	
Total .	157,000
B. Teachers and employees of	
local bodies	. 117,592
TOTAL $(A + B)$	274,592
5. Haryana	
State Government employees	
Below Rs. 100/	. 29,618
Rs. 100/- and above but below Rs. 210/-	74,032
Rs. 210/- ,, ,, ,, Rs. 500/-	20,790
Rs. 500/- ,, ,, ,, Rs. 750/-	1,186
Rs. 750/- ,, ,, ,, Rs. 1000/-	432
Rs. 1000/- and above	. 261
TOTAL	126,319
6. Himachal Pradesh	
A. State Government employees	
Upto Rs. 100/-	. 27,125
Rs. 101/- and above but below Rs. 201/-	30,061
P 2011	5,823
De 1001/-	581
Pe 1500/-	56
Above Rs. 1500/-	29
Above RS. 1900/-	
TOTAL · ·	63,676
B. Teachers and employees of	
local bodies	782
TOTAL $(A + B)$	64,458
7. Jammu and Kashmir	
State Government employees	
Below Rs. 300/	94,800
Rs. 300/- and above but below Rs. 700/-	27,800
8 1000	6,700
Rs. 700/- ,, ,, ,, Rs. 1000/- Above Rs. 1000/-	200
AUUVE KS. 1000/-	
TOTAL	129,500

# 222

# APPENDIX X

١

TABLE NO. 7 (contd.)

	14525	No. 7 (coi
	(Numbers)	
Kerala		11. M
A. State Government employees*		А.
Below Rs. 101/	. 191,929	
Rs. 101/- and above but below Rs. 201/-	30,454	
Rs. 201/- ,, ,, ,, Rs. 501/-	6,917	
Rs. 501/- ,, ,, ,, Rs. 751/-	978	
Rs.751/- and above	111	(£))
TOTAL	230,389	
P Taalan and I a		
B. Teachers and employees of local bodies	124,715	
TOTAL $(A + B)$	355,104	В.
Madhya Pradesh		
A. Sate Government employees		12
Below Rs. 110/	198,400	12. Me
Rs. 110/- and aobve but below Rs, 210/-	210,765	
Rs. 210 ,, ,, ,, Rs. 500/-	42,800	
Rs. 500/- ,, ,, ,, Rs. 1000/-	13,700	
Rs. 1000/- , ,, ,, ,, upto Rs. 1250/-		
Total	465,965	1 M
B. Teachers and employees of		A. Stat
local bodies	82,000	
TOTAL (A + B)		
	547,965	
Maharashtra		
A. State Government employees		
Below Rs. 100/-	82,600	
Rs. 100/- and above but below Rs. 200/-		B. 7
Rs. 200/- and above but	210,200	"
below Rs, $500/-$ Rs, $500/-$ and above but	46,600	
below Rs. 1,000/- Rs. 1000/- and above but	3,200	14. Nag
below Rs. 1,500/-	700	
Above Rs. 1500/-	300	1
Total	343,600	]
B. Teachers and employees of		1
iocal bodies	340,885	A
Total (A + B)		

			(Numbers)
11. N	Ianipur		
А.	State Government employees Below Rs. 100/-		7,000
	Rs. 100/- and above but below Rs. 200/-		12,135
50	Rs. 200/- and above but below Rs. 500/-		3,920
	Rs. 500/- and above but below Rs. 750/-		318
	Rs. 750/- and above but below Rs. 1,000/-		112
	Above Rs. 1,000/	• •	43
	Total		23,528
B.	Teachers and employees of Iocal bodies		3,600
	Total (A+B)		27,128
12. M	eghalaya	-	- <u></u>
	State Government employees		
	Between Rs. 80/- and Rs. 199/-		10,000
	Between Rs. 200/- and Rs. 499/-		4,000
	Above Rs. 500/-	••	500
	,		
	Total	••	14,500
1 1	Mysore		
<b>1</b> . Sta	te Government employees		
	Below Rs. 85/-		67 200
	Rs. 85 and above but below Rs. 210/-		67,200 157.000
	Rs, 210/- and above but below Rs. 500/-		44,800
	Rs. 500/-and above but below Rs. 1250/-	• .	9,000
	Total	-	278,00
<b>B</b> . 1	Teachers and employees of local bodies		72,000
	Total (A+B)	. –	350,000
I. Nas	aland		
	State Government employees		
	Below Rs. 150/-		17,000
	Rs. 150/- and above but below Rs. 300/-		11,000
	Rs. 300/- and above but below Rs. 500/-		2,500
	Rs. 500/- and above but below Rs. 1,000/		1.000
	Above Rs. 1.000/	••	1,000 106
	Total		31,606

ć

....

'n

4

ي:

4

-----

- -----

### 223

# APPENDIX X

### TABLE No. 7 (contd.)

19.

20.

21.

.....

			(Numbers)
15, Ori			
	State Government employ	Vees	
X.	Below Rs. 85/-		. 87,255
	$R_{S} = 85/-$ and above	but	72,431
	below Rs. 210/- Rs. 210/- and above	but	21,692
	below Rs. 500/- Rs. 500/- and above	but	
	bolow Rs. 1,000/- Rs. 1,000/- and above	but	2,868
	below Rs. 1.250/-	•	311
	Above Rs. 1,250/-		184,747
	Total	at	
В.	Teachers and employees local bodies		95,965
	Total (A + B)	•	. 280,712
6. <b>Pu</b> n	jab		
	state Government emplo	yees	
	Below Rs. 85:-		31,003
	Rs. 85/ and above below Rs. 210/-	but	105,488
	Rs. 210/- and above below Rs. 500/-	but	33,493
	pe 500 and above	but	2,534
	below Rs. 1,250/		
	Total	•	. 172,813
8.	Teachers and employee.	s of	3,200
	local bodies		
	Total (A+B)	•	
7. Raj			
	State Government emplo	yees	50,000
	Below Rs. 85/	but .	116,000
	below Rs. 210/ Rs. 210/- and above	but	
	below Rs. 500/-	but	40,000
	Rs. 500/- and above below Rs. 575/-		3,000
	Rs. 575/- and above below Rs. 1,250/-	but	3,000 500
	Above Rs. 1,250/-	•	
	Total	•	. 212,500
8. Tan	nil Nadu		
А.	State Government emplo	Jees	386,000
	Below Rs. 201/ Rs. 201/- and above	but	86,000
	below Rs. 376/- Rs. 376/- and above	but	21,000
	below Rs. 751/- Rs. 751/- and above	but	
	below Rs. 1,000/		7,000
	Total .		. 500,000@
в.	Employees of local bo	dies .	58,000
	Excluding teachers	•	558,000

19. Tr	ipura	
Sta	ite Government employees	
	Below Rs. 100/-	9,170
	Rs. 100/- and above but below Rs. 201/-	13,363
	Ks. 201/- and above but below Rs. 501/-	3,457
	Rs. 501/- and above but below Rs. 751/-	131
	Rs. 751/- and above but below Rs. 1,500/-	73
	Above Rs. 1,500/-	8
	Total	26,262
10. Ut	tar Pradesh	
Α.	State Government employces	
	Below Rs. 85/-	
	Rs. 85/- and above but below Rs. 210/-	234,534
	Rs. 210/- and above but below Rs. 576/-	27,369
	Rs. 576/- and above but below Rs. 1,250/	3,575 4 <b>5</b> 2
	Above Rs. 1250/-	
	Total	572,936
В.	Teachers and employees of local bodies	479,535
	Total (A +B)	1,052,471
21. W	est Bengai**	
A.	State Government employces	
	Below Rs. 101/-	131,60 <b>U</b>
	Rs. 101/- and above but below Rs. 201/-	114,000
	Rs. 201/- and above but below Rs. 251/-	13,000
	Rs. 251/- and above but below Rs. 501/-	20,660
	Rs. 501/- and above but below Rs. 701/-	3,000
	Rs. 701/- and above but $I_{1} = 1.001/$	1,000
	below Rs. 1,001/-	1,000
	Above Rs. 1,001/	
	Total .	283,000
В.	Teac <sup>t</sup> ers and employees of local bodies	359,000
		642,000

(Numbers)

\* In the case of Bihar, Gujarat and Kerala distribution by pay ranges of the total number of employees indicated by the State Governments has been effected on the basis of data com-piled by Directorate General of Employment and Training as State Governments did not furnish information by Jay ranges.

\*\*In the case of West Bengal distribution by ray ranges has been adopted on the basis of the figures indicated by the State Government (as on 31-3-1969) in reply to subsidiary points.

### TABLE NO. 1

١

ż

\_\_\_\_\_

#### Area under irrigation from Government source and requirement of funds for maintenance.

	States						-	- <b></b>		- quirement on the - basis of			
								Canals	Tanks	Wells	Other sources	Total	Rs. 10 per acre (Rs. crores)
-	1							2	3	4	5	6	7
1.	Andhra Pradesh		•		•		•	4,863	4,789	1,240	316	11,208	11.21
2.	Assam .			•				507				507	0.51
3.	Bihar				•	••		3,449	467	732	NA	<b>4</b> ,648	4.65
4.	Gujarat				-			701	95	136	<del>.                                    </del>	932	0.93
5.	Haryana				•			3,091(b)	*	324	55	3,470	3.47
6.	Himachal Pradesh							_	_	1	47	48	0.05
7.	Jammu & Kashmir							367	6	10	12	395	0.39
8.	Kerala					•		300	*	*	455	755	0.75
9.	Madhya Pradesh	•						2,632	<u> </u>			2,632	2,63
10.	Maharashtra							700	562	NA	NA	1,262	1.26
11.	Manipur .							30	`			30	0.03
12.	Meghalaya .	•				•		4	—		1	5	Neg.
13.	Mysore							1,098	956		242	2,296	2.30
14.	Nagaland .							-					
15.	Orissa	•				•		1,741	694	_	40	2,475	2.48
16.	Punjab	•				•		6,010		120	_	6,130	6.13
17.	Rajasthan .				•			2,319	600	Neg.	Neg.	2,919	2.92
18.	Tripura				•			NA	NA	NA	245	245	0.25
9.	Tamil Nadu			•				2,302	2,290	2,030	88	6,710	6.71
20.	Uttar Pradesh .	•	•		•			9,000	æ	2,500	-	11,500	11.50
21.	West Bengal	·			•	•	•	1,365	835	NA	NA	2,200	2.20
	Total							40,479	11,294	7,093	1,501	60,367	60.37

(b) This is for 1971-72 end: 1973-74 end figures are not available.

\*Included under other sources.

@Included under canals.

Source: Information received from State Govts. However, Governments of Maharashtra and West Bengal did not furnish information and Government of Bihar furnished figure relating to canals only. In the case of these States, figures are based on information received from the Ministry of Food and Agriculture.

### TABLE NO. 1

# Area under irrigation from Government source and requirement of funds for maintenance.

States								(000 acres)							
								Canals	Tanks	Wells	Other sources	Total	- basis of Rs. 10 per acre (Rs. crores)		
· ·								2	3		5		·· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
					••••••						· · · · ·				
1. Andhra Pra	lesh							4,863	4,789	1,240	316	11.208	11.21		
2. Assam .					-		•	507		•—	har	507	0.51		
3. Bihar .								3,449	467	732	NΛ	4,648	4.65		
4. Gujarat .		٠	•			•		701	95	136	—	932	0.93		
5. Haryana .								3,091(b)	*	324	55	3,470	3.47		
6. Himachal Pi	adesh					•	•	<b>R</b>		1	47	48	0.05		
7. Jammu & Ka	ishmir							367	6	10	12	395	0.39		
8. Kerala .		٠				•		300	*	×	455	755	0.75		
9. Madhya Prac	lcsh	•						2,632		•		2,632	2.63		
10. Maharashtra		•			•	•		700	562	NA	NA	1,262	1.26		
11. Manipur .						•		30	`			30	0,03		
<ol> <li>Meghalaya</li> </ol>	•							4			1	5	Neg.		
13. Mysore .	•	•		•		•		1,098	956	—	242	2,296	2.30		
14. Nagaland	•	-		•		•					·		_		
5. Orissa .		·		•		·	•	1,741	694		40	2,475	2.48		
6. Punjab .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	6,010		120		6,130	6.13		
7. Rajasthan		•	•	•	•		•	2,319	600	Neg.	Neg.	2,919	2.92		
8. Tripura .	•	•	-	•	•	•	•	NA	NA	NA	245	245	0.25		
9. Tamil Nadu	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	2,302	2,290	2,030	88	6,710	6.71		
0. Uttar Pradesi	۱.	•	•		•	•	•	9,000	a	2,500		11,500	11.50		
1. West Bengal		•	•	·	•		•	1,365	835	NA	NA	2,200	2.20		
Total .								40,479	11,294	7,093	1,501	60,367	60.37		

(b) This is for 1971-72 end: 1973-74 end figures are not available.

\*Included under other sources.

@Included under canals.

Source: Information received from State Govts. However, Governments of Maharashtra and West Bengal did not furnish information and Government of Bihar furnished figure relating to canals only. In the case of these States, figures are based on information received from the Ministry of Food and Agriculture.

### TABLE NOT 3

### Capital outlay on buildings and their cost of maintenance on the basis of C.P.W.D. norms.

											(Rs. crores)
·····						A	Capital Co	ost of building	gs constructed		Maintenance
States							upto 31-3-48	from 1-4-48 to 31-3-62	from 1-4-62 to 31-4-74	Total n	Provision on the basis of of CPWD orms (Annual)
I							2	3	4	5	6
and the second							10.01		18.85		
1. Andhra Pradesh .		•	•		•						1.55
2. Assam	•		•	•	•	·	1.38	5.93	6.33	13,64	0.47
3. Bihar	•	•	•	•	•	·	71.13	98,77	40.01	209.91	5.59
4. Gujarat	•	•	•	·	-	•	25.00	18.00	38.00	81.00	2.45
5. Haryana		•	•	•	•		0.40	12.95	36.33	49.68	1.3]
6. Himachal Pradesh		•	•	•	•	•	6.00	6.08	13.42	25,50	0.76
7. Jammu & Kashmir			•		•	•	3.78	8.04	25,84	37.66	0.77
8. Kerala		•	•	•		•	16.81	26,23	26.28	69.32	1.93
9. Madhya Pradesh			•	·	•	•	26.36	38.69	33.46	98.51	3.24
10. Maharashtra				•	-	•	22.64	22.25	44.54	89.43	2.98
11. Manipur		•	•		•		NA	NA	1.02	1.02	NA
12. Meghalaya .			·	•	•		NA	NA	NA	NΛ	NA
13. Mysore	-		•		•	•	14.88	12.89	45.18	72.95	2.18
14. Nagaland				·		•	NA	10.30	31.00	41.30	1.07
15. Orissa.				•			3.09	20.37	52,86	76.32	2.12
16. Punjab					•		3,69	20.58	78.34	102.61	3.28
17. Rajasthan			•					14.82	27.30	65. <b>0</b> 0	2.26
18. Tamil Nadu							10.19	24.58	33.04	67.81	1.81
19. Tripura	•						NA	NA	14.16	14.16	0.41
20. Uttar Pradesh	•			•			100.85	49.61	66.13	216.59 +54.15**	8,16
										270.74	-
21. West Bengal					:		15.63	25.90	31.31	72.84	1.92
Total:							354.72	443,33	663.40	1515.60	44,26

Source: State Governments.

\*\* State Governments have added 25% on aggregate capital outlay for buildings of department details for which are not available.

The formulation of principles governing grants-inaid of the revenues of the States in need of such assistance is one of the obligatory functions cast on the Finance Commission under the Constitution. In assessing the needs of the States in pursuance of this Constitutional directive, the Finance Commissions have moved away from the cencept of budgetary needs, as emerging from the forecasts of revenue and expenditure admitted by State Governments, to consideration of fiscal needs in a comprehensive sense. But the determination of grants has been made on the basis of the levels of administrative and social services as already attained in different States. 1n consequence the accent has been on maintenance and consolidation, rather than on improvement and expansion of the variegated services, that a State Government is called upon to provide in an era of rising expectations. In particular, no attempt appears to have been made so far to quantify the requirements in financial terms of the backward States from the standpoint of progressive equalisation of standards of essential administrative and social services within definite time horizon. It seems reasonable to us a. of funds the States that provision to that serare backward in administrative and social vices, falls within the purview of the Finance Com-Para 4(b)(v) of our terms of reference mission. appears to confirm this view.

2. It is hardly possible for the Finance Commission within the time allowed to it, either to examine in depth the soundness and adequacy of the administrative set up in the various States or to formulate specific proposals for its improvement. Among the numerous factors which impinge on the efficiency of the administrative system, there are many that cannot be reduced to financial terms in any meaningful sense. Principles and procedures of recruitment, training and deployment of administrative and technical personnel of different categories, clear definition and enforcement of the responsibilities of functionaries at different levels and above all the general political and social milicu in which the administrative machinery has to operate, determine the efficacy of the administrative system. However, the constraint of resources is admittedly one of the important factors impeding the achievement of certain minimum standards of administrative and social services in some The removal of this constraint comes of the States. within the purview of this Commission. It would nevertheless be recognised that the provision of resources is only the first important step in the process of progressive elimination of disparities in standards of administrative and social services. If the provision of additional resources is to fructify in terms of more efficient and adequate service to the community at large, this will have to be followed up by energetic and purposeful action on a wide front at both political and administrative levels in the backward States.

3. We have carefully examined the implications of the term "General Administration" occur ing in this part of our terms of reference. On a narrow interpretation, the term "General Administration" could be deemed to cover only those services, prevision for which is normally made under the budger head "19-General Administration". This would mean that the problem of upgradation of standards in backward States might be considered as limited to allocation of additional funds for expenditure on such agencies as Secretariat and Attached Offices, Board of Revenue, Treasuries and general administrative establishments at district, divisional and tehsil levels. We hold that such an interpretation would be unduly restrictive and out of tune with the enlightened approach to the problem of inter-State disparities that has inspired this part of our terms of reference. - In our view, the expression 'General Administration' occurring in our terms of reference should be taken in its broad sense as comprehending all the instrumentalities of Governments concerned with general administration, maintenance of law and order, administration of justice and other vital functions of Governments purtaining to the health and welfare of the c tizens.

4. We have taken the view that the Finance Commission is concerned primarily with expenditure on revenue account. But this can be considered by some as restrictive. Article 112(2) of the Constitution relating to Central Budget and Article 202(2) of the Constitution relating to the State Budget do specifically require that expenditure on revenue account should be distinguished from other expenditure. Article 275 of the Constitution also refers only to 'revenues' of the States. It, therefore, seems to us that while we can deal with all the requirements of the States for upgradation of standards of administration including social services, we should concern ourselves only with expenditure on revenue account and not on capital and loan accounts. For purposes of raising of administrative standards, we have therefore left out of account expenditure in States on schemes such as roads and drinking water supply, which is generally booked under capital account.

5. We examined carefully the criteria with reference to which the backwardness of States in standards of administration could be assessed with a measure of accuracy and the assistance provided to them for reduction of the disparities. In an attempt to assess the extent of leeway to be made up by the backward States in physical terms, we addressed a questionnaire to all the State Governments as in Appendix III. Many of the subsidiary points on which we obtained information also gave some indication of the levels of physical achievements in several spheres of administration and social services. On an analysis of the information obtained, we found that except in certain sectors such as elementary education or medical and public health, where the enrolment ratios or the hospital bed-population ratios might give some indication of the relative progress made by different States, the information available about many heads of administrative and social services did not provide a workable basis for taking a view on physical requirements of backward States. To illustrate, we thought that the span of control in terms of area and population of different functionaries at district, subdivisional and taluk levels could provide a reasonably satisfactory yardstick for assessment of the standards of general administration in different States. But analysis of the information obtained from the States showed that it would be misleading to apply this yardstick. Thus, for example, the average size of a district in terms of population was found to be high both in Bihar, which is admittedly one of our backward States, and Tamil Nadu which is recognised to be an advanced State. This should suffice to show that the size of a district by itself cannot be taken to be an indicator of the adequacy or otherwise of th. administrative machinery of different States. Similarly in the case of Police, available information on the strength of police force and the facilities available to police personnel was not such as to permit any definite conclusions about the adequacy or efficiency of the police force in different States Even in sectors such as education or medical and public health where the enrolment ratios or the ratio between population and hospital beds gives some indication of the requirements of the States on a comparable basis, we found it difficult to translate the requirements in financial terms in view of wide differences in scales of pay and variations in patterns of assistance to institutions run by local bodies and other aided agencies. On consideration of these and other relevant factors, we were led to the view that per capita expenditure on administrative and social services in different States, with all its imperfections, would be a convenient yardstick for estimation of the requirements of the backward States in broad terms. Having therefore first projected the requirements of all the States --advanced and backward—on the basis of existing standards of administrative and social services with reference to the rates of growth indicated elsewhere in the report, we worked out the per capita expenditure on certain essential services at the levels likely to be reached in 1978-79 and struck an all-States average of such expenditure. The next step was to identify the States whose expenditure was below the all-States average under different heads and work out the provisions needed to bring them up to the all-States average by 1978-79.

6. In order that this concept of upgradation in terms of per capita expenditure may yield satisfactory results, it was found necessary to exclude certain typical States like Jammu & Kashmir, Himachal Pradesh, Manipur, Meghalaya, Nagaland and Tripura. If the figures of expenditure of these States are taken into account for purposes of working out the all States average, the results would be vitiated. In working out the average of all States for purposes of provision of additional funds to backward States, we have, therefore, left out these States. The requirements of these exceptional States for raising the standards of administration have, however, been worked out separately on their merits with due regard to their special circumstances.

7. The primary object of upgrading administrative standards in backward States is to enable the State Governments concerned to respond to the needs of the people more effectively. This consideration is not relevant in regard to tax collection charges. Provision for tax collection charges will have to be made in relation to receipts from the various sources of revenue or on the basis of certain reasonable rates of growth on existing levels of expenditure.

8. The question of mitigating disparities in standards of administration as between advanced and backward States is not relevant in respect of items such as Interest Payments(16)\*, Appropriation for Reduction or Avoidance of Debt(17), State Legislatures(18), Famine Relief(64), and Pensions and Retirement Benefits(65). Provisions under these heads will have to be worked out with reference to the actual requirements of the States. As regards developmental heads, it may not be relevant to consider Industries (35), Multi-purpose Projects (42), Expendi-ture on Irrigation Schemes (43 and 44), Road Transport(57), Electricity(45) and Forests(70) from the point of view of elevation of standards, because the expenditure under these revenue heads relates mostly to the maintenance of irrigation schemes, road transport undertakings, and depart-mental units already in existence. If a State lags behind in these sectors, the deficiency can be made good only through appropriate programmes undertaken as part of the Plan and not through allocation of funds on revenue account under our scheme of devolution. Moreover, it should be remembered that such outlays will be mostly on capital account. We have, however, dealt separately with provision for adequate maintenance of existing assets such as irrigation works and roads and have provided funds on the basis of certain norms. Adequate resources have been provided under our scheme for maintenance of buildings, irrigation and flood protection works, roads, supply of medicines and diet in hospitals and dispensaries for all the States. The backward States which, for paucity of resources or other reasons, have so far been unable to provide adequate funds for maintenance of capital works, would be the principal beneficiaries of the new procedure followed by ' us for determination of funds for maintenance. The expenditure on Forests(70) has also to be excluded depending as it does on the extent under forests and also perhaps on the revenue derived therefrom. Likewise, we have felt that expenditure on Agriculture,

\*Figures in breakets relate to heads of account as in the Account for 1973-74

Animal Husbandry, Rural Development and Co-operation (31, 32, 33 and 34) should be kept out of the present exercise aimed at upgradation - of standards in backward States because the expenditure under these heads depends upon factors varying from State to State. Thus, for example, in some of the States, there may not be any scope for development of fisheries. Likewise, in a State where Cooperation has made very little headway, there will be no point in providing additional funds to match the levels of expenditure on staff attained by another State where co-operative movement has registered considerable progress. The expenditure on Agriculture in per capita terms may vary with reference to the potential for agricultural production in different States. provision of funds for improvement of the capacity of the backward States to exploit their full potential in these sectors can be made only within the framework of a Plan. As regards expenditure under "37-Community Development Projects, National Extension Service", the staffing pattern is already uniform. The level of expenditure on "Labour and Employment" (38) is negligible and has no relation to the incidence of This head records expenditure on unemployment. employment exchanges, maintenance of craftsmen training centres, etc. The allocation of additional funds under this head would, therefore, seem to have no significance from the standpoint of upgradation of administrative standards. As regards the head "26-Miscellaneous", Fire Services would seem to be the only service in respect of which it may be necessary to provide additional funds to the States that lag behind. Here again, the strength and standards of fire services needed would vary from State to State depending upon the extent of urbanisation and indus-We have, however, in the course of trialisation. scrutiny of forecasts of the States, identified the States where expenditure on Fire Services is significantly lower and provided a little extra help to the weaker States to come up to the standards of the rest. The expenditure under "39-Miscellaneous Social and Developmental Organisations" relates to variegated developmental services which are not uniform in different The principal services expenditure on which States. is booked under this head are (i) Statistics, (ii) Social Welfare, (iii) Town and Country Planning, (iv) Tourist Organisation, (v) Welfare of Scheduled Castes/Tribes and Backward Classes and (vi) preservation and translation of ancient manuscrpits. It does not seem feasible to make a Statewise comparison of the aggregate expenditure on these services. However, attention needs to be focussed only on welfare of Scheduled Castes/Tribes and Backward Our developmental programmes are being Classes. increasingly reoriented towards promotion of social In this context, the provision of additional justice. funds for Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and Backward Classes acquires special importance. Expenditure on other services under this head is either negligible or does not lend itself to equali-There is no uniformity of classification of sation. expenditure falling under Miscellaneous(71) and Miscellaneous Compensations and Assignments(76). The expenditure under Miscellaneous(71) covers a variety of purposes. The varying levels of expenditure under this head also reflects in a measure certain policies relatable to special difficulties confronted with by the States. Thus, for example, expenditure on food subsidy in Jammu & Kashmir figures under this

head. In some other States, payment of subsidies to electricity boards for rural electrification and other purposes is booked under this head. It will, therefore, be wholly inappropriate to seek uniformity in terms of expenditure among States under this head. We have, therefore, analysed the provisions indicated by the States under the head '71' on their own merits. The head "Miscellancous Compensations and Assignments" accommodates, among other things, grants and assignments of revenue to local bodies. Some of these grants are on a matching basis and, therefore, depend upon the resources raised by the local bodies themselves. Some taxes are levied and collected by the State Government on behalf of the local bodies and the consequential transfer of the proceeds of such taxes figures under this head. There is a wide range of variations in the organisational set up of the local bodies and the extent of delegation of powers to It will, therefore, be a futile and misleading them. exercise to seek to ensure uniformity between States in terms of provisions under this head. It may also be relevant to add here that the bulk of the grants to local bodies is under education, medical and public health and maintenance of roads. The wide disparities in grants-in-aid to local bodies for these purposes will be rectified in large measure under our other proposals.

9. The upshot of the foregoing discussion is that from the point of view of improvement of standards of administration in backward States, attention needs to be focussed only on the following heads of expenditure, both developmental and non-developmental:

- (i) "9-Land Revenue"
- (ii) "19-General Administration"
- (iii) "21-Administration of Justice"
- (iv) "22-Jails"
- (v) "23-Police"
- (vi) "28-Education"
- (vii) "29-Medical"
- (viii) "30-Public Health"
- (ix) "39-Miscellaneous Social and Developmental Organisations; Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and other Backward Classes."

10. General Administration is undoubtedly a sector in respect of which it is essential to analyse the levels of expenditure in different States with a view to ensuring a more liberal treatment to the backward States and enabling them to catch up with the rest. For this purpose, we thought it desirable to take a composite view of expenditure on revenue establishments under "9-Land Revenue" and "19-General Administration" as the two heads taken together provide a better indication of adequacy or otherwise of the general administrative set up of the States. Expenditure on stationery and printing serves the needs of all departments. It will be appropriate to club the expenditure under this comparatively minor head also with that of general administration for assessment of the additional requirements of backward States. In terms of per capita expenditure, eight States will be below the all-States average. These are Assam, Bihar, Gujarat, Kerala, Madhya Pradesh, Mysore, Uttar Pradesh and West Bengal. The standards of general administration in Gujarat are generally considered to be among the best in the country. Its level of expenditure is low perhaps because Gujarat has devolved responsibilities on local bodies at district, block and village levels to a significant extent. There may not, therefore, be any need to mark up the expenditure on general administration in the case of Gujarat; nor will such mark up have any significance as Gujarat does not qualify for a grant under Article 275 in view of its substantial revenue surplus.

11. An efficient police administration is an essential pre-requisite for effective maintenance of law and order and the creation of necessary conditions in which economic development can take place without serious set-backs. It is this consideration that led the Commission to devote considerable time to analysis of the requirements of the States for strengthening and modernisation of police force in the course of the discussions with the States. However, apart from Jammu have to be dealt & Kashmir, whose requirements with separately, only the following States have indicated specific provisions for reorganisation and modernisation of police force: (i) Andhra Pradesh-Rs. 24.7 crores; (ii) Madhya Pradesh-Rs. 69.2 crores (including Rs. 20.50 crores for police housing which should be accommodated on capital account); (iii) Orissa-Rs. 2 crores; and (iv) Uttar Pradesh-Rs 30.2 crores. It will obviously not be fair or proper to provide funds for modernisation of police force only in certain States leaving out the rest. Also the request for modernisation has to be assessed carefully with reference to the special problems facing each State, the general law and order position, proximity to border areas, extent of urbanisation and industrialisation. The availability of equipment on the scale entailed by the various proposals for modernisation formulated by States would also have to be carefully checked. We have, therefore, felt that modernisation should be left to be tackled as at present through a special programme administered by the Ministry of Home Affairs but with substantially larger financial allocation. The scheme is now being financed on the basis of 25 per cent grant and 75 per cent loan. We suggest that the present pattern should be liberalised and the grant component raised to 50 per cent.

12. Judged in terms of per capita expenditure, expenditure on Police in nine States, namely, Andhra Pradesh, Bihar, Haryana, Kerala, Madhya Pradesh, Mysore, Orissa, Tamil Nadu and Uttar Pradesh, is lower than the all-States average. Of these nine States, no special assistance to Tamil Nadu and Haryana may be necessary because the gaps to be covered in their case are small and the strength and effectiveness of the police force should be deemed adequate with reference to coverage of police stations and facilities available to them.

13. The expenditure under administration of justice is not significant in any State. The all-States average of per capita expenditure in 1978-79 reassessed by us would be Rs. 1.01. With reference to this average, eight States, namely, Andhra Pradesh, Assam, Bihar, Haryana, Madhya Pradesh, Orissa, Rajasthan and Uttar Pradesh, would need special assistance. In the case of Haryana, which does not qualify for a grant under Article 275, the mark up will be of only notional significance. The expenditure on jails is not very substantial in any State. Further, comparison among States is vitiated by the fact that in most States jails undertake commercial activities which have the effect of inflating both the receipts and expenditure. Any comparison of the per capita expenditure should, therefore, be made only with reference to the net expenditure after setting off the receipts. On this basis, all-States average for 1978-79 would be 65 Paise. With reference to this, nine States including Maharashtra and Gujarat, whose general level of expenditure is otherwise satisfactory, were below the all-States average, whereas in the case of Bihar, which is recognised as one of the most backward States, the per capita expenditure exceeded the all-States average.

14. Education is by far the most important social service in respect of which the need for bridging the differentials in standards among different States appears to be imperative. It would, however, not be appropriate to assess the requirements of the States with reference to the aggregate levels of expenditure on Education. The general complaint against the States has been that they have tended to spend relatively more on university education to the detriment of primary education. This charge would seem to be partially correct, when we compare State-wise figures of per capita expenditure on education as a whole and State-wise per capita figures on primary education. States like Punjab, Haryana, Rajasthan and West Bengal are above the all-States average in terms of aggregate expenditure on education while they are below the average in terms of expenditure on pri-mary education. The concept of equalisation can be validly applied only to primary education. In this sector, all States except Assam, Kerala, Gujarat, Tamil Nadu, Mysore and Maharashtra are below the average and additional funds need to be provided to raise the level of expenditure on primary education in the remaining States to all-States average. In the case of Punjab and Haryana, which do not qualify for grant under Article 275, the mark up of the provision under primary education would only mean that they would have to earmark a portion of the revenue surplus accruing to them for the purpose.

15. In regard to Medical and Public Health, we have indicated elsewhere the norms evolved by us for supply of medicine and hospital necessaries. The provision of funds to States on the basis of such norms would result in a significant upgradation of the quality of medical and public health services in the backward States. But, apart from medicines, the strength of medical and para medical staff has also an important bearing on the level of medical and public health care attained in a particular State. From this point of view, we have, therefore, looked at expenditure on medical and public health as a whole and have identified Andhra Pradesh, Assam, Bihar, Haryana, Madhya Pradesh, Mysore, Orissa and Uttar Pradesh as the States which are lower than the national average.

16. Our terms of reference envisage that the process of improvement of standards of administration in backward States should be so phased that they can reach the level obtaining in the more advanced States over a period of ten years. We have, therefore, applied our minds to the question whether the additional financial allocations, as estimated by us, for bringing the backward States upto all-States average should be spread over a period of ten years or only the five years falling within the period of our award. It is possible to argue that the process of equalisation can be deemed to be fully accomplished only when the backward States are brought up, in terms of per capita expenditure, to the average of the advanced States. We have, however, worked out the additional requirements of the States for the services indicated earlier only with reference to all-States average of expenditure on such services. In other words, our immediate

objective is a more limited one of providing additional funds to certain States to come up to a minimum which we have taken as the average of all States. We consider that this limited objective can, and should be achieved within five years, i.e. by 1978-79. Having, therefore, projected the provisions needed by all the States for the services indicated on the basis of different rates of growth indicated elsewhere, we have worked out the additional provisions needed by the backward States to come up to all-States average of expenditure as assessed for 1978-79. These requirements have been spread evenly over the five-year period of our award.

17. The additional amounts as assessed by us for improvement of standards of essential administrative and social services are set out below :

(Rs, crores)

Financial provision over the	e Fij	fth Plan p	period for	upgradution of
Standards	of	Administ	ration	

States						General Adminis- tration	Adminis- tration of Justice	Jails	Police	Primary Education	Medical and Public Health*	Welfare of Sche- duled Castes/ Tribes & Back- ward Classes	Total all Services
1						2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1. Uttar Pradesh		•				36.03	5.04	2.65	54.30	123.72	55.62	12.80	290.1
2. Bihar .						36.21	5.58		39.60	35.19	35.19	15.02	166.7
3. West Bengal						3.84		••		49.56	• •	18.83	72.23
4. Orissa						• •	2.04	0.79	11.88	27.60	7.35	7.40	57.06
5. Andhra Pradesh					•		0.27	2.61	20.37	15.54	13.83		52.62
6. Madhya Pradesl						12.27	1.62	1.88	3.99	7.38	18.51	4.69	50.34
7. Rajasthan .							1.77	1.31		11.31		13.04	27.43
8. Mysore						7.02		1.76	16.53	•••	1.14		26.45
9. Haryana							0.42	••	(1.11)	14.79	2.07	4.17	21,45
10. Assam						4.86	1,65			••	3.24	8.27	18.02
11. Punjab										7.02		6.92	13,94
12. Gujarat						(10.02)		2.56		• •		6.63	9,19
13. Kerala					-	1.92		0.77	3.84	••			6.53
14. Maharashtra							••	0.30				3.33	3.63
15. Tamil Nadu			•	•					(6.54)	• •			••
	Т	OTAL				J02.15	18.39	14.63	150.51	292.11	136.95	101.10	815.84

\*It relates to expenditure on items other than medicines and diet.

N.B.—Figures in brackets not included in total for the reasons indicated in paras 10 and 12 of this Chapter.

These amounts together with those provided for separately in regard to a typical States have been taken into account by us in the determination of grants-in-aid of the States under Article 275 of the Constitution.

18. The provision of additional funds may not by itself ensure that they would be utilised for the purposes which we have in view. There have been instances when the States, faced with constraint of resources, have diverted the provisions in the Plan for essential social services to other programmes. Having regard to the magnitude of the special help now being provided to them for improvement of certain essential services, it would be in the national interest to prescribe some arrangements for ensuring greater accountability on the part of the States for the funds provided to them. We outline briefly our suggestion in this regard in the Chapter on grants-in-aid.

# CHAPTER XIII FISCAL MANAGEMENT

Our terms of reference stipulate that in framing our proposals for grants-in-aid of the revenues of the States, we should have regard among other things to fiscal management and economy combined with efficiency in expenditure at the State level. Fiscal management is a multi dimensional concept. In the application of this concept to concrete situations, both qualitative and quantitative aspects deserve attention. Briefly stated, in assessing sound fiscal management one should have regard both to the manner in which the State has endeavoured to raise the resources needed for meeting its commitments and also the manner in which it has deployed the resources so raised so as to get the best possible results for the A review of fiscal manageexpenditure incurred. ment in this broad sense will call for a comprehensive and critical survey of the fiscal policies and administration of State Governments over a period of This is a task which is too difficult to undertime. take within the limited time at our disposal. A review of fiscal policies and administration is already being attempted in some measure on a continual by Audit and Public Accounts Committees basis under our Constitution. Since the advent of planning, the Planning Commission too has an opportunity of surveying from time to time the trends in revenues and expenditure of State Governments and more particularly their efforts at mobilisation of addiresources. Programme Evaluation Organisational tions at the Centre and their counter-parts in various forms at the States are also expected to play a part in focusing attention on areas of inefficiency in execution and shortfalls in achievement of results in relation to the resources deployed. While within the time at our disposal, it has not been possible to consider in depth issues relating to fiscal policies, ex-penditure control and quality of fiscal administration in general, during our visits to the States we invariably held discussions among others with Accountants General that enabled us to form a general judgement on the manner in which the State finances were being managed. We also obtained from Accountants General short summaries of the reports of the Public Accounts Committees for the last few years highlighting major financial irregularities and instances of infructuous expenditure. We would only like to observe that these discussions and the materials furnished to us have left us with the feeling that in many States the treasury and accounts organisations need to be considerably strengthened. In particular, arrangements have to be made without further delay for the more prompt and effective compilation and processing of data on receipts and expenditure. The considerable delays which we ourselves experienced in getting response to our requests for information on important points having a bearing on terms of reference such as for example number of employees, their distribution by pay ranges, norms for maintenance of capital assets and arrears of loans and revenue outstanding clearly point to the need for improvement of fiscal administration in many of the States. It is regrettable that we could not get even the preliminary actuals of revenues and expenditure for 1972-73 from some of the States primarily because the treasuries in the States had in turn failed to submit the monthly statements of accounts according to schedule. Some of the backward States will get additional resources in terms of our award for improvements of their standards of general administration. We would urge that some part of these additional resources should be devoted to the strengthening of financial and accounting organisations in the States without which neither sound planning nor fiscal discipline can be ensured.

2. We also noticed that in many of the States somewhat relaxed attitudes in regard to recovery of loans and tax arrears have been allowed to develop over a period of time. If these attitudes are allowed to persist, fiscal discipline will suffer an irretrievable set back. In reassessing the forecasts of receipts furnished by the State Governments, we have assumed recovery of arrears of revenues and loans to a reasonable extent.

3. A special aspect of fiscal management that arises for consideration is whether the State Governments have exerted themselves to a reasonable extent in raising resources from the sources allocated to them under the Constitution. The Fifth Finance Commission sought to measure the tax performance of the States on the basis of the ratio of per capita revenue to per capita income of the States and the same methodology was also followed by the Planning Commission in determining the tax efforts of the States for distribution of a portion of Central Assistance for State Plans. We devoted some Assistance for State Plans. We devoted some thought to the question of further refinement of the methodology followed by the Fifth Finance Commission and evolving certain criteria for determining the relative tax performance of the States. But we have given up the effort on the practical consideration that the application of a formula based on relative tax effort, however designed, would place at a disadvantage some of the States faced with big gaps on non-Plan revenue accounts. To leave such gaps uncovered on the ground of their poor tax perfor-mance, however defensible on theoretical considerations, would jeopardise maintenance of essential administrative and social services for want of adequate resources. States, both advanced and backward, which have done better than the average at resource mobilisation might feel aggrieved that their efforts have not received recognition. But, if in the determination of the principles of Central assistance for

### TABLE No: 1

Upgradation of Standards of Administration-Level of Expenditure on General Administration

(Rs. crores)

(Rs. crores)

	-			· · ·				1-72		F	orecast	Period		
States							(Act	(Actuals) –	1974-75	1975-76	1976-77	1977-78	1978-79	Total (1974-79)
1. Andhra Pradesh		· ·			··· ····			9.07	25.47	26.70	27,99	29.34	30.77	140.27
2. Assam	•	·	•	•		ż		5.25	6.29	6.56	6.88	7.21	7.56	34.50
3. Bihar	•	·	•	•		÷	ļ	5.06	20.96@	21.90@	21.27	22.30	23.40	109.83
4. Gujarat	•	•	•	•	·	•		8.66	11.16	11.68	12,26	12.85	13.47	61.42
5. Haryana	•	•	•	•	•	•		4.09	6.05	6.36	6.68	7.03	7.39	33.51
-	·	•		•	•	•		7,97	10.49	11.02	11.57	12.14	12.75	57.97
6. Kerala .	•	•	•	•	•	•		3.67	18.28	19.18	20.11	21.11	22.15	100.83
7. Madhya Pradesh		•	•	•	•	•		1.78	41.34	42.97	44,68	46.49	48.37	223.85
8. Maharashtra	·	•	•	•		•		9.95	13,25	13.88	14,56	15.31	16.07	73.07
9. Mysore	·	•	•	•	•	·	1	0.36	13.51	14.18	14.90	15.66	16.50	74.75
10. Orissa			·		•	•		7.29	8,86	9.32	9.78	10.29	10.82	49.07
11. Punjab		•	•	•	•	·	. 1	0.49	13.63	14.33	15.05	15.85	16.70	75.56
12. Rajasthan	•	•	·		•	•		24,36	30.64	32.11	33.67	35.31	37.03	168.76
13. Tamil Nadu	·	·	•	•	•	·	•	25.85	35.96	37.71	39.58	41,53	43.56	198.34
14. Uttar Pradesh	·	•	·	•	•	·	-	16.82	21.77	22.89	24.05	25.28	26,58	120.57
15. West Bengal	•	•	•	•	·	•		10.82 10.67	277.66	290.79	303.03		333.12	2 1522.30
Total—Ali State		•	٠		•	•	. 4	10.07	277.00	290.19	202100		6.29	
Per Capita—all	Stat	es* (A	verage	e Ks.)	•	·	_							

@Includes non-recurring expenditure in connection with the reorganisation of districts.

\* Excluding atypical States.

N.B. Level of expenditure in this Table is prior to upgradations.

### APPENDIX XII

TABLE NO: 2

Upgradation of Standards of Administration-Level of Expenditure of Justice and Jails

Forecast Period 1971-72 (Actuals) 1976-77 1977-78 1978-79 Total 1975-76 1974-75 States (1974-79)28.54 5.69 5.98 6.26 5.18 5.43 4.13 1. Andhra Pradesh . 2.03 9.20 1.74 1.93 1.66 1,84 1.37 2. Assam 8.33 8.74 39.82 7.94 7.23 7.58 5.77 3. Bihar 3.82 4.0018.29 3.65 3.34 3.48 2.53 Gujarat 1.85 8.41 1.77 1.59 1.68 1.25 1.52 5. Haryana 4.38 19.98 3.99 4.18 2.93 3.63 3.80 6. Kerala 5.74 26,27 5.24 5.47 5,01 3.62 4.81 7. Madhya Pradesh . 10.59 48.34 9.64 10.10 9.22 6.98 8.79 8. Maharashtra 4,69 21.47 4.294.49 4.09 3.02 3.91 9. Mysore 2.70 2.57 12.30 2.34 2.45 2.241.77 10. Orissa 3.72 17.07 3.41 3.57 3.25 3,12 2.32 11. Punjab 3.08 3.23 14.74 2.94 2.81 2.682.1412. Rajasthan 8.07 8.46 8.83 40.41 7.69 7.36 5.91 13. Tamii Nadu 10.98 11.51 12.07 55.01 9.98 10.47 7.67 14. Uttar Pradesh 9.19 41.90 8.36 8.76 7.98 7.61 6.16 15. West Bengal 80.17 84.02 88.02 401.75 76.48 57.57 73.06 Total-Alt States\* 1.66 Per Capita-All States\* (Average Rs.)

\*Excluding atypical States.

N.B. Level of expenditure in this Table is prior to urgradation.

# 233

# APPENDIX XII

### TABLE NO: 3

Upgradation of Standards of Administration-Level of Expenditure on Police

(Rs. crores)

(Rs. crores)

						1071 72		Fo	recast Perio	эd		
States						1971-72 (Actuals)	1974-75	1975-76	1976-77	1977-78	1978-79	Total (1974-79)
	1	·			 	 2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1.	Andhra Pradesh					16,68	21.19	22.39	23.65	24.99	26.41	118.63
2.	Assam					10.72	15.19	16.06	16.99	17.97	19.02	85,23
3.	Bihar					19.06	24.81	26.21	26.69	28.21	29,81	135.73
4.	Gujarat					15,50	20.93	22.09	23.31	24.61	25.98	116.92
5.	Haryana					4.45	5,82	6.15	6.50	6.87	7.26	32.60
	Kerala					7.89	11,98	12.66	13.39	14.15	14.97	67.15
7.	Madhya Pradesh					18.06	24.57	25.92	27.35	28.87	30.47	137.18
8.	Maharashtra .					36.02	46.13	48.76	51.53	54.46	57.57	258,45
9.	Mysore					10.07	13.58	14.33	15.12	15.96	16.86	75.85
10.	Orissa					8.04	10.29	10.86	11.46	12.09	12.75	57.45
11.	Punjab .					9.86	12.30	13.02	13.78	14.58	15.44	69.12
12.	Rajasthan .					12.78	16.68	17.62	18.62	19.68	20.80	93.40
13.	Tamil Nadu .					18.41	23.39	24.74	26.14	27.64	29.25	131.16
14.	Uttar Pradesh					27.47	39.48	42.08	44.14	47.30	49.30	222.30
15.	West Bengal					29.32	38.39	40.56	42.85	45.27	47.84	214.91
	Total—All States*					244.33	324.73	343.45	361.52	382.65	403.73	1816.08
	Per Capita-All Stat	es* (/	Verag	e Rs.)							7.63	

\* Excluding atypical States

N.B. Level of expenditure in this Table is prior to upgradation.

# APPENDIX XII Table No: 4

Upgradation of Standards of Administration-Level of Expenditure on Primary Education

													(-	
								1-72			Foreca	st period		
States							(A	(Actuals)	1974-75	1975-76	1976-77	1977-78	1978-79	Tota] (1974-79)
1					= =-=			2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1. Andhra Pradesh								27.65	40.48	42.68	45.03	47.50	50.11	225.80
2, Assam .								9.76	16.05	16.95	17,89	18.88	19.93	89.70
3. Bihat		•	,					31.48	48.01	50.76	53.67	56.74	59.97	269.15
4. Gujarat .								24,26	38.10	40.22	42,46	44.82	47.33	212.93
5. Haryana								3.97	6.27	6,61	6.98	7.36	7.78	35.00
6. Kerala								35.29	50.24	53.10	56.08	59.22	62.55	281.19
7. Madhya Pradesh			,					23.51	41.20	43.34	45.61	48.01	50.54	228.70
8. Maharashtra								43.22	66.47	70.20	74.14	78.32	82.72	371.85
9. Mysore		·						25.32	36.10	38.11	40.25	42.51	44.90	201.87
10. Orissa		•	Ż					9.02	15.12	15.93	16,78	17.68	18.64	84.15
11. Punjab	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	7.38	11,90	12.58	13.27	14.03	14.82	66.60
12. Rajasthan	•	•	•	•	•	•	·	15.03	23.35	24.65	26.02	27.48	29.02	130.52
13. Tamil Nadu	•	·	•		•	•	·	39.20	58,64	61.98	65.50	69,24	73.20	328.56
	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	35.09	57.87	60.89	64.07	67.44	71,00	321.27
14. Uttar Pradesh	•	·		·	·	•	•	21.46	31.92	33.71	35.63	37.63	39,77	178.66
15. West Bengal	•	·	·	·	•	•	•						672.28	
Total All States		•	•	•	•	·		351.64	541.72	571.71	603.38	636.86		3025.95
Per Capita—All S	State	•s* (A	verag	e Rs.)		• •	•						12.71	

\*Other than atypical States.

N.B. Level of expenditure in this Table is prior to upgradation.

### TABLE NO. 5

# Upgradation of Standards of Administration—Level of Expenditure on Medical and Public Health (Other than on medicines and diet)

(Rs. crores)

							eriod					
States						1971-72 (Actuals)	1974-75	1975-76	1976-77	1977-78	1978-79	Total 1974-79
						· _ ·						
L. Andhra Pradesh .						13,10	19.84	20.95	22.13	23.35	24.67	110.9
2. Assam						5.10	7.05	7.45	7.85	8.29	8.75	39.39
3. Bihar						15.34	21.05	22.23	23,50	24.81	26,22	117.8
4. Gujarat						10.41	17.81	18.80	19.82	20.91	22.07	99.4
5. Haryana						3.05	4.85	5.12	5.41	5.72	6.04	27.1
6. Kerala						10.67	15,10	15.95	16.85	17.80	18,81	84.5
7. Madhya Pradesh .						10.14	17.79	18.73	19,73	20.77	21.99	98.9
8. Maharashtra						24.51	33.83	35.76	37.81	39.95	42,22	189.5
9. Mysore						9.88	15.62	16.48	17.38	18.34	19.35	87.1
0. Orissa						6.49	9,87	10.44	11.03	11.63	12.29	55.2
1. Punjab						6.15	9.97	10.54	11.14	11.77	12.46	55,8
2. Rajasthan					,	15.00	23.50	24,83	26.25	27.74	29.31	131.6
3. Tamil Nadu						17.79	27.11	28.62	30.23	31.94	33.71	151.6
4. Uttar Pradesh						15.73	33.24	35,00	36.85	38.84	40.92	184.8
5. West Bengal		•	•			20.45	29.99	31.66	33.44	35.30	37.28	167.6
Total +All States*						183.81	286.62	302.56	319.12	337.16	356.00	1601.7
Per Capita – All Stat	00* ( )	vorad	e Re i								6.73	

\*Other than atypical States.

N.B. Level of expenditure in this Table is prior to upgradation.

### 234

#### TABLE NO. 6

### Upgradation of Standards of Administration—Level of Expenditure on the Welfare of Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and Other Backward Classes

(Rs. crores)

						Forecast Period						əd		
States	States						1971-72 (Actuals)	1974-75	1975-76	1976-77	1977-78	1978-79	Total 1974-79	
(1)								(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
I. Andhra Pradesh	•				•	•	•	11.91	13,80	14.49	15.21	15,98	16.77	76,25
2. Assam .								0.09	0.11	0.11	0.12	0.12	0.12	0.5
3. Bihar								4.36	5.05	5.31	5.58	5.85	6.13	27.92
4. Gujarat							•	3,52	4.07	4.28	4.49	4.72	4.96	22,52
5. Haryana	•	•										—		_
6. Kerala	•							4.03	4.66	4.89	5.13	5.39	5.66	25.73
7. Madhya Pradesh	۱.							11.46	13.26	13.95	14,64	15.36	16.11	73.33
8. Maharashtra	•		•		٠			4.53	5.25	5.51	5.78	6.07	6,37	28.93
9. Mysore			•		•			3.39	3.92	4,12	4.32	4.54	4.76	21,60
10. Orissa.	•	•						3.58	4.14	4.34	4.57	4.79	5.03	22.8
11. Punjab 🔒		•	•	•	•					_	<u> </u>			
12. Rajasthan .	•	•		•	•	•	•	1.30	1.50	1.57	1.65	1.73	1.82	8.2
13. Tamil Nadu		•		•	•	•		11.29	13.08	13.73	13.41	15.13	15,89	72.2
14. Uttar Pradesh			•	•	•			6.76	7.83	8.22	8.65	9.06	9,49	43.25
15. West Bengal	•	•			•			1.83	2.12	2.23	2.34	2.47	2.57	11.73
Total—All State	:5*	•						68.05	78.79	82.75	86,89	91.21	95.68	435.32
Per Capita—All	State	es* (A	verag	e Rs.	)							<u></u>	<u></u>	
(a) Scheduled C													5.77	
(b) Scheduled T													10.01	
(c) Other Backw			:5										0.37	

\* Excluding atypical States.

Notes:—1. Per capita figures of expenditure in respect of Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes have been worked out with reference to the respective population of these in different States. As regards 'Other Backward Classes', figures of per capita expenditure are based on the total population excluding the population of Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes.

2. Level of expenditure in this Table is prior to upgradation.

### TABLE No. 7

### Major Heads of Account

I. Non-Developmental Heads :---

A-Collection of Taxes, Duties & other Principal Revenues:

- 4. Taxes on Income other than Corporation tax.
- 9. Land Revenue.
- 10. State Excise Duties.
- 11. Taxes on Vehicles
- 12. Sales Tax.
- 13. Other Taxes & Duties.
- 14. Stamps.
- 15. Registration Fees.

B-Debt Services:

- 16. Interest on Debt and other obligations.
- 17. Appropriation for reduction or avoidance of Debt.
  - C- Administrative Ser ices
- 18. Parliament and State/Union Territory Legislatures.
- 19. General Administration.
- 21. Administration of Justice.
- 22. Jails.
- 23. Police.
- 23-I. Jammu & Kashmir Militia.
- 25. Supplies & Disposals.
- 26. Miscellaneous Departments.

I-Miscellaneous :

- 64. Famine Relief
- 65. Pensions and other Retirement Benefits.
- 66. Territorial and Political Pensions.
- 67. Privy Purses and Allowances of Indian Rulers.
- 68, Stationery and Printing.
- 71. Miscellaneous.
  - II-Mise. Capital Account within the Revenue Account :
- 72. Commutation of Pensions.
  - J---Contributions and Misc. Adjustments:
- 76. Other Miscellaneous compensation and assignments.

K-Extraordinary items:

78-A. Expenditure connected with National Emergency.

II. Developmental Heads :---

D-Social and Developmental Services :

- 27. Scientific Departments
- 28. Education.
- 29. Medical.
- 30. Public Health.
- 30-A. Family Planning.
- 31. Agriculture.
- 32. Rural Development.
- 33. Animal Husbandry.
- 34. Co-operation.
- 35. Industries.
- Community Development Projects, N.E.S. & Local Development Works.
- 38. Labour & Employment.
- 39. Miscellaneous Social and Developmental Organisations.
  - E-Multipurpose River Schemes, Irrigation & Electricity Schemes :
- 42. Multipurpose River Schemes.
- 43. Irrigation, Navigation, Embankment and Drainage Works (Commercial).
- 44. Irrigation, Navigation, Embankment and Drainage Works (Non-Commercial).
- 45. Electricity Schemes.
- 48. Capital Outlay on Irrigation etc. met from Revenue Non-Plan Expenditure :
  - F-Public Works (including Roads) and Schemes of Misc. Public Improvements:
- 50. Public Works.
- 52. Capital Outlay on Public Works met from Revenue.
  - G-Transport and Communications (Other than Roads):
- 53. Ports and Pilotage.
- 57. Road and Water Transport Schemes.

GG—Capital a/c. of Transport and Communication other than Roads within the Revenue Account :

60. Capital Outlay on Road and Water Transport Schemes.

1-Miscellaneous :

70. Forests.

### APPENDIX XIII

# Transfers from Centre to the States by way of shares of taxes and Duties and Grants-in-aid under Article 275 of the Constitution

		of the Const	11111011				(Rs	. crores)	
······································	Transfer or reco	during 1969- mmendation Finance C	s of the	Fifth	Estimated transfer during 1974-79 or basis of the recommendations of Sixth Finance Commission				
States	Taxes and Duties*	Article 275 Grant	Total	Percent- age of the Total	Taxes and Duties*	Article 275 Grant	Total	Percent- age of th Total	
I. Andhra Pradesh	 347.78	65,01	412.79	7.77	570.08	205,93	776.01	8.08	
2. Assam	109.91	84,18	194.09	3.65	185.09	254.53	439.62	4.57	
3. Bihar	508.73		508.73	9.57	738.44	106.28	844.72	8.79	
4. Gujarat	230,82		230,82	4.34	368.64		368,64	3.83	
5. Haryana	75.27		75,27	1.42	120.66	• •	120.66	1.26	
6. Himachal Pradesh	22.54	27,68	50.22	0.94	43.10	160,96	204.06	2,12	
7. Jammu & Kashmir	41.66	73.68	115,34	2.17	58.79	173.49	232,28	2.42	
8. Keraja	183.13	49.65	232.78	4,38	271.04	208.93	479.97	5.00	
9. Madhva Pradesh	343.10		343.10	6.45	543.57		543,57	5, 66	
0. Maharashtra	486.82		486.82	9,16	711.53		711.53	7.40	
1. Manipur	3,43	23,37	26,80	0.50	13.48	114,53	128.01	1.33	
2. Meghalaya	7,60	11.24	18.84	0.35	12,85	74.67	87,52	0.91	
3. Mysore	229.29	17.99	247.28	4.65	383.64		383.64	3,99	
4. Nagaland	3,66	77,95	81.61	1.54	6,83	128.84	135.67	1.41	
5. Orissa	182.70	104.67	287.37	5,41	272.59	304,73	577.32	6.01	
6. Punjab	113.17		113.17	2.13	168.97		168.97	1.76	
7. Rajasthan	213.56	51.49	265.05	4.99	333,39	230,53	563.92	5.87	
8. Tamil Nadu	217.06	22,82	370,78	6.97	538.57		538.57	5.6	
• <b>—</b> ·	5.10	28.64	33.74	0.64	19.69	112,50	132,19	1.38	
9. Tripura , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	772.47		772.47	14.53	1150.22	198.83	1349.05	14.05	
20. Ottar Pradesh	376,30		448.92	8.44	588.07	234,86	822.93	8.56	
Total :	4605.00	710.99	5315.99	100.00	7099.24	2509.61	9608.85	100.00	

\*Includes share of grants in lieu of Railway Passenger Fares Tax.

# DATA RELATING TO DEBT POSITION OF STATES